Agronomy Research

Established in 2003 by the Faculty of Agronomy, Estonian Agricultural University

Aims and Scope:

Agronomy Research is a peer-reviewed international Journal intended for publication of broadspectrum original articles, reviews and short communications on actual problems of modern biosystems engineering incl. crop and animal science, genetics, economics, farm- and production engineering, environmental aspects, agro-ecology, renewable energy and bioenergy etc. in the temperate regions of the world.

Copyright & Licensing:

This is an open access journal distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0). Authors keep copyright and publishing rights without restrictions.

Agronomy Research online:

Agronomy Research is available online at: https://agronomy.emu.ee/

Acknowledgement to Referees:

The Editors of *Agronomy Research* would like to thank the many scientists who gave so generously of their time and expertise to referee papers submitted to the Journal.

Abstracted and indexed:

SCOPUS, EBSCO, DOAJ, CABI Full Paper and Clarivate Analytics database: (Zoological Records, Biological Abstracts and Biosis Previews, AGRIS, ISPI, CAB Abstracts, AGRICOLA (NAL; USA), VINITI, INIST-PASCAL.)

Subscription information:

Institute of Technology, EMU Fr.R. Kreutzwaldi 56, 51006 Tartu, ESTONIA e-mail: timo.kikas@emu.ee

Journal Policies:

Estonian University of Life Sciences, Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Vytautas Magnus University Agriculture Academy, Lithuanian Research Centre for Agriculture and Forestry, and Editors of *Agronomy Research* assume no responsibility for views, statements and opinions expressed by contributors. Any reference to a pesticide, fertiliser, cultivar or other commercial or proprietary product does not constitute a recommendation or an endorsement of its use by the author(s), their institution or any person connected with preparation, publication or distribution of this Journal.

ISSN 1406-894X

CONTENTS

A. Arne and A. Ilgaza	
The effect of synbiotic inulin and enterococcus bacteria on digestive health and weight gain in calves	5
Y. Bani Khalaf, A. Aldahadha, N. Samarah, O. Migdadi and I. Musallam	
Effect of zero tillage and different weeding methods on grain yield of durum wheat in semi-arid regions	3
V. Bulgakov, O. Adamchuk, S. Pascuzzi, F. Santoro and J. Olt	
Experimental research into uniformity in spreading mineral fertilizers with fertilizer spreader disc with tilted axis	8
Y. Chenene, D. Blavet, M. Belalmi, G. Kaci, M. Teffahi and S.M. Ounane	
Variation of chickpea nodulation in a Mediterranean agroecosystem: relationship with soil characteristics and thresholds for significant contribution to plant growth	2
C.G. Comar, M. dos S. Queiroz, M.M. de Andrade, J.R. Trettel and H.M. Magalhães	
Copper modulates the biochemical and enzymatic activity and growth of tomato cultivars grown <i>in vitro</i>	7
I.S. Draz, A.K. Darwish, M.S. Abou-Elseoud, A.A. Elassal and D.A. Komeil	
Molecular discovery of new allele associated with loose smut resistance gene <i>Ut-X</i> in spring wheat	4
E.S. Gandrabur and A.B. Vereschagina	
Features of bird-cherry that inhibits the breeding of the population <i>Rhopalosiphum padi</i> (L.) (Hemiptera: Sternorrhyncha: Aphididae)	3
E.E. Golia, A. Angelaki, K.D. Giannoulis, E. Skoufogianni, D. Bartzialis, Ch. Cavalaris and S. Vleioras	
Evaluation of soil properties, irrigation and solid waste application levels on Cu and Zn uptake by industrial hemp92	2

M.Yu. Karpukhin and A.V. Abramchuk
Introduced assessment of agrestic legumes in the middle Urals100
N.A. Kashirina, N.A. Bagrikova, S.N. Zhaldak, V.S. Pashtetsky and E.N. Drobotova
Morphological and morphometric characteristics of Cornelian Cherry (<i>Cornus mas</i> L.) in natural conditions of the Crimean Peninsula108
V. Kuvachov, V. Bulgakov, V. Adamchuk, V. Kaminskiy, V. Melnik and J. Olt
Experimental research into new harrowing unit based on gantry agricultural implement carrier
I. Lignicka, A. Balgalve and A.M. Zīdere-Laizāne
Zinc content in different muesli samples130
Z. Magyar, P. Pepó and E. Gyimes
Comprehensive study on wheat flour quality attributes as influence by different agrotechnical factors
G. Mokrikov, T. Minnikova, K. Kazeev and S. Kolesnikov
Use of soil enzyme activity in assessing the effect of No-Till in the South of Russia
L.Yu. Novikova, N.A. Chalaya, M.N. Sitnikov, L.M. Gorlova, S.D. Kiru and E.V. Rogozina
Dynamics of tuber weight in early potato varieties in the contrasting weather conditions of the Northwestern Russia
L. Pavliuk, K. Udovychenko, I. Riaba and M. Bublyk
Detection of sour and sweet cherry viruses in Ukraine
T. Penev, D. Dimov, I. Marinov and T. Angelova
Study of influence of heat stress on some physiological and productive traits in Holstein-Friesian dairy cows

E.P. Shanina and G.A. Likhodeyevsky

Evaluation of interspecific potato breeding material with a complex of genes	
of immunity to Potato virus Y using molecular markers	224

L.M. Shevchuk, I.V. Grynyk, L.M. Levchuk, O.M. Yareshcenko, Ya.Yu. Tereshcenko and S.M. Babenko

Biochemical contents of highbush blueberry fruits grown in the Western	
Forest-Steppe of Ukraine	232

D.C. Silveira, M. Pelissoni, C.R. Buzatto, S.M. Scheffer-Basso, L.A. Ebone, J.M. Machado and N.C. Lângaro

Anatomical traits and structural components of peduncle associated with lodging in *Avena sativa* L......250

S. Skuja, V. Antāne and I. Lūsis

M. Sulg, A. Konist and O. Järvik

Characterization of different wood species as potential feedstocks for gasification	
	6

Ya.H. Tsytsiura

Matrix quality variability of oilseed radish (Raphanus sativus L. var. oleiformis	
Pers.) and features of its formation in technologically different construction of	
its agrophytocenosis	.300

The effect of synbiotic inulin and enterococcus bacteria on digestive health and weight gain in calves

A. Arne^{*} and A. Ilgaza

Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, K. Helmaņa street 8, LV-3004 Jelgava, Latvia *Correspondence: arne.astra@gmail.com

Received: October 15th, 2020; Accepted: January 12nd, 2021; Published: January 25th, 2021

Abstract. The aim of study was to investigate the effect of a synbiotic containing *Enterococcus* bacteria and 3 different concentrations of inulin on the performance and health status of calves. Forty randomly selected healthy male Holstein crossbreed calves 23 (+/-5) days old and weighing 50 kg (+/- 5 kg) were randomly allocated to 4 groups: control group (CoG n = 10) fed only whole milk, and 3 synbiotic supplemented groups: 1) SynG6 n = 10, 2) SynG12 n = 10, 3) SynG24 n = 10, in which calves received various amounts of prebiotic inulin (artichoke powder 6 g, 12 g, and 24 g) with 0.25 g of the probiotic *Enterococcus faecium* (2×10⁹ CFU g⁻¹). At the end of this study all three synbiotic group weight gains were significantly greater than the control group (p < 0.01). SynG12 (12 g artichoke powder) group's weight gain was significantly greater than control and the 6g and 24 g synbiotic groups (p < 0.05). The average cold carcass weight results were similar to the live weight results: SynG12 was significantly (p < 0.05) higher than SynG6 and SynG24. Supplementing feedings with this combination of the synbiotic containing 6 g of inulin (produce in Latvia) mixed with *Enterococcus* (Protexin, UK) bacteria (SynG12) was most effective in achieving the greatest daily weight gain and cold carcass weight.

Key words: calf, Enterococcus faecium, feeding, inulin, synbiotic, weight gain.

INTRODUCTION

Carcass quality in ruminants is determined more by dietary components than by the general health status (Blanco-Penedo et al., 2009). Antibiotics are frequently used to achieve this goal. Thus, it is important to identify new and better alternatives to antibiotic use for increasing animal weight gain and general animal health improvement. Probiotics, prebiotics and various combinations of these substances called synbiotics have been studied (Masanetz et al., 2011; Samanta et al., 2013). One of the most researched probiotics for ruminants is *Enterococcus spp.* bacteria (Nocek et al., 2002; Corcionivoschi et al., 2010; Uyeno et al., 2015).

Prebiotics are not digested in the gastrointestinal tract but rather they support the growth and development of beneficial intestinal microflora which limits plaque formation by pathogenic microorganisms such as *Salmonella sp.* or *Escherichia coli*

improving the overall health of the animal (Gibson & Roberfroid, 1995; Patel & Goyal, 2012; Kara et al., 2015).

The synbiotic term is used when 2 different substances are combined such as probiotics with prebiotics in order to improve function, digestibility, motility and general health of the intestinal tract and the animal (Uyeno et al., 2015; Markowiak & Śliżewska, 2018). Several studies have shown that inulin, derived from Jerusalem artichoke, improves the health and growth of non-ruminants and chickens (Velasco et al., 2010; Valdovska et al., 2014; Samolińska et al., 2018), but there is no data on feeding synbiotics to ruminants.

In this study, the synbiotic - inulin from artichoke flour (inulin 48.5–50.1%) combined with *Enterococcus faecium* (2×10^9 CFU g⁻¹) was selected in order to test if this supplement could significantly improve calf health by increasing the functionality of the digestive system and thus, enhancing animal live weight gain.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Herd, Housing and Feeding

The research was carried out on a 420 cow dairy farm in Latvia. Forty randomly selected, 23 (\pm 5) days old healthy male Holstein crossbreed calves, weighing 50 kg (\pm 5 kg), were randomly allocated to 4 groups. The study started when the animals had reached 4 weeks of age. The calves were kept in groups of 10, under the same conditions and were fed twice a day, ~3.5 liter of whole milk per feeding. The pen for 10 calves was 25 m².

Water and hay were freely available 24 hours per day, and fodder was added two weeks after the start of the study when the animals were 6 weeks old. Composition of the concentrated feed and Jerusalem artichokes flour composition is shown in Table 1.

	Composition (g kg ⁻¹ Dry Matter basis)) Composition (g mg ⁻¹ Dry Matter basis)			
	dry	CD	NDE		ata na la	:1:	free	free	sacc-	nucleic
	matter	Cr	NDF	ADF	starch	mum	glucose	fructose	harose	acids
Concentrated feed	882	142	481	34	655	-	-	-	-	-
Artichoke powder	950	171	-	-	635	495	8	26	106	21

 Table 1. Composition of Concentrated Feed and Jerusalem Artichokes Flour for Study Animals

CP – Crude Protein; NDF – Neutral Detergent Fibre; ADF – Acid Detergent Fibre.

The calves were divided into 4 groups: control group (CoG, n = 10) was fed only whole milk, and 3 different synbiotic amount groups: SynG6, n = 10, SynG12, n = 10, SynG24, n = 10, in which the calves received 3 different amounts of the prebiotic inulin mixed with 0.25 g of the probiotic *Enterococcus faecium* (2×10⁹ CFU g⁻¹ (Protexin International Ltd., South Petherton, UK)). Jerusalem artichoke powder and Enterococcus faecium were added to the first one of the two daily milk feedings. In this research, the prebiotic we used was artichoke flour concentrate, produced in Latvia at the University of Latvia Institute of Microbiology and Biotechnology, the inulin was 50% DM, thus, each 12 g of artichoke powder contained approximately ~6 g of inulin.

Health monitoring

Throughout the study, daily calf health was evaluated by close visual inspection of the fecal consistency. Animal faeces were evaluated in points, where 0 - points score was for solid faeces without diarrhea sign, 1 - point was for soft faeces with maintained consistency, 2 - points were for liquid feees with lost solidity, and 3 points for watery faeces (Larson et al., 1977).

The 4 week old calves were weighed at the beginning of the study and every two weeks during the study (6, 8, 10, 12 weeks). During the control weighing, a general health exam was done and the main physiological indicators were recorded.

The study lasted 8 weeks or 56 days. A similar study framework has been used by other authors (Król, 2011). The planned slaughter of calves occurred at 12 weeks; 57th research day. They were weighed at 12 hours after slaughter to determine their cold carcass weight.

Statistical analyses

MS Excel and the R-Studio were used for the data analysis of live weight gain and cold carcass weights, given as the mean \pm standard error (SE). Significance was tested by applying the *Student t-test*. Values of less than 0.05 (p < 0.05) were considered significant.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

During the initial health exam at 4 weeks of age the heart rate, respiratory rate, body temperature were recorded. No significant differences were identified among the control and synbiotic groups and all health indicators were within the normal range.

Throughout the research, the feces were inspected and the consistency recorded in points for each animal. Watery fecal consistency or diarrhea were never observed in any of the calves during the complete study. In all animal groups, softer than normal feces were observed during the 6th week of life. This was most likely due to the addition of fodder to the daily ration resulting in or promoting adaptive changes of digestive juices and microorganisms to the new feed product.

As shown in Fig. 1, after 8 weeks of age, when the calves had become used to the new feed product, calf fecal consistency stabilized in all groups, in a few individual animals softer than normal feces consistency, species-specific, was observed.

The highest fecal consistency number was recorded from the $5^{\text{th}} - 7^{\text{th}}$ week when feces were softer than normal. This was most likely due to the introduction of synbiotics at the initial stage of the research that coincided with the 6-week life period of the calves.

Throughout the study, the greatest number of calves which had softer than normally soft feces were observed in the control group. In all three synbiotics groups, starting with the 7th week of life, the number of cases with softer than normal feces gradually decreased. The animals, which received 12 g of synbiotics (6 g of inulin), had the most stable fecal consistency among all groups through the study. Control group animals had the most liquid feces with the highest point number in comparison with the other groups.

In the synbiotic group with the lowest intake of inulin, fecal consistency reached 0.55 points (within normal limits) during the 9th week of life, but in the other two synbiotic groups this occurred later, by the 10th week. It may have been easier for calves to adapt to lower doses of inulin.



Figure 1. Comparison of the fecal consistency between calf groups from 5 to 12 weeks old (Calculating Values in 0–3 Points by Larson, 1977).

Table 2 displays per group: the average weight at 3 intervals, the total average weight gained during the study, and the average cold carcass weight on the 57th day. The average daily weight gain was also different among all synbiotic groups and the control group (p < 0.01) in which the control group had the lowest weight 82.18 kg of all groups.

	Average weig	ht of calves (kg) a	Average daily	Cold carcass	
Group	intervals		weight gain,	weight,	
	first day	28 th day	56 th day	kg	kg
CoG	50.80 ± 1.25	69.09 ± 5.97	82.18 ± 6.53	0.581 ± 0.13	42.6 ± 6.88
SynG6	51.00 ± 1.25	$75.40 \pm 4.35*$	$100.10 \pm 3.14^{**}$	$0.876 \pm 0.06^{**}$	$49.7 \pm 2.41 **$
SynG12	51.70 ± 1.0	$77.40 \pm 1.65 **$	$103.00 \pm 2.26^{**}$	$0.916 \pm 0.09 **$	$51.9 \pm 1.64 **$
SynG24	52.13 ± 1.73	74.63 ± 1.19	$99.96 \pm 3.36^{**}$	$0.854 \pm 0.09^{**}$	$49.6 \pm 1.85^{**}$

Table 2. Calf growth dynamics by weight and cold carcass weight

*p < 0.05 compare to CoG; **p < 0.01 compare to CoG.

The SynG12 group had the greatest weight gain at 103.00 kg, (p < 0.05). This proves that the best inulin effect is achieved with the medium amount (or with 12 grams Jerusalem artichoke powder). This result may be due to firmer fecal masses observed throughout the study when compared to the other groups and due to the optimal combination of probiotics and prebiotics, which provides full digestibility of feed and improved intestinal function. Excessively high doses of prebiotics have been shown to decrease digestive function and the digestibility of feed. Weight gain is insignificantly but consistently higher in group SynG6 (100.10 kg) than in SynG24 (99.96 kg).

Most researchers studying synbiotics report that these supplements improve feed digestibility increasing the bioavailability of nutrients for growth and development. (Hasunuma et al., 2011, Zábranský et al., 2015; Marcondes et al., 2016; Dar et al., 2017; Geigerová et al., 2017).

Average weight gain per day was 0.630 kg in the control group. Daily weight gain higher was in the SynG12 group at 0.916 kg (p < 0.01). Daily weight gain was greater in the SynG12 group (p < 0.05) than in SynG24 (0.854 kg) and SynG6 (0.876 kg). The average daily weight gain in SynG24 and SynG6 was not significantly different;

however, slightly greater in SynG6. Research by Jatkauskas & Vrotniakiene (2010), showed that calves fed probiotics during the transition period to ruminant status had a 9.4% higher weight gain, than the control animal group which did not receive probiotics.

Throughout the study period, the smallest weight increase was observed in control animals, the greatest - in SynG12 (Fig. 2). The greatest increase in weight was observed during the middle of the study period in 6–8 week old calves when weight increased by an average of 14 kg in two weeks in each synbiotic group. During this period the weight gain of CoG was only 8 kg which was also the average weight gain for CoG throughout the study. The lowest weight increase among the synbiotic groups was observed in the first two study weeks. This is most likely due to the addition of the new synbiotic supplements.

Simon et al. (2001) in their study found that when feeding a probiotic, *Enterococcus faecium*, a significant weight gain was not seen in comparison with the control animals. This study proved that adding inulin with the *Enterococcus faecium* bacteria to the feed, significantly greater weight gain occurred in all the synbiotic groups as compared to the control group (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Average weight of calves on different study weeks in different groups.

Roodposhti & Dabiri (2012) found that calves fed with different synbiotics, had the highest food consumption and weight gain when compared to the control group (Marcondes et al., 2016).

Chaucheyras-Durand & Durand (2010), suggest that probiotics as a part of a synbiotic mix, begin colonization of the colon and increase the growth of beneficial bacteria, such as *Enterococcus faecium*, *Lactobacillus* and *acidophilus* which reduce the total number of pathogenic bacteria, thus securing for themselves a stable place in the colon. Prebiotics, under the influence of these beneficial bacteria, get fermented, increasing the total number of beneficial bacteria while reducing the pathogenic bacteria. Moreover, the fermentation process produces volatile fatty acids that improve animal energy usability and change the intestinal morphology (Roodposhti & Dabiri, 2012). In this study feeding beneficial bacteria, *Enterococcus faecium*, together with prebiotics, most likely increased the total number of bacteria. Inulin provides nutrients for microorganisms in the colon. Perhaps, feeding too much inulin (SynG24) changed the

intestinal activity which may have resulted in less effective fermentation processes and feedstuff absorption. Therefore, the effect on weight gain was less than in the medium inulin dose (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Comparison of mean values of calf live weight and cold carcass weight among control group and synbiotic groups on the 57th study day.

After the planned animal slaughter on the 57th day, the carcasses were chilled and weighed SynG12 carcass weight (52.3 kg) was higher (p < 0.05) than SynG6 (49.7 kg) and SynG24 (49.6 kg), although actual weight was on average, only 3 kg more. SynG12 carcass weight outcome was greater (p < 0.01) than the CoG, which was 9.3 kg.

The cold carcass weight of the CoG of animals was (p < 0.01) lower compared to the weight of other animal groups. Consequently, the average cold carcass weight of synbiotic groups is similar, SynG12 (p < 0.05) is higher than SynG6 and SynG24. Group SynG6 and SynG24 weights are similar.

CONCLUSIONS

Feeding synbiotics containing *Enterococcus faecium* and inulin to 1-3 - month old calves can stabilize their fecal consistency, increase average daily weight gain, total weight gain, and cold carcass weight outcome. Optimal inulin dose in this synbiotic mix was 12 g artichoke powder (6 g of inulin) per animal per day. In this case, the most gradual adaptation to the new feed supplement is observed that enables it to provide the most efficient species-specific fecal consistency and stable functioning of the digestive tract. It is possible to achieve the greatest increase in live weight gain and carcass weight outcome by feeding 12 g of Jerusalem artichoke powder together with the genus *Enterococcus* bacteria. Significantly higher weight increase per day (0.916 kg \pm 0.09) has been gained by feeding synbiotics (24 g of Jerusalem artichoke powder and *Enterococcus faecium* 0.25 g).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS. This research was supported by the National Research Program Agricultural Resources for Sustainable Production of Qualitative and Healthy Foods in Latvia (AgroBioRes) (2014–2017).

REFERENCES

- Blanco-Penedo, I., López-Alonso, M., Shore, R.M., Miranda, M., Castillo, C., Hernández, J. & Benedito, J.L. 2009. Evaluation of food safety and quality in organic beef cattle in NW Spain; a comparison with intensive and conventional systems. *Agronomy Research* 7(Special issue II), 585–591.
- Corcionivoschi, N., Drinceanu, D., Pop, I.M., Stack, D., Ştef, L., Julean, C. & Bourke, B. 2010. The Effect of Probiotics on Animal Health *REVIEW. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechno.* **43**, 35–41.
- Chaucheyras-Durand, F. & Durand, H. 2010. Probiotics in animal nutrition and health. *Wageningen Academic Publishers Beneficial Microbes* **1**(1), 3–9.
- Dar, A., Singh, S., Palod, J., Ain, K., Kumar, N., Farooq, F. & Khadda, B. 2017. Effect of Probiotic, Prebiotic and Synbiotic on Hematological Parameters of Crossbred Calves. *Int. J. Livest. Res.* 7, 127–136.
- Geigerová, M., Bunešová, V., Vlková, E., Salmonová, H. & Rada, V. 2017. Selection of prebiotic oligosaccharides suitable for synbiotic use in calves. *Anim. Feed Sci. Tech.* 229, 73–78.
- Gibson, G.R. & Roberfroid, M.B. 1995. Dietary modulation of the human colonic microbiota: introducing the concept of prebiotics. *J. Nutr.* **125**, 1401–1412.
- Hasunuma, T., Kawashima, K., Nakayama, H., Murakami, T., Kanagawa, H., Ishii, T. & Kushibiki, S. 2011. Effect of cellooligosaccharide or synbiotic feeding on growth performance, fecal condition and hormone concentrations in Holstein calves. *Anim. Sci. J.* 82, 543–548.
- Jatkauskas, J. & Vrotniakiene, V. 2010. Effects of probiotic dietary supplementation on diarrhoea patterns, faecal microbiota and performance of early weaned calves. *Vet. Med-Czech.* **55**, 494–503.
- Kara, C., Cihan, H., Temizel, M., Catik, S., Meral, Y., Orman, A. & Gencoglu, H. 2015. Effects of supplemental mannanoligosaccharides on growth performance, faecal characteristics and health in dairy calves. AJAS 28, 1599–1605.
- Król, B. 2011. Mannon-oligosaccharides, inulin and yeast nucleotides added to calf milkreplacers on rumen mikroflora, level of serum immunoglobulin and health condition of calves. *Electronic Journal of Polish Agricultural Universitas* **14**, 1–18.
- Larson, L.L., Owen, F.G., Albright, J.L., Appleman, R.D., Lamb, R.C. & Muller, L.D. 1977. Guidelines Toward More Uniformity in Measuring and Reporting Calf Experimental Data. *Int. J. Dairy Sci.* 60, 989–991.
- Markowiak, P. & Śliżewska, K. 2018. The role of probiotics, prebiotics and synbiotics in animal nutrition. *Gut Pathog.* **6**, 10–21.
- Marcondes, M.I., Pereira, T.R., Chagas, J.C.C., Filgueiras, E.A., Castro, M.M.D., Costa, G.P., ... & Sainz, R.D. 2016. Performance and health of Holstein calves fed different levels of milk fortified with symbiotic complex containing pre-and probiotics. *Tropical animal health and production* 48, 1555–1560.
- Masanetz, S., Preißinger, W., Meyer, H.H.D. & Pfaffl, M.W. 2011. Effects of the prebiotics inulin and lactulose on intestinal immunology and hematology of preruminant calves. *Animal* **5**, 1099–1106.
- Nocek, J.E., Kautz, W.P., Leedle, J.A.Z., Allman, J.G. & Gouet, P. 2002. Ruminal supplementation of direct-fed microbials on diurnal pH variation and *in situ* digestion in dairy cattle. *Int. J. Dairy Sci.* **85**, 429–433.
- Patel, S. & Goyal, A. 2012. The current trends and future perspectives of prebiotics research: A review 2012. *3Biotech* **2**, 115–125. doi: 10.1007/s13205-012-0044-x
- Roodposhti, P.M. & Dabiri, N. 2012. Effects of probiotic and prebiotic on average daily gain, fecal shedding of Escherichia coli, and immune system status in newborn female calves. *AJAS* **25**, 1255–1261.

- Samanta, K., Jayapal, N., Senani, S., Kolte, P. & Sridhar, M. 2013. Prebiotic inulin: Useful dietary adjuncts to manipulate the livestock gut microflora. *Braz. J. Microbiol.* 44, 1–14.
- Samolińska, W., Kowalczuk-Vasilev, E. & Grela, E.R. 2018. Comparative effect of different dietary inulin sources and probiotics on growth performance and blood characteristics in growing-finishing pigs. *Arch Anim. Nutr.* **72**, 379–395.
- Simon, O., Jadamus, A. & Vahjen, W. 2001. Probiotic feed additives-effectiveness and expected modes of action. J. Anim. Feed. Sci. 10, 51–67.
- Uyeno, Y., Shigemori, S. & Shimosato, T. 2015. Effect of Probiotics/Prebiotics on Cattle Health and Productivity. *Microbes Environ.* **30**, 126–132.
- Valdovska, A., Jemeljanovs, A., Pilmane, M., Zitare, I., Konosonoka, I.H. & Lazdins, M. 2014. Alternative for improving gut microbiota: use of Jerusalem artichoke and probiotics in diet of weaned piglets. *Pol. J. Vet. Sci.* 17, 61–69.
- Velasco, S., Ortiz, L.T., Alzueta, C., Rebole, A., Trevino, J. & Rodriguez, M.L. 2010. Effect of inulin supplementation and dietary fat source on performance, blood serum metabolites, liver lipids, abdominal fat deposition, and tissue fatty acid composition in broiler chickens. *Poult. Sci. J.* 89, 1651–1662.

Effect of zero tillage and different weeding methods on grain yield of durum wheat in semi-arid regions

Y. Bani Khalaf¹, A. Aldahadha^{1,*}, N. Samarah², O. Migdadi¹ and I. Musallam¹

¹Field Crops Directorate, National Agricultural Research Center (NARC), P.O. Box 19831, Baqa', Jordan ²Department of Plant Production, Faculty of Agriculture, Jordan University of Science and Technology (JUST), P.O. Box 3030, 22110 Irbid, Jordan. ^{*}Correspondence: abdallah.aldahadha@narc.gov.jo

Received: September 28th, 2020; Accepted: December 1st, 2020; Published: December 10th, 2020

Abstract. The high grain yield of wheat is limited by the dominance of weeds, particularly wild oat. Therefore, to improve wheat yield under these conditions, a field experiment was carried out in Maru Agricultural Research Station, Jordan during 2015-2016 and 2016-2017 to investigate yield response of two wheat varieties (Triticum durum L.) to different tillage and weeding treatments. The experimental design used was a split-split arrangement in a randomized complete block design with three replicates. Two-tillage treatments (conventional vs. zero tillage) were applied to the main plot, two wheat varieties to sub-plot, and five weeding methods (hand weeding, broadleaf + narrow leaf herbicide, broadleaf herbicide, narrow leaf herbicide, and controls) as a sub-sub-plot. The variety 'Umqais' had higher plant height, biological, grain, and straw yield than the variety 'Sham'. Hand weeding slightly increased grain yield compared with mixed herbicides (the 2,4-D plus Antelope Clodinatop- propagyl). Furthermore, mixed herbicides presented a higher grain yield than using either single herbicide. The interaction between tillage systems and weeding methods was significant in both years. The highest (P < 0.05) straw yield (5,990 kg ha⁻¹) was obtained by hand weeding under conventional tillage in the first season while the highest grain yield (2,005 kg ha⁻¹) was obtained by hand weeding under zero tillage in the second season. Under all weed control treatments, the variety 'Umqais' had higher biological, grain, and straw yields than the variety 'Sham' in the second season indicating that variety 'Umqais' performed better under dry conditions. Our results confirmed the superior of zero tillage for increasing the grain yield of the variety 'Umqais', and for increasing the biological and straw yields of the variety 'Sham' under semi-arid rainfed conditions of Jordan.

Key words: biological yield, broadleaf herbicide, conventional tillage, hand weeding, variety x tillage interaction.

INTRODUCTION

Wheat (*Triticum durum*) is the most important field crop grown under rainfed conditions in Jordan and considered essential for food security at the national and the global level. With the increase in world population, there is an increasing demand for wheat. At the global level, the production of wheat has improved intensely from

218.5 million tons in 1961 to 728.4 million tons in 2019 (FAO, 2019a). In 2018, the average area planted with wheat in Jordan was 20 thousand hectares, producing about 25 thousand tons of grains. Jordan imported about 900 thousand tons of wheat (FAO, 2019b).

The primary limitation for the high grain yield of wheat is the low soil moisture and the prevalence of weeds as the main obstacles under rainfed conditions in Jordan. Weeds strongly compete with wheat plants for light, nutrients, and moisture which negatively reduce grain productivity of wheat (Shah et al., 2018). Both broadleaf and narrow leaf weeds result in a decrease in soil moisture and consequently the crop grain yield (Tawaha et al., 2002). Both narrow (grassy) and broad-leaved weeds infest wheat. Among grassy weeds, wild oat (*Avena fatua*) and among broadleaf weeds, fennel (*Foeniculum vulgare*), chicory (*Cichorium spp.*), common groundsel (*Senecio vulgaris*) are of major concern in wheat frield grown rainfed in Jordan. Specifically, wild oat (*Avena spp.*) is a serious problem in wheat fields, particularly in the northern part of Jordan (Turk & Tawaha, 2002).

Hand weeding is a mechanical method used for weed control and management. This weed control method was more effective than herbicide application in suppressing the growth of weed and increasing yield (Tawaha et al., 2002; Sultana et al., 2012; Shah et al., 2018). Usually, the assessment has been done for annual weeds which are propagated by rhizomes and effectively controlled by frequent plowing. However, in wheat-based areas, the most common weeds are annual weeds of the Compositae family and Poaceae family. Nevertheless, hand weeding is not economical nowadays because of the high labor cost and wages. Therefore, chemical control of weeds became potential and caused better weed control and crop yield with the advent of herbicides (Turk & Tawaha, 2003). Several researchers have confirmed the efficiency of herbicides for weed control and increasing grain yield of wheat (Bibi et al., 2008, Mandal et al., 2014).

Many researchers have reported the impact of tillage systems on the grain yield of wheat in recent years (Yang et al., 2018; Xue et al., 2019). In Jordan, conventional tillage (CT) and zero tillage (ZT) systems are being used as described by Al-Issa & Samarah (2006). However, the effect of ZT on crop yield is controversial. Some researchers showed similar yields (Büchi et al., 2017) or yield reductions (Pittelkow et al., 2015) in ZT systems compared to the CT systems. The ZT system may have a positive impact over the CT system with specific soil, climate, and management conditions (Martínez et al., 2008; Taner et al., 2015). The ZT can improve soil structure and reduce the risk of soil erosion, leading to better water infiltration and water-use efficiency (Honsdorf et al., 2020).

The impact of tillage systems and weed control management on the yield of wheat and other crops have been studied previously (Chhokar et al., 2007; Usman et al., 2010; Kumar et al., 2013; Upasani et al., 2014; Ali et al., 2016; Susha et al., 2018; Hofmeijer et al., 2019). Winter wheat under ZT had a higher yield than that under CT when wheat was grown after either pea or spring wheat at intermediate or extensive weed control management (Young et al., 1994). Ali et al. (2016) found that a one tillage practice in a fallow year using moldboard plow resulted in the highest plant height, biological and grain yield, and harvest index of wheat. However, tillage followed by a two-time application of herbicides resulted in a maximum 1,000- grain weight of wheat (Ali et al., 2016). The best chemical method to control grasses and broadleaf weeds and to achieve a higher grain yield of wheat was using affinity herbicides in combination with zero tillage (Usman et al., 2010). Mixed herbicides were the best treatment for controlling weeds and improving wheat yield in ZT (Chhokar et al., 2007).

A few studies have been done in Jordan to identify the best weed control method under different tillage systems. Therefore, two-field experiments were carried out in northern Jordan to study the interaction effect of tillage systems and weeding methods on the growth and grain yield of two-wheat varieties grown under rainfed conditions of Jordan.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study site and soil

Field experiments were carried out at Maru Agricultural Research Station (MARS) which belongs to National Agricultural Research Center (NARC), Jordan during the growing years of 2015–2016 and 2016–2017 under dryland farming conditions. MARS

is located in Maru, Irbid at 32° 33'N latitude, 35° 51' E longitude, and 589 m above sea level (Al-Ghzawi et al., 2018). Maru is characterized by hot and dry summer and mild winter with 380 mm annual precipitation and represents an intermediate drought region. Before sowing, samples of soil were collected and analyzed for chemical characteristics from the experimental site (Table 1). The soil at experimental the site is Red Mediterranean Soil (RMS) type. The soil is classified as Cambisol Vertisol

Table 1.	Soil charac	cteristic of the	e experimental	l site
----------	-------------	------------------	----------------	--------

Parameters	Unit	Value
pH	-	7.75
EC	(ds/m)	0.42
Р	(ppm)	0.79
Κ	(ppm)	194
CaCO ₃	(%)	1.90
Ν	(%)	0.097
Clay	(%)	56.2
Silt	(%)	33.8
Sand	(%)	9.95
Organic matter	(%)	0.76
Texture	-	Clay

(Vertic, Calcic, Chromic, Luvic, Haplic, Cambic) according to World Reference Base (WRB). Soil Texture: clay (Clay 56.2%, Silt 33.8%, Sand 10.00%).

Weather data at the experimental site in both seasons were shown in Table 2. The total annual precipitation in both growing seasons, 2015–2016 and 2016–2017 was 410.8 and 309.2 mm, respectively.

Growing season 2015–2016				Growing	Growing season 2016–2017			
Year	Month	T (°C)	Rainfall (mm)	Year	Month	T (°C)	Rainfall (mm)	
2015	Oct.	21.73	16	2016	Oct.	21.94	2	
	Nov.	15.27	31.5		Nov.	13.70	0.8	
	Dec.	9.43	22.9		Dec.	8.58	190	
2016	Jan.	8.21	222	2017	Jan.	7.78	63.6	
	Feb.	10.19	53.4		Feb.	8.70	23.2	
	Mar.	13.77	54		Mar.	12.71	19.2	
	Apr.	19.41	11		Apr.	17.53	9.8	
	May	21.23	0		May	21.85	0.6	
	June	26.3	0		June	26.7	0	
Total		-	410.8	Total		-	309.2	
Mean		16.2		Mean		15.5		

Table 2. Weather data during the growing seasons of 2015–2016 and 2016–2017

Treatments

Two tillage systems were applied to the field in the two field experiments: 1) Conventional tillage (CT) using chisel plow (duck-foot) (Italian producer) at a depth of 10–15 cm, and 2) Zero tillage (ZT). Two spring wheat (Triticum durum) varieties (Umqais and Sham) were sown in both growing seasons. Five weed control treatments were practiced: 1) Hand weeding (T1), 2) Broadleaf + narrow leaf herbicide (T2), 3) Broadleaf herbicide (T3), 4) Narrow leaf herbicide (T4), and 5) Control (no weeding) (T5). The hand weeding treatment was done two times in each growing season; one time at wheat growth stage of Zadoks 13 and the second time at Zadoks 25 (Zadoks et al., 1974). In the first time, the hand weeding targeted narrow leaf weeds (mainly wild oat) which emerged at the same time of wheat. In the second time, the hand weeding targeted broadleaf (commonly weeds belonging to Compositae family) which must be controlled at the late tillering stage. Therefore, the hand weeding treatment was done to target the two broadleaf and narrow leaf weeds similar to the herbicide treatment. In the herbicide treatment, the broadleaf and narrow leaf weeds were controlled by using 2,4-D [2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid; 62% (w/v) of 2,4-D Isoocytyle-ester) (Esterdefore, VAPCO, Jordan)) and Antelope [100 g of Clodinafop-propargyl and 25 g of Cloquintocet-methyl (w/v)] herbicides, respectively. The narrow leaf herbicide was applied at a rate of 2.5 mL L⁻¹ of water while broadleaf herbicide at a rate of 5 mL L⁻¹ water. The herbicide was sprayed at a rate of 20 mL m⁻². The herbicides were applied by using a mounted sprayer equipped with a fan-type nozzle. The 2.4 D and Antelope were applied according to the herbicide label at wheat growth stages of Zadoks 24, and 13 (Zadoks et al., 1974), respectively. The most common weed species that present at the experimental site were wild oat (Avena fatua)(), wild barley (Hordeum bulbosum), wild mustard (Sinapis arvensis), and star-thistle (Centaurea spp).

Crop management

The main plot size was $2.5 \text{ m} \times 40 \text{ m}$. The size of each sub-sub plot was $2.5 \text{ m} \times 8 \text{ m}$ with 2 m apart. Wheat seeds were sown at a rate of 12 g m⁻² by mechanical planter at 17.5 cm row spacing at a depth of 7–10 cm. Seeds of the two wheat varieties were planted on 30 December, 2015 and 8 January, 2017 during the two growing seasons of 2015–2016 and 2016–2017, respectively. The grains were harvested on 30 June in both growing seasons. In both seasons, wheat was planted after a legume crop. The crop received 10 g m⁻² of diammonium phosphate (18% N and 46% P₂O₅) at the time of seeding and 5 g m⁻² of urea (NH₂)₂CO (45% N) at the tillering stage of growth.

Measurements of plant growth and grain yield

In both growing seasons, days to 50% heading (DH) and days to 50% maturity (DM) were recorded. Days to heading (HD) were determined visually by calculating the number of days from seeding to the day when the main spike had emerged from the sheath of the flag leaf. Days to physiological maturity (MD) were determined visually by calculating the number of days from seeding to the day when the plants had reached the physiological maturity stage (the plant spikes turned yellow). Plant height (PH) was measured from the soil surface to the upper part of the spike without the awns. A square quadrate (1 m^2) was placed randomly at the central rows for each treatment to measure biological, grain yield, and straw yield. The wheat moisture content at harvest was 12%.

Experimental design and statistical analysis

A split-split plot arrangement in a completely randomized block design was used for data analysis with three replicates for each treatment. The tillage treatments were considered as the main plot, while wheat varieties as a sub-plot, and weeding treatments as a sub-sub-plot. Data were analyzed using JUMP software. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was calculated for both main and interaction effects. The differences among means were calculated according to student's t-test at a P value less than 0.05%.

RESULTS

Days to heading, days to maturity, and plant height

Analysis of variance for tillage system, variety, and weeding methods and their interaction effects on several wheat growth and yield parameters was shown for the growing season of 2015–2016 (Table 3) and the growing season of 2016–2017 (Table 4). In the first growing season, the tillage system (T) had no significant effect on days to heading (DH), days to maturity (DM), and plant height (PH) (Table 3). There were significant differences in PH among varieties (V) and weeding methods (W) without interaction among different factors. There was a significant difference in DH among varieties (V). In the second growing season, the tillage system (T) and the variety (V) significantly affected PH of wheat with some interactions among different factors (Table 4).

Table 3. Analysis of variance (F probability values) showing the effect of tillage system, varieties, and weeding methods on days to heading (DH), days to maturity (DM), plant height (PH), biological yield (BY), grain yield (GY), straw yield (SY) and 1,000-grain weight for wheat plants during the growing season of 2015–2016

Source of		F probability values							
variation	DF	DH	DM	PH	BY	GY	SY	1,000-GW	
Tillage (T)	1	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	
Block	2	0.0001	0.0001	0.0001	0.0016	0.012	0.0013	0.0001	
Error (a)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Variety (V)	1	0.0096	NS	0.014	NS	NS	NS	0.007	
$\mathbf{T} \times \mathbf{V}$	1	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	
Error (b)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Weed (W)	4	NS	NS	0.0056	0.0001	0.0001	0.0001	NS	
TxW	4	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	0.035	NS	
VxW	4	NS	NS	NS	0.019	NS	0.008	NS	
TxVxW	4	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	NS	

NS: Not significant.

The main means of tillage systems and weeding methods for DH, DM, and PH of the two varieties of wheat were shown in both growing seasons (Table 5). There was no significant difference between conventional (CT) and zero tillage (ZT) systems for the three parameters, except for the second season where PH of wheat in ZT (71.5 cm) was higher than those for CT (69.1 cm). Both DH and PH of wheat were significantly affected by the wheat variety in both growing seasons (Table 5). At the first growing season, the variety 'Sham' had significantly earlier DH (79.2) than those for 'Umqais' (81.9). In contrast, the variety 'Sham' showed significantly later DH when compared with

'Umqais' in the second growing season. The PH of the variety 'Sham' was significantly shorter than those for 'Umqais'. For weed control methods, the only significant effect was for PH in the first growing season. All weeding methods resulted in significantly longer PH than that of the narrow leaf herbicide treatment (T4).

Table 4. Analysis of variance (F probability values) showing the effect of tillage system, varieties, and weeding methods on days to heading (DH), days to maturity (DM), plant height (PH), biological yield (BY), grain yield (GY), straw yield (SY) and 1,000-grain weight for wheat plants during the growing season of 2016–2017

Source of		F probabi	lity values					
variation	DF	DH	DM	PH	BY	GY	SY	1,000-GW
Tillage (T)	1	NS	NS	0.028	NS	0.034	NS	NS
Block	2	0.0001	NS	NS	0.0001	0.0001	0.004	NS
Error (a)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Variety (V)	1	0.001	NS	0.0001	0.0001	0.0001	0.0005	0.0014
TxV	1	0.043	NS	NS	NS	0.03	0.018	NS
Error (b)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Weed (W)	4	NS	NS	NS	0.0001	0.0001	0.001	0.0002
TxW	4	NS	0.0005	0.008	0.0002	0.0001	0.035	NS
VxW	4	0.038	0.05	NS	0.024	0.0001	NS	0.026
TxVxW	4	NS	0.021	0.01	0.0015	0.0001	0.049	0.0002

NS: Not significant.

Table 5. Main means for days to heading (DH), days to maturity (DM), and plant height (PH) for two varieties of wheat grown under two tillage systems and five weeding methods during the growing seasons of 2015–2016 and 2016–2017

- <u></u>	2015-2	016		2016-20	017	
Main Effect	DH	DM	PH	DH	DM	PH
	day		cm	day		cm
Tillage system						
Conventional	81a	112a	68.1a	79a	112a	69.1b
Zero	80a	112a	65.9a	79a	111a	71.5a
$LSD_{(0.05)}$	1.9	1.6	7.1	0.81	2.2	1.7
Variety						
Umqais	82a	113a	71.9a	78b	111a	75.6a
Sham	79b	111a	62.2b	81a	111a	65.1b
$LSD_{(0.05)}$	1.6	1.6	6.4	0.78	0.59	1.8
Weeding methods						
T1	80a	112a	70.9a	79a	112a	71.1a
T2	81a	112a	66.9a	79a	111a	70.8a
Т3	80a	112a	67.1a	80a	112a	69.3a
T4	81a	112a	61.8b	80a	111a	70.3a
T5	80a	112a	68.3a	79a	111a	70.1a
LSD(0.05)	0.79	0.81	4.5	0.43	0.60	1.5

T1: Hand weeding; T2: Broadleaf and narrow leaf herbicide; T3: Broadleaf herbicide; T4: Narrow leaves herbicide; T5: Control. *LSD*: Least significantly difference at P < 0.05. Means followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to Student's t-test at P value of 0.05%.

Effects on biological yield (BY), grain yield (GY), straw yield (SY) and 1,000-grain weight

In the first growing season (2015–2016), the weeding methods (W) had a significant effect on biological yield (BY), grain yield (GY), and straw yield (SY) (Table 3). However, the weeding methods (W), variety (V) and the $W \times V \times T$ interaction effect had a significant effect on BY in the second growing season (Table 4).

In the first growing season, BY, GY, and SY were not significantly affected by either tillage system or variety (Table 6). However, the variety 'Sham' had significantly higher 1,000-grain weight (P < 0.01) than the variety 'Umqais'. For weeding methods, both hand weeding (T1) and Broadleaf + narrow leaf herbicide (T2) gave significantly the highest BY (7,883 and 7,671 kg ha⁻¹, respectively) while the control (T5) gave the lowest BY (5,731 kg ha⁻¹). Grain yield (GY) was not significantly affected by T1, T2, and T4 weeding methods. However, both T1 and T2 had significantly higher SY than other weeding methods (Table 6). The 1,000-grain weight was not significantly affected by weeding methods.

0								
2015–2016					2016–2017			
Main Effect	BY	GY	SY	1,000-GW	BY	GY	SY	1,000-GW
	kg ha ⁻¹			g	kg ha ⁻¹			g
Tillage system								
Conventional	7,383a	2,184a	5,199a	31.4a	5,051a	1,503b	3,549a	32.3a
Zero	6,486a	2,003a	4,483a	31.8a	5,317a	1,592a	3,725a	31.7a
LSD(0.05)	1,516	226	1,303	4.2	309	726	236	1.6
Variety								
Umqais	6,854a	2,136a	4,718a	35.0a	5,744a	1,778a	3,966a	33.6a
Sham	7,015a	2,052a	4,964a	28.2b	4,625b	1,317b	3,308b	30.4b
LSD(0.05)	801	219	584	3.7	207	847	173	1.1
Weeding								
methods								
T1	7,883a	2,435a	5,448a	31.4a	5,542a	1,794a	3,748b	33.1ab
T2	7,671a	2,422a	5,249a	31.6a	5,247a	1,701a	3,546bc	33.6a
T3	6,538b	1,929b	4,609b	31.7a	5,432a	1,408bc	4,024a	31.0c
T4	6,849b	2,244a	4,604b	31.0a	4,842b	1,497b	3,346c	31.8bc
T5	5,731c	1,439c	4,292b	32.4a	4,859b	1,338c	3,521bc	30.5c
LSD(0.05)	659	202	487	1.9	322	105	255	1.4

Table 6. Main means for biological yield (BY), grain yield (GY), straw yield (SY), and 1,000-grain weight (1,000-GW) for two varieties of wheat grown under two tillage systems and five weeding methods

T1: Hand weeding; T2: Broad and narrow leaf herbicide; T3: Broad leaves herbicide; T4: Narrow leaves herbicides; T5: control. *LSD*, least significant difference at P < 0.05. Means followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to Student's t-test at P value of 0.05%.

In the second growing season, ZT had significantly more GY (1,592 kg ha⁻¹) than that of CT (1,503 kg ha⁻¹), but other yield parameters were not affected by tillage systems (Table 6). On the other hand, the variety 'Umqais' had significantly higher BY, GY, SY, and 1,000-grain weight than the variety 'Sham'. Yield components were significantly different among weeding methods (Table 6). Both T1 and T2 had significantly higher BY and GY than the control (T5). The highest and lowest SY were significantly observed in T3 and T4, respectively.

Effect of treatments interaction on wheat yield

In the first growing season (2015–2016), tillage x weeding interaction was significantly (P < 0.01) affected by SY (Fig. 1). The CT resulted in a higher straw yield than ZT for the weeding methods of T1, T2, and T5. In both tillage systems, the SY of the T1 and T2 weeding methods was significantly higher than those of T5 weeding treatment (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. The tillage system x weeding method interaction effect on straw yield (SY) for wheat grown during the growing season 2015–2016. Means followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to Student's t-test at *P* value of 0.05%.

The effect of variety x weeding interaction on BY and SY was also significant (Fig. 2). For the weeding method T1, the variety 'Umqais' had a higher BY than that the variety 'Sham', while the SY was not different between the two varieties. In contrast, the variety 'Umqais' had lower BY and SY than the variety 'Sham' for the T2 weeding method. For the two varieties, the T1 and T2 weeding methods resulted in the highest BY and SY. The T5 weeding method resulted in the lowest BY and SY.



Figure 2. The variety x weeding method interaction effect on biological (BY) and straw yield (SY) for wheat grown during the growing season 2015-2016. Means followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to Student's t-test at *P* value of 0.05%.

For the second growing season, the tillage system x variety (Fig. 3), the tillage system x weeding method (Fig. 4), and the variety x weeding method (Fig. 5) interactions effect on BY, GY, and SY were significant. For the tillage x variety interaction (Fig. 3), ZT resulted in higher BY and SY than CT for the variety 'Sham' and higher GY for the variety 'Umqais'. For both tillage systems, the variety 'Umqais' gave significantly higher BY, GY, and SY than the variety 'Sham'.



Figure 3. The tillage system x variety interaction effect on biological yield (BY), grain yield (GY), and straw yield (SY) for wheat grown during the growing season 2016–2017. Means followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to Student's t-test at *P* value of 0.05%.



Figure 4. The tillage system x weeding method interaction effect on biological yield (BY), grain yield (GY), and straw yield (SY) for wheat grown during the growing season 2016–2017. Means followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to Student's t-test at *P* value of 0.05%.

The tillage system x weeding method interaction effect on BY, GY, and SY was shown in Fig. 4. Hand weeding method (T1) and narrow leaf herbicides (T4) resulted in significantly higher BY, GY, and SY in ZT compared with those in CT (Fig. 4). However, the control (T5) gave significantly higher GY in CT system (1,529.8 kg ha⁻¹) than those in ZT (1,146.3 kg ha⁻¹). In CT, T4 weeding treatment gave significantly the

lowest yield components. In ZT, the BY and GY were the highest for T1 weeding treatment while SY was the highest in broadleaf herbicide (T3) but the difference was not significant from the T1 weeding treatment (Fig. 4).

For all weeding methods, the variety 'Umqais' had significantly higher BY, GY, and SY than the variety 'Sham' in the second growing season (Fig. 5). For the variety 'Umqais', the effect of broadleaf herbicide (T3) on BY and SY was the greatest (6191.6 and 4,372.5 kg ha⁻¹, respectively), followed by hand weeding (T1) while the control (T5) had the lowest BY (5,275 kg ha⁻¹). For the variety 'Sham', the T1 weeding treatment showed the highest BY and GY. However, the T3 treatment gave the highest SY and lowest GY (Fig. 5).



Figure 5. The variety x weeding method interaction on biological yield (BY), grain yield (GY), and straw yield (SY) for wheat grown during the growing season 2016-2017. Means followed by the same letters are not significantly different according to Student's t-test at *P* value of 0.05%.

DISCUSSION

Main effect of tillage system

This study showed no differences between the conventional (CT) and zero (ZT) tillage systems on yield parameters of wheat except for in the second growing season where plant height and wheat grain yield were significantly greater in ZT treatment. Such results were similar to the outcomes of Al-Issa and Samarah (2006) and Vita et al. (2007). The response of grain yield to tillage systems varied depending upon soil type, crop species, rainfall, and location (Khaledian et al., 2013; Liu et al., 2020).

Wheat yield was not affected by tillage systems in the first growing season which might be due to the higher rainfall in the first season than that in the second season (Table 2). The yield of wheat was lower in the second season than that in the first season. Therefore, the reduction in yield components in the second season might be due to the lower rainfall in the second season. A strong correlation was observed by Vita et al. (2007) between wheat yield and total precipitation throughout the growing season. They found that ZT performed better under limited rainfall as a result of less evaporation of soil water, and thus more water availability to plants (Vita et al., 2007). In addition, water

use efficiency (WUE) in ZT has been described to be higher in soils than those in CT (Li et al., 2005; Bryant et al., 2020). In the present study, there was no significant correlation ($r^2 = 0.15$) between plant height and grain yield of wheat (data not shown) for both experiments.

Main effect of wheat variety

Our results showed that the variety 'Umqais' had higher plant height than the variety 'Sham'. This could be associated with larger root systems of the variety 'Umqais'. Moreover, the variety 'Umqais' took slightly longer days to heading (81.9 days) than the variety 'Sham' (79.2 days) in the first growing season and vice versa for the second growing season. The variation in DH among varieties in response to the growing seasons might be due to the variation in rainfall between seasons. Thus, early heading of the variety 'Umqais' in the second season could be associated with lower rainfall because this variety is highly drought-tolerant compared with the variety 'Sham'. However, wheat yield was affected by the variety in the second season only. A higher biological, grain and straw yields for the variety 'Umgais' than those for the variety 'Sham' indicating that the variety 'Umqais' performed better under dry conditions. Other studies have revealed that early heading was positively associated with grain yield under severe drought (Van Oosterom & Acevedo, 1992). In the present study, no correlation between days to heading (DH) and grain yield was found (data not shown) under semi-arid circumstances. A similar result was obtained by van den Boogaard et al. (1996). The variety 'Umqais' was confirmed to be more efficient variety than the variety 'Haurani' due to higher yield under improved growing conditions (Al-Rjoub & Al-Samarrai, 2006).

Main effect of weed control methods

The weeding method had no effect on plant height, days to heading, and days to maturity for the two wheat varieties except for in the first season when PH of wheat was the shortest with the application of narrow leaf herbicide (Table 5). This may be due to a greater broadleaf weeds competition with the phytotoxic effect of this herbicide on wheat crops. However, Tawaha et al. (2002) found the shortest PH in barley were measured with the application of 2,4-D while the longest PH with hand weeding method. Qasem (2007) found the longest PH was under controls (no weeding).

In the present study, weeding methods had a significant effect on yield parameters of durum wheat varieties under tillage systems, although the outcomes were more realistic in the first growing season than in the second season. In both years, hand weeding revealed superior wheat yield when compared with mixed herbicides but the difference was not significant. The increase in grain yield (3%) for both years achieved with hand weed control was primarily due to the efficient control of weeds by a decrease of weed density. Similar results were supported by Turk & Tawaha (2003) and Qasem (2007) who found hand weeding method had the highest wheat grain yield.

In general, mixed herbicides presented a higher efficacy for increasing crop yield than using either single herbicide. However, narrow leaf herbicide treatment had a significantly similar effect on grain yield as mixed herbicides in the first growing season, while broadleaf herbicide had a significantly similar impact on biological yield in the second growing season. Thus, using a single herbicide under certain circumstances had proved efficiency for yield similar to mixed herbicides. For straw yield, the best result in the second year was achieved by 2,4-D herbicide indicating the high performance of this herbicide under lower soil moisture. Results of Qasem (2007) indicated that the maximum straw yield was obtained by 'imazamethabenz-methyl' herbicide and the highest biological yield was with imazamethabenz-methyl and weed-free control.

Control or no weeding method reduced grain yield by 41% and 25% in the first and second growing season, respectively in comparison with those for hand weeding (Table 6). The reduction in grain yield was greater in the first season than the second which might be related to higher weed competition under higher soil moisture conditions in the first season. Yield losses of wheat caused by weeds may range between 30% and 80% in Jordan (Turk & Tawaha, 2003).

Tillage system x weed control method interaction

In the present study, wheat yields were significantly affected by the interaction between the tillage system and weeding methods in both seasons. Our results indicated that hand weeding was the best weeding control method under tillage systems. Hand weeding, mixed herbicides and controls (no weeding) methods showed higher straw yield in CT compared with those in ZT at first growing season (Fig. 1). Hand weeding gave the highest straw yield under CT while controls gave the lowest yield under ZT. The increase in straw yield under CT may be due to reduced weed infestation. Similarly, Upasani et al. (2014) found that continuous CT in rice and wheat sequences with application of isoproturon + 2,4- D post-emergence herbicide in wheat, was the most useful practice in direct-seeded rice-wheat system. However, hand weeding and narrow leaf herbicide showed higher biological, grain, and straw yields in ZT than those in CT for the second season (Fig. 4), which could be due to reduced weed competition. The highest and lowest grain yield were obtained from hand weeding and control, respectively under ZT. The observed increase in grain yield of wheat with the use of ZT and herbicides was similar with results of Chhokar et al. (2007). Effective weed control in ZT was based on the use of herbicides (Calado et al., 2010). Conversely, alternative strategies for nonchemical weed control are required to decrease the dependency on herbicides under ZT systems (Kumar et al., 2013).

Wheat variety x weed control method interaction

A significant interaction effect between variety and weeding methods was found on yield parameters of wheat in both years. In the first growing season, hand weeding was the best weed control method for increasing biological and straw yields for the variety 'Umqais' while mixed- herbicide method was the best for the variety 'Sham' (Fig. 2). Hence, wheat varieties responded differently to weed control methods. In the second season, the variety 'Umqais' had higher biological, grain, and straw yields than the variety 'Sham' under all weed control methods. Although the maximum grain yield was attained by planting the variety 'Umqais' and by using hand weeding treatment. The lowest grain yield was reported for the variety 'Sham' using a 2,4-D herbicide treatment (Fig. 5). Sultana et al. (2012) found that weed free treatment resulted in the highest grain yield of the variety 'Prodip' while no weeding treatment resulted in the lowest grain yield of the variety 'Shatabdi'.

CONCLUSIONS

Grain yield of wheat was improved by growing 'Umqais' variety under zero tillage and by controlling weeds either by hands or a combination of broadleaf + narrow leaf herbicide, especially in the drier season. Zero tillage resulted in an increase in grain yield of 'Umqais' variety, and biological and straw yield of 'Sham' variety in comparison with conventional tillage in the second growing season (drier season). The grain yield was significantly reduced by 25–41% when weeds were not controlled with greater grain loss in the wetter growing season than the drier one.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS. This study is a part of the 'Enhancing food security in Arabic countries' Project. The authors gratefully thank International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas (ICARDA) which financially supported these experiments.

REFERENCES

- AL-Ghzawi, A.A., Bani Khalaf, Y., AL-Ajlouni, Z.I., AL-Quraan, N.A., Musallam, I. & Bani Hani, N. 2018. The effect of supplemental irrigation on canopy temperature depression, chlorophyll content, and water use efficiency in three- wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L. and *T. durum* Desf.) varieties grown in dry regions of Jordan. *Agriculture* **8**, 1–23.
- Ali, S., Malik, M.A., Tahir, M.N. & Khan, M.A. 2016. Growth and yield of rain fed wheat as affected by different tillage systems integrated with Glyphosate herbicide. *Pak. J. Bot.* 48, 2267–2275.
- Al-Issa, T.A. & Samarah, N.H. 2006. Tillage practices in wheat production under rainfed conditions in Jordan: An economic comparison. *World J. of Agric. Sci.* **2**, 322–325.
- Al-Rjoub, F.A. & Al-Samarrai, M.A. 2006. Growth and yield responses of three durum wheat cultivars subjected to four levels of available soil moisture. *Agric. Sci.* **33**, 153–164.
- Bibi, S., Marwat, K.B., Hassan, G. & Khan, N.M. 2008. Effect of herbicides and wheat population on control of weeds in wheat. *Pak. J. Weed Sci. Res.* 14, 111–120.
- Bryant, C.J., Krutz, L.J., Reynolds, D.B., Locke, M.A., Golden, B.R., Irby, T., Steinriede, R.W., Spencer, G.D., Mills, B.E. & Wood, C.W. 2020. Conservation soybean production systems in the middle southern USA: I. Transitioning from conventional to conservation tillage. *Crop Forage Turf. Manag.* 6, e20055. doi:10.1002/cft2.20055
- Büchi, L., Wendling, M., Amossé, C., Jeangros, B., Sinaj, S. & Charles, R. 2017. Long and short term changes in crop yield and soil properties induced by the reduction of soil tillage in a long term experiment in Switzerland. *Soil Till. Res.* **174**,120–129.
- Calado, J.M.G., Basch, G. & Carvalho, M. 2010. Weed management in no-till winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*). Crop Prot. 29, 1–6.
- Chhokar, R.S., Sharma, R.K., Jat, G.R., Pundir, A.K. & Gathala, M.K. 2007. Effect of tillage and herbicides on weeds and productivity of wheat under rice–wheat growing system. *Crop Prot.* **26**, 1689–1696.
- FAO. 2019a. World Food Situation. http://www.fao.org/worldfoodsituation/csdb/en/
- FAO. 2019b. GIEWS Global Information and Early Warning System. http://www.fao.org/giews/countrybrief/country.jsp?code=JOR
- Hofmeijer, M., Krauss, M., Berner, A., Peigné, J., Mäder, P. & Armengot, L. 2019. Effects of reduced tillage on weed pressure, nitrogen availability and winter wheat yields under organic management. Agron. 9, 180. https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy9040180.
- Honsdorf, N., Verhulst, N., Crossa, J., Vargas, M., Govaerts, B. & Ammar, K. 2020. Durum wheat selection under zero tillage increases early vigor and is neutral to yield. *Field Crops Res*, 248, 107675. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2019.107675

- Khaledian, M., Mailhol, J.C. & Ruelle, P. 2013. Diesel oil consumption, work duration, and crop production of corn and durum wheat under conventional and no-tillage in southeastern France. *Arch. Agron. Soil Sci.* **60**, 1067–1076.
- Kumar, V., Singh, S., Chhokar, R.S., Malik, R.K., Brainard, D.C. & Ladha, J.K. 2013. Weed management strategies to reduce herbicide use in zero-till rice-wheat cropping systems of the Indo-Gangetic Plains. Weed Tech. 27, 241–254.
- Li, L.L., Huang, G.B. & Zhang, R.Z. 2005. Effects of conservation tillage on soil water regimes in rainfed areas. Acta Ecologica Sinica. 25, 2326–2332.
- Liu, Z., Sun, K., Liu, W., Gao, T., Li, G., Han, H., Li, Z. & Ning, T. 2020. Responses of soil carbon, nitrogen, and wheat and maize productivity to 10 years of decreased nitrogen fertilizer under contrasting tillage systems. *Soil and Tillage Res.* **196**, 104444. doi:10.1016/j.still.2019.104444
- Mandal, M.S.H., Ali, M.H., Amin, K.M.R., Masum, S.M. & Mehraj, H. 2014. Assessment of different weed control methods on growth and yield of wheat. *Int. Agr. and Agr. Res.* 5, 65–73.
- Martínez, E., Fuentes, J.P., Silva, P., Valle, S. & Acevedo, E. 2008. Soil physical properties and wheat root growth as affected by no-tillage and conventional tillage systems in a Mediterranean environment of Chile. *Soil Till. Res.* **99**(2), 232–244.
- Pittelkow, C.M., Linquist, B.A., Lundy, M.E., Liang, X., vanGroenigen, K.J., Lee, J., Gestel, N., Six, J., Venterea, R.T. & vanKessel, C. 2015. When does no-till yield more? A global meta-analysis. *Field Crop.Res.*183, 156–168.
- Qasem, J.R. 2007. Chemical control of wild-oat (Avena sterilis L.) and other weeds in wheat (*Triticum durum* Desf.) in Jordan. Crop Protect. 26, 1315–1324.
- Shah, A.M.S., Ahmad, G., Wazir, O., Shafique, M.A., Hanif, B.A.S. & Zareen, K. 2018. Weeds population studies and wheat productivity as influenced by different sowing techniques and herbicides. *Pak.J.Agri.Res.* **32**, 87–94.
- Sultana, M.R., Alim, M.A., Hossain, M.B., Karmaker, S. & Islam, M.S. 2012. Effect of variety and weed management practices on yield and yield attributes of wheat. *J. Env. Sci. Nat. Res.* 5, 91–96.
- Susha, V.S., Das, T.K., Nath, C.P., Pandey, R., Paul, S. & Ghosh, S. 2018. Impacts of tillage and herbicide mixture on weed interference, agronomic productivity and profitability of a maize–Wheat system in the North-western Indo-Gangetic Plains. *Field Crop. Res.* 219, 180–191.
- Taner, A., Rifat, Z.A., Yasin, K., İrfan, G. & Fevzi, P. 2015. The effects of various tillage systems on grain yield, quality parameters and energy indices in winter wheat production under the rainfed conditions. *Fresenius Environmental Bulletin.* 24, 1463–1473.
- Tawaha, A.M., Turk, M.A. & Maghaireh, G.A. 2002. Response of barley to herbicide versus mechanical weed control under semi-arid conditions. J. Agron. Crop Sci. 188, 106–112.
- Turk, M.A. & Tawaha, A.M. 2003. Weed control in cereal in Jordan. Crop Protect. 22, 239–246.
- Turk, M.A. & Tawaha, A.M. 2002. Effect of sowing rates and weed control methods on winter wheat under Mediterranean environment. *Journal of Agronomy* **1**, 25–27.
- Upasani, R.R., Sheela, B. & Singh, M.K. 2014. Tillage and weed management in direct-seeded rice (*Oryza sativa*)-wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) cropping system. *Ind. J. Agron.* **59**, 75–79.
- Usman, K., Khalil, S.K., Khan, A.Z., Khalil, I.H., Khan, M. & Amanullah, A. 2010. Tillage and herbicides impact on weed control and wheat yield under rice–wheat cropping system in Northwestern Pakistan. *Soil Till. Res.* **110**, 101–107.
- Van den Boogaard, R., Erik, J., Veneklaas, J.M. & Peacock, H.L. 1996. Yield and water use of wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) in a Mediterranean environment: Cultivar differences and sowing density effects. *Plant and Soil.* **181**, 251–262.

- Van Oosterom, E.J. & Acevedo, E. 1992. Adaptation of barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.) to harsh Mediterranean environments. 1I. Apical development, leaf, and tiller appearance. *Euphytica* 2, 15–27.
- Vita, P., Di Paolo, E., Fecondo, G., Di Fonzo, N. & Pisante, M. 2007. No-tillage and conventional tillage effects on durum wheat yield, grain quality and soil moisture content in southern Italy. *Soil Till. Res.* **92**, 69–78.
- Xue, L., Khan, S., Sun, M., Anwar, S., Ren, A., Gao, Z. & Deng, Y. 2019. Effects of tillage practices on water consumption and grain yield of dryland winter wheat under different precipitation distribution in the loess plateau of China. *Soil Till. Res.* **191**, 66–74.
- Yang, X., Zheng, L., Yang, Q., Wang, Z., Cui, S. & Shen, Y. 2018. Modelling the effects of conservation tillage on crop water productivity, soil water dynamics and evapotranspiration of a maize-winter wheat-soybean rotation system on the Loess Plateau of China using APSIM. Agri. Sys. 166, 111–123.
- Young, F.L., Ogg, A.G., Boerboom, C.M., Alldredge, J.R. & Papendick, R.I. 1994. Integration of weed management and tillage practices in spring dry pea production. *Agron. J.* **86**, 868–874.
- Zadok, J.C., Chang, T.T. & Konzak, C.F. 1974. A decimal code for the growth stages of cereals. *Weeds Res.* 14, 15–421.

Experimental research into uniformity in spreading mineral fertilizers with fertilizer spreader disc with tilted axis

V. Bulgakov¹, O. Adamchuk², S. Pascuzzi³, F. Santoro³ and J. Olt^{4,*}

¹National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine, 15 Heroyiv Oborony Str., UA 03041 Kyiv, Ukraine

²National Scientific Centre, Institute for Agricultural Engineering and Electrification, 11 Vokzalna Str., Glevakcha 1, Vasylkiv District, UA 08631 Kyiv Region, Ukraine

³University of Bari Aldo Moro, Department of Agricultural and Environmental Science, Via Amendola, 165/A, IT 70125 Bari, Italy

⁴Estonian University of Life Sciences, Institute of Technology, 56 Kreutzwaldi Str., EE 51006 Tartu, Estonia

*Correspondence: jyri.olt@emu.ee

Received: Received: February 2nd, 2021; Accepted: March 27th, 2021; Published: April 7th, 2021

Abstract. Improving the efficiency in the work process of mineral fertilizer dressing is a topical problem in today's agricultural industry. The authors have developed a design of the fertilizer spreading tool with a tilted axis and carried out field experiment investigations on it. It has been established by the results of the investigations that the non-uniformity in the spreading of mineral fertilizers along the line of their departure from the fertilizer spreading tool with a tilted axis is most strongly affected by the disc rotation frequency. The obtained results provide for selecting the optimum parameters and modes of operation for the tool under consideration in the situation, when it is installed in fertilizer placing machines. Also, it has been established that increasing the spreading disc rotation frequency in such a tool from 600 to 800 rpm results in the growth of the effective range of mineral fertilizer spreading along the placing line at a level of 10.5 m. Increasing the disc's angle of inclination to the horizontal plane to 20° results in the rise of the effective fertilizer spreading range at a level of the 48th tray (24 m) inclusive as well as the increase of the distance between the tool and the tray that contains the maximum share of the spread fertilizers (5.1%) to 24 trays (12 m). At a constant rotation frequency of the disc in the tilted-axis fertilizer spreading tool, in all its kinematic modes of operation, an increase in the angle of its disc's inclination to the horizontal plane results in the rise of the indices representing the distribution of the mineral fertilizers over the trays along the line of their placing. The width of the mineral fertilizer spreading can be controlled by adjusting the rotation frequency of the disc in the tilted-axis fertilizer spreading tool, when it is set at an angle to the horizontal plane, similar to how it is done in state-of-the-art fertilizer placing machines with horizontally positioned discs in their centrifugal spreading tools. The rotation frequency of the disc in the tilted-axis fertilizer spreading tool has the most significant effect on the coefficient of variation incidental to the distribution of the mineral fertilizers along the line of their placing.

Key words: disc, inclination, mineral fertilizer, uniformity, spreading tool.

INTRODUCTION

It is common knowledge that the dosage provided in the mechanical spreading of mineral fertilizers and the uniformity in their distribution over the soil surface have an effect not only on the yield of the cultivated crops, but also on the quality of the harvest. In particular, the reduction of the non-uniformity in the fertilizer spreading from 30% to 15% results in the crop loss abatement from 8.6–22.4% to 0.6–1.1% (Adamchuk, 2002; 2006). The above-said implies that the lower the non-uniformity, with which the machines spread fertilizers, is, the greater the effect of their application will be. However, the realia of the development of new machines have proved that attempts to reduce the non-uniformity in the fertilizer spreading result in the need to design more sophisticated and more expensive equipment and that creates the economic situation, where the machinery for dressing the soil with mineral fertilisers and chemical soil improvers has low productive capacity and operating and economic efficiency.

Such a situation sets the research and engineering problem of improving the production output of the mineral fertiliser and chemical soil improver placing machines and reducing the costs per unit in the performance of the respective work process.

The issues related to the improvement of efficiency in the work process of dressing the soil with mineral fertilisers have always been and still is a topical problem. The earlier completed research (Yasenetsky & Sheychenko, 2002; Kobets et al., 2017) has established that the efficiency of the mineral fertiliser dressing depends not only on the fertilisers themselves, but on the methods of their placing as well. The primary factor limiting the efficiency of mineral fertiliser dressing is the non-uniformity in the distribution of the fertilisers over the area of the field (Yildirim, 2006; Lawrence et al., 2007; Villette et al., 2007; 2008; Jones et al., 2008; Marinello et al., 2017). It has a material effect on the ripening of the crop, causes variation in the yield and, overall, results in the decrease of the harvest (Adamchuk, 2002).

At the same time, the efficiency of mineral fertiliser application is also affected by the depth of fertiliser placement in the soil. According to the results of the completed investigations, it has been established that the placement of mineral fertilisers in the soil at a depth of 18-24 cm results in their unavailability for the plants in their initial growth period, while during the ripping of the soil with various harrows and cultivators the nutrient substances get stirred and become placed mostly in the upper drying soil layer (0–6 cm), where they are again not fully available for the plants. Many scientists have proved that the drilled fertilizers must become the direct source of nutrients for the plants and they have to be placed in the soil in such a way that they are readily available for the active parts of the agricultural plants' root systems. Placing the fertilisers close to the plant roots establishes a zone of the increased concentration of nutrients, which facilitates their absorption and improves the efficiency of their application. It has been proved that mineral fertilisers have to be placed in both the upper and deeper soil layers, with the concentration that is commensurate with the plant root system development level.

The theoretical and experimental research into the centrifugal-type spinning-disk fertiliser spreading tools has been undertaken by many scientists (Scheufle & Bolwin, 1991; Dintwa et al., 2004; Villette et al., 2005; Olt & Heinloo, 2009; Šima et al., 2013). They have studied the effect that the structural solution of the disks (Villette et al., 2005; Lü et al., 2016; Liu et al., 2018), vanes and other parts of the fertiliser spreading tool design (Grift et al., 2006; Yildirim, 2008), the parameters and modes of their operation

(Van Liedekerke et al., 2009; Villette et al., 2010; Bulgakov et al., 2020), the physical and mechanical properties of the mineral fertilisers and chemical soil improvers and the conditions (Aphale et al., 2003; Villette et al., 2007; Hijazi et al., 2010; Biocca et al., 2013; Šima et al., 2013; Antille et al., 2015), in which the mineral fertiliser spreading machines operate, have on their effective working width, in particular, on the spreading range, the fertiliser placing non-uniformity etc. However, the schematic models and parameters of centrifugal-type spinning-disk tools discussed in these studies do not take into account the factor of tilting the disc axis in the longitudinal and vertical plane. At the same time, the significance of that factor was proved during the research into the process of spreading mineral fertilisers with the new centrifugal-type fertiliser spreading tool, in which the axes are set with tilt, earlier carried out by the authors.

The aim of this study was to improve the efficiency of the work process of placing mineral fertilisers with centrifugal-type spinning-disk fertiliser spreading tools, in which the disc axes are installed with tilt.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The authors have designed and produced a mobile version of the experimental unit for research into the mineral fertiliser spreading with the use of centrifugal-type

spinning-disk fertiliser spreading tools with tilted rotation axes. The design layout of the experimental unit is presented in Fig. 1, its general appearance is shown in Fig. 2.

On the sliding frame 3 of the experimental unit (Fig. 1), the supply bin 7 (not shown in Fig. 2) is installed, which can be turned in the horizontal plane due to the turning frame 5. In the bottom of the bin 7, there is a seeding hole equipped with the slide valve 8 used for the controlled change of the open area in the said hole. The design of the drive that rotates the tilted-axis fertiliser spreading tool 9 provides for both variation of its rotation frequency and adjustment of the disc inclination angle to the horizontal plane.



Figure 1. Schematic model of experimental unit for research into mineral fertiliser spreading: 1 – transporting bracket; 2 – electric motor; 3 and 5 – sliding and turning frames, respectively; 4 – chain variable-speed gear; 6 – frame turn swivel; 7 – bin; 8 – slide valve; 9 – fertiliser spreading tool; 10 – bevel-gear speed reducer; 11 and 12 – brackets; 13 – free-wheel clutch; 14 – main frame; 15 – carrier wheel.

The work process of the experimental unit is as follows. The torque of the motor 2 is transmitted via the coupling to the input shaft of the chain variable-speed gear 4 that changes the rotation frequency. The output shaft of the gear drives via the free-wheel clutch the rotary motion of the input shaft in the bevel-gear speed reducer 10. As a result of that process, the rotary motion is imparted to the output shaft of the bevel-gear speed reducer 10, on which the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis is installed. The

mineral fertilisers are seeded down from the bin 7 under the action of the gravity force through the seeding hole's open area and arrive in metered amount onto the fertiliser spreading tool 9, the axis of which is set with tilt, where they are captured by the vanes

fixed on the disc. When the mineral fertiliser particles get onto the vanes, they accelerate under the action of the centrifugal force, moving along the vanes from the centre of the disc to their peripheral ends. After the mineral fertilisers reach the peripheral ends of the vanes, they depart from the vanes and, on account of the received reserve of kinetic energy, perform free motion in the air along a certain trajectory directed away from the fertiliser spreading tool, the axis of which is set with tilt with respect to the surface of the horizontal site, where the experimental investigations are carried out.



Figure 2. Experimental unit for research into process of mineral fertiliser top dressing with the use of centrifugal-type spinning-disk fertiliser spreading tools with tilted axes, with standard trays placed along the line of spreading.

During the completed experimental investigations, the mineral fertilisers spread with such a fertiliser spreading tool were collected in standard trays sized $0.5 \times 0.5 \times 0.1$ m. The trays were placed tightly close to each other, thus preventing any loss of the mineral fertiliser particles falling from above at various angles to the horizontal plane. Each of the trays was placed at a strictly controlled distance from the experimental unit, that is, when the trays were placed along the line of spreading, they were all situated on a straight line with insignificant spacing from each other. Their total number on the line was equal

to 80. That corresponded to a mineral fertiliser particle collection distance of more than 40 m.

Similarly, experimental investigations were carried out with the use of the machine equipped with two fertiliser spreading tools of the same design, the axes of which were set at an angle to the horizontal plane. In this case, again, all the trays were placed along the two directions of spreading in the same way, sufficiently close to each other and over a distance of 40 m in the two directions (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. General appearance of the experimental mineral fertiliser top dressing machine with two fertiliser spreading tools, axes of which were set at an angle to horizontal plane, during the field experiment investigations, in which trays were placed along the two directions of spreading.

The field experiment investigations were carried out with the use of the following mineral fertiliser: 'Ammonium saltpetre' (chemical formula NH₄NO₃, nitrogen content 34.7%).

The physical and mechanical properties of it were as follows:

1. Average moisture content -0.17%;

2. Bulk density -780 kg m^{-3} ;

3. Density $-1,500 \text{ kg m}^{-3}$;

4. Mean diameter of particles - 1.34 mm;

5. Percentage of size fractions: 0 to 0.5 mm – 13.1%; 1 to 2 mm – 83.5%; 2 to 3 mm - 3.4%;

6. Flight velocities of particles by size: $< 1.0 \text{ mm} - 2.2 \text{ to } 4.9 \text{ m s}^{-1}$; 1 to 2 mm - 4.1 to 7.9 m s⁻¹; 2 to 3 mm - 5.6 to 8.3 m s⁻¹;

7. Coefficient of friction on steel: 0.3 to 0.6.

In order to investigate the effect that the rotation frequency of the spreading tool and the angle of its inclination with respect to the horizontal plane have on the non-uniformity in the distribution of the mineral fertilisers along the line of their placing (i.e. along the line that is perpendicular to the axis of the experimental unit), the twofactor experiment with several levels of the factor variation was designed and carried out. In the experiment, the non-uniformity of mineral fertiliser spreading was measured by the coefficient of variation of the mineral fertiliser distribution over the standard trays.

The mathematical formulation of the processes was performed in the form of generating regression equations. For that purpose, the following factors had been selected:

n – rotation frequency of the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis, in natural units;

 α – disc's angle of inclination to the horizontal plane, in natural units;

 X_1 – rotation frequency of the disc, in encoded form;

 X_2 – disc's angle of inclination to the horizontal plane, in encoded form.

The experimental investigation of the non-uniformity in the distribution of the mineral fertilisers spread by the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis along the line of their placing was carried out in accordance with the mathematical design of the multiple-factor experiment following the prepared design matrices (Tables 1 and 2).

The data obtained as a result of the experimental investigations were

Table 1. Design matrix of full factorialexperiment for research into non-uniformity inspreading of granulated superphosphate byfertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis alongline of its placing

	Factor values: in natural (coded) for						
No.	<i>n</i> [rpm]	α [deg]					
	(X_1)	(X_2)					
1	600 (-1)	30 (-2)					
2	600 (-1)	20 (-1)					
3	600 (-1)	10 (0)					
4	600 (-1)	0 (+1)					
5	800(0)	30 (-2)					
6	800(0)	20 (-1)					
7	800(0)	10 (0)					
8	800(0)	0 (+1)					
9	1,000 (+1)	30 (-2)					
10	1,000 (+1)	20 (-1)					
11	1,000 (+1)	10 (0)					
12	1,000 (+1)	0 (+1)					

processed with the aim of generating the regression model that would describe the effect of the factors and their interrelations on the non-uniformity in the spreading of mineral fertilisers by the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis into the trays along the line of their placing, with the use of standard techniques of statistical processing. At the first stage of processing the experimental data, after their acquisition, they were checked for repeatability. In order to assess the repeatability, Cochran's test was applied, the value of the criterion was determined with the use of the relation:

$$G = \frac{S_u^2}{\sum_{u=1}^n S_u^2} \le G_t \tag{1}$$

where $G_t(0.05; n; f_u)$ – table value of Cochran's criterion at a significance level of 5%, the number of experiments *n* and

Table 2. Design matrix of full factorialexperiment for research into non-uniformity inspreading of nitroammophoska and ammoniumsaltpetre by fertiliser spreading tool with atilted axis along line of its placing

	Factor values: in natural (coded) form						
No.	<i>n</i> [rpm]	α [deg]					
	(X_1)	(X_2)					
1	600 (-1)	30 (-2)					
2	600 (-1)	20 (-1)					
3	600 (-1)	0 (+1)					
4	800 (0)	30 (-2)					
5	800 (0)	20 (-1)					
6	800 (0)	0 (+1)					

the number of degrees of freedom $f_u = m - 1$ with the number of replications *m*. The variance was determined with the use of the following expression:

$$S_u^2 = \frac{1}{m-1} \sum_{i=1}^m (y_{uik} - \bar{y}_u)^2, \qquad (2)$$

where \mathcal{Y}_{uik} – value of the output variable in the respective replication.

Further, the experimental error was calculated as follows:

$$S_{y}^{2} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{u=1}^{n} S_{u}^{2}$$
(3)

If the checking with the use of the Cochran's test proved that the process was repeatable, the next step in the experimental data processing would be to find the regression coefficients in accordance with the following formulae:

$$b_{0} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \overline{y}_{u},$$

$$b_{p} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_{p} \overline{y},$$

$$b_{pr} = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_{p} X_{r} \overline{y}.$$
(4)

The adequacy of the regression equation was checked with the use of Fisher's ratio test:

$$F = \frac{S_{ad}^2}{S_y^2} < F_t \tag{5}$$

where $S_{ad}^2 = \frac{1}{f_{ad}} \sum_{u=1}^n (y - \bar{y}_u)^2$ – adequacy variance; $f_{ad} = n - k - 1$ – number of degrees

of freedom of the adequacy variance in case of the number of factors equal to k; $f_y = n(m-1)$ – number of degrees of freedom of the repeatability variance.

The next step was to assess the significance of the coefficients in the regression equation with the use of Student's test. The criterion of the regression equation coefficient's significance was formulated as follows:

$$\left|b_{i}\right| \geq t_{i} \cdot \frac{S_{y}}{\sqrt{n}} \tag{6}$$

where t_t – table value of Student's criterion at a significance level of 5%.

The correlation analysis of the data under consideration was aimed at establishing the presence of a relationship between the factors.

The coefficient of the correlation between the values *x* and *y* was determined as follows:

$$r_{xy} = \frac{K_{xy}}{S_x S_y} \tag{7}$$

where S_x , S_y – mean deviations of the respective values; K_{xy} – covariance.

If the correlation coefficient is equal to zero, the values are uncorrelated, in case the correlation coefficient is above 0.7, the correlation is strong, at 0.3-0.7 – moderate, at correlation coefficient values below 0.3 – weak.

The root-mean-square error of the correlation coefficient was determined with the use of the following expression:

$$S_r = \sqrt{\frac{1 - r_{xy}^2}{n - 2}}$$
 (8)

The correlation between the parameters is significant provided that the calculated value of Student's criterion exceeds its table value. That is:

$$t_r = \frac{r_{xy}}{S_r} \ge t_t$$
 (9)

The laboratory investigations were carried out with the following values of the main operating conditions of the experimental unit and the design parameters of the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis:

rotation frequency of the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis:
 600 rpm, 800 and 1,000 rpm;

- angle of the disc's inclination with respect to the horizontal plane: 0° , 10° , 20° , 30° ;

- diameter of the disc -650 mm;
- fertiliser seeding radius 150 mm.

The non-uniformity in the distribution of the mineral fertiliser was measured by the coefficient of variation:

$$v = \frac{100\sigma}{\bar{M}},\tag{10}$$

where σ – mean deviation; M_i – mass of the fertiliser particles in the *i*th tray; *k* – number of trays.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

In accordance with the results of the experimental investigations, the effect of the rotation frequency of the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis on the pattern of distribution in the spreading of ammonium saltpetre along the line of its placing has been established and the graphic relations presented in Fig. 4 have been plotted. For that purpose, two fixed disc rotation frequencies have been selected - 600 and 800 rpm. Such a selection is justified by the following facts. Rotation frequencies

below 600 rpm cannot provide the mineral fertiliser particles that slip off the vane on the spreading disc with sufficient departure velocities. Consequently, the distances flown by

the particles until they touch the ground are automatically shorter in this case. On the other hand, when the spreading disc rotates with a frequency exceeding 800 rpm, the processes of the fertiliser spreading accelerating tool vane the ammonium saltpetre granules and the granules failing on the ground result in the break-up of the granules, which is unacceptable in terms of the agronomical requirements to the top dressing and also, in case the break-up happens on the disc, considerably reduces the distance flown by the broken saltpetre granules. Hence, experimental investigations the have been carried out with the use of the two fixed rotation frequencies experimental fertiliser of the spreading tool with a tilted axis, one of them - the minimum acceptable one and the second - the maximum acceptable one.

In the experimental investigations, has been it established that the horizontal position of the spreading disc rotating with a frequency of 600 rpm stipulates the effective range of spreading ammonium saltpetre along the line of its placing to reach the 30th tray inclusive (15 m), the maximum fraction of the discharged fertiliser (7.2%) being seeded into the 12^{th} tray (6 m). Increasing the rotation frequency of the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis to 800 rpm results in the increase of the length of the effective ammonium saltpetre spreading area to the 35th tray inclusive (17.5 m). In



Figure 4. Relation between distribution of ammonium saltpetre spread by fertiliser spreading tool with tilted axis along line of its placing in trays and disc rotation frequency: a, b, c, d - disc's angles of inclination to horizontal plane, respectively: 0°, 10°, 20°, 30°; 1, 2 – disc's rotation frequency, respectively: 600 and 800 rpm.

this case, the maximum fraction of the fertiliser (6.3%) is seeded into the 15th tray (7.5 m).

Hence, when the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool is in the horizontal position, increasing its rotation frequency from 600 to 800 rpm results in the rise of the effective ammonium saltpetre spreading range by 16.7%, also the distance from the fertiliser spreading tool to the tray, into which the maximum mass dose of fertiliser is seeded rises by 25%, while the maximum mass fraction of fertiliser seeded into one tray decreases by a factor of 1.14.

Similar patterns with regard to the effect of the rotation frequency of the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis on the distribution of the spread ammonium saltpetre along the line of its placing are also observed in case of an increase in the disc's angle of inclination with respect to horizontal plane to 30° (Fig. 5). As is seen in the presented graphic relations, the curve 2 representing the ammonium saltpetre distribution pattern at a disc rotation frequency of 800 rpm is significantly shifted to the right as compared to the curve 1 corresponding to the ammonium saltpetre distribution pattern at a disc rotation frequency of 600 rpm. Hence, it is appropriate to analyse the effect of the changes in the angle, at which the disc of the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis is set with respect to the horizontal plane, on the distribution characteristics incidental to the spreading of ammonium saltpetre into the trays along the line of its placing.

When the spreading disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis rotates with a frequency equal to 600 rpm and is installed at an angle of 10° to the horizontal plane (Fig. 5), ammonium saltpetre is effectively spread within the area up to the 35th tray (18.5 m) inclusive, while the maximum fraction of the fertiliser (6.4%) is seeded into the 15th tray (7.5 m). In the case of setting the disc at an angle of 20° to the horizontal plane, the spreading effective of ammonium saltpetre is performed within the area up to the 39th tray (19.5 m) inclusive and the maximum



Figure 5. Relation between distribution of ammonium saltpetre spread by fertiliser spreading tool with tilted axis along line of its placing in trays at disc rotation frequency of 600 rpm and angle of disc's inclination with respect to horizontal plane: 1, 2, 3, 4 - disc's angle of inclination with respect to horizontal plane is equal to, respectively: 0° , 10° , 20° , 30° .

mass fraction of the fertiliser (6.2%) is seeded into the 17th tray (8.5 m). Increasing the angle of the disc's inclination with respect to the horizontal plane to 30° results in the increase of the effective ammonium saltpetre spreading range to the 42nd tray (21 m) inclusive, the maximum mass fraction of the fertiliser (6%) being seeded into the 18th tray (9 m).

Thus, it has been established that, in case the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis rotates with a frequency of 600 rpm, the change in the setting angle of the disc in the said tool from 0° to:

 -10° results in the increase of the effective ammonium saltpetre spreading range by 16.7% and the distance from the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis to the tray with the maximum mass fraction of the seeded fertiliser - by 25%, while the above-mentioned mass fraction of ammonium saltpetre decreases by a factor of 1.13;
-20° results in the increase of the effective ammonium saltpetre spreading range by 30% and the distance from the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis to the tray with the maximum mass fraction of the seeded fertiliser - by 41.7%, while the above-mentioned mass fraction of ammonium saltpetre decreases by a factor of 1.16;

 -30° results in the increase of the effective ammonium saltpetre spreading range by 40% and the distance from the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis to the tray with the maximum mass fraction of the seeded fertiliser - by 50%, while the above-mentioned mass fraction of ammonium saltpetre decreases by a factor of 1.2.

When the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis rotates with a frequency equal to 800 rpm and is installed at an angle of 10° to the horizontal plane (Fig. 6), ammonium saltpetre is effectively spread within the area up to the 39th tray (19.5 m) inclusive, while the maximum mass fraction of the fertiliser (5.7%) is seeded into the 20th tray (10 m). In the case, when the disc is set at an angle of 20° to the horizontal plane, the effective spreading of ammonium saltpetre is performed within the area up to the 44th tray (22 m) inclusive, the



Figure 6. Relation between distribution of ammonium saltpetre spread by fertiliser spreading tool with tilted axis along line of its placing in trays at disc rotation frequency of 800 rpm and angle of disc's inclination with respect to horizontal plane: 1, 2, 3, 4 - disc's angle of inclination with respect to horizontal plane, respectively: 0°, 10°, 20°, 30°.

maximum mass fraction of the fertiliser (5.5%) is seeded into the 22nd tray (11 m). Increasing the angle of the disc's inclination with respect to the horizontal plane to 30° results in the increase of the effective ammonium saltpetre spreading range to the 47th tray (23.5 m) inclusive, the maximum mass fraction of the fertiliser (5.3%) being seeded into the 23rd tray (11.5 m).

It has been established that, in case the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis rotates with a frequency of 800 rpm, the change in the disc setting angle from 0° to:

 -10° results in the increase of the effective ammonium saltpetre spreading range by 11.4% and the distance from the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis to the tray with the maximum mass fraction of the seeded fertiliser - by 33.3%, while the above-mentioned mass fraction of ammonium saltpetre decreases by a factor of 1.1;

 -20° results in the increase of the effective ammonium saltpetre spreading range by 25.7% and the distance from the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis to the tray with the maximum mass fraction of the seeded fertiliser - by 46.7%, while the abovementioned mass fraction of ammonium saltpetre decreases by a factor of 1.15;

 -30° results in the increase of the effective ammonium saltpetre spreading range by 34.3% and the distance from the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis to the tray with the maximum mass fraction of the seeded fertiliser - by 53.3%, while the above-mentioned mass fraction of ammonium saltpetre decreases by a factor of 1.19. The results of the research into the distribution of the ammonium saltpetre spread by the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis along the line of its placing over the trays prove that increasing the disc rotation frequency from 600 to 800 rpm results, within the whole range of values used in the research for the angle, at which the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis is set with respect to the horizontal plane, in the rise of both the effective ammonium saltpetre spreading range and the distance from the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis to the tray with the maximum mass fraction of the seeded fertiliser. For example, the increase in the effective ammonium saltpetre spreading range is in case of an angle of $0^{\circ} - 16.7\%$, $10^{\circ} - 11.4\%$, $20^{\circ} - 12.8\%$, $30^{\circ} -$ 11.9%, while the distance from the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis to the tray with the maximum mass fraction of the seeded fertiliser increases at the following angles of inclination by: $0^{\circ} - 25.0\%$, $10^{\circ} - 33.3\%$, $20^{\circ} - 29.4\%$, $30^{\circ} - 27.8\%$.

In case of the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis rotating at a constant frequency, in all kinematic modes of operation of the tool, increasing the tool disc setting angle to the horizontal plane results in the improved indicators of the distribution of ammonium saltpetre over the trays along the line of its placing. In particular, when the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis rotates at a frequency of 800 rpm, the rise in the effective ammonium saltpetre spreading range due to the increase in the angle of inclination of the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis, as compared to its horizontal position, to 10° has a value of 11.4%, $20^{\circ} - 25.7\%$, $30^{\circ} - 34.3\%$, the respective rise in the distance from the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis to the tray with the maximum mass fraction of the seeded fertiliser is equal to: $10^{\circ} - 33.3\%$, $20^{\circ} - 46.7\%$, $30^{\circ} - 53.3\%$.

The above-stated proves that the parameter of the rotation speed of the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis can be used for controlling the ammonium saltpetre spreading range also in case, when the disc is set at an angle to the horizontal plane, the same as it is done in state-of-the-art fertiliser placing machines with horizontally set discs in their fertiliser spreading tools.

Increasing the angle of the disc's inclination with respect to the horizontal plane results in the rise of the indicators representing the ammonium saltpetre spreading range and the working width of the mineral fertiliser placing machine. At the same time, the rate of increase of the above-mentioned indicators is at its peak, when the angle of the disc's inclination with respect to the horizontal plane rises from 0° to 10° . After that, it declines, as the angle grows up to 30° .

The fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis ensures spreading ammonium saltpetre along the line of its placing to greater distances, than in case of the fertiliser spreading tool with a vertical rotation axis. That proves the hypothesis of a possibility to increase the working width of mineral fertiliser placing machines by means of equipping such machines with fertiliser spreading tools with tilted axes.

The regression equations that describe the effect of the disc's rotation frequency and its angle of inclination with respect to the horizontal plane on the non-uniformity in the distribution of ammonium saltpetre along the line of its placing appear as follows:

$$y = -101.4 - 0.0574n + 4.6034\alpha - 0.0256\alpha^2 \cdot$$
(11)

It has been established by analysing the relation (11) that the non-uniformity in the placing of ammonium saltpetre along the line of its departure from the fertiliser

spreading tool with a tilted axis is affected most of all by the value of the disc rotation frequency.

In a similar way, the regression equations that describe the distribution patterns for the spreading of granulated superphosphate along the line of its placing by the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis have been obtained:

$$y = 18.2533 + 0.0992n - 0.3063a - 0.000092n^2 + 0.0037a^2 + 0.00011na.$$
(12)

It has been established by analysing the obtained regression (12) that the most significant effect on the coefficient of variation of the granulated superphosphate distribution along the line of its placing is, again, produced by the rotation frequency of the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis.

As a result of implementing the two-factor experiment, the following relation between the coefficient of variation of the nitroammophoska distribution along the line of its placing, on the one hand, and the angle of inclination to the horizontal plane of the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis and its rotation frequency, on the other hand, has been obtained:

$$y = 80.46 - 0.0312n - 0.3825\alpha - 0.000037n^2 + 0.0018\alpha^2 + 0.00046n\alpha.$$
(13)

In a similar way to the results of the analysis of the expressions (11) and (12), it has been established that the most important factor with regard to the effect on the non-uniformity in the spreading of nitroammophoska along the line of its departure from the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis is the disc rotation frequency.

The obtained results provide for selecting the optimum parameters and modes of operation for the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis, when it is operated as part of a fertiliser placing machine. However, it is to be taken into consideration that, in case of a machine equipped with two fertiliser spreading tools with tilted axes, where the fertiliser is spread from each of the tools not in the form of a separate strip, but in the form of a fan with an angle at centre of circa 90°, it is necessary to carry out field experiments, in which a tractor with the fertiliser placing machine will pass the control plot, where the trays for the collection of the seeded mineral fertilisers are placed following the standard procedure, in order to obtain the data on the non-uniformity in the spreading of fertilisers within the working width of the machine.

CONCLUSIONS

1. Increasing the frequency of the disc rotation in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis from 600 to 800 rpm results in the growth of the effective range of spreading mineral fertilisers along the line of their placing at a level of 10.5 m. Increasing the angle of the disc's inclination with respect to the horizontal plane to 20° results in a rise in the effective fertiliser spreading range at a level of the 48th tray (24 m) inclusive as well as an increase in the distance from the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis to the tray with the maximum mass fraction of the seeded fertiliser (5.1%) to the 24th tray (12 m).

2. If the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis rotates at a constant frequency, in all kinematic modes of the tool operation, increasing the tool disc setting angle with respect to the horizontal plane results in an improvement of the indicators that represent the distribution of the mineral fertilisers over the trays along the line of their placing.

3. The mineral fertiliser spreading range can be controlled by changing the rotation frequency of the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis, when the disc is set at some angle to the horizontal plane, similarly to how it is done in state-of-the-art fertiliser placing machines, where the disc in the centrifugal tool is in the horizontal position.

4. Increasing the disc's angle of inclination to the horizontal plane results in the growth of the indicators that represent the range of spreading mineral fertilisers and the working width of the machine for their placing. In this growth, the increase in the above-mentioned indicators is most intensive, when the angle of the disc's inclination to the horizontal plane rises from 0° to 10° , but it declines during the further rise of the angle up to 30° .

5. The factor that has the most significant effect on the coefficient of variation incidental to the distribution of mineral fertilisers along the line of their placing is the rotation frequency of the disc in the fertiliser spreading tool with a tilted axis.

REFERENCES

- Adamchuk, V. 2006. *Mechanical-technological and technical bases of increase of efficiency of introduction of firm mineral fertilizers and chemical fertilizers*. The Abstract of the Dissertation of the Doctor of Technical Sciences. National Agrarian University. Kyiv, 40 pp. (in Ukrainian).
- Adamchuk, V. 2002. Substantiation of the model of application of mineral fertilizers. Interagency thematic scientific collection. *Mechanization and electrification of agriculture* **86**, 90–99 (in Ukrainian).
- Antille, D.L., Gallar, L., Miller, P.C.H. & Godwin, R.J. 2015. An investigation into the fertilizer particle dynamics off the disc. *Applied Engineering in Agriculture* **31**(1), 49–60.
- Aphale, A., Bolander, N., Park, J., Shaw, L., Svec, J. & Wassgren, C. 2003. Granular fertiliser particle dynamics on and off a spinner spreader. *Biosystems Engineering* 85(3), 319–329. doi: 10.1016/S1537-5110(03)00062-X
- Biocca, M., Gallo, P. & Menesatti, P. 2013. Aerodynamic properties of six organo-mineral fertilizer particles. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering* **44**, Art. E83, 411–414.
- Bulgakov, V., Adamchuk, V., Kuvachov, V., Shymko, L. & Olt, J. 2020. A theoretical and experimental study of combined agricultural gantry unit with a mineral fertilizer spreader. *Agraarteadus/Journal of Agricultural Science* **31**(2), 139–146. doi: 10.15159/jas.20.15
- Dintwa, E., Van Liedekerke, P., Olieslagers, R., Tijskens, E. & Ramon, H. 2004. Model forsimulation of particle flow on a centrifugal fertiliser spreader. *Biosystems Engineering* 87(4), 407–415. doi: 10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2004.01.001
- Grift, T.E., Kweon, G., Hofstee, J.W., Piron, E. & Villette, S. 2006. Dynamic Friction Coefficient Measurement of Granular Fertiliser Particles. *Biosystems Engineering* **95**(4), 507–515. doi: 10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2006.08.006
- Hijazi, B., Baert, J., Cointault, F., Dubois, J., Paindavoine, M., Pieters, J. & Vangeyte, J. 2010. A device for extracting 3d information of fertilizer trajectories. In: XVIIth World Congress of the International Commission of Agricultural and Biosystems Engineering (CIGR), Québec City, Canada June 13–17, 8 pp.
- Jones, J.R., Lawremce, H.G. & Yule, I.J. 2008. A statistical comparison of international fertiliser spreader test methods Confidence in bout width calculations. *Powder Technology* **184**(3), 337–351. doi: 10.1016/j.powtec.2007.09.004
- Kobets, A.S., Naumenko, M.M., Ponomarenko, N.O., Kharytonov, M.M., Velychko, O.P. & Yaropud, V.M. 2017. Design substantiation of the three-tier centrifugan type mineral feritlizers spreader. *INMATEH, Agricultural Engineering* **53**(3), 13–20.

- Lawrence, H.G., Yule, I.J. & Coetzee, M.G. 2007. Development of an image-processing method to assess spreder performance. *Transactions of the ASABBE* **50**(2), 397–407.
- Liu, C., Song, J., Zhang, J., Du, X. & Zheng, F. 2018. Design and performance experiment on centrifugal fertilizer spreader with a cone disc. *International Agricultural Engineering Journal* **27**(1), 44–52.
- Lü, J., Shang, Q., Yang, Y., Li, J. & Liu, Z. 2016. Performance analysis and experiment on granular fertilizer spreader with cone disc. *Nongye Gongcheng Xuebao/Transactions of the Chinese Society of Agricultural Engineering* **32**(11), 16–24. doi: 10.11975/j.issn.1002-6819.2016.11.003
- Marinello, F., Pezzuolo, A., Gasparini, F. & Sartori, L. 2017. Integrated approach for prediction of centrifugal fertilizer spread patterns. *Agricultural Engineering International: CIGR Journal* **19**(3), 1–6.
- Olt, J. & Heinloo, M. 2009. On the formula for computation of flying distance of fertilizer's particle under air resistance. *Agraarteadus/Journal of Agricultural Science* **20**(2), 22–25.
- Šima, T., Krupi©ka, J. & Nozdrovický, L. 2013. Effect of nitrification inhibitors on fertiliser particle size distribution of the DASA ® 26/13 and f ENSIN ®fertilisers. Argronomy Research 11(1), 111–116.
- Van Liedekerke, P., Tijskens, E. & Ramon, H. 2009. Discrete element simulations of the influence of fertiliser physical properties on the spread pattern from spinning disc spreaders. *Biosystems Engineering* **102**, 392–405. doi: 10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2009.01.006
- Villette, S., Cointault, F., Piron, E., Chopinrt, B. 2005. Centrifugal Spreading: an Analytical Model for the Motion of Fertiliser Particles on a Spinning Disc. *Biosystems Engineering* 92(2), 157–164. doi: 10.1016/j.biosystemeng.2005.06.013
- Villette, S., Cointault, F., Zwaenepoel, P., Chopinrt, B. & Paindavoine, M. 2007. Velosity measurement using motion blurred images to improve the quality of fertiliser spreading in agriculture. In: *Proceedings of SPIE – The International Society for Optical Engineering*, 6356, Art. 635601.
- Villette, S., Gée, C., Piron, E., R. Martin, R., Miclet, D. & Paindavoine, M. 2010. Centrifugal fertiliser spreading: velocity and mass flow distribution measurement by image processing. In: *Proceedings of AgEng 2010, International Conference on Agricultural Engineering*, Clermont Ferrand, France, 10 pp.
- Villette, S., Piron, E., Cointault, F. & Chopinet, B. 2008. Centrifugal spreading of fertiliser: Deducing three-dimensional velocities from horizontal outlet angles using computer vision. *Biosystems Engineering* **99** (4), 496–507. doi: 10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2017.12.001
- Yasenetsky, V. & Sheychenko, V. 2002. Mineral spreaders for farms of all forms of ownership. *APK technique* **12**, 16–17 (in Ukrainian).
- Yildirim, Y. 2006. Effect on vane number on distribution uniformity in single disc rotary fertilizer spreaders. *Applied Engineering in Agriculture* **22**(5), 659–663.
- Yildirim, Y. 2008. Effect of vane shape on fertilizer distribution uniformity in single disc rotary fertilizer spreaders. *Applied Engineering in Agriculture* **24**(2), 159–163.

Variation of chickpea nodulation in a Mediterranean agroecosystem: relationship with soil characteristics and thresholds for significant contribution to plant growth

Y. Chenene^{1,*}, D. Blavet², M. Belalmi¹, G. Kaci^{1,3}, M. Teffahi¹ and S.M. Ounane¹

¹High National School of Agronomy, Plant Production Department, Laboratory for Vegetal Production, El Harrach, Algiers, Algeria

²Research Institute for Development-IRD, UMR Eco&Sols, Functional Ecology and Biogeochemistry of Soils and Agro-Ecosystems, INRA-IRD-CIRAD-SupAgro, University of Montpellier, Montpellier, France

³University M'Hamed Bougara of Boumerdes, Department of Agronomic Sciences, Avenue de l'indépendance, Boumerdes, Algeria

*Correspondence: cheneneyacine@gmail.com

Received: January 19th, 2021; Accepted: February 28th, 2021; Published: March 22nd, 2021

Abstract. This study was designed to investigate the influence of some environmental constraints on chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.) growth and nodulation in a reference agroecosystem. This multi-local field experiment, realized in the agroecosystem of Chlef in northern Algeria, involved 24 sites where the local well-adapted genotype Ain temouchent is grown. Determination of soil properties allowed the identification of three clusters of sites. Plant biomass (SDW) varied significantly among sites from 6.7 to 39.4 g SDW plant⁻¹ and was highly correlated with nodule biomass (NDW). The slope of the regression function between NDW and SDW, defined as the efficiency in use of the rhizobial symbiosis (EURS) inside clusters ranged from 67 to 200 g SDW g⁻¹ NDW. Analysis of the EURS highlighted the existence of a low nodulation threshold of 0.1 g NDW plant⁻¹ below which the contribution of nodulation to the host plant growth was not significant and a high threshold above which the nodule biomass increase was not linked with an increase in shoot biomass. Thus, the significant regression of shoot growth as a function of nodulation ranged from 0.10 to 0.35 g NDW plant⁻¹ ($R^2 = 0.54$, P < 0.001). Moreover, nodule biomass was positively correlated with soil Olsen-P, more particularly in cluster A ($R^2 = 0.50$, P < 0.05) and B ($R^2 = 0.61$, P < 0.01). This approach proved to be a rapid and efficient way to identify the major factors affecting nodulation in order to develop strategies to optimize nodule contribution to chickpea growth and yield.

Key words: chickpea, efficiency in use of the rhizobial symbiosis, nodulation, phosphorus, plant-soil interaction, symbiotic nitrogen fixation.

INTRODUCTION

Legumes play a crucial role in Mediterranean farms sustainability through their agro-ecological services. Moreover, in many households they are often the main source of protein and the central core of healthy diet. Chickpea is one of the three major legumes

in the world, the second most grown in Algeria after dry faba bean (Abdelguerfi-Laouar et al., 2001b; Rawal & Navarro, 2019) and an important crop for low input rainfed agroecosystems due to its ability to grow on poor and marginal soils. Chickpea is generally cultivated in rotation with cereals for its seeds that have high nutritional value, for its stubbles that provide a good forage and also as break crop and a source of nitrogen to the farming system (Boughrarou, 1992; Herridge et al., 1995; Schwenke et al., 1998; Rawal & Navarro, 2019), nitrogen being the most limiting element of crop growth and yield after water in semiarid areas.

Indeed, chickpea like other legumes have the ability to biologically fix atmospheric nitrogen (SNF) through the establishment of a symbiotic association with specific soil-borne rhizobia species from the genera Mesorhizobium and Ensifer and the formation of root nodules (Dekkiche et al., 2017). Thus, chickpea can fix up to 81% of their requirements from atmospheric nitrogen, a large part of this fixed N is returned to the soil after harvest benefiting the successive crop (Schwenke et al., 1998).

However the success of chickpea cultivation and the expected benefit of its integration into the cropping system depends on an optimal level of nodulation and SNF, otherwise the plant will depend on root uptake, which will negatively affect the pool of N in the soil and lead to poor growth if the soil is already deficient in N (Schwenke et al., 1998; Lazali et al., 2016). Nodule formation and functioning are tightly controlled by the host plant to achieve optimal N nutrition with minimal energy cost (Voisin et al., 2010). However, at field level, nodulation can be affected by several external factors such as the native rhizobial strains in the soil, environmental variables, genotypes differences, farming practices, nutrient availability and soil characteristics (Evans, 1982; Ben Romdhane et al., 2007; Lazali et al., 2016, Dekkiche et al., 2017) and very little is known about what could be considered as an optimal level of nodulation and how to reach this level, moreover, discerning between whether low nodulation is a result or the main cause of low host plant growth remains difficult (Robson et al., 1981; Israel, 1987).

Among these factors, phosphorus deficiency, which could be one of the main causes of low yields of chickpea and legumes in general due to its highly limiting effect on nodule formation and functioning (N₂-fixation) (Robson et al., 1981; Israel, 1987; Ribet & Drevon, 1996; Benlahrech et al., 2018). According to Vance (2001), most of the world's arable land is p-deficient; in Algeria due to the calcareous nature of the soil, soluble P is precipitated (Djili et al., 1999; Tunesi et al., 1999). As a result of this soil deficiency and the high needs of symbiosis, nodule biomass and thereafter SNF are often strongly correlated with soil available P (Lazali et al., 2016).

Nodulation and SNF can be assessed by different methods such as the direct measurement of the nitrogen deriving from biological fixation, nitrogenase activity in the nodule, counting and/or measuring the dry weight of nodules; some of this methods are very costly and difficult to set up for large multilocal field trials. However, the measurement of nodule dry weight (NDW) represent a rapid and efficient way to assess SNF contribution to plant growth (Drevon et al., 2015; Lazali et al., 2016). Several authors proved that NDW augmentation is positively correlated with SNF and plant growth (Evans, 1982; Rao et al., 2002; Voisin et al., 2003; Elias, 2009; Lazali et al., 2016; Benlahrech et al., 2018; Kaci et al., 2018). Low nodulation is often considered as the major limiting factor of chickpea growth and yield in Mediterranean areas (Ben Romdhane et al., 2007). Thus the need arises for a proper analysis of chickpea nodulation in order to determine the major factors affecting nodulation and establish thresholds of

optimal nodulation since low NDW was proved to have no significant positive effect on the host plant (Drevon et al., 2015).

In this context, the major objective of this work is to assess the levels of nodulation of winter sown chickpea grown under rainfed conditions in the region of Chlef in the north of Algeria and emphasize the quantitative relationship between plant growth and nodulation in interaction with contrasted soil conditions.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study area and diagnostic Sites

The nodular diagnosis was conducted during the 2017–2018 growing season in the semiarid region of Chlef located in the north west of Algeria, in an area of 40 by 30 km extending from 36°26'5"N,

1°6'15"E, altitude 193 m at northwestern limit, the to 36°5'20" N, 1°27'5"E, altitude 517 m at the southeastern limit (Fig. 1). The area was selected for its importance in winter rainfed chickpea production and is characterized by cold wet winter and hot dry irregular summer. with rainfall (603 mm during the growth 2017-2018 season). The 24 sites were chosen on the basis of a previous



Figure 1. Map of the study area showing the locations of the sampled sites and the spatial variation of nodulation, the size of the dots corresponds to the mean NDW of each site and the color of the dot indicates to which cluster the site belongs.

farm survey to cover a large diversity in agro-ecological conditions. In each location the diagnostic site consisted in a 20 by 20 m homogeneous area.

Plant material and growth condition

In each site chickpea was grown according to conventional agricultural practices, as recommended by local authorities. Weed, pests and diseases were controlled by appropriate pesticides. All sites were rainfed without irrigation, and sown at 30–35 seeds per m² without rhizobial inoculation. Before sowing, the topsoil was mechanically prepared using a disc plough and a harrow. Sowing was performed using a seeder followed by a smooth roller, the distances between rows and between plants on the row were 30 and 10 cm, respectively. This experiment was carried out with the well adapted commonly grown cultivar Aïn Témouchent, a vigorous, short-cycle chickpea genotype with erect growth, good culinary and nutritional qualities of grains (Boughrarou, 1992; Abdelguerfi-Laouar et al., 2001a, 2001b).

Soil sampling and analysis

At sowing four random soil samples from each site were collected at 0–30 cm with an auger and conserved at 4 °C before analysis in the laboratory of soil science (ENSA–Algeria). Soil samples were crushed and sieved through a 2 mm sieve to obtain the fine soil fraction before measuring soil pH in distilled water and granulometry by sedimentation with the pipette method (Robinson, 1922), the obtained values were then used to assign each site with a textural class based on the soil textural triangle. Total nitrogen, CaCO₃ content, available phosphorus, total organic carbon were measured with the methods of Kjeldahl (1883), Bernard Calcimeter, Olsen (Olsen & Dean, 1965) and Anne (1945), respectively.

Assessment of growth, nodulation and mapping

At full flowering stage which corresponds to period with maximal nodule dry weight (NDW), 20 plants per site were randomly harvested from the middle rows of each site by carefully digging around each plant. Shoots were separated from roots at the cotyledonary node. Nodules, if any, were gently separated from roots and the surrounding soil, washed with water and stored at 4 °C for further measurements. All the samples were oven dried for 48 h at 70 °C before being weighted. Mean NDW for each site were used in QGIS software (3.4.4) to generate the map in Fig. 1. Linear regression models were computed between nodules and shoots dry weights (SDW = a.NDW + b). The slopes of these models (a) were retained as estimators of the efficiency in use of the rhizobial symbiosis (EURS) for shoot biomass productions with the atmospheric N_2 fixed by the nodules i.e the ratio of N_2 -dependent growth/nodule mass, while the intercepts (b) are shoot biomass productions without nodules i.e with soil nitrogen only (Zaman-Allah et al., 2007; Drevon et al., 2015).

Statistical analysis

The statistical analyzes were performed with R software version 3.5.2 (R Core team, 2018). Means, standard errors (s.e.) and standard deviations (s.d.) were computed with 20 plants and 4 soil samples by site. Analyzes of variance were performed and means among sites were compared using Tukey's multiple comparison tests at P < 0.05, P < 0.01, and P < 0.001.

Hierarchical clustering of sites was performed using the physico-chemical properties of sites with Ward method. The relationships between nodule biomass, shoot biomass and available soil phosphorus (Olsen-P) were assessed by regression analysis. The relationship between nodulation and shoot biomass was also observed with locally weighted scatterplot smoothing (loess method). Bar graphs and scatter plots were also performed using R v 3.5.2.

RESULTS

Soil physico-chemical properties

Table 1 summarizes some physico-chemical properties of the sites, data show highly significant differences between the sites for all parameters. Overall, the diagnostic sites had a basic pH ranging from 8.09 ± 0.15 to 8.56 ± 0.04 corresponding to site 16 and 19 respectively, total organic matter varied from 1.06 ± 0.01 to $2,47 \pm 0.52$ corresponding to sites 20 and 13 respectively, moreover the total CaCO₃ content ranged from 4.72 ± 0.14 in site 23 to 29.47 ± 6.12 in site 14, the highest values of Olsen-P were observed in sites 24 and 13 with 30.47 ± 2.27 and 32.19 ± 3.03 respectively and the lowest is site 19 with 5.02 ± 0.22 , the total nitrogen ranged from 0.93 ± 0.06 in site 05 to 2.40 ± 0.30 in site 11.

				ОМ		CaCO ₃	Olsen-P	Total N
Site	Clay ***	Silt ***	Sand ***	(%) ***	Ph ***	(%) ***	(mg kg ⁻¹) ***	(g kg ⁻¹) ***
S01	41 ± 0.60	34 ± 1.28	24 ± 1.04	1.4 ± 0.33	8.4 ± 0.32	16.64 ± 0.55	20.32 ± 1.65	1.63 ± 0.15
S02	37 ± 0.49	38 ± 0.95	25 ± 1.08	1.2 ± 0.01	8.3 ± 0.00	21.60 ± 0.96	15.95 ± 1.17	1.43 ± 0.23
S03	43 ± 1.56	36 ± 0.26	20 ± 1.80	1.3 ± 0.04	8.3 ± 0.07	17.91 ± 0.48	23.14 ± 1.10	1.87 ± 0.21
S04	31 ± 0.91	39 ± 0.56	30 ± 1.46	1.1 ± 0.10	8.4 ± 0.15	24.88 ± 0.60	19.28 ± 2.28	1.17 ± 0.25
S05	38 ± 0.70	35 ± 0.85	27 ± 0.95	1.2 ± 0.05	8.4 ± 0.08	16.32 ± 0.42	14.02 ± 0.57	0.93 ± 0.06
S06	30 ± 0.31	32 ± 0.78	38 ± 0.47	1.2 ± 0.03	8.3 ± 0.04	15.60 ± 0.24	6.89 ± 0.71	1.00 ± 0.26
S07	36 ± 0.06	33 ± 0.06	31 ± 0.00	1.3 ± 0.05	8.4 ± 0.03	13.12 ± 0.73	7.80 ± 1.90	1.40 ± 0.30
S08	44 ± 0.40	36 ± 1.25	20 ± 0.87	1.4 ± 0.07	8.3 ± 0.01	12.32 ± 0.37	14.11 ± 3.35	1.53 ± 0.21
S09	40 ± 1.72	37 ± 0.72	22 ± 1.11	1.2 ± 0.03	8.3 ± 0.06	14.56 ± 2.18	13.40 ± 1.37	1.67 ± 0.25
S10	39 ± 1.37	35 ± 0.31	26 ± 1.37	1.1 ± 0.07	8.3 ± 0.01	11.28 ± 2.44	21.17 ± 4.62	1.83 ± 0.06
S11	32 ± 0.26	36 ± 0.83	32 ± 0.85	2.1 ± 0.22	8.4 ± 0.07	12.32 ± 0.14	21.48 ± 0.94	2.40 ± 0.30
S12	36 ± 0.70	41 ± 1.63	23 ± 2.32	1.2 ± 0.05	8.3 ± 0.01	21.12 ± 0.83	18.90 ± 1.77	1.37 ± 0.35
S13	34 ± 0.15	31 ± 0.40	34 ± 0.49	2.5 ± 0.52	8.4 ± 0.12	20.88 ± 0.48	32.19 ± 3.03	2.30 ± 0.10
S14	32 ± 1.12	35 ± 1.57	34 ± 2.68	1.5 ± 0.63	8.4 ± 0.02	29.47 ± 6.12	10.51 ± 3.96	1.27 ± 0.12
S15	31 ± 1.51	40 ± 0.53	29 ± 1.35	1.4 ± 0.09	8.5 ± 0.08	24.80 ± 3.50	26.07 ± 2.59	1.93 ± 0.32
S16	33 ± 0.44	37 ± 1.35	30 ± 0.95	1.3 ± 0.07	8.1 ± 0.15	24.16 ± 0.55	22.62 ± 0.54	2.27 ± 0.31
S17	35 ± 0.67	36 ± 2.57	29 ± 3.12	1.7 ± 0.14	8.4 ± 0.02	8.32 ± 0.28	28.92 ± 2.66	2.30 ± 0.20
S18	30 ± 0.36	34 ± 0.45	35 ± 0.12	1.6 ± 0.06	8.1 ± 0.08	20.16 ± 0.96	24.10 ± 2.19	1.96 ± 0.13
S19	31 ± 1.75	33 ± 0.70	36 ± 1.31	1.1 ± 0.03	8.6 ± 0.04	20.72 ± 0.50	5.02 ± 0.22	1.33 ± 0.50
S20	33 ± 0.29	39 ± 0.95	28 ± 0.86	1.1 ± 0.01	8.2 ± 0.08	26.63 ± 0.39	15.76 ± 2.96	1.47 ± 0.23
S21	42 ± 0.84	38 ± 0.42	19 ± 1.15	1.3 ± 0.09	8.1 ± 0.14	12.64 ± 0.60	6.38 ± 0.65	1.77 ± 0.31
S22	36 ± 0.17	40 ± 2.89	24 ± 2.79	1.4 ± 0.02	8.4 ± 0.13	5.52 ± 0.00	23.13 ± 0.88	2.20 ± 0.26
S23	35 ± 1.13	39 ± 0.55	26 ± 1.64	1.3 ± 0.05	8.3 ± 0.07	4.72 ± 0.14	25.19 ± 3.14	1.93 ± 0.06
S24	37 ± 1.30	37 ± 0.38	26 ± 1.42	1.4 ± 0.06	8.3 ± 0.11	8.41 ± 1.49	30.47 ± 3.27	1.43 ± 0.31
	1	C" 11 CC		0.001				

Table 1. Physico-chemical properties of the 24 site of the diagnostic. Data are means \pm standard deviation of 4 soil samples collected before sowing

*** indicate significant difference at p < 0.001.

The highest values of clay (44%), silt (41%) and sand (36%) were found in sites 8, 12, and 19 respectively. Based on soil particle size, we determined sites textural class of each site according to the USDA texture triangle. Following this textural classes; the sites can be divided into 2 groups: clay sites which regroups sites 1, 3, 8, 9 and 21. This sites exhibit the highest percentage of clay (over 40%), the rest of the sites have a clay loam texture. Fig. 1 shows that all these clay sites are located in the north of the study area.

Clustering analysis allowed regrouping the sites into three clusters gathering between four to twelve sites. Table 2 shows the mean values of soil properties for each cluster. Clusters were significantly different in all parameters except $CaCO_3$ content, pH and total organic matter content. Cluster A regroups 8 sites (1, 3, 5, 7, 8, 9, 10 and 21) and contains all the clay sites. In this cluster mean total N and Olsen-P are also the lowest. Cluster B contains 12 sites (2, 4, 6, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 18, 19 and 20) and show the highest $CaCO_3$ content, but medium levels of Olsen P. On the other hand, cluster C which is characterized by a low $CaCO_3$ content and the and highest P content contains 4 sites (17, 22, 23 and 24).

Shoot and nodule biomass

Significant differences in shoot and nodule biomass were observed between sites (Fig. 2), plants in site 8 had no nodules and low shoot biomass $(7.9 \pm 1.74 \text{ g DW plant}^{-1})$. Site 17 and 18 exhibited the highest nodulation $(0.32 \pm 0.02 \text{ and } 0.38 \pm 0.03 \text{ g DW plant}^{-1}$ respectively). Overall, nodule biomass ranged from 0 to 0.38 g DW plant⁻¹ and shoots biomass from 6.7 to 39.4 g DW plant⁻¹ corresponding to sites 6 and 17 respectively. Moreover Fig. 1 indicates that all the sites in the north east of the study area suffered from low nodulation, while the sites in the north and south had average to high nodulation.



Figure 2. Nodule and shoot biomass of the Ain Témouchent genotype grown in 24 sites of Chlef. Values are means of 20 plants per site harvested at flowering stage. Vertical bars represent standard error. Black, grey and white color corresponds to cluster A, B and C respectively. Different letters indicate significant differences between sites at P < 0.05.

Nodulation and growth as a function of soil properties

As shown in Table 2, in cluster A who contains all the clay sites and the lowest values of total N and Olsen-P, shoot and nodule biomass were low. Cluster B who exhibited a high content of CaCO₃ and medium content of Olsen-P is characterized by an and average shoot nodule biomass production. On the other hand. cluster С which is characterized by a low CaCO₃ and the highest content P content exhibited the highest shoot and nodule biomass.

According to Fig. 3 а positive correlation between P augmentation and NDW was found in cluster A and B $(R^2 = 0.5)$ at P < 0.05and $R^2 = 0.61$ at P < 0.01 respectively). On the other hand. no significant correlation was found for cluster C which corresponds to the cluster with the highest P content in average $(26.93 \pm 3.80 \text{ mg kg}^{-1}).$

Table 2. Mean	shoot	biomass,	no	dule	bion	nass,
physical and cl	nemical	properties	of	the	three	soil
clusters. Data ar	e means	\pm standard	dev	viatio	on	

	А	В	С
Sand (%) *	$23.66 \pm$	$31.08 \pm$	$25.96\pm$
	3.92 ^b	4.55 ^a	2.73 ^b
Silt (%) *	$35.75 \pm$	$36.28 \pm$	$38.29 \pm$
	1.75°	3.29 ^{ab}	2.38 ^a
Clay (%) ***	$40.59 \pm$	$32.64\pm$	$35.75 \pm$
	2.70 ^a	2.29°	1.19 ^b
OM (%) (ns)	$1.28 \pm$	$1.41 \pm$	$1.44 \pm$
	0.14	0.45	0.19
Total N (g.kg ⁻¹) *	$1.58 \pm$	$1.66 \pm$	$1.97 \pm$
	0.34 ^b	0.53 ^{ab}	0.40^{a}
Olsen-P (mg kg ⁻¹)***	$15.33 \pm$	$18.23 \pm$	$26.93 \pm$
	6.13 ^b	7.93 ^{ab}	3.80 ^a
CaCO ₃ (%)(ns)	$14.35 \pm$	$21.86\pm$	$6.74 \pm$
	2.50	4.86	1.84
pH (ns)	$8.31\pm$	$8.32 \pm$	$8.37 \pm$
	0.14	0.16	0.09
SDW (g) ***	$12.71 \pm$	$19.17\pm$	$23.65 \pm$
	5.32 ^c	11.83 ^b	10.78 ^a
NDW (g) ***	$0.11 \pm$	$0.17 \pm$	$0.24 \ \pm$
	0.07 ^c	0.13 ^b	0.09 ^a

^{*, **, ***} indicates significant difference at P < 0.05, P < 0.01, P < 0.001, respectively; ns: not significant (P > 0.05). Values followed by the same letter are not significantly different at P < 0.05.

Efficiency in use of the rhizobial symbiosis

In order to better observe how nodulation links with shoot biomass, the mean SDW of each site was plotted as a function of the mean NDW in each cluster and among all sites.

For the three clusters, as shown in Fig. 4, the SDW and NDW were significantly correlated regardless of cluster N and P contents, with the EURS ranging from 67 to 200 g SDW g⁻¹ NDW corresponding to cluster A and C, respectively.

Among all sites (Fig. 5, A), results show a highly significant correlation between shoot and nodule biomasses ($R^2 = 0.81$, P < 0.001) with a linear model. On the other hand the loess curve shows three distinct parts, a first part where NDW augmentation is not accompanied by SDW augmentation, a second part that exhibits positive correlation between the two parameters and a third part where SDW is not affected or tends to decrease when NDW increases.





Figure 3. Nodule biomass as related to the concentration of Olsen-P in the sites of the three soil clusters (A, B and C). Each point represents the means calculated on 20 plants per site harvested at flowering stage and 4 soil samples collected before sowing. Vertical and horizontal bars represent standard errors. A curvilinear regression was fitted to the data. *, **, *** indicates significance at P < 0.05, P < 0.01, P < 0.001, respectively.

Figure 4. Shoot biomass as related to nodule biomass in the three soil clusters (A, B and C). Each point represents the means calculated on 20 plants per site harvested at flowering stage. Vertical and horizontal bars represent standard errors. A linear regression was fitted to the data. *, **, *** indicates significance at P < 0.05, P < 0.01, P < 0.001, respectively.



Figure 5. Efficiency in use of rhizobial symbiosis in the 24 site of the study (A); for plants with a NDW less than 0.1 g (B); plants with a NDW between 0.1 and 0.35 g (C) and plants with a NDW above 0.35 g (D). For (A) each point represents the means calculated on 20 plants per site harvested at flowering stage. Vertical and horizontal bars represent standard errors. A linear regression was fitted to the data in (A) and (C) and a loess regression was fitted to the data in (A). *, **, *** indicates significance at P < 0.05, P < 0.01, P < 0.001, respectively.

To investigate in more details to what extent the NDW was linked to shoot production, all the sampled plants were divided into three groups based on NDW: the first group of plants with nodulation below 0.1 g NDW plant⁻¹; the second with NDW between 0.10 and 0.35 g NDW plant⁻¹; the third with NDW above 0.35 g NDW plant⁻¹

(Fig. 5, B; 5, C & 5, D respectively) based on Drevon et al. (2015) work and the loess regression analysis. Results show no significant correlation between the two parameters for the first and third group (Fig. 5, B & 5, D respectively), on the other hand it shows a highly significant correlation for the second group (Fig. 5, C) ($R^2 = 0.54$ at P < 0.001).

DISCUSSION

Our study provided results at several scales: the scale of all the sites, the scale of more homogeneous subsets of sites (soil clusters), and the scale of some particular sites. At all sites scale, we observed a high variability of nodulation and plant growth for chickpea and the correlation between NDW and SDW among all sites was highly significant indicating that growth was dependent on the nitrogen fixed by nodules (except for site 08 which relied entirely on soil nitrogen to grow) in the study area. Indeed Voisin et al. (2003) showed that NDW augmentation was positively correlated with N fixation although Drevon et al. (2015) indicated the existence of a nodulation threshold for significant SNF contribution to the growth of the host plant. Our results in Fig. 2 are in accordance with this author findings because there is no significant differences in SDW for sites 8, 21, 19, 6, 20, 4 which nodulation ranged from 0 to 0.1 g NDW plant⁻¹, showing that below a certain NDW the contribution of nodulation to plant growth is not significant. Moreover our results indicate the existence of a highly significant correlation when NDW ranges from 0.1 g to 0.35 g (Fig. 5, C) proving that below a certain NDW threshold there is no effect of nodules on plant growth and above a certain threshold an increase in NDW does not have positive effect on the host plant. For the upper threshold, it is most likely that plant needs in N were satisfied and growth became limited by other factors which makes NDW augmentation unnecessary especially due to the high energy cost of nodule formation and functioning (Minchin & Pate, 1973; Ryle et al., 1979). As shown by Voisin et al. (2015) the efficiency of the Legume-Rhizobia symbiosis (N benefits for the plant against carbon cost of nodulation) decreases with the augmentation of nodulation, as well as the nodule specific activity (Evans, 1982).

Data also show that among all sites, the increase in nodulation was correlated with P augmentation and no significant inhibitory effect of soil N was observed, in fact the site with the highest SDW and NDW corresponded to site with highest total N. Our results are similar to those of Elias (2009) who indicated that N concentration in 0-30 cm had no significant negative effect on the nodulation of chickpea in Australia. It is well established that nitrogen in the root zone limits nodulation at high levels (Gentili & Huss-Danell, 2002; Namvar et al., 2011; Goh et al., 2016, Bekele et al., 2019), but the presence of adequate levels of N in the soil is proved to not impair nodulation and SNF or even improve it when P levels are optimal (Reinsvold & Pope, 1987; Bekele et al., 2019; Hellsten & Huss-Danell, 2000). It is also possible that the presence of high P content in the soil made the N levels insufficient in absence of other limiting factor which favored nodulation and N fixation. Various authors indicated that having a starter N in the soil before the onset of nodule functioning or at certain stages of plant growth is optimal for nodulation and SNF (Yinbo et al., 1997; Gan et al., 2003, 2004) and Namvar et al. (2011) proved that adding up to 75 kg ha⁻¹ N fertilizer to chickpea had a positive effect on growth, yield and nodulation.

The positive effect of P on legumes nodulation and SNF is often explained by either a positive stimulation of the host plant (Robson et al., 1981) or by a direct effect on nodules growth and functioning (Israel, 1987; Hellsten & Huss-Danell, 2000; Gentili & Huss-Danell, 2002), indeed Ribet & Drevon (1996) indicated that NDW was more impaired by P deficiency than SDW even though P concentration in nodules remained unaffected and Drevon & Hartwig (1997) also found similar results for soybean and alfalfa.

At this scale, NDW and SDW were also significantly correlated to organic matter content. Moreover, the site with the highest organic matter was also the site with the highest Olsen-P which could be due to a reducing effect of organic matter on P-insolubilisation in calcareous soil (Braschi et al., 2003) or to the general use of P-rich organic inputs like manure in the study area, highlighting simple relationships between soil properties is often difficult due to their highly intercorrelated character (Ige et al., 2007). Alternatively, it could also be assumed that organic matter promotes the development of symbiotic microorganisms.

Considering that plant growth and nodulation are subjected to different factors, notably to soil characteristics, we chose to use a clustering approach (as previously used by Lazali et al. (2016)) to group sites on the basis of their similarities to obtain homogenous groups (Oumenskou et al., 2018). This approach allowed having a more accurate idea of the effect of some parameters on plant such as the relation between available P and nodulation observed in Fig. 3. Cluster C exhibited the highest nodulation which can be linked to the high P content suggesting that the abundance of P and N promoted biomass production and was not limiting for nodulation in this cluster, the absence of correlation between nodulation and soil available P is mainly due to the high P content in this cluster $(26.93 \pm 3.80 \text{ mg kg}^{-1})$ compared to the two other clusters which indicate that plant and nodule requirement in that element were covered (Shukla & Yadav, 1982). On the other hand data also show that, site 18 gave the higher NDW per unit of P which can be an indicator of the presence of P efficient rhizobia strains in the site (Zarrin et al., 2006). P deficiency is known to be the major limiting factor of legumes growth and SNF in low input Algerian farming systems because this crops have higher phosphorus needs compared to plant relying on mineral N (Israel, 1987; Ribet & Drevon, 1996) and because of the price of farming inputs no mineral fertilizer is added, in addition to that, P is often precipited due to the high CaCO₃ content of soils under alkaline conditions (Tunesi et al., 1999; Mihoub et al., 2016).

Our results also show that clay sites had lesser SDW and NDW compared to clay loam sites, White & Robson (1989) obtained similar results for lupins SDW and NDW on two different soil types and showed that this culture grow poorly on fine-textured soils under alkaline condition, furthermore Msumali & Judith (1998) showed in a jar experiment with inoculated bean that nodulation tends to decline from the sandy through loam to the clay soils and obtained significantly higher shoot weights in the sandy and loam soils than in the clay soil. Our results could be explained by the joined effect of soil type and the native rhizobial population. Indeed Elias (2009) found in a multi-local field trial on chickpea that nodule biomass was largely governed by the size of the rhizobial population in the soil but showed that soil texture and clay content did not affect highly the size of this rhizobial populations.

Soil particle size is known to have a significant effect on plants growth especially legumes which needs adequate soil condition to promote root growth, nodules development and nitrogen fixation, indeed coarse textured soils ensure a better aeration and water infiltration compared to fine-textured soils which tends to puddle and form a hard soil crust after receiving heavy rains. Indeed the effect of soil type on plants and rhizobia is tightly related to water status, Issa & Wood (1995) confirmed that rhizobia survival and multiplication is dependent on the combined effect of soil type and moisture, although fine textured soil improves rhizobia survival (Heijnen et al., 1992). These soils can limit significantly nodulation and growth when water is in excess and the diagnosis region received in 2018 63% more rains than the 35 years average which could cause waterlogging and affect negatively nodulation and growth (Worku, 2016). Chickpea being more sensitive to waterlogging than other legumes such as faba bean which explains the maintaining of spring chickpea in Algeria (Munir, 2016).

In site 8 plants had no nodules despite the fact that the site had average phosphorus content and no high inhibitory nitrogen content, the absence of nodulation in this site can be explained by the absence of rhizobia in the soil or by the presence of other inhibitory factors. Overall, the augmentation of shoot biomass was correlated with the augmentation in nodule biomass (Fig. 5, A) suggesting that plants relied mostly on nitrogen deriving from biological fixation to grow. The low nodulation observed in some site can be explained by a sufficient N supply covering plant needs. Voisin et al. (2002) and (2010) showed that nodule initiation occurs only under situations of N limitation when the uptake by roots appeared to be insufficient to fully satisfy plant N demand. These authors also demonstrated that NDW augmentation is correlated with SDW, which is consistent with our results, indicating that the presence of limiting factors restricting plant growth would restrict nodulation also. The absence of nodulation can also be linked to low population of native rhizobia in the soil or to the ineffectiveness of the indigenous strains of rhizobia (Elias, 2009; Benlahrech et al., 2018).

Finally and although we could not provide a precise quantification of the spatialization of nodulation and plant growth, the map shown in Fig. 1 suggests the existence of a regionalization of nodulation and the associated plant growth, with areas grouping the lowest values and areas grouping the highest values. This regionalization could be due to a regionalization of soil properties, farming practices or also certain environmental factors (climatic or pedoclimatic factors for example) whose impact could be verified in the future.

CONCLUSION

The nodular diagnosis realized in the semiarid region of Chlef emphasized the strong relationship between chickpea growth and nodulation, the latter is mainly controlled by soil Olsen-P as well as by other physical and chemical properties of the soil. The major finding of this work is the highlight of thresholds for optimal nodulation which could be used by farmers as a benchmark to enhance yield and benefits from incorporating chickpea in the farming system. This work proved the necessity to study in more details the factors impairing the symbiotic system of chickpea to profit more from SNF benefits and accomplish a sustainable improvement of production.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS. The authors thank the company semence du Chéliff for their technical support of this work. The authors also thank the local authorities and chickpea growers for their participation in the multilocal trial realized in this study.

REFERENCES

- Abdelguerfi-Laouar, M., Bouzid, L., Zine, F., Hamdi, N., Bouzid, H. & Zidouni, F. 2001a. Evaluation of some local chickpea genotypes in the Bejaia region. *Recherche Agronomique* 9, 31–42 (in French).
- Abdelguerfi-Laouar, M., Hamdi, N., Bouzid, H., Zidouni, F., Laib, M., Bouzid, L. & Zine, Z. 2001b. Food legumes in Algeria: situation, state of the genetic resources and case of chickpea in Béjaia. *Proceedings of the 3èmes Journées Scientifiques de l'INRAA*, Bejaia, Algerie, pp. 171–189 (in French).
- Anne, P. 1945. The rapid measurement of soils organic carbon. *Ann. Agron* **2**, 161–172 (in French).
- Bekele, G., Dechassa, N., Tana, T. & Sharma, J.J. 2019. Effects of nitrogen, phosphorus and vermicompost fertilizers on productivity of groundnut (Arachis hypogaea L.) in Babile, Eastern Ethiopia. Agronomy Research 17(4), 1532–1546.
- Ben Romdhane, S., Tajini, F., Trabelsi, M., Aouani, M.E. & Mhamdi, R. 2007. Competition for nodule formation between introduced strains of Mesorhizobium ciceri and the native populations of rhizobia nodulating chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.) in Tunisia. *World.* J. Microb. Biot. 23, 1195–1201.
- Benlahrech, S., Kaci, G., Teffahi, M. & Ounane, S.M. 2018. Influence of inoculation and phosphorus regimes on symbiotic nitrogen fixation and phosphorus use efficiency of Algerian cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L.(Walp.)) landraces. *Agronomy Research* **16**(2), 337–348.
- Boughrarou, F. 1992 Contribution to the study of Algerian genotypes of *Cicer arietinum* L. for their improvement. Thèse de Magister, INA El-Harrach, Algérie (in French).
- Braschi, I., Ciavatta, C., Giovannini, C. & Gessa, C. 2003. Combined effect of water and organic matter on phosphorus availability in calcareous soils. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosys.* **67**, 67–74.
- Dekkiche, S., Benguedouar, A., Sbabou, L., Taha, K., Filali-Maltouf, A. & Béna, G. 2018. Chickpea Cicer arietinum) is nodulated by unexpected wide diversity of Mesorhizobium species in Eastern Algeria. *Arch. Agron. Soil. Sci.* **64**, 285–297.
- Djili, K., Daoud, Y. & Ayache, N. 1999. Analysis of the vertical and spatial distribution of limestone in the soils of north Algeria. *Etude et gestion des sols* **6**, 201–213 (in French).
- Drevon, J.J., Abadie, J., Alkama, N., Andriamananjara, A., Amenc, L., Bargaz, A. & Ounane, S.M. 2015. Phosphorus use efficiency for N2 fixation in the rhizobial symbiosis with legumes. in: Ed. F.J. de Bruijn (eds.), *Biological Nitrogen Fixation*. Wiley, Sons, Inc., 455–464.
- Drevon, J.J. & Hartwig, U.A. 1997. Phosphorus deficiency increases the argon-induced decline of nodule nitrogenase activity in soybean and alfalfa. *Planta* **201**, 463–469.
- Elias, N. 2009. *Optimizing nodulation in chickpea for nitrogen fixation and yield in the northern grains belt of NSW*. PhD Thesis, The University of Western Sydney, Australia, 228pp.
- Evans, J. 1982. Symbiosis, nitrogen and dry matter distribution in chickpea (Cicer arietinum). *Exp. Agr.* **18**, 339–351.
- Gan, Y., Stulen, I., van Keulen, H. & Kuiper, P.J. 2003. Effect of N fertilizer top-dressing at various reproductive stages on growth, N₂ fixation and yield of three soybean (Glycine max (L.) Merr.) genotypes. *Field. Crop. Res.* **80**, 147–155.
- Gan, Y., Stulen, I., van Keulen, H. & Kuiper, P.J. 2004. Low concentrations of nitrate and ammonium stimulate nodulation and N_2 fixation while inhibiting specific nodulation (nodule DW g⁻¹ root dry weight) and specific N_2 fixation (N_2 fixed g⁻¹ root dry weight) in soybean. *Plant. Soil.* **258**, 281–292.
- Gentili, F. & Huss-Danell, K. 2002. Phosphorus modifies the effects of nitrogen on nodulation in split-root systems of Hippophaë rhamnoides. *New. Phytol.* **153**, 53–61.

- Goh, C.H., Nicotra, A.B. & Mathesius, U. 2016. The presence of nodules on legume root systems can alter phenotypic plasticity in response to internal nitrogen independent of nitrogen fixation. *Plant. Cell. Environ* **39**, 883–896.
- Heijnen, C.E., Hok-A-Hin, C.H. & Van Veen, J.A. 1992. Improvements to the use of bentonite clay as a protective agent, increasing survival levels of bacteria introduced into soil. *Soil. Biol. Biochem.* 24, 533–538.
- Hellsten, A. & Huss-Danell, K. 2000. Interaction effects of nitrogen and phosphorus on nodulation in red clover (Trifolium pratense L.). *Acta. Agr. Scand. B-S. P.* **50**, 135–142.
- Herridge, D.F., Marcellos, H., Felton, W.L., Turner, G.L. & Peoples, M.B. 1995. Chickpea increases soil-N fertility in cereal systems through nitrate sparing and N₂ fixation. *Soil. Biol. Biochem.* 27, 545–551.
- Ige, D.V., Akinremi, O.O. & Flaten, D.N. 2007. Direct and indirect effects of soil properties on phosphorus retention capacity. *Soil. Sci. Soc. Am. J.* **71**, 95–100.
- Israel, D.W. 1987. Investigation of the role of phosphorus in symbiotic dinitrogen fixation. *Plant. Physiol.* **84**, 835–840.
- Issa, S. & Wood, M. 1995. Multiplication and survival of chickpea and bean rhizobia in dry soils: the influence of strains, matric potential and soil texture. *Soil. Biol. Biochem.* 27, 785–792.
- Kaci, G., Blavet, D., Benlahrech, S., Kouakoua, E., Couderc, P., Deleporte, P., Desclaux, D., Latati, M., Pansu, M., Drevon, J. & Ounane, S.S. 2018. The effect of intercropping on the efficiency of faba bean–rhizobial symbiosis and durum wheat soil-nitrogen acquisition in a Mediterranean agroecosystem. *Plant Soil Environ* 9, 138–146.
- Kjeldahl, C. 1883. A new method for the determination of nitrogen in organic matter. Z. Anal Chem. 22,366.
- Lazali, M., Brahimi, S., Merabet, C., Latati, M., Benadis, C., Maougal, R.T. & Ounane, S.M. 2016. Nodular diagnosis of contrasting recombinant inbred lines of Phaseolus vulgaris in multi-local field tests under Mediterranean climate. *Eur. J. Soil. Biol.* **73**, 100–107.
- Mihoub, A., Daddi Bouhoun, M. & Saker, M.L. 2016. Phosphorus adsorption isotherm: A key aspect for effective use and environmentally friendly management of phosphorus fertilizers in calcareous soils. *Commun. Soil. Sci. Plan.* **47**, 1920–1929.
- Minchin, F.R. & Pate, J.S. 1973. The carbon balance of a legume and the functional economy of its root nodules. J. Exp. Bot. 24, 259–271.
- Msumali, G.P. & Judith, A.K. 1998. Bean nodulation patterns in soils of different texture at Morogoro, Tanzania. *Tanzania J. Agric. Sc.* **1**, 181–186.
- Munir, R. 2016. *Comparative physiology of chickpea and faba bean tolerance to low O2, high CO2 and ethylene in the root-zone*. PhD Thesis, University of Western Australia, Australia, 143 pp.
- Namvar, A., Sharifi, R.S., Sedghi, M., Zakaria, R.A., Khandan, T. & Eskandarpour, B. 2011. Study on the effects of organic and inorganic nitrogen fertilizer on yield, yield components, and nodulation state of Chickpea (Cicer arietinum L.). *Commun. Soil. Sci. Plan.* 42, 1097–1109.
- Olsen, S.R. & Dean, L.A. 1965. Phosphorus. In A.G. Norman (eds), *Methods of Soil Analysis*. *Part 2. Chemical and Microbiological Properties*. The American Society of Agronomy, Inc, 1035–1049.
- Oumenskou, H., El Baghdadi, M., Barakat, A., Aquit, M., Ennaji, W., Karroum, L.A. & Aadraoui, M. 2018. Multivariate statistical analysis for spatial evaluation of physicochemical properties of agricultural soils from Beni-Amir irrigated perimeter, Tadla plain, Morocco. *Geology, Ecology, and Landscapes* **3**, 83–94.
- R Core Team. 2018. R. A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/

- Rao, D.L.N., Giller, K.E., Yeo, A.R. & Flowers, T.J. 2002. The effects of salinity and sodicity upon nodulation and nitrogen fixation in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum*). Ann. Bot-London. 89, 563–570.
- Rawal, V & Navarro, D.K. 2019. The Global Economy of Pulses. FAO, Rome, 176 pp.
- Reinsvold, R.J. & Pope, P.E. 1987. Combined effect of soil nitrogen and phosphorus on nodulation and growth of Robinia pseudoacacia. *Can. J. Forest. Res.* **17**, 964–969.
- Ribet, J. & Drevon, J.J. 1996. The phosphorus requirement of N₂-fixing and urea-fed Acacia mangium. *New. Phytol.* **132**, 383–390.
- Robinson, G.W. 1922. A new method for the mechanical analysis of soils and other dispersions. *The Journal of Agricultural Science* **12**, 306–321.
- Robson, A.D., O'hara, G.W. & Abbott, L.K. 1981. Involvement of phosphorus in nitrogen fixation by subterranean clover (Trifolium subterraneum L.). *Funct. Plant. Biol.* **8**, 427–436.
- Ryle, G.J.A., Powell, C.E. & Gordon, A.J. 1979. The respiratory costs of nitrogen fixation in soyabean, cowpea, and white clover: II. comparisons of the cost of nitrogen fixation and the utilization of combined nitrogen. *J. Exp. Bot.* **30**, 145–153.
- Schwenke, G.D., Peoples, M.B., Turner, G.L. & Herridge, D.F. 1998. Does nitrogen fixation of commercial, dryland chickpea and faba bean crops in north-west New South Wales maintain or enhance soil nitrogen?. Aust. J. Exp. Agr. 38, 61–70.
- Shukla, U.C. & Yadav, O.P. 1982. Effect of phosphorus and zinc on nodulation and nitrogen fixation in chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Plant. Soil.* **65**, 239–248.
- Tunesi, S., Poggi, V. & Gessa, C. 1999. Phosphate adsorption and precipitation in calcareous soils: the role of calcium ions in solution and carbonate minerals. *Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosys.* 53, 219–227.
- Vance, C.P. 2001. Symbiotic nitrogen fixation and phosphorus acquisition. Plant nutrition in a world of declining renewable resources. *Plant. Physiol.* **127**, 390–397.
- Voisin, A.S., Salon, C., Munier-Jolain, N.G. & Ney, B. 2002. Quantitative effects of soil nitrate, growth potential and phenology on symbiotic nitrogen fixation of pea (Pisum sativum L.). *Plant. Soil.* **243**, 31–42.
- Voisin, A.S., Salon, C., Jeudy, C. & Warembourg, F.R. 2003. Symbiotic N₂ fixation activity in relation to C economy of Pisum sativum L. as a function of plant phenology. *J. Exp. Bot.* 54, 2733–2744.
- Voisin, A.S., Munier-Jolain, N.G. & Salon, C. 2010. The nodulation process is tightly adjusted to plant growth. An analysis using environmentally and genetically induced variation of nodule number and biomass in pea. *Plant. Soil.* 337, 399–412.
- Voisin, A.S., Prudent, M., Duc, G. & Salon, C. 2015. Pea nodule gradients explain N nutrition and limited symbiotic fixation in hypernodulating mutants. *Agron. Sustain. Dev.* 35, 1529–1540.
- White, P.F. & Robson, A.D. 1989. Effect of soil pH and texture on the growth and nodulation of lupins. *Aust. J. Agr. Res.* 40, 63–73.
- Worku, W. 2016. Waterlogging effects on growth, nodulation and productivity of Desi and Kabuli chickpea (*Cicer arietinum* L.). *Ethiopian Journal of Biological Sciences* **15**, 55–77.
- Yinbo, G., Peoples, M.B. & Rerkasem, B. 1997. The effect of N fertilizer strategy on N₂ fixation, growth and yield of vegetable soybean. *Field. Crop. Res.* **51**, 221–229.
- Zaman-Allah, M., Sifi, B., L'Taief, B., El Aouni, M.H. & Drevon, J.J. 2007. Symbiotic response to low phosphorus supply in two common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) genotypes. *Symbiosis* **44**, 109–113.
- Zarrin, F., Zia, M. & Chaudhary, M.F. 2006. Effect of Rhizobium strains and phosphorus on growth of soybean Glycine max and survival of Rhizobium and P solubilizing bacteria. *Pak. J. Bot.* 38, 459–464.

Copper modulates the biochemical and enzymatic activity and growth of tomato cultivars grown *in vitro*

C.G. Comar¹, M. dos S. Queiroz², M.M. de Andrade², J.R. Trettel¹ and H.M. Magalhães^{1,*}

 ¹Paranaense University – UNIPAR, Graduate Program in Biotechnology Applied to Agriculture, 87502-210, Umuarama, Paraná, Brazil
²Paranaense University – UNIPAR, Agronomy, 87502-210, Umuarama, Paraná, Brazil
*Correspondence: helidamara@prof.unipar.br

Received: August 25th, 2020; Accepted: December 17th, 2020; Published: February 09th, 2021

Abstract. Copper (Cu) is a micronutrient that is neglected for tomato growth. This study sought to identify the effects of exposure to Cu on the growth and biochemical activity of two tomato cultivars. Tomato seeds of 'Carolina' and 'Cereja' cultivars were disinfected and inoculated in MS medium plus copper sulfate concentrations (CuSO₄) (default MS, 25, 50, and 100 µm) and had their growth monitored for 30 days. It was estimated that the growth and biomass accumulation of tomato plants 'Carolina' and 'Cereja', both from the aerial part and the roots, were benefited by 25 e 50 µm of CuSO₄. However, it was observed that these concentrations were inefficient in controlling hyperhydricity and leaf deformation. There was a reduction of these phenomena in the treatment with 100 µm, in both cultivars. Tomato of 'Carolina' cultivar subjected to 100 µm showed an increase in anthocyanins and superoxide dismutase (SOD) activity in the root system. There was a reduction of catalase (CAT) activity in shoots exposed to Cu. 'Cereja' tomatoes subjected to 100 µm showed an increase in CAT and SOD activity in shoots and roots, respectively. It was concluded that the 'Carolina' and 'Cereja' tomatoes have their growth impaired when exposed to 100 µm CuSO₄. Concentrations higher than 50 µm of CuSO₄ cause an increase in the antioxidant activity in the shoot of tomato plants from the 'Carolina' cultivar. Concentrations higher than 50 µm CuSO₄ increase SOD activity in the root system of tomato plants from the 'Cereja' cultivar.

Key words: Solanum lycopersicum L., antioxidant, hyperhydricity, anthocyanins, SOD.

INTRODUCTION

Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum* L.) is a popular fruit vegetable around the world. Brazil allocated about 57,717 acres to produce this crop and produced 4,004.991 tons of this fruit in the 2019 harvest (IBGE, 2019). However, it has not been quantified how much of this production was directed to grape tomatoes. This fruit class has high added value, as it is used as a culinary ornament and has a large amount of sugar (Maia et al., 2013). The importance of this fruit is mainly due to its nutritional value, which has polyphenols, flavonoids, tannins, vitamin C, and anthocyanins as functional compounds (Butt et al., 2008; Maia et al., 2013). This, combined with the rusticity of the plants,

which may show determined or indeterminate growth, makes it a great option for family farming (Brasil, 2018).

In this case, the Cereja and Carolina cultivars have little cultivation information. The Carolina cultivar has indeterminate growth, moderate resistance to diseases, tasty and sweet fruits. The Cereja cultivar, on the other hand, shows vigorous and determined growth, and it is indicated for planting in pots or the garden. Its fruits are sweet. Studies indicate that this fruit consumption can reduce the risk of some diseases whose reactive oxygen species (ROS) are the causative agents. This is due to the high concentration of antioxidant compounds present in this fruit (Arredondo et al., 2016).

Several factors limit the yield of tomatoes; among them, the excessive use of chemical products stands out, with around 36 applications per crop (Dossa & Fuchs, 2017), and a large number of infectious diseases (Lopes & De Ávila, 2005). Another factor is nutritional neglect, especially regarding micronutrients (Da Silva et al., 2006). The absence of a specific fertilization recommendation for tomatoes does not exploit its maximum production potential. Although required in smaller quantities, micronutrients are essential for the proper development of plants, and their imbalance can cause disturbances in plant growth and development (Graham et al., 2001).

Copper (Cu) is an essential micronutrient for cellular processes such as photosynthesis, mitochondrial respiration, and a role in the metabolism of carbon and nitrogen (Hänsch & Mendel, 2009). It is also a protein constituent and is required by more than 30 enzymes, most of which are catalysts for redox reactions (Yruela, 2005; Epstein & Bloom, 2006). The deficiency of this ion can alter the plant architecture, impairing the growth of the plant or giving rise to malformed plants (Yruela, 2005; Yruela, 2009). On the other hand, high concentrations of Cu can also cause reduced growth and impair plant development, as it is a metal with toxic potential (Adrees et al., 2015).

Cupric toxicity causes the formation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) (Nagajyoti et al., 2010), and, consequently, the plant tends to increase the activity of antioxidant enzymes to avoid oxidative damage and maintain cell balance (Wang et al., 2004). Studies that test the tolerance of species to exposure to Cu have been carried out over the years (Drazkiewicz et al., 2004; Xu et al., 2005; Benimeli et al., 2010; İşeri et al., 2011; Azmat & Riaz, 2012; Barbosa et al., 2013), and have found that besides the species, cultivars also have different levels of metal tolerance. Although studies on *in vitro* cultivation have been concerned with defining the interaction between nutrients and plant growth, reports on the nutritional influence on the biochemical activity of tomato plants in this condition are still lacking. Once the functions of Cu are highlighted, it would be interesting to determine the biochemical changes due the exposure to this metal cause in plants.

The determination of biochemical variations caused by the exposure of tomato cultivars to copper will assist in the nutritional process, allowing the plant to reach its maximum growth potential. It is assumed that minimal Cu concentrations will benefit plant growth (Hristozkova et al., 2006). Still, that excess Cu will hinder shoot growth and mass accumulation in general (Adrees et al., 2015). It is also assumed that Cu will cause oxidative stress in the shoots, which will increase the antioxidant activity, either by the activity of enzymes with antioxidant potentials, such as superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT), and ascorbate peroxidase (APX) or by the synthesis of phenolic compounds (Nagajyoti et al., 2010).

Therefore, this study sought to determine the morphological, biochemical, and enzymatic changes in tomato cultivars grown *in vitro* under CuSO₄ concentrations.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Plant material and cultivation conditions

Seeds of the cultivar 'Cereja' originated from the United States of America were purchased commercially (Hortiseres[®] seeds), lot no. 18000211, with 88% germination and 99% purity. 'Carolina' tomato seeds were purchased commercially (Feltrin[®] seeds) lot no. 0069701610000280, with 99% germination and 99.9% purity. The seeds were subjected to an asepsis process in 2% sodium hypochlorite solution for 10 minutes, with agitation, and subsequently, washed four times in a row with sterile distilled water.

The Murashige & Skoog (1962) MS culture medium (100%) was supplemented with 30 g L⁻¹ of sucrose, 6.5 g L⁻¹ of agar (Kasvi[®]), and pH adjusted to 5.8. Copper sulfate (CuSO₄) was added to the medium in three concentrations. The control treatment was composed by the MS medium (default) in its full strength (0.1 μ m of CuSO₄), and the subsequent treatments were composed by the MS medium in its full strength plus 25, 50, and 100 μ m of CuSO₄. Subsequently, 50 mL of medium was poured into glass flasks with a capacity of 350 mL. These flasks were autoclaved for 20 minutes at 121 °C.

After asepsis, each flask was inoculated with two seeds of the same cultivar. The flasks were sealed with a plastic cover and polyvinylpyrrolidone film (PVP) and kept in a controlled growth chamber for 30 days, with a 24-hour light period through the use of light emitter diodes (LEDs) Blumenau[®], LED T8 10W 6,000K, 100-240V-50/60Hz, power factor ≥ 0.92 (High PF), at a temperature of 25 °C ± 2 °C and light intensity of 72.02 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. A completely randomized design was used in the trial; 20 replications per treatment were used, totaling 80 plots per cultivar.

Measurement of plant growth

At 30 days after inoculation, the following variables were measured: length of the shoot (cm) and root (mm), the fresh weight of shoot (g) and roots (g), dry weight of shoot (g) and roots (g), and the number of leaves. Evaluations were made with the aid of a digital caliper and analytical balance to measure the average among all shoots of each treatment.

Physiological disorders observed during in vitro culture

During the period in which the plants remained in the growth chamber, three evaluations were carried out at 10-day intervals to measure the percentage of the presence of shoots with deformed leaves and hyperhydric.

Total chlorophylls, flavonoids, and anthocyanins

The total chlorophyll, flavonoid, and anthocyanin indexes were measured in fresh leaves and obtained with the aid of the DUALEX SCIENTIFIC+TM equipment, Quick Start model (FORCE A[®], France, Paris) according to the manufacturer's instructions, with four replicates per treatment, on the first expanded leaves.

Total phenolic compounds measured in leaves

Fresh leaves (100 mg) were weighed in falcon tubes to obtain the extract, obtained according to Waterhouse (2002). The determination of the total phenolic content was

carried out by the method proposed by Kuskoski et al. (2005). The readings were performed on a 700 plus - Femto spectrophotometer with a wavelength of 750 nm, and the results were expressed in mg of gallic acid equivalents per 100 g of the sample (mg AGE per 100 g). Triplicates were performed with three biological repetitions, and the calculation was performed using the calibration curve of gallic acid y = 0.0004x + 0.0003, whose $R^2 = 0.9327$.

Antioxidant activity measured in leaves - DPPH

From the extract obtained to determine total phenolic compounds, antioxidant activity was determined based on the extinction of the absorption of the radical 2.2-diphenyl-1-picryl hydrazine (DPPH 60 μ M), proposed by Rufino et al. (2009). The readings were taken on the 700 plus - Femto spectrophotometer with a wavelength of 515 nm. They were monitored every 30 minutes, in a total of three readings, in which the reduction in absorbance was observed until its stabilization. Samples were evaluated in triplicate, with three biological replicates. The results were expressed as a percentage of free radical sequestration (% FRS), according to the equation:

$$\% FRS = \frac{(CA + SA)}{SA} \times 100 \tag{1}$$

where CA = Control Absorbance; SA = Sample Absorbance.

Enzymatic evaluation

The enzymatic extract was obtained (Bonacina et al., 2017) from fresh leaves and roots. All enzymes were evaluated using 96-well flat-bottomed Elisa plates. Biochemical tests were performed in three biological replicates. The equipment used was the UV-VIS spectrophotometer, Spectramax Plus, with SoftMax Pro 6.5.1 software.

SOD (EC 1.15.1.1)

The activity of superoxide dismutase (SOD) was measured by its ability to inhibit nitroblue tetrazolium (NBT) photoreduction, as described by Giannopolitis & Ries (1977). The reading was performed at 560 nm, in which a unit of SOD activity (U) was defined as the amount of enzyme needed to inhibit 50% of reduction in NBT. SOD activity was expressed in U SOD mg⁻¹ FM min⁻¹.

CAT (EC 1.11.1.6)

The activity of catalase (CAT) was carried out according to the methodology proposed by Havir & McHale (1987). The degradation of H_2O_2 determined it in 3 minutes at 260 nm. The enzymatic activity was quantified using the molar extinction coefficient of 36 M⁻¹ cm⁻¹ (Anderson et al., 1995) and expressed in mmol H_2O_2 g⁻¹ FM min⁻¹.

APX (EC 1.11.1.11)

The activity of ascorbate peroxidase (APX) was carried out as proposed by Nakano & Asada (1981). The degradation of H_2O_2 determined the activity of this enzyme in 3 minutes at 290 nm. The enzymatic activity was quantified, using the molar extinction coefficient of 2.8 mm⁻¹ cm⁻¹ (Nakano & Asada, 1981) and expressed in mmol ascorbic acid g⁻¹ FM min⁻¹.

Statistical analysis

The data from the growth characteristics were submitted to polynomial regression using the SISVAR 5.6 software (Ferreira, 2011). The maximum values of the cubic equations generated by the polynomial regression were calculated using the equation proposed by Ferreira (2011). When the quadratic model was adopted, the maximum values were obtained through the derivative of the equation.

The data of total chlorophylls, anthocyanins, flavonoids, antioxidant activity, phenolic compounds, and activity of the enzymes SOD, CAT, and APX were submitted to analysis of normality by the Shapiro Wilk test ($p \le 0.05$) and variance (ANOVA) at $p \le 0.05$. The means were compared using the *Tukey test* ($p \le 0.05$), using the SISVAR 5.6 software (Ferreira, 2011). In periodic evaluations, data were plotted in Microsoft Excel, and graphs were constructed with the percentage of variables evaluated at 10, 20,

and 30 days of *in vitro* culture. The data were transformed in ArcoSeno $\left[\sqrt{\frac{x}{100}}\right]$.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Copper in initial plant growth

In the 'Carolina' cultivar, the highest average shoot length occurred in the treatment with 25 μ m (14.91 cm), which corresponded to a 21.8% increase compared to the control treatment. The lowest average of this variable was observed in the treatment with 100 μ m (6.1 cm), where there was a 59.1% reduction compared to the highest average obtained. The averages obtained in the treatment with 50 μ m did not differ statistically from the control and 25 μ m treatments (Fig. 1, A). There were no significant differences between the control, 25, and 50 μ m treatments for the length of the root system, whose average was 102.17 mm. However, in the treatment with 100 μ m, there was a reduction of 69.85% in the root length compared to the average of the treatments described previously (Fig. 1, B).



Figure 1. Length of shoots (A) and roots (B) of *Solanum lycopersicum* L. 'Carolina' and 'Cereja' exposed to CuSO₄ concentrations; (n = 20), *Bar* means \pm standard deviation followed by the same uppercase letter and lowercase letter did not differ statistically from each other by the Tukey test ($p \le 0.05$).

There was no significant difference in the shoot length of the 'Cereja' cultivar (Fig. 1, A). There was no significant difference in control, 25, and 50 μ m treatments in the root system, whose average was 113.61 mm. There were also no significant differences between the control and 100 μ m treatments, with an average of 58.69 mm. However, a 78.7% reduction in root length was observed when the averages obtained at 50 and 100 μ m were compared (Fig. 1, B).

The increase in plant growth variables corroborated the hypothesis that Cu acts as a micronutrient. This ion is a constituent of proteins, required for the normal functioning of more than 30 enzymes (Epstein & Bloom, 2006), such as enzymes that catalyze redox reactions (Yruela, 2005) and enzymes involved in the initial processes of nitrate assimilation (Hristozkova et al., 2006). Its lack can impair the use of the nitrogen (N) absorbed and, consequently, disturb the plant growth (Yruela, 2005; Yruela, 2009). Drazkiewicz et al. (2004) concluded that *Arabidopsis thaliana* tends to accumulate higher amounts of Cu in the root system and lower amounts in the aerial part. Wójcik & Tukiendorf (2003) stated that this phenomenon functioned as a plant defense system, which seeks to delay or even prevent the metal from damaging the shoot. Therefore, the roots suffer more severe damage, both in terms of length and accumulation of mass.

Cu toxicity can reduce the growth of the shoot and roots, preventing cell elongation and/or decreasing the absorption of other minerals (Adrees, 2015). This may result from a variation in the synthesis of some plant hormones, such as abscisic acid (ABA) and jasmonic acid (JA). According to Wilkinson & Davies (2010), the increase in ABA concentration causes stomatal closure, thus reducing the nutrient transition flow. JA, in turn, is considered a molecular sign of the activation of the plant defense apparatus, causing growth retardation (Maksymiec & Krupa, 2007). In their study with hydroponic maize, Reckova et al. (2019) observed an increase in the hormones previously described due to the increase in the concentration of CuSO₄ in the nutrient solution.

The comparison of means revealed no significant differences in the fresh weight of 'Carolina' shoots among control, 25, and 50 μ m treatments. There were also no significant differences among 25, 50, and 100 μ m treatments. However, comparing the average obtained in control (1.41 g) with that obtained at 100 μ m (0.19 g), there is a reduction of 86.5% in the accumulation of the fresh weight of shoots (Fig. 2, A). In the root system of 'Carolina', there were no significant differences between treatments with 25 and 50 μ m, whose average was 1.27 g. A reduction of 78.7% was observed in this variable when we compared the average previously described with that obtained in the treatment with 100 μ m (0.02 g). The control and 100 μ m treatments had no significant differences (Fig. 2, B).

In the shoots of 'Cereja', there was a 79.1% reduction in fresh weight comparing the control (1.34 g) and the treatment with 100 μ m (0.28 g) (Fig. 2, A). The comparison of means indicated no significant differences between treatments with 25 and 50 μ m (1.04 g) for root fresh weight. However, a reduction of 96.2% in the fresh weight of the roots was observed when we compared the average previously described with that obtained in the treatment with 100 μ m (0.04 g) (Fig. 2, B).

For the dry weight of shoots, the comparison of means showed no significant differences in the 'Carolina' cultivar according to Cu concentration (Fig. 2, C). For the dry weight of the root system, there were no significant differences among control, 25, and 50 μ m treatments, whose average was 0.033 g. However, comparing this average to



that obtained at 100 μ m, there was a reduction of 99.4% in the accumulation of the root dry weight (Fig. 2, D).

In the 'Cereja' cultivar, the highest average of the dry weight of shoots was observed at 50 μ m (0.04 g), not differing statistically from the control and 25 μ m. However, this average was 50% higher than the average obtained in 100 µm (Fig. 2, C). There were no statistical differences among control, 25, and 50 µm treatments for the root dry weight, whose average was 0.04 g. The average observed at 100 µm was 85% less than previously described, with 0.006 g (Fig. 2, D).

from each other by the Tukey test ($p \le 0.05$).

The reduction of biomass is one of the dominant effects of excess Cu (Adrees, 2015). The negative influence of Cu on the accumulation of dry weight was observed in 'Cereja' tomato, both in the shoot and roots; only the roots of 'Carolina' cultivar suffered this effect.

The data obtained in this work corroborate this statement and the study by Benimeli et al. (2010), in which the application of Cu concentrations greater than 10 μ m in the maize nutrient solution (Cargil 350 Hybrid) decreased both fresh and dry mass. Dresler et al. (2014) and Azooz et al. (2012) observed that the excess of this metal decreased the fresh weight of roots and shoots of corn and wheat shoots, respectively. This reduction in biomass accumulation may be related to decreased nutrient absorption caused by cupric stress (Adrees, 2015).

There were no significant changes in the number of leaves of shoots from the 'Carolina' and 'Cereja' tomato cultivars due to the increase in $CuSO_4$ concentration (Fig. 2, E).

Development of deformed leaves during in vitro cultivation 'Carolina'

In the first evaluation, carried out at ten days after inoculation, we observed that 10% of shoots in the control treatment (default MS) had twisted and thin leaves, with a translucent aspect (Fig. 3). The treatments with 25 and 50 μ m CuSO₄ did not show shoots with this disorder, and the treatment with 100 μ m CuSO₄ had 5% of shoots

with deformed leaves (Fig. 3). At 20 days of cultivation, in the control treatment, 15% of shoots had deformed leaves; in treatments with 25 and 50 μ m of CuSO₄, 25% and 20% of shoots had this disorder, respectively. Treatment with 100 μ m continued with 5% of shoots with deformed leaves (Fig. 3).

At 30 days of cultivation, 45% of shoots in the control treatment (MS default) showed deformed leaves. Treatments with 25 and 50 μ m CuSO₄ had 40% and 35% of the shoots with deformed leaves, respectively, followed by the treatment with 100 μ m of CuSO₄, in which only 5% of the shoots presented such deformity (Fig. 3).

Based on the Tukey test $(p \le 0.05)$, there were no significant differences in the percentage of shoots with deformed leaves according to the CuSO₄ concentration in any of the evaluations performed (Fig. 3).



Figure 3. Percentage of *Solanum lycopersicum* L. 'Carolina' with deformed leaves according to the in vitro cultivation days and CuSO₄ concentration; (n = 20). *Bar* means \pm standard error followed by the same italic letter, uppercase letter, and lowercase letter did not differ statistically from each other by the Tukey test ($p \le 0.05$).

'Cereja'

In the first ten days of cultivation, 20% and 30% of the shoots from the control treatment and 50 μ m CuSO₄, respectively, presented twisted and pointed leaves with and vitreous aspect. Shoots grown in medium with 25 μ m of CuSO₄ did not present leaf

deformation in the first ten days (Fig. 4). However, at 20 days of cultivation, this treatment resulted in 40% of shoots with deformed leaves, and control treatment and 50 μ m CuSO₄ both presented 60% of the shoots with this disorder (Fig. 4).

At 30 days of cultivation, the control treatment and the concentrations of 25 and 50 μ m of CuSO₄ presented 70%, 65%, and 70% of the shoots with deformed leaves, respectively (Fig. 4). Shoots exposed to 100 μ m CuSO₄, in turn, were slow to present this symptom, which occurred in only 5% of them, at 30 days of cultivation (Fig. 4).

According to the comparison of means, there were no significant changes in the percentage of shoots with deformed leaves at 10 days after inoculation. At 20 days, it was found that treatments with 25 and 100 μ m did



Figure 4. Percentage of *Solanum lycopersicum* L. 'Cereja' with deformed leaves at 10, 20, and 30 days of in vitro cultivation; (n = 20). Bar means \pm standard error followed by the same italic letter, uppercase letter, and lowercase letter did not differ statistically from each other by the Tukey test ($p \le 0.05$).

not show significant differences between them. However, the treatment with 100 μ m showed significantly fewer seeds with deformed leaves than control and 50 μ m treatments. At 30 days after inoculation, it was found that the treatment with 100 μ m obtained, statistically, a lower percentage of shoots with deformed leaves (Fig. 4).

According to Broadley (2012), Cu deficiency can alter the leaf construction, giving rise to pointed and twisted leaves, besides reducing the leaf area. Yruela (2005) stated that the Cu deficit impairs leaf construction, possibly due to less lignin biosynthesis, as described by Liu et al. (2018). The results obtained in this work corroborate the statements of Broadley (2012) and Yruela (2005; 2009) since the highest occurrence of deformed leaves occurred in the treatments with the three lowest concentrations of Cu. Lignin synthesis may have been compromised in these treatments. In treatment with 100 μ m CuSO₄, only 5% of the shoots developed deformed leaves. Our results provide evidence that an increase in lignin synthesis may have occurred, which has reduced the occurrence of deformed leaves.

Hyperhydricity observed during the in vitro cultivation 'Carolina'

In the first ten days of cultivation, the control and 100 μ m CuSO₄ treatments showed 15% and 5% of hyperhydric shoots, respectively (Fig. 5). This disturbance was only observed at 20 days after inoculation in the concentrations of 25 and 50 μ m CuSO₄. In this situation, 20% of the shoots had this symptom. Even at 20 days after inoculation,

45% of the control shoots were hyperhydric, and, interestingly, the treatment with 100 μ m of Cu did not have shoots with this disorder (Fig. 5).

At 30 days of cultivation, shoots submitted to 100 μ m of CuSO₄ did not present this disorder. The control treatment showed 55% of hyperhydric shoots. Treatments with 25 and 50 μ m CuSO₄ had 40% and 35% of hyperhydric shoots, respectively (Fig. 5).

According to the means comparison test, at ten days after inoculation, the treatment with 100 µm obtained a significantly lower percentage of hyperhydric shoots than the control treatment. At 20 and 30 days after inoculation, this same treatment showed a statistically lower percentage of shoots with this disorder than other treatments (Fig. 5).

'Cereja'

At ten days of cultivation, it was possible to observe in the treatment with 50 µm of CuSO₄ that 25% of the shoots had a translucent green stem. However, in other treatments, this phenomenon had not yet occurred (Fig. 6). When the shoots completed 20 days of cultivation, there was a large increase in the number of hyperhydric shoots. It was evaluated that 60% of shoots in the control treatment, 25% of the shoots in the treatment 25 µm, 45% in the treatment 50 µm, and 5% of shoots in the treatment 100 µm presented this disorder (Fig. 6).

At 30 days of cultivation, we observed that the control, 25, and 50 μ m of CuSO₄ had 70%, 65%, and 75% of the shoots with hyperhydricity, respectively. Treatment with 100 μ m of CuSO₄ maintained the percentage of hyperhydric shoots; that is, there was no development of this disorder between 20 and 30 days of cultivation (Fig. 6).



Figure 5. Percentage of hyperhydric shoots of *Solanum lycopersicum* L. 'Carolina' over 30 days of in vitro cultivation according to the CuSO₄ concentration; (n = 20) Bar means \pm standard error followed by the same italic letter, uppercase letter, and lowercase letter did not differ statistically from each other by the Tukey test ($p \le 0.05$).



Figure 6. Percentage of hyperhydric shoots of *Solanum lycopersicum* L. 'Cereja' over the days of *in vitro* cultivation; (n = 20). Bar means \pm standard error followed by the same italic letter, uppercase letter, and lowercase letter did not differ statistically from each other by the Tukey test $(p \le 0.05)$.

According to the Tukey test ($p \le 0.05$), the treatment with 50 µm showed a higher percentage of hyperhydric shoots than the other treatments ten days after inoculation. At 20 and 30 days after inoculation, treatment with 100 µm showed a significantly lower percentage of shoots with such disorder (Fig. 6).

Hyperhydricity is a metabolic disorder common in *in vitro* culture. The conditions of this type of cultivation can trigger this disturbance, such as, for example, the concentration of salts in the medium, the constant temperature, the high relative humidity in the cultivation container, among others (De Vasconcelos et al., 2012). Among the characteristics of hyperhydric plants, there is the excessive accumulation of water in the tissues, the swelling of the tissues of the shoot, such as the stem and leaves, vitreous aspect, low lignin rate in the cell wall, and low accumulation of biomass (Kevers et al., 2004).

In the treatment with 100 μ m of CuSO₄, smaller shoots with better architecture were observed in both genotypes. According to Zeng et al. (2016), hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) formed by cupric stress is involved in the polymerization of lignin and its accumulation in the cell wall. This may have justified the drop in the percentage of hyperhydric shoots due to the increase in the concentration of CuSO₄ and leads us to believe that in Cu concentrations below 100 μ m, there was not enough lignin synthesis to control hyperhydricity.

Physiological changes due to copper

In 'Carolina' plants, the indexes of total chlorophylls (Fig. 7, A) and flavonoids (Fig. 7, B) were constant in all concentrations of CuSO₄, with averages of 7.29 and 0.22, respectively. Shoots exposed to 100 μ m of CuSO₄ showed an increase of anthocyanins of 49.4% compared to the control treatment; 39.28% in the treatment with 25 μ m CuSO₄ and 46.42% in the treatment with 50 μ m CuSO₄ (Fig. 7, C).

In 'Cereja', the total chlorophylls, flavonoids, and anthocyanins were not affected by the CuSO₄ concentration. Average levels of 12.75 (Fig. 7, A), 0.226 (Fig. 7, B), and 0.162 (Fig. 7, C) were observed, respectively.

Anthocyanins and total phenolic compounds are part of the metabolism responsible for reducing ROS, mostly serving as a substrate for potential redox enzymes (Juadjur et al., 2015). In the 'Cereja' cultivar, there was no change in the concentration of these compounds due to an increase in the Cu concentration to which shoots were exposed against the initial hypothesis that oxidative damage caused by Cu would intensify the antioxidant activity of the plant. Drazkiewicz et al. (2004) stated that, under oxidative stress conditions, not all the antioxidant apparatus is activated. Thus, there may be an overload of a certain metabolism and, consequently, a reduction in the intensity of other metabolic routes. For example, the increase in the intensity of the route responsible for the enzymatic activity can occur simultaneously with reduced synthesis of anthocyanins and phenolic compounds.

The 'Carolina' tomato increased the synthesis of anthocyanins when the shoots were exposed to 100 μ m of CuSO₄. According to Juadjur et al. (2015), anthocyanins have redox potential in *in vitro* conditions. More than any other phenolic compound, they contribute to the degradation of H₂O₂ (Silva et al., 2010), as they are substrates for the peroxidases existing inside the vacuole. Thus, it is assumed that shoots exposed to 100 μ m CuSO₄ increased the production of anthocyanins to control the H₂O₂ molecules generated by copper toxicity.

Biochemical variations due to copper

'Carolina' lowest average of phenolic compounds was obtained in shoots exposed to 50 μ m CuSO₄, with 12,534.09 mg AGE per 100 g. The rest of the treatments did not differ statistically, with an average of 14,033.58 mg AGE per 100 g (Fig. 7, D). 'Cereja' synthesis of phenolic compounds did not show sensitivity to the Cu concentrations studied here, maintaining an average of 16,747.35 mg AGE per 100 g (Fig. 7, D).



The antioxidant activity was increased in 'Carolina' shoots exposed to $100 \,\mu\text{m}$ CuSO₄. When the concentration of $100 \,\mu\text{m}$ CuSO₄ was compared, 72.97% more activity was observed in the control treatment, and 34.63% and 12.75% concerning the

concentrations of 25 and 50 μ m CuSO₄, respectively (Fig. 7, E). Still, in 'Cereja', the percentage of antioxidant activity did not change in the conditions studied here, maintaining an average of 1.47 (Fig. 7, E).

The activity of the superoxide dismutase enzyme (SOD), when evaluated in the aerial part of the shoot, did not change due to exposure to different concentrations of CuSO₄ in either the cultivars (Fig. 8, A), whose mean value was 2,163.982 U SOD mg⁻¹ FM min⁻¹ in 'Carolina' and 2,252.63 U SOD mg⁻¹ FM min⁻¹ in 'Cereja' (Fig. 8, A).



There was a reduction in the catalase activity (CAT) in the shoot of the 'Carolina' cultivar when exposed to Cu. The addition of copper to medium decreased 94.18%, 79.77%, and 90.10% the activity of this enzyme in treatments with 25, 50, and 100 μ m of CuSO₄, respectively, compared to the control treatment (Fig. 8, B). Drazkiewicz et al. (2004) observed in studies with Arabidopsis thaliana that Cu inhibited CAT activity, while other antioxidant enzymes intensified its activity. This author reported that his results corroborate the hypothesis that high concentrations of O₂⁻ have a direct effect on CAT inactivation (Salin, 1988). On the other hand, in the 'Cereja' cultivar, there was no significant difference in CAT activity (Fig. 8, B).

Ascorbate peroxidase (APX) in the shoot of the 'Carolina' shoots in the control treatment showed 60% more activity concerning 100 μ m CuSO₄, not differing statistically from the treatment with 50 μ m CuSO₄ (Fig. 8, C). In the 'Cereja' shoots, APX activity did not change due to the different Cu concentrations (Fig. 8, C).

When evaluating SOD activity in the root system, it was observed that shoots exposed to 100 μ m CuSO₄ increased 39.20% in activity compared to 50 μ m CuSO₄ in the 'Carolina' cultivar. In contrast, in the other treatments, the activity was constant, with an average of 2242.34 U SOD mg⁻¹ FM min⁻¹ (Fig. 9, A). In the 'Cereja' cultivar, the activity of SOD in the root system of shoots exposed to 100 μ m CuSO₄ showed an increase of 38.79% compared to that obtained in the control treatment (Fig. 9, A). As previously reported, roots tend to accumulate Cu to protect the shoot (Drazkiewicz et al., 2004; Küpper & Andresen, 2016). The function of SOD is to dismute the anionic superoxide radical (O₂⁻) to hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) (Bhattacharjee, 2010). Thus, we believe that, in both cultivars, SOD intensified its activity in the root system, dismuting the O₂⁻ to H₂O₂ to prevent these molecules from damaging the shoot.



C) Concentration of CuSO₄ (μm)

from each other by the Tukey test ($p \le 0.05$).

The evaluation of CAT (Fig. 9, B) and APX (Fig. 9, C) activity in the root system demonstrated that the exposure of 'Carolina' and 'Cereja' shoots to different Cu concentrations did not cause statistical differences in those enzymes activity.

The present study provided evidence that the excess of Cu requires the 'Carolina' tomato to redirect its metabolites to combat ROS, which hinders the growth of both shoot and roots. The 'Cereja' tomato, on the other hand, favored SOD activity, especially in the root system, thus controlling the effects of ROS on the shoot. The absence of Cu, in turn, causes an increase in the predisposition of shoots to physiological disorders. Studies still need to be carried out to clarify and control the occurrence of hyperhydricity in 'Carolina' and 'Cereja' tomatoes grown *in vitro* under the CuSO₄ concentrations described here.

CONCLUSION

It was concluded that the 'Carolina' and 'Cereja' tomato plants have their growth impaired when exposed to 100 μ m de CuSO₄. Concentrations higher than 50 μ m of CuSO₄ cause an increase in the antioxidant activity in the shoot of tomato plants from the 'Carolina' cultivar. Concentrations higher than 50 μ m CuSO₄ increase SOD activity in the root system of tomato plants from the 'Cereja' cultivar.

REFERENCES

- Adrees, M., Ali, S., Rizwan, M., Ibrahim, M., Abbas, F., Farid, M., Zia-ur-Rehman, M., Irshad, M.K. & Bharwana, S.A. 2015. The effect of excess copper on growth and physiology of important food crops: a review. *Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res.* 22, 8148–8162.
- Anderson, J.W., Johnstone, B.M. & Cook, N. 1995. Meta-analysis of the effects of soy protein intake on serum lipids. *New England Journal of Medicine* **333**, 276–282.
- Arredondo, M.L.O., Betancourt, M.C.P., Yoshida, M.L.B., Saqueda, g., Herrera, V.M.C., Veja, A.S.G., Rodríguez, J.C.R., Diez, O. & Lucci, P. 2016. Relationship between vitamin intake and total antioxidant capacity in elderly adults. *Univ. Sci.* 21(2), 167–177.
- Azmat, R. & Riaz, S. 2012. The inhibition of polymerization of glucose in carbohydrate under Cu stress in *Vignara diata*. *Pak. J.l of Bot.* **44**, 95–98.
- Azooz, M.M., Abou-elhamd, M.F. & Al-fredan, M.A. 2012. Biphasic effect of copper on growth, proline, lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzyme activities of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* cv. Hasaawi) at early growing stage. *Australian Journal of Crop Science* **6**, 688.
- Barbosa, R.H., Tabaldi, L.A., Miyazaki, F.B., Pilecco, M., Kassab, S.O. & Bigaton, D. 2013. Foliar copper uptake by maize plants: effects on growth and yield. *Cienc. Rural* 43, 1561–1568.
- Benimeli, C.S., Medina, A., Navarro, C.M., Medina, R.B., Amoroso, M.J. & Goméz, M.I. 2010. Bioaccumulation of copper by *Zea mays*: impact on root, shoot and leaf growth. *Water Air Soil Pollut.* 210, 365–370.
- Bhattacharjee, S. 2010. Sites of generation and physicochemical basis of formation of reactive oxygen species in plant cell. In Gupta, S.D. (eds): *Reactive oxygen species and antioxidants in higher plants Science Publishers*, pp. 1–30.
- Bonacina, C., Trevizan, C.B., Stracieri, J., dos Santos, T.B., Gonçalves, J.E., Gazim, Z.C. & de Souza, S.G.H. 2017. Changes in growth, oxidative metabolism and essential oil composition of lemon balm (*'Melissa officinalis'* L.) subjected to salt stress. *Aust. J. Crop Scien.* 11(12), 1665–1674.

Brasil, Hortifruti. 2018. Anuário 2017-2018. Piracicaba: HF BRASIL.

- Broadley, M., Brown, P., Cakmak, I., Rengel, Z. & Zhao, F. 2012. Function of nutrients: micronutrients. In: Marschner's mineral nutrition of higher plants. *Academic Press* 1, 191–248.
- Butt, M.S., Nazir, A., Sultan, M.T. & Schroën, K. 2008. *Morusalba* L. nature's functional tonic. *Trends in Food Scien. Techn.* **19**, 505–512.
- Da Silva, J.C., Giordano, L.B., Furumoto, O., Boiteux, L.S., França, F.H., Bôas, g.L.V., Branco, M.C., Medeiros, M.A., Marouelli, W., Silva, W.L.C., Lopes, C.A., Ávila, A.C., Nascimento, W.M. & Pereira, W. 2006. Tomato Cultivation for Industrialization. *Revista Eletrônica Embrapa Hortaliças*. Available in <https://sistemasdeproducao.cnptia.embrapa.br/FontesHTML/Tomate/TomateIndustrial_2 ed/adubacao.htm>. Access in october 14th of 2019, 1–20 (in Portuguese).
- De Vasconcelos, A.G.V., Tomas, L.F., Camara, T.R. & Willadino, L. 2012. Hyperhydricity: a metabolic disorder. *Cienc. Rural* **42**(5), 837–844.
- Dossa, D. & Fuchs, F. 2017. Tomato: technical-economic analysis and the main production indicators in the world, Brazilian and Paraná markets. *Ceasa-PR*. Available in http://www.ceasa.pr.gov.br/arquivos/File/BOLETIM/Boletim_Tecnico_Tomate1.pdf>. Access in october 18th of 2019, 7 pp. (in Portuguese).
- Drazkiewicz, M., Skórzyńska-polit, E. & Krupa, Z. 2004. Copper-induced oxidative stress and antioxidant defense in Arabidopsis thaliana. *Biometals* **17**(4), 379–387.
- Dresler, S., Hanaka, A., Bednarek, W. & Maksymiec, W. 2014. Accumulation of low-molecularweight organic acids in roots and leaf segments of *Zea mays* plants treated with cadmium and copper. *Acta Physiol. Plant.* **36**(6), 1565–1575.
- Epstein, E. & Bloom, A. P. 2006. Mineral plant nutrition: Principles and perspectives. Londrina. *editora plant,* 22 pp. (in Portuguese).
- Ferreira, D.F. 2011. Sisvar: A computer statical analysis system. *Ciência e Agrotecnologia* **35**(6), 1039–1042.
- Giannopolitis, C.N. & Ries, S.K. 1977. Superoxide dismutases: I. Occurrence in higher plants. *Plant Physiol.* **59**(2), 309–314.
- Graham, R.D., Welch, R.M. & Bouis, H.E. 2001. Addressing micronutrient malnutrition through enhancing the nutritional quality of staple foods: principles, perspectives and knowledge gaps. *Advances in Agronomy* **70**, 77–142.
- Hänsch, R. & Mendel, R.R. 2009. Physiological functions of mineral micronutrients (Cu, Zn, Mn, Fe, Ni, Mo, B, cl). *Current opinion in plant biology* **12**(3), 259–266.
- Havir, E.A. & McHale, N.A. 1987. Biochemical and developmental characterization of multiple forms of catalase in tobacco leaves. *Plant Physiol.* 84(2), 450–455.
- Hristozkova, M., Geneva, M. & Stancheva, I. 2006. Response of pea plants (*Pisum sativum* L.) to reduced supply with molybdenum and copper. *Int. J. Agric. Biol.* **8**, 218–220.
- IBGE (Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia e Estatístia). 2019. *Levantamento sistemático da produção agrícola setembro 2019*. Disponível em:<htps://sidra.ibge.gov.br/home/lspa/brasil>. Acesso em 14 de outubro de 2019.
- İşeri, Ö.D., Körpe, D.A., Yurtcu, E., Sahin, F.I. & Haberal, M. 2011. Copper-induced oxidative damage, antioxidant response and genotoxicity in *Lycopersicum esculentum* Mill. and *Cucumis sativus* L. *Plant Cell Rep.* **30**(9), 1713.
- Juadjur, A., Mohn, C., Schantz, M., Baum, M., Winterhalter, P. & Richling, E. 2015. Fractionation of an anthocyanin-rich bilberry extract and in vitro antioxidativ activity testing. *Food Chemistry* 167, 418–424.
- Kevers, C., Franck, T., Strasser, R.J., Dommes, J. & Gaspar, T. 2004. Hyperhydricity of micropropagated shoots: a typically stress-induced change of physiological state. *Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture* **77**(2) 181–191.
- Küpper, H. & Andresen, E. 2016. Mechanisms of metal toxicity in plants. *Metallomics* 8(3), 269–285.
- Kuskoski, E.M., Asuero, A.G., Troncoso, A.M., Mancini-Filho, J. & Fett, R. 2005. Application of various chemical methods to determine antioxidant activity in fruit pulp. *Ciênc. Tecnol. Aliment.* **25**(4), 726–732 (in Spanish).
- Liu, Q., Luo, L. & Zheng, L. 2018. Lignins: biosynthesis and biological functions in plants. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.*, v. **19**(2), 335.
- Lopes, C.A. & De Ávila, A. C. 2005. *Tomato diseases: Embrapa Vegetables Technical book* (*INFOTECA-E*), Brasília, 144 pp. (in Portuguese).
- Maia, J.T.L.S., Clemente, J.M., de Souza, N.H., de Oliveira Silva, J. & Martinez, H.E. P.2013. Organic adubation in grape tomatoes. *Biotemas* **26**(1), 37–44 (in Portuguese).
- Maksymiec, W. & Krupa, Z. 2007. Effects of methyl jasmonate and excess copper on root and leaf growth. *Biologia Plantarum* **51**(2), 322–326.
- Murashige, T. & Skoog, F. 1962. A Revised Medium for Rapid Growth and BioAssays with Tobacco Tissue Cultures. *Physiol. Plant.* **15**(3), 473–497.
- Nagajyoti, P.C., Lee, K.D. & Sreekanth, T.V.M. 2010. Heavy metals, occurrence and toxicity for plants: a review. *Environ. Chem. Lett.* **8**(3), 199–216.
- Nakano, Y. & Asada, K. 1981. Hydrogen peroxide is scavenged by ascorbate specific peroxidase in spinach chloroplasts. *Plant and Cell Physiology* **22**(5), 867–880.
- Reckova, S., Tuma, J., Dobrev, P. & Vankova, R. 2019. Influence of copper on hormone content and selected morphological, physiological and biochemical parameters of hydroponically grown Zea mays plants. *Plant Growth Regulation* **89**(2), 191–201.
- Rufino, M.S.M. Fernandes, F.A., Alves, R.E. & de Brito, E.S. 2009. Free radical scavenging behavior of some North-east Brazilian fruits in DPPH system. *Food Chemistry* **114**(2), 693–695.
- Salin, M.L. 1988. Toxic oxygen species and protective systems of the chloroplast. *Physiology of Plants* **72**, 681–689.
- Silva, M.L.C., Costa, R.S., dos Santos Santana, A. & Koblitz, M.G.B. 2010. Phenolic compounds, carotenoids and antioxidant activity in plant products. *Semina: Ciências Agrárias* **31**(3), 669–681.
- Statsoft, Inc. 2017. Statistica for Windows (computer program manual) Statsoft Inc. 148 pp.
- Wang, H., Shan, X.Q., Wen, B., Zhang, S. & Wang, Z.J. 2004. Responses of antioxidative enzymes to accumulation of copper in a copper hyperaccumulator of *Commoelina communis*. Arch. of Environ. Contam. and Toxicol. **47**(2), 185–192.
- Waterhouse, A.L. 2002. Poliphenolics: Determination of total phenolics. In: WROLSTAD, R. E. *Current Protocols in Food Analytical Chemistry*, pp. 111–118.
- Wilkinson, S. & Davies, W.J. 2010. Drought, ozone, ABA and ethylene: new insights from cell to plant to community. *Plant, cell & environ.* **33**(4), 510–525.
- Wójcik, M. & Tukiendorf, A. 2003. Response of wild type of *Arabidopsis thaliana* to copper stress. *Biologia Plantarum* **46**(1), 79–84.
- Xu, J.K., Yang, L.X., Wang, Z.Q., Dong, g.C., Huang, J.Y. & Wang, Y.L. 2005. Effects of soil copper concentration on growth, development and yield formation of rice (*Oryza sativa*). *Rice Science* 12(2), p.125–135.
- Yruela, I. 2005. Copper in plants. Braz. J. Plant Physiol. 17(1), 145–156.
- Yruela, I. 2009. Copper in plants: acquisition, transport and interactions. *Functional Plant Biology* **36**(5), 409–430.
- Zeng, J., Li, X., Zhang, J., Ge, H., Yin, X.R. & Chen, K.S. 2016. Regulation of loquat fruit low temperature response and lignification involves interaction of heat shock factors and genes associated with lignin biosynthesis. *Plant, cell & environment* **39**(8), 1780–1789.

Molecular discovery of new allele associated with loose smut resistance gene *Ut-X* in spring wheat

I.S. Draz^{1,*}, A.K. Darwish², M.S. Abou-Elseoud², A.A. Elassal² and D.A. Komeil²

¹Agricultural Research Centre, Institute of Plant Pathology Research, Department of Wheat Disease Research, Eg12619 Giza, Egypt ²University of Alexandria, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Plant Pathology, El-Shatby, EG21545 Alexandria, Egypt *Correspondence: dr.ibrahim draz@yahoo.com

Received: February 1st, 2021; Accepted: April 24th, 2021; Published: April 29th, 2021

Abstract. Genes of resistance to loose smut incited by the fungus Ustilago tritici (Pers.) Rostr. are still unknown in the Egyptian spring wheat. Loose smut incidence (LSI) was assessed in ten wheat cultivars through a two-year field trial during 2018-2020. All of the tested cultivars exhibited various percentages of susceptibility (> 10-70% LSI) to the disease except cultivar Misr-3 which exhibited resistance. The most susceptible cultivars were Sakha-93 (60%), Giza-168 (42.1%), and Misr-2 (34.28%). However, the resistant cultivar Misr-3 recorded the least LSI amounting to 5%. The wheat cultivars were screened by the SCAR marker (Xcrc4.2) to identify the presence/absence of loose smut resistance gene Ut-X. Molecular data revealed that the SCAR marker (Xcrc4.2) generated two alleles in cultivars with PCR fragments size of 800-bp and \approx 200-bp. The favorable allele 800-bp was generated only in the resistant Egyptian cultivar 'Misr-3' and the resistant check cultivar 'Biggar', indicating the presence of the gene. Meanwhile, another allele $\simeq 200$ -bp was generated in seven Egyptian cultivars, Giza-168, Giza-171, Misr2, Sakha-93, Gemmeiza-12, N-95, and Shandweel-1, indicating the absence of the resistant gene. This is the first study to report resistance genes to loose smut in Egyptian spring wheat, by detecting Ut-X in cultivar Misr-3. In addition, the study documented the first report of another allele \approx 200-bp associated with SCAR marker (Xcrc4.2). Findings also revealed that the race-specific resistance gene Ut-X confers effective resistance to local U. tritici races, including race T10 which could be widely incorporated in breeding programs to control the disease.

Key words: SCAR marker, resistance genes, Triticum aestivum, Ustilago tritici, Ut-X alleles.

INTRODUCTION

Wheat is the staple food for approximately one-third of the world population. More than 215 million hectares with an annual production of 700 million tons of wheat were estimated worldwide (FAOSTAT, 2018). In Egypt, wheat is one of the most important winter cereal crops in terms of the planted area and crop production. It provides more than 30% calorie intake of the population. The wheat area grown in Egypt is approximately 1.26 million hectares with a yield of approximately 8.1 million tons, but

there is still a big gap, about 50%, between production and consumption (Kishk et al., 2019). Wheat is liable to attack by many important diseases, causing great losses in grain yield and quality. Rusts, mildews, black point, and loose smut are among the most common and widespread diseases of wheat in Egypt (El-Gremi et al., 2017; Gad et al., 2019; Elkot et al., 2020; Draz Abd El-Kreem, 2021; Esmail et al., 2021). Loose smut incited by the basidiomycete fungus Ustilago tritici (Pers.) Rostr. commonly occurs in the majority of the wheat-growing countries (Nielsen & Thomas, 1996; Thambugala et al., 2020). The spike produced from infected germinated plants are converted into black powdery spore clusters in which grains are usually not formed, only the rachis remains intact. It is also common for some particles to form on a locally infected head. Contaminated seeds are the only source of perpetuation and loose smut causes yield losses up to 5–7% where farmers plant their harvested infected seeds again (Ramdani et al., 2004). The presence of loose smut infection cannot be predicted until the plant, which is impregnated with the inoculum, produces a spike characteristic symptom i.e., early emergence and blackening of the emerging spike. This seed-borne disease is commonly present in Egypt at different levels of incidence and unfortunately, none of the Egyptian wheat cultivars is known to be resistant against this disease.

The management of loose smut was achieved in wheat with a combination of resistant cultivars, certified seeds, and systemic fungicides applied as seed treatments, yet the absence of an effective control practice resulted in significant yield and economic losses (Nielsen, 1983). Although the use of pesticides to protect the production of crops may have an adverse impact on the environment and the consumers, most farmers still prefer to use chemical control for effective immediate results in disease control. The development of resistant cultivars is an effective eco-friendly approach to eradicate this problematic fungus particularly in organic wheat production and in countries where seed treatment is not readily available (Menzies, 2008; Menzies et al., 2009). Commercial wheat cultivars with effective resistance to loose smut have been developed as a result of the incorporation of loose smut resistance genes of the bread (Triticum aestivum L.) and durum wheat (Triticum turgidum var. durum) collected around the world (Nielsen, 1987; Menzies et al., 2003). U. tritici races of differing virulence have been reported from both bread and durum wheat worldwide, in which approximately fifty races of U. tritici have been identified from various regions of the world growing hexaploid wheat (Menzies, 2016). The virulence U. tritici population varies substantially globally (Kaur et al., 2014; Kassa et al., 2015). For instance, the occurrence of races such as T1, T17, T34, and T38 has been reported in Egypt which was virulent on many hexaploid wheat cultivars/lines (Knox & Menzies, 2012). Nowadays distinguishing wheat resistance genes is crucial, since new U. tritici races continue to be found in commercial wheat fields in Egypt (Gad et al., 2019).

Previous studies on the genetics or mechanisms of loose smut resistance in wheat have shown that resistance may be inherited as a qualitative or quantitative trait (Knox et al., 2014). Resistance to wheat loose smut is known to be under monogenic control and several resistance genes have been identified and localized in hexaploid wheat (Procunier et al., 1997). To date, at least eleven genes resistant to loose smut were recorded in the catalog of wheat gene symbols, Ut1-Ut4, Ut-X, Ut6-Ut11 (Nielsen, 1977, 1982; McIntosh et al., 2013; Kassa et al., 2014; Thambugala et al., 2020). Although the gene originally named Ut-X located on chromosome 2BL has been recently identified as Ut5 (Procunier et al., 1997; Knox et al., 2014). However, the presence of

the *Ut5* resistance gene, complementary to the *utv5* virulence gene is debatable (Syukov & Porotkin, 2015). We, therefore, decided to refer the respective resistance gene in the current study to the original named *Ut-X* here on. This gene mapped to the distal end of chromosome arm 2BL and conditioned resistance to *U. tritici* race T10 (Procunier et al., 1997). In wheat, several classes of molecular markers have been successfully used for linkages to resistance genes such as restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLP) (Autrique et al., 1995; Schachermayr et al., 1995), random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) (Procunier et al., 1995; Schachermayr et al., 1995), simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers (Abou-Elseoud et al., 2014; Draz, 2017; Shahin et al 2020) and sequence characterized amplified region (SCAR) (Paran & Michelmore, 1993; Procunier et al., 1997; Cao et al., 2001; Gupta et al., 2006; Rai et al., 2017). SCAR markers are derived from a robust PCR and show a visually less complex banding pattern that have an advantage of high reproducibility and locus-specific (Procunier et al., 1997).

Wheat production in Egypt has been improved due to the development of breeding and cultivation techniques to avoid the huge negative impact of loose smut on wheat production. For successful breeding of cultivars resistant to this disease, the breeder and the pathologist, first of all, should have the information on the effective resistance genes for the local area of wheat cultivation. To date, resistance genes to loose smut in Egyptian spring wheat have not been identified yet. Hence, the present study aimed to identify loose smut resistance gene *Ut-X* based on SCAR flanking marker and to report alleles associated with the disease incidence in Egyptian spring wheat.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plant material

Seeds of ten Egyptian wheat cultivars were provided by the Wheat Disease Research Department, Plant Pathology Research Institute, ARC, Egypt. Seeds of the wheat material served as susceptible check cultivar 'Diamant' for disease evaluation (Nielsen & Tikhomirov, 1993) and as positive check cultivar 'Biggar' for a molecular assay (Procunier et al., 1997) were provided by the International Maize and Wheat Improvement Center (CIMMYT), Mexico. The tested wheat cultivars and their pedigree are provided in Table 1.

No.	Cultivar	Pedigree
1	Giza-168	MRL/BUC//Seri-82
2	Giza-171	Sakha-93/Gemmeiza-9
3	Sids-14	SW8488*2/KUKUNA
4	Misr-2	Skauz/Bav-92
5	Sakha-93	Sakha-92/TR810328
6	Beniswef-5	DIPPER-2/BUCHEN-3
7	Misr-3	Rolf-07*2/Kiritati
8	Gemmeiza-12	OTUS/3/SARA/THB//VEE
9	N-95	-
10	Shandweel-1	SITE//MO/4/NAC/TH.AC//3*PVN/3/MIRLO/BUC
11	Biggar	TOBARI-66/ROMANY-66
12	Diamant	YUBILEI/SADOVO-1

Table 1. List of the tested spring wheat cultivars and their pedigree

Evaluation of loose smut incidence

In a two-year field trial, loose smut incidence (LSI) was assessed in the tested wheat cultivars (Table 1) during 2018/19-2019/20 growing seasons at Sakha Agricultural Research Station, Agricultural Research Center (ARC), Egypt. During the 2018/19 season, cultivars were grown in three-row plots, each 1.5 m long with 30 cm distance between rows. The plots were arranged in a randomized complete block design (RCBD) with three replicates. All recommended cultural practices for wheat crops in the commercial fields were applied. The wheat cultivars were inoculated with a mixture of local U. tritici races including predominant race T10, according to the method described by Nielsen (1987). In which, florets of the plants were inoculated with a teliospore suspension of U. tritici races at mid-anthesis (GS 60-65, Zadoks et al., 1974). Independently of each cultivar, ten spikes were inoculated and each spike was tagged. Inoculated spikes were harvested at maturity and the grains from the inoculated spikes were collected in envelopes labeled with wheat cultivar identity. During the 2019/20 season, a minimum of 100 inoculated grains for each cultivar was planted in 1.5 m long with 30 cm between rows. Loose smut incidence (LSI) was assessed in each cultivar according to the method described by Menzies et al. (2009), and was calculated as follows:

LSI (%) =
$$\frac{\text{Number of smutted plants}}{\text{Total number of plants}} \times 100$$

Molecular assay of loose smut resistance gene Ut-X

The molecular assay was carried out in the Biological Laboratory of the Plant Pathology Department, Faculty of Agriculture, Alexandria University, Egypt. Genomic DNA was extracted using a commercial kit: Thermo ScientificTM GeneJETTM PCR Purification Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Cat. No. K0701) and quantified using a spectrophotometer (MaestroNano, Drop MN-913). The DNA samples were diluted for a final concentration of 100 ng/µL. The SCAR marker (Xcrc4.2) developed by Procunier et al. (1997) was used to detect the loose smut resistance gene *Ut-X* in the ten Egyptian wheat cultivars. Amplification of genomic DNA with SCAR primer pair 5'-TGGGCTCGCTTCATAAATTGGTTC-3' and 5'-TGGGCTCGCTGCTACCGGGGTGGA-3' was done in a thermocycler (Techne-Progene, UK). The 25-µL PCR reaction volume was prepared and the PCR program was optimized in the initial study at an annealing temperature of 68 °C according to Procunier et al. (1997). Amplification products were electrophoresed in 1.4% agarose gel with RedSafe[™] Nucleic Acid Staining Solution. The tests were repeated twice. The DNA banding patterns were visualized using a UV-transilluminator (Herolab UVT 2020, Kurzwellig) and photographed. The obtained PCR fragments were scored to indicate alleles associated with the gene *Ut-X* and its presence/absence in cultivars.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Loose smut incidence

The twelve wheat cultivars presented in Table 1, consisted of ten Egyptian wheattested cultivars and two check cultivars, Biggar as the resistant cultivar, and Diamant as the susceptible cultivar. All cultivars were evaluated for their reactions against wheat loose smut in the field trials during the growing seasons of 2018/19–2019/20. Data illustrated in Fig. 1 revealed the variations in loose smut incidence (LSI) among cultivars ranged from 5 to 70%. The most affected cultivar among the tested Egyptian wheat cultivar was Sakha-93 which recorded 60% LSI, followed by Giza-168 (42.1%), and Misr-2 (34.28%). While Egyptian cultivar Misr-3 was the least affected with a disease incidence of 5%, followed by Gemmeiza-5 and N-95 (12.50% each). The susceptible check cultivar (Diamant) recorded the highest value of LSI with 70%, while the resistant check cultivar (Biggar) recorded only 5% LSI. Diamant is a loose smut differential line (D-6) from the former Soviet Union and susceptible to most races of the loose smut pathogen (Nielsen & Tikhomirov, 1993). It has been used as a susceptible check cultivar for loose smut pathology studies for over 30 years (Thambugala et al., 2020). The Biggar cultivar is a Canada Prairie Spring Red wheat that carries the resistance gene Ut-X to the loose smut race T10 (Procunier et al., 1997). Based on the loose smut incidence (%) results, the tested wheat cultivars were classified into resistant and susceptible classes according to (Nielsen, 1987; Kassa et al., 2014), which considered wheat cultivars with 0-10% LSI as resistant and wheat cultivars with > 10\% LSI as susceptible. Data showed that all tested Egyptian wheat cultivars were susceptible to the disease with LSI values > 10%, except cultivar Misr-3 which exhibited resistance to the disease with only 5% LSI. Little data are available on the genetic resistance to loose smut of wheat that has not yet been studied in Egypt.



Figure 1. Loose smut incidence (%) in Egyptian spring wheat cultivars and check cultivars, Biggar (resistant) and Diamant (susceptible) in 2019/20 field growing season affected with artificial inoculation with a mixture of *Ustilago tritici* races, including T10.

Molecular detection of Ut-X and alleles associated

The tested wheat cultivars were screened by the SCAR marker (Xcrc.4.2) closely linked to the loose smut resistance gene *Ut-X*. The particular SCAR primer at an annealing temperature of 68 °C amplified intense DNA products with two alleles at PCR fragments sizes of ≈ 200 and 800-bp in different cultivars (Fig. 2). A favorable allele

with 800-bp was generated in only one Egyptian cultivar 'Misr-3' and the resistant check cultivar 'Biggar'. While, the other allele $\simeq 200$ -bp was generated in seven Egyptian cultivars, Giza-168, Giza-171, Misr-2, Sakha-93, Gemmeiza12, N-95, and Shandweel-1. No amplification products were observed in two cultivars, Sids-14 and Beniswef-5. These findings indicated that the loose smut resistance gene Ut-X was present only in resistant Egyptian cultivar Misr-3 (allele 800-bp), while it was absent in nine susceptible Egyptian cultivars ($\simeq 200$ -bp or NIL). A loose smut resistance gene Ut-X to U. tritici race T10 was found to be located on chromosome 2B in "Chinese Spring" wheat using varietal substitution lines (Bernier et al., 1995). The use of longer and specific SCAR primers allows for a more robust PCR reaction and eliminates the multiple banding pattern which increases the advantages of its use over RAPD markers (Cao et al., 2001). The SCAR marker (Xcrc4.2 locus) has been previously reported as a single genetic locus linked (14 cm) to the Ut-X locus at 800-bp (Procunier et al., 1997). In the current study, an allele of ($\simeq 200$ -bp) was amplified by the SCAR marker (Xcrc4.2) in susceptible cultivars. Also, obtained results revealed that Ut-X is an effective resistance gene against local U. tritici races, including T10 which should be considered in the breeding program to control the disease. Given the pedigree information, the origin of the loose smut resistance gene Ut-X in the cultivar Biggar derived from TOBARI-66/ROMANY-66, is unknown (Procunier et al., 1997). However, the Egyptian cultivar Misr-3 derived from Rolf-07*2/Kiritati which has TOBARI-66 in previous crosses of Kiritati. Therefore, TOBARI-66 may be the origin of the loose smut resistance gene Ut-X in both cultivars, Biggar and Misr-3.



Figure 2. PCR amplification products generated by the SCAR marker (Xcrc4.2) linked to loose smut resistance gene *Ut-X* in Egyptian spring wheat cultivars and resistant check cultivar Biggar carrying *Ut-X*.

The majority of resistance studies carried out so far have also indicated a simple genetic basis for loose smut resistance, with resistance being governed by major genes (Knose et al., 2001; Thambugala et al., 2020). Biggar carries the race-specific resistance gene *Ut-X*. This gene mapped to the distal end of chromosome arm 2BL and conditioned resistance to *U. tritici* race T10 (Procunier et al., 1997). The broad loose smut resistance loci (Thambugala et al., 2020). The SCAR flanking marker (Xcrc4.2) linked to a loose smut

resistance gene Ut-X with resistant allele (800-bp) and susceptible allele (\simeq 200-bp) would facilitate the pyramiding of other resistance genes and eliminate the time-consuming progeny testing of individual plants in a breeding program. Also, these markers can be used on seedlings, thus avoiding the lengthy two-generation disease testing time.

CONCLUSIONS

This is the first attempt to determine the genes of resistance to loose smut in Egyptian spring wheat. We identified a major loose smut resistance gene Ut-X in Egyptian cultivar Misr-3. Ut-X confers resistance to local U. tritici races, including T10. In addition, the study documented the first report to characterize the SCAR marker (Xcrc4.2) linked to Ut-X with two alleles that have the potential for use in marker-assisted selection in spring wheat breeding programs. Further studies based on quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping to identify a major QTL controlling LSI in the Ut-X gene contributing multiple alleles are in demand.

REFERENCES

- Abou-Elseoud, M.S., Kamara, A.M., Alaa-Eldein, O.A., El-Bebany, A.F., Ashmawy, N.A. & Draz, I.S. 2014. Identification of leaf rust resistance genes in Egyptian wheat cultivars by multipathotypes and molecular markers. J. Plant. Sci. 2(5), 145–151. doi: 10.11648/j.jps.20140205.11
- Autrique, E., Singh, R.P., Tanksley, S.D. & Sorrells, M.E. 1995. Molecular markers for four leaf rust resistance genes introgressed into wheat from wild relatives. *Genome* **38**, 75–83.
- Bernier, A., Howes, N., Kim, H., Kim, W. & Knox, R. 1995. Loose smut resistance in Chinese Spring wheat. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.* 17, 353.
- Cao, W., Hughes, G., Ma, H. & Dong, Z. 2001. Identification of molecular markers for resistance to *Septoria nodorum* blotch in durum wheat. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* **102**, 551–554. https://doi.org/10.1007/s001220051681
- Draz, I.S. 2017. Ascertaining of Ug99-race specific genes in wheat genotypes assigned to stem rust resistance based on phenotypic and genotypic reaction. *Agricultural Engineering International, CIGR Journal*, 323–330.
- Draz, I.S., Abd El-Kreem T.H. 2021. Partial resistance to powdery mildew and leaf rust of wheat in Egyptian and CIMMYT genotypes. *Egypt. J. Agric. Res.* **99**(1), 61–76. doi: 10.21608/ejar.2021.56575.1070
- El-Gremi, M.A., Draz, I.S. & Youssef, W.A. 2017. Biological control of pathogens associated with kernel black point disease of wheat. *Crop Protection* **91**, 13–19.
- Elkot, A.F., El-Orabey, W.M., Draz, I.S., Sabry, S.R. 2020. Marker-assisted identification of stem rust resistance genes *Sr2*, *Sr13*, *Sr22* and *Sr24* in Egyptian wheat cultivars. *Egypt. J. Plant Breed.* **24**(1), 225–245
- Esmail, S.M., Draz, I.S., Ashmawy, M.A. & El-Orabey, W.M. 2021. Emergence of new aggressive races of *Puccinia striiformis* f. sp. *tritici* causing yellow rust epiphytotic in Egypt. *Physiol. Mol. Plant Pathol.* **114**, 101612. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pmpp.2021.101612
- FAOSTAT. 2018. Production of Wheat in World. http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QC
- Gad, M.A., El-Ghanam, A.A. & El-Hefny, D.E. 2019. Management of loose smut disease (*Ustilago tritici*) and determination of fungicides residues in wheat matrices using QuEChERS methodology. *Menoufia J. Plant Prot.* **4**, 107–118.

- Gupta, S.K., Charpe, A., Koul, S., Haque, M.R. & Prabhu, K.V. 2006. Development and validation of SCAR markers co-segregating with an *Agropyron Elongatum* derived leaf rust resistance gene *Lr24* in wheat. *Euphytica* **150**, 233–240. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10681-006-9113-8
- Kassa, M.T., Menzies, J.G. & McCartney, C.A. 2014. Mapping of the loose smut resistance gene Ut6 in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Mol. Breed. 33, 569–76. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s11032-013-9973-2
- Kassa, M.T., Menzies, J.G. & McCartney, C.A. 2015. Mapping of a resistance gene to loose smut (*Ustilago tritici*) from the Canadian wheat breeding line BW278. *Mol. Breed.* **35**, 180. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11032-015-0369-3
- Kaur, G., Sharma, I. & Sharma, R.C. 2014. Characterization of Ustilago segetum tritici causing loose smut of wheat in northwestern India. Can. J. Plant Pathol. 36, 360–366. https://doi.org/10.1080/07060661.2014.924559
- Kishk, A., Chang, X., Wang, D., Wang, Y., Yang, Y., Zhao, G. & Tao, Z. 2019. Evolution of varieties and development of production technology in Egypt wheat: A review. J. Integr. Agric. 18(3), 483–495. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2095-3119(18)62053-2
- Knox, R.E., Campbell, H.L., Clarke, F.R., Menzies, J.G., Popovic, Z., Procunier, J.D., Clarke, J.M., DePauw, R.M., Cuthbert, R.D. & Somers, D.J. 2014. Quantitative trait loci for resistance in wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) to *Ustilago tritici. Can. J. Plant Pathol.* 36.
- Knox, R.E. & Menzies, J.G. 2012. Resistance in wheat to loose smut. In: *Sharma I (ed) Disease Resistance In Wheat. Punjab Agricultural University*, India, pp. 160–189.
- McIntosh, R.A., Dubcovsky, J., Rogers, W.J., Morris, C., Appels, R. & Xia, X.C. 2013. Catalogue of gene symbols for wheat: 2013–2014 Supplement (http://www.shigen.nig.ac.jp/wheat/komugi/genes/macgene/supplement2013.pdf).
- Menzies, J.G., Knox, R.E., Nielsen, J. & Thomas, P.L. 2003. Virulence of Canadian isolates of Ustilago tritici: 1964–1998, and the use of the geometric rule in understanding host differential complexity. Can. J. Plant Pathol. 25, 62–72.
- Menzies, J.G., Turkington, T.K. & Knox, R.E. 2009. Testing for resistance to smut diseases of barley, oats and wheat in Western Canada. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.* **31**, 265–279. https://doi.org/10.1080/07060660909507601
- Menzies, J.G. 2008. Carboxin tolerant strains of *Ustilago nuda* and *Ustilago tritici* in Canada. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.* **30**, 498–502. https://doi.org/10.1080/07060660809507548
- Menzies, J.G. 2016. Virulence of isolates of *Ustilago tritici* collected in Manitoba and Saskatchewan, Canada, from 1999 to 2007. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.* **38**, 470–475. https://doi.org/10.1080/07060661.2016.1262901
- Nielsen, J. & Thomas, P. 1996. Loose smut. In: Wilcoxson RD, Saari EE, editors. *Bunt and smut diseases of wheat: concepts and methods of disease management*. CIMMYT, Mexico, pp. 33–47.
- Nielsen, J. & Tikhomirov, V. 1993. Races of *Ustilago tritici* identified in field collections from eastern Siberia using Canadian and soviet differentials. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.* **15**, 193–200. https://doi.org/10.1080/07060669309500822
- Nielsen, J. 1977. Inheritance of virulence of loose smut of wheat, *Ustilago tritici*, on the differential cultivars Renfrew, Florence x Aurore, Kota, and little Club. *Can. J. Bot.* **55**, 260–263.
- Nielsen, J. 1982. Inheritance of virulence of *Ustilago tritici* on the differential cultivars Carma, red bobs, and a derivative of the cross Thatcher x regent spring wheat. *Can. J. Bot.* **60**, 1191–1193.
- Nielsen, J. 1983. Spring wheats immune of highly resistant to Ustilago tritici. Plant. Dis. 67, 860–863.
- Nielsen, J. 1987. Races of *Ustilago tritici* and techniques for their study. *Can. J. Plant Pathol.* 9, 91–105.

- Paran, I. & Michelmore, R.W. 1993. Development of reliable PCR-based markers linked to downy mildew resistance genes in lettuce. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 85, 985–993.
- Procunier, J.D., Knox, R.E., Bernier, A.M., Gray, M.A. & Howes, N.K. 1997. DNA markers linked to a T10 loose smut resistance gene in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *Genome* **40**, 176–9.
- Procunier, J.D., Townley-Smith, T.F., Fox, S., Prashar, S., Gray, M., Kim, W.K., Czarnecki, E. & Dyck, P.L. 1995. PCR-based RAPD/DGGE markers linked to leaf rust resistance genes *Lr29* and *Lr25* in wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*). J. Genet. Breed. 49, 87–92.
- Rai, R., Das, B.K. & Bhagwat, S.G. 2017. Development and validation of SCAR marker for stem rust resistance gene Sr26 in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Biol. Syst. 6, 181. doi:10.4172/2329-6577.1000181
- Ramdani, A., Jlibene, M. & Boulif, M. 2004. Survey of wheat diseases in the North West region of Morocco during 1997–98. Al Awamia 111, 33–40.
- Schachermayr, G.M., Messmer, M.M., Feuillet, C., Winzeler, H., Winzeler, M. & Keller, B. 1995. Identification of molecular markers linked to the *Agropyron elongatum*-derived leaf rust resistance gene *Lr24* in wheat. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* **90**, 982–990.
- Shahin, A.A., Draz, I.S. & Esmail, S.M. 2020. Race specificity of stripe rust resistance in relation to susceptibility of Egyptian wheat cultivars. *Egypt. J. Phytopathol.* **48**(1), 1–13. 10.21608/EJP.2020.107601
- Syukov, V.V. & Porotkin, S.E. 2015. Genetics of common wheat's (*Triticum aestivum* L.) resistance to loose smut (*Ustilago tritici* (Pers.) Jens.) review. *Russ. J. Genet. Appl. Res.* 5, 55–9. https://doi.org/10.1134/S2079059715010098
- Thambugala, D., Menzies, J.G., Knox, R.E., Campbell, H.L. & McCartney, C.A. 2020. Genetic analysis of loose smut (*Ustilago tritici*) resistance in Sonop spring wheat. *BMC Plant Biol*. 20, 314. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12870-020-02525-x
- Zadoks, J.C., Chang, T.T. & Konzak, C.F. 1974. A domical code for the growth stages of cereals. *Weed Res.* 14, 415–421.

Features of bird-cherry that inhibits the breeding of the population *Rhopalosiphum padi* (L.) (Hemiptera: Sternorrhyncha: Aphididae)

E.S. Gandrabur* and A.B. Vereschagina

All-Russian Research Institute for Plant Protection, Podbelskogo highway, 3, RU196608 St. Petersburg-Pushkin, Russia *Correspondence:helenagandrabur@gmail.com

Received: August 18th, 2020; Accepted: November 12th, 2020; Published: January 05th, 2021

Abstract. Long-term studies (2012–2018) of the formation of the *Rhopalosiphum padi* (L.) heteroecious population (number of remigrants, oviparae and eggs in autumn, number of perished eggs, fundatrices larvae, timing of flight of emigrants in spring) on the two samples of primary host *Padus avium* Mill. and *P. avium* x *P. virginiana* (L.) characterized by various morpho-physiological features have been carried out. By the methods of mathematical statistics, it has been proved that this formation occurs under the significant influence of the year conditions (A), host plant characteristics (B) and these factors interaction (AB). The most visible was their highly significant impact on the number of wintering aphid eggs (A = 200.42; B = 142.6; AB = 25.612). Plant characteristics such as significantly larger leaf area from the middle part of the shoot on *P. avium* x *P. virginiana*, than on *P. avium* x *P. virginiana* - for oviposition and survival of eggs. Correlation between the period of leaf fall and number of aphid eggs on both bird-cherry samples is presented. The effect of weather conditions on *R. padi* and primary hosts relationships is discussed. Correlation (r = 0.76; p = 0.0048) between average temperature of October and eggs number on *P. avium* is given. *R.* fundatrices.

Key words: gynoparae, oviparae, eggs, fundatrices, emigrants, buds, host-plant, defoliation, year conditions.

INTRODUCTION

Showy flowering, ecological plasticity (widespread, frost resistance, resistance to environmental pollution, drought resistance), medicinal and nutritional value of *Padus* Mill. species attracts the attention of crop producers and breeders (Bezmenova et al., 2010; Simagin & Lokteva, 2012; Kishchenko, 2017). *P. avium* Mill and *P. virginiana* L. are easily interbred and are most widely used for breeding in Russia (Simagin & Lokteva, 2015). *P. maackii* (Ruor.), *P. ssiory* (Fr., Schmidt) C. K. Scneid, *P. serotina* (EhR.) Agardh. are also used in landscaping. In the European part of Russia, *Rhopalosiphum padi* (L.) belongs to the most economically important species of cereal aphids. As heteroecious (host-alternating) species, *R. padi* not only reduces the quantity and quality of grain crops harvest - summer hosts of aphids, but also affects ornamentality and

fruiting of bird-cherry, which is its winter host. In Europe, *R. padi* predominantly inhabits *P. avium.*, in North America - *P. virginiana* and *P. pensylvanica* Loisel (Finlay & Luck, 2011). Aphids winter in the egg phase. In spring the fundatrices come out of the eggs, their numerous offspring causes twisting and yellowing of bird-cherry leaves, which persists until the defoliation even after complete aphids emigration to grasses. Despite the large number of works devoted to *R. padi*, the bird-cherry resistance to this pest remains unclarified. Current global climate changes increase the study relevance of trophic phytophages bonds including aphids with high ecological plasticity (Harrington et al., 2007).

The purpose of the study is the search for the bird-cherry characteristics limiting the number of *R. padi*.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Perennial study (2011–2019) of the settlement terms and the generations number of *R. padi* in autumn (remigrants – gynoparae and males and sexual females - oviparae), as well as development of eggs and fundatrices in spring on agrestic specimen P. avium (7 trees) and P. avium x P. virginiana (5 trees) in conditions of similar pest flight background not far from each other (St. Petersburg-Pushkin; 59°43'N. 30°25'E) was carried out. The bird-cherry specimens differed from one another by morphological and vegetation periods. The trees (not less 25 years old) were the same every year. Eggs and aphid count in spring was carried out on not less than 100 annual shoots from various crown parts on each of the trees. The shoots were randomly selected and marked. The first counts were made before fundatrices hatching on the buds and later on the leaves after the start of their reproduction. The quantity of remigrants and oviparae was monitored in autumn on the leaves of at least 100 annual shoots randomly selected on the same trees. The accounting results were recalculated by 100 record buds or leaves to standardize data. Observations were carried out once a week until the end of leaf fall. Bird-cherry phenophases passage dates were noted, which are associated with periods of seasonal aphids' migration, egg laying and wintering generation release were noted. The lamina area and leaf buds' length from the middle part of the shoot were determined 20 times on each tree. The timing of aphids' emigration on grasses was determined on 15 trees of P. avium and P. avium x P. virginiana growing in Saint-Petersburg and in Leningrad oblast (2012–2018). In autumn 2019 due to technical reasons the accounting was made only for *P. avium* (all trees *P. avium* x *P. virginiana* were chopped down).

Information characterizing the course of environmental conditions during the research period are taken from web-sites http://weatherarchive.ru (temperature) and http://www.pogodaiklimat.ru (precipitation=rainfall). Some meteorological parameters that are particularly important for data analysis are given in Table 1.

The experiments results were processed with ANOVA using Statistica. *R*. The data obtained was described statistically by making a two-factor analyses of variance. The influence of temperature on *R. padi* eggs laying was assessed by Polynomial regression. The F (Fisher's) test was applied. Significance of differences between the mean values was determined using student's t-test.

		Air te	Air temperature, °C				Rainfall, mm					
ar	Month	Decad	le		Max.	Min.	Average	Deca	ıde		Max	Total
Ye		Ι	II	III	(date)	(date)	of month	۱I	II	III	(date)	
	April	-0.3	5.7	8.7	20.0 (21)	-6.0 (2)	4.7	3.9	4.8	1.0	3.0 (6; 14))9.7
14	May	6.4	13.4	16.5	25.8 (20)	-1.0 (3)	12.1	14.0	13.7	64.7	32.0 (28)	92.4
20	June	17.7	12.3	12.0	30.0 (6)	4.0 (18)	14.0	21.4	25.6	24.1	20.0 (30)	71.1
	April	4.9	5.3	7.4	18.0 (28)	-4.0 (4)	5.9	8.0	26.3	34.6	12.0 (29)	68.9
16	May	13.9	11.1	14.6	18.3 (6)	3.0 (12)	13.2	0.0	2.3	28.0	15.0 (27)	30.3
20	June	12.5	14.7	18.5	27.0 (26)	4.0 (7)	15.2	11.8	57.4	21.9	28.0 (16)	91.1
	April	4.6	-0.2	4.4	15.0 (10)	-9.0 (19)	2.9	13.8	18.1	55.2	15.0 (23)	87.1
17	May	5.6	9.8	12.6	24.0 (19)	-2.0 (10)	9.3	1.0	1.1	11.3	7.0 (31)	13.4
20	June	11.4	15.2	14.1	24.4 (17)	3.4 (2)	13.6	17.6	26.3	24.6	13.0 (21)	68.5
	September	14.6	13.1	11.7	21.2 (6)	6.2 (26)	13.1	28.4	45.0	43	26.2 (20)	116.4
11	October	10.0	6.1	6.8	15.2 (1; 7)	-0.8 (15)	7.6	17.4	26.6	1.0	14.1 (12)	15.0
20	November	5.8						0.9			0.9 (7)	
	September	14.7	13.8	7.8	22.1 (1)	2.0 (30)	12.1	8.0	0.0	47.2	20.0 (23)	55.2
	October	9.0	5.7	7.1	13.9	-1.5 (22)	7.3	7.6	8.0	53.4	9.0 (27)	69.0
)13					(5; 9; 10)							
20	November	6.7						40.1			16.6 (4)	
	September	13.1	13.1	11.2	22.3 (12)	6.2 (28)	12.5	12.1	54.1	0.6	21.0 (13)	66.8
	October	8.6	7.2	1.4	11.7	-2.0 (23)	5.7	44.5	35.8	12.4	20.0 (9)	92.7
017					(10;16;17))						
ы	November	2.8						3.0			2.0 (7)	
	September	18.0	14.9	10.6	27.0 (7)	1.1 (29)	14.5	10.6	38.6	19.8	14.0 (26)	69.0
)18	October	8.0	10.9	3.4	19.1 (15)	-3.0 (30)	7.4	16.1	0.2	10.5	5.0 (5)	26.8
З	November	6.0						0.4				

Table 1. Selected meteorological data characterizing the years of research

RESULTS

The characteristics of bird-cherry samples included the duration of vegetation phases, location of buds on the shoot, bud length and leaf area from the middle of the branch and the presence of underbrush (Table 2–3).

Table 2. Characteristics of the bird-cherry samples

Sample	Vegetation	Location of buds on	Bud length, mm*	Leaf area (cm ²)**	Presence of	
-	times	the shoot	the shoot from the middle of the shoot			
Padus avium x	late ripening	prone	10.1 ± 0.04 (a)	155.7 ± 7.3 (c)	lack	
P. virginiana	(4-14 days later))				
P. avium	mid ripening	erect	9.2 ± 0.1 (b)	114.9 ± 5.5 (d)	presence	
Note: *- signific	cant difference: t	$= 4.47; p_{0.01} =$	2.85 (a-b); **- s	ignificant differe	nce: $t = 8.37;$	
$p_{0.01} = 2.85$ (c-d).						

We showed that in autumn gynoparae were the first to appear on both bird-cherry specimens, which further produce oviparae larvae. The earliest appearance of gynoparae was noted in the last decade of August, the latest - in early September. Usually males arrive 1-2 weeks later (Table 3) when the first oviparae mature.

R. padi	Date *	p. Padus	Date	
Indicator		Indicator	P. avium	P. avium x P. virginiana
Fundatrices coming	(30.03–15.04) -	The beginning of the	28.03-18.04	4.04-25.04
out of eggs	(14.04 - 21.04)	bud scale separation -		
		appearance of green		
		cones - budding		
The beginning of the	18.04–18.05	White buds -	5.05-10.05	9.05-15.05
founder's reproductions		beginning of flowering	5	
Timeline of	(15.05–10.06) -	Completion of	10.05 - 1.06	17.05-20.06
emigration	(6.06–28.06)	flowering		
Gynoparae	21.08-8.09	Timeline of the	(9.09–24.09) -	(14.09–12.10) -
remigration start		defoliation	(10.10-29.10)	(16.10-6.11)
The beginning of males?	4.09–18.09			
remigration				
Egg appearance	15.09–6.11			

 Table 3. Rhopalosiphum padi (L.) development conjugation with primary hosts (2011–2018)

* Note: brackets – phenoamplitude of the beginning and the end of the period represented in Indicator during years study.

The peak of remigrants (gynoparae and males) flight is usually observed in the second half of September-early October. The eggs appeared from the beginning to the end of defoliation, sometimes several days longer while the oviparae were alive. The formation of all the identified indicators was highly significantly influenced by the characteristics of the host plant, the years of research (excluding the mortality of the fundatrices larvae I–II age), as well as the interaction of both factors (Tables 4, 5).

Table 4. Two-factor analysis (Fisher's test) of number of remigrants, oviparae, eggs and dead fundatrices larvae I–II age in the years (A) and features of the bird-cherry samples (B)

Factor		Remigrants/100 leaves	Ovinarae/100 leaves	Eggs/100 buds	Dead fundatrices
А	В	means \pm SD	means \pm SD	means \pm SD	larvae I–II age, %
	Ъ				means \pm SD
Fac	tor A (years)			
1		74.8 ± 12.6	176.3 ± 43.9	281.5 ± 34.3	28.6 ± 2.3
2		128.1 ± 19.3	383.6 ± 51.8	65.7 ± 6.3	41.5 ± 4.1
3		29.2 ± 4.9	45.1 ± 4.6	87.4 ± 12.9	39.4 ± 4.5
4		47.4 ± 5.6	185.9 ± 17.9	54.0 ± 4.7	40.2 ± 4.2
5		60.5 ± 6.4	179.0 ± 11.3	64.2 ± 7.7	77.9 ± 3.9
6		70.5 ± 12.9	228.3 ± 16.4	47.2 ± 6.1	24.2 ± 2.3
7		8.3 ± 1.1	32.1 ± 39.0	28.5 ± 5.7	
8				10.9 ± 1.7	
Fac	tor B (l	bird-cherry samples)			
	1	81.2 ± 9.6	223.9 ± 27.1	105.2 ± 17.4	$41,4 \pm 4,1$
	2	38.5 ± 3.9	127.6 ± 15.4	54.6 ± 8.6	42.5 ± 3.5
Inte	raction	AB			
1	1	110.4 ± 8.6	300.2 ± 30.8	379.8 ± 16.7	24.6 ± 2.3
1	2	39.2 ± 3.7	52.4 ± 6.1	183.2 ± 13.2	32.7 ± 3.3
2	1	184.0 ± 8.7	514.0 ± 56.1	80.8 ± 5.5	36.3 ± 5.8
2	2	72.2 ± 6.7	253.2 ± 20.1	50.6 ± 5.8	46.7 ± 5.2

Tabl	le 4	(continued)
		\ /

8	2			7.7 ± 1.5	
8	1			14.2 ± 2.2	
7	2	6.4 ± 0.9	23.0 ± 2.8	15.8 ± 3.2	
7	1	10.2 ± 1.7	41.2 ± 4.4	41.1 ± 7.4	
6	2	36.0 ± 4.1	214.6 ± 21.9	30.04 ± 2.8	25.1 ± 3.4
6	1	105.0 ± 12.0	242.0 ± 25.1	64.5 ± 3.3	23.1 ± 3.3
5	2	59.8 ± 8.9	174.0 ± 18.4	46.7 ± 8.7	75.0 ± 5.7
5	1	61.2 ± 10.3	184.0 ± 15.1	81.7 ± 6.3	80.8 ± 5.4
4	2	35.6 ± 4.1	139.8 ± 12.4	43.4 ± 3.7	45.7 ± 5.4
4	1	59.2 ± 7.6	232.0 ± 15.3	64.6 ± 5.6	34.6 ± 5.9
3	2	20.2 ± 6.1	36.2 ± 5.5	60.0 ± 13.3	29.5 ± 3.9
3	1	38.2 ± 5.8	54.0 ± 5.0	114.8 ± 14.2	49.1 ± 5.4
_					

Note: A (1 - 2012, 2 - 2013, 3 - 2014, 4 - 2015, 5 - 2016, 6 - 2017, 7 - 2018, 8 - 2019 years); B $(1 - Padus avium \ge P. virginiana, 2 - P. avium).$

Table 5. Results of two-factor analysis (Fisher's test) of number of remigrants, oviparae, eggs and dead fundatrices larvae I–II age in the years (A) and features of the bird-cherry samples (B)

Factor	Remigrants/100 leafs		Oviparae/100 leafs		Eggs/100 buds		Dead fundatrices larvae I–II age	
	F	р	F	р	F	р	F	р
A	58.149	0	58.505	0	200.42	0	32.072	0
В	127.18	0	68.016	0	142.46	0	0.1505	0.69977
AB	17.405	0	13.003	0	25.612	0	3.1948	0.01436

At the same time, the influence of the host plant on the remigrants and oviparae number during its peak was higher than the dependence on the year. It was noted that the

number of R. padi eggs were most influenced by both factors and their interaction. The influence of the bird-cherry sample on the remigrants number (Table 4-5) may be caused by leaf area. The lager leaves of the hybrid (Table 2) attracted aphids more strongly than the leaves of P. avium. It was shown that the number of eggs was determined by the timing of the leaf fall end. Late leaf fall was more favorable for oviparae oviposition on both bird-cherry samples (Fig. 1–2). On P. avium x P. virginiana buds, oviparae have always laid more eggs than on *P. avium*.

In general, later leaf fall on *P. avium* x *P. virginiana* (16.10–6.11) than on *P. avium* (10–25.10)



Figure 1. Correlation between the duration of leaf fall on *P. avium* and *R. padi* laid eggs.

was leading to lager eggs on first sample (Table 4–5). In particular, autumn 2011 was characterized by a very late leaf fall (up to 6.11), which resulted in the maximum of eggs

in spring 2012. Egg numbers declined in subsequent years. We determined the dependence between the average daily temperatures for October and the number of eggs (Fig. 3).

In 2012–2017, the number of laid eggs was significantly higher near each populated prone and longer P. avium x P. virginiana buds (Table 2), than near erected and shorter P. avium ones $(4.3 \pm$ 0.91 and 2.05 ± 0.44 eggs/populated bud, respectively: t = 2.47; $p_{0.05} =$ 2.45). After 2012, the number of aphid eggs decreased and was the lowest in 2017-2018 (Table 4). Possible reasons could include a lot of spiders (up to 20 individuals/100 shoots in autumn 2013-2014), as well as urbanization. Over the research years in spring, eggs generally died to a greater extent near buds erect from shoots than those prone $(14.5 \pm 1.4 \text{ and}$ 7.8 ± 1.2 respectively t = 3.72; $p_{0.01} = 3.50$).

However, in 2017, when the amount of April precipitation was 87.1 mm - 278% of the norm (Reference and information portal 'Weather and Climate'), the number of dead eggs along prone buds was higher $(7.9 \pm 0.3 \text{ and } 0.61 \pm 0.13)$ respectively t = 12.42; $p_{0.001} = 5.96$) due their soaking. to The fundatrices fundatrices hatch from their eggs and future fate were largely determined by the conjugation of insect development with the host plant phenology (Table 3). Vegetation of *P. avium* is



Figure 2. Correlation between the duration of leaf fall on *P. avium* x *P. virginiana* and *R. padi* laid eggs.

Scatterplot of eggs against temperature from October Spreadsheet1 10v 13c



Figure 3. Correlation between the average temperature from October and *R. padi* eggs number on *P. avium*.

known to begin at temperatures above 0 °C, and *P. virginiana* - at +5.2 °C (Kishchenko, 2017). In hybrids, the threshold temperature can vary, but is always higher than that of *P. avium*. The threshold temperature for the development of *R. padi* is considered +4.5°

(Bokina, 2009). The first fundatricesfundatrices' larvae may massively die if they hatch from eggs before the appearance of green cones and budding on *P. avium* x *P. virginiana*, as happened in 2014. (Fig. 4).

High mortality of younger fundatrices larvae on *P. avium* x *P. virginiana* in 2017–2018 was associated with low temperatures, excessive precipitation in April and delayed budding, which is essential not only for feeding, but also for the fundatrices larvae shelter. In 2015–2016, fundatrices larvae on *P. avium* survived to a lesser extent. fundatrices.

The ambiguous influence of the bird-cherry sample on the death of fundatrices larvae in different years became the reason for its statistical insignificancy (Table 5).

The fundatrices reproduction beginning and the increase in the colonies' population coincides with the phase of 'white buds' and

Year (1 - 2012; 2 - 2013; 3 - 2014; 4 - 2015; 5 - 2016; 6-2017; 7-2018; 8-2019 years)*(1-P.a. x P.v; 2-P.a.) Current effect: F(5.48) = 3.1948; p = 0.1436 Hypothesis composition Vertical columns are 0.95 of confidence intervals 100 90 % 80 Mortality of younger fundatrices, 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 2 5 1 3 4 6 Year factor (1 - 2012, 2 - 2013, 3 - 2014, 4 - 2015, 5 - 2016, 6-2017, 7-2018, 8-2019 years) bird-cherry species factor (1 – P. avium x P. virginiana, 2 – P. avium) 1 bird-cherry species factor (1 - P. avium x P. virginiana, 2 - P. avium) 2

Figure 4. Number (%) of dead fundatrices larvae I–II age *Rhopalosiphum padi* (L.).

the beginning of bird-cherry flowering. The duration and intensity of emigration is largely determined by the timing of the host's flowering (Table 3). As a rule, the emigrants flight began in the second half of May and ended in the first decade of June. The deadline for the end of emigration was marked in 2017 and was associated with weather conditions (see above). The duration of emigrants' flight in different years was 17–39 days. With the end of flowering, aphids leave bird-cherry, although they can reproduce throught the season on the underbrush.

DISCUSSION

Heterecia (seasonal change of host) in aphids life cycles developed in the process of long-term joint phylogenesis with plants. In the typical case, trees or shrubs were more ancient (primary), secondary - grasses (Shaposhnikov, 1987; Williams & Dixon, 2007) very systematically distant from each other plants. According to the modern classification, they are often included not only in different orders, but also classes (APG III, 2009). Heterecia includes spring aphids' emigration to grasses and autumn remigration to the primary host - the only one on which the first overwintered generation (fundatrices) can survive. It can be assumed that the ability of woody plants to survive from year to year in mass aphids breeding conditions is the result of prolonged strict selection accompanied by their self-protection formation (Aphids on the world's plants. An online identification and information guide). The basis for selection was trophic relationships of hosts and phytophages. Aphids are characterized by feeding in areas of inflow or outflow of assimilates, i.e. on growing or aging plants (Dixon, 1998). Thus, the very emergence of heterecia is associated with the onset of a period unfavorable for aphids feeding, when active seasonal growth of the woody host ends. On the contrary, aphids' autumn remigration coincides with the period of leaf life end. To have time to lay their eggs, aphids begin to leave the grasses long before the defoliation start. The limited range of primary hosts, their large size, distance from grasses, clonal differences in the timing of remigrations in aphids contribute to sexes meeting and prevent inbreeding. Often, remigrants guided by the smell of plant leaves. It was no coincidence that the large leaves of *P. avium* x *P. virginiana* were more attractive to gynoparae than the smaller ones - P. avium. Males appeared later. It is assumed that they are also guided by oviparae pheromones and volatile substances associated with aphid aggregation (Pickett & Glinwood, 2007). Other authors note variants where R. padi males appear earlier than gynoparae and may be attracted only by the plant (Austin et al., 1996). However, early appearance of males is not biologically justified, as the preimaginal period in oviparae is 7-11 days, and life expectancy from 19 to 47 days is enough for the sexes to meet (Vereschagina & Gandrabur, 2016). Oviparae have been shown to be able to anticipate defoliation and migrate in time (Glinwood et al., 2003), but they cannot control windy weather and massively fall with leaves, especially on *P. avium* with early growing terms.

Long prone buds on hybrid shoots are also more favorable for laying eggs as eggs are laid along the buds. The overall decline in egg numbers over the years of research may have occurred not only due to rapid defoliation due to cold and windy weather, but also the abundance of entomophages, especially spiders, elimination of habitats of aphids agrestic hosts as a result of large-scale construction, increase of the power lines length, placement of cell towers, as well as other external and intra-population factors.

In the spring, the fundatrices fundatrices hatch from eggs before budding leads to high larvae mortality of younger larvaeas we observed on the late ripe P. avium x P. virginiana. Hence, it is necessary to clarify the forecast of the pest population based on the number of eggs without considering the death of the overwintered generation. The fundatrices begin reproduction with the appearance of white buds on bird-cherry, by mass flowering the colonies population rapidly increases, the first emigrants appear. Simultaneously with the end of flowering, bird-cherry ends active growth of leaves and inflorescences (Kishchenko, 2017), the decrease in the flow of assimilates to available feeding places combined with the high number of aphids cause them to complete emigration. It is possible that the damaged bird-cherry may release substances that contribute to aphids' emigration (Pickett & Glinwood, 2007), but insects did not move to intact leaves or between trees during the flowering phase. Late and prolonged birdcherry flowering increases the duration of the aphids' flight, as at this time aphids feed mainly on inflorescences as we observed on both bird-cherry specimens. Due to different reactivity of plants and insects on global climatic changes there are significant disturbances in the conjugation of their phenologies. The likely adverse effects of such disturbances can be reduced by revising the pest monitoring methods and the use of resistant plants.

CONCLUSION

Based on long-term comparative study on the development of *R. padi* on *P. avium* and *P. avium* x *P. virginiana*, characterized by different morpho-physiological features (statistically established), it was shown that later vegetation onset, rapid passage of

vulnerable development phases (before flowering end), early leaf fall, as well as lack of underbrush, buds erection from the shoot, small laminas deter reproduction of aphids on the bird-cherry.

REFERENCES

- APG III. 2009. An update of the Angiosperm Phylogeny Group classification for the orders and families of flowering plants: APG III. *Bot. J. Linn. Soc.* **161**(2), 105–121. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8339.2009.00996.x
- Aphids on the world's plants. an online identification and information guide. http://www.aphidsonworldsplants.info_(accessed: 05.05.2020).
- Austin, A.B.M., Tatchell, G.M., Harrington, R. & Bale, J.S. 1996. Adaptive significance of changes in morph production during the transition from parthenogenetic to sexual reproduction in the aphid *Rhopalosiphum padi* (Homoptera: Aphididae). *Bulletin of Entomological Research* 86, 93–99.
- Bezmenova, M.D., Sorokopudov, V.N. & Rezanova, T.A. 2010. Some aspects of Padus Mill. birdcherry adaptation in the conditions of Belogorye. *Scientific statements of Ser. Nat. sciences* **15**(86), 12, 66–71.
- Bokina, I.G. 2009. *Cereal aphids and their entomophages in the forest-steppe of Western Siberia*. Novosibirsk, RAAS Sib.dep-t of SNU SibNIIZKhim, 182 pp.
- Dixon, A.F.G. 1998. Aphid Ecology. Chapman and Hall, London, 300 pp.
- Finlay, K.J. & Luck, J.E. 2011. Response of the bird cherry-oat aphid (*Rhopalosiphum padi*) to climate change in relation to its pest status, vectoring potential and function in crop-vector-virus pathosystem. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* **144**, 405–421.
- Glinwood, R., Petterson, J., Ahmed, E., Ninkovic, V., Birkett, M. & Pickett, J. 2003. Change in acceptability of barley plants to aphids after exposure to allelochemicals from couch-grass (Elytrigiar epens). *Journal of Chemical Ecology* **29** (2), 261–274.
- Harrington, R., Clark, S.J., Welham, S.J., Verrier, P.J., Denholm, C.H., Maurice, D., Rounsevel, M.D. & Cocu, N. 2007. Environmental change and the phenology of European aphids. *Global Change Biology* 13, 15501564.
- Kishchenko, I.T. 2017. Development of introduced species Padus Mill (Rosaceae Adans.) in South Karelia. *Arctic Environmental Research* **17**(1), 30–40.
- Pickett, J.A. & Glinwood, R.T. 2007. Chemical Ecology Ch.9. Aphids as crop pests; eds. van H.F. Emden, R. Harrington. Wallingford: CABI, pp. 235–260.
- Reference and information portal 'Weather and Climate'. http://www.pogodaiklimat.ru (Access: 05.05.2020)
- Simagin, V.S. & Lokteva, A.V. 2012. The main decorative properties of birdcherries and their genetic sources. *Bulletin of Altai State Agrarian University* **9**(95), pp. 61–65.
- Simagin, V.S. & Lokteva, A.V. 2015. Bird cherry selection as an ornamental culture for north and east of Russia. *Fruit and viticulture of the South of Russia* **36**(06), 1–14.
- Shaposhnikov, G.Ch. 1987. Evolution of Aphids in Relation to Evolution of Plants. A.K. Minks, P. Harrewijn (Eds.) *Aphids: Their Biology, natural Enemies and Control.* Amsterdam: Elsevier, V. A. P., pp. 409–414.
- Williams, I.S. & Dixon, A.F.G. 2007. *Life Cycles and Polymorphism*. In Book Aphids as a Crop Pests. van Emden H.F. and Harrington R.(eds.) CABI, Wallingford, United Kingdom, pp. 69–85.
- Vereschagina, A.B & Gandrabur, E.S. 2016. Variability clones development parameters of bird cherry-oat aphid *Rhopalosiphum padi* (L.) (Homoptera, Aphididae) during life cycle as genotypic adaptations of this species. *Entomological review* 96(8), 983–996.

Evaluation of soil properties, irrigation and solid waste application levels on Cu and Zn uptake by industrial hemp

E.E. Golia^{1,*}, A. Angelaki¹, K.D. Giannoulis¹, E. Skoufogianni¹, D. Bartzialis¹, Ch. Cavalaris¹ and S. Vleioras²

¹University of Thessaly, School of Agriculture Crop Production and Agricultural Environment, Fytokou Street, N. Ionia, GR38 446 Magnesia, Greece ²Regional Centre of Quality Control and Plant Protection of Magnesia, Laboratory of Quality Control, Torousia & Nikolaidi, Pedion Areos, GR38334 Volos, Greece *Correspondence: egol@uth.gr

Received: January 11st, 2021; Accepted: March 22nd, 2021; Published: March 26th, 2021

Abstract. A three-year experiment was performed to study the alteration of copper and zinc levels in industrial hemp grown in different soils using elevated sewage slurry solid waste applications. Two soil samples, an acidic and an alkaline one, with different soil properties, such as percentage of $CaCO_3$ and cation exchange capacity values, were used. Three treatments of waste solid with provided elevated concentrations of Cu and Zn were combined with two irrigation levels. The application of high doses of the solid residue as well as high irrigation level lead to an increase of the mobility of metals in hemp leaves in acidic soil in contrast to alkaline. On the contrary, in alkaline soil along with a reduced irrigation level, there is a decrease in the mobility of Cu and therefore its accumulation in the roots or stems was observed. Concluding, hemp seem to be a promising plant remediator, after the application of the proper irrigation level and taking into account the physico-chemical soil properties of moderately contaminated (with copper and zinc) soils.

Key words: Heavy metals, Cannabis sativa, sewage sludge, phytoremediation.

INTRODUCTION

Industrial hemp (*Cannabis sativa subsp. Sativa*) is an annual herb cultivated for versatile industrial purposes such as the production of natural constructive and insulating materials from the fibres or making paints, varnishes and soaps from the oil contained in seeds. Industrial hemp seeds, high in protein and oil, are also edible and are considered a healthy food supplement (Wogiatzi et al., 2019). Industrial hemp has also outstanding features like high biomass yield in relatively short time, biomass of high calorific value and low input requirements making it suitable as an energy crop (Kolarikova et al., 2015).

During the last decades heavy metal contamination of agricultural soils is one of the most important environmental problems (Kabata-Pendias, 2011; Alloway, 2013; Murtic et al., 2019). Heavy metal present and persistance nature may have dangerous effects on wild life and human life as well (Craven et al., 2019). On the other hand, phytoremediation technologies (such as phytostabilization, phytodegradation, phytoextraction and phytovolatilization) use plants and wild trees to ameliorate contaminated soils (Citterio et al., 2003; Murtic et al., 2019). Industrial hemp could be a potential soil phytoremediation agent, as it is a tall plant with about one-meter-deep roots that grows fast and easily in dense stands, with high biomass production potential and extracts heavy metals (Moghaddam et al., 2020).

Sewage sludge is a solid waste by-product obtained from urban and industrial wastewater treatment plants. Traditionally it is disposed on landfills either as raw material or after incineration. Its high nutrient concentration (N, P, S, Fe, Mg and Ca) however, evoked the challenge to use it as an agricultural amendment to improve soil fertility and soil structure (Breda et al., 2020). Sewage sludge however, contains also potentially toxic compounds, such as heavy metals and persistent organic pollutants. Long term use as a soil amendment may impose serious risks of heavy metal soil contamination (Singh & Agrawal, 2008; Praspaliauskasa et al., 2020). The application of sewage sludge, produced by the municipality of Volos and Almyros, in industrial hemp plants cultivation, may be a good and cheap alternative to the fertilizer's application improving soil quality (Lazdina et al., 2011; Zielonka et al., 2020).

Moreover, there is a lack of knowledge regarding industrial hemp mechanisms for accumulation and tolerance to high or moderate contaminant concentrations in the soil (Safari Singani & Ahmadi, 2012; Zerihun et al., 2015). Futhermore, it is well known that industrial hemp is a crop with high water demands and irrigation is essential in low rainfall environments such as southern Europe (Amaducci et al., 2015). Irrigation regimes play an important role in heavy metals mobility into the soil enhancing their leaching to grounwaters (Haykiri-Acma et al., 2011; Ahmad et al., 2018; Azouzi et al., 2019). Soil moisture levels along with pH and organic matter values are crucial in accumulation of heavy metals (Stafford et al., 2018). Enhanced heavy metal absorption was noticed under alternate irrigation (wetting and drying) by Song et al., 2021, while metal absorption by plants is increased under ample soil water regimes (Angle et al., 2003; Marchiol et al., 2007; Wogiatzi et al., 2019).

The aim of the present study was to evaluate the ability of industrial hemp to extract copper and zinc from different soil types, dressed with different doses of manucipalty sewage sludge and therefore, achieving different concentrations of the heavy metals. The effect of the soil water regime was also considered by introducing two alternative irrigation treatments.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The experiment was conducted at the farm of University of Thessaly from 2018–2020. The farm is located near the Athens-Thessaloniki National Road, in the area of Velestino, Magnesia (39° 23' 44" N, 22° 45' 26" E), at an altitude of 70 m above sea level and covers an area of 15 hectares. First seeding took place in April 2018 applying industrial hemp (*Cannabis sativa subsp. sativa*) seed cultivar 'Futura 75'. Due to the non-uniform emergence in few experimental plots and in order to achieve the same population in all plots, the plants were diluted to a population of approximately 90 plants m⁻². The mature plants were harvested about 16 weeks later, with an average stem height of 125 cm. Soil 1 (S1) is the native of the farm, while for soil 2 (S2) a mixture of farm soil with soil

collected from cultivated fields at the immediate vicinity of the industrial area of Volos was used in 1:3 ratios. The waste solid residue is part of the sludge obtained by the local Biological Treatment Industry (Municipality of Volos and Almyros). The plant operates around 30,000 m³ per day of raw sewage which undergoes primary physical, biological and chemical treatments including screening, thickening, dewatering, anaerobic and aerobic digestion alkaline stabilization and composting that led to a stabilized solid waste with around 90% of solids (Gudulas et al., 2007). The solid waste analyzed for its chemical, physical properties and the results are presented in Table 1. The solid waste was incorporated into the experimental plots by means of a rotary cultivator.

A uniform sprinkler irrigation was applied to all the plots immediately after sowing to facilitate crop emergence. Thereafter, a drip irrigation system was established. Drip pipes with drips at 40 cm and a capacity of 2 L h⁻¹ were placed every second crop row. The pipe network was divided into two subnetworks to fulfil the needs of the experiment. The evapotranspiration (ET_f) was measured using Thornthwaite method, while field capacity, permanent wilting point, available soil moisture and critical soil moisture was calculated (Zhang et al., 2020). The above data were used to calculate the irrigation dose, while the field soil moisture was measured using TDR. When soil moisture reached critical soil moisture, an irrigation event was planned. Mean ET_f value in the farm was 435 mm. Six to eight irrigation events were performed each year, depending on the weather conditions. Totally, for the 100% ET_f treatment, 320 mm of irrigation water were applied in 2018, 450 mm in 2019 and 450 mm in 2020, while total seasonal precipitation was 262.2 mm, 108.2 mm and 108 mm respectively. Half of these doses were applied on the 50% ET_f treatment.

Three treatments of solid waste disposal ($W_1 = 3.5 \text{ kg m}^2$, $W_2 = 7 \text{ kg m}^2$ and $W_3 = 10 \text{ kg m}^2$ incorporated 21.8, 43.8 and 62.5 kg per plot in each treatment, respectively) providing elevated concentrations of Cu and Zn were combined with two irrigation levels (($I_1 = 50\% \text{ ET}_f$ and $I_2 = 100\% \text{ ET}_f$) over two soil types ($S_1 = \text{alkaline}$, $S_2 = \text{acidic}$). Two more treatments, one for each soil type, received 100% ET_f irrigation but no solid waste disposal and used as a control (C). As a result, a total of $3 \times 2 \times 2 + 2 = 14$ treatments were founded and arranged in a complete randomized block design with three side by side replications. The plot size was 6.25 m² (2.5 × 52.5 m wide; 10 rows per plot and 56 plants per row) with a total area of the experiment including corridors and margins, of 0.04 ha. All the treatments were conducted in three replicates.

During harvest period (16 weeks after emergence), 20 plants were uprooted from the inner plot in case to avoid the border effect. Thereafter to separate the root system from the soil, the root was placed in aqueous sodium polymethosphate solution for five days for structure dissolving. Then the soil was rinsed with plenty of water and finally only the root system remained. After harvest, a partitioning of the plants took place and hemp parts were placed in a dry chamber at 50 °C until a constant weight was reached. Soil samples were collected, dried and both soil and hemp parts were analysed for Cu and Zn. Soil samples were analysed (Page et al., 1982) for: pH and electrical conductivity (EC) (1:2.5 H₂O), organic matter (Walkley and Black method), and cation exchange capacity (CEC, 1M CH₃COONH₄, pH7). The CaCO₃ (%) was determined using the Bernard method. Soil and hemp samples were mineralised with 3 mL of concentrated HNO₃, 3 mL of HF and 1 mL of HCl at 750 Watt, 6 MPa, in a microwave digestion system (JAOAC 1984). The analysis of the extractants prepared from the soil, roots, stems and leaves samples were performed using an ICP-OES (Inductively Coupled Plasma - Optical Emission Spectrometry) (Thermo Scientific). Determinations in each of the analysed samples were carried out in three replications. For the data acquisition of the samples, a quantitative analysis mode was used. Certified material to test the analytical method (NIST 1573a, tomato leaves) was used.

A One-way Anova was applied to analyze the data using the SPSS-v26 suite. The LSD and Tuckey's test (p < 0.05) were applied for post-hoc analysis and mean separation. Graphs were built on Microsoft Excel.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Table 1 shows the physico-chemical composition of the two soil samples as well as the waste solid used in the study. The soil sample of the university farm characterized as clayloam and has a pH value 7.6 (Soil 1), while soil 2 has a pH value of 5.9. The content of organic matter is rather low in both soils, a characteristic property of Greek soils that have undergone long-term tillage. Soil 1 has a low CaCO₃ content, while in soil 2 there was no CaCO₃ detected. The Cation Exchange Capacity (CEC) and clay content is higher in the 1st soil sample.

Table 1. Chemical, physical properties and Cu and Zn concentrations of control soil samples and waste solid

Treatments	Soil 1	Soil 2	Waste solid
pH (1:2.5)	7.6 ± 0.2	5.9 ± 0.3	8.4 ± 0.1
Organic matter (OM) (%)	1.6 ± 0.1	1.7 ± 0.2	24 ± 1.1
Bulk specific gravity (g cm ⁻³)	1.3 ± 0.3	1.2 ± 0.4	2.3 ± 0.2
$CaCO_3$ (%)	4.8 ± 0.4	ND	9.3 ± 0.3
CEC (cmol _c kg ⁻¹ soil)	29 ± 0.5	21 ± 0.2	52 ± 0.5
Total Cu (mg kg ⁻¹ dry soil-dry matter*)	4.3 ± 0.5	3.5 ± 0.3	$67.4 \pm 1.2*$
Total Zn (mg kg ⁻¹ dry soil-dry matter*)	5.2 ± 0.7	4.5 ± 0.4	$75.8 \pm 2.1*$

(n = 9; mean of the three years of the study \pm RSD is reported; ND: not detected).

The analysis of variance showed no significant differences among the years so the average values are presented. Waste solid application dose has a significant (p < 0.05) effect on the heavy metals concentrations in the soil, as metal concentrations in the soil increased along with waste solid application dose. The highest increase in heavy metals concentrations after waste solid application was for Cu, while the effect on the Zn concentrations was less pronounced (Table 2).

Table 2. Cu and Zn composition of soils after treatments with waste solid (mean of the three years of the study). (Waste solid doses: 1-3.5, 2-7, 3-10 kg m⁻²)

		Cu	Zn		
Treatments		mg kg ⁻¹ dry soil			
W1: 3.5 kg m ⁻²	Soil 1	8.6 ± 0.9	10.2 ± 1.1		
W2: 7 kg m ⁻²	Soil 1	19.9 ± 1.3	22.4 ± 1.4		
W3:10 kg m ⁻²	Soil 1	31.9 ± 2.4	35.2 ± 2.1		
W1: 3.5 kg m ⁻²	Soil 2	8.3 ± 1.2	9.1 ± 2.1		
W2: 7 kg m ⁻²	Soil 2	17.3 ± 0.9	19.3 ± 0.8		
W3:10 kg m ⁻²	Soil 2	29.2 ± 1.4	32.4 ± 1.3		
EU limits (86/278/EEC Direc	tive)	70-140	300		
(Council European Communities, 1986)					

Copper and Zinc concentrations range at trace levels lower than the Maximum Allowable Concentrations defined in the European Council Directive 86/278/EEC. Cummulative Cu and Zn uptake by hemp plants during the growth period (four months) is presented in Figs 1 and 2. The increase of Cu reaches at 746.4% while Zn increase is up to 613.7% in regarding control soil 2. Cu and Zn in hemp parts were higher than the initial concentrations (control soils), due to the higher content of these metals in waste solid applied in the soils. It is apparent that industrial hemp absorbs Cu and Zn in roots, stems and leaves as well, in different amounts, with respect to different irrigation levels and waste solid treatments (Wogiatzi et al., 2019). The largest amounts of Cu were accumulated in the roots and stems, while Zn was accumulated in all parts of the industrial hemp and is higher than Cu in all tissues (Moghaddam et al., 2020). In alkaline soil (S_1) (Fig. 1) the retention of both copper and zinc by the solid phase of soil is stronger. This is probably due to the high percentage of clay content and the high value of the Cation Exchange Capacity (CEC) as well. As a consequence, copper concentrations were higher in the roots than in stems or leaves of the plants. On the other hand, zinc seems to be more mobile as higher zinc concentrations were measured both in stems and leaves. Accumulated Zn in hemp was rather equally distributed among the roots, stems and leaves. The highest increase in Zn concentration was detected in leaves, both for $I_2W_3S_1$ (in soil 1, Fig. 1) and $I_2W_3S_2$ (in soil 2, Fig. 2) treatments, 269.6% and 277.6% respectively.



Figure 1. Mean concentrations of Cu (A) and Zn (B) in roots, stems and leaves of industrial hemp after irrigation and solid waste treatments application in alkaline soil S₁ (three years' average values) I₁: 50% ET_{*f*}, I₂: 100% ET_{*f*}, W₁: solid waste 3.5 kg m⁻², W₂: solid waste 7 kg m⁻², W₃: solid waste10 kg m⁻². Vertical lines at top of the bars denote LSD at p < 0.05, different letters 'a', 'b' 'c' e.t.c. denote a significant difference according to the post-hoc Tukey's test at p < 0.05.

In acid soil (S₂) the bioavailability of metals increases. This is shown in Fig. 2, where the concentrations of copper and zinc transferred from soil to plant are higher than in soil 1, despite the fact that the initial metal concentrations do not differ statistically significantly between soil 1 and soil 2 (Table 1 & 2). The increase in Cu concentration in industrial hemp was correlated to waste solid application and irrigation rates as well. The copper concentration gradually increased from 40.7% to 129.6% in the roots compared with the control (Fig. 1). Regardless of Cu low mobility, there was an increase in Cu concentration in the leaves in I_2W_3 treatment, which reached 190.5% up to control

soil 1. The elevated irrigation level (I_2) enchase copper solubility and translocation of copper from soil to the leaves of the plant. Irrigation regimes influences metal mobility, accelerating cations' movement to aerial tissues (Ahmad et al., 2018). The increase of Cu concentration in the stem of the plant is also quite important, regardless the fertilization intensity. Relatively high stem Cu concentrations could be explained by metals translocation via stems (Kabata-Pendias, 2011; Alloway, 2013; Murtic et al., 2019).



Figure 2. Mean concentrations of Cu (A) and Zn (B) in roots, stems and leaves of industrial hemp after irrigation and solid waste treatments application in acidic soil S₂ (three years' average values) I₁: 50% ET_{*f*}, I₂: 100% ET_{*f*}, W₁: solid waste 3.5 kg m⁻², W₂: solid waste 7 kg m⁻², W₃: solid waste10 kg m⁻². Vertical lines at top of the bars denote LSD at p < 0.05, different letters 'a', 'b' 'c' e.t.c. denote a significant difference according to the post-hoc Tukey's test at p < 0.05.

In soil 1 Cu concentation in I_1 treatment follows the order roots>stems>leaves, while in high irrigation treatment (I_2) the order changes to leaves>stem>roots. For Zn the order is leaves>stem>roots, both in acid and alkaline soil regardless the irrigation level applied. The comparison of metals accumulation from waste solids application to soils by energy plants has revealed that Zn accumulation was the highest one (Breda et al., 2020; Praspaliauskasa et al., 2020). The availability of metals in soil is influenced by soil properties, as well as water content (Azouzi et al., 2019). The chemical form of heavy metals in soil significantly affects their translocation in plant parts (Alloway, 2013; Ahmad et al., 2018). Both copper and zinc cations are soluble in soil solution and their mobility increases as the irrigation level rises. The amount of water added in combination with fertilization practices seem to be the key parameter for Zn availability and transportation from soil to plant (leaves) (Lazdina et al., 2011; Wogiatzi et al., 2019). Soil pH along with clay content are considered the most important soil factors determining the concentration of metals in the soil solution, and thus their mobility and availability to plants.

CONCLUSIONS

Concentrations of Cu and Zn in industrial hemp parts (roots, stems and leaves) are significantly affected by soil physico-chemical parameters and especially by soil pH. In the acidic soil and, after the maximum irrigation level application, Zn has sufficiently moved from the soil to the industrial hemp leaves, while when the amount of water was reduced at 50%, higher concentrations of Cu were observed in the roots and stems of the plants. In alkaline soil the mobility was lower and the movement towards the leaves was due to the increase of irrigation water level. The present 3-year study assessed that industrial hemp could be used for phytoextraction purposes of moderately contaminated soils, after controlling the amount of irrigation water added, along with the solid waste levels application.

REFERENCES

- Ahmad, K., Nawaz Zafar, K., Khan, I., Nadeem, M., Wajid, K. Ashfag, A. & Dogan, Y. 2018. Effect of diverse regimes of irrigation on metals accumulation in wheat crop: An assessment - dire need of the day. *Fresenius Environmental Bulletin* 27(2), 846–855.
- Alloway, B.J. 2013. In B. J. Alloway (Ed.), Heavy metals in soils. Trace metals and metalloids in soils and their bioavailability (3rd ed.). London: Blackie Academic and Professional, 177–196.
- Amaducci, S., Scordia, D., Liu, F.H., Zhang, Q., Guo, H., Testa, G. & Cosentino, S.L. 2015. Key cultivation techniques for hemp in Europe and China. *Industrial Crops and Prod*ucts 68, 2–16.
- Angle, J.S., Baker, A.J.M., Whiting, S.N. & Chaney, R.L. 2003. Soil moisture effects on uptake of metals by Thlaspi, Alyssum, and Berkheya. *Plant Soil* 256, 325–332.
- Azouzi, R., Charef, A., Ayed, L. & Khadahr, S. 2019. Effect of Water Quality on Heavy Metal Redistribution and Mobility in Polluted Agricultural Soils in a Semi-Arid Region. *Pedosphere* 29, 730–739.
- Breda, C.C., Soares, M.B., Tavanti, R.F.R., Viana, D.G., Freddi, O. da S., Piedade, A.R., Mahl, D., Traballi, R.C. & Guerrini, I.A. 2020. Successive sewage sludge fertilization: Recycling for sustainable agriculture. *Waste Management* 109, 38–50.
- Citterio, S., Santagostino, A., Fumagalli, P., Prato, N., Ranalli, P. & Sgorbati, S. 2003. Heavy metal tolerance and accumulation of Cd, Cr and Ni by *Cannabis sativa* L. *Plant and Soil* **256**, 243–252.
- Council of the European Communities. 1986. The Protection of the Environment, and in Particular of the Soil, When Sewage Sludge is Used in Agriculture. Council Directive of 12 June 1986. *Official Journal of the European Communities* No L **181**, pp. 6.
- Craven, C.B., Wawryk, N., Jiang, P., Liu, Z. & Li, XF. 2019. Pesticides and trace elements in cannabis: Analytical and environmental challenges and opportunities. *Journal of Environmental Sciences* **85**, 82–93.
- Gudulas, K., Michailidou-Notara, P., Notaras, E., Papadimitriou, C. & Samaras, P. 2007. Management of Sludge from Municipal Wastewater Treatment Plants in the Regions of Thessaly and West Macedonia, Greece. *Proceedings of International Conference of Environmental Management and Engineering Planing Economics*, pp. 1249–1254.
- Haykiri-Acma, H., Yaman, S., Ozbek, N. & Kucukbayrak, S. 2011. Mobilization of some trace elements from ashes of Turkish lignites in rain water. *Fuel* **90**, 3447–3455.
- JAOAC. 1984. *Official method of analysis*. 14th Ed. Sidney Williams. Association of official chemists, Inc. Virginia, USA, 201–212.

- Kabata-Pendias, A. 2011. *Trace Elements in Soils and Plants*. 4th edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton., 548 pp.
- Kolarikova, M., Ivanova, T., Hutla, P. & Havrland, B. 2015. Economic evaluation of hemp (Cannabis sativa) grown for energy purposes (briquettes) in the Czech Republic. *Agronomy Research* **13**(2), 328–336.
- Lazdina, D., Bardule, A., Lazdins, A. & Stola, J. 2011. Use of waste water sludge and wood ash as fertiliser for Salix cultivation in acid peat soils. *Agronomy Research* 9(1–2), 305–314.
- Marchiol, L., Fellet, G., Perosa, D. & Zerbi, G. 2007. Removal of trace metals by Sorghum bicolor and Helianthus annuus in a site polluted by industrial wastes: A field experience. *Plant Physiology and Biochemistry* **45**, 379–387.
- Moghaddam, M., Mehdizadeh, L. & Sharifi, Z. 2020. Macro- and microelement content and health risk assessment of heavy metals in various herbs of Iran. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 27, 12320–12331.
- Murtic, S., Jurkovic, J., Basic, E. & Hekic, E. 2019. Assessment of wild plants for phytoremediation of heavy metalsin soils surrounding the thermal power station. *Agronomy Research* **17**(1), 234–244.
- Page, A.L., Miller, R.H. & Keeney, D.R. 1982. Eds., Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 2, Chemical and Microbiological Properties. *Agronomy Monograph Number* 9, Soil Science Society of America, Madison, pp. 199–224.
- Praspaliauskasa, M., Žaltauskaitėb, J., Pedišiusa, N. & Striūgasc, N. 2020. Comprehensive evaluation of sewage sludge and sewage sludge char soil amendment impact on the industrial hemp growth performance and heavy metal accumulation. *Industrial Crops* &*Products* **150**, 112396.
- Safari Singani, A.A. & Ahmadi, P. 2012. Manure Application and Cannabis Cultivation Influence on Speciation of Lead and Cadmium by Selective Sequential Extraction. *Soil and Sediment Contamination: An International Journal* **21**(3), 305–321.
- Singh, R.P. & Agrawal, M. 2008. Potential benefits and risks of land application of sewage sludge. *Waste Management* 28, 347–358.
- Song, T., Das, D., Hu, Q., Yang, F & Zhang, J. 2021. Alternate wetting and drying irrigation and phosphorus rates affect grain yield and quality and heavy metal accumulation in rice. *Science of the Total Environment*. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.141862
- Stafford, A., Jeyakumar, P., Hedley, M., Anderson, C. 2018. Influence of Soil Moisture Status on Soil Cadmium Phytoavailability and Accumulation in Plantain (Plantago lanceolata) *Soil Syst* 2, 9 doi:10.3390/soils2010009
- Wogiatzi, E., Gougoulias, N., Giannoulis, K.D. & Kamvoukoy, Ch.A. 2019. Effect of Irrigation and Fertilization Levels on Mineral Composition of *Cannabis sativa* L. Leaves. *Not Bot Horti Agrobo* 47(4), 1073–1080.
- Zerihun, A., Chandravanshi, B.S., Debebe, A. & Mehari, B. 2015. Levels of selected metals in leaves of *Cannabis sativa* L. cultivated in Ethiopia. *Springer Plus* **4**, 359.
- Zielonka, D., Szulc, W., Skowronska, M., Rutkowska, B. & Russel, S. 2020. Hemp-Based Phytoaccumulation of Heavy Metals from Municipal Sewage Sludge and Phosphogypsum Under Field Conditions. *Agronomy* **10**, 907.
- Zhang, F., Geng, M., Wu, Q. & Liang, Y. 2020. Study on the spatial-temporal variation in evapotranspiration in China from 1948 to 2018. *Scientific Reports* **10**, 17139.

Introduced assessment of agrestic legumes in the middle Urals

M.Yu. Karpukhin^{*} and A.V. Abramchuk

Ural State Agrarian University, Karla Libknekhta Str., 42, 620075 Yekaterinburg, Russia *Correspondence: mkarpukhin@yandex.ru

Received: August 19th, 2020; Accepted: November 12th, 2020; Published: December 1st, 2020

Abstract. Currently, in fodder production industry, there is an acute problem of finding legumes that are well adapted to the natural and climatic conditions of the Middle Urals, possessing great longevity, as well as high fodder values. In the Middle Urals, as well as in the Russian Federation, as a whole, legumes valuable for forage from wild vicia and peavine species are still not used in culture. Both of these genuses are of great practical interest for their introduction into culture. They significantly differ from legumes traditionally used in fodder production in a number of parameters: long longevity (7–10 years in natural phytocenoses), resistance to a complex of natural and climatic conditions (rather high winter hardiness), early regrowth in spring. The **purpose of the experiment** is to reveal the characteristics of the growth and development of perennial wild legumes under conditions of introduction. The **tasks of the study** included the determination of the height and average daily growth dynamics, the timing of the passage of phenological phases, and the productivity of aboveground biomass.

Research methods. The study on the introduction of agrestic legumes was carried out in the 'Uralets' educational and experimental farm (2005–2012), located in the Beloyarsky district of the Sverdlovsk region on the educational and experimental field of the crop production and breeding department. The experimental design includes 3 options: 1 opt. - *Vicia sylvatica* L. (forest vicia - control); 2 opt. - *Lathyrus pisiformis* L. (pea-shaped peavine); 3 opt. - *Lathyrus pratensis* L. (meadow peavine). The use of grass stand is single-cut, mowing carried out in the phase of mass flowering of the plants studied. To identify the floristic composition dynamics, a complete geobotanical description of vegetation was carried out. The following botanical composition was distinguished: introduced (cenose-forming) species: *Vicia sylvatica* L., *Lathyrus pisiformis* L., *Lathyrus pratensis* L.; non-seeded species - this group includes all wild-growing species (grasses and forbs) that have invaded the vegetation cover.

Results. During the study it was established that the earliest regrowth is characteristic of pea-shaped peavine, it significantly outpaced other types of legumes in its development. The different phyto-cenotic stability of the cenose-forming species in the grass stand was discovered, the highest observed in the meadow peavine.

The productivity of aboveground biomass in meadow peavine (by year of study) was significantly higher than in other studied species; on average for 2006–2012 it amounted to 15.3 t ha⁻¹, which is 1.9 t ha⁻¹ higher than forest vicia and 4.6 t ha⁻¹ more than pea-shaped peavine. Scientific novelty. For the first time, in the conditions of the Middle Urals, the growth and development features of wild perennial species from the family *Fabaceae*: *Vicia sylvatica* L., *Lathyrus pisiformis* L., *Lathyrus pratensis* L., were studied.

Key words: introduction, characteristics of growth and development, forest vicia, pea-shaped peavine, meadow peavine.

Target setting

A balanced fodder base remains the main factor in the development of animal husbandry and the efficiency of agricultural enterprises. Under the conditions of the non-chernozem zone of the Russian Federation, the greatest economic effect in the production of feed is obtained from perennial legumes cultivation, as their energy efficiency coefficient is 2.5–3 times higher than that of cereals and grain forage crops (Belyak, 2008). In addition, perennial legumes are an essential element in the creation of highly productive agrocenosis (hayfields and pastures) (Lazarev et al., 2018; Korsakova et al., 2019). They are excellent precursors for almost all field crops; enrich the soil with organic matter and biological nitrogen; they provide a fairly high productivity yield per area unit and contain native protein (Kalashnikov, 2003; Korsakova et al., 2019).

In the grassland feed industry, the range of legumes used is extremely limited. Mainly in the structure of sowing acreage, clovers (meadow clover, hybrid and their varieties) are common, which differ in a small life expectancy (Kutuzova et al., 2018; Lazarev et al., 2018). Natural and climatic conditions of the Middle Urals are very peculiar. The main factors influencing the climate of the Middle Urals are the large length of the territory from North to South, the meridional direction of the chain of mountains and ridges, the complex rugged terrain adjacent to the mountains, as well as the West-East transport of air masses prevailing over the Urals (Gafurov, 2008). Therefore, in the Middle Urals, in connection with difficult meteorological conditions, as well as in conditions of limited resource provision for the agro-industrial complex, the role of legumes in the feed industry is especially increasing. Most of the newly released varieties have high potential productivity, but under production conditions, due to poor adaptation to natural and climatic conditions, it is less than half realized (Nagibin & Tormozin, 2011; Nagibin et al., 2018). Therefore, the problem of finding legumes with great longevity and high foraging advantages is acute, well adapted to local natural and climatic conditions in the Middle Urals, as well as in the Russian Federation, in whole.

Legumes from wild species of vicia and peavine high-valued in terms of forage are still not used in culture. Both of these species are of great practical interest for introducing them into culture (Abramchuk, 2009; Abramchuk, 2013; Abramchuk, 2014a; Korsakova et al., 2019). Unlike legumes used in forage production, they have a great longevity (7–10 years in natural phytocenoses), resistance to a complex of natural and climatic conditions (rather high winter hardiness), early regrowth in the spring.

In the flora of the Middle Urals, the following perennial agrestic species are common: vicia - sepium, forest, tuberiferous, leptophyllous; peavine - pea-shaped, meadow, Gmelina, etc. The Department of Plant Production and Breeding of the Ural State Agrarian University conducts a multiple-year research on the introduction of agrestic legumes (Belyak, 2008; Abramchuk, 2009; Abramchuk, 2013; Abramchuk, 2014a; Abramchuk, 2014b).

RESEARCH METHODOLOGY AND METHODS

The study on the topic 'Introductory assessment of agrestic legumes in the Middle Urals' was carried out in the educational and experimental farm 'Uralets', located in the Beloyarsky district, Sverdlovsk region. In 2005 (September) we've conducted an experiment establishment, three wild legumes served as the objects of the study: *Vicia*

sylvatica L. (forest vicia); Lathyrus pisiformis L. (pea-shaped peavine); Lathyrus pratensis L. (meadow peavine), widely distributed on the natural anthropogenic landscapes of the Middle Urals. Seeds from local populations collected in similar climatic conditions were used for sowing, in close proximity to the site of the study. Bare fallow was used as a precursor. Before sowing the soil was cultivated and rolled. Depth of seed sowing - 2–3 cm. The area of the plots was 10 m² (2 m × 5 m), the repetition is three times.

The object of the study is to identify the features of the growth and development of perennial wild legumes in crop conditions. Research tasks: determination of the dynamics of height and average daily growth (regularly, once a week, measurements of plant height were carried out); timing of the phenological phases was established visually. To reveal the dynamics of the botanical composition in the studied phytocenoses, a complete geobotanical description of vegetation was carried out, the following botanical composition was distinguished: introduced (cenose-forming) species: Vicia sylvatica L.; Lathyrus pisiformis L., Lathyrus pratensis L.; non-seeded species - this group includes all wild-growing species: cereals and forbs that have penetrated into the vegetation cover. The experiment included three variants distinguished by the cenolate-forming species: 1 opt. - Vicia sylvatica L. (forest vicia) - taken for control; 2 opt. - Lathyrus pisiformis L. (pea-shaped peavine); 3 opt. - Lathyrus pratensis L. (meadow peavine). During all years of study, grass stand was mown once per vegetation, in the mass flowering phase of studied species (2nd decade of July). The care of grass stand in the first four years (2005–2008) after sowing, was reduced to the tillage of space between rows and weeding of undesirable plants, of which the most onerous were: common dandelion, quitch-grass. Since 2009 weeding has been excluded, with only one harrowing performed annually in the phase of spring plant regrowth.

To identify the dynamics of floristic composition in the last year of the experiment (2012), a complete botanical description of vegetation was carried out with indication of abundance on the scale of Drude: sol. - plants are single; sp. - plants are rare; var. 1 - plants are pretty plentiful; var. 2. - plants are abundant; var. 3. - plants are very plentiful. Mathematical processing was carried out according to Dospekhov B.A. (Dospekhov, 2014).

STUDY RESULTS

In the introduction of plants into cultivation, such indicators as dynamics of height and average daily growth, which characterize the growth and development of plants during the growing period, make it possible to predict future harvest. The studied species differed quite significantly in height. At the time of harvesting (the second decade of July) the average height of plants was: forest vicia 88 cm - the highest value obtained in the experiment; meadow peavine - 70 cm; plant height of pea-shaped peavine - 59 cm. The average daily increase varied by accounting dates from 0.4 to 2.1 cm.

The earliest regrowth is noted in pea-shaped peavine, in its development it was significantly ahead of other legume species. For forest vicia, beginning of vegetation coincided with the pea-shaped peavine, but was less active; transition to the generative cycle of development (budding phase) was observed 6–8 days later than in pea-shaped peavine. The meadow peavine is characterized by slower and later regrowth from spring. The budding phase occured 4–6 days later than the forest vicia and 10–13 days later than the pea-shaped peavine. In general, the development of the studied plants went with

different intensity: the earliest growth was observed in pea-shaped peavine, the maximum in its development was noted at the end of the first and beginning of the second decade of June.

One of the tasks facing the experiment was to study the dynamics of floristic composition in phytocenoses of introduced species. During the long period of observation, in the absence of weeding (weeding stopped in 2009), agrestic (non-seeded) species of plants were introduced in the grass stand. In 2012 we carried out a complete description of the vegetation, the following botanical composition was identified: introduced (*cenose-forming*) species: *Lathyrus pisiformis* L., *Lathyrus pratensis* L., *Vicia sylvatica* L.; non-seeded species- all agrestic species are included in this group: cereals introduced into the vegetation cover, such as: *Elytrigia repens* (L.) Nevski., *Poa pratensis* L., *Vicia cracca* L.; the following species are the most widely distributed in the grass stand: *Achillea millefolium* L., *Alchemilla vulgare* L., *Galium boreale* L., *Galium mollugo* L., *Taraxacum officinale* Wigg et al. (Table 1).

	Experiment options (le	egume types)	
Species and	1. opt Vicia	2.opt Lathyrus	3.opt Lathyrus
groups of plants	sylvatica L.	pisiformis L.	pratensis L.
	(forest vicia) - control	(pea-shaped peavine)	(meadow peavine)
Introduced species:			
	Legumes:		
Lathyrus pratensis L.	sp.	sp.	var. 2 - var. 3
Lathyrus pisiformis L.		var. 1 - var. 2	-
Vicia sylvatica L.	var. 2	-	-
Non-seeded species:			
_	Legumes:		
Trifolium pratense L.	sp.	-	sp.
Trifolium repens L.	sp.	sp.	sol.
Vicia cracca L.	sp.	sp.	sp.
	Cereals:		
Elytrigia repens (L.) Nevski.	var. 1 var. 2	var. 2	var. 1
Festuca pratensis L.	var. 1	var. 1	var. 1
Festuca rubra L.	sp.	sp var. 1	sp.
Poa pratensis L.	sp var. 1	var. 1	sp var. 1
Phleum pretense L.	sp var. 1	sp.	sol.
	Herbs:		
Achillea millefolium L.	sp.	sp var. 1	sp.
Alchemilla vulgare L.	sp.	sp.	sp.
Carum carvi L.	sp.	sp.	sol sp
Galium boreale L.	sol.	-	sol sp
Galium mollugo L.	sol.	sol.	sol.
Glechoma hederacea L.	sol.	-	-
Linaria vulgaris Mill.	sol.	sol sp	-
Plantago major L.	sol sp.	sol sp	-
Plantago media L.	sol.	sol.	-
Taraxacum officinale Wigg.	sp var. 1	sp var. 1	sol sp
Total species (pcs.):	20	17	15

Table 1. Floristic composition of studied phytocenoses, 2012

The different phyto-cenotic stability of the cenose-forming species is revealed. During the years of research, *Lathyrus pisiformis* L. was the most vulnerable, instead of 90–95% of the plant cover it had in the first years of observation, in 2012 its participation in the addition of the grass stand did not exceed 27% (var. $_1$ - var. $_2$). This option is characterized by active introduction in phytocenosis of non-seeded agrestic plants: cereals began to take a leading position, accounting for 50.5% of all aboveground phytomass; the role of the dominant moved to quitch-grass (var. $_2$). The admixture of different herbs is significant, the proportion of which was 20.5%, especially active introduction in grass stand was noted in *Achillea millefolium* L. and *Taraxacum officinale* Wigg (abundance - sp. - var. $_1$).

The most tolerant species in the experiment turned out to be meadow peavine (*Lathyrus pratensis* L), for it is characterized by high abundance - var. $_2$ -var. $_3$; in the structure of grass stand, peavine accounts for 54%. This variant has significantly lower participation of non-seeded species: cereals- 31.5%, of which the dominants are *Elytrigia repens* (L.) Nevski. - var. $_1$ and *Festuca pratensis* L. - var. $_1$; the lowest participation in grass stand of different herbs is 11.5%; the proportion of non-seeded legumes does not exceed 2.0%, they are dispersed in the grass stand. Meadow peavine better resists to introduction in grass stand of agrestic plants, has high adaptive potential, is quite frost and drought resistant.

The forest vicia (*Vicia sylvatica* L.) in terms of sustainability in the grass stand has proved itself better than the pea-shaped peavine (*Lathyrus pisiformis* L.) but is significantly inferior in terms of this indicator to meadow peavine (*Lathyrus pratensis* L.). In 2012, the participation of forest vicia in grass stand was 35%, which is 8% higher than *Lathyrus pisiformis* L., but 19.0% lower than *Lathyrus pratensis* L. Quite a high abundance of cereals - 37.5%, of them the following predominate: *Elytrigia repens* (L.) Nevski. - var. 1. - var. 2, *Festuca pratensis* L. - var. 1. Significant admixture of different herbs - 16.5%.

During the harvest period, in the studied species the layer distribution of aboveground biomass on the vertical profile was considered. This indicator allows to determine the structure of the aboveground biomass; uniformity of leaves, inflorescences and fruits arrangement in height; ascertain the proportion of biomass that is concentrated to the height of mowing (0-7) cm) and remains in the meadow after harvest in the form of stubble (the amount of crop losses during mowing).

It is found that pea-shaped peavine has the lowest vertical profile, it includes 5 horizons (Table 2). The largest concentration of biomass is observed in three horizons: 15-30 cm - 30.2%; 30-45 cm - 28.1%; 45-60 cm - 22.2%. They account for 80.5%. The largest mass of leaves is also concentrated in these three horizons, with a maximum of leaves marked in the horizon of 30-45 cm - 14.3%. Inflorescences are located at a height of 45-60 cm, their share accounts for - 1.2%. This species is characterized by a low inflorescence content in biomass - 1.2% and the highest fruit mass - 20.3%.

For meadow peavine, the largest concentration of biomass is concentrated at a height of 15-70 cm, accounting for 82.9%. The participation of leaves in the structure of aboveground biomass was 54.3%, the largest mass of leaves is concentrated in two horizons: 30-45 cm - 14.1%; 45-60 cm - 11.9%. In the lower horizon (0-7 cm) there are only stems - 5.0%.

The highest vertical profile is noted for forest vicia, it includes seven horizons, the top one ends at 75–90 cm.

Experiment options	Aboveground biomass								
(legume types) vertical profile (horizons, cm)									
	plant organs	0–7	7-15	15-30	30–45	45-60	60–75	75–90	
1. opt	leaves	-	5.9	9.7	10.5	10.6	8.8	5.3	
Vicia sylvatica L.	stems	3.7	4.5	4.6	4.1	3.5	3.2	2.3	
(forest vicia) - control	inflorescences	-	-	-	-	-	5.9	6.7	
	fruits	-	-	-	4.6	3.1	1.9	1.1	
2.opt	leaves	-	7.2	13.9	14.3	12.2	-	-	
Lathyrus pisiformis L.	stems	5.5	6.8	7.7	5.8	5.1	-	-	
(pea-shaped peavine)	inflorescences	-	-	-	-	1.2	-	-	
	fruits	-	-	8.6	8.0	3.7	-	-	
3.opt	leaves	-	7.2	10.9	14.1	11.9	10.2	-	
Lathyrus pratensis L.	stems	5.0	4.9	5.1	5.0	3.8	3.1	-	
(meadow peavine)	inflorescences	-	-	2.5	4.0	5.4	3.3	-	
	fruits	-	-	2.3	1.3	-	-	-	

Table 2. Distribution of aboveground biomass of vicia studied species by vertical profile (%), 2012

The distribution of aboveground biomass is more uniform. Leaves mass was 50.8%; fruits - 10.7%; inflorescences - 12.6%. Only stems are in the horizon up to mowing height - 3.7%. The forest vicia by all indicators occupies an intermediate position, there is a high participation of leaves and inflorescences in the structure of aboveground biomass.

The analysis showed that at the time of grass stand mowing, the lowest loss of biomass was observed in forest vicia, which amounted to 3.7%; the highest - in pea-shaped peavine - 5.5%.

When introduced, the productivity of the plant introduced into the cultivation is a priority. From the data shown in Table 3 it is evident that higher productivity was obtained in the first years of the study (2006–2008), there was a decrease in aboveground biomass in subsequent years, which is associated with grass stand being introduced with non-seeded low-productive species, such as: *Achillea millefolium* L., *Alchemilla vulgare* L., *Galium boreale* L., *Galium mollugo* L., *Taraxacum officinale* Wigg etc.

	Green mass								
Options	average for 2006-2008			average for 2009–2012			average for 2006–2012		
of the		deviation			deviati	ion		deviation	
experiment	productivity,	from control,		productivity,	from control,		productivity,	from control,	
(legume types)	t ha ⁻¹	(+, -)		t ha ⁻¹	(+, -)		_t ha ⁻¹	(+, -)	
		t ha ⁻¹	%		t ha ⁻¹	%		t ha ⁻¹	%
1. opt forest	14.9	-	-	11.9	-	-	13.4	-	-
vicia (control)									
2.var pea-	12.3	-2.6	17.4	9.2	-2.7	22.7	10.7	-2.7	20.1
shaped peavine									
3.opt meadow	16.7	+1.8	12.1	13.8	+1.9	16.0	15.3	+1.9	14.2
peavine									
LSD_{05} :	2006	0.95	-	2009	0.68	-	-	-	-
	2007	1.05		2010	0.73				
	2008	1.09		2011	0.81				
				2012	0.75				

Table 3. Productivity of aboveground biomass of perennial legumes (2006–2012)

Quite low productivity was obtained in the pea-shaped peavine (10.7 t ha⁻¹); by the years of research it was significantly lower than in the forest vicia and the pea-shaped peavine. Among the studied species, the best results were provided by meadow peavine, it formed consistently high productivity of aboveground biomass during all years of observations. On average for 2006–2012 productivity amounted to 15.3 t ha⁻¹, which is 1.9 t ha⁻¹ higher than that of forest vicia and 4.6 t ha⁻¹ more than that of pea-shaped peavine. Mathematical processing of the obtained results gives grounds to assert that by the years of research, the productivity of the meadow peavine is significantly higher than that of the forest vicia and the pea-shaped peavine, the deviation from the control significantly exceeds the value of the *LSD*₀₅.

CONCLUSION

The study showed that the studied species vary significantly in the intensity of regrowth - early regrowth from spring is typical of pea-shaped peavine (*Lathyrus pisiformis* L.), later - for meadow peavine (*Lathyrus pratensis* L). Inclusion of these species in the 'green conveyor' (constant feed provision) will provide animals with green feed throughout the whole vegetative season.

Phyto-cenotic stability of studied species has been revealed, the forest vicia (*Vicia sylvatica* L.) in terms of resistance in the herbage has proven itself better than the pea-shaped peavine (*Lathyrus pisiformis* L.), but it is way below in this indicator to the meadow peavine (*Lathyrus pratensis* L.). The most stable species in the experiment is the meadow peavine (*Lathyrus pratensis* L), it accounts for 54% in the structure of herbage, it resists the introduction of wild plants into the herbage much better, has a high adaptive potential, is sufficiently winter-hardy and drought-resistant.

Thus, under the same cultivation conditions, the best results were provided by the meadow peavine, which retained its dominance in the phytocenoses and formed a significantly higher productivity during all the years of observation. On average for 2006–2012 productivity was 15.3 t ha⁻¹, which is 1.9 t ha⁻¹ (14.0%) higher than that of the forest vicia and 4.6 t ha⁻¹ (34.3%) more than that of the pea-shaped peavine.

REFERENCES

- Abramchuk, A.V. 2009. Comparative evaluation of perennial species *Vicia* L. at their introduction. In coll. *Topical issues of vegetable and horticulture. Jubilee readings. Collection of articles of All-Russian Scientific and Practical Conf.*, 257–265.
- Abramchuk, A.V. 2013. Introduction of pea-shaped peavine (*Lathyrus pisiformis* L.). Agrarian education and science **3**, 1–4.
- Abramchuk, A. V. 2014a. Elements of introduction of pea-shaped peavine. *Collection of articles* of the International Scientific&Practical Conf. Ural SAU, pp. 21–23.
- Abramchuk, A.V. 2014b. Stability of perennial agrestic legumes in conditions of introduction. *Collection of articles of the International Scientific&Practical Conf. Ural SAU*, pp. 23–25.
- Belyak, V.B. 2008. *Biologization of agricultural production (theory and practice)*. Penza, 320 pp. (in Russian).

- Dospekhov, B.A. 2014. *Methodology of field experience (with the basics of statistical processing of research results): textbook for higher agricultural educational institutions*. Stereotype. ed., reprinted from the 5th ed., add. and revised Moscow, Alliance, pp. 262–268 (in Russian).
- Gafurov, F.G. 2008. *Soils of the Sverdlovsk region*. Ekaterinburg: Publishing house of Ural University, 396 pp.
- Kalashnikov, A.P., Fisinin, V.I., Shcheglov, V.V. & Kleimenova N.I. 2003. *Rates and rations of feeding farm animals*. Reference manual. Moscow, 456 pp. (in Russian).
- Kutuzova, A.A., Provornaya, E.E. & Tsybenko, N.S. 2018. Efficiency of improved technologies of pasture grass stands creation using new varieties of legumes and agrotechnical techniques. *Feed production* **5**, 7–11.
- Lazarev, N.N., Tyulin, V.A. & Avdeev, S.M. 2018. Stability of creeping trefoil and alfalfa in hay and pasture grass stands under long-term use. *Feed production* **11**, 4–8.
- Nagibin, A.E. & Tormozin, M.A. 2011. Legume herbs the main source of volumetric forage, Niva of Urals, 6(7), 28–29 (in Russian).
- Nagibin, A.E., Tormozin, M.A. & Zyryantseva, A.A. 2018. *Herbs in the system of fodder production in the Urals*. Yekaterinburg, JSC "Uralsky Rabochy", 783 pp. (in Russian). http://urfanic.ru/ru/scientific-activity/publication/monografia_travy_2018/
- Korsakova, S., Plugatar, Y., Ilnitsky, O. & Karpukhin M. 2019. A research on models of the photosynthetic light response curves on the example of evergreen types of plants. *Agronomy research* **17**(2), 518–539.

Morphological and morphometric characteristics of Cornelian Cherry (*Cornus mas* L.) in natural conditions of the Crimean Peninsula

N.A. Kashirina^{1,*}, N.A. Bagrikova², S.N. Zhaldak³, V.S. Pashtetsky¹ and E.N. Drobotova¹

¹Research Institute of Agriculture of Crimea, 150 Kievskaya Str., RU295493 Simferopol, Republic of Crimea, Russian Federation
²Nikita Botanical Gardens – National Scientific Center of RAS, 52 Nikitsky spusk, Nikita Vil., RU298648, Yalta, Republic of Crimea, Russian Federation
³V.I. Vernadsky Crimean Federal University, 4 Prospekt Vernadskogo, RU295007 Simferopol, Republic of Crimea, Russian Federation
*Correspondence: natalia.kashirina.96@mail.ru

Received: July 27th, 2020; Accepted: December 14th, 2020; Published: Yanuary 21th, 2021

Abstract. Cornelian cherry (Cornus mas L.) is a valuable fruit and ornamental plant in the Cornaceae family. This is a promising frost- and drought-resistant crop, undemanding to growing conditions. Fruits and leaves of plants are rich with biologically active substances which allows them to be used in pharmaceutical, food, liquor, and other industries. In the natural non-cultivated communities on the Crimean Peninsula the species is represented by a wide variety of forms that are promising for study from the point of view of botanical and breeding research. There is practically no information in the scientific literature about the characteristics of cornelian cherry for the most common places of its growth on the Crimean Peninsula, regarding the morphobiological features and patterns of development of cornelian cherry plants, which determines the relevance of research. The purpose of this work was to study the intraspecific variability of cornelian cherry plants within natural coenopopulations under varying ecological conditions in the foothill, mountain, and South Coast of the Crimea in order to identify the most promising forms for further breeding research. The results of a three-year study (2017 to 2019) revealed differences in the life form of plants, in the timing of fruit maturation, in the shape and color of the leaf and fruit, and in their metric parameters. Promising forms of plants with the largest fruits (an average weight from 1.65 g to 1.81 g) and a low percentage of endocarp - from 10% to 15% (Form 1 - CP I, CP II, CP V, Form 2 a - CP IV) can be recommended for further breeding research.

Key words: Cornus mas L., coenopopulation, leaf, fruit, metric parameters.

INTRODUCTION

The gene pool of economically valuable plants of scientific and practical interest is enriched by selecting the best forms from natural coenopopulations for use in breeding and applications (Mratinić et al., 2015). Flora of Crimea, according to many authors,
numbers from 2,532 to 2775 species of higher plants growing across the ecological zones of the Crimean Peninsula. Many of them have economic and cultural significance, providing people with food, medicines, fuel, clothing, building materials, and raw materials for production (Yena, 2012; Czerwińska & Melzig 2018). The study of wild plants is a promising direction for understanding the characteristics of the species and the laws of evolution, and is also the basis for conducting selection research (Tarko et al., 2014; Jaćimović & Božović, 2017; Salejdaet al., 2018; Khoury et al., 2019).

In recent years, the problem of extinction of certain species of plants has exacerbated owing to shrinking of their native habitat areas, in connection with changes in the environment due to several factors: deforestation, mowing of herbaceous cover, uncontrolled cattle grazing, invasion by alien species, destruction of ecosystems, climate change, depletion of soil, etc. Therefore, it is important to study wild plants in order to preserve the extant intraspecific diversity and the species as a whole and further to study the most promising forms for the selection purposes (Klimenko, 2007; Koblyakov, 2008; Bijelić, 2015; Szot et al., 2020).

Among the multitude of wild fruit plants, cornelian cherry is very popular and perspective crop - a culture that is little studied across the Crimean Peninsula. It is undemanding to growing conditions, tolerant to low negative temperatures (low as - 35 °C) and drought, because it is able to regulate transpiration by folding leaves into a tube, and is very rarely damaged by pests and pathogens (Cornescu & Cosmulescu, 2017; De Biaggi et al., 2018; Kazimierski et al., 2019). The fruits and leaves of cornelian cherry contain physiologically active substances: organic acids, glucose, fructose, vitamins C, B3, and P, flavonoids, micro-and macronutrients, essential oils, phytoncides, which allows them to be used in pharmaceutical, food, liquor, and other industries (Tarko et al., 2014; Kucharska et al., 2015; Dinda et al., 2016; Hosseinpour-Jaghdani et al., 2017; Adamenko et al., 2018; Salejda et al., 2018; Dumitrașcu et al., 2019). Due to its decorative properties (resistant to pruning, winter-hardy, resistance to industrial pollution, early-flowering), cornel can be used in landscaping and in home gardens alike, in soil-protecting plantings, as well as a medium-forming phytoncide plant (De Biaggi et al., 2018; Dumitrașcu et al., 2018; Dumitrașcu et al., 2019).

Cornelian cherry trees are native in Southern Europe and South west Asia, being spread in many countries such as Turkey, Bulgaria, Romania, Italy as wild fruit trees and are crop due to its resistance in harsh environmental conditions (Klimenko, 2007; Dumitrascu et al., 2019; Ochmian et al., 2019). It cultivated mainly in Central and Southern Europe, in Asia Minor, and in the Caucasus (Cetkovská et al., 2015). In the Ukraine, Bulgaria, Slovakia, Austria, France, Germany, Poland and Turkey a systematic collecting, selecting and breeding program has started in the last years (Klimenko, 2004, 2007). Large plantings are found in Moldova, Rostov, Krasnodar, Stavropol, the Crimea, and the Caucasus (Klimenko et al., 2003; Klimenko, 2007). The Caucasus is one of the world's richest hotbeds of various forms of this plant (Ujukhu, 2006; Tigieva, 2007). In the native of the Crimea cornelian cherry is part of the forest undergrowth, rising to a nelevation of up to 1,200 m above sea level. On the southern macroslope of the Main ridge, it is present in oak and oak-hornbeam forests and forms a belt of juniper-oak forests with separate bushes. A wide variety was observed on the territory of the villages of Sokolinoe, Golubinka, Schastlivoye, Shelkovichnoye, Maloe Sadovoe (Bakhchisarai district), Perevalnove, Petrovka, Novo-Pavlovka (the Simferopol district), Kizilovka, Sinekamenka (the Belogork district) (Klimenko et al., 2003, Klimenko, 2007).

Cornelian cherry is 2–8 m high shrub and tree with a spherical, pyramidal, oval, umbrella-shaped, or spreading crown (Klimenko, 2007; Cetkovská et al., 2015; Czerwińska & Melzig, 2018; Szczepaniak et al., 2019). The plants develop yellow flowers, small, actinomorphic, that are collected in paniculiform, umbel-shaped, or head-shaped inflorescences. The species is also grown as an ornamental plants for its late winter yellow flowers. The fruit is a lower syncarpous drupe with a juicy and fleshy exocarp and a hard endocarp. The color of the fruit varies from bright red to dark red, almost black, oval shaped, 10–30 mm long drupes with a weight of 2–5 g. As a result of selection, varieties with yellow and pink fruits were released (Klimenko, 2007; Cetkovská et al., 2015; Jaćimović et al., 2015; Cornescu & Cosmulescu, 2017; Popović et al., 2017; Adamenko et al., 2018).

The study of the natural gene pool and selection of the most promising forms of cornelian cherry in Russia is carried out in the South of the country, in the Caucasus - in the Republics of North Ossetia-Alania and Adygea, in the Krasnodar Krai (Ujukhu, 2006; Tigieva, 2007; Koblyakov et al., 2008). In the scientific literature there is practically no information about the characteristics of the places of growth and morphobiological features of the development of cornelian cherry plants on the Crimean Peninsula. Rational use of the species is difficult without knowledge of the features of intraspecific variability or the biology of development and fruiting of plants. Therefore, the study of the degree and nature of the form variability of cornelian cherry in natural conditions of growth on the Crimean Peninsula is an urgent and promising direction.

The **purpose of the research** is the study of intraspecific variability of cornelian cherry plants within the coenopopulations of the species in different ecological condition of the Crimea and identification of promising forms for selection research.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Studies on the diversity of cornelian cherry plants in native on the territory of the Crimea in various ecological conditions were conducted in 2017 to 2019: in the Western and Eastern parts of the mountainous and foothill zones on the Northern macroslope of the Main ridge of the Crimean Mountains and on the Southern coast.

The study of coenopopulations was carried out according to standard methods of geobotanical research. The type of forest vegetation was determined according to the typological classification of Crimean forests developed by Posokhov (1971) and supplemented by Plugatar` (2015). The species of plants was determined according to the Keys to Higher Plants of Crimea (Rubtzov, 1972), the names of taxa are given according to the database 'The Plant List' (2013), and 'International Plant Names Index' (2020). Analyzing intraspecific variability, we paid attention to the life form of plants, the variety of fruits and leaves forms. Morphological analysis of fruits and their classification were carried out according to Klimenko (2007).

The sample size depended on the number of plants in the coenopopulation and ranged from 15 to 26 individuals. For morphological analysis, 35 leaves and fruits per tree were selected from the lower, middle, and upper parts of the plant crown in each coenopopulation to remove metric parameters. The biometric data of eight quantitative traits (leaf length, leaf width, fruit weight, fruit length, fruit diameter, endocarp weight, endocarp length, endocarp diameter) were subjected to statistical analyses using the Microsoft Office Excel 2010 and Statistica 10 software package using standard indicators

(arithmetic mean value, standard deviation (SD) and coefficient of variation (Cv). To assess the influence of the interaction of factors, a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used (Lakin, 1990; Lotova, 2001; Dospekhov, 2012).

The first studied coenopopulation of cornelian cherry (CP 1) is located on the Southern Coast of the Crimea in the Ulu-Uzen river valley (near Generalskoe village, near Alushta), on a slope with a gentle slope of 25 to 30° of the Southern right-bank exposure, at an altitude of 250 to 300 m above sea level. The coenopopulation inhabits an area of 0.10 ha, represented by 18 specimens of woody life forms. According to the typological classification of Crimean forests (Posokhov, 1971; Plugatar`, 2015) this coenopopulation is a part of the dry oriental hornbeam sudubrava (C1-ohOd), where the type-forming rock is *Quercus pubescens* Willd. IV growth class, with a tall of no more than 10 m. The community forest stand is composed (0.65). The composition of the shrub layer, in addition to *Cornus mas*, contains *Carpinus orientalis* Mill., *Paliurus spina-christi* Mill., *Juniperus excelsa* M. Bieb., and *Cotinus coqqyqria* Scop. occurs occasionally. The grass cover is dominated by steppe perennial grasses with a projective cover of no more than 25%.

The second coenopopulation of cornelian cherry (CP 2), is located in the western part of Mountainous Crimea, on the northern macroslope eat an altitude of 600 to 650 above sea level in the vicinity of the Nauchny village (Bakhchisaray district). This coenopopulation is represented by 26 plants, with a total area inhabited of 0.25 ha, and is a part of dry hornbeam oakery with *Quercus pubescens* (D₁- ohOd), along the South-Eastern slope of one of the unnamed spurs of Sel-Bukhra mountain, gently descends into a deep gill. The community forest stand is composed (0.7). Both shrubs and tree life forms of *Cornus mas* are found here. The dominant role belongs to *Quercus pubescens* IV–III growth class. The plants does not exceed 12 m. tall of in the first tier, *Fraxinus excelsior subsp. coriariifolia* (Scheele) A.E. Murrey is separately found. In the undergrowth, *Cornus mas*, *Carpinus orientalis*, and *Euonymus europaeus* L. create a weakly expressed shrub layer. The herbaceous cover is sparse, poor in floristic terms, with a projective cover of no more than 20% and is represented by xerophilous grasses and dicotyledonous species.

The third coenopopulation of cornelian cherry (CP 3) is located in the eastern part of Mountainous Crimea, on the northern macroslope of the Main ridge, grows in the area of the Sheitan-Kapu gorge of the Tanasu river valley (the vicinity of Krasnoselovka village (Belogorsky district) at an altitude of 570 m above sea level. The gorge is formed by four tower-like rocks located in pairs on each side of the river up to 50 m high. This coenopopulation, inhabiting an area of about 0.30 ha, is represented by shrub life forms in the number of 22 plants, and is part of fresh hornbeam oakery with *Quercus petraea* (Matt.) Liebl. (D2-hOf), where it forms a section of oak-cornel forest, with a slope of 10 with *Quercus petraea*. The forest stand is closed (0.75 to 0.85). The trees does not exceed 20 m tall. In the community, *Fagus sylvatica* L. is found separately. The second tier contains *Cornus mas* (dominate), *Carpinus betulus* L., *Acer campestre* L. The herbaceous layer is strongly sparse, with a projective cover of no more than 8%, formed by mesoxerophytic dicotyledonous plants.

The fourth coenopopulation of cornelian cherry (CP 4) is located in the eastern part of the foothill zone on the northern macroslope, in the vicinity of the village of Topolevka (Belogorsky district), at an altitude of 480 m above sea level. To the South is Tau-Bashi mountain (772 m), to the North - Kulyaba mountain (521 m), to the West - Kubalach mountain area (768 m). The coenopopulation inhabiting an area of about 0.30 ha, is represented by shrub and tree life forms in the number of 23 plants of cornel, and is part of dry oakery (D1-Od-Of). The forest stand is closed (0.8), clearly defined, formed by two types of oak *Quercus pubescens* and *Quercus petraea* up to 18 m tall. *Cornus mas* along with *Euonymus europaeus, Ligustrum vulgare* L. and few single plants of *Carpinus betulus* form a dense shrubby undergrowth. The herbaceous layer changes its projection coverage from 90% in spring (April) to 15% in summer (July) and is represented by xeromesophytic grasses.

The fifth coenopopulation of cornelian cherry (CP 5) is located in the eastern part of the foothill zone on the northern macroslope of the Crimean Mountains in the vicinity of the city of Stary Krym (Kirovskyi district) at an altitude of 350 to 400 m above sea level. On a total area of 0.20 ha, it is represented by 15 plants of shrub life forms, grows on the edge of an oak-cornel forest, is a part of dry cornel oakery with *Quercus pubescens* (D1-COd). The dominant tree species is *Quercus pubescens*, up to 12 m tall. The forest stand is closed (0.6). The undergrowth is formed by *Cornus mas* (projective cover up to 60%), *Corulus avellana* (L.) H. Karst., *Cornus sanguinea* L., *Ligustrum vulgare*, *Carpinus orientalis*, sporadically - *Rosa canina* L. and *Acer campestre*. The herbaceous layer is represented by xeromesophytic grasses with a projective cover of up to 40%.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Weather conditions in the natural zones of the Crimean Peninsula are quite contrasting, due to the influence of the Black and Azov seas and the presence of mountains. The presence of seas softens the climate during the cold season and provides coolness during the warm period; mountains serve as a barrier that holds back cold air flows (Bagrova et al., 2001). Weather conditions in the locations of coenopopulations (foothill and mountain zones, Southern Coast) were different and unstable during the growing seasons of 2017 through 2019 (Table 1). These weather conditions were obtained from weather stations located near the study areas: Belogorsk, Vladislavovka, Pochtovoye, and Generalskoe (https://rp5.ru).

The Southern Coast of Crimea (Generalskoe village, CP 1) is characterized by a Mediterranean climate. The duration of the frost-free period is 220 to 240 days, and the summer period is 120 to 140 days (Bagrova et al., 2001). The average annual temperature is 14.2 °C. Winter is quite warm and humid, the average temperature of the coldest month (January) - +4.4 °C, and the warmest (August) - 27.7 °C (Table 1). The maximum summer temperature for the three years of the study was 37.5 °C (https://rp5.ru). The temperature regime in 2017 was within the limits of the average long-term indicators, only in February, March, and June there was an excess of the norm by 2; 3.6, and 2.2 °C, respectively. In 2018, the indicators exceeded the long-term average during the entire vegetation period of plants by 2.4 to 5.4 °C. In 2019, an excess of average annual indicators was noted in all months of the growing season. The maximum excess was recorded in March (+2.4 °C to normal), June (+5.6 °C to normal), August (+3.7 °C to normal).

Precipitation in 2017 was below the long-term average, with the exception of a slight excess in May and August. Conditions in 2018 were characterized by very low amount of precipitation during the active fruit formation phase (June to August). The average annual precipitation varied from 280 to 400 mm (Table 1).

Coeno-		Months								
populatio n (CP)	Years	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September
Amount of	of precipita	tion, mm								
CP 1	2017	49.0	10.0	17.0	23.0	48.0	19.0	37.0	52.0	9.0
	2018	61.0	73.0	35.0	5.0	40.0	8.0	17.0	1.0	45.0
	2019	81.0	45.0	9.0	49.0	9.0	7.0	15.0	12.0	15.0
	Normal*	63.2	49.4	44.0	39.0	46.0	55.0	45.0	45.0	40.0
CP 2	2017	15.0	43.0	24.0	15.0	41.0	28.0	18.0	44.0	0.7
	2018	19.0	45.0	19.0	12.0	24.0	19.0	119.0	2.0	71.0
	2019	40.0	30.0	15.0	34.0	28.0	100.0	58.0	22.0	21.0
	Normal	49.1	36.5	36.0	33.0	37.0	51.0	44.0	39.0	39.0
CP 3	2017	46.0	37.0	27.0	73.0	72.0	57.0	55.0	19.0	1.0
	2018	24.0	19.0	18.0	4.0	34.0	23.0	80.0	3.0	43.0
	2019	20.0	18.0	8.0	18.0	20.0	66.0	61.0	11.0	24.0
	Normal	46.6	37.6	42.0	39.0	47.0	69.0	53.0	48.0	37.0
CP 4	2017	47.0	29.0	34.0	10.0	49.0	54.0	44.0	32.0	4.0
	2018	43.0	24.0	31.0	7.0	40.0	25.0	52.0	12.0	43.0
	2019	49.0	28.0	10.0	35.0	48.0	77.0	40.0	22.0	31.0
	Normal	41.5	33.1	42.0	39.0	47.0	69.0	53.0	48.0	37.0
CP 5	2017	35.0	23.0	29.0	25.0	17.0	44.0	34.0	29.0	16.0
	2018	30.0	19.0	25.0	0.3	12.0	20.0	46.0	1.0	45.0
	2019	81.0	29.0	13.0	16.0	44.0	27.0	44.0	15.0	6.0
	Normal	51.0	42.0	39.0	38.0	43.0	48.0	41.0	47.0	40.0
Average 1	monthly ter	nperature	, °C							
CP 1	2017	3.6	4.5	8.9	9.7	15.7	21.5	24.8	17.7	22.9
	2018	4.6	5.4	7.4	14.5	16.6	23.4	25.3	27.7	21.9
	2019	4.9	4.9	7.7	11.3	17.1	25.9	24.0	26.0	21.2
	Normal	2.1	2.5	5.3	10.9	16.2	20.3	22.9	22.3	18.0
CP 2	2017	1.4	2.5	5.5	12.1	13.8	19.7	22.4	24.7	20.7
	2018	2.1	3.7	6.8	13.1	17.8	21.6	22.6	23.4	18.7
	2019	2.5	3.1	5.8	9.2	16.5	23.0	21.2	22.9	17.4
	Normal	0.7	1.5	4.1	10.4	15.4	19.3	21.8	21.2	16.9
CP 3	2017	-1.7	1.2	7.9	9.4	15.2	20.1	22.9	24.1	16.8
	2018	0.8	1.7	5.5	13.8	18.0	21.3	23.1	23.6	17.9
	2019	2.3	1.8	5.4	9.5	17.3	22.6	21.8	22.3	17.7
	Normal	-0.8	-0.5	3.2	10.0	14.9	18.5	22.3	20.2	15.2
CP 4	2017	0.8	2.7	5.6	10.8	13.0	19.4	21.5	23.8	21.0
	2018	1.0	3.1	6.1	12.7	17.7	21.1	23.1	22.7	18.6
	2019	1.5	1.8	5.8	8.7	16.5	22.5	21.4	22.2	17.0
	Normal	-0.8	-0.5	3.2	10.0	14.9	18.5	22.3	20.2	15.2
CP 5	2017	1.0	1.6	6.3	14.1	14.1	20.9	23.3	26.1	22.1
	2018	1.3	2.1	5.7	12.5	18.0	22.7	25.4	25.2	19.6
	2019	4.3	4.2	6.4	9.4	16.5	24.3	22.8	23.6	18.9
	Normal	-0.5	-0.3	2.6	9.0	14.6	18.9	21.7	21.3	16.6

Table 1. Average amount of precipitation and air temperature during the active vegetation periodCornelian cherry, 2017 through 2019

Note: * average annual indicator over 20 years (Bagrova et al., 2001).

The climate of eastern part the Crimean foothill zone (Topolevka village, CP 2, Staryi Krym, CP 5) is moderately continental. The average annual temperature is 12.5 °C. The temperature of the coldest month (January) - +0.8 °C, and the warmest (August) -25.4 °C (Table 1). The maximum temperature in summer during the three years of the study is 34.4 °C (https://rp5.ru). The temperature regime in 2017 was characterized by increased indicators in winter and spring (1.2 to 2.1 °C above normal). In the summer, the indicators were at the level of the long-time average. In 2018, there was an excess of the average values from May to August by 1.5 to 2.6 °C. The warm period lasted, on average, 290 days, and the cold period lasted up to three months. The duration of the frost-free period, on average, was 190 to 200 days (https://rp5.ru). In 2019, in all months of research, an excess of the average long-term of the temperature regime by 0.7 to 5.4 °C was noted. The maximum excess was recorded in March (+3.8 °C to normal), June (+5.4 °C to the long-term average). In 2017, the average amount of precipitation in the summer period was slightly lower than the average annual values, creating good conditions for plant moisture supply (Table 1). The maximum amount of precipitation fell in June (54 mm with a norm of 68 mm). In 2018, there was an increased amount of precipitation in winter compared to the norm. However, in the phase of active fruit formation (March to August), this indicator was lower than the long-term average. The average annual precipitation was 360 to 440 mm. In 2019, the amount of precipitation was lower than the average long-term data, with the exception of January (81 mm at a rate of 51 mm in the Staryi Crimea) and June (77 mm at a rate of 69 mm in Topolevka). The climate of the Mountainous Crimea (Nauchny village, CP 3, Krasnoselovka, CP 4) is moderately continental. The amount of precipitation falling here increases, and temperatures decrease with increasing altitude of the area above sea level. The average annual air temperature is +11.7 °C. The temperature of the coldest month (January) is -1.7 °C, and the warmest (July) is 23.1 °C (Table 1). The maximum air temperature in the summer period 2017 to 2019, (July to August) - 37 to 40 °C. There was an excess of the norm during the entire growing season of plants by 1.3 to 5 °C (April, August). The warm period lasted 260 to 280 days, and the cold period lasted up to three months. The average duration of the frost-free period is 170 days.

In 2017, over the entire period of the study, precipitation was at the level or slightly lower than the long-time average annual (Table 1). In 2018, extremely dry conditions were noted, with the exception of July (80 mm with a norm of 53 mm in the village of Krasnoselovka and 119 mm with a norm of 44 mm in Nauchny village). In some months, the amount of precipitation was 1.5 to 3 times below normal. In 2019, the amount of precipitation fell significantly from the average long-term data. In June, the largest amount of precipitation fell - 100 mm at a rate of 51 mm in Nauchny village; in July in Krasnoselovka village by 8 mm, and in Nauchny village by 14 mm above the norm). The average annual precipitation was 360 to 520 mm.

The highest values for the weather indicators of the analyzed characteristics were noted in 2017. This is associated with the optimal temperature regime and sufficient precipitation during the flowering period, formation, and development of leaves and fruits. On the contrary, 2018 was characterized by arid conditions and high temperatures, which led to accelerated fruit maturation and shedding before the due date. In general, the analysis of data from two years of research showed minor differences in the main morphometric parameters, which is obviously due to the high adaptive properties of the species. In 2019, the temperature and water regime were intermediate compared to the two previous years.

The vegetation period of the plants of the studied cornelian cherry coenopopulations began from the second decade of February, which was facilitated by the accumulation of average temperatures in the range of 5 to 12 °C for 5 to 7 days. Flowering lasted about 20 to 25 days, after which the formation of fruits began. Growth and development of plants, fruiting, and quality of fruits are influenced by the growing conditions, including the exposure of the slope, the terrain. It was noted that the Southern, South-Western and South-Eastern slopes are more favorable for the growth and development of plants and the early onset of all phenological phases of development and the intensity of fruiting.

Analysis of plants in the studied coenopopulations revealed differences in the metric and morphological characteristics of leaf and fruits.

The leaf is a soft organ that plays an important role in the study of morphometric indicators of plant variability. Providing many functions of the plant organism, it is exposed to external factors and adapts to them through long-term selection. Often within the same species there are leaf of the same shape, but significantly different in size, and vice versa - leaves of different shapes, but similar in size parameters. Such differences may be related to the peculiarities of plant ontogenesis (Klimenko, 2007). Analysis of the morphological characteristic of the cornelian cherry leaf in various coenopopulations revealed the following shape: oval, ovoid, and lanceolate with a wedge-shaped base and a pointed tip (Fig. 1).





Figure 1. Leaf shape of cornelian cherry: a – oval; b – ovoid; c – lanceolate.

The average leaf length (L_{cp}) varied from 58.6 mm to 81.8 mm, and the width (B_{cp}) - from 23.4 mm to 47.4 mm (Table 2). The longest leaf is noted in CP 4 with an ovoid shape, and the smallest in CP 1, CP 3, and CP 5 with an oval shape. Lanceolate leaves in CP 2 and CP 4 had intermediate values for this parameter.

In terms of the leaf width, the smallest values are noted in CP 2 and CP 4 with a lanceolate shape, and the largest - in CP 4 with an ovoid shape. CP 1, CP 3, and CP 5 with an oval shape had intermediate values for this indicator. Analyzing the data obtained for 2017 to 2019, it should be noted that the maximum values of the length and width of the cornelian cherry leaf for all coenopopulations were in 2017, with the exception of CP 4, and the lowest values were in 2018. In CP 4 with a lanceolate leaf shape, the maximum values were recorded in 2019. The values of the coefficient of variation (Cv - from 3.5% to 19.7%) made it possible to conclude that the indices of the parameters of the cornelian cherry leaf over the entire period of the study are insignificant (Table 2). Although in literature there is little information about the shape diversity and metric parameters of cornelian cherry leaves, our data confirm the information previously provided by other authors (Ujdukhu, 2006; Klimenko, 2007; Tigieva, 2007).

Coenopopulations Leaf		Year	Metric parameters	of the lea	ıf	
(Factor B)	shape	(Factor A)	length (L _{cp}), mm	Cv, %	width (B _{cp}), mm	Cv, %
CP 1	Oval	2017	67.5 ± 0.09	8.2	40.3 ± 0.12	17.1
		2018	60.2 ± 0.09	9.5	34.4 ± 0.06	10.8
		2019	64.8 ± 0.11	8.9	36.2 ± 0.07	11.3
		Average	63.9 ± 0.10	8.9	37.7 ± 0.08	13.1
CP 2	Lanceolate	2017	79.8 ± 0.16	12.1	29.6 ± 0.05	10.8
		2018	72.6 ± 0.08	6.3	23.4 ± 0.02	4.7
		2019	76.8 ± 0.08	5.9	26.2 ± 0.02	4.2
		Average	76.2 ± 0.11	8.1	26.5 ± 0.03	19.7
CP 3	Oval	2017	64.6 ± 0.06	5.8	36.2 ± 0.04	6.7
		2018	58.6 ± 0.07	7.7	29.4 ± 0.03	5.1
		2019	60.3 ± 0.07	7.3	36.2 ± 0.05	8.1
		Average	61.6 ± 0.07	6.9	32.8 ± 0.04	6.6
CP 4	Ovoid	2017	81.8 ± 0.08	5.6	47.4 ± 0.02	3.0
		2018	76.3 ± 0.08	5.7	39.8 ± 0.10	13.5
		2019	75.4 ± 0.08	6.0	43.3 ± 0.06	8.1
		Average	79.1 ± 0.08	5.8	43.6 ± 0.06	8.2
	Lanceolate	2017	75.4 ± 0.12	8.9	28.9 ± 0.12	15.4
		2018	70.5 ± 0.05	3.5	24.6 ± 0.05	7.2
		2019	79.3 ± 0.06	4.5	35.1 ± 0.04	5.3
		Average	73.0 ± 0.08	5.6	29.5 ± 0.07	9.3
CP 5	Oval	2017	74.4 ± 0.06	4.6	38.7 ± 0.04	6.2
		2018	66.7 ± 0.06	5.5	31.8 ± 0.03	5.4
		2019	71.1 ± 0.06	4.5	44.0 ± 0.06	7.5
		Average	70.6 ± 0.06	4.9	35.2 ± 0.04	6.4
LSD ₀₅ (Factor A)			0.09		0.07	
LSD ₀₅ (Factor B)			0.14		0.10	

Table 2. Morphological and metric characteristics of cornelian cherry leaf in various coenopopulation

Cv - the coefficient of variation.

The data of two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) showed that the greatest influence on the biometric parameters of leaf is exerted by genetic characteristics of studied plants (Factor A). The share of influence in terms of leaf length was 82.9%, and

in width - 77.3%. The share of influence of factor B was insignificant and amounted to 10.20% in terms of leaf length and 12.30% in terms of leaf width (Table 3).

Factor	66	ЧЕ	MS	F	n yelye	Shape of
Factor	33	αг	MB	Г	<i>p</i> -value	influence, %
Leaf length						
А	38.41	2	19.21	74.1	0.000000	10.2
В	313.27	5	62.65	241.7	0.000000	82.9
AB	10.04	10	1.00	3.9	0.000041	2.7
Error	15.86	612	0.26			4.2
Leaf width						
А	38.97	2	19.485	161.11	0.00	12.3
В	246.61	5	49.323	407.81	0.00	77.3
AB	21.31	10	2.132	17.63	0.00	6.7
Error	12.01	612	0.121			3.7

Table 3. Data of two-way analysis of variance of cornelian cherry leaf in various coenopopulations

Fruits are an important generative structure in the plant body, so the study of their diversity by morphological and anatomical features gives an idea of the degree of intraspecific polymorphism in coenopopulations. Such research is also very relevant in connection with the search for desirable natural forms of cornelian cherry in order to create varieties with a high content of mesocarp (pulp) and a low percentage of endocarp.

The conducted research allowed to identify the diversity in shape, color, ripening period, and metric parameters of fruits in studied coenopopulation (Table 4).

Coenopopulation	Form	Fruit color	Fruit shape	Ripening period
CP 1	1*	Bright-red - dark-red	Oval	Average
CP 2	1*	Bright-red - dark-red	Oval	Late
CP 3	3	Dark-red, almost black	Barrel-shaped	Early
CP 4	4 a	Red	Oval-cylindrical	Average
	4 b	Dark-red	Broad-pear	Late
CP 5	1*	Bright-red - dark-red	Oval	Average

Table 4. Morphological characteristics of cornelian cherry fruit in various coenopopulations

Note: * plant shapes are distinguished by the morphological structure of fruits.

Fruits, in CP 1, 2, 5 are of oval shape with color from bright-red to dark-red, medium (August 20 - through September 10) and late ripening (September 10 through 25), are combined into a single Form 1 due to similar morphological and morphometric characteristics. In CP 3, growing in the area of the Sheitan-Kapu gorge, the plants had small fruits of a dark-red, almost black color, ripening early (August 5 through 20), barrel-shaped, separated into a distinct Form 3. In CP4 two distinct fruit shape forms were identified: Form 4a - with a oval-cylindrical shape, bright-red color, average ripening time (August 20 - through September 10) and Form 4b - with an broad-pear shape, dark-red color, late maturity (September 10 through 25) (Fig. 2). In CP 2, individuals with shrub and tree life forms were found, but the relationship between the shape of the fruit and their life form was not established.

The shape and color variety of cornelian cherry fruits in native is noted by other authors. The color of the fruit varies from bright red to dark red, almost black, Most often, fruits are oval, spherical, barrel-shaped, cylindrical shape, less common are pear-shaped fruits. Fruit ripening was noted in July - September (Demir & Kalyoncu, 2003; Klimenko, 2004, Ujukhu, 2006; Klimenko, 2007; Tigieva, 2007; Prokaj et al., 2009; Mratinić et al., 2015; Dinda et al., 2016; Cornescu & Cosmulescu, 2017). As a result of selection, varieties with yellow and pink fruits were released (Klimenko, 2004, 2007; Cetkovská et al., 2015; Jaćimović et al., 2015; Cornescu & Cosmulescu, 2017; Popović et al., 2017; Adamenko et al., 2018).



Figure 2. Fruit shape of cornelian cherry plants: a, b, c – oval (CP 1, CP 2, CP 5); d – barrel-shaped (CP 3); e – oval-cylindrical (CP 4); f – broad-pear (CP 4).

As a result of studying the morphometric characteristics, it was found that fruits in various coenopopulations differed in length - from 12.1 mm to 17.2 mm, in diameter - from 8.0 mm to 12.8 mm, and in weight - from 0.56 g to 1.77 g. The greatest length and diameter were found in plants with oval-cylindrical fruits in CP 2 (Lcp = 17.2 mm, Bp = 12.8 mm), and the smallest - in plants with barrel-shaped fruits in CP 3 (Lcp = 12.1 mm, Bp = 8.0 mm).Fruits with the greatest weight are noted in CP 5, and with the smallest - in CP 3. The maximum values of the fruit diameter are noted in CP 4, the minimum - in CP 3. Endocarp length varied from 6.7 mm to 13.5 mm, diameter - from 3.1 mm to 5.1 mm, and weight - from 0.148 g to 0.267 g. The longest endocarp was noted in CP 5, and the shortest - in CP 3. High endocarp weigth was noted in CP 5, low - in CP 3. The share of endocarp to pulp varied from 10.75 to 26.28%. The maximal values for this indicator were in CP 3, the minimal - in CP 2 (Table 5).

Commensulation	~		Metric parame	eters $(X_{cp} \pm m_{cp})$					
	^s Form	Year	Fruit			Endocarp			Share of
(Cr) (Factor B)	(F)	(Factor A)	Length (L _{cp}),	Diameter (D _{cp})), Weight(m _{cp}),	Length (L _{cp}),	Diameter (D _{cp})), Weight	endocarp, %
(Pactor D)			mm	mm	g	mm	mm	(m _{cp}), g	
CP 1	F 1	2017	16.2 ± 0.02	12.1 ± 0.01	1.74 ± 0.01	11.7 ± 0.02	5.0 ± 00.1	0.210 ± 0.003	12.07 ± 0.02
		2018	15.5 ± 0.02	11.2 ± 0.01	1.65 ± 0.02	10.1 ± 0.02	4.3 ± 0.01	0.197 ± 0.002	11.94 ± 0.02
		2019	16.0 ± 0.01	11.8 ± 0.01	1.70 ± 0.01	11.3 ± 0.01	4.6 ± 0.01	0.202 ± 0.002	11.88 ± 0.02
		Average	15.9 ± 0.02	11.7 ± 0.01	1.70 ± 0.01	11.03 ± 0.02	4.6 ± 0.01	0.203 ± 0.002	11.96 ± 0.02
CP 2	F 1	2017	17.7 ± 0.02	13.1 ± 0.01	1.67 ± 0.04	13.0 ± 0.03	4.0 ± 0.01	0.171 ± 0.004	10.24 ± 0.04
		2018	16.8 ± 0.01	12.5 ± 0.01	1.54 ± 0.03	12.2 ± 0.01	3.2 ± 0.01	0.178 ± 0.003	11.56 ± 0.03
		2019	17.0 ± 0.01	12.8 ± 0.01	1.71 ± 0.01	12.7 ± 0.01	3.5 ± 0.01	0.179 ± 0.003	10.46 ± 0.02
		Average	17.2 ± 0.01	12.8 ± 0.01	1.64 ± 0.03	12.6 ± 0.023	3.6 ± 0.01	0.159 ± 0.004	10.75 ± 0.02
CP 3	F 3	2017	12.5 ± 0.01	8.5 ± 0.01	0.60 ± 0.02	8.1 ± 0.01	4.9 ± 0.01	0.154 ± 0.003	25.67 ± 0.02
		2018	11.6 ± 0.02	7.9 ± 0.02	0.53 ± 0.02	7.7 ± 0.01	4.2 ± 0.01	0.148 ± 0.004	27.92 ± 0.02
		2019	12.2 ± 0.01	7.6 ± 0.01	0.57 ± 0.01	6.7 ± 0.02	4.1 ± 0.01	0.144 ± 0.002	25.26 ± 0.01
		Average	12.1 ± 0.01	8.0 ± 0.01	0.56 ± 0.01	7.5 ± 0.01	4.4 ± 0.01	0.148 ± 0.003	26.28 ± 0.02
CP 4	F 4a	2017	16.6 ± 0.01	11.1 ± 0.01	1.12 ± 0.02	13.2 ± 0.01	3.9 ± 0.01	0.213 ± 0.006	19.01 ± 0.01
		2018	15.6 ± 0.01	10.3 ± 0.01	1.03 ± 0.03	12.6 ± 0.02	3.1 ± 0.01	0.198 ± 0.002	19.22 ± 0.02
		2019	15.9 ± 0.01	10.9 ± 0.02	1.09 ± 0.01	12.9 ± 0.01	3.4 ± 0.01	0.191 ± 0.003	17.52 ± 0.01
		Average	16.0 ± 0.01	10.8 ± 0.01	1.08 ± 0.01	12.9 ± 0.01	3.5 ± 0.01	0.207 ± 0.005	18.58 ± 0.01
	F4b	2017	15.9 ± 0.02	8.9 ± 0.02	0.79 ± 0.01	13.1 ± 0.02	3.8 ± 0.01	0.179 ± 0.004	22.65 ± 0.01
		2018	15.0 ± 0.02	7.9 ± 0.02	0.70 ± 0.01	12.5 ± 0.02	3.2 ± 0.01	0.171 ± 0.005	24.44 ± 0.01
		2019	15.4 ± 0.01	8.5 ± 0.01	0.76 ± 0.01	12.9 ± 0.01	3.7 ± 0.01	0.174 ± 0.002	22.89 ± 0.01
		Average	15.4 ± 0.02	8.4 ± 0.02	0.70 ± 0.02	12.8 ± 0.01	3.6 ± 0.01	0.175 ± 0.004	23.33 ± 0.01
CP 5	F 1	2017	16.9 ± 0.01	12.4 ± 0.01	1.81 ± 0.03	13.5 ± 0.02	5.1 ± 0.01	0.271 ± 0.003	14.97 ± 0.02
		2018	15.5 ± 0.01	11.6 ± 0.01	1.73 ± 0.03	12.6 ± 0.01	4.4 ± 0.01	0.260 ± 0.005	15.03 ± 0.02
		2019	16.2 ± 0.01	12.2 ± 0.01	1.77 ± 0.01	13.2 ± 0.01	5.0 ± 0.01	0.269 ± 0.003	15.19 ± 0.01
		Average	16.2 ± 0.3	12.1 ± 0.01	1.77 ± 0.02	13.1 ± 0.01	4.8 ± 0.01	0.267 ± 0.004	15.00 ± 0.02
LSD ₀₅ (Factor A))		$F_f < F_{tabl}$	0.02	0.013	$Ff < F_{tabl}$	$Ff < F_{tabl}$	0.004	$Ff < F_{tabl}$
LSD ₀₅ (Factor B))		$Ff < F_{tabl}$	0.02	0.023	$Ff < F_{tabl}$	$Ff < F_{tabl}$	0.005	$Ff < F_{tabl}$

Table 5. Morphometric characteristics of cornelian cherry fruit in various coenopopulations

Our data confirm the information previously provided by other authors about the phenotypic diversity of cornelian cherry fruit. Evaluation of cornelian cherry fruit, even in a small area studied coenopopulation of the Crimean Peninsula, revealed phenotypic diversity among accessions for all the characters studied. Similar level of variability and similar intervals of variation for fruit were found with different cornelian cherry growth in natural population in Serbia (Mratinić et al., 2015), Adydea (Ujukhu, 2006), Slovakia (Brindza et al., 2009), Romania (Cornescu & Cosmulescu, 2017), Hungary (Prokaj et al., 2009), Turkey (Demir & Kalyoncu, 2003; Ercisli et al., 2006), Iran (Hassanpour et al., 2012) (Table 6). According to the data of references, the majority cornel populations in other region have a fruit weight from 1.2 to 3.3 g, fruit length - from 15.0 to 22.0 mm, fruit diameter - from 9/0 to 15.0 mm. The lowest parameters of fruit weights were found in natural population in Serbia, Adygea and Crimean Peninsula.

	Region							
Metric parameters	Crimean Peninsula	Serbia	Adygea	Slovakia	Hungary	Romania	Turkey	Iran
Average fruit length	11.6–	14.9–	13.5-	12.0-	15.4–	12.0-	16.0-	15.2-
(Lcp), mm	17.7	18.6	21.0	19.5	20.0	21.0	20.8	22.3
Average fruit diameter	7.6–	10.7 -	8.0-	7.4–	10.4–	9.0-	10.9–	10.3-
(Dcp), mm	13.1	12.8	15.0	15.2	14.7	12.0	16.4	16.3
Shape index,	1.33–	1.40-	1.40–	1.28–	1.36–	1.05 -	_	1.19–
(Lcp/Dcp)	1.89	1.48	1.69	1.62	1.48	1.55		1.51
Average fruit weight,	0.53-	1.25 -	1.40–	0.50-	1.20-	1.33–	1.49–	1.49–
g	1.81	1.91	1.70	3.40	2.85	2.31	4.12	3.29
Average endocarp (stone)	6.7–	12.0-	9.0–	9.5–	_	_	_	11.6–
lengths (Lcp), mm	13.5	13.4	16.0	15.9				14.2
Average endocarp	3.1-	5.5-	4.0–	4.5–	_	_	_	6.1–
diameter (Dcp), mm	5.1	6.1	7.0	8.9				7.5
Average endocarp weight,	,0.144–	_	0.155-	_	0.270-	0.340-	_	0.249–
g	0.271		0.210		0.410	0.590		0.425
Endocarp ratio,	10.5 -	_	7.0–	_	—	20.7-	_	10.5 -
%	27.9		18.0			27.9		21.8
Mesocarp ratio,	72.1-	_	82.0-	_	72.9–	72.1-	_	78.2–
%	89.5		93.0		86.7	79.3		89.5

Table 6. Average metric parameters of cornelian cherry fruit in various region

The analysis of the data obtained showed that the maximum values of the biometric parameters of the fruits were noted in 2017, the minimum - in 2018, and the 2019 values were intermediate. At the same time, low values of the coefficient of variation (Cv < 10%) were set for most parameters. Only for the endocarp diameter in almost all coenopopulations in all years of studied, the average values of the variation of the trait were established (Cv up to 17.3%) (Table 7).

The data of two-way analysis of variance showed that the greatest influence on the biometric parameters of fruits is exerted by the diversity form and genetic characteristics of studied plants (fruit length - 72.2%, fruit diameter - 81.8%, fruit weight - 96.4%, endocarp length - 80.2%, endocarp diameter - 70.1%, endocarp weight - 79.4%, p < 0.00001). The share of the influence of weather conditions of the year (Factor A) was insignificant and amounted from 0.6% to 9.8% (Table 8).

			Coefficier	nt of variat	ion (Cv), %	, D		
Coenopopulation	Form	Voor	Fruit			Endocarp		
(CP)	(F)	1 cai	Length	Diameter	Walate	Length	Diameter	r w
			(Lcp)	(Dcp)	weight	(Lcp)	(Dcp)	weight
CP 1	F 1	2017	7.4	5.8	4.6	9.5	16.0	5.0
		2018	7.8	8.0	7.3	7.9	10.0	5.3
		2019	4.4	6.8	2.9	6.3	10.9	4.9
		Average	6.5	6.7	4.9	7.9	12.3	5.1
CP 2	F 1	2017	5.1	6.2	3.0	11.5	14.7	5.9
		2018	12.5	5.6	10.4	5.7	15.6	6.7
		2019	4.8	3.1	4.7	5.5	14.8	5.9
		Average	7.5	5.0	6.0	7.6	15.0	6.2
CP 3	F 3	2017	7.2	5.9	15.2	8.8	14.6	6.7
		2018	10.3	11.4	10.4	7.9	17.1	7.1
		2019	4.9	6.6	7.0	13.4	12.2	7.6
		Average	7.5	7.8	10.8	10.0	14.6	7.1
CP 4	F 4a	2017	3.1	6.3	12.0	5.3	17.3	14.3
		2018	4.5	7.6	4.7	8.1	14.2	5.1
		2019	4.4	8.3	8.6	5.8	14.3	9.1
		Average	4.0	7.4	8.4	6.4	15.3	9.5
	F4b	2017	5.7	11.1	6.3	8.1	13.2	13.4
		2018	7.1	13.8	5.4	8.1	15.2	5.9
		2019	4.5	5.9	7.8	8.5	10.8	5.8
		Average	5.8	10.3	6.5	8.2	13.1	8.4
CP 5	F 1	2017	4.7	6.5	3.7	8.1	14.0	5.9
		2018	3.6	5.9	3.5	4.6	11.3	11.6
		2019	4.9	7.7	3.2	3.1	8.9	7.8
		Average	4.4	6.7	3.5	5.3	11.4	8.4

Table 7. Coefficients of variation of morphometric parameters of cornelian cherry fruit in various coenopopulation

Table 8. Data of two-way analysis of variance of cornelian cherry fruit in various coenopopulations

Factor	88	dE	MS	F	n value	Shape of
racion	22	ur	IVIS	1	<i>p</i> -value	influence, %
Fruit length						
А	0.86	2	0.434	52.5	0.000000	2.9
В	22.84	5	3.139	379.5	0.000000	79.2
AB	0.09	10	0.009	1.1	0.347701	0.3
Error	5.06	612	0.008			17.6
Fruit diameter						
А	0.56	2	0.2839	44.4	0.000000	2.2
В	20.34	5	4.0698	636.0	0.000000	81.8
AB	0.12	10	0.0124	1.9	0.037854	0.4
Error	3.91	612	0.0064			13.5
Fruit weight						
А	0.76	2	0.3822	55.3	0.000000	0.6
В	142.92	5	28.5843	4133.4	0.000000	96.4
AB	0.23	10	0.0237	3.4	0.000223	0.2
Error	4.23	612	0.0069			2.8

					Tal	ble 8 (continued)
Endocarp le	ngth					
A	0.69	2	0.3460	42.0	0.000000	2.2
В	25.03	5	5.0074	608.3	0.000000	80.2
AB	0.48	10	0.0488	5.9	0.000000	1.6
Error	5.03	612	0.0082			16.0
Endocarp di	iameter					
А	0.44	2	0.2218	61.69	0.000000	9.8
В	1.80	5	0.3605	100.28	0.000000	70.1
AB	0.08	10	0.0084	2.34	0.010389	1.8
Error	2.20	612	0.0036			18.3
Endocarp w	reight					
A	0.007	2	000380	11.38	0.000014	6.5
В	0.852	5	017048	510.09	0.000000	79.4
AB	0.009	10	000091	2.72	0.002788	0.8
Error	0.204	612	000033			13.3

Plants with a largest fruits (an average weight from 1.65 g to 1.81 g) and a low endocarp ratio - from 10% to15% (Form 1 - CP I, CP 2, CP 5, Form 4a - CP 4) are interest for breeding research, since there is continued search for new forms with a high of contents mesocarp.

CONCLUSIONS

Studies conducted have shown that cornelian cherry on the territory of the Crimean Peninsula has a wide range of variability in a number of morphological features, which indicates a high form diversity of the species within its natural habitat. The greatest variety of cornelian cherry fruits was noted in the foothill zone and mountain zones, and our data confirm the information previously provided by other authors (Klimenko et al., 2003; Klimenko, 2004 and 2007) about the significant intraspecific diversity of cornel forms on the Crimean Peninsula.

The results of the test of differences in means using ANOVA tests indicates that the cornelian cherry plants differ significantly with respect to most metric characteristics in various coenopopulations. Analysis showed that the hydrothermal indicators of the year practically did not affect on the metric parameters of cornelian cherry plants. The genetic characteristics of plants within coenopopulations significantly influenced the studied biometric parameter.

The results have shown that there was a high diversity in cornelian cherry populations within different ecological areas of the Crimean Peninsula. For most of the studied morphometric parameters of leaves and fruits in 2017 to 2019, a low value of the coefficient of variation was revealed, which made it possible to conclude that these characteristics are not very variable. Differences were exhibited in terms of fruit size and shape. The results obtained can be useful for botanical research as additional information about this species, as well as in selection research when searching for natural forms of desirable characteristics for creating cultural varieties of cornelian cherry. The plants with largest fruits and the lowest proportion of endocarp in the total mass of the fruit can be recommended for further breeding research.

REFERENCES

- Adamenko, K., Kawa-Rygielska, J., Kucharska, A. & Piórecki, N. 2018. Characteristics of biologically active compounds in Cornelian cherry meads. *Molecules* 23(8), 2024. https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules23082024
- Bagrova, L.A., Bokov, V.A. & Bagrov, N.V. 2001. *Geography of the Crimea*. Kiev, Lybid', 302 pp. (in Russian).
- Bijelić, S., Golšin, B., Cerović, S. & Bogdanovć, B. 2015. Pomological characteristics of cornelian cherry (*Cornus mas* L.) selections in Serbia and the possibility of growing in intensive organic orchards. *Acta Univ. Agric. Silvic. Mendel. Brun.* 63, 1101–1104. http://dx.doi.org/10.11118/actaun201563041101
- Brindza, P., Brindza, J., Tóth, D., Klimenko, S.V. & Grigorieva, O. 2009. Biological and Commercial Characteristics of Cornelian Cherry (*Cornus mas L.*) Population in the Gemer Region of Slovakia. *Acta Hortic.* 818, 85–94. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2009.818.11
- Cetkovská, J., Diviš, P., Vespalcová, M., Pořízka, J. & Řezníček, V. 2015. Basic nutritional properties of Cornelian cherry (*Cornus mas* L.) cultivars grown in the Czech Republic. *Acta Alimentaria* 44(3), 549–557. https://doi.org/10.1556/aalim.2014.0013
- Cornescu, F-C. & Cosmulescu, S.N. 2017. Morphological and biochemical characteristics of fruits of different cornelian cherry (*Cornus mas* L.) genotypes from spontaneous flora. *Not Sci Biol.* 9(4), 577–581. https://doi.org/10.15835/nsb941016
- Czerwińska, M. & Melzig, M. 2018. *Cornus mas* and *Cornus officinalis* analogies and differences of two medicinal plants traditionally used. *Front Pharmacol.* **9**, 1–28. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphar.2018.00894
- De Biaggi, M., Donno, D., Mellano, M., Riondato, I., Rakotoniaina, E. & Beccaro, G. 2018. *Cornus mas* (L.) fruit as a potential source of natural health-promoting compounds: physico-chemical characterization of bioactive components. *Plant Foods Hum Nutr.* 73, 89–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11130-018-0663-4
- Demir, F. & Kalyoncu, I. 2003. Some nutritional, pomological, and physical properties of cornelian cherry (*Cornus mas* L.). J. Food. Eng. **60**(3), 335–341. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0260-8774(03)00056-6
- Dinda, B., Kyriakopoulos, A., Dinda, S., Zoumpourlis, V., Thomaidis, N., Velegraki, A. & Dinda, M. 2016. *Cornus mas* L. (cornelian cherry), an important European and Asian traditional food and medicine: Ethnomedicine, phytochemistry and pharmacology for its commercial utilization in drug industry. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology* **193**, 670–690. doi:10.1016/j.jep.2016.09.042
- Dospekhov, B. 2012. Field experiment methodology (with the basics of statistical processing of research results). Moscow, Agropromizdat, 352 pp. (in Russian).
- Dumitraşcu, L., Aprodu, I. & Stănciuc, N. 2019. A preliminary study on improving the extraction of phenolic compounds from cornelian cherry fruits. *The Annals of the University Dunarea de Jos of Galati, Fascicle VI – Food Technology* **43**(2), 100–109. https://doi.org/10.35219/foodtechnology.2019.2.07
- Ercisli, S., Orhan, E. & Esitken, A. 2006. Genetic diversity in fruit quality traits in cornelian cherry (Cornus mas L.), *Asian Journal of Chemistry* **18**(1), 650–654.
- Hosseinpour-Jaghdani, F., Shomali, T., Gholipour-Shahraki, A., Rahimi-Madiseh, M. & Rafieian-Kopaei, M. 2017. *Cornus mas*: a review on traditional uses and pharmacological properties. J. Complement. Integr. Med. 14(3), 20160137. https://doi.org/10.1515/jcim-2016-0137

- Hassanpour, H., Hamidoghli, Y. & Samizadeh, H. 2012. Some Fruit Characteristics of Iranian Cornelian Cherries (*Cornus mas* L.). Not. Bot. Horti. Agrobo. 40(1), 247–252. https://doi.org/10.15835/nbha4017385
- International Plant Names Index (IPNI) 2020. http://www.ipni.org, (Accessed 10.09.2020).
- Jaćimović, V., Božović, D., Ercisli, S., Ognjanov, V. & Bosančić, B. 2015. Some fruit characteristics of selected cornelian cherries (*Cornus mas L.*) from Montenegro. *Erwerbs-Obstbau* 57(3), 119–124. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10341-015-0238-6
- Jaćimović, V. & Božović, Đ. 2017. Evaluation of cornelian cherry (*Cornus mas* L.) varieties and selections under the conditions of Gornje Polimlje region. *Voćarstvo* **51**(199/200), 81–86.
- Kazimierski, M., Reguła, J. & Molska, M. 2019. Cornelian cherry (*Cornus mas* L.) characteristics, nutritional and pro-health properties. *Acta Sci. Pol. Technol. Aliment.* **18**(1), 5–12. https://doi.org/10.17306/j.afs.2019.0628
- Khoury, C., Amariles, D., Soto, J., Diaz, M., Sotelo, S., Sosa, C., Ramírez-Villegas, J., Achicanoy, H., Velásquez-Tibatá, J., Guarino, L., León, B., Navarro-Racines, C., Castañeda-Álvarez, N., Dempewolf, H., Wiersema, J. & Jarvis, A. 2019. Comprehensiveness of conservation of useful wild plants: An operational indicator for biodiversity and sustainable development targets. *Ecological Indicators* 98, 420–429. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2018.11.016
- Klimenko, S., Harchishin, V. & Kustovskiy, A. 2003. Cornelian cherry (*Cornus mas* L.) in nature and culture in Ukraine. *Inroducciya roslyn* **1–2**, 20–30 (in Russian).
- Klimenko, S. 2004. The cornelian cherry (Cornus mas L.): collection, preservation, and utilization of genetic resources. *J Fruit Ornam Plant Res.* **12**, 93–98.
- Klimenko, S. 2007. Cornelian cherry. Cultivars in Ukraine. Poltava, Verstka, 44 pp. (in Russian).
- Koblyakov, V., Kravchuk, M. & Chesnokova, V. 2008. Some promising forms and cultivars of Cornelian cherry for the Prikubanskaya fruit growing zone. *Introduktsiya netraditsionnyih i redkih rasteniy* **3**, 150–152 (in Russian).
- Kucharska, A., Szumny, A., Sokół-Łetowska, A., Piórecki, N. & Klymenko, S. 2015. Iridoids and anthocyanins in cornelian cherry (*Cornus mas L.*) cultivars. *J. Food Comp. Anal.* 40, 95–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfca.2014.12.016
- Lakin, G. 1990. *Biometrics: textbook*. Moscow. Vysshaya shkola, 352 pp. (in Russian).
- Lotova, L. 2001. *Morphology and anatomy of higher plants*. Moscow, Editorial URSS, 528 pp. (in Russian).
- Mratinić, E., Akšić, M.F., Rakonjac, V., Miletić, R. & Žikić, M. 2015. Morphological diversity of cornelian cherry (*Cornus mas L.*) populations in the Stara Planina Mountain, Serbia. *Plant Systematics and Evolution* **301**, 365–374. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00606-014-1079-8
- Ochmian, I., Oszmiański, J., Lachowicz, S. & Krupa-Małkiewicz, M. 2019. Rootstock effect on physico-chemical properties and content of bioactive compounds of four cultivars Cornelian cherry fruits. *Scientia Horticulturae* **256**, 108588.
- Plugatar', Yu. 2015. Forests of the Crimea. Simferopol', IT «ARIAL», 368 pp. (in Russian).
- Posokhov, P. 1971. Forests types of the Mountain Crimea and their Caucasian analogs. PhD Thesis. Kiev, 48 pp. (in Russian).
- Popović, Z., Matić, R., Bajić-Ljubičić, J., Tešević, V. & Bojović, S. 2017. Geographical variability of selected phenolic compounds in fresh berries of two Cornus species. *Trees* **32**, 203–214. https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9040462
- Prokaj, E., Medve, A., Koczka, N., Ombodi, A. & Dimeny, J. 2009. Examination of cornel (*Cornus mas L.*) fruits in Brsod-Abaujzemplen county (Hungary). *Agronom Vestis* 12, 87–93.

- Rubtzov, N. 1972. *Descriptions of the Crimean higher plants*. Leningrad, Akademiya Nauk SSSR. PH Nauka, 550 pp. (in Russian).
- Salejda, A., Kucharska, A. & Krasnowska, G. 2018. Effect of Cornelian cherry (*Cornus mas* L.) juice on selected quality properties of beef burgers. *J Food Qual* **79**, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/1563651
- Szot, I., Lipa, T. & Yareshchenko, A. 2020. Comparison of growth of maiden trees of cultivars and genotypes of Cornelian cherry (*Cornus mas L.*) in a nursery. *Agronomy Research* 18(S2), 1526–1536. https://doi.org/10.15159/AR.20.121
- Szczepaniak, O., Kobus-Cisowska, J., Kusek, W. & Przeor, M. 2019. Functional properties of Cornelian cherry (*Cornus mas* L.): a comprehensive review. *European Food Research and Technology* 2459(10), 2071–2087. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00217-019-03313-0
- Tarko, T., Duda-Chodak, A., Satora, P., Sroka, P., Pogoń, P. & Machalica, J. 2014. *Chaenomeles japonica, Cornus mas, Morus nigra* fruits characteristics and their processing potential. *JFoodSciTechnol.* 51(12), 3934–3941. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-013-0963-5
- The Plant List. 2013. Version 1.1. http://www.theplantlist.org/ (Accessed 17.09.2020).
- Tigieva, I. 2007. Cornelian cherry resistance in the mountain ecosystem of the North Ossetia-Alania Republic. *Gornyie ekosistemyi i ih komponenty* **3**, 127–128 (in Russian).
- Ujukhu, M. 2006. On the geography of distribution and growth of cornelian in Adygea. *Yuzhno-Rossiyskiy vestnik geologii, geografii i globalnoy energii* **9**(22), 66–71 (in Russian).
- Weather in World https://rp5.ru (Accessed 19.08.2020).
- Yarılgaç, T., Kadim, H. & Ozturk, B. 2019. Role of maturity stages and modified-atmosphere packaging on the quality attributes of cornelian cherry fruits (*Cornus mas* L.) throughout shelf life. J. Sci. Food Agric. 99, 421–428. https://doi.org/10.1002/jsfa.9203
- Yena, A. 2012. Spontaneous flora of the Crimean Peninsula. Simferopol, N. Orianda, 231 pp. (in Russian).

Experimental research into new harrowing unit based on gantry agricultural implement carrier

V. Kuvachov¹, V. Bulgakov², V. Adamchuk³, V. Kaminskiy⁴, V. Melnik⁵ and J. Olt^{6,*}

¹Dmytro Motornyi Tavria State Agrotechnological University, 18^B Khmelnytsky Avenue, UA72310 Melitopol, Zaporozhye Region, Ukraine

²National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine, 15 Heroyiv Oborony Str., UA03041 Kyiv, Ukraine

³National Scientific Centre, Institute of Mechanization and Electrification of Agriculture, 11 Vokzalna Str., Glevakha stl, Vasylkivsky Dist., UA08631 Kyiv Region, Ukraine

⁴National Scientific Centre, Institute of Agriculture of NAAS of Ukraine, 2b, Mashinobudivnikiv Str., Chabany vil., Kyiv-Svyatoshin Dist., UA08162 Kyiv Region, Ukraine

⁵Kharkiv Petro Vasylenko National Technical University of Agriculture, 44, Alchevskih Str., UA61002 Kharkiv, Ukraine

⁶Estonian University of Life Sciences, Institute of Technology, 56 Kreutzwaldi Str., EE51006 Tartu, Estonia

*Correspondence: jyri.olt@emu.ee

Received: October 6th, 2020; Accepted: December 11th, 2020; Published: December 16th, 2020

Abstract. From the point of view of energy saving, research into agricultural gantry units equipped with new implements specially adapted for operation in such systems and capable of efficiently functioning in controlled traffic (permanent lane) and wide span (gantry) systems is an important and topical issue in soil tillage science. The range of wide span systems includes harrowing units for fallow land tillage. This paper describes the experimental determination of the operating characteristics of the harrowing unit, in which a gantry implement carrier propels harrows for fallow land tillage, for the purpose of establishing the compliance of their parameters with the fundamental principles of the effective implementation of the controlled traffic and wide span soil management. The experimental investigations were done using strain-gauge and control-and-measuring equipment with analogue-to-digital conversion of the signals received from the sensing elements. An agricultural wide span unit with a track width of 3.5 m and harrows for fallow land tillage were investigated. The results show the harrowing unit is well adapted to operation in controlled traffic and wide span soil tillage systems and delivers high quality performance of the harrowing process. The latter effect is also due to the fact that the gantry travels on the compacted tracks which have a few surface irregularities compared to cultivated soil. The coefficient of variation of the draught force applied to the hook of the gantry during harrowing operations did not exceed 10%. This is evidence of the high stability (low variability) of the harrowing process, which has a positive effect on the motion stability of the harrowing unit based on the gantry tractor.

Key words: controlled traffic farming, harrowing unit, wide span system.

INTRODUCTION

The highly efficient development of controlled traffic and wide span soil management throughout the world is possible subject to wide implementation of the achievements by the science and technology progress (Rohde & Yule, 2003; Raper, 2005; McHugh et al., 2009; Tullberg, 2009; Kingwell & Fuchsbichler, 2011; Gasso et al., 2013 and 2014; Chamen, 2015; Antille et al., 2015 and 2019; Nadykto, 2019). In this context, the topic of searching for new soil tillage implements, machines and tools capable of efficiently operating in controlled traffic and wide span soil management systems becomes a top priority (Nadykto, 2012; Bulgakov et al., 2020b). Agricultural implements for soil surface tillage are among the representatives of the family of the soil tillage machines designed for operation in controlled traffic and wide span soil management systems. The harrows for fallow land tillage are one of the types of such implements. The functional capabilities of tillage implements, when used as part of agricultural wide span units for minimum soil cultivation, provide for the ripping of the soil surface layer within the agronomic zone of the field without carrying over the moisture to the surface, the stable operation of the tools with regard to the depth of their movement, the high quality of soil tillage etc. However, while the controlled traffic and wide span soil management is now widely accepted as a promising development trend, there is lack of attention to the experimental research into the new dedicated machines and implements designed in this area. The quality of the performed soil management operations depends on the design features of the employed agricultural implement, the mode of operation of the unit, the properties of the soil etc. In case of soil harrowing that includes also such factors, as the evenness of the surface in the farmed piece of land, the uniformity of the tilling depth and some other. Currently, in view of the introduction of new tilling implements operated as part of non-conventional (wide span) units, the industry faces a lack of the data required for validating the permissible variation of individual performance quality indices, and those data can be obtained only by means of special research. Alongside with that, one of the aims targeted by the introduction of wide span units into the controlled traffic soil management system is reducing the energy intensity of soil cultivation processes in view of the fact that the track width of such units (working span) can be very large. That said, in contrast to the conventional harrowing units that operate at acceptable travelling speeds of $8-15 \text{ km h}^{-1}$, the reduction of the energy data in case of wide span units can be achieved also through the lowering of their operational travel rates to values below 5 km h^{-1} . Thus, the research into the discussed gantry units has to aim at both finding out their main operation and process characteristics and developing the new implements (in particular, harrows) that provide for the required agronomic performance quality of the work process.

The detailed analysis of the results obtained during the experimental investigations of agricultural machines and implements as parts of controlled traffic and wide span soil management systems as well as the accumulated practical knowledge are of invaluable importance for science.

Many scientists Chamen et al. (1992, 1994), Taylor (1994), Bochtis et al. (2010), Onal (2012), Pedersen et al. (2013, 2016), Bulgakov et al. (2017, 2018, 2019), Chamen (2000) have made a great input into the development and promotion of the controlled traffic and wide span soil management. At the same time, the analysis of the research results published by them has revealed that their papers still feature insufficient attention to the issue of fundamental experimental research into the characteristics of wide span soil tillage units based on gantry agricultural implement carriers.

As regards the use of the latter with implements adapted for operation with them, a design of interest is the harrow with tines equipped with subsurface segment blades (Adamchuk et al., 2020). In all the rows of tines the blades are installed in the horizontal plane at the same angle of inclination. But such a harrow design does not provide for the efficient extirpation of weeds (weed stalks and roots become wound on the tools). The difficulty in the penetration of these harrowing tools into the soil, especially in case of the latter's increased compactness, which results, overall, in the insufficient quality of the soil tillage with regard to the depth of tillage, is another problem faced, when using the said type of harrows.

Another design of harrow for soil tillage (Bulgakov et al., 2020a) has been developed for arid soil management conditions. In this design, the subsurface segment blades in the first row are set in the longitudinal vertical plane, the blades in the second row are set at a greater inclination to the horizontal plane than the blades in the last rows. According to the authors, such a harrow design solution provides for the high quality of soil tillage and is appropriate for use in the agricultural wide span gantry units that travel on permanent traffic lanes.

The aim of the research described in this paper was to establish the conditions required for the efficient use of harrows in fallow land tillage and to determine the optimum parameters and characteristics for the harrowing unit based on a gantry agricultural implement carrier operating in a controlled traffic and wide span soil management system.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The experimental investigations were carried out standard techniques and the ones specially developed by the authors, with the use of up-to-date strain-gauge and controland-measuring equipment with analogue-to-digital conversion of the signals received from the installed strain-gauge and other slide-wire transducers. The obtained test experiment data were processed on the PC with the use of the probability calculus, the regression analysis as well as the correlation spectrum analysis.

During the experiments, the following tasks were pursued: to determine the longitudinal irregularity profiles of the permanent process lane and of the cultivated soil before and after harrowing, the moisture content and density of the soil, and the soil tillage depth.

The equipment used was a wide span gantry agricultural implement carrier with a track width of 3.5 m, the design of which had been developed by the authors (Fig. 1), and harrows designed for fallow land tillage (Adamchuk et al., 2020).



Figure 1. Harrowing unit based on gantry agricultural implement carrier.

The structural layout of the tools installed in the harrow for fallow land tillage is presented in Fig. 2. In this harrow, the front row tines feature flat segment blades installed at their ends in the longitudinal vertical plane. The tines in the second and all

the remaining rows have at their ends flat segment blades installed in the horizontal plane at an angle of α . Starting from the third row and further, the angle α , at which the flat segment blades are installed, decreases.

The area of the flat segment blades is determined by their linear dimensions $a \times b$. The depth, at which the tines of the harrow under consideration travel in the soil, is designated *h*.

The use of the tines that have flat segment blades fixed at their ends to facilitating the efficient cutting of weeds was a distinctive feature of the harrow used in the experimental investigations. The dimensions of the flat segment blades were selected so they would not obstruct the penetration of the tines into the soil to the required depth h, and would also efficiently rip



Figure 2. Design of harrow for fallow land tillage: I – first row tines; II – second row tines.

the soil to the pre-set depth without carryover of its lower moisture-laden layer to the field surface, thus achieving the necessary quality of soil tillage.

The harrowing unit used in the field experiments was attached to the gantry agricultural implement carrier, which was fitted with 9.5R32 tyres. The experiments were carried out with the use of a specially equipped field laboratory.

During the experiments, the irregularities of the longitudinal profile of the permanent process lane and the cultivated soil were recorded with a high accuracy automated profile recorder developed by the authors (Fig. 3).

The draught resistance of the

Figure 3. Automated field surface profile recorder.

harrows was determined with the use of a traction strain-gauge link attached to the SA-type dynamometric automatic hitch specially adapted for this purpose (Fig. 4).

The cultivated soil profile irregularities and the draught resistance of the harrowing tools, were recorded with the use of an integrated measuring and recording unit based on an analogue-digital converter and a personal computer (PC) loaded with the respective software programmes (Fig. 5).



Figure 4. SA-type dynamometric automatic hitch with traction strain-gauge link.



Figure 5. Integrated measuring and recording unit.

The records obtained in the process of the experiments were transferred in the form of digitised data into the Mathcad Prime 5.0 environment, where the calculations were performed. Mathcad was used to calculate the following statistical characteristics: mean value; root-mean-square (standard) deviation; variance; coefficient of variation; sample mean accuracy; normalised correlation function; normalised spectral density. The above-mentioned statistical parameters were determined with the use of techniques described by Brandt (2014). The error of direct parameter measurement did not exceed 1%.

The moisture content of the soil was determined in accordance with the standard thermostat-oven weighing method. The soil tillage depth was with a specially developed depth gauge at 10 locations on the diagonal of the cultivated land lot.

The experimental research was carried out on dark chestnut (*Kastanozem*) lightly alkaline (*Solonetz*) type of soil. The share of the fractions with soil clod diameters of up to 2.0 cm was at least 80%. The soil cloddiness (presence of lumps with diameters greater than 4 cm) was maximum 2–3 lumps per square metre. The cultivated soil used in the described experiments was a field prepared for sowing.

During the experiments, the mean value of the soil moisture content within the 0-10 cm layer was 26.8%, of the soil dry bulk density - 1.23 Mg m⁻³.

The experiments were carried out in a 50 m long test plot at speeds ranging from to 3.6, 4.1 and 4.5 km h⁻¹. At each of these travelling speeds, the experiments with data recording were performed in 3 replications, with the harrowing unit moving in both directions. Hence, the total number of experiments exceeded 30.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Analysis of the experimental data shows that the profile of the permanent process lane is smoother than the profile of the cultivated soil after its tillage. For example, the root mean square deviation of the harrowed soil profile was ± 1.36 cm, while for the profile of the lane it was ± 0.84 cm, which is 1.6 times less (Fig. 6).



Figure 6. Diagrams of normalised spectral density of irregularities in longitudinal profiles of permanent process lane track (1) and harrowed soil (2).

As regards their inherent structure, the irregularities in the profile of the permanent process lane are characterized by the function that together with random components contains also harmonic ones represented by damped periodic oscillations of the normalised correlation function (Fig. 7). According to it, the correlation length between the ordinates of the irregularities in the profile of the permanent process lane was circa 0.18 m, which corresponds to the spacing of the lugs on the tyres of the gantry agricultural implement carrier, the latter being equal to 0.175 m.



Figure 7. Diagrams of normalised correlation function of irregularities in longitudinal profiles of permanent process lane track (1) and harrowed soil (2).

The spectrum of the frequencies representing the random function of the irregularities in the profile of the permanent process lane is specified by the normalised spectral density of the ordinates of the said irregularities (Fig. 6). It has been established by analysing the normalised spectral density of irregularities in the profile of the permanent process lane that the cut-off frequency for this process was approximately 0.3 cm^{-1} . The main part of the variance of the track profile irregularity ordinate oscillations is concentrated within the range of frequencies $0-0.3 \text{ cm}^{-1}$. Their root mean square deviation corresponds to the height of the lugs on the tyres of the gantry agricultural implement carrier, which was 0.03 m.

The above analysis of the characteristics observed in the irregularities of the profile of the permanent process lane, on which the gantry agricultural implement carrier travels repeatedly many times, gives evidence of the fact that these irregularities are generated by the parameters of the lugs on its tyres.

The inherent structure of the irregularities in the profile of the cultivated lot of cultivated soil is to some extent different from that of the irregularities in the profile of the permanent process lane (Fig. 7). The correlation distance between the ordinates of the irregularities in the profile of the harrowed cultivated soil was about 12 cm. Such a profile of the agronomic background is typical of the fields cultivated for the purpose of sowing many agricultural crops.

As distinct from the irregularities generated by the tyres on the wheels of the gantry agricultural implement carrier in the profile of the permanent process lane tracks, the profile of the harrowed lot of agronomic background has a lower-frequency pattern (Fig. 7). The correlation length between the ordinates of the irregularities of the permanent process lane tracks is equal to about 0.175 cm.

The oscillations of the draught resistance offered by the harrowing implement represent a random function, in which harmonic components are absent (Fig. 8). The main variance spectrum of the tractive resistance oscillations is concentrated within the range of frequencies $0-3.5 \text{ s}^{-1}$.



Figure 8. Diagram of normalised correlation function of oscillations in draught resistance of harrowing implement.



Figure 9. Diagram of normalised spectral density of oscillations in draught resistance of harrowing implement.

The energy of the oscillation variance of the draught resistance offered by the harrow was equal to 0.027 kN², and the root mean square deviation σ_{Ph} was equal to 0.166 kN (Fig. 9). If the mean value of the draught resistance P_h produced by the three harrows in the gantry unit is equal to 1.71 kN, the coefficient of variation k of its oscillations in the process of harrowing is equal to 9.76% [$k = (\sigma_{Ph} \ 100) \ (P_h)^{-1} = (0.166 \cdot 100) \ (1.71)^{-1} = 9.76\%$]. Such a result is a good sign of high stability (low variability) of the process of harrowing using the gantry agricultural implement carrier.

The quality indices of the soil harrowing performed with the use of the gantry agricultural implement carrier equipped with harrows for fallow land tillage comply with the agrotechnical requirements applied to this process operation (Bulgakov et al., 2020a). In particular, the deviation of the actual cultivation depth h from the target value does not exceed ± 1 cm, while the height of the ridges on the agronomic background does not exceed 2 cm.

CONCLUSIONS

1. As a result of the experimental investigations carried out on a gantry agricultural implement carrier and a harrow for fallow land tillage, it has been proved that the implement is well adapted to the operation in controlled traffic and wide span soil management systems and delivers a high quality tillage result. The latter fact is also due to the gantry agricultural implement carrier travelling on the compacted tracks of the permanent process lane, the irregularity profile of which has a lower-frequency pattern as compared with the longitudinal profile of the harrowed soil.

2. The design of the harrow for fallow land tillage has a positive effect on the variation of its draught resistance. It has been established that the oscillations of the draught resistance produced by the harrowing implement represent a random function, in which harmonic components are absent. The coefficient of variation of the oscillations in the resistance force applied to the hook of the gantry agricultural implement carrier during harrowing work does not exceed 10%. That is indicative of the high stability (low variability) of the soil harrowing process. This characteristic, in its turn, provides for lower variation of the moment of resistance applied to the running gear of the gantry tractor, which, finally, has a positive effect on the stability of motion of the gantry agricultural implement carrier-based harrowing unit under consideration.

3. The operation of the agricultural gantry-carrier harrowing unit at a low rate of travel (less than 5 km h⁻¹) does not impair the quality indices specified for the work process under consideration by the agronomic standards. That renders possible significantly reducing in the future the energy intensity of the soil cultivation processes based on the use of gantry-carrier units travelling on the tracks of the permanent process lane, by means of reducing the operational travel rates for units with increased working widths.

REFERENCES

Adamchuk, V., Bulgakov, V., Nadykto, V. & Ivanovs, S. 2020. Investigation of tillage depth of black fallow impact upon moisture evaporation intensity. *Engineering for Rural Development* 19, 377–383. doi:10.22616/ERDev.2020.19.TF090

- Antille, D.L., Peets, S., Galambošová, J., Botta, G.F., Rataj, V., Macak, M., Tullberg, J.N., Chamen, W.C.T., White, D.R., Misiewicz, P.A., Hargreaves, P.R., Bienvenido, J.F. & Godwin, R.J. 2019. Review: Soil compaction and controlled traffic farming in arable and grass cropping systems. *Agronomy Research* 17(3), 653–683. doi: 10.15159/AR.19.133
- Antille, D.L., Chamen, W.C.T. & Tullberg, J.N. 2015. The potential of controlled traffic farming to mitigate greenhouse gas emissions and enhance carbon sequestration in arable land: a critical review. *In Transactions of the ASABE* **58**(3), 707–731.
- Bochtis, D.D., Sørensen, C.G. & Busatob, P. 2010. Tramline establishment in controlled traffic farming based on operational machinery cost. *Biosystems Engineering* **107**(3), 221–231.
- Brandt, S. 2014. Data analysis: Statistical and computational methods for scientists and engineers, eth ad., Springer International Publishing, 523 pp. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-03762-2
- Bulgakov, V., Adamchuk, V., Kuvachov, V., Arak, M. & Olt, J. 2017. Study into movement of wide span tractors (vehicles) used in controlled traffic farming. In: *Proceedings of the 28th DAAAM International Symposium: 28th DAAAM International Symposium "Intelligent Manufacturing and Automation"* (Ed. B. Katalinic). 2017 November 08–11, Zadar, Croatia, Vienna, Austria: DAAAM International Vienna, 0199–0208.10. 2507/28th.daaam.proceedings.027Bulgakov, V., Kuvachov, V. & Olt, J. 2019. Theoretical Study on Power Performance of Agricultural Gantry Systems. In: *30th International DAAAM Symposium "Intelligent Manufacturing & Automation*" (Ed. B. Katalinic). Zadar, 2019 October 23.–26, Vienna, Austria: DAAAM International: 0167–0175. 10.2507/30th.daaam.proceedings.022
- Bulgakov, V., Melnik, V., Kuvachov, V. & Olt, J. 2018. Theoretical Study on Linkage Unit of Wide Span Tractor. – In: *Proceedings of the 29th DAAAM International Symposium* (Ed. B. Katalinic). Vienna, Austria: DAAAM International Vienna, 0180-0189. 10.2507/29th.daaam.proceedings.026
- Bulgakov, V., Nadykto, V., Kaminskiy, V., Ryzhylo, Z., Volskyi, V. & Olt, J. 2020a. Experimental research into effect of harriwing unit's operating speed on uniformity of cultivation depth during tillage in fallow field. *Agronomy Reseach* 18(3), 1962–1972. doi: 10.15159/AR..20.200
- Bulgakov, V., Olt, J., Kuvachov, V & Smolinskyi, S. 2020b. A theoretical and experimental study of the traction properties of agricultural gantry systems. *Agraarteadus* **31**(1), 10–16. doi: 10.15159/jas.20.08
- Chamen, T. 2015. Controlled traffic farming from worldwide research to adoption in Europe and its future prospects. *Acta Technologica Agriculturae Nitra* **18**(3), 64–73. doi: 10.1515/ata-2015-0014
- Chamen, W.C.T. 2000. A new methodology for weed control and cereal crop production based on wide span vehicles and precision guidance: Biotrac. *Processing 4th EWRS workshop on physical weed control* (20–22 March 2000). Netherlands, 51–55.
- Chamen, W.C.T., Dowler, D. & Leede, P.R. 1994. Design, operation and performance of a gantry system: Experience in Arable Cropping. *Journal of Agricultural Engineering Research* **59**, 45–60.
- Chamen, W.C.T., Watts, S.W., Leede, P.R. & Longstaff, D.J. 1992. Assessment of a wide span vehicle (gantry) and soil and cereal crop responses to its use in a zero traffic regime. *Soil & Tillage Research* 24(4), 359–380. doi: 10.1016/0167-1987(92)90119-V
- Gasso, V., Sørensen, C. & Pedersen, H. 2014. An environmental life cycle assessment of controlled traffic farming. *Cleaner Production* **73**, 175–182.
- Gasso, V., Sørensen, C.A.G. & Oudshoorn, F.W. 2013. Controlled traffic farming: A review of the environmental impacts. *European Journal of Agronomy* **48**, 66–73.

- Kingwell, R. & Fuchsbichler, A. 2011. The whole–farm benefits of controlled traffic farming: An Australian appraisal. *Agricultural Systems* **104**(7), 513–521.
- McHugh, A.D., Tullberg, J.N. & Freebairn, D.M. 2009. Controlled traffic farming restores soil structure. *Soil Tillage Research* **104**(1), 164–172, doi: 10.1016/j.still.2008.10.010
- Nadykto, V. 2019. Modern development paths of agricultural production: Trends and innovations. Tavria State Agrotechnological University, Melitopol, 814 pp. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-14918-5
- Nadykto, V. 2012. Role of tractors' energy saturation rate in making of their range. *Tractors and agricultural machinery* **3**, 16–21.
- Onal, I. 2012. Controlled traffic farming and wide span tractors. *Agricultural Machinery Science* **8**(4), 353–364.
- Pedersen, H.H., Oudshoorn, F.W. & McPhee, J.E. 2016. Wide span re-mechanising vegetable production. *XXIX International horticultural congress on horticulture: sustaining lives, livelihoods and landscapes*: international symposia on the physiology of perennial fruit crops and production systems and mechanization, precision horticulture and robotics Book Series: *Acta Horticulturae* **1130**, 551–557.
- Pedersen, H.H., Sørensen, C.G. & Oudshoorn, F.W. 2013. User requirements for a wide span tractor for controlled traffic farming: CIOSTA XXXV Conference «From effective to intelligent agriculture and forester». International commission of agricultural and biological engineers (3–5 July 2013, Section V). Billund, Denmark, pp. 134–136.
- Raper, R.L. 2005. Agricultural traffic impacts on soil. *Terramechanics* 42, 259–280.
- Rohde, K. & Yule, D. 2003. Soil compaction and Controlled Traffic Farming research in Central Queensland. *Proceedings ISTRO* **16**, 1020–1027.
- Taylor, J.H. 1994. Development and Benefits of Vehicle Gantries and Controlled–Traffic Systems. In: Soane B.D., van Ouwerkerk C.(Eds). Soil Compaction in Crop Production. Elsevier Science Publishers, B., Amsterdam, pp. 521–537.
- Tullberg, J.N. 2009. Avoiding soil compaction in CA: controlled traffic systems for mechanized conservation agriculture and their effect on greenhouse gas balances In: *Proceedings* 4th *World Congress on Conservation Agriculture* (February 2009, New Delhi), pp. 85–190.

Zinc content in different muesli samples

I. Lignicka*, A. Balgalve and A.M. Zīdere-Laizāne

Felici LLC, Rigas gatve 8, LV-2164 Adazi, Adazu novads, Latvia *Correspondence: ilva.lignicka@musli.lv

Received: January 11th, 2021; Accepted: March 27th, 2021; Published: April 22nd, 2021

Abstract. There is no specialized zinc storage system in the body, therefore there must be a daily intake of zinc to achieve a steady state. Long-term zinc deficiency due to inappropriate nutrition may result in immunological or autoimmune diseases. The aim of this study was to develop muesli with naturally high zinc content. Zinc is found in various plant-based foods as grain flakes and seeds which often are one of the raw materials for muesli. Muesli is one of the grain-based food trends nowadays as people's life habits are changing due to fast-paced life, still, it is important to obtain all nutrients. According to zinc content in raw materials five different muesli samples were prepared, from all samples, muesli with the highest zinc content with 3.80 mg 100 mg⁻¹ was chosen for further analysis. Zinc bioavailability is assessed through the determination of absorbability. The kinetic in vitro intestinal digestion suggests how much zinc is released during digestion and could be absorbed in the small intestine. The results show that during digestion approximately 22% of zinc was absorbed in the small intestine. Such characteristics of *in vitro* digestion test shows that by one meal (50 g of muesli) it is possible to replenish our body zinc level by 0.42 mg. To check additional nutrient content in selected muesli samples different mineral and vitamin analyses were done. Mineral and vitamin content in the muesli sample was calculated according to their content in raw materials. Per portion, muesli is source of iron, magnesium, phosphorus, zinc, vitamin B1, vitamin B2, vitamin B3, vitamin B6 and vitamin E.

Key words: absorption, digestion, in vitro, muesli, zinc.

INTRODUCTION

Recent years plant-based product purchasing is growing since vegetarian and vegan diet is getting more popular. Vegetarians and vegans may potentially be at risk in zinc deficiency (Saunders et al., 2013) well planned diets can provide amounts from plant sources (Rose & Strombom, 2019), yet it is important to consume more products with naturally high zinc content. The role of breakfast cereals in balanced diet has been recognized for many years. Breakfast cereals are important source of vitamins and minerals, also, potentially important source of antioxidants and phytoestrogens, and wholegrains (Williams, 2014). Zinc is found in various plant-based foods as grain flakes and seeds which often are one of the raw materials for muesli.

Zinc is second most abundantly distributed trace element after iron. Zinc functions in biology are numerous but can be separated into three main categories: catalytic,

regulatory, and structural roles (Bhattacharya et al., 2016). It catalyses enzyme activity, contributes to protein structure, and regulates gene expression (Saper & Rash, 2009; Kambe et al., 2015). Zinc is cofactor for over 1,000 enzymatic reactions and is necessary for over 2000 transcription factors. Zn-fingers protein function for DNA interaction, RNA packaging, activation of transcription, regulation of apoptosis, folding and assembly of protein, and lipid binding. Also, around 10% of human proteins bind to zinc. This is the reason why zinc is associated with a wide variety of organic activities such development, differentiation, and cell growth (Ogawa et al., 2017).

Zinc absorption occurs throughout the small intestine. Approximately 30% of zinc in the diet is absorbed in the small intestine. Of the absorbed zinc, 80% and 20% are bound to blood albumin and alpha-2-macroglobulin. However, this protein-bound zinc comprises only 0.1% of the total body zinc, indicating that only this amount is replenished daily. This serum zinc is delivered and stored in peripheral tissues including skeletal muscle (60%), bones (30%), skin (5%) and liver (5%). Moreover, the skin is the third among tissues with the most abundance of zinc in the body. By strict regulation, zinc is stably maintained in the human body in a weight 2–3 g (Ogawa et al., 2016). It is generally agreed that most of the dietary zinc is absorbed in the proximal small intestine, through a transcellular saturable carrier-mediated mechanism. Even though the jejunum appears to have the highest rate of zinc absorption, the duodenum is first exposed to zinc during the postprandial period and is likely to also contribute to zinc absorption (Gopalsamy et al., 2015).

There is no specialized zinc storage system in the body, therefore there must be a daily intake of zinc to achieve a steady state. Long-term zinc deficiency due to inappropriate nutrition may result in immunological or autoimmune diseases. During zinc deficiency different immune functions are decreased. All these impaired functions are completely restored by zinc supplementation (Rink & Gabriel, 2000). Zinc bioavailability should also be considered which is determined in three basic stages - absorbability, mucosal transfer into systemic circulation and utilization within the body. As for human dietary studies, bioavailability is assessed through the determination of absorbability (Bel-Serrat et al., 2014). Phytate have considerable impact on percentage of zinc accessible for absorption. It can bind zinc in the intestinal lumen and form an insoluble complex that cannot be digested or absorbed because humans lack the intestinal phytase enzyme. Inhibitory effect on zinc absorption in adults can be substantial as there is no evidence of an adaptive response to habitual high-phytate intakes (King, 2016). Still some studies show that the total amount of zinc in a meal may have greater effect on zinc absorption than the presence of phytate (Saunders et al., 2013).

The aim of this study was to develop muesli with naturally high zinc content. Zinc is found in various plant-based foods as grain flakes and seeds which often are one of the raw materials for muesli. As previously mentioned, Bel-Serrat et al. (2014) reported that in human dietary studies, zinc bioavailability is assessed through the determination of absorbability. The kinetic *in vitro* intestinal digestion suggests how much zinc is released during digestion and could be absorbed in small intestine. *In vitro* digestion could be helpful after different high nutrition product development to formulate product which would have effect on consumer health. There are not many studies about zinc *in vitro* bioavailability from muesli or other grain products. This study will show the

amount of zinc absorbed after one muesli portion. To see additional nutrient content in selected muesli sample, different mineral and vitamin analysis were done.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Muesli development experiments were carried out at the laboratory of Felici LLC. Three repeated *in vitro* gastrointestinal digestion tests were carried out at the laboratory of Kauna Technical University (KTU). All ingredients used for muesli sample preparation and analysis were supplied by Felici LLC.

Raw material and product analysis

To check zinc content six different whole grain samples and two seed samples were tested. Muesli samples were prepared according to zinc content in selected raw materials, also, according to raw material price to develop market price relevant muesli. The main

requirement was 70% flakes, 25% seeds, 5% additional raw materials as freeze-dried fruits. Freeze-dried fruits are needed to achieve a more pleasant taste. According to previously mentioned points, five different muesli samples were prepared. Raw material and muesli sample list and their codes tested for zinc content are listed in Table 1.

Raw material and muesli sample zinc concentration was determined at food quality testing laboratory by ICP-MS (inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometry) according to PB-223/ICP, ed. II of 12.01.2015. method according to EN 15763:2010 standard.

Table 1. Sample codes used in research

Sample code
F1
F2
F3
F4
F5
F6
S1
S2
Sample code
M1
M2
M3
M4
M5

In vitro analysis

Static *in vitro* simulation operated under adult conditions. Muesli was digested *in vitro* according to INFOGEST 2.0 protocol (Minekus et al., 2014) INFOGEST static in vitro simulation of gastrointestinal food digestion protocol (Brodkorb et al., 2019). Muesli sample was grinded (Braun GmbH, Australia) into homogenous mix, particle size from 0.5 to 2.0 mm. To form a bolus grinded sample was taken in a beaker and same amount of distilled water (1:1) was added. 5 ± 0.01 g of sample was weighted (KERN&SOHN GmbH, Germany) in beaker. To initiate oral phase simulated saliva fluids (SSF) with salivary alpha-amylase from porcine pancreas (75 U mL⁻¹ of digest) to a final volume of 10 mL were added. Oral step lasted 2 minutes, pH 7 ± 0.1. Gastric phase was initiated by adding simulated gastric fluids (SGF) containing pepsin (2,000 U mL⁻¹ of digest) till 20 mL ± 1 and incubated for 120 min, under pH between 2 ± 0.1 and 3 ± 0.1. After incubation intestinal phase was initiated by adding simulated intestinal fluids (SIF) containing pancreatin (100 U mL⁻¹ of digest), lipase (2,000 U mL⁻¹ of digest) till 40 mL ± 1 and incubated for 120 min, under

pH 7 \pm 0.1. Temperature controlled water bath at 37 \pm 0.1 °C with continuous shaking at 150 rmp (Thermolab, Germany, GFL 1092) was used.

The digestion was stopped during gastric (G) phase after 0, 60, 120 minutes and duodenal (D) phase at 5, 60, 120 minutes. To neutralize sample to a pH of 7.0 ± 0.1 and stop digestion process the samples were cooled to $0-4 \pm 0.1$ °C in ice water. Sample pH was controlled by MW102-FOOD (Milwaukee Instruments, USA). After digestion samples were centrifuged at 4,000 rmp, at +4 °C temperature (MPW-260RH, MPW Med. Instruments, Warsaw, Poland) and filtered. The soluble fraction was collected and freeze-dried before analysis. Digestion procedure was performed thrice.

Zinc concentration was determined by atomic absorption spectroscopy method, which is based on selective absorption of electromagnetic waves by non-exited atoms of analyte. Samples were analysed with Perkin Elmer AAnalyst 400 (Perkin Elmer, USA) spectrometer utilizing flame as atomizer and zinc hollow cathode lamp as the source of electromagnetic radiation. Atomizer was produced by burning acetylene with air with oxidizing lean blue flame and absorption. Specific to zinc, it was measured at 213.9 nm, this wavelength provides linear range for measurements up to 1.0 mg L^{-1} with characteristic concentration of 0.018 mg L⁻¹. Using method of calibration curve using series of zinc standards with concentration ranging up to 1.0 mg L^{-1} quantification was performed. After each digestion step zinc content was determined, digestion procedure was performed twice.

Data processing

To analyse obtained data MS Excel 2016 was used. ANOVA analysis were performed to determine the difference between the samples. Factors were defined as significant if *p*-value was below 0.05.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Zinc content in different raw materials and muesli samples

As base for muesli production Felici LLC usually is using two types of wholegrain flakes, toasted, and rolled. Both used for their different structure, but the main reason is their nutrition. To check zinc content different grain flakes as toasted triticale, barely, oat, wheat flakes, rolled oat flakes and extruded buckwheat flakes were chosen and tested, as for seeds pumpkin and sunflower seeds were tested. Table 2 shows zinc content in different grain flakes and seeds. Zinc amount between grain flakes ranged from 1.21 to 2.83 mg 100 g⁻¹. Lowest zinc content was in extruded buckwheat flakes (without sugar), highest 2.23 and 2.82 mg 100 g^{-1} were in toasted triticale flakes and rolled oat flakes. As for seeds it was 5.00 mg 100 g⁻¹ for sunflower seeds and 7.50 mg 100 g⁻¹ for pumpkin seeds. To decide on the most appropriate raw materials, a review for zinc content in different grain flakes and seeds before analysis was done. Different studies emphasize zinc content in grains or rolled flakes, there are not many studies about zinc content in toasted and extruded flakes. Frolich et al. (2013) reported that 100 grams barley has 1.4 mg, rye 2.4 mg, wheat 2.6 mg and oats 2.9 mg of zinc, highest content was in whole grain oats. Biel et al. (2020) reported results showed that per 100 g oat grains has the lowest zinc content of 2.1 mg, as for other flakes, barley 2.3 mg, triticale 2.5 mg, and wheat have the highest content around 3.2 mg of zinc per 100 grams. In other study, Kruma et al. (2018) compared zinc content in triticale grains and flakes.

Zinc content per 100 g triticale grains was 3.12 mg, rolled flakes 2.84 mg, but content in toasted flakes prepared by different technological parameters varied from 2.49 till 2.68 mg. Study reported that loses of minerals were mainly influenced by rolling thickness.

The major losses could occur due to the solubilisation of minerals during the steaming process. This explains lower zinc content in toasted grain flakes. In whole obtained results showed that zinc content in grains and flakes in each study is different. Studies does not mention grain variety or flakes thickness what could affect zinc content in crops.

As for seeds, Saunders et al. (2013) reports that pumpkin seeds contain 7.5 mg, sunflower seeds 5.8 mg, sesame seeds 5.5 mg, and flaxseed 4.3 mg of zinc per 100 grams. Other studies report that zinc content in pumpkin seeds is 7.8 mg 100 g⁻¹ (Syed et al., 2019), sunflower seeds is 5.0 mg 100 g⁻¹ (Anjum et al., 2012), sesame seeds is 3.6 mg 100 g⁻¹ (Alyemeni et al., 2010),

Table 2. Zinc content in analysed rawmaterials and muesli samples

	Zinc content
Raw material sample code	
I	mg 100 g ⁻¹
F1	1.44 ± 0.01
F2	2.23 ± 0.01
F3	1.72 ± 0.01
F4	1.35 ± 0.01
F5	2.82 ± 0.01
F6	1.21 ± 0.01
S1	7.50 ± 0.01
S2	5.00 ± 0.01
Mussli commle acde	Zinc content,
Muesh sample code	mg 100 g ⁻¹
M1	1.89 ± 0.01
M2	2.44 ± 0.01
M3	2.09 ± 0.01
M4	2.54 ± 0.01
M5	3.80 ± 0.01

flaxseeds is 4.0 mg 100 g⁻¹ (Bernacchia et al., 2014). All studies reported that pumpkin seeds and sunflower seeds has the highest zinc content. Obtained results showed similar zinc content in pumpkin and sunflower seeds as in previously mentioned studies.

After results five different muesli samples were prepared and analysed, results shown in Table 4. Zinc content in muesli samples varied from 1.89 till 3.80 mg 100 g⁻¹. Looking at the results, it was decided to use M5 muesli sample with 3.80 mg 100 g⁻¹ zinc content for *in vitro* digestion test and for additional mineral and vitamin analysis. M5 sample contained following raw materials - toasted triticale flakes, rolled oat flakes, pumpkin seeds, and sunflower seeds, in total 96%. To improve muesli, taste freeze-dried pomegranate seeds, freeze-dried mango, banana, passiflora smoothie pieces and safflower petals were used.

According to regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 of the European Parliament and the council of 25 October 2011 and to regulation (EC) No 1924/2006 of the European Parliament and the council of 20 December 2006 daily reference intake for zinc is 10 mg so $3.80 \text{ mg } 100 \text{ g}^{-1}$ in developed muesli sample is high zinc content. By one portion, 50 g, it is possible to consume 1.90 mg of zinc, what will be 19% of daily reference intake, what would be source of zinc.

After European Commission request European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) has written scientific opinion on dietary reference values for zinc (EFSA panel on dietic products, nutrition, allergies (NDA)) which includes zinc average requirements and population reference intake for four different amounts of dietary phytate. This information is shown on Table 3.

As for EFSA (2014) scientific opinion on dietary reference values for zinc, for women varies from 7.5 mg day⁻¹ till 12.7 mg day⁻¹ for but for men from 9.4 mg day⁻¹ till 16.3 mg day⁻¹. Reference intake is based on level of phytate intake, from 300 till 1,200 mg day⁻¹. Estimations show that starting from phytate intake of 600 mg day⁻¹ zinc reference intake is higher than 10 mg day⁻¹. Further analysis for phytate content in muesli should be done.

Mineral and vitamin content in selected muesli sample

Nutritional quality of breakfast cereals is very important, as they can contribute significantly to daily intake of energy, carbohydrate, protein, dietary fibre, vitamin and mineral (Jones & Poutanen, 2020). To check additional nutrient content in selected muesli samples different mineral and vitamin analysis were done. Mineral and vitamin content in muesli sample were calculated according to their content in raw materials. As for minerals - iron, calcium, magnesium, phosphorus, potassium, and zinc and for vitamins - vitamin B1, vitamin B2, vitamin B3, vitamin B6 and vitamin E. Content and percent of daily reference intake is shown in Table 4.

Results show that muesli sample contains is $5.98 \text{ mg } 100 \text{ g}^{-1}$ of iron, per portion it would be 21.36% of daily reference intake. Iron, as zinc, is most abundant trace mineral in human body, with 3–4 g

Table 3. Estimations of Average Requirement (AR) and Population Reference Intake (PRI) for zinc according to phytate intake and body weight (adults) (EFSA, 2014)

Level of phytate	Body weight,	٨D	
intake, mg day ⁻¹	kg	АК	PKI (7
300	58.5 ^(a)	6.2	7.5
	68.1 ^(b)	7.5	9.4
600	58.5 ^(a)	7.6	9.3
	68.1 ^(b)	9.3	11.7
900	58.5 ^(a)	8.9	11.0
	68.1 ^(b)	11.0	14.0
1,200	58.5 ^(a)	10.2	12.7
	68.1 ^(b)	12.7	16.3

(a) Median body weight of 18 to 79 year old women based on measured body weight of 19,969 women in 13 EU Member States assuming a BMI of 22 kg m⁻² (see Appendix 11 in EFSA NDA Panel (2013)). At this body weight the psychological zinc requirements are 2.9 mg day⁻¹ (EFSA, 2014);

(b) Median body weight of 18 to 79 year old men based on measured body weight of 16,500 men in 13 EU Member States assuming a BMI of 22 kg m⁻² (see Appendix 11 in EFSA NDA Panel (2013)). At this body weight the psychological zinc requirements are 3.2 mg day^{-1} (EFSA, 2014);

(c) Dietary zinc intake of subjects with a body weight at the 97.5 percentile of the reference body weights (i.e., 79.4 kg for men, 68.1 kg for women) (EFSA, 2014).

Table 4. Mineral and vitamin content in selected muesli sample

-		
Minerals and	Content,	Daily reference
vitamins	mg 100 g ⁻¹	intake*, %
Iron	5.98 ± 0.01	42.71 ± 0.01
Calcium	49.80 ± 0.01	6.23 ± 0.01
Magnesium	220.73 ± 0.01	58.86 ± 0.01
Phosphorus	519.62 ± 0.01	74.23 ± 0.01
Potassium	460.85 ± 0.01	23.04 ± 0.01
Zinc	3.80 ± 0.01	38.00 ± 0.01
Vitamin B1	1.07 ± 0.01	97.27 ± 0.01
Vitamin B2	0.89 ± 0.01	63.57 ± 0.01
Vitamin B3	11.33 ± 0.01	70.81 ± 0.01
Vitamin B6	1.17 ± 0.01	83.57 ± 0.01
Vitamin E	8.04 ± 0.01	67.00 ± 0.01

* According to regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 of the European Parliament and the council of 25 October 2011.s

of iron present in average adult. Iron and zinc are frequently assessed together as these minerals share common dietary sources, the absorption of both nutrients from food is believed to be enhanced and inhibited by similar compounds, and consequently, deficiency of both nutrients occur simultaneously (Lim et al., 2013). Results show that

muesli sample contains 49.80 mg 100 g^{-1} of calcium, per portion it would be 3.11% of daily reference intake. Winiarska-Mieczan et al. (2016) reported similar average results in muesli and crunchy, around 39.22 mg 100 g⁻¹. Calcium is abundant element in human body, it contains around 1 kg of calcium with more than 99% deposit in the bone in the form of calcium phosphate. Through interacting with numerous proteins distributed in different cellular compartments, calcium is involved in large amounts of aspects of life, such as muscle contraction, enzyme activation, cell differentiation, immune response, programmed cell death and neuronal activity (Pu et al., 2016). Results show 220.73 mg 100 g⁻¹ of magnesium, per portion it would be 29.43% of daily reference intake. Winiarska-Mieczan et al. (2016) reported average result of 84.33 mg 100 g⁻¹ what is 2.6 times less than in tested muesli sample. Magnesium is the fourth most common mineral in the human body after calcium, sodium and potassium and is the second most common intracellular cation after potassium. Within the frame of 70 kg individual, there is an average of 25 g of magnesium in reserve with 53% in bone, 27% in muscle, 19% in soft tissues and less than 1% in the serum (Schwalfenberg & Genius, 2017). It plays an important role in molecular, biochemical, physiological, and pharmacological functions in the body (Faheemuddin & Abdul, 2019). After analysis it is possible to see that muesli sample contains 519.62 mg 100 g⁻¹ of phosphorus, per portion it would be 37.12% of daily reference intake. Phosphorus is one of the most abundant minerals in the body, majority stored in bone and teeth. Maintenance of extracellular and intracellular phosphate levels within a narrow range is important for many biological processes, including energy metabolism, cell signalling, regulation of protein synthesis, skeletal development, and bone integrity. The recommended dietary allowance, 700 mg day⁻¹, for healthy adults, is meant to maintain serum phosphorus concentrations within the physiologic range of 2.5 to 4.5 mg dL⁻¹ (Kiela et al., 2017). Results show that muesli sample contains 460.85 mg 100 g⁻¹ of potassium, per portion it would be 11.52% of daily reference intake. Winiarska-Mieczan et al. (2016) reported average result of 182.9 mg 100 g⁻¹ what is 2.5 times less than in tested muesli sample. Potassium is the main intracellular cation in the body and is principally involved in membrane potential and electrical excitation of both nerve and muscle cells and acidbase regulation. On average, the potassium content of an adult human is estimated to be around 1.6 to 2.0 g kg⁻¹ body weight (Lanham-New et al., 2012). Results show 1.07, 0.89, 11.33 and 1.17 mg 100 g⁻¹ of vitamin B1, B2, B3 and B6 in the product. After eating one portion it is possible to admit 48.63% of daily reference intake for vitamin B1, 31.78% of daily reference intake for vitamin B2, 35.40% of daily reference intake for vitamin B3 and 41.79% of daily reference intake for vitamin B6. Vitamins B comprises a class of water-soluble complexes. It has very important molecular function in the human body. Vitamin B1 (thiamine) strengthen the immune system, helps neuronal communication, maintains processes in cells and tissues. Vitamin B2 (riboflavin) metabolize fats, protect from ischemia reperfusion. Vitamin B3 (niacin) works in DNA proliferation, produces energy (Karunaratne et al., 2017). Vitamin B6 participates in more than one hundred transamination, decarboxylation, and other types of reactions, including the initial step of porphyrin synthesis, glycogen mobilization, amino acid transsulfuration, and neurotransmitter synthesis (Kohlmeier, 2003). Results show that product contain 8.04 mg 100 g⁻¹ of vitamin E, for one portion it is 33.5% of daily reference intake. Vitamin E mostly recognized for its antioxidant function that terminates the self-perpetuating cycle of lipid peroxidation (Bruno & Mah, 2014).

Daily reference intake was calculated according to regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 of the European Parliament and the council of 25 October 2011. Per portion muesli is source of iron, magnesium, phosphorus, zinc, vitamin B1, vitamin B2, vitamin B3, vitamin B6 and vitamin E.

In vitro analysis

Zinc digestion results are presented in Fig. 1 as average release. Average results show that in small intestine in total 22% of zinc was absorbed, it means that by one muesli portion it is possible to replenish our body zinc level approximately by 0.42 mg,

maximum 0.63 mg of zinc. In the end of gastric (G) phase 67% of zinc was released. At the beginning of duodenal (D) phase 77% of zinc released, after 60 minutes 84% of zinc were released, but in the end of duodenal (D) phase, after 120 minutes, 89% of zinc were released from loaded muesli sample. In one of three measurements in the end of duodenal phase 100% of zinc was absorbed. what shows that maximum 33% of zinc could be absorbed in small intestine. Values indicates significant difference between in vitro digestion stages (p < 0.05).

As reported by Ogawa et al. (2016) approximately 30% of zinc in the diet is absorbed in the small intestine, obtained results are similar. Looking at other zinc digestion tests, Silva et al. (2020)



Figure 1. Release of zinc during gastric (G) and intestinal (D) *in vitro* digestion: G0 – gastric phase at 0 min digestion; G60 – gastric phase at 60 min digestion; G120 – gastric phase at 120 min digestion; D5 – duodenal phase at 5 min digestion; D60 – duodenal phase at 60 min digestion; D120 – duodenal phase at 120 min digestion.

in their study, where they compared organic and inorganic forms of zinc in salmonid diet, reported that solubility was similar in both diets tested. The amount of soluble zinc was low in the acidic hydrolysis (3–8%) and lower in the alkaline hydrolysis (0.4–2%). Results are significantly lower than in this study, yet they reported that solubility is impacted, also, by the pH of the gastrointestinal environment. In other study, Martinez et al. (1998) reported that the solubility of zinc of green beans evaluated by an *in vitro* method was from 14.7 till 55.1%. Observed results showed wide range. Results can be different in salmonoid diet as it contains both animal and plant ingredients, and it is lipid rich sample (Silva et al., 2020). It is possible to see that zinc solubility during digestion is impacted by different factors as mineral chemical form, pH of the gastrointestinal environment, phytate intake, fibres such as cellulose, etc. (Maares & Haase, 2020).

CONCLUSIONS

This study shows that zinc content in grain flakes varies according to grain variety and used flake type. As mentioned in other studies the major losses could occur due to the solubilisation of minerals during the steaming process. This shows why zinc content in toasted flakes will be lower than in rolled flakes. Also, as different grain varieties during production are used it is needed to follow grain variety and it zinc content each season. In vitro digestion test average results showed that by one meal (50 g of muesli) it is possible to replenish our body zinc level by 0.42 mg. Overall results show that this muesli can be used for consumers with different diets to replenish their body zinc level each day. Of course, zinc solubility during digestion is impacted by different factors as mineral chemical form, pH of the gastrointestinal environment, phytate intake, fibres such as cellulose, etc. Different raw material processing methods as thermal processing, malting (followed by germination), fermentation, soaking in water, hydrothermal treatment can reduce dietary phytate content (Gibson et al., 2018). Developed muesli contains raw materials which have had thermal processing and hydrothermal treatment what potentially leads to reduced dietary phytate content in muesli. Further investigation on dietary phytate content, it impacts on digestion should be done. In this study, other mineral and vitamin content in muesli sample were calculated according to their content in raw materials. Per portion, muesli is source of iron, magnesium, phosphorus, zinc, vitamin B1, vitamin B2, vitamin B3, vitamin B6 and vitamin E. Further laboratory tests on total mineral and vitamin content in developed muesli sample for more precise results should be applied. Results show that by one muesli portion it is possible to receive different naturally present minerals and vitamins.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS. In accordance with contract No. 1.2.1.1/18/A/002 between 'Latvian Food Competence Centre' Ltd. And the Central Finance and Contracting Agency, the study is conducted by 'Felici' LLC. With support from the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) within the framework of the project 'Latvian Food Industry Competence Centre'.

REFERENCES

- Alyemeni, M.N., Basahy, A.Y. & Sher, H. 2010. Physico-chemical analysis and mineral composition of some sesame seeds (*Sesamum indicum L.*) grown in the Gizan area of Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Medicinal Plants Research* **5**(2), 270–274.
- Anjum, F.M., Nadeem, M., Khan, M.I. & Hussain, S. 2012. Nutritional and therapeutic potentional of sunflower seeds: a review. *British Food Journal* **114**(4), 544–552.
- Bel-Serrat, S., Stammers, A.L., Warthon-Medina, M., Moran, V.H., Iglesia-Altaba, I., Hermoso, M., Morenco, L.A. & Lowe, N.M. 2014. EURRECA Network Factors that affect zinc bioavailability and losses in adult and elderly populations. *Nutrition Reviews* 72(5), 334–352.
- Bernacchia, R., Preti, R. & Vinci, G. 2014. Chemical Composition and Health Benefits of Flaxseed. *Austin Journal of Nutrition and Food Sciences* **2**(8), 1045.
- Bhattacharya, P.T., Misra, S.R. & Hussain, M. 2016. Nutritional Aspects os Essential Trace Elements in Oral Health and Disease: An Extensive Review. Scientifica (Cairo). doi: 10.1155/2016/5464373
- Biel, W., Kazimierska, K. & Bashutska, U. 2020. Nutritional value of wheat, triticale, barely and oat grains. Acta Sci. Pol. Zootechnica 19(2), 19–28.
- Brodkorb, A., Egger, L., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Assuncao, R., Ballance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu-Lacanal, C., Boutrou, R., Carriere, F., Clemente, C., Corredig, M., Dupont, D., Dufour, C., Edwards, C., Golding, M., Karakaya, S., Kirkhus, B., Le Feunteun, S., Lesmes, U., Macierzanka, A., Mackie, A.R., Martins, C., Marze, S., McClements, D.J., Menard, O., Minekus, M., Portmann, R., Santos, C.N., Souchon, I., Singh, R.P., Vegarud, G.E., Wickham, M.S.J., Wetschies, W. & Recio, I. 2019. INFOGEST static in vitro simulation of gastrointestinal food digestion. *Nature protocols* 14, 991–1014.
- Bruno, R.S. & Mah, E. 2014. Vitamin E. In: Reference Module in Biomedical Sciences. USA
- European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) (2014) Scientific Opinion on Dietary Reference Values for zinc, EFSA panel on dietic products, nutrition, allergies (NDA). *EFSA Journal* 2014. **12**(10), p. 76.
- Faheemuddin, A. & Abdul, M. 2019. Magnesium: The Forgotten Electrolyte A Review on Hypomagnesemia. *Medical Sciences* 7(4), 56.
- Frolich, W., Aman, P. & Tetens, I. 2013. Whole grain foods and health a Scandinavian perspective. *Food & Nutrition Research* 57(1). DOI: 10.3402/fnr.v57i0.18503
- Gibson, R.S., Raboy, V. & King, J.C. 2018. Implications of phytate in plant-based foods for iron and zinc bioavailability, setting dietary requirements, and formulating programs and policies. *Nutrition Reviews* **76**(11), 793–804.
- Gopalsamy, G.L., Alpers, D.H., Binder, H.J., Tran, C.D., Ramakrishna, B.S., Brown, I., Manary, M., Mortimer, E. & Young, G.P. 2015. The Relevance of the Colon to Zinc Nutrition. *Nutrients* 7(1), 572–583.
- Jones, J.M. & Poutanen, K.S. 2020. 19-Nutritional aspects of breakfast cereals. In A.A. Perdon, S.L. Schonauer, K.S. Poutanen (eds) *Breakfast Cereals and How They Are Made* (Third Edition). Woodhead Publishing and AAC International Press, Cambridge, 391–413.
- Kambe, T., Tsuji, T., Hashimoto, A. & Itsumura, N. 2015. The Phsycological, Biochemical, and Molecular Roles of Zinc Transporters in Zinc Homeostasis and Metabolism. *Physiological reviews* **95**(3), 749–784.
- Karunaratne, D.N., Siriwardhana, D.A.S., Ariyarathna, I.R., Rajakaruna, R.M.P.I., Banu, F.T. & Karunaratne, V. 2017. 17 Nutrient delivery through nanoencapsulation. In A.M. Grumezescu (eds), *Nutrient Delivery*. Academic Press, Cambridge, 653–680
- Kiela, P.R., Radhakirshnan, V.M. & Ghishan, F.K. 2017. Chapter 34 Phosphorus: Basic Nutritional Aspects. In J. Collins (eds), *Molecular, Genetic, and Nutritional Aspects of Major and Trace Minerals*. Academic Press, Cambridge, 413–427.
- King, J.C., Brown, K.H., Ginson, R.S., Krebs, N.F., Lowe, N.M., Siekmann, J.H. & Raiten, D.J. 2016. Biomarker of Nutrition for Development (BOND) - Zinc review. *The journal of nutrition*. 146(4), 858–885.
- Kohlmeier, M. 2003. Vitamin B6. In M. Kohlmeier (eds), *Nutrient Metabolism*. Academic press, Cambridge, 581–591.
- Kruma, Z., Straumite, E., Kince, T., Klava, D., Abelniece, K. & Balgalve, A. 2018. Influence of technological parameters on chemical composition of triticale flakes. *Agronomy Research*. 16(S2), 1417–1424.
- Lanham-New, S.A., Lambert, H. & Frassetto, L. 2012. Potassium. Advances in nutrition 3(6), 820–821.
- Lim, K.H.C., Riddell, L.J., Nowson, C.A., Booth, A.O. & Szymlek-Gay, E.A. 2013. Iron and Zinc Nutrition in the Economically- Developed World: A Review. *Nutrients* 5(8), 3184–3211.
- Maares, M. & Haase, H. 2020. A Guide to Human Zinc Absorbtion: General Overview and Recent Advances of in Vitro Intestinal Models. *Nutrients* **12**(3), 762.
- Martinez, C., Ros, G., Periago, M.J., Ortuno, J., Lopez, G. & Rincon, F. 1998. In vitro protein digestibility and mineral availability of green beans (Phaseolus vulgaris L) as influenced by variety and pod size. *Science of Food and Agriculture* **77**(3), 414–420.

- Minekus, M., Alminger, M., Alvito, P., Balance, S., Bohn, T., Bourlieu, C., Carriere, F., Boutrou, R., Corredig, M., Dupon, D., Dufour, C., Egger, L., Golding, M., Karakaya, S., Kirkhus, B., Le Feunteun, S., Lesmes, U., Macierzanka, A., Mackie, A., Marze, S., McClements, D.J., Menard, O., Recio, I., Santos, C.N., Singh, R.P., Vegarud, G.E., Wickham, M.S.J., Weitschiest, W. & Brodkorb, A. 2014. A standardised static *in vitro* digestion method suitable for food an international consensus. *Food Function* 5(6), 1113–1124.
- Ogawa, Y., Kawamura, T. & Shimada, S. 2016. Zinc and skin biology. *Archives of Biochemestry* and Biophysics **611**(1), 113–119.
- Ogawa, Y., Kinoshita, M., Shimada, Sh. & Kawamura, T. 2017. Zinc and Skin Disorder. *Nutrients*. **10**(2), 199.
- Pu, F., Chen, N. & Xue, S. 2016. Calcium intake, calcium homeostasis and health. Food Science and Human Wellness 5(1), 8–16.
- Regulation (EU) No 1169/2011 of the European Parliament and the council of 25 October 2011 on the provision of food information to consumers, amending Regulations (EC) No 1924/2006 and (EC) No 1925/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council, and repealing Commission Directive 87/250/EEC/, Council Directive 90/496/EEC, Commission Directive 1999/10/EC, Directive 2000/13/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council, Commission Directives 2002/67/EC and 2008/5/EC and Commission Regulation (EC) No 608/2004.
- Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006 of the European Parliament and the council of 20 December 2006 on nutrition and health claims made of foods.
- Rink, L. & Gabriel, P. 2000. Zinc and the immune system. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society* **59**, 541–552.
- Rose, S.D. & Strombom, A.J. 2019. Ensuring Adequate Zinc Status in Vegans and Vegeterians. *Advanced Research in Gastroenterology & Hepatology* 14(3), 39–42.
- Saper, R.B. & Rash, R. 2009. Zinc: An Essential Micronutrient. Am Fam Physician 79(9), 768–772.
- Saunders, A.V., Craig, W.J. & Baines, S.K. 2013. Zinc and vegeterian diets. *The medical journal of Australia* **199**(4), 17–21.
- Schwalfenberg, G.K. & Genius, S.J. 2017. The Importance of Magnesium in Clinical Healthcare. *Scientifica* **2017**. 4179326. doi: 10.1155/2017/4179326
- Silva, M.S., Prabhu, P.A.J., Ornsrud, R., Sele, V., Krockel, S., Sloth, J.J. & Amlund, H. 2020. In vitro digestion method to evaluate solubility of dietary zinc, selenium and manganese in salmonid diets. *Journal of Trace Elements in Medicine and Biology* **57**, 152–159.
- Syed, Q.A., Akram, M. & Shukat, R. 2019. Nutritional and Therapeutic Importance of the Pumpkin Seeds. *Biomedical Journal of Scientific & Technical Research* 21(2), 15798–15803.
- Williams, P.G. 2014. The Benefits of Breakfast Cereal Consumption: A Systematic Review of the Evidence Base. *Advances in nutrition* **15**(5), 636–673.
- Winiarska-Mieczan, A., Kwiecien, M., Kwiatkowska, K. & Krusinski, R. 2016. Breakfast cerel as a source of sodium, pottasium, calcium and magnesium for school-age children. *Journal* of Elementology 21(2), 571–584.

Comprehensive study on wheat flour quality attributes as influence by different agrotechnical factors

Z. Magyar^{1,*}, P. Pepó¹ and E. Gyimes²

¹University of Debrecen, Kerpely Kálmán Doctoral School, Böszörményi street 138, HU4032 Debrecen, Hungary

²University of Szeged, Faculty of Engineering, Mars square 7, HU6724 Szeged, Hungary ^{*}Corresponding author. magyarzoltan93@gmail.com

Received: November 27th, 2020; Accepted: February 2nd, 2021; Published: March 2nd, 2021

Abstract. The present polyfactorial long-term experiment was conducted to determine the role of different agrotechnical factors, like fertilization, forecrop, year and cultivar on the quality and yield attributes of a classical and a modern winter wheat genotypes. The research gives a complex view of the alteration of the most quality parameters (32) that are rarely done together in a single experiment (n = 96). All the studied factors had a significant effect on some tested properties. First growing season with fair water supply was beneficial for yield (+21.7%) however, the 2nd one with mild weather in spring and average annual precipitation was favourable for quality parameters (HFN: +3%, GI: +19%, GS: -51%, DDT: +22.4%, ST: +24.6%, DS: -14%, PDR: +37.6%, PD: +6%, PMR: +51.5%, PE: +52.7%, W: +25.8%, LV: +16.3%, HI: +13.3%). The optimal fertilizer demand of the different parameters varied to realize the potential of the varieties (N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀ for Y, VWA, PWA, PMR, PE, LV, Mavg, KW and HI; meanwhile N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃ for CP, WGC, ZI, VQN, ST, W and P/L). In the case of suboptimal nutrient supply, the effect of fore crops was significant (Y, CP, DGC, ZI, FE, VQN, DDT, ST, DS, PDR, PMR, PE, Mavg and all alveographic values). Comparing the varieties, GK Öthalom had better fertilizer response attribute (NUE_{CP}) and quality parameters, till then My Ispán possessed significantly better natural nutrient utilizing property (+22.9%), NUE_Y and yield (+31.7% in 2019). Summarizing the results, there is a need to put great emphasis on the selection of adapted cultivar and variety-specific agrotechnology practices, also these data contribute to a better understanding of the relationships between the quality parameters.

Key words: wheat flour quality, agrotechnical factors, yield, baking quality, fertilization.

Used abbreviations: Yr: year; Cv: cultivar; Fc: forecrop; Tr: treatment; FE: flour extraction rate; VWA: valorigraphic water adsorption; VQN: valorigraphic quality number; VQG: valorigraphic quality group; DDT: dough development time; ST: dough stability; DS: dough softening; GI: gluten index; WGC: wet gluten content; DGC: dry gluten content; GS: gluten spread; HFN: Hagberg falling number; LFR: loaf form ratio; LV: loaf volume; PWA: promilographic water adsorption; PDR: promilographic ductility resistance; PD: promilographic ductility; PMR: promilographic maximum resistance; PE: promilographic energy; P: alveographic tenacity; L: alveographic extensibility; P/L: ratio of tenacity and extensibility; W: alveographic deformation work; SD: starch damage; ZI: Zeleny index; Mavg: Malvern average (particle size distribution); CP: crude protein; HI: hardness index; KD: kernel diameter; KW: kernel weight;

NIRP: NIR crude protein; NIRWG: NIR wet gluten content; PSD: particle size distribution; VU: valorigraphic unit; PU: promilographic unit.

INTRODUCTION

Wheat flour is playing an unquestionably important role in our daily diet (Shewry & Hey, 2015), since it is the basic material of many industries, like baking, confectionery and pasta. The continuously increasing demands have led to the current challenge of agriculture, namely improving yield sustainably without exploiting the environment (Hawkesford et al., 2014). Another urgent problem is the frequency of abiotic stresses (Guzman et al., 2016), like temperature over 40 °C during grain filling period and the distribution and the amount of precipitation (Kong et al., 2013), which indicates that modern wheat cultivars have to possess good stress and disease tolerance ability next to proper yielding and quality attributes (Tayyar, 2010). In 2019, 24% of global wheat production was sold in international trade (OECD, 2019). The sales price of the exported wheat is determined by quality parameters of the given batch (Budai & Fükő, 1996). Hungary is traditionally a high-quality wheat growing country long ago (Bedő et al., 2018), which is also presented in the complexity of the national wheat standard (Table 1). In the case of growing wheat to export, every country has its quality standard that has to be taken into account. For instance, in Hungary, farinograph and valorigraph (ON) are one of the most substantial methods, in England starch damage, meanwhile in

Italy P/L value, in France, South America, Portugal, Spain and Bosnia W value. In the past, the opinion of the researches changed a lot about which parameter or method is the most informative: VON and HFN (Pollhamer, 1981): baking test (Markovics. 2001): VQN (Diósi et al., 2015); HFN, VWA, W and dough ductility (Huen et al., 2018).

Lubic 1. Hungarian wheat Standard (1152) 0500.2017

Parameters	Dramium	I.	II.	
1 arameters	I ICIIIIIII	class	class	
Crude protein	14.0	12.5	11.5	%
Wet gluten content	34	30	26	%
Hagberg falling number (min)	300	250	220	S
Zeleny index	45	35	30	mL
Valorigraph quality group	А	В	В	
Valorigraph water absorption	60	55	55	%
Stability	10	6	4	min
W	280	200	150	10 ⁻⁴ J
P/L (max)	1.0	1.5	1.5	

Wheat quality is excessively complex (Massaux et al., 2008), also it is impossible to define it with only one parameter. The quality parameters of wheat can be divided into two major groups: 1) chemical properties, like protein and wet gluten content, sedimentation value (Pasha et al., 2010); 2) physical ones, like colour, shape, weight and kernel hardness (Szabó et al., 2014), these attributes determine together the milling and baking value.

The quality of wheat is a genetically coded characteristic, although it is primordial to choose the right agronomy practice for realizing its yield and quality potential. These attributes can be greatly affected by forecrop, which is favourable if it does not exploit the nutrient and water supplies of the soil (Ragasits, 1998). Forecrop can influence significantly the yield in the case of control nutritional treatment and drier growing seasons, but fertilizing can mitigate these differences (Pepó, 2010c). The more unfavourable ecological conditions are left behind by a preceding crop, the greater

economic investments are needed to be performed to create the adequate, basic conditions for growing good quality crop (Hajdu, 1977). In the 3-year experiment of Stoeva & Ivanova (2009), next to average fertilization, there was no observable difference between sunflower and maize as a forecrop considering WGC, LV, quality number and sedimentation value. Maize is an acceptable forecrop, but the earliness of its harvest is a substantial factor because of the appropriate preparatory works (Koltay & Balla, 1982). In Hungary, the growing area of sweet corn increased four-fold in the last 3 decades (HCSO, 2020). In addition to this, Hungary gives the one-fifth of European sunflower production (HNCAE, 2017).

Nagy & Pepó (2015) summarized the results of their 10 years long experiment, the yield surplus could be attributed to 50% fertilizing, 28% preceding crop, 16% pest control and 4% cropping year. In addition to this, Pepó & Sárvári (2011) concluded that the quality of wheat was influenced by 27% cultivar, 22% year-effect, 8% forecrop and 20% fertilizing. The 480-550 mm optimal water demand of wheat is considered moderate in accordance with other crops (Uthayakumaran & Wrigley, 2017). The utilization of fertilizers is influenced by water supply. In the experiment of Pepó (2010a) the yield surplus was 0.9–2.1 tonne ha⁻¹ in droughty seasons, till then this value was 3.6–4.3 tonne ha⁻¹ in average seasons. Lack of available water in autumn and spring can suppress early growth, stem elongation and fertilization (Pepó & Sárvári, 2011). In the study of Pepó (2010b), 1 mm precipitation induced 13.2 kg in the case of control treatment, meanwhile 20.7 kg next to optimal fertilization. In rainy seasons the grain filling period can be lengthened, which has a positive effect on yield (Gooding et al., 2017). In spring, rapid warming has a detrimental effect on tillering, until then the high temperature can worsen the grain filling period (Tayyar, 2010; Pepó & Sárvári, 2011; Szabó et al., 2017).

One of the most vital agrotechnics is proper nutritional supply, which can be achieved by fertilization (Győri & Győriné, 1998). Discussed by Nagy & Pepó (2015), in a given season the difference between two varieties can be 3 tonne ha⁻¹ next to the same agronomic practice. The usage of fertilizers is influenced by nutrient reactionary properties (Pepó, 2011). Cultivar-effect significantly affected VQN, VWA, DDT, DS, WGC, CP, GI, ZI, LV, HFN, FE and SD parameters (Lukow & Vetty, 1991; Kovács, 1992; Panozzo & Eagles, 2000; Tanács & Gerő, 2003; Masauskiene & Ceseviciene, 2005). According to Borghi et al. (1995), nitrogen fertilizer has a decisive influence on the baking quality of wheat. The crude protein content is determined fundamentally by the genetically potential of the grown wheat genotype and the available nitrogen supply in the soil (Fowler, 2003). Above a certain threshold, increasing fertilizer dosage does not improve statistically yield and quality of winter wheat. This threshold was 210 kg ha⁻¹ in Ying et al. (2017), 180 kg ha⁻¹ N in Walsh et al. (2018) and Kovács (1992) and 168 kg ha⁻¹ N in Shi et al. (2007) researches. The optimal N fertilizer dosage is between 120–150 kg ha⁻¹, recommended by many researchers (Kovács, 1992; Montemurro et al., 2007; Horváth et al., 2014; Asthir et al., 2017). In practice, a smaller amount of fertilizer is needed to maximize yield than realizing quality potential (Pepó, 2010c), for instance, in the research of Garrido-Lestache et al. (2004) the optimal N fertilizer dosage was 100 kg ha⁻¹ for yield and 150 kg ha⁻¹ for crude protein. Calculating optimal fertilizer dosage: soil type, preceding crop, variety and nutrient supply of soil have to be taken into account (Bicskei, 2008). According to Gugava & Korokhashvili (2018), 40–50% of the applied fertilizer is actually taken up by crops, the rest is leached

out, evaporated or mineralized, this is why the timing of fertilizing is so substantial. Nitrogen fertilization increased significantly CP (Rao et al., 1993), WGC (Litke et al., 2018), water absorption (Kovács, 1992), DDT (Linina et al., 2014), quality number (Pollhamer, 1973) LV, yield, GI (Massoudifar et al., 2014), sedimentation value (Linina & Ruza, 2012), W, P/L (Garrido-Lestache et al., 2004), kernel hardness (Guarda et al., 2004), starch damage, DGC, ST, PSD (Cho et al., 2018) and P (Matuz et al., 2007), decreased DS and extensographic extensibility (Wooding et al., 2000), and worsened gluten spread and LFR (Pollhamer, 1965), but did not affect flour extraction rate (Cho et al., 2018). It must be emphasized that high wet gluten content is not equal with good gluten quality (Curic et al., 2001). Fertilizer dosage was in tight positive correlation with crude protein and wet gluten content (Masauskiene & Ceseviciene, 2005; Eser et al., 2017). Nitrogen fertilization can affect significantly the ratio and the number of gluten proteins (Wieser & Seilmeier, 1998), therefore the baking test volume and the gluten spreading as well (Pollhamer, 1973).

According to Chantret et al. (2005) kernel hardness is an inherited characteristic, and it can determinate damaged starch content, flour extraction rate, PSD and water absorption (Eliasson & Larsson, 1993; Manley, 1995). Particle size distribution is influenced by kernel hardness and milling technology, moreover the harder the wheat is, the greater the PSD will be after milling. Also, smaller PSD results in better water absorption, because of the increased surface (Preston and Williams, 2003). HFN can be significantly modified by the effect of cultivar and year (Gerő & Tanács, 2003).

Gabriel et al. (2017) pointed out that, defining crude protein is not enough to determine the quality potential of a flour batch, because over 12% CP content, the correlation between loaf volume and crude protein was not significant in their experiment, so high CP does not mean loaf with big volume in every case. The real quality value of wheat flour is expressed during processing (Pollhamer, 1981), which can be predicted by testing samples with different rheological methods, like alveograph, valorigraph or farinograph, extensograph or promylograph. Using these techniques, kneading properties, water absorption, strength and extensibility of dough can be prognosticated. Discussed by Preston et al. (1987), P was in a significant relationship with water absorption and starch damage. Sipos et al. (2007) concluded that L was in tight correlation with VQN, WGC, CP and extensibility; meanwhile, W was in a strong relationship with CP and WGC. Loaf volume was in a significant relationship with CP, DDT and ST (Cho et al., 2018).

Next to the same agronomy practice and cultivar, the yield can differ even more than 4–5 tonne ha⁻¹ because of the ecological factors (Pepó, 2010b; Mohammed et al., 2013). Furthermore, Fuertes-Mendizábal et al. (2010) submitted that, next to the selection of proper variety, ecological factors can significantly influence CP content. Year-effect significantly affected WGC (Zecevic et al., 2013), HFN (Johansson, 2002), KW, FE, sedimentation value, water absorption (Muchová, 2003), LV, ST (Koppel & Ingver, 2010), CP, gluten index (Masauskiene & Ceseviciene, 2005), Hardness index, KW (Guarda et al., 2004). This opportunity brings up the most critical question for the farmers every year: sow the same variety like the last season, or experimentalize a new one in the hope for better yield and quality. Year and fertilizing significantly affected W in the study of Tóth et al. (2005).

It is estimated that, in the next 20–30 years, the demand for wheat will double due to the rapidly increasing population. This fact can cause serious problems in terms of the utilization of soils, therefore the knowledge of currently used agrotechnics, like water productivity and fertilizing has to be widened, recommended by Spiertz & Ewert (2009). In Hungary, the number of growable cultivars exceeded 150, thus the average lifetime of varieties are maximum 5–7 years (Pepó & Sárvári, 2011). These facts valorise the value of the long-term experiments and the continuous testing of the recently registered cultivars. Thus, the object of this paper was to study the effect of different agrotechnical factors such as fertilization, forecrop, year and cultivar on the quality and yield attributes of a classical, widely-used and a modern, currently available winter wheat genotype. In addition, the comprehensiveness of the experiment can help to understand the relationship between the parameters of the common and infrequently-used methods.

MATERIALS AND METHOD

The experiment was done at Látókép Experimental Farm (University of Debrecen) in two consecutive growing seasons (2017–2018, 2018–2019) in split-split plot design. The long-term experiment was set up in 1983, 15 km from Debrecen (NL 47°33', EL 21°27'). The area belongs to calcareous chernozem and loam type and has medium humus content: 2.7–2.8% (humus layer: 80–100 cm), medium P (0–25 cm: 133.4 ppm; 25–50 cm: 48.0 ppm; 50–75 cm: 40.4 ppm; 75–100 cm: 39.8 ppm) and K (0–25 cm: 239.8 ppm; 25–50 cm: 173.6 ppm; 50–75 cm: 123.0; 75–100 cm: 93.6 ppm) supply and neutral pH (6.46). The forecrops were sweet corn and sunflower because of their substantial role in Hungarian agriculture. The effect of three fertilizer levels (control, N₉₀P_{67,5}K_{79,5}; N₁₅₀P_{112,5}K_{132,5}) was tested in 10 m² plots in 4 repetitions to understand the influence of medium and over-

fertilization (Table 2).

The 50% of N and the whole amount of the P and K were applied in autumn (02.10.2017; 20.09.2018, respectively), the remaining 50% of the N fertilizer was applied in spring as top dressing (12.04.2018; 20.03.2019, respectively). Following winter wheat genotypes were tested: GK Öthalom, a classic Hungarian wheat cultivar (year of registration: 1985, awnless head and early maturity type, improve quality, A_1 – A_2

Table 2. Fertilizing treatments of long-termexperiment

Traatmanta	Time	Ν	Р	Κ
Treatments	of application	(kg ha	ı⁻¹)	
Ø (Control)	-	-	-	-
3 (NooPK)	autumn (basic fertilizing)	45	67.5	79.5
5 (1 1 901 IX)	spring (top dressing)	45	-	-
$5 (\mathbf{N}_{122} \mathbf{D} \mathbf{K})$	autumn (basic fertilizing)	75	112.5	132.5
J (11150 F K)	spring (top dressing)	75	-	-

class, breeder: GabonaKutató Kft) and Mv Ispán, a modern cultivar (year of registration: 2015, awned head and medium maturity type, good baking quality, A_1-B_1 class, breeder: Marton Genetics).

First, the samples were treated by SLN Pfeuffer sample cleaner, then conditioned to 15.5% moisture content, lastly milled into flour with Brabender Quadrumat Senior laboratory mill (MSZ 6367/9-1989). Crude protein (Kjeldahl method), wet gluten content (ISO 21415-2:2015), Zeleny index (MSZ EN ISO 5529), dry gluten content (ISO 21415-4:2006), gluten index (ISO 21415-2:2015), falling number (ISO 3093:2009),

starch damage (ISO 17715:2013), baking test (MSZ 6369/8-1988), valorigraph (MSZ ISO 5530-3:1995), promylograph and alveograph (ISO 27971:2015) parameters were defined at the Institute of Food Engineering, University of Szeged. The method of Promylograph is very similar to extensograph, where a 500-consistency dough is made, and after 45–90–135' resting time the moulded doughs are torn by a metal hook, till then the load on the dough is recorded. With this method dough stretchability can be tested.

Calculating nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) values, the following equitation's were used:

$$\frac{Yield_N - Yield_C}{A_N} = NUE_Y \qquad \frac{CP_N - CP_C}{A_N} = NUE_{CP}$$

where $Yield_N$ = fertilized yield; $Yield_C$ = control yield; A_N = amount of N; CP_N = fertilized CP; CP_C = control CP.

For processing the results of the measurements, R studio 3.6.1 version was used. For arranging and filtering the data, dplyer package (Wickham et al., 2019) was utilized. One-way ANOVA with least significant difference (*LSD*) post-hoc tests on P > 0.05significance level of agricolae package (Mendiburu, 2019) and Pearson's correlation analysis of SPSS Statistics 25 were performed. According to Tóthné (2011) there are very tight, tight, medium and loose correlations if the correlation coefficient is between 0.9–1, 0.75–0.9, 0.5–0.75 and 0.25–0.5, respectively. For graphical representation Seaborn 0.9.0 library (boxplot chart) of Python 3.7 version was used.



Figure 1. Agrometeorological parameters of the two growing seasons. Season 1: Sowing date: 04.10.2017 – Harvest date: 05.07.2018; Season 2: Sowing date: 05.10.2018 – Harvest date: 09.07.2019.

The first season was rainy (total precipitation: 642.4 mm), till then the second was normal (465.1 mm), but in both seasons (2017–2018: 10.3 °C; 2018–2019: 10.4 °C) the average temperature was higher with 1 °C, compared to 30-year average (9.3 °C) (Fig. 1), which correlates well with the global warming trends, like rising temperature, extreme conditions and less precipitation. To summarize, the weather of both growing seasons was unfavourable for the vegetative and generative development of wheat plants.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

According to our results, all the 4 factors had significant effect on some studied parameters. Main attributes varied between: 7.2–13.5% (CP); 14.87–32.46 (WGC); 287–420 s (HFN); 19.4 (C2)-70.7 (A2) (VQN); 105.9–329.9 (W); 680–1,030 cm³ (LV), 2,714–8,871 kg ha⁻¹ (Y), which are presented in the Table 3. and Table 6.

Vr	Cv	Fc	Tr	Y	СР	ZI	WGC	DGC	GS	HFN	NIRP	NIRW
11	CV	ΓC	11	(kg ha ⁻¹)	(%)	(cm^3)	(%)	(%)	(mm)	(s)	(%)	G (%)
		orn	Ø	5,795	8.79	20.4	16.65	5.91	0.4	374	8.44	16.86
		eet c	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	7,216	12.04	32.4	25.19	8.90	1.0	356	12.65	27.14
	om	Sw	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	6,425	13.14	36.7	28.26	9.84	0.8	343	13.74	29.75
	hal	/er	Ø	3,610	7.47	15.6	16.65	5.79	0.6	365	7.07	12.86
	Ö	flov	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	6,046	11.29	29.5	24.72	8.63	1.8	402	11.91	24.93
	GK	Sun	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	7,821	12.45	32.5	29.24	10.25	2.9	390	12.91	27.48
		om	Ø	6,806	9.55	25.9	20.68	7.10	1.4	382	10.38	19.91
		et c	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	8,871	12.03	35.1	27.08	9.31	1.5	390	13.15	26.93
		Swe	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	8,505	12.84	38.2	28.82	9.91	1.1	387	13.81	28.60
	án	/er	Ø	2,714	8.25	20.7	16.06	5.61	0.8	370	9.59	17.05
8	Isp	flow	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	8,710	10.90	31.5	24.80	8.45	1.4	377	12.28	24.61
201	Mv	Sun	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	8,708	12.03	35.0	27.59	9.45	1.9	394	13.36	27.83
		om	Ø	3,276	10.65	26.7	21.10	7.62	0.0	390	10.93	23.02
		set o	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	5,202	12.61	34.3	30.36	10.94	0.7	396	13.23	28.73
	шc	Swe	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	6,298	13.00	34.9	28.65	10.26	0.3	391	13.56	29.45
	halo	/er	Ø	3,285	11.07	31.4	22.59	8.11	0.3	378	11.90	25.84
	ö	flow	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	5,083	12.00	35.5	25.48	9.24	0.6	403	12.96	28.06
	GK	Sun	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	5,650	12.94	40.4	27.83	10.05	0.7	391	13.87	29.98
		orn	Ø	5,335	9.66	25.8	20.21	7.01	0.3	384	10.77	21.30
		set c	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	7,408	11.32	30.0	25.06	8.51	0.4	388	12.53	25.69
		Swe	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	7,154	11.80	32.2	27.29	9.35	0.7	393	13.11	27.26
	án	/er	Ø	4,772	9.93	27.0	21.14	7.38	0.7	389	11.20	22.96
6	Isp	flow	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	6,380	11.04	30.1	24.82	8.60	0.9	380	12.40	25.68
201	Mv	Sun	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	6,880	11.90	33.0	27.53	9.55	1.1	380	13.22	28.08
		L	<i>SD</i> _{5%} (Yr):	1,451.1	0.64	2.41	1.79	0.63	0.26	7.86	0.71	1.80
		L	<i>SD</i> _{5%} (Cv):	1,421.3	0.64	2.45	1.81	0.64	0.30	8.17	0.73	1.87
		L	<i>SD</i> _{5%} (Fc):	1,513.3	0.64	2.45	1.80	0.64	0.29	8.16	0.73	1.87
		L	<i>SD</i> _{5%} (Tr):	1,413.0	0.47	1.89	1.24	0.47	0.35	9.98	0.54	1.42

Table 3. Effect of the studied factors on classical parameters (Debrecen, Hungary)

Fertilizing ($N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 6,865 kg ha⁻¹; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 7,180 kg ha⁻¹) increased (+53% and +61%, respectively) significantly the yield, compared to control samples (4,449 kg ha⁻¹), however in 2018 yields were higher (2018: 6,769 kg ha⁻¹; 2019: 5,560 kg ha⁻¹) with 21.7%, but this amount was not significant (Fig. 2), which was also reported by Pepó (2010a). The explanations were already concluded by Gooding et al.

(2017), namely precipitation during grain filling can observably improve yield. In 2018, considering only the control samples, sweet corn (6,301 kg ha⁻¹) gave significantly ($LSD_{5\%}$: 2,906.2 kg ha⁻¹) higher yield, compared to sunflower (3,162 kg ha⁻¹). In 2019, Mv Ispán (6,321.5 kg ha⁻¹) had significantly ($LSD_{5\%}$: 1,488.5 kg ha⁻¹) higher (+31.7%) yield in comparison to GK Öthalom (4,799 kg ha⁻¹). These results are in compliance with the findings of Pepó (2010c), who stated that the effect of forecrops can be significant in the case of control treatments, but these differences disappeared with optimal nutrient supply. In general, only N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀ dosage could improve significantly the yield, further increment of fertilizer had no observable effect, which confirms the findings of Kovács (1992), Garrido-Lestache et al. (2004), Shi et al. (2007), Ying et al. (2017) and Walsh et al. (2018). First growing season was a rainy one, this amended the yield compared to the 2nd one, which had average precipitation, thereby our results affirmed the observations of Tayyar (2010) and Gooding et al. (2017). Also, our results underlined the importance of variety selection, since the difference between cultivars can be significant next to the same agrotechnics.



Figure 2. Effect of forecrops (left), year (right) and treatment on yield.

Table 4. shows the effect of different fertilizer doses on nitrogen use efficiency (NUE) in the case of the two most important post-harvest indicators, namely yield and CP. Several studies evaluated these parameters. Yield NUE was 8.2 kg ha⁻¹ in the research of Lollato et al. (2019), meanwhile protein NUE was 0.025% in the study of Miceli et al. (1992) and 0.004% in the article of Lollato et al. (2019). Examining GK Öthalom, it can be said that, yield NUE decreased slightly with the increment of fertilizer, however studying Mv Ispán, it was significantly higher with the first dose (N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀: 32.62 kg ha⁻¹), but this difference disappeared in the case of N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃ dosage (19.37 kg ha⁻¹). Considering the crude protein NUE, GK Öthalom performed better in the case of both dosages (N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀: 0.028%; N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃: 0.023%), comparing to Mv Ispán (N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀: 0.022%; N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃: 0.019%). Comparing the varieties, GK Öthalom had better fertilizer response attribute (NUE_{CP}) and CP, till then Mv Ispán possessed considerably better natural nutrient utilizing property (+22.9%) and NUE_Y.

	Т.,	Yield		Crude prote	in
CV	11	avg. (kg ha ⁻¹)	NUE	avg. (%)	NUE
GK Öthalom	Ø	3,992	-	9.50	-
	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	5,887	21.06	11.99	0.028
	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	6,549	17.05	12.88	0.023
Mv Ispán	Ø	4,907	-	9.35	-
-	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	7,842	32.62	11.32	0.022
	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	7,812	19.37	12.14	0.019

Table 4. Nitrogen use efficiency considering yield and crude protein

Before performing the standard methods, the NIR measurements were executed to have a basic view of moisture, crude protein and wet gluten content. Both fertilizer doses (C: 10.03%; $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 12.64%; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 13.45%) improved significantly NIR Protein. 2019 (12.47%) gave observably higher NIRP than 2018 (11.61%), but forecrops and cultivars did not differ. Studying only control samples in 2018, Mv Ispán (9.98%) had significantly (LSD_{5%}: 1.02%) greater NIRP, than GK Öthalom (7.76%), but in 2019 GK Öthalom (13.72%) possessed higher (LSD_{5%}: 0.21%) NIRP compared to Mv Ispán (13.16%) with N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃ treatment. This meant that, GK Öthalom had better fertilizer reactionary attribute, till then Mv Ispán possessed significantly better natural nutrient utilizing property. NIRWG showed similar trends like NIRP, 2019 (26.34%) gave significantly greater NIRWG values than 2018 (23.66%), also both nutrient treatments (C: 19.98%; N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀: 26.47%; N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃: 28.55%) increased significantly NIRWG, but forecrops and cultivars did not differ in general. Considering control samples in 2018, sweet corn (18.39%) improved observably (LSD_{5%}: 2.8%) NIRWG values in contrast with sunflower (14.96%). In 2019, GK Öthalom (27.51%) produced significantly (LSD_{5%}: 1.68%) better NIRWG than Mv Ispán (22.13%).

Scrutinizing the standard methods, there were no considerable differences between the years, forecrops and cultivars, but both fertilizer (C: 9.42%; $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 11.65%; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 12.51%) doses increased significantly the crude protein. In 2018, studying the control samples, sweet corn (9.17%) gave observably higher CP, than sunflower (7.86%). In 2019, GK Öthalom (12.05%) owned significantly greater CP values (Fig. 3), compared to Mv Ispán (10.94%), as well as in the experiments of Rao et al. (1993), Masauskiene & Ceseviciene (2005) and Fuertes-Mendizábal et al. (2010).



Figure 3. Effect of cultivars, treatment on crude protein (left) and water absorption (right).

Wet gluten content was significantly improved by fertilizing (C: 19.38%; $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 25.94%; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 28.15%), like in the study of Litke et al. (2018), at the same time forecrop, year and cultivar did not affected WGC in general. Considering the effect of preceding crops, Stoeva and Ivanova (2009) got the same results. In 2019, in the case of $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$ dose, GK Öthalom (27.92%) had significantly (*LSD*_{5%}: 2.59%) higher WGC, compared to Mv Ispán (24.94%). Dry gluten content showed similar results like wet gluten content in general, namely the fertilizing significantly affected the studied parameter (C: 6.82%; $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 9.07%; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 9.83%). In 2019, in the case of control treatment, sweet corn (7.87%) gave observably greater DGC than sunflower (7.19%), also studying the results of $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$ and $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$ dose, GK Öthalom ($N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 10.09%; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 10.16%) owned considerably (*LSD*_{5%}: 0.85%, 0.43%, respectively) higher values, than Mv Ispán ($N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 8.56%; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 9.45%). These results indicate that GK Öthalom had a better fertilizer reactionary property.

Both fertilizer dose (C: 24.19 cm³; $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 32.29 cm³; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 35.37 cm³) significantly improved Zeleny index, however there was no serious difference between the studied years, cultivars and forecrops. A similar conclusion was done by Linina & Ruza (2012), Stoeva and Ivanova (2009). In 2018 with control treatment, sweet corn (23.15 cm³) as a forecrop gave significantly (*LSD*_{5%}: 3.78 cm³) higher ZI values than sunflower (18.15 cm³). In 2019, GK Öthalom (33.86 cm³) had significantly (*LSD*_{5%}: 2.14 cm³) higher ZI, compared to Mv Ispán (29.66 cm³), also the samples with control treatment, grown after sunflower (29.21 cm³) had significantly (*LSD*_{5%}: 2.39 cm³) greater Zeleny index, than sweet corn (26.24 cm³).

Effect of fertilizing on gluten quality was reflected in change in the gluten index and gluten spread, where increasing fertilizer dosage (C: 95.5%; N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀: 83.42%; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 80.24%) significantly weakened the gluten strength (GI), like in the study of Massoudifar et al. (2014). Also, the difference of the studied cultivars (GK Öthalom: 90.03%; Mv Ispán: 82.74%) was observable, like in the research of Masauskiene & Ceseviciene (2005). Interestingly, the findings of Masauskiene & Ceseviciene (2005) were affirmed, because year-effect significantly influenced the gluten index, namely in 2019 the GI was 93.91%, in contrast with 2018 it was just 78.86%, but forecrops had no visible effect. Scrutinizing the results of gluten spread, that can be observed, there was no difference between the cultivars, however 2018 (1.3 mm) gave significantly higher values, than 2019 (0.55 mm). Samples grown after sunflower (1.13 mm) had observably greater GS, compared to sweet corn (0.72 mm), also increment of fertilizer (C: 0.56 mm; N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀: 1.04 mm; N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃: 1.17 mm) significantly augmented gluten spread, just like in the study of Pollhamer (1965). In 2019, Mv Ispán (0.68 mm) gave observably (LSD_{5%}: 0.25 mm) higher GS values, than GK Öthalom (0.42 mm). To compile, increment of fertilizer, high temperature in April and May, large amount of annual precipitation and sunflower (exploitive) as preceding crop deteriorate significantly the gluten strength.

Studying the flour extraction rates, it can be seen that GK Öthalom (70.99%) had significantly higher FE values compared to Mv Ispán (69.16%), meanwhile fertilizing and forecrop had no considerable effect. Our results were in compliance with Chantret et al. (2005) and Cho et al. (2018). In 2018, sweet corn (72.86%) gave significantly (*LSD*_{5%}: 0.89%) higher FE values, than sunflower (71.76%), also this difference was even greater in the case of control samples (sweet corn: 73.24%; sunflower: 71.02%).

Fertilizing, forecrop and cultivar did not affect the Hagberg falling number, however year exerted influence on the studied parameter, namely 2019 (388.5 s) gave significantly higher (+3%) HFN, compared to 2018 (377.3 s), which affirmed the statements of Johansson (2002) and Gerő & Tanács (2003).

				Valo	origra	ph			Pron	nylog	raph			Alve	ograp	oh	
Yr	Cv	Fc	Tr	VWA	VQN	DDT (min)	ST (min)	DS (VID	PWA	PDR (PU)	PD (mm)	PMR (PU)	PE (cm ²)	P (mm)	L (mm)	P/L	W (x10 ⁻⁴ .D)
		nn	Ø	53.7	33.1	1.4	2.6	155	48.6	286	94	295	40	63.6	51.4	1.3	120
		set co	N90P68K80	56.4	44.8	2.0	7.1	130	49.5	374	118	455	70	64.5	94.3	0.7	208
	н	Swe	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	57.1	49.5	2.3	8.5	118	50.1	382	119	478	72	67.7	108.0	60.6	241
	nalo	/er	Ø	53.8	22.7	1.0	2.3	195	47.8	211	103	214	32	73.9	36.6	2.0	108
	Öf	flow	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	55.4	41.7	1.8	6.3	139	49.0	298	111	326	50	62.5	87.4	0.7	176
	GK	Sun	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	56.4	45.9	2.0	7.1	134	48.8	286	113	315	49	62.0	101.2	20.6	201
		orn	Ø	58.2	34.8	1.1	3.1	145	51.1	370	98	395	52	89.7	52.4	1.8	167
		set c	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	61.3	49.6	2.3	8.0	123	53.2	332	117	409	62	92.2	83.8	1.1	249
		Swe	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	61.8	54.8	2.5	8.8	108	53.7	361	124	448	73	95.9	87.1	1.1	272
	án	ver	Ø	58.4	25.5	1.0	1.9	171	50.2	463	82	469	51	116.8	334.4	3.4	132
×,	Isp	flov	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	61.1	44.2	1.6	6.4	131	52.5	401	108	458	64	109.5	560.6	1.9	238
201	M_v	Sun	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	62.5	50.6	2.0	7.9	110	53.6	436	120	557	83	118.0)75.3	1.6	313
		om	Ø	55.7	37.3	1.5	4.5	147	49.1	341	112	427	62	70.1	74.1	1.0	194
		eet c	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	57.1	59.6	2.6	11.3	88	49.4	482	127	658	104	82.9	97.2	0.9	283
	Ш	Swe	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	57.1	64.1	3.0	11.9	80	49.7	414	130	600	95	85.1	99.3	0.9	297
	halc	ver	Ø	56.1	47.9	2.1	7.1	116	49.0	555	107	669	91	91.2	71.5	1.3	227
	ö	uflov	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	56.2	57.1	2.9	9.9	91	49.6	508	117	687	96	91.1	92.4	1.0	295
	GK	Sur	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	56.7	64.9	3.8	11.8	75	49.6	546	133	785	128	81.7	102.9	90.8	311
		orn	Ø	59.1	32.7	1.4	3.0	160	50.6	481	97	519	66	93.0	47.3	2.0	169
		eetc	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	60.2	41.1	1.5	5.6	145	51.3	411	116	503	74	90.0	63.5	1.4	239
		Sw	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	59.7	47.4	2.0	7.0	123	51.1	397	125	529	83	97.1	86.2	1.1	285
	án	ver	Ø	59.4	35.3	1.5	3.6	153	51.8	573	99	620	80	108.0	551.1	2.2	207
19	' Isp	uflov	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	59.7	41.8	1.5	4.7	130	51.6	546	103	630	84	107.2	767.2	1.6	257
20]	М	Sur	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	59.5	46.0	1.8	6.6	120	51.6	527	121	671	102	101.0)81.8	1.2	286
		L	<i>SD</i> _{5%} (Yr):	1.00	4.44	0.29	1.21	11.84	40.69	34.3	5.49	43.9	7.33	7.17	9.23	0.27	23.45
		L	<i>SD</i> _{5%} (Cv):	0.54	4.50	0.29	1.18	12.2	10.42	42.3	5.51	60.8	9.64	4.80	8.45	0.23	25.63
		L	<i>SD</i> _{5%} (Fc):	1.00	4.61	0.30	1.24	12.4	50.69	41.9	5.57	59.8	9.59	6.95	9.18	0.26	25.76
		L	<i>SD</i> _{5%} (Tr):	0.47	3.99	0.30	1.07	11.7	20.80	53.4	4.84	71.9	10.43	38.95	7.61	0.27	21.58

Table 5. Effect of the studied factors on rheological parameters (Debrecen, Hungary)

The relevant data given in Table 5, which subsume the results of the rheological methods. Valorigraphic water absorption was significantly increased by fertilizing compared to control samples (C: 56.79%; $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 58.42%; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 58.85%), but forecrop and year had no influence on VWA. Moreover, Mv Ispán (60.07%) gave observably greater VWA (Fig. 3), compared to GK Öthalom (55.97%), which is in compliance with the results of Tanács & Gerő (2003). The findings of Tanács & Gerő

(2003) were affirmed, because GK Öthalom (47.39) had significantly better valorigraphic quality number than Mv Ispán (41.97). In addition to this, 2019 (47.93) gave observably higher VQN compared to 2018 (41.44), also increment of fertilizers (C: 33.67; $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$; 47.49; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$; 52.89) increased significantly the quality number, but there was no difference between the studied preceding crops. In 2018, sweet corn (44.43) gave significantly (LSD_{5%}: 5.89) better VQN than sunflower (38.45). Interestingly, in the case of N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃ dosage, in 2018, Mv Ispán (52.68) gave significantly (LSD_{5%}: 3.36) better VQN than GK Öthalom (47.71), but in 2019, GK Öthalom (64.5) gave considerably (LSD_{5%}: 3.49) higher VQN, compared to Mv Ispán (46.69). Increasing fertilizer doses (C: 1.38 min; $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 2.02 min; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 2.42 min) significantly improved DDT, also 2019 (2.13 min) gave observably (+22.4%) greater DDT values compared to 2018 (1.74 min). GK Öthalom (2.19 min) had noticeably higher DDT than My Ispán (1.68 min). In 2018, sweet corn (1.92 min) gave significantly (LSD_{5%}: 0.32 min) higher DDT than sunflower (1.56 min). Our results corroborated the statements of Tanács & Gerő (2003) and Linina et al. (2014). Valorigraphic dough stability was significantly increased by both fertilizer dosage (C: 3.52 min; N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀: 7.4 min; N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃: 8.7 min), also 2019 (7.25 min) gave appreciably (+24.6%) greater values than 2018 (5.82 min). The difference between years also reappeared in the research of Koppel & Ingver (2010). Moreover, GK Öthalom (7.53 min) had significantly higher ST values, compared to Mv Ispán (5.55 min), however forecrops did not affect results in general. In 2018, in the case of control samples, sweet corn (2.88 min) gave significantly ($LSD_{5\%}$: 0.65 min) higher ST, than sunflower (2.06 min). In 2019, scrutinizing the $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$ treatment samples, GK Öthalom (10.56 min) had observably ($LSD_{5\%}$: 1.55 min), two times greater ST, compared to Mv Ispán (5.15 min). Dough softening was significantly improved by both fertilizer doses (C: 155.21 VU; N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀: 122.03 VU; N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃: 108.28 VU). In addition to this, GK Öthalom (122.22 VU) had significantly lower DS values than Mv Ispán (134.79 VU), also 2019 (118.89 VU) gave observably (-14%) less DS than 2018 (138.13 VU). In 2018, sweet corn (146.67 VU) gave significantly (LSD_{5%}: 15.39) better DS, compared to sunflower (129.58 VU). In 2019, GK Öthalom (99.44 VU) had better (LSD_{5%}: 13.9) DS, compared to Mv Ispán (138.33 VU). These findings were in compliance with Wooding et al. (2000) and Tanács & Gerő (2003).

Studying the promilographic water absorption, it can be concluded that, Mv Ispán (51.84%) had significantly higher PWA, than GK Öthalom (49.17%), but there was no difference between years and forecrops, however fertilizing (N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀:50.73%; N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃: 51.02%) increased PWA compared to control samples (49.77%). In 2018, Mv Ispán (53.66%) had significantly (*LSD*_{5%}: 1.03%) better PWA, than GK Öthalom (49.43%) with N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃: treatment, but this difference was smaller (*LSD*_{5%}: 0.28%) in 2019, where Mv Ispán owned 51.34%, till then GK Öthalom 49.63% PWA. Fertilizing did not affect promilographic ductility resistance, but 2019 (481.7) gave significantly higher (+37.6%) PDR, than 2018 (349.96). Also, Mv Ispán (441.47) owned observably greater PDR, compared to GK Öthalom (390.19), and sunflower (445.8) improved significantly values than sweet corn (385.86). In 2019, the difference was even higher between forecrops, where sunflower (542.51) gave significantly (32.57) greater PDR, than sweet corn (420.89). Both fertilizer dosage (C: 98.92; N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀: 114.45; N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃: 122.83) increased significantly the promilographic ductility, just like in the research of Wooding et al. (2000), but forecrops caused no change. GK Öthalom

(115.23) owned significantly greater PD values, than Mv Ispán (108.9). Besides this, 2019 (115.44) gave appreciably ($LSD_{5\%}$: 5.49) better (+6%) PD, compared to 2018 (108.69). N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃ dosage (547.85) significantly (LSD_{5%}: 71.9) augmented promilographic maximum resistance compared with control samples (450.84). 2019 (608.17) gave significantly (LSD_{5%}: 43.89) greater (+51.5%) PMR values than 2018 (401.46), however forecrops and cultivars did not differ perceptibly in general. In 2018, Mv Ispán (455.71) had significantly (LSD_{5%}: 56.82) higher PMR, than GK Öthalom (347.21), this difference was even higher in the case of control treatment, where Mv Ispán had 431.75, till then GK Öthalom had 254.38 PMR. In 2019, sunflower (677.06) gave significantly $(LSD_{5\%}: 46.4)$ greater PMR, than sweet corn (539.29). In contrast with 2018, in 2019 GK Öthalom (672.5) gave considerably (LSD_{5%}: 73.14) higher PMR, than Mv Ispán (566.5) with $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$ dosage. In general, both fertilizer dosages ($N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 75.44; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 85.7) increased significantly promilographic energy, compared to control samples (58.9). 2019 (88.65) gave appreciably higher (+52.7%) PE than 2018 (58.04), nevertheless cultivars and forecrops made no difference. In 2018, there was observable difference between the studied varieties, namely Mv Ispán (63.96) had significantly (LSD_{5%}: 9.35) higher PE, than GK Öthalom (52.13), but in 2019 GK Öthalom (96.0) possessed higher (LSD_{5%}: 10.34) values, than Mv Ispán (81.29). Also, sunflower (96.81) gave observably ($LSD_{5\%}$: 10.12) greater PE, than sweet corn (80.49).

Sunflower (93.66) gave significantly greater alveographic P, than sweet corn (82.64), also Mv Ispán (101.61) owned higher P compared to GK Öthalom (74.69), but year and fertilizing made no difference in general. This phenomenon was in contrast with Matuz et al. (2007), who stated that fertilizing significantly increased P. Studying alveographic L, it can be concluded, that both fertilizer doses (C: 52.36; N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀: 80.79; N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃: 92.81) increased significantly the values, also GK Öthalom (84.74) owned observably higher L, than My Ispán (65.9). Year and preceding crop made no difference in general. In the case of control samples, in 2018 sweet corn (51.9) gave significantly (LSD_{5%}: 7.98) greater L compared to sunflower (35.5). Generally, there was no difference between the P/L values of the studied years, however Mv Ispán (1.71) had significantly higher P/L than GK Öthalom (0.98). In addition, sunflower (1.53) gave significantly greater P/L, than sweet corn (1.16). $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$ treatment (1.87) increased appreciably ($LSD_{5\%}$: 0.27) P/L, compared to control (0.99) and N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀ dose (1.16). Both fertilizer dosages (C: 165.51; N₉₀P₆₈K₈₀: 243.13; N₁₅₀P₁₁₃K₁₃₃: 275.65) increased significantly the alveographic W, also 2019 (254.18) gave greater (+25.8%) W, than 2018 (202.02), but forecrop and cultivar did not affect W. In 2018, Mv Ispán (228.63) possessed significantly (LSD_{5%}: 35.11) greater W than GK Öthalom (175.4). In 2019, sunflower (217.03) gave significantly ($LSD_{5\%}$: 30.62) higher W compared to sweet corn (181.52). The effect of fertilizing on P/L and W were in agreement with Garrido-Lestache et al. (2004).

Comparing to control samples (822.55 cm³), fertilizing ($N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 883.7 cm³; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 897.87 cm³) augmented significantly loaf volume, also GK Öthalom (896.11 cm³) had appreciably greater LV, than Mv Ispán (839.97 cm³). Loaf volume (Fig. 4) results were significantly higher (+16.3%) in 2019 (933.47 cm³), compared to 2018 (802.6 cm³), but there was no difference between studied preceding crops in general. However, in 2018 sweet corn (823.54 cm³) gave significantly (*LSD*_{5%}: 32.49 cm³) better LV, than sunflower (781.67 cm³). In 2019, GK Öthalom (983.13 cm³) gave significantly (*LSD*_{5%}: 42.48 cm³) better LV, than Mv Ispán (904.17 cm³) with

 $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$ treatment. The effect of fertilizer and year were in compliance with Koppel & Ingver (2003) and Massoudifar et al. (2014). 2018 (2.07) gave significantly higher loaf form ratio, than 2019 (1.93). Studying cultivars, Mv Ispán (2.07) owned greater, than GK Öthalom (1.92). Both fertilizer dosages (C: 1.84; $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 2.0; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 2.15) increased significantly LFR, just like in the experiment of Pollhamer (1965). In 2019, in the case of control samples, sunflower (1.85) gave significantly (*LSD*_{5%}: 0.08) higher LFR, than sweet corn (1.76).



Figure 4. Effect of cultivars, year, treatment on Hardness index (left) and loaf volume (right).

Scrutinizing starch damage (UCD), only cultivars differed significantly, namely Mv Ispán (22.58) had greater values than GK Öthalom (18.52), which results affirmed the findings of Lukow & McVetty (1991).

Fertilizing ($N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 82.59; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 83.45) significantly increased average particle size compared to control treatments (76.02), but years did not differ in general. A similar conclusion was done by Cho et al. (2018). Mv Ispán (82.59) possessed observably greater PSD, than GK Öthalom (78.78). Sweet corn (81.7) gave significantly higher PSD than sunflower (79.67).

2018 (41.74) gave significantly higher kernel weight, than 2019 (40.68), which confirmed the findings of Muchová (2003) and Guarda et al. (2004). In addition, GK Öthalom (42.16) owned significantly greater KW, compared to Mv Ispán (40.26). Fertilizing ($N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 41.42; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 42.12) increased observably KW in contrast with control samples (40.1). In 2018, in the case of control treatment, sweet corn (41.91) gave significantly (*LSD*_{5%}: 2.24) greater KW, than sunflower (37.48).

Generally fertilizing and preceding crop had no effect on kernel diameter, however 2018 (3.02) gave significantly greater KD, than 2019 (2.97), also GK Öthalom (3.05) possessed appreciably higher KD in contrast with Mv Ispán (2.95).

Except forecrop, all the other 3 factors had statistically provable effect on Hardness Index. Mv Ispán (68.3) owned significantly higher HI (Fig. 4), than GK Öthalom (50.96). Also, 2019 (63.34) gave greater (+13.3%) HI compared to 2018 (55.92). Fertilizing ($N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$: 61.54; $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$: 65.04) increased significantly HI in contrast with control treatment (52.3), as well as in the research of Guarda et al. (2004).

V.	Cu	Fa	T.	FE	GI	IED	LV	SD	Mavg	KW	KD	HI
11	CV	гс	11	(%)	(%)	LFK	(cm^3)	3D	(µm)	(mg)	(mm)	(%)
		COLI	Ø	73.1	98.7	1.86	791	19.23	75.05	41.55	3.07	41
		eet e	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	74.5	87.0	1.87	873	18.23	83.05	43.50	3.08	51
	om	Sw	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	73.2	81.2	1.96	900	17.90	84.07	42.65	3.06	53
	hal	ver	Ø	71.0	98.3	1.85	743	18.45	67.09	35.38	2.94	40
	õ	uflov	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	73.7	71.2	2.06	795	17.80	81.13	44.68	3.14	49
	GK	Sur	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	73.5	62.9	2.14	838	17.98	82.87	44.90	3.13	53
		om	Ø	73.4	83.5	1.85	756	22.08	79.71	42.28	3.00	57
		eet c	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	71.8	69.4	2.26	820	22.30	86.55	41.30	2.96	69
		Swe	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	71.0	66.3	2.51	801	22.55	86.89	40.58	2.92	71
	án	/er	Ø	71.0	92.2	1.95	705	21.40	74.74	39.58	3.03	48
×	Isp	flow	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	71.1	63.7	2.16	808	22.48	85.42	42.03	2.99	68
201	M_v	Sun	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	70.3	71.8	2.31	803	23.35	88.31	42.45	2.99	73
		orn	Ø	68.5	98.5	1.75	932	19.23	78.10	41.33	3.01	50
		set c	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	68.7	94.8	1.90	969	18.53	81.08	43.08	3.04	57
	m	Swe	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	69.4	94.4	1.92	983	18.95	81.93	42.00	3.00	58
	hald	ver	Ø	68.9	98.6	1.86	938	19.43	74.25	40.65	2.98	53
	ö	flov	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	68.5	97.2	1.87	998	18.55	78.65	42.98	3.09	53
	GK	Sun	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	68.8	97.5	2.04	997	18.03	78.10	43.20	3.06	56
		orn	Ø	67.8	97.1	1.76	886	23.35	78.98	38.60	2.93	65
		set c	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	66.9	90.0	1.95	935	23.05	81.93	40.00	2.93	75
		Swe	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	65.5	82.6	2.10	955	22.55	83.10	38.05	2.86	79
	an	ver	Ø	67.8	97.0	1.85	830	22.63	80.28	41.40	2.99	65
61	/ Isp	uflov	$N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$	66.6	94.1	1.95	873	22.80	82.90	39.37	2.90	72
20]	ž	Sur	$N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$	66.6	85.1	2.21	908	22.45	82.33	37.55	2.84	77
			<i>LSD</i> _{5%} (Yr):	0.64	4.37	0.08	23.86	0.88	1.94	1.03	0.03	4.46
			<i>LSD</i> _{5%} (Cv):	1.06	5.14	0.08	33.99	0.31	1.79	0.98	0.03	3.10
			$LSD_{5\%}$ (Fc):	1.12	5.35	0.09	35.33	0.89	1.91	1.06	0.04	4.70
			$LSD_{5\%}$ (1r):	1.57	5.70	0.09	40.95	1.09	1./9	1.26	0.04	5.12

Table 6. Effect of the studied factors on the remaining parameters (Debrecen, Hungary)

Pearson's correlation analysis:

The results of the Pearson correlation analysis can be seen in Table 7, where only those values are shown, which was at least \pm 0.5. Fertilizing was in tight correlation with CP (0.812**), ZI (0.776**) and WGC (0.828**); in medium with VQN (0.704**), DDT (0.571**), ST (0.711**), PD (0.721**), W (0.726**), L (0.746**), LFR (0.588**) and Mavg (0.675**); however fertilizing was in negative medium correlation with DS (-0.634**) and P/L (-0.573**). Similar results were got by Masauskiene & Ceseviciene (2005) and Eser et al. (2017). These results suggest that, proper nutrient supply is essential for growing wheat with good rheologic and protein properties.

/	F	CP	ZI	WGC	GI	GS	FE	VWA	VQN	DDT	ST	DS	PWA	PDR	PD	PMR	PE	Р	L P/	L	W	LFR	LV	SD	Mavg	KD	HI
F	1																										
CP	0.812*	* 1																									
ZI	0.776^{*}	* 0.958	** 1																								
WGC	0.828^{*}	* 0.941	** 0.898	** 1																							
GI	504**	*			1																						
GS					721**	1																					
FE							1																				
VWA								1																			
VQN	0.704*	* 0.866	** 0.869	** 0.808*	*				1																		
DDT	0.571^{*}	* 0.739	** 0.755	** 0.668*	*				0.874**	1																	
ST	0.711^{*}	* 0.856	** 0.842	** 0.812*	*				0.968**	0.884*	* 1																
DS	634**	*796*	*818*	*732**	r				967**	790*	910**	1															
PWA								0.924*	*				1														
PDR							550**							1													
PD	0.721*	* 0.794	** 0.750	** 0.767*	*				0.744**	0.694*	* 0.768*	*642**			1												
PMR			0.538	**			581**		0.554**		0.507^{*}	*626**		0.926**	ŧ	1											
PE		0.628	** 0.694	** 0.588*	*		526**		0.719**	0.633*	* 0.688*	*745**		0.763**	0.608	* 0.934*	* 1										
Р								.712**					0.652**	0.540**	:			1									
L	0.746^{*}	* 0.906	** 0.831	** 0.843*	*				0.799**	0.727*	* 0.810*	*732**			0.781*	*	0.510*	*	1								
P/L	573**	*746*	*632*	*674**					643**	589*	651**	0.561*			701**			0.632*	*867** 1								
W	0.726*	* 0.831	** 0.871	** 0.818*	*				0.842**	0.694*	* 0.805*	*821**			0.743*	* 0.680*	* 0.806*	*	0.689**		1						
LFR	0.588^{*}	*			678**	•		0.569^{*}	*				0.597**	•								1					
LV		0.579	** 0.539	**					0.622**	0.596*	* 0.603*	*590**			0.594*	* 0.595*	* 0.693*	*	0.542**5	520**	0.608**		1				
SD								0.818^{*}	*				0.792**	÷				0.724*	*					1			
Mavg	0.675*	* 0.694	** 0.711	** 0.690*	*629**	ŀ		0.703* *	0.511**				0.679* *								0.618**	0.567*	18		1		
KD							0.570**	B.																620**		1	
HI							524**	0.854^{*}	*				0.790**					0.591*	*		0.631**			0.774**	0.658**	627*	* 1

 Table 7. Pearson's correlation analysis

162

The importance of good crude protein content has to be emphasized, because 26/15 (58%) of the studied parameters in PCC were at least in medium correlation with CP, namely positive, very tight with WGC (0.941**), ZI (0.958**) and L (0.906**); tight with VWA (0.866**), ST (0.856**), PD (0.794**) and W (0.831**); in medium with DDT (0.739**), PE (0.628**), LV (0.579**) and Mavg (0.694**); but in negative, tight with DS (-0.796**) and negative, medium with P/L (-0.650**). Practically, the higher the CP is, the more the WGC is, and it develops slower, but it stays more stable after kneading, and the dough made out of it will be more ductile, which attributes are essential for getting loaves with good volume.

The other decisive attribute was wet gluten content, since 26/14 (54%) of the studied properties were at least in medium correlation with WGC. This parameter was in very tight relationship with CP (0.941**), ZI (0.898**), VQN (0.808**), ST (0.812**), PD (0.767**), W (0.818**) and L (0.843**); in medium, positive with DDT (0.668**), PE (0.588**) and Mavg (0.690**); meanwhile in negative, medium with DS (-0.732**) and P/L (-0.674**).

Studying gluten quality, Zeleny index was in very tight, positive correlation with CP (0.958**); in tight with WGC (0.898**), VQN (0.869**), DDT (0.755**), ST (0.842**), PD (0.750**), W (0.871**) and L (0.831**); in medium with PMR (0.538**), Mavg (0.711**), PE (0.694**) and LV (0.539**); but in negative, tight with P/L (-0.632**) and DS (-0.818**). The relationship of GS (-0.721**), LV (-0.678**) and Mavg (-0.629**) with gluten index was negative, medium.

Valorigraphic water absorption was in very tight correlation with PWA (0.924^{**}); in tight with starch damage (0.818^{**}) and Hardness index (0.854^{**}); in medium with Mavg (0.703^{**}), LV (0.569^{**}) and P (0.712^{**}). These results suggest that, the harder the grain is, higher the starch damage and average particle size are, which results in better water absorption because of the increased surface. VQN was in very tight relationship with ST (0.968^{**}), in tight with ZI (0.869^{**}), CP (0.866^{**}), DDT (0.874^{**}), W (0.842^{**}), L (0.799^{**}) and WGC (0.808^{**}); in medium with PD (0.744^{**}), PMR (0.554^{**}), PE (0.719^{**}), LV (0.622^{**}) and Mavg (0.511^{**}) so it can be concluded that, the VQN can predict well some rheological parameters. DDT and ST showed almost the same correlations like VQN. Dough softening was in negative, very tight relationship with VQN (-0.967^{**}) and ST (-0.910^{**}); in tight with CP (-0.796^{**}), PD (-0.642^{**}), PMR (-0.626^{**}), PE (-0.745^{**}), L (-0.732^{**}) and LV (-0.590^{**}); however in positive, medium with P/L (0.561^{**}).

Promilographic water absorption was in very tight relationship with VWA (0.924**); in tight with HI (0.790**) and SD (0.792**); in medium with P (0.652**), LV (0.597**) and Mavg (0.679**). PDR was in very tight correlation with PMR (0.926**); in tight with PE (0.763**); in medium with P (0.540**); meanwhile in negative, medium with FE (-0.550**). Promilographic ductility was tight relationship with CP (0.794**), ZI (0.750**), WGC (0.767**), ST (0.768**) and L (0.781**); in medium with VQN (0.744**), DDT (0.694**), PE (0.608**), LV (0.594**) and W (0.743**); but in negative, medium with DS (-0.642**) and P/L (-0.701**). PMR was in very tight, positive correlation with PDR (0.926**) and PE (0.934**); in medium with VQN (0.554**), ST (0.507**), W (0.680**) and LV (0.595**); in negative, medium with FE (-0.581**) and DS (-0.626**). Studying promilographic energy, it can be summed that, PE was in medium, positive relationship with CP (0.628**),

ZI (0.694^{**}) , WGC (0.588^{**}) , VQN (0.719^{**}) , DDT (0.633^{**}) , ST (0.688^{**}) , PD (0.608^{**}) , L (0.510^{**}) and LV (0.693^{**}) , in tight with PDR (0.763^{**}) and W (0.806^{**}) ; in very tight with PMR (0.763^{**}) ; but in negative, medium with FE (-0.522^{**}) and DS (-0.745^{**}) . Comparing alveographic and promilographic results, it can be seen that, W and PE; L and PD correlated significantly.

Alveographic P was in medium, positive correlation with VWA (0.712^{**}) , PWA (0.652**), PDR (0.540**), HI (0.591**), P/L (0.632**) and SD (0.724**). The correlation of P with VWA and SD was also observed by Preston et al. (1987). L was in medium, negative correlation with DS (-0.732^{**}); but in very tight, positive with CP (0.906**); in tight with ZI (0.831**), WGC (0.843**), VQN (0.799**), ST (0.810**) and PD (0.781**); in medium with DDT (0.727**), PE (0.510**), W (0.689**) and LV (0.542^{**}) . Our results affirmed the findings of Sipos et al. (2007), where they found tight correlation between L, VON, WGC, CP and extensibility. P/L was in medium, negative relationship with CP (-0.746**), WGC (-0.674**), ZI (-0.632**), GS (-0.506**), VQN (-0.643**), DDT (-0.589**), ST (-0.651**), PD (-0.701**) and LV (-0.520**); in tight with L (-0.867**); meanwhile in positive, medium with DS (0.561**) and P (0.632**). One of the most important parameter of alveograph is W, which was in tight, positive correlation with CP (0.831**), ZI (0.871**), WGC (0.818**), VQN (0.842**), ST (0.805**), PE (0.806**); in medium with DDT (0.694**), PD (0.743**), PMR (0.680**), L (0.689**), LV (0.608**), Mavg (0.618**) and HI (0.631**); but in negative, tight with DS (-0.821**). The correlation of CP and WGC with W have been previously reported also by Sipos et al. (2007).

Considering parameters of baking test, LFR was in medium, positive relationship with Mavg (0.567**), VWA (0.569**) and PWA (0.597**); but in negative, medium with GI (-0.678**). In addition, loaf volume was in medium, positive correlation with CP (0.579**), ZI (0.539**), VQN (0.622**), DDT (0.596**), ST (0.603**), PD (0.594**), L (0.542**), PMR (0.595**), PE (0.693**) and W (0.608**); but in negative, medium with DS (-0.590**) and P/L (-0.520**). These findings are connecting to the statement of Gabriel et al. (2017), because the correlation between LV and CP was only medium positive, meanwhile W and PE, the main parameters of alveograph and promylograph were in tighter relationship with LV. Cho et al. (2018) reported similar alterations in the case of CP, DDT and ST with LV. These values suggest that, good volume loaf can only be baked from flours with proper protein and ductility parameters.

Starch damage was in tight, positive relationship with VWA (0.818^{**}), PWA (0.792^{**}) and HI (0.774^{**}); in medium with P (0.724^{**}); but in negative, medium with KD (-0.620^{**}). Mavg was in medium, positive relationship with CP (0.694^{**}), ZI (0.711^{**}), WGC (0.690^{**}), VWA (0.703^{**}), PWA (0.679^{**}), VQN (0.511^{**}), W (0.618^{**}), LV (0.567^{**}) and HI (0.658^{**}); but in negative, medium with GI (-0.629^{**}). The relationship of water absorption and PSD is in compliance with the findings of Preston & Williams (2003). Kernel diameter was in medium, positive correlation with flour extraction (0.570^{**}), meanwhile in negative, medium with HI (-0.627^{**}).

Studying the relationship of Hardness index with other attributes: HI was in tight, positive correlation with SD (0.774^{**}), VWA (0.854^{**}) and PWA (0.790^{**}); in medium with P (0.591^{**}), W (0.631^{**}) and Mavg (0.658^{**}); but in negative, medium with FE (-0.524^{**}) and KD (-0.627^{**}). These results affirmed the findings of Eliasson and

Larsson (1993) and Manley (1995), namely the kernel hardness can determine starch damage, water absorption, PSD and flour extraction as well.

CONCLUSIONS

The outstanding yields of the 1st growing season can be explained by the fair water supply (+149.5 mm compared to 30-year avg.), in addition, lack of precipitation and the detrimental effect of the rapid warming in February (+2.5 °C compared to 30-year avg.) and March (+3 °C compared to 30-year avg.) considering the 2nd growing season. Nevertheless, the quality parameters of the studied samples were appreciably better in the 2nd growing season, due to the ecological parameters of 2019 (mild weather of April and May and average annual precipitation). This phenomena was also discussed by Pepó (2010a), Tayyar (2010), Pepó & Sárvári (2011), Gooding et al. (2017) and Szabó et al. (2017). The ecological conditions of the 2nd growing season also significantly affected the quality parameters of the classic winter wheat cultivar, GK Öthalom, which are reflected mainly in the improvement of all protein linked attributes (CP, WGC, ZI, GS, VQN, ST, DS, PMR, PE and LV).

Addition of fertilizer significantly augmented the quality parameters, however in the case of some properties (Y, VWA, PWA, PMR, PE, LV, Mavg, KW, HI) increasing the amount of fertilizer above $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$ dosage, had no further, statistically provable improver effect. Thinking over these results, like yield, water absorption and loaf volume, which are one of the most determinative parameters for the baking industry, it can be summed that, $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$ dosage was enough to realize the quality and yield potential of the studied genotypes. Moreover, the measured data indicates that fertilizing plays a decisive role in determining the main post-harvest quality indicators considering the Hungarian wheat standard, like crude protein, wet gluten content, Zeleny index, VQN, stability, W and P/L, because even the $N_{150}P_{113}K_{133}$ dosage significantly increased them, which is substantial since more than half of the Hungarian wheat production is exported.

The results in the 1st growing season suggest that, in the case of suboptimal nutrient supply, choosing of the right preceding crop can considerably improve the yield and quality parameters (Y, CP, DGC, ZI, FE, VQN, DDT, ST, DS, PDR, PMR, PE, Mavg and all alveographic values) of winter wheat, which has been already partly reported by Pepó (2010c). In our case, sweet corn performed better because the deep root system of sunflower exploits the nutrient and water supply of the soil.

In the perspective of the baking industry, one of the most eloquent quality indicators is the baking test, more precisely loaf volume, which was in medium, positive correlation with the main parameters of all the used methods: VQN (0.622^{**}), PE (0.693^{**}) and W (0.608^{**}) in the Pearson's correlation analysis. Also, the importance of Hardness Index has to be underlined, because it was in a tight relationship with starch damage (0.774^{**}) and water absorption (0.854^{**}); medium with Mavg (0.658^{**}) and W (0.631^{**}).

Effect of studied agrotechnical factors on gluten quality can be observed in the change of gluten index and gluten spread. GI was considerably affected by year, cultivar and fertilization, meanwhile GS was influenced observably by year, preceding crop and fertilization. To compile, increment of fertilizer, high temperature in April and May, large amount of annual precipitation and sunflower (exploitive) as preceding crop deteriorate the gluten strength.

Variety-specific agronomy practice has to be pointed out, due to there were significant differences between the studied varieties in general, considering GI, FE, VWA, DDT, ST, DS, PDR, PD, P, L, P/L, LV, LFR, SD, Mavg, KW, KD and HI values. Only one sample, GK Öthalom (2019, sweet corn and $N_{90}P_{68}K_{80}$) met the requirements of the Hungarian I. class except one parameter, the Zeleny index, all the other studied samples met maximum the requirements of II. class, which shows well that none of the examined growing seasons was optimal for the generative development of winter wheat. Besides this, without fertilizing, none of the samples met the minimal specifications of II. class, which means that they could be only sold for feed purposes. It has been previously reported that fertilizing exerts a strong influence on the baking quality of wheat (Borghi et al., 1995).

Summarizing, these data contribute to a better understanding of the effect of agrotechnical factors on the quality and yielding of winter wheat, and the relationships between the parameters of the common and infrequently-used methods.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS. We are grateful to Cereal Research Non-profit Ltd. and the University of Szeged, Faculty of Engineering for providing the instruments, also to Látókép Experimental Farm, University of Debrecen for providing the wheat samples. We would like to express our deepest appreciation to Mónika Bakos Tiborné and Zita Zakupszki for assistance in performing the measurements. This research was funded by the EFOP-3.6.3-VEKOP-16-2017-00008 project. The project is co-financed by the European Union and the European Social Fund.

REFERENCES

- Asthir, B., Jain, D., Kaur, B. & Bains, N.S. 2017. Effect of nitrogen on starch and protein content in grain influence of nitrogen doses on grain starch and protein accumulation in diversified wheat genotypes. *J. of Environ. Biology* **38**, 427–433.
- Bedő, Z., Láng, L. & Rakszegi, M. 2018. Concordance of quantitative and qualitative needs place adapted variety supply in wheat production. *Agroinform extra* **55**, 22–23 (in Hungarian).
- Bicskei, K. 2008. *Mystery of wheat production*, Nemzeti Szakképzési és Felnőttképzési Intézet, Budapest, pp. 1–27 (in Hungarian).
- Borghi, B., Giordani, G., Corbellini, M., Vaccino, P., Guermandi, M. & Toderi, G. 1995. Influence of crop rotation, manure and fertilizers on bread making quality of wheat (*Triticum aestivum L.*). *Eur. J. Agron.* **4**(1), 37–45.
- Budai, J. & Fükő, J. 1996. Experiences of a Proficiency Testing concerning Evaluation of Wheat, *Élelmiszervizsgálati Közlemények* **42**, 180–190 (in Hungarian).
- Chantret, N., Salse, J., Sabot, F., Rahman, S., Bellec, A., Laubin, B., Dubois, I., ... & Chalhoub, B. 2005. Molecular basis of evolutionary events that shaped the Hardness locus in diploid and polyploid wheat species (Triticum and Aegilops). *Plant Cell* **17**, 1033–1045.
- Cho, S.W., Kang, C.S., Kang, T.G., Cho, K.M. & Park, C.S. 2018. Influence of different nitrogen application on flour properties, gluten properties by HPLC and end-use quality of Korean wheat. *J. of Integrative Agric*. **17**(5), 982–993.
- Curic, D., Karlovic, D., Tusak, D., Petrovic, B. & Dugum, J. 2001. Gluten as standard of wheat flour quality. *Food Technol. Biotechnol.* **39**(4), 353–361.
- Diósi, G., Móré, M. & Sipos, P. 2015. Role of the farinograph test in the wheat flour quality determination. *Acta Univ. Sapientiae Alimentaria* **8**, 104–110.
- Eliasson, A. & Larsson, K. 1993. Flour, In: *Cereals in Breadmaking*: A Molecular Colloidal Approach. Marcel Dekker, New York, pp. 241–314.

- Eser, A., Kassai, K.M., Tarnawa, Á., Nyárai, F.H. & Jolánkai, M. 2017. Impact of crop year and nitrogen topdressing on the quantity and quality of wheat yield, *Columella* 4(1), 157–162.
- Fowler, D.B. 2003. Crop Nitrogen Demand and Grain Protein Concentration of Spring and Winter Wheat. *Agron. J.* **95**, 260–265.
- Fuertes-Mendizabal, T., Aizpurua, A., Gonzalez-Moroand, M.B. & Estavillo, J.M. 2010. Improving wheat breading making quality by splitting the N fertilizer rate. *Eur. J. Agron.* 33, 52–61.
- Gabriel, D., Pfitzner, C., Haase, N.U., Hüsken, A., Prüfer, H., Greef, J.M. & Rühl, G. 2017. New strategies for a reliable assessment of baking quality of wheat Rethinking the current indicator protein content. *J. of Cereal Sci.* **77**, 126–134.
- Garrido-Lestache, E., López-Bellido, R.J. & López-Bellido, L. 2004. Effect of N rate, timing and splitting and N type on bread-making quality in hard red spring wheat under rainfed Mediterranean conditions. *Field Crops Research* **85**, 213–236.
- Gerő, L. & Tanács, L. 2003. Effects of fertilizers and weather condition on the grain production of winter wheat especially on the quality of gluten and falling number. *SZÉF Tudományos Közlemények* **24**, 24–30 (in Hungarian).
- Gooding, M. 2017. The effect of growth environment and agronomy on grain quality in: Wrigley C., Batey I., Miskelly D.: *Cereal grains, Assesing and Managing Quality*, pp. 493–512.
- Guarda, G., Padovan, S. & Delogu, G. 2004. Grain yield, nitrogen-use efficiency and baking quality of old and modern Italian bread-wheat cultivars grown at different nitrogen levels. *Europ. J. Agronomy* **21**, 181–192.
- Gugava, E. & Korokhashvili, A. 2018. Technologies for obtaining nitrogen fertilizers prolonged effect in wheat. *Annuals of Agrarian Science* **16**, 22–26.
- Guzman, C., Peña, R.J., Singh, R., Dreisigacker, E.A.S., Crossa, J., Rutkoski, J., Poland, J. & Battenfield, S. 2016. Wheat quality improvement at CIMMYT and the use of genomic selection on it. *Applied & Translational Genomics* **11**, 3–8.
- Győri, Z. & Győriné, I.M. 1998. *The quality and qualification of wheat*, Mezőgazdasági Szaktudás Kiadó, Budapest, pp. 1–57 (in Hungarian).
- Hajdu, M. 1977. *The manual of crop technicians*, Mezőgazdasági Kiadó, Budapest, pp. 1–248 (in Hungarian).
- Hawkesford, M.J. 2014. Reducing the reliance on nitrogen fertilizer for wheat production. *J. of Cereal Sci.* **59**, 276–283.
- Horváth, Cs., Kis, J., Tarnawa, Á., Kassai, K., Nyárai, H. & Jolánkai, M. 2014. The effect of nitrogen fertilization and crop year precipitation on the protein and wet gluten content of wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) grain. *Agrokémia és Talajtan* 63(1), 159–164.
- Huen, J., Börsmann, J., Matullat, I., Böhm, L., Stukenborg, F., Heitmann, M., Zannini, E. & Arendt, E.K. 2018. Wheat flour quality evaluation from the baker's perspective: comparative assessment of 18 analytical methods. *Eur. Food Res. Technol.* 244, 535–545.
- Hungarian Central Statistical Office (HCSO) 2020: Agricultural tables (STADAT), www.ksh.hu (in Hungarian)
- Hungarian National Chamber of Agricultural Economics (HNCAE) 2017: For the growing agricultural and food economy, www.nak.hu (in Hungarian)
- Johansson, E. 2002. Effect of two wheat genotypes and Swedish environment on falling number, amylase activities, and protein concentration and composition. *Euphytica* **126**, 143–149.
- Koltay, Á. & Balla, L. 1982. *Breeding and production of wheat*, Mezőgazdasági Kiadó, Budapest, pp. 20–172 (in Hungarian).
- Kong, L., Si, J., Zhang, B., Feng, B., Li, S. & Wang, F. 2013. Environmental modification of wheat grain protein accumulation and associated processing quality: a case study of China, *Australian J. of Crop Sci.* 7(2), 173–181.
- Koppel, R. & Ingver, A. 2010. Stability and predictability of baking quality of winter wheat, *Agronomy Research* **8**(Special Issue III), 637–644.

- Kovács, K. 1992. Milling, baking and nutritional assessment of fertilized winter wheat, Thesis, Élelmiszeripari Főiskola, Szeged, pp. 3–31 (in Hungarian).
- Linina, A. & Ruza, A. 2012. Cultivar and nitrogen fertiliser effects on fresh and stored winter wheat grain quality indices. *Proceedings of the Latvian Academy of Sciences* **66**, 177–184.
- Linina, A., Kunkulberga, D. & Ruza, A. 2014. Influence of nitrogen fertiliser on winter wheat wholemeal rheological properties. *Proceedings of the Latvian Academy of Sciences* 68, 158–165.
- Litke, L., Gaile, Z. & Ruza, A. 2018. Effect of nitrogen fertilization on winter wheat yield and yield quality. *Agronomy Research* **16**(2), 500–509.
- Lollato, R.P., Figueiredo, B.M. Dhillon, J.S., Arnall, D.B. & Raun, W.R. 2019. Wheat grain yield and grain-nitrogen relationships as affected by N, P, and K fertilization: A synthesis of long-term experiments. *Field Crop Research* 236, 42–57.
- Lukow, O.M. & McVetty, P.B.E. 1991. Effect of cultivar and environment on quality characteristics of spring wheat. *Cereal Chem.* **68**(6), 597–601.
- Manley, M. 1995. *Wheat hardness by near infrared (NIR) spectroscopy*: New insights. Thesis at University of Plymouth, pp. 4–171.
- Markovics, E. 2001. Examination of the quality of wheat flour from the baking aspect. SZÉF Tudományos Közlemények 22, 90–102 (in Hungarian).
- Masauskiene, A. & Ceseviciene, J. 2005. Effect of cultivar and fertilisation practices on bread-making qualities of fresh and stored winter wheat grain. *Latvian J. of Agronomy* **8**, 149–153.
- Massaux, C., Sindic, M., Lenartz, J., Sinnaeve, G., Bodson, B., Falisse, A., Dardenne, P. & Deroanne, C. 2008. Variations in physicochemical and functional properties of starches extracted from European soft wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.): The importance to preserve the varietal identity. *Carbohydrate Polymers* **71**, 32–41.
- Massoudifar, O., Kodjouri, F.D., Mohammadi, G.N. & Mirhadi, M.J. 2014. Effect of nitrogen fertilizer levels and irrigation on quality characteristics in bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). Archives of Agronomy and Soil Science **60**, 925–934.
- Matuz, J., Krisch, J., Véha, A., Petróczi, I.M. & Tanács, L. 2007. Effect of the fertilization and the fungicide treatment on the alveographic quality of winter wheat, **VI**. *Alps-Adria Scientific Workshop Austria*, pp. 1193–1196.
- Mendiburu, F.d. 2019. Agricola: Statistical Procedures for Agricultural Research. R package v. 1.3-1.
- Miceli, F., Martin, M. & Zerbi, G. 1992. Yield, quality and nitrogen efficiency in winter wheat fertilized with increasing N levels at different times. *J. Agronomy & Crop Science* **168**, 337–344.
- Montemurro, F., Convertini, G. & Ferri, D. 2007. Nitrogen application in winter wheat grown in Mediterranean conditions: effects on nitrogen uptake, utilization efficiency, and soil nitrogen deficit. J. of Plant Nutri. 30, 1681–1703.
- Mohammed, Y.A., Kelly, J., Chim, B.K., Rutto, E., Waldschmidt, K., Mullock, J., Torres, G., Desta, K.G. & Raun, W.R. 2013. Nitrogen fertilizer management for improved grain quality and yield in winter wheat in Oklahoma. *J. Plant Nutr.* **36**, 749–761.
- Muchová, Z. 2003. Changes in technological quality of food wheat in four crop rotation. *Plant Soil Environ.* **49**, 146–150.
- Nagy, J. & Pepó, P. 2015. Long-term experiments in Debrecen-Látókép, ISBN 978-615-5451-01-0, Debrecen, pp. 4-40.
- Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) 2018. Agricultural Outlook 2019-2028. Wheat projections, www.fao.org
- Panozzo, J.F. & Eagles, H.A. 2000. Cultivar and environmental effects on quality characters in wheat. II. Protein. *Aust. J. Agric. Res.* **51**, 629–636.

- Pasha, I., Anjum, F.M. & Morris, C.F. 2010. Grain Hardness: a major determinants of wheat quality. Food Sci. and Techn. Int. 16, 511–522.
- Pepó, P. 2010a. Agronomic evaluation of the Hungarian wheat production. *Növénytermelés* **59**(2), 85–100 (in Hungarian).
- Pepó, P. 2010b. Sustainable environmentally friendly sunflower production in changing climate conditions. In: Sustainable, environmentally friendly field crops production in changing climate conditions. Eds.: Juliana Molnarová, Peter Pepo, Slovak University of Agriculture of Nitra, Nitra, Slovakia, pp. 127–150.
- Pepó, P. 2010c. Baking quality of winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) in the long-term experiments on chernozem soil. J. Agric. Sci. 44, 152–156.
- Pepó, P. 2011. Role of genotypes and agrotechnical elements in cereal crop models. *Cereal Research Communications* **39**(1), 160–167.
- Pepó, P. & Sárvári, M. 2011. *Production of crops*, Development of curriculum for Agricultural Engineering MSc, Debrecen, pp. 14–26 (in Hungarian).
- Pollhamer, E. 1965. Effect of nitrogen top dressing on the quality of wheat. *MTA Oszt. Közleményei* 24, 60–79 (in Hungarian).
- Pollhamer, E. 1973. *Quality of wheat in various agrotechnical experiments*. Akadémiai Kiadó, Budapest, pp. 55–146 (in Hungarian).
- Pollhamer, E. 1981. *Quality of wheat grain and flour*. Mezőgazdasági Kiadó, Budapest, pp. 15–77 (in Hungarian).
- Preston, K.R., Kilborn, R.H. & Dexter, J.E. 1987. Effects of starch damage and water absorption ont he alveograph properties of Canadian hard red spring wheats. *Can. Inst. Food Sci. Technol. J.* **20**, 75–80.
- Preston, K.R. & Williams, P.C. 2003. Analysis of wheat flour, in *Encyclopedia of Food Sciences* and Nutrition (Second Edition), pp. 2543–2550.
- Ragasits, I. 1998. Wheat production. Mezőgazda Kiadó, Budapest, pp. 19-140 (in Hungarian).
- Rao, A.C.S., Smith, J.L., Jandhyala, V.K., Papendick, R.I. & Parr, J.F. 1993. Cultivar and climatic effects on the protein content of soft white winter wheat. *Agron. J.* 85, 1023–1028.
- Shewry, P.R. & Hey, S.J. 2015. *The contribution of wheat to human diet and health*. Food Energy Secur. 2015 Oct; **4**(3), 178–202.
- Shi, Y., Yu, Z., Wang, D., Li, Y. & Wang, Y. 2007. Effects of nitrogen rate and ratio of base fertilizer and topdressing on uptake, translocation of nitrogen and yield in wheat. *Front. Agric. China* **1**(2), 142–148.
- Sipos, P., Tóth, Á., Pongráczné, B.Á. & Győri, Z. 2007. Rheological Investigation of Wheat Flour by different methods. *Élelmiszervizsgálati Közlemények* **53**, 145–155 (in Hungarian).
- Spiertz, J.H.J. & Ewert, F. 2009. Crop production and resource use to meet the growing demand for food, feed and fuel. opportunities and constraints. *NJAS* **56**(4), 281–300.
- Stoeva, I. & Ivanova, A. 2009. Interaction of the technological properties of common winter wheat varieties with some agronomy factors. *Bulg. J. Agric. Sci.* **15**, 417–422.
- Szabó, P.B., Véha, A. & Gyimes, E. 2014. Determination of wheat grain hardness by different kernel measurement techniques. *Élelmiszervizsgalati Közlemények* **60**(Issue 4), december 2014, 372–383.
- Szabó, É., Dóka, F.L. & Szabó, A. 2017. Evaluation of the yield and quality of different winter wheat genotypes on chernozem soil. *Annals of the University of Oredea*, *Fascicle*. *Environmental Protection* **XXIX**, 59–64.
- Tanács, L. & Gerő, L. 2003. Rheological and baking characters of some doughs made from fertilized winter wheat varieties. SZÉF Tudományos Közlemények 24, 100–106 (in Hungarian).
- Tayyar, S. 2010. Variation in grain and quality of Romanian bread wheat varieties compared to local varieties in northwestern turkey. *Romanian Biotechnological Letters* **15**(2), 5189–5196.

- Tóth, Á., Sipos, P. & Győri, Z. 2005. Effect of year and fertilization on alveographic attributes of GK Öthalom winter wheat variety. *Agrártudományi Közlemények* **16**, 126–133 (in Hungarian).
- Tóthné, P.L. 2011. *Mathematical basics of research methodology*. Eszterházy Károly Főiskola (in Hungarian). https://bit.ly/3tGQNQr
- Uthayakumaran, S. & Wrigley, C. 2017. *Wheat: Grain-quality characteristics and management* of quality requirements. Wood head Publishing Series in Food Science, Technology and Nutrition, pp. 91–134.
- Walsh, O.S., Shafian, S. & Christiaens, R.J. 2018. Nitrogen fertilizer management in dryland wheat cropping system. *Plants* 7(9), 1–11.
- Wickham, H., François, R., Henry, L. & Müller, K. 2019. *dplyr: A Grammar of Data Manipulation*. R package v. 0.8.3.
- Wieser, H. & Seilmeier, W. 1998. The Influence of Nitrogen Fertilisation on Quantities and Proportions of Different Protein Types in Wheat Flour. J. Sci. Food Agric. **76**, 49–55.
- Wooding, A.R., Kavale, S., Wilson, A.J. & Stoddard, F.L. 2000. Effects of Nitrogen and Sulfur Fertilization on Commercial-Scale Wheat Quality and Mixing Requirements. *Cereal Chem.* 77(6), 791–797.
- Ying, H., Ye, Y., Cui, Z. & Chen, X. 2017. Managing nitrogen for sustainable wheat production. *J. of Cleaner Prod.* **162**, 1308–1316.
- Zecevic, V., Boskovic, J., Knezevic, D., Micanovic, A. & Milenkovic, S. 2013. Influence of cultivar and growing season in quality properties of winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *African Journal of Agriculture Research* 8(21), 2545–2550.

Use of soil enzyme activity in assessing the effect of No-Till in the South of Russia

G. Mokrikov, T. Minnikova*, K. Kazeev and S. Kolesnikov

Southern Federal University, Academy of Biology and Biotechnology by D.I. Ivanovsky's, Department of Ecology and Nature Management, av. Stachki 194/1, RU344090 Rostov on Done, Russia *Correspondence: loko261008@vandex.ru

Received: October 21th, 2020; Accepted: December 11th, 2020; Published: December ^{16th}, 2020

Abstract. The activity of 11 enzymes (catalase, dehydrogenases, peroxydases, polyphenoloxidases, ascorbateoxidase, ferrireductase, β -fructofuranosidase, amylase, urease, phosphatase and protease) was assessed under conditions of steppe zone in the south of Russia when using different tillages. Winter wheat and sunflower are main crops in these soils. Moreover, chickpea, coriander, lint, barley, corn and some other crop are cultivated here in the crop rotation duration 6 years. Enzyme activity was compared in soils of 15 fields with long-term no-till (NT) versus to 15 fields with conventional tillage (CT). The researches were held along the whole Haplic Chernozem Loamic at a depth of 0-65 cm. Special attention was paid to top soil (0-10 cm), which is directly subject to the mechanical effect. The carbon cycle enzyme (β -fructofuranosidase) activity was the most sensitive indication for NT use. In top soil the enzyme activity was greater by 16–35% at NT versus to CT. Activity of this enzyme reduces by 28-293% when soil depth increasing in both the tillages. Enzymes of different classes had different behaviours in soils depending on season, crops and tillage thanks to biochemical nature. Hydrolases and oxidoreductases were assessed by the indices characterizing soil condition and health. For this purpose geometric mean by hydrolase activity (GME_{hd}) and geometric mean by oxidoreductase (GME_{ox}), as well as integral index of biological soil condition (IIBC) were used. Index GME_{ox} in soil under sunflower reduced by 16% in summer versus to spring. Thereby, hydrolase index GME_{hd} reduced by 60%. At NT activity of oxidoreductase was lower by 10 and 13%, and activity of hydrolase was increased by 12 and 14% versus to CT. Soil IIBS values at NT increased by 18–35% at average within three years (2016–2018). The use of NT technology contributes to an increase in the activity of hydrolases and soil quality due to the conservation of moisture in the soil.

Key words: bioindicator, biological activity, soil enzymes, No-Till, soil health indexes.

INTRODUCTION

Biological indicators are often used as sensitive indicators of soil fertility under different tillages and the degree of its degradation under anthropogenic impacts (Trasar-Cepeda et al., 2008; Burns et al., 2013; Minnikova et al. (2019a, 2019b, 2019c)). The soil enzyme activity is an important diagnostic criterion during assessment of soil

quality at different types of man-caused impact on soils (Trushkov et al., 2019; Kazeev et al., 2020). The study of the enzymatic activity of soils is important: characterization of the metabolic potential of soils, quality and fertility, assessment of resistance to various natural and anthropogenic influences (Shukla & Varma, 2011; Akimenko et al., 2014; Loeppmann et al., 2016). Enzymes serve as indicators of the cycle of carbon (β -fructofuranosidase, amylase), nitrogen (urease, protease), phosphorus (phosphatase). These cycles play a key role in assessing soil quality and maintaining soil health. The activity of soil enzymes is important in assessing the quality of soils and diagnosing their ecological state (Hugh, 2012; Burns et al., 2013; Kazeev et al., 2015; Kolesnikov et al., 2019).

During conventional tillage (CT) fruitful soils obtain new properties, the morphogenetic statuses and soil-formation factors are changed (Azarenko et al., 2020). One of the processes resulting in reformation of tillable chernozem is tillage practices (Minnikova et al., 2017, Minnikova et al., 2018; Mokrikov et al., 2019). The nutrient cycle without the appropriate fertilizer element returning in the form of fertilizers is violated due to change in soil microbiota that affects soil organic matter pool. Therefore, mouldboard plowing causes decrease of humus level and reduction of soil enzyme activity (Dadenko et al., 2014; Garbuz et al., 2016; Sharkov et al., 2016; Zhelezova et al., 2017). In case of no-till (NT) as resource-saving analogy of the conventional tillage, soil dysfunction is significantly reduced that protects soil from degradation towards resistivity in combination with the crop rotation. The number of macroaggregates is an important microbiological process for control mechanism and organic substance maintenance (Beare et al., 1994; Dick et al., 1984; Gupta & Germida, 1988). When using various tillages with deep moldboard plowing, nitrogen and carbon cycles are violated in soil that causes change in microbial biomass and soil enzyme activity (Franchini et al., 2007; Paz-Ferreiro & Fu, 2016; Hlisnikovský et al., 2020). Due to maintenance or destruction of organic matters content the enzyme activity can be a powerful indicator of soil agrogenic transformation and remediation processes (Lagomarsino et al., 2009; Mancinelli et al., 2013; Marinari et al., 2015; Vilny, 2015; Shirokikh et al., 2017; Bai et al., 2018). The soil biochemical activity is a good index for assessment of tillage effect on the structure and microbiological activity of the soils. Under influence of second crop residues organic-matter degradation processes are intensified and carbon cycle enzyme (dehydrogenases, fluorescein diacetate hydrolysis, β -glycosidase, alkaline phosphatase) activity is increased. In case of no-till the soil structure is improved that causes increase in content of organic matter and microbial biomass (Garbuz et al., 2016; Sharkov et al., 2016; Mokrikov et al., 2020).

This work gives brief results for the comparative assessment of long-term use of NT under conditions of the steppe zone of Russia in the Rostov Region within the last 5 years. This resource-saving and soil protective technology is widely used in the world, but it is poorly known in Russia. It allows gathering steadily heavy yields of agricultural crops even under conditions of unstable watering within the risks farming in agriculture zone. Particularly under such conditions NT shows its advantages versus to conventional moldboard plowing (CT) and other tillage with soil turbating (Riley et al., 1994; Soane et al., 2012; Gristina et al., 2018). The CT with plowing result in dehumification and reduction of the biological activity for chernozem in the south of Russia (Dadenko et al., 2014; Azarenko et al., 2020). On the contrary, NT has a positive effect on the reserve of

fertilizer elements and soil physical properties (Minnikova et al., 2018; Trofimova et al., 2018; Kravtsova et al., 2019; Mokrikov et al., 2019).

The research gap of our study to the assessment of soil enzyme activity in assessing the effect of NT in the South of Russia. NT technology is reserved moisture versus CT and increases the activity of soil enzymes of different classes. Analyze the change in the activity of hydrolases and oxidoreductases under different processing technologies. Assess soil quality using condition indices and IIBC.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Site Description. The research objects were fields with NT and CT. The experimental fields have been processing within 10 years by NT and are located in the south of the steppe zone in Russia. The researched area exceeds 5.5×10^3 ha. Within the researched area ordinary chernozems are commonly spread, which genesis, properties and fertility are well-known from the literature source (Valkov et al., 2008, 2012). In total pair wise comparison of 30 fields with different tillages (15 fields with NT and 15 fields with CT) were researched. The areas with NT were compared with CT areas at a distance of 50–100 m from each other. The major part of the crop production areas are occupied with grain crops (winter wheat and barley) - 49%, grain maize - 10%, sunflower and permanent legume grasses (melilot, lucerne, sainfoin, tare) - 10%, grain legume (chickpea, lentil, pea) - 8%, winter crucifers (false flax, rape, mustard) - 6.5%, coriander - 6%, lint - 4%, false saffron - 2.5%, buckwheat - 2.0%, permanent grasses - 2%.

The agricultural crops were seeded during NT by the following machines: tractor Buhler Versatile 2375 + Great Plains NTA 3510 (10.7 m) and Case Magnum 315 + Great Plains NTA 3510 (10.7 m), all crops were seeded with row width of 19.1 cm. As per the articles when using NT fuel consumption was 26 L ha⁻¹, during conventional tillage with moldboard plowing - 74.1 L ha⁻¹ (Mokrikov et al., 2017, Minnikova et al., 2018; Mokrikov et al., 2019).

Experiment Methodology. As a result of complex environmental researches 45 parameters were determined characterizing ecological state of soils in 30 fields with NT and CT. Soils were researched 3–5 times per a season in 2017–2020. Samples were taken from different depths 0–10, 10–20, 20–30, and 50–60 cm. The mixed samples for the surface soil layer were obtained from 5 individual samples taken at a distance of 3–5 m from each other along the diagonal. The soil was dried out in the shade, free from roots and organic residues, sieved through 1 mm screen and analysed within several days after sampling in 3–9-fold analytical replication. The work represents the results of the enzyme activity analysis for 2016–2020.

In 2016 the large-scale comparative diagnostics of soil ecological and biological condition by activity of 11 enzymes of oxidoreductase and hydrolase classes were performed (Table 1). Within the next 4 years quantity of researched enzymes were restricted with the most informative indices well proven within the first year of the our research (2016). Comparison of the activity for separate enzymes is not always informative. Thus, for assessment of soil quality and condition by the indices of soil enzyme activity of each class the geometric means were calculated for enzymes of each class in absolute units (Hinojosa et al., 2004). The geometric means (GME_{ox} , GME_{hd}) were used as a single index number for integration of all soil enzyme activity indices being similar by nature, but having different ranges of variation.

No	List of enzymes (EC)	Method of determination
INO.	Class of Oxidoreductases	
1.	H ₂ O ₂ : H ₂ O ₂ -oxidoreductase,	by the volume of decomposed oxygen
	EC 1.11.1.6.	during the decomposition of hydrogen peroxide
2.	TPP : NAD (F) - oxidoreductase,	for the reduction of tetrazolium salts to
	EC 1.1.1	formazan
3.	NAD (F) • H ₂ : Fe ₂ O ₃ – oxidoreductases, EC 1.6.99	by the amount of reduced ferric iron
4.	O-diphenol: oxygen – oxidoreductase, EC 1.10.3.1	on the oxidation of hydroquinone to quinones
5.	quinone: H ₂ O ₂ – oxidoreductase, EC 1.11.1.7	on the oxidation of hydroquinone to quinones
6.	L - ascorbate: oxygen oxidoreductase, EC 1.10.3.3	by the difference between the amount of residual ascorbic acid and the amount of formed dehydroascorbic acid (DHAA)
	Class of Hydrolases	
7.	invertase, sucrose, EC 3.2.1.26	by the amount of glucose during the hydrolysis of sucrose, colorimetrically using Felling's reagent
8.	β -amylase: 1,4 - α - glucan - maltohydrolase, EC 3.2.1.2	by the amount of glucose during start hydrolysis
9.	urea – amidohydrolase, EC 3.5.1.5.	by the amount of ammonia with Nessler's reagent, with hydrolysis of carbamide
10.	phosphohydrolases of monoesters of	by the amount of inorganic phosphorus
	orthophosphoric acid,	during hydrolysis of sodium
	EC 3.1.3.1-2	phenolphthalein phosphate
11.	peptide – hydrolases,	by the number of amino acids during
	EC 3.4.4	proteolysis of casein

Table 1. List of determined enzymes and methods of determination

The more index value is the better soil capability to function and maintain the plant performance.

The geometric mean of the oxidoreductase activity by formula 1:

$$GME_{ox} = \sqrt[6]{CAT \times DHG \times ASC \times PER \times PHEN \times FER}$$
(1)

CAT – activity of catalase, 1 mL O₂ × 1 g soil⁻¹ × 1 min⁻¹; *DHG* – activity of dehydrogenases, mg TPP × 10 g soil⁻¹ × 24 hours⁻¹; *ASC* – activity of ascorbatoxidases, mg DHAA × 1 g soil⁻¹ × 24 hours⁻¹; *PER* – activity of peroxidases, mg 1,4 benzoquinone × 1 g soil⁻¹ × 30 min⁻¹; *PHEN* – activity of polyphenoloxidases, mg 1,4 benzoquinone × 1 g soil⁻¹ × 30 min⁻¹; *FER* – activity of ferrioreductase, mg Fe₂O₃ × 100 g soil⁻¹ × 48 hours⁻¹.

The geometric mean of the hydrolase activity by formula 2:

$$GME_{hd} = \sqrt[5]{INV \times UR \times PHOS \times AM \times PRL}$$
(2)

INV – activity of β -fructofuranosidase (invertase), mg of glucose × 1 g soil⁻¹ × 24 hours⁻¹; *UR* – activity of urease, mg NH₃ × 1 g soil⁻¹ × 24 hours⁻¹; *PHOS* – activity of phosphatase, mg P₂O₅ × 100 g soil⁻¹ 1 hour; *AM* – activity of amylase, mg glucose × 1 g soil⁻¹ × 24 hours⁻¹; PR – activity of protease, mg glycine × 1 g soil⁻¹ × 24 hours⁻¹.

Moreover, for assessment of enzyme activity the previously proven integral index of biological soil condition (*IIBC*) was used (Kazeev et al., 2016). This index allows combining a great amount of soil enzyme activity indices.

Specific values of each NT soil enzyme were calculated versus to values of CT soils by formula 3:

$$B_1 = \frac{B_{NT}}{B_{CT}} \times 100\% \tag{3}$$

Then values of the integral index of soil biological activity were calculated by formula 4:

$$IIBC = \frac{B}{B_{max}} \times 100\% \tag{4}$$

where B – average score point for activity of all enzymes; B_{max} – maximum score point for activity of all enzymes.

For assessment of high correlation ratio between enzyme activity indices and soil moisture content correlation factors were calculated.

Data were statistically processed using Python 3.6.5 program, Matpolib package.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Climate and moisture reserve in the soil with different tillages: Within the researched period the climatic conditions differed from average long-term ones by total amount of precipitations (Fig. 1).

Precipitations laid down within the vegetation season for 2016–2018 exceeded the climatic rate by 66, 35 and 21%. Based on the precipitation amount 2016 and 2017 were humid due to precipitations in spring.

In 2018 since April till June there was less amount of precipitation by 79–83%, than within previous years (Mokrikov et al., 2019). The temperature conditions were closer to the climatic norm; the average annual air temperature was from 12.1 °C in 2016 to 11.6 °C in 2018. The soil temperature was determined by the air temperature and according to the researches it was changed by loggers in soil within a year. For understanding features of thermal conditions within the researched area accumulating temperature sensors - loggers Thermochron DS1921 were positioned. The sensors were located at three depths 10, 20 and 30 cm. The reading frequency is every 6 hours. This allowed assessing the temperature features in top mostly biogenic layer with maximum root expansion of agricultural plants.

As a result it was detected that the surface layer (0-10 cm) has significantly higher temperature fluctuations than at depths of 20 and 30 cm from 21.3 to 31.5 °C. While depth increasing daily temperature fluctuations were less intensive. Temperatures of 0 °C and only by 3–4 °C lower in the soil at a depth of 10 cm prevail since November till the beginning of March. At a depth of 20 cm negative temperatures are settled for 3 winter months. At a depth of 30 cm low temperatures occur within the restricted time since the end of January till the end of February.

Temperature below 10 °C, which is taken as a temperature of active biological processes, at a depth of 10 cm was since the middle of October till the beginning of April. Moreover, achievement of this level was noted in the middle of November during temporary warming. At a depth of 20 cm the border below 10 °C was overcome since the first half of October till the beginning of April. At a depth of 30 cm temperature of



 $10 \,^{\circ}\text{C}$ being optimum for the biological processes was settled only by the beginning of May due to long-term and chilly spring.

Figure 1. Changes in annually rainfalls and air temperature (2016–2018).

As Fig. 2 shows, at NT since September till November moisture conservation by 19–92% was detected versus to CT.

In general within 5 years of observations the soil moisture content with NT was higher by 22% versus to CT. This is conditioned by fewer amounts of process operations and availability of after harvesting residues at the soil level. They keep the snow cover in winter and contribute to moisture accumulation.



Figure 2. Dynamics of soil moisture NT for the period from June 2016 to November 2018 in the top soil, % versus CT.

Change in the enzyme activity of soils NT versus to CT. Change in the activity for enzymes of oxidoreductase and hydrolase classes at NT versus to CT is given in Fig. 3. The activity of oxidoreductase (peroxydases, polyphenoloxidases and ferrireductase) changes versus to CT both towards stimulation by 8–44% and inhibiting (dehydrogenases, catalase and ascorbateoxidase) by 8–15% versus to CT.



Figure 3. Estimation of the enzymatic activity of soils under NT, % versus to CT.

The activity of hydrolase class enzymes was changed by other principle. Thus, the activity of carbon cycle enzymes (β -fructofuranosidase and amylase) was compared in 2016 (1 year of research). It is determined that NT reduces the amylase activity by over 30%, but stimulates the activity of β -fructofuranosidase by 10%. Thereby, in 2017 and 2018 during the research more stimulation of β -fructofuranosidase activity was obtained by 33–34% versus to CT. Such an effect is conditioned by increase in concentration of organic matters in top soil due to agricultural crop organic residues digestion.

Multistage changes β -fructofuranosidase activity of soil under different tillages. The specialized change in the activity of the major part of oxidoreductase (catalase and dehydrogenases) at NT didn't differ from CT versus to hydrolase. Among hydrolases β -fructofuranosidase is the most sensitive to tillage tehnologies. The activity of β -fructofuranosidase as a carbon cycle enzyme depends on the carbon content in the soil and the accessibility of its forms (Fig. 4). The enzyme activity reduces at lower levels during all tillage types by 81–293% at NT, by 28–152% at CT. In 0–10 cm layer the enzyme activity was higher by 16–27% at NT (in April, May, September and

October). In July within the period of maximum moisture lack in the soil and in the absence of precipitations the actual difference of the β -fructofuranosidase activity from CT was not detected. Within spring months in the beginning of the intensive vegetation different results are obtained.



Figure 4. Change in β -fructofuranosidase activity under different tillage, mg of glucose \times 1 g soil⁻¹ \times 24 hours⁻¹.

In April at a depth of 25–35 cm increase in the enzyme activity by 35% was increased versus to CT. On the contrary in May inhibiting of the enzyme activity by 40% was observed. In September and October at this depth difference from CT varied from 16 to 20%. This is conditioned by the fact that at NT the surface root layer is kept. Thus, the β -fructofuranosidase activity was stimulated by moisture content increase. In underlying layers the activity was increased to 40%. At a depth of 55–65 cm differences from CT were detected only in April and October by 19–20% higher than within similar months at CT.

Assessment of soil condition using soil health quality indexes. For assessment of the soil condition by all enzyme activity indices the indices based on geometric mean by each enzyme class (oxidoreductases and hydrolases) were used. As a result of soil enzyme activity determination the soil quality index was calculated. According to data of the each class enzyme activity the geometric mean was calculated for all hydrolases (GME_{hd}) and all oxidoreductases (GME_{ox}). Table 2 shows change in the geometric mean for 11 enzymes of hydrolase class (β -fructofuranosidase, amylase, urease and phosphatase and protease) and oxidoreductase class (dehydrogenases and catalase, peroxydases, polyphenoloxidases, ascorbateoxidase) during the research to 2016.

It was detected that in July versus to May reduction in GME_{ox} values by 16% and for hydrolases reduction in GME_{hd} values by 60% were observed. Moreover, the index values for oxidoreductase is less by 2–4 times versus to hydrolase. Reduction in the hydrolase activity is directly associated with change in the soil moisture content due to less amount of precipitation in

month	May	July	September
GME _{ox}	4.8	4.0	3.9
GME _{hd}	16.7	6.2	9.0

Note: GME_{ox} – geometric mean activity of oxidoreductases (n = 6); GME_{hd} – geometric mean of hydrolases activity (n = 6).

July and August. In September, the hydrolase activity became higher, than in July by 46%, but less, than at the beginning of vegetation. This is associated with autumn precipitations. For oxidoreductase activity this dependence is less expressed.

When comparing the tillages for 2016–2018 the following results were obtained at average per each season. Table 3 shows the results of the geometric mean calculation for hydrolases $(\beta$ -fructofuranosidase, urease phosphatase) and and oxidoreductases (dehydrogenases and catalase) 2016-2018.

In comparison with sunflower seeding NT of different agricultural crops had stimulating impact or didn't have impact. Only within 2017-2018 the oxidoreductase activity at NT was decreased by 10 and 13% versus to CT.

Table 3. Geometric mean for hydrolases (GME _{hd})	
and oxidoreductases (GMEox) of soils with	
different tillage during the vegetation seasons of	
2016–2018	

(num	erator – NT	, denomina	tor – CT)
year	2016	2017	2018
GME _{ox}	<u>14.8</u> 15.1	$\frac{4.7}{5.1}$	$\frac{14.1}{16.2}$
GME _{hd}	<u>10.1</u>	<u>2.2</u>	<u>5.1</u>
	10.6	1.9	4.5

Note: GME_{ox} – geometric mean activity of oxidoreductases (n = 6); GME_{hd} – geometric mean of hydrolases activity (n = 6).

On the contrary for hydrolases GME_{hd} was higher by 12 and 14% in 2017 and 2018 accordingly. Such common trends of the activity as oxidoreductase and hydrolase were conditioned increased moistening at the beginning of vegetation and subsequent non uniform amount of precipitations within the season of 2016. In 2017 and 2018 according to the data of Table 3 amount of precipitations (in mm) was less, than in 2016

that determined optimum conditions and favourably effected the activity of the soil enzymes, and, thus, the soil ecological condition.

Within 2016–2018 in NT fields the integral index of the soil biological condition (IIBC) increased by 18-35% (Fig. 5). Only in one field IIBC remained unchanged: its level was close to CT within the whole observation period.

Within 2016–2018 during the investigation maximum increase of IIBC values was observed in NT 1 and NT 2 fields - 33 and 30% versus to CT. In NT 4 field the index value growth was 10%. Such an increase is used as indicator of soil condition improvement during NT use.

We conducted an experiment in the fields with the same crop - winter



Figure 5. Change in the integral indicator of the biological state of soils by fields with NT for 2016-2019, % versus CT.

wheat, which showed a high sensitivity of enzymes of the hydrolase class, the values of which were generally higher on soils with NT versus to CT. The physical properties of soils such as moisture, temperature, density, penetration resistance have an indirect effect on the change in the enzymatic activity of soils. The activity of oxidoreductases, in comparison with hydrolases, changes to a lesser extent during agricultural use of arable land (Mokrikov et al., 2017; Azarenko et al., 2020). However, the possibility of using the activity of catalase and dehydrogenases in assessing the state of soils and the relationship with hydrothermal conditions and enzymatic activity in dynamics, taking into account crop rotation (Demina et al., 2016; Franke et al., 2018). The activity of enzymes from the class of oxidoreductases was less dependent on soil treatment than the activity of hydrolases (Roldan et al., 2005; Acosta-Martínez et al., 2008; Melero et al., 2009; Sinsabaugh, 2010; Papp et al., 2018). The activity of β -fructofuranosidase as an enzyme of the class of hydrolases is associated not only with root exudates, crop residues, but also with density, resistance to penetration, the amount of moisture in the soil, and pH (Vazquez et al., 2017). Similar results on the stimulation of hydrolase activity in different types of soil cultivation were obtained earlier by other authors. This is due to the fact that hydrolytic enzymes are involved in the metabolism of organic substances, an increased amount of which is formed on the soil surface during NT. As a result, the activity of these enzymes is associated with the organic carbon content in soils (Katsalirou et al., 2010; Gong et al., 2018). In the studied soils using the NT technology, an increase in the degree of organic matter humification and the content of permangate oxidized organic matter was found (Mangalassery et al., 2015; Hok et al., 2018). Along with an increase in soil moisture when using NT technology, an increase in the activity of hydrolases associated with hydrolytic processes of transformation of organic matter in soils is explained. The major indication of soil restoration at NT is soil organic matter accumulation and an increase of soil fertility caused by soil microbiota (Kudeyarov, 2015; Mokrikov et al., 2020).

CONCLUSIONS

It was found that the activity of enzymes in the chernozems of southern Russia depends on the season, soil moisture and depth of sampling, soil different tillage and the class of enzyme. The maximum change in enzymatic activity was noted in the top soil horizon. A decrease in soil moisture leads to inactivation of enzymes, regardless of the method of soil cultivation. The activity of hydrolase enzymes is recovered to a greater extent by soil moisture, and the activity of oxidoreductase enzymes depends more on soil temperature. Long-term use of NT technology leads to the increase of the activity of soil enzymes, especially the enzyme of the carbon cycle - β -fructofuranosidase.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS. Supported by the Leading Scientific School of the Russian Federation (No SSc-2511.2020.11).

REFERENCES

- Acosta-Martínez, V., Acosta-Mercado, D., Sotomayor-Ramírez, D. & Cruz-Rodríguez, L. 2008. Microbial communities and enzymatic activities under different management in semiarid soils. *Applied Soil Ecology* 38, 249–260.
- Akimenko, Y.V., Kazeev, K.S. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2014. The impact of antibiotics (benzylpenicillin, and nystatin) on the biological properties of ordinary chernozems. *Eurasian Soil Science* **47**(9), 910–916.
- Azarenko (Myasnikova), M.A., Kazeev, K.S., Yermolayeva, O.Yu. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2020. Change of vegetation cover and biological properties of chernozems in the postagrogenic period. *Eurasian Soil Science* 53(11), 1645–1654.
- Bai, Z., Caspari, T., Gonzalez, M.R., Batjes, N.H., Mäderb, P., Bünemann, E.K., Goede, R., Brussaard, L., Xud, M., Ferreirae, S.C.S., Reintam, E., Fang, H., Mihelič, R., Glavan, M. & Tóthi, Z. 2018. Effects of agricultural management practices on soil quality: A review of long-term experiments for Europe and China. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 265, 1–7.
- Beare, M.H., Cabrera, M.L., Hendrix, P.F. & Coleman, D.C. 1994. Aggregate protected and unprotected organic matter pools in conventional and no-tillage soils. *Soil Science Social American Journal* 58, 787–795.
- Burns, R.G., DeForest Jared, L., Jürgen, M., Sinsabaugh, R.L., Stromberger, M.E., Wallenstein, M.D., Weintraub, M.N. & Zoppini, A. 2013. Soil enzymes in a changing environment: Current knowledge and future directions. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 58, 216–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.11.009
- Dadenko, E.V., Myasnikova, M.A., Kazeev, K.S., Kolesnikov, S.I. & Valkov, V.F. 2014. Biological activity of ordinary chernozem during long-term use for arable land. *Eurasian Soil Science* 6, 724–730.
- Demina, O.S., Larikova, Yu. S. & Kondratyev, M.N. 2016. Allelopathic potential of angustifolia lupine (Lupinus angustifolius L.) in interaction with other agricultural crops. *News of the Temiryazev Agricultural Academy* **4**, 27–40.
- Dick, W.A. 1984. Influence of long-term tillage and crop rotation combinations on soil enzyme activities. *Soil Science Social American Journal* **48**, 569–574.
- Franchini, J.C., Crispino, C.C., Souza, R.A., Torres, E. & Hungria, M. 2007. Microbiological parameters as indicators of soil quality under various soilmanagement and crop rotation systems in southern Brazil. *Soil Tillage Research* **92**. 18–29.
- Franke, C., Brand. G.J., Vanlauwe, B. & Giller, K.E. 2018. Sustainable intensification through rotations with grain legumes in Sub-Saharan Africa: a review. *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* **261**, 172–185.
- Garbuz, S.A., Yaroslavtseva, N.V. & Kholodov, V.A. 2016. Enzymatic activity inside and outside of water-stable aggregates in soils under different land use. *Eurasian Soil Science* **49**(3), 367–375.
- Gong, H., Li, J., Ma, J., Li, F., Ouyang, Z. & Gu, C. 2018. Effects of tillage practices and microbial agent applications on dry matter accumulation, yield and the soil microbial index of winter wheat in North China. *Soil & Tillage Research* **184**, 235–242.
- Gristina, L., Kesstra, S. & Novara, A. 2018. No-till durum wheat yield success probability in semi arid climate: A methodological framework. *Soil & Tillage Research* **181**, 29–36.
- Gupta, V.V.S.R. & Germida, J.J. 1988. Distribution of microbial biomass and its activity in different soil aggregate size classes as affected by cultivation. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **20**, 777–786.
- Hinojosa, M., Carreira, J.A., García-Ruíz, R. 2004. Soil moisture pre-treatment effects on enzyme activities as indicators of heavy metal-contaminated and reclaimed soils. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* 36, 1559–1568.
- Hlisnikovský, L., Barlog, P., Kunzová, E., Vach, M. & Menšík, L. 2020. Biomass yield of silage maize, fertilizers efficiency, and soil properties under different soil-climate conditions and fertilizer treatments. *Agronomy Research* **18**(1), 88–99.
- Hok, L., Sá, J.C.M., Reyes, M., Boulaki, S., Tivet, F., Leng, V., Kong, R., Briedis, C., Hartman, D.C., Ferreira, L.A., Inagaki, T.M., Gonçalves, D.R.P. & Bressan, P.T. 2018. Enzymes and C pools as indicators of C build up in short-term conservation agriculture in a savanna ecosystem in Cambodia. *Soil & Tillage Research* 177, 125–133.

- Hugh, H.A.L. 2012. Soil extracellular enzyme dynamics in a changing climate. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*. Vol. **47**, pp. 53–59.
- Katsalirou, E., Deng, S., Nofziger, D.L., Gerakis, A. & Fuhlendorf, S.D. 2010. Spatial structure of microbial biomass and activity in prairie soil ecosystems. *European Journal Soil Biology* 46, 181–189.
- Kazeev, K.S., Kozun,' Y.S. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2015. Applying an integral index to evaluate the spatial differentiation of biological properties of soils along an aridity gradient in the south of Russia. *Contemporary Problems of Ecology* **8**(1), 91–98.
- Kazeev, K.S., Kolesnikov, S.I., Akimenko, Y.V. & Dadenko, E.V. 2016. Methods of biodiagnostics of terrestrial ecosystems. Rostov-on-Don: Sfedu Publishing house, 356 pp.
- Kazeev, K.S., Odabashian, M.Y., Trushkov, A.V. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2020. Assessment of the Influence of Pyrogenic Factors on the Biological Properties of Chernozems. *Eurasian Soil Science* 53(11), 1610–1619.
- Kolesnikov, S.I., Timoshenko, A.N., Kazeev, K.Sh., Akimenko, Yu.V. & Myasnikova, M.A. 2019. Ecotoxicity of Copper, Nickel, and Zinc Nanoparticles Assessment on the Basis of Biological Indicators of Chernozems. *Eurasian Soil Science* 52(8), 982–987.
- Kravtsova, N.E., Mokrikov, G.V., Kazeev, K.S., Minnikova, T.V. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2019. Dynamics of the content of nutrients in chernozems of the Rostov region with different technologies of soil cultivation. *Agrochemical Bulletin* **1**(1), 33–36.
- Kudeyarov, V.N. 2015. The current state of carbon balance and the ultimate ability of soils to absorb carbon in Russia. *Soil science* **9**, 1049–1060.
- Lagomarsino, A., Moscatelli, M.C., Di Tizio, A., Mancinelli, R., Grego, S. & Marinari, S. 2009. Soil biochemical indicators as a tool to assess the short-term impact of agricultural management on changes in organic C in a Mediterranean environment. *Ecological Indicators* 9(3), 518–527.
- Loeppmann, S., Blagodatskaya, E., Pausch, J. & Kuzyakov, Y. 2016. Enzyme properties down the soil profile - A matter of substrate quality in rhizosphere and detritusphere. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **103**, 274–283.
- Mancinelli, R., Marinari, S., Di Felice, V., Savin, M.C. & Campiglia, E. 2013. Soil property, CO₂ emission and aridity index as agroecological indicators to assess the mineralization of cover crop green manure in a Mediterranean environment. *Ecological Indicators* **34**, 31–40.
- Mangalassery, S., Mooney, S.J., Sparkes, D.L., Fraser, W.T. & Sjogersten, S. 2015. Impacts of zero tillage on soil enzyme activities, microbial characteristics and organic matter functional chemistry in temperate soils. *European Journal of Soil Biology* 68, 9–17.
- Marinari, S., Mancinelli, R., Brunetti, P. & Campiglia, E. 2015. Soil quality, microbial functions and tomato yield under cover crop mulching in the Mediterranean environment. *Soil Tillage Research* **145**, 20–28.
- Melero, S., Lopez-Garrido, R., Murillo, J.M. & Moreno, F. 2009. Conservation tillage: short-and long-term effects on soil carbon fractions and enzymatic activities under Mediterranean conditions. *Soil Tillage Research* **104**, 292–298.
- Minnikova, T.V., Mokrikov, G.V., Kazeev, K.S., Akimenko, Y.V. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2017. Evaluation of the enzymatic activity of chernozems of the Rostov region under binary crops of sunflower. *Izvestia TSKhA* 6, 141–155.
- Minnikova, T.V., Mokrikov, G.V., Kazeev, K.S., Akimenko, Y.V. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2018. Assessment of the relationship between hydrothermal parameters and enzymatic activity of chernozems of the Rostov region using various agricultural technologies. *Agrophisics* 1, 9–17.
- Minnikova, T.V., Kolesnikov, S.I. & Kazeev, K.S. 2019a. Impact of ameliorants on the biological condition of oil-contaminated black soil. *Soil and Environment* **38**(2), 170–180.

- Minnikova, T.V., Kravtsova, N.E., Mokrikov, G.V., Kazeev, K.S. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2019b. Influence of direct sowing on the content of winter wheat nutrients in chernozem. *Agrochemistry* **10**, 64–71.
- Minnikova, T.V., Mokrikov, G.V., Kazeev, K.S., Myasnikova, M.A. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2019c. Comparative study of the activity of catalase and β-fructofuranosidase in chernozems with long-term use of soil-saving technology of direct sowing. *Problems of Agrochemistry and Ecology* **4**, 67–74.
- Minnikova, T.V., Mokrikov, G.V., Kazeev, K.Sh. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2020. The influence of agricultural crops on the enzymatic activity of chernozems of the Rostov region using various agricultural technologies. *Agrochemistry* **10**, pp. 20–27.
- Mokrikov, G., Minnikova, T., Kazeev, K. & Kolesnikov, S. 2019. Influence of precipitation and moisture reserves on the yield of crops under different tillage. *Agronomy Research* **17**(6), 2350–2358.
- Mokrikov, G.V., Kazeev, K.Sh., Akimenko, Yu.V. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2017. Influence of direct sowing technology on the ecological and biological properties of chernozems. *Izvestia of higher educational institutions. North Caucasian region. Series: Natural Sciences* **2**(194), 68–74.
- Mokrikov, G.V., Minnikova, T.V., Myasnikova, M.A., Kazeev, K.S. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2020. Changes in the content and composition of organic matter in the Azov chernozems using direct sowing technology. *Agrochemistry* **1**, 18–24.
- Papp, R., Marinari, S., Moscatell, M.C., van der Heijden, M.G.A., Wittwer, R., Campiglia, E., Radicetti, E., Mancinelli, R., Fradgley, N., Pearce, B., Bergkvist, G. & Finckh, M.R. 2018. Short-term changes in soil biochemical properties as affected by subsidiary crop cultivation in four European pedo-climatic zones. *Soil and Tillage Research* 180, 126–136.
- Paz-Ferreiro, J. & Fu, S. 2016. Biological indices for soil quality evaluation: perspectives and limitations. *Land Degradation & Deviation* 27, 14–25.
- Riley, H., Borrensen, T., Ekeberg, E. & Rydberg, T. 1994. Trends in reduced tillage research and practice in Scandinavia. In: Carter, M.R. (Ed.), *Conservation Tillage in Temperate Agroecosystems*. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, Florida, USA, pp. 23–45.
- Roldan, A., Salinas-García, J.R., Alguacil, M.M., Díaz, E. & Caravaca, F. 2005. Soil enzyme activities suggest advantages of conservation tillage practices in sorghum cultivation under subtropical conditions. *Geoderma* 129, 178–185.
- Sharkov, I.N., Samokhvalova, L.M. & Mishina, P.V. 2016. Transformation of soil organic matter in leached chernozems under minimized treatment in the forest-steppe of west Siberia. *Eurasian Soil Science* **49**(7), 824–830.
- Shirokikh, I.G., Kozlova, L.M., Shirokikh, A.A., Popov, F.A. & Tovstik, E.V. 2017. Effects of tillage technologies and application of biopreparations on micromycetes in the rhizosphere and rhizoplane of spring wheat. *Eurasian Soil Science* **50**(7), 826–831.
- Shukla, G. & Varma, A. Role of Enzymes in Maintaining Soil Health 2011. *Soil Enzymology, Soil Biology* 22, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, pp. 25–42.
- Sinsabaugh, R.L. 2010. Phenol oxidase, peroxidase and organic matter dynamics of soil. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry* **42**, 391–404.
- Soane, B.D., Ball, B.C., Arvidsson, J., Basch, G., Moreno, F. & Roger-Estrade, J. 2012. No-till in northern, western and south-western Europe: A review of problems and opportunities for crop production and the environment. *Soil and Tillage Research* 118, 66–87.
- Trasar-Cepeda, C., Leiror, M.C. & Gil-Sotres, F. 2008. Hydrolytic enzyme activities in agricultural and forest soils. Some implications for their use as indicators of soil quality. *Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, pp. 1–10.

- Trofimova, T.A., Korzhov, S.I., Gulevskii, V.A. & Obraztsov, V.N. 2018. Assessing the degree of physical degradation and suitability of chernozems for the minimization of basic tillage. *Eurasian Soil Science* **51**(9), 1080–1085.
- Trushkov, A.V., Odabashyan, M.Y., Kazeev, K.S. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2019. Change of physical properties of arable chernozem in the initial period of the after agricultural abandonment regime. *Agronomy Research* **17**(6), 2438–2444.
- Valkov, V.F., Denisova, T.V., Kazeev, K.Sh., Kolesnikov, S.I. & Kuznetsov, R.V. 2008. *Soil fertility and agricultural plants: environmental aspects*. Rostov-on-Don: SFU publishing house, 416 pp. (in in Russian).
- Valkov, V.F., Kazeev, K.S. & Kolesnikov, S.I. 2012. *Soils of the Rostov region*. Rostov-on-Don: Southern Federal University Publishing House, 492 pp. (in in Russian).
- Vazquez E., Teutscherova N., Almorox J., Navas M., Espejo R., Benito M. 2017. Seasonal variation of microbial activity as affected by tillage practice and sugar beet foam amendment under Mediterranean climate. *Applied Soil Ecology* **117–118**, 70–80.
- Vilny, R.P. 2015. The influence of minimizing the processing of typical chernozem on its biological state. *Soil Science and Agrochemistry* **1**(54), 104–114.
- Zhelezova, A.D., Tkhakakhova, A.K., Yaroslavtseva, N.V., Garbuz, S.A., Kogut, B.M., Kutovaya, O.V., Kholodov, V.A. & Lazarev, V.I. 2017. Microbiological parameters of aggregates in typical chernozems of long-term field experiments. *Eurasian Soil Science* 50(6), 701–707.

Dynamics of tuber weight in early potato varieties in the contrasting weather conditions of the Northwestern Russia

L.Yu. Novikova^{1,*}, N.A. Chalaya¹, M.N. Sitnikov¹, L.M. Gorlova¹, S.D. Kiru² and E.V. Rogozina¹

¹N.I. Vavilov All-Russian Institute of Plant Genetic Resources (VIR), 42, 44, Bolshaya Morskaya Str., RU190000 St. Petersburg, Russia
 ²St. Petersburg State Agrarian University, Building A, 2, Peterburgskoe shosse, Pushkin, RU196601 St. Petersburg, Russia
 *Correspondence: l.novikova@vir.nw.ru

Received: September 18th, 2020; Accepted: December 8th, 2020; Published: December 17th, 2020

Abstract. Under climate changes, it is particularly important to search for characteristics of varieties that are steady in contrasting weather conditions. The aim of the present research was to study the relationship between the growth of tubers and haulms in early potato varieties in the Northwestern Russia. Fourteen early potato varieties were studied in the field experiments conducted in 2017-2019 in the vicinities of St. Petersburg. The results of three intermediate digs on the 45th, 60th and 75th day from the planting date were analyzed. The correlation analysis, ANOVA, and regression were used. The average haulm and tubers weight significantly differed in the years of the study, while the number of tubers per plant and the haulm to tubers weight ratio did not differ. The relative growth rate of tubers weight from day 45 to 60 and from 60 to 75 did not differ significantly between 2018 and 2019, the years contrasting in terms of weather conditions. On the average, the tubers weight increased 2.6–2.8 times from day 45 to 60, and 1.4 times from day 60 to 75. It has been established that the early prediction of productivity in early potato varieties can be based on the haulm weight on the 60th day after planting; its coefficient of correlation with productivity was 0.72–0.79. Every 100 grams of the haulm weight on day 60 ensures a 100-200 g increment in the tubers weight by the time of harvest on day 80. The obtained results can be used in the development of a morphometric indicator-based automated system for monitoring the growth of potato plants.

Key words: biometric indicators, dynamics, potato, productivity, relative growth rate.

INTRODUCTION

Potato is the third most important food crop in the world after wheat and rice. It is characterized by the ability to grow in various ecological and geographical regions, to yield in unfavorable conditions and on soils with low fertility. In the modern world, where more than two billion people (26% of the world's population) lack a regular food supply (FAO, 2019), potato is regarded as the main crop for combating poverty and malnutrition in developing and underdeveloped countries. The nutritional value of potato and the ability to produce yield in a relatively short growing season have contributed to

the development of potato production in most countries in Asia, Africa and Latin America (Chandrasekara & Kumar, 2016; Devaux et al., 2020). Climatic changes and instability of weather factors have a noticeable impact on the potato industry and require adaptation measures (Hijmans, 2003; Menzel et al., 2005; Kaukoranta & Hakala, 2008; Iglesias et al., 2009; Olesen et al., 2011; IPCC, 2014). Depending on the region and climate model, the predicted declines in yield by 2050 range from 2.5% to 23% (Pradel et al., 2019). The climate changes observed in recent decades in the European part of Russia have significantly affected the manifestation of economically important traits of potatoes, including productivity and starch content (Novikova et al., 2017; Maho et al., 2019). For the successful functioning of the industry in conditions with unstable weather factors, there is a need in abiotic stress tolerant varieties, and in appropriate technologies for their cultivation (Hijmans, 2003; Olesen et al., 2011; Dahal et al., 2019; Devaux et al., 2020).

In terms of acreage and gross harvest, Russia's share in world potato production is about 10% (Korshunov et al., 2018). According to the leading Russian breeders, there is a shortage of highly productive table varieties with improved quality characteristics, such as early-maturing, late blight and nematode resistance (Simakov et al., 2016). Testing of new domestic varieties is annually carried out in experimental fields of the 'Pushkin and Pavlovsk Laboratories' Scientific and Production Base of the N.I. Vavilov All-Russian Institute of Plant Genetic Resources (P&PL SPB of VIR) located near St. Petersburg (59.7 N, 30.4 E), in the Northwest Federal District of Russia. Conditions in the Northwestern District are favorable for the production of seed potatoes, therefore, testing of new domestic potato varieties in this region is of particular interest for all the parties involved in potato production, including commodity producers and seed producers. However, insufficient knowledge of the mechanisms of potato plants resistance to stress factors, and of their ability to respond to the changing environmental conditions during ontogenesis, complicate the development of a methodology for screening varieties with a high adaptability potential (Eremeev et al., 2003; Dahal et al., 2019).

In breeding of potatoes and other root tubers, the dynamics of growth of roots and tubers, as well as of vegetative mass, is important (Guzhov et al., 2003, p. 179). At the beginning of vegetation, biomass is consumed for the leaf surface formation, and then the biomass produced by the plant is spent on tuberization. To ensure high yields, it is necessary to provide sufficient leaf area by the onset of tuberization. This information is valuable for assessing performance and adaptation particularly in areas with short growing seasons, where harvesting has to be carried out during the bulking period, that is, before leaf senescence. Assessment and documentation of tuber bulking maturity of potential varieties can be useful in the selection of early bulking maturity (Mihovilovich et al., 2014).

Despite the large number of varieties currently available, there is still a need in new early-maturing varieties (Eremeev et al., 2015; Kawar et al., 2018; Ierna & Mauromicale, 2020). Early ripening allows avoiding biotic and abiotic stresses that occur in later periods of the year. Early maturing varieties also ensure an even distribution of potato production over a season (Kawar et al., 2018). Early tuber initiation and growth are necessary for acceptable production in areas where potatoes are often harvested prior to physiological maturity (Mihovilovich et al., 2014).

The main parameters of an early potato variety are as follows: 60–70 days from planting to tuber bulking, productivity of 12–15 t ha⁻¹ on day 60, 6–8 marketable tubers per plant, and 100–120 g average weight of a tuber (Simakov et al., 2016). From the agricultural point of view, an early maturing potato variety implies an ability to produce a high yield of tubers early, however, many varieties that are attributed to early ones, continue increasing the weight of tubers after 75, 80, and even 90 days of growth, which indicates that they have not reached technological ripeness by the time of harvesting (Kiru et al., 2016). Earlier (Kiru et al., 2016), a criterion for true early maturity has been proposed, that is, a decrease in the tuber weight relative growth rate after 60 days from the planting. Growth rate is a characteristic of a time series; it expresses changes in values of a variable between two periods of time (Eliseeva et al., 2006). In our case, it is the relative growth rate in weight of tubers or haulm between two digs (Kiru et al., 2016).

Plant breeders are compelled to screen large numbers of genotypes for their yield potential under field conditions using the time- and cost-intensive methods. The use of easy phenotyping techniques could improve the understanding of potato yield-related mechanisms and allow low-cost predictive assessments (Prey & Schmidhalter, 2020). Knowledge of the biological regularities of plant growth and development allows one to make early forecasts of yield using mathematical, in particular regression models (Guide to agrometeorological forecasting, 1984).

The aim of the present research was to study the relationship between the growth of tubers and haulms in early potato varieties in the Northwestern Russia.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Site description and materials

Fourteen potato varieties were studied in 2017–2019 in the experimental field of P&PL SPB of VIR, St. Petersburg (Table 1). The soils of the experimental field were medium-loamy, slightly acidic (pH 5.7), and the humus content was 3.4%.

The set represents varieties of different geographical origin, from Germany, the Netherlands, European and Asian parts of Russia; old cultivars and new hybrids (Table 1). The varieties Gala, Red Scarlett and Udacha were used as references, being the most popular early varieties in Russian potato industry (Korshunov et al., 2018).

Each variety was represented by 20 plants planted in three replications on randomized plots. During each growing season, such biometric indicators of plant growth and development as the number of stems, the stems length, the weight of haulm (g), the total weight of tubers (g), the number of tubers (pieces), the weight of marketable tubers (g) and the number of marketable tubers (pcs) were recorded. The records were made on day 45, 60 and 75 after planting by evaluating two plants of each variety in three replications. At the final harvesting on day 80, the total weight and number of all tubers, and the weight and number of marketable tubers were recorded. Tubers weighing 30 g on day 45 and 40 g on day 60 and subsequent days after planting were considered as marketable ones. Marketability was calculated as the marketable tubers weight to the total tubers weight ratio as a percentage.

		Year included
Dotato variatu		in the State
hybrid name	Originator (research institute, company)	Register for
nyonu name		Selection
		Achievements
Antonina	Siberian Research Institute of Agriculture and Peat, Russia	2005
Bravo	Urals Research Institute of Agriculture, Russia	2015
Gala	NORIKA GMBH, Germany	2008
Gulliver	A.G. Lorkh All-Russian Research Institute of Potato Farming,	2018
	Russia	
Hybrid S 112-03	Siberian Research Institute of Plant Industry and Breeding,	Not included
	Russia	
Hybrid 3-43-2	Polar Experiment Station, a branch of VIR, Russia	Not included
Zhigulyovsky	A.G. Lorkh All-Russian Research Institute of Potato Farming	2006
	and N.M. Tulaykov Samara Agricultural Research Institute,	
	Russia	
Lyubava	A.G. Lorkh All-Russian Research Institute of Potato Farming	2003
	and Kemerovo Agricultural Research Institute, Russia	
Lux	Urals Research Institute of Agriculture, Russia	2016
Red Scarlett	HZPC HOLLAND B.V., the Netherlands	2000
Sarovsky	Siberian Research Institute of Plant Industry and Breeding,	2014
	Russia	
Start	Smolensk Agricultural Research Institute, Russia	Not included
Udacha	A.G. Lorkh All-Russian Research Institute of Potato Farming,	1994
	Russia	
Yuna	Siberian Research Institute of Plant Industry and Breeding,	2013
	Russia	

Table 1. Origin of 14 potato varieties studied in 2017–2019 at P&PL SPB of VIR

Data analysis

The two-way ANOVA was used to analyze the dependence of the final tuber indicators, recorded on day 80 after planting, on the variety and year.

For two years, 2018 and 2019, a more detailed study of the dynamics of haulm and tubers weight increase was carried out using the data of intermediate digs. A comparison of dynamics indicators was carried out using the Student *t-test* for dependent samples, which has greater power than unpaired tests because the random intra-group variation is eliminated (Fradette et al., 2003; Khalafyan, 2010).

Indicators of the dynamics of haulm and tubers weight increase were calculated according to formula (1) for the periods from day 45 to 60 and from day 60 to 75, that is, the 15-day growth rates were obtained.

$$K_{n/m} = \frac{Y_n}{Y_m} \tag{1}$$

where Y_n , Y_m – the weight on days *n* and *m* after planting, respectively.

A comparison of dynamics indicators in two contrasting years was carried out using the Wilcoxon matched pairs test.

The dependence of the weight of tubers on day 80 on that of haulm and tubers during intermediate digs was investigated using the correlation and regression analysis.

The statistical analysis was performed using the software package Statistica 13.3 (TIBCO Software Inc., Palo Alto, CA, USA).

Weather conditions

The daily data from the Pushkin meteorological station of VIR were used. During the three years of research, 2018 was the warmest, and 2019 was the coldest year (Fig. 1, a). The average temperature over 80 days of the growing season (from planting to digging up) was 16.5 °C in 2017, 17.5 °C in 2018, and 15.9 °C in 2019. The year 2017 was the wettest, with the total precipitation of 360.4 mm during the growing season (Fig. 1, b). In 2018, it equaled 87.6 mm, and 126.8 mm in 2019.



Figure 1. Heat and moisture conditions during potato vegetation per 10-day periods from the planting date: a) average temperature; b) total precipitation.

RESULTSS

Comparison of productivity in three years of research

The two-way ANOVA showed that tuber productivity significantly depends on both the variety (p < 0.001) and year (p < 0.001). The highest productivity (recorded on day 80 after planting, which corresponds to day 60–65 after emergence) was observed in 2018 (Fig. 2); the average for 14 varieties was 994.7 g plant⁻¹, the lowest of 791.6 g plant⁻¹ was recorded in 2019, and in 2017 it averaged 832.3 g plant⁻¹. The productivity amounting to 1 kg of tubers plant⁻¹ with 27 thousand plants ha⁻¹ and tubers marketability of 75–80%, provides a yield of 20–21 t ha⁻¹, which corresponds to the parameters of an early potato variety.

The number of tubers plant⁻¹ did not differ over the years (p = 0.092) and amounted to 11.5–12.4 pcs. The number of marketable tubers averaged 6.7–7.1 pcs. plant⁻¹ (p = 0.396), which corresponds to characteristics of an early variety. Noticeable differences were found in the average tuber weight: the largest (81.9 g) for the studied

set of varieties was recored in 2018, the smallest (70.2 g) in 2019, and in 2017 it was 71.2 g (p < 0.001). The number of stems plant⁻¹ was minimal in 2018 (2.6 pcs.), it was maximal in 2019 (4.3 pcs.), and medium in 2017 (4.1 pcs, p < 0.001). The indicator of marketability was the lowest in 2017 (75.5%) compared to 2018–2019 (90, 91%, respectively; p < 0.001).

So, the number of tubers was relatively constant, while the growing season conditions significantly influenced the average tuber weight. The indicators of productivity, tuber weight and stem number were the most contrasting in 2018 and 2019.



Figure 2. Productivity and its components for a set of 14 early potato varieties within three years of research: a) productivity; b) number of tubers; c) one tuber weight; d) number of stems; e) marketability. The median, qsuartiles, minimum and maximum values are presented.

Comparison of the haulm and tubers weight from day 45 to 75 in contrasting 2018 and 2019

To analyze the dynamics of haulm and tubers weight increase during the growing season, 2018 and 2019 were chosen as the most contrasting years (Fig. 3).

Haulm. The small size of seed tubers determined formation of a smaller number of stems on plants in 2018 compared to 2019 (Fig. 3, a), 2.6 pcs. vs. 4.3 pcs. on an average, respectively. The differences between the years were significant, with p = 0.004 on day 45; p < 0.001 on day 60, and p < 0.001 on day 75, according to the Student *t-test* for dependent samples. The stem length did not vary significantly between different years (Fig. 3, b) on day 45 and 60, and amounted to 44.0 and 46.2 cm on day 45 (p = 0.137), and to 49.6 and 48.7 cm on day 60 (p = 0.713). On day 75, the stem length was significantly lower in 2018 than in 2019 due to the faster development, and amounted to 40.9 cm and 49.0 cm, respectively (p = 0.004). The haulm weight (Fig. 3, c) was higher in 2018 than in 2019 on day 45 (349.0 g vs. 269.2 g, p = 0.047) and on day 60 (376.1 g vs. 298.3 g, p = 0.026), while on day 75 there were no significant differences (301.8 g vs. 276.4 g, p = 0.376).

Tubers. The dynamics of the number of tubers did not depend on the year. The final number of tubers that had formed by the first dig (Fig. 3, d) was 10.9 *vs*. 11.8 tubers plant⁻¹ on an average on day 45 in 2018 and in 2019, respectively (p = 0.341), 12.1 *vs*. 11.7 on day 60 (p = 0.494); and 12.8 *vs*. 12.3 on day 75 (p = 0.603).

Despite the different temperature conditions till day 45 after planting in 2018 and 2019, the total weight of tubers per plant (Fig. 3, e) on day 45 did not differ significantly and amounted to 241.0 g in 2018 and 214.7 g in 2019 (p = 0.193). On other control dates, the total weight of tubers was higher in 2018 than in 2019, and amounted to 608.2 and 536.3 (p = 0.024) on day 60; and to 874.2 g and 754.2 g on day 75 (p = 0.010).

The haulm to tubers weight ratio (Fig. 3, f) decreased in the seasonal course of development. The differences in years were not significant: the ratio was 1.8 on day 45 in 2018 and 1.3 in 2019 (p = 0.193), 0.6 on day 60 (p = 0.168), and 0.3 and 0.4 on day 75 (p = 0.241).



Figure 3. Dynamics of potato growth in 2018 and 2019: a) number of stems; b) stem length; c) weight of haulm; d) number of tubers; e) weight of tubers; f) haulm to tubers weight ratio; g) one tuber weight; h) marketability. Designations: 2018 – solid line, 2019 – dotted line. The average, minimal and maximal values for 14 varieties are presented.

The average weight of one tuber (Fig. 3, g) in all three digs was higher in 2018, but the differences were significant only on day 45: 23.4 g in 2018 and 18.4 g in 2019 (p = 0.043), and insignificant on the later dates: 51.6 g vs. 45.7 g (p = 0.066) on day 60, and 70.6 g vs. 63.1 g (p = 0.247) on day 75.

The marketability was significantly higher in 2018 (Fig. 3, h), that is 75.1% vs. 46.6% in 2019 on day 45 (p = 0.000), and 84.4% vs. 78.8% on day 60 (p = 0.009). On day 75, marketability reached 89.9% in 2018 and 88.1% in 2019, and the difference between the years ceased to exist (p = 0.527).

Thus, the number of tubers per plant and the haulm to tubers weight ratio on the control dates turned out to be less sensitive to changes in the growing season conditions than the number of stems, the weight of haulm, and the total weight of tubers.

Indicators of the dynamics of the haulm and tubers weight growth from day 45 to 75 in 2018 and 2019

Visually, the lines of the dynamics of tubers weight increase (Fig. 3, e) in 2018 and 2019 are in parallel, despite the differences in the absolute values of the weight on different dates. For a quantitative analysis of the dynamics of the haulm and tubers weight increase, the dynamics indicator was calculated as the 15-day relative growth rate between intermediate digs. The average, minimum and maximum indicators of the dynamics of the haulm and tubers weight increase in the studied group of 14 early varieties in different periods are shown in Table 2.

		-					
15-day relative	V	Days 45–	Days 45–60			Days 60–75	
growth rate	rear	Average	Min	Max	Average	Min	Max
Haulm	2018	1.105	0.825	1.631	0.818	0.586	0.996
	2019	1.143	0.818	1.573	0.941	0.744	1.177
	p^*	0.594			0.035		
Tubers	2018	2.750	1.541	5.621	1.443	1.168	1.948
	2019	2.621	1.724	3.665	1.417	1.163	1.745
	p	0.593			0.594		

Table 2. Potato haulm and tubers weight relative growth rates

*p is the significance level of differences between years according to the Wilcoxon test.

Haulm. The relative increment rate of the haulm weight from day 45 to 60 did not depend on the conditions of the year and was 1.105-1.143, i.e. the increment rate was 10.5-14.3% over 15 days (p = 0.594). From day 60 to 75, the haulm weight began to decrease. The process was more intense in 2018 (-18.2% over 15 days) than in 2019 (-5.9% over 15 days; p = 0.035). This was probably due to a higher temperature in this period in 2018 and the faster development of plants.

Tubers. Indicators of the dynamics of tuber weight increase did not differ over the years. On an average, the weight of tubers increased for the studied varieties by 2.621-2.750 times, i.e., by 162.1-175.0% (p = 0.594) over 15 days from day 45 to 60; and by 1.417-1.443 times, i.e., by 41.7-44.3%, from day 60 to 75 (p = 0.594). Thus, the dynamics of tuber weight increase in early varieties was less dependent on the year than that of the haulm weight.

On the 2-year average, the weight of tubers in 14 varieties increased 2.0-3.9 times from day 45 to 60, and 1.3-1.7 times from day 60 to 75.

The tubers – haulm weight relationship

The correlation and regression analysis of the varieties productivity in two contrasting years was carried out.

2018. In 2018, the final productivity of the variety strongly correlated with the characteristics of a variety on day 60 (by which conditions for active growth had formed), that is, with the stem length (r = 0.83), the weight of haulm (r = 0.72), and with the weight of haulm on day 75 (r = 0.77).

2019. In 2019, the varieties could be differentiated by the size of haulm earlier than in 2018, and the final productivity was actually determined by the weight of haulm on day 45 (r = 0.83). Productivity was found to strongly correlate with the stem length on day 45 (r = 0.76) and the weight of tubers (r = 0.72). The final productivity correlated with such variety characteristics on day 60, as the total weight of tubers (r = 0.88), the weight of haulm (r = 0.79), and the total number of tubers (r = 0.80), as well as with such characteristics on day 75 as the total weight of tubers (r = 0.78) and the weight of marketable tubers (r = 0.74).

In both years with the contrasting temperature profiles, the weight of haulm on day 60 strongly correlated with productivity on day 80 with a coefficient of 0.72–0.79 (Fig. 4).



Figure 4. The dependence of the weight of tubers on day 80 after planting on the weight of haulm on day 60.

The final productivity (Y) dependence on the haulm weight on day 60 (V):

$$2018: Y = 640.25 + 0.94V \qquad R^2 = 0.52 \tag{2}$$

2019:
$$Y = 284.92 + 1.70V$$
 $R^2 = 0.62$ (3)

where R^2 – the coefficient of determination. It follows from the above that every 100 grams of the weight of potato haulm recorded on day 60 ensures a 100–200 g increment in the weight of tubers by the time of digging up on day 80.

For the average values of two years:

$$Y = 477.75 + 1.23V \qquad R^2 = 0.57 \tag{4}$$

The equation can be improved if the number of tubers per plant on day 60 (N) is known:

 $Y = 236.15 + 0.93V + 28,84N \qquad R^2 = 0.69 \tag{5}$

In the present study, only Udacha variety out of the 14 studied ones, was distinguished by high and stable productivity, regardless of the weather conditions in the growing season (Fig. 4). It is the most common commercial variety in the Russian Federation recommended for cultivation in 8 out of the 12 agro-climatic regions of the country. The rest of the varieties and hybrids have genotypes adapted to different climatic zones (Siberia, the Volga region, the Northern or Central regions of the European part of Russia) and differ in their response to changes in growing regimes.

DISCUSSION

The conditions for potato growth were the best in 2018 and the worst in 2019. The beginning of the growing season in 2018 was cool; the average temperature within 45 days after planting (14.8 °C) was lower than in 2019 (16.3 °C), and medium in 2017 (14.9 °C). The amount of precipitation over 45 days was sufficient: 140.6 mm in 2017, 49.3 mm in 2018 and 86.5 mm in 2019. The period of tuber weight increase from day 45 to 80 was characterized in 2018 by a favorable average temperature (20.9 °C), by the lowest in 2019 (15.3 °C), and medium in 2017 (18.6 °C). The amounts of precipitation in 2018–19 were sufficient (38.3 mm and 40.3 mm, respectively), and excessive in 2017 (219.8 mm). As a result, the highest yield was obtained in 2018; it was 994.7 g plant⁻¹ on an average for 14 varieties. The lowest yield was obtained in 2019 (791.6 g plant⁻¹), and it was medium in 2017 (832.3 g plant⁻¹). The productivity amounting to 1 kg of tubers plant⁻¹ with 27 thousand plants ha⁻¹ and tubers marketability of 75–80%, provides a yield of 20–21 t ha⁻¹, which corresponds to the parameters of an early potato variety.

In 2017, the conditions of the growing season favored early infestation of plants with late blight. Moderate temperatures and the abundance of precipitation, especially their significant increase in the last three 10-day periods (Fig. 1, b), caused a late blight outbreak and a need in early harvesting to prevent losses. Small tubers prevailed in the harvested potato, which is reflected in the marketability indicator, the lowest in 2017. Small tubers developed a smaller number of eyes capable of germinating the next year (Alsmik et al., 1979; Dimante & Gaile, 2018), which led to formation of only 2.6 stems per plant. The tubers harvested in 2018 produced an average of 4.3 stems per plant in 2019.

The two-way ANOVA revealed that the number tubers did not differ significantly in three years, i.e., turned out to be not very sensitive to changes in the growing regime. Low temperatures increase the number of tubers per plant (Levy & Veilleux 2007), however, in our case, differences in the average temperature of 45 days after planting in 0.5 °C (14.8 °C in 2018 and 16.3 °C in 2019) had less effect on the number of tubers, which was 12 pcs plant⁻¹ on an average, but had an effect on the tuber weight, which varied from 70.2 to 81.9 g. The number of tubers is known to be a more stable character of variety than one tuber weight and yield (Petr et al., 1984).

An analysis of dynamics of biometric parameters of the haulm and tubers in potato varieties in 2018 and 2019 showed that on day 60 and 75 they were higher in 2018 than in 2019. Potato is well adapted to a mean temperature of 17 °C: haulm growth optimum is 20-25 °C, tuber growth about 15-19 °C (Tadesse et al., 2001; Levy & Veilleux 2007; Caliskan, 2016). At a lower temperature (15 °C) and at a higher temperature (25 °C) tuberization is delayed; high temperature above optimum delays tuber initiation and reduces harvest indices (Tadesse et al., 2001; Levy & Veilleux 2007; Çalişkan, 2016). In 2018, favorable growing conditions compensated for the small number of stems, relatively low temperatures at the first part of growing led to more haulm weight. A gradual increase in temperature and precipitation in 2018 ensured the vigorous growth and development of plants. A decrease in temperature that began in the second 10-day period after planting in 2019, and a lack of heat that continued until the end of the growing season negatively affected the biomass increment. Our data are consistent with the previously established differences in optimal temperatures for the growth of the potato haulm and tuberization (Alsmik et al., 1979; Kim & Lee, 2019). The relative growth of various organs in comparable periods of time is similar, i.e., the percentage of dry matter attributable to different organs at certain periods of development is approximately the same in varieties of the same ripening period (Petr et al., 1984).

The use of dynamics indicators made it possible to reveal the relative independence of the tuber weight increase in early varieties from the conditions of the year, in contrast to the haulm weight growth. The haulm to tubers weight ratio (Fig. 3, f) decreased in the seasonal course of development. The differences in years were not significant. The average relative increment rate for a set of 14 varieties did not differ significantly in the contrasting years. The weight of tubers increased on an average 2.6–2.8 times from day 45 to 60, and 1.4 times from day 60 to 75. In studies of a set of 63 early and mid-early varieties at the Polar Branch of VIR (Murmansk Province), the weight of tubers increased from 1.4 to 3.7 times from day 60 to 75, that is, potato varieties of different maturity groups significantly vary in the rate of tubers weight increase in the same conditions (Kiru et al., 2016). In our study of 14 varieties, the average growth rate was 1.3–1.7 from day 60 to 75. Thus, the 14 studied varieties had relative growth rates close to the minimum. The constancy of relative indicators for early varieties is stated in work of Särekanno et al. (2012).

High productivity of potato requires a good development of the haulm. The works of Alsmik (1979) revealed the influence of the potato plant morphobiological type on the productivity and longevity of a variety. The grouping of plants proposed by him according to the shape of the bush, the emergence of stems from soil and the number of stems, has been used by Belarusian breeders to select promising high-yielding varieties (Makhanko & Kolyadko, 1997). A strong relationship between the manifestation of morphological and agronomic characteristics has been established for the early potato varieties developed in Ukraine: it exists between productivity and the leaf weight with the correlation coefficient of 0.83, leaf area size (0.82), total haulm weight (0.84), marketable tubers weight (0.93), and the marketable tubers number (0.73) (Podgaetsky & Kupriyanova, 2008). A conclusion about the possibility of predicting potato productivity on the basis of physiological and morphological parameters of plants was made by Polish researchers based on the results of three-year experiments with early and mid-early varieties. A comparative analysis employed such predictors of potato productivity as the leaf surface index, total chlorophyll content and chlorophyll

fluorescence, while the greatest correlation was found between the tuber yield and leaf surface index (Zarzynska & Pietraszko, 2017). Our research revealed, that for the early potato varieties the final productivity of potato plants in contrasting years depended on the weight of haulm on day 60 after planting, and the correlation coefficient was 0.72–0.79. Every 100 grams of the weight of haulm recorded on day 60 ensures a 100–200 g increment in the weight of tubers by the time of digging up on day 80.

CONCLUSIONS

The contrast weather conditions leads to the significant differences in the early potato varieties productivity. But the number of tubers and haulm to tubers weight ratio turned out to be less sensitive to changes in the growing regime.

The use of dynamics indicators made it possible to reveal the independence of the tuber relative growth rate in early varieties (in contrast to the haulm growth) from the conditions of the year.

The revealed relationship between the final productivity of early potato varieties and the weight of haulm on day 60 after planting can be used to advance forecasting the yield. The obtained results can be used for the development of automated systems for recording the morphometric parameters of potato plants.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS. The present work was performed within the framework of the State Assignment No. 0662-2019-0004 'VIR collections of vegetatively propagated crops (potato, fruit, berry, ornamental crops, grape) and their wild relatives; their study and rational use'.

REFERENCES

- Alsmik, P.I., Ambrosov, A.L. Vecher, A.S., Goncharik, M.N. & Mokronosov, A.T. Ed. by Rubin, B.A. 1979. *Physiology of potatoes*. Kolos Publishers, Moscow, 272 pp. (in Russian).
- Çalişkan, M.E. 2016. New Challenges in Potato Breeding to Cope with Climate Change: Dual Tolerance to Heat and Drought Agronomy Series of Scientific Research. *Lucrari Stiintifice Seria Agronomie* **59**(2), 151–154.
- Chandrasekara, A. & Kumar, Th.J. 2016. Roots and Tuber Crops as Functional Foods: A Review on Phytochemical Constituents and Their Potential Health Benefits. *International Journal of Food Science* 3631647, 15 pp. doi: 10.1155/2016/3631647
- Dahal, K., Li, X-Q., Tai, H., Creelman, A. & Bizimungu, B. 2019. Improving Potato Stress Tolerance and Tuber Yield Under a Climate Change Scenario – A Current Overview. *Front. Plant Sci.* **10**, 563. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2019.00563
- Devaux, A., Goffart, J., Petsakos, A., Kromann, P., Gatto, M., Okello, J., Suarez, V. & Hareau, G. 2020. Global Food Security, Contributions from Sustainable Potato Agri-Food Systems. In book: *The Potato Crop*, 3–35. doi: 10.1007/978-3-030-28683-5_1
- Dimante, I. & Gaile Z. 2018. Assessment of potato plant development from minitubers. *Agronomy Research* **16**(4), 1630–1641. doi:10.15159/AR.18.179
- Eliseeva, I.I., Izotov, A.V., Kapralova, E.B., Flood, N.A. & Shchirina, A.N. 2006. *Statistics* KNORUS Publishers, Moscow, 552 pp. (in Russian).
- Eremeev, V., Jõudu, J., Lõhmus, A., Lääniste, P. & Makke, A. 2003. The effect of pre-planting treatment of seed tubers on potato yield formation. *Agronomy Research* 1(2), 115–122.
- Eremeev, V., Tein, B., Lääniste, P., Mäeorg E. & J. Kuht. 2015. The effect of pre-planting thermal treatment of seed tubers on the yield and quality of potato. *Agronomy Research* 13(5), 1193–1201.

- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nation). 2019. *The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World*. Rome, pp. 239. Available at http://www.fao.org/state-of-food-security-nutrition
- Fradette, K., Keselman, H. J., Lix, L., Algina, J. & Wilcox, R. 2003. Conventional and robust paired and independent samples t-tests: Type I error and power rates. *Journal of Modern Applied Statistical Methods* 2(2), 481–496. doi: 10.22237/jmasm/1067646120
- Guide to agrometeorological forecasting. V.2. Industrial, vegetable, fruit, subtropical crops, grasses, pasture vegetation, transhumance Yu. S. Melnik, N. V. Gulinova, S. A. Bedarev (eds). 1984. Gidrometeoizdat, Leningrad, 264 pp. (in Russian).
- Guzhov, Yu. L., Fuks, A. & Valichek, P. 2003. Breeding and seed production of cultivated plants. 536 p. ISBN: 5-03-003657-1.
- Hijmans, R.J. 2003. The effect of climate change on global potato production. *American J. Potato Res.* **80**, 271–280. doi:10.1007/bf02855363
- Ierna, A. & Mauromicale, G. 2020. How Moderate Water Stress Can Affect Water Use Efficiency Indices in Potato. *Agronomy* **10**(7), 1034. doi: 10.3390/agronomy10071034
- Iglesias, A., Garrote, L., Quiroga, S. & Moneo, M. 2009. *Impacts of climate change in agriculture in Europe*. PESETA-Agriculture study. JRC, Institute for Prospective Technological Studies, Luxembourg. 59 pp. doi:10.2791/33218
- IPCC Summary for policymakers. 2014. In: *Climate Change 2014: Impacts, Adaptation, and Vulnerability. Part A: Global and Sectoral Aspects.* Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, Cambridge University Press, NY, USA, 1–32.
- Kaukoranta, T. & Hakala, K. 2008. Impact of Spring Warming on Sowing Times of Cereal, Potato and Sugar Beet in Finland. *Agri. Food Sci.* **17**, 165–176.
- Kawar, P., Kardile, H., Raja, S., Dutt, S., Kumar, R., Manivel, P., Bhardwaj, V., Singh, B.P., Govindakrishnan, P.M. & Chakrabarti, S. 2018. Developing Early-Maturing and Stress-Resistant Potato Varieties. In book: Achieving sustainable cultivation of potatoes V.1. doi: 10.19103/AS.2017.0016.07
- Khalafyan, A. A. 2010. *Statistica 6. Statistical data analysis*. Binom, Moscow 528 pp. (in Russian).
- Kim, Y-U & Lee, B-W. 2019. Differential Mechanisms of Potato Yield Loss Induced by High Day and Night Temperatures During Tuber Initiation and Bulking: Photosynthesis and Tuber Growth. *Front. Plant Sci.* 10, 300. doi: 10.3389/fpls.2019.00300
- Kiru, S.D., Zhigadlo, T.E. & Novikova, L.Yu. 2016. Potential of Productivity of Early Potato Varieties from VIR Collection Under Conditions of Murmansk Region. Achievements of Science and Technology of AIC 30(10), 27–31 (in Russian).
- Korshunov, A.V., Simakov, E.A., Lysenko, Yu.N., Anisimov, B.V., Mityushkin, A.V. & Gaitov, M.Yu. 2018. Actual Problems and Priority Directions of Innovative Development of Potato Breeding. Achievements of Science and Technology of AIC 32(3), 12–20 (in Russian). doi: 10.24411/0235-2451-2018-10303
- Levy, D. & Veilleux, R.E. 2007. Adaptation of Potato to High Temperatures and Salinity–A Review. *American Journal of Potato Research* **84**, 487–506.
- Maho, A., Skënderasi, B. & Cara, M. 2019. Changes in Potato Cultivation Technology in Korça Region as Adaptation to Climate Change. *Italian Journal of Agronomy* **14**(1374), 84–92.
- Makhanko, V.L. & Kolyadko, I.I. 1997. Evaluation of the Initial Forms of Potatoes According to the Morphostructure of the Bush and Elements of Productivity when Breeding for Early Maturity. *Potato-Growing. Proceedings of the Byelorussian Research Institute of Potato.* 9, 3–8 (in Russian).
- Menzel, A., von Vopelius, J., Estrella, N., Schleip, C. & Dose, V. 2005. Farmers' Annual Activities are not Tracking Speed of Climate Change. *Climate Res.* **32**, 201–207.

- Mihovilovich, E., Carli, C., De Mendiburu, F., Hualla, V. & Bonierbale, M. 2014. *Tuber bulking maturity assessment of elite and advanced potato clones protocol.* Lima (Peru). International Potato Center. 43 pp.
- Novikova, L.Yu., Kiru, S.D. & Rogozina, E.V. 2017. Valuable Traits of Potato (Solanum L.) Varieties as Influenced by Climate Change in European Russia. Sel'skokhozyaistvennaya Biologiya [Agricultural Biology] 52(1), 75–83. doi: 10.15389/agrobiology.2017.1.75eng
- Olesen, J.E., Trnka, M., Kersebaum, K.C., Skjelvåg, A.O., Seguin, B., Peltonen-Sainio, P., Rossi, F., Kozyra, J. & Micale, F. 2011. Impacts and Adaptation of European Crop Production Systems to Climate Change. *European journal of agronomy* 34(2), 96–112.
- Petr, J., Černý, V. & Hruška, L. 1984. *Yield formation in the main agricultural crops*. Kolos, Moscow, 367 pp. (in Russian).
- Podgaetsky, A.A. & Kupriyanova, T.N. 2008. Manifestation of Morphological and Agronomic Traits in Early Potato Varieties. *Potato-Growing: Proceedings* **14**, 290–295. (In Russian)
- Pradel W., Gatto, M., Hareau, G., Pandey, S. & Bhardway, V. 2019. Adoption of Potato Varieties and Their Role for Climate Change Adaptation in India. *Climate Risk Management* 23. doi: 10.1016/j.crm.2019.01.001
- Prey, L. & Schmidhalter, U. 2020. Deep Phenotyping of Yield-Related Traits in Wheat. *Agronomy* **10**(4), 603; doi: 10.3390/agronomy10040603
- Särekanno, M., Kadaja, J., Kotkas, K., Rosenberg, V. & Eremeev V. 2012. Development of Field-Grown Potato Plants Derived from Meristem Plants Multiplied with Different Methods. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section B - Soil & Plant Science 62(2), 114–124. doi: 10.1080/09064710.2011.581680
- Simakov, E.A., Mityushkin, Alexey.V., Mityushkin, Al-dr.V. & Zhuravlev, A.A. 2016. Modern Requirements to Potato Varieties for Various Purposes. Achievements of Science and Technology of AIC. 30(11), 45–48 (in Russian).
- Tadesse, M., Lommew, W.J.M. & Struik, P.E. 2001. Development of Micropropagated Potato Plants over Three Phases of Growth as Affected by Temperature in Different Phases. *Netherlands Journal of Agricultural Science* **49**, 53–66.
- Zarzynska, K. & Pietraszko, M. 2017. Possibility to Predict the Yield of Potatoes Grown under Two Crop Production Systems on the Basis of Selected Morphological and Physiological Plant Indicators. *Plant Soil Environ* **63**(4), 165–170. doi: 10.17221/101/2017-PSE

Detection of sour and sweet cherry viruses in Ukraine

L. Pavliuk^{*}, K. Udovychenko, I. Riaba and M. Bublyk

National Academy of Agrarian Sciences of Ukraine, Institute of Horticulture, Sadova Str., 23, UA03027 Novosilky, Kyiv region, Ukraine *Correspondence: pavliukl.92@ukr.net

Received: October 14th, 2020; Accepted: November 20th, 2020; Published: December 10th, 2020

Abstract. One of the main obstacles on the way to successful cultivation of orchards and planting material of sour and sweet cherry is infection with viral pathogens. They can adversely affect yields, reduce plant resistance to abiotic factors and cause losses in the nursery. Therefore, it is important to determine the spread of viruses in plantations and the selection of virus-free plants for the establishment of nuclear stock collections. In order to study phytovirological state of the orchards, tests for the presence of five viral pathogens were performed: Tomato black ring nepovirus (TBRV), Cherry leaf roll nepovirus (CLRV), Apple chlorotic leaf spot virus (ACLSV), Petunia asteroid mosaic tombusvirus (PeAMV), Plum pox virus (PPV). The level of infection with these pathogens reaches 19.2% for sour cherry, 5.8% - for sweet cherry, and 7.4% - for rootstocks. PPV prevailed in sour cherry material - 7%, in sweet cherry material - ACLSV (3.6%), while the rootstock samples were most infected by PeAMV - 5.6%. Until now, this virus has not been reported in Ukraine. TBRV and ACLSV viruses have been known in other crops so far, while not yet been detected in sour and sweet cherry. It was determined that PPV isolates (Mahaleb 1, Mahaleb 2) which were detected in sour cherry, belong to strain D.

Key words: ELISA, TBRV, CLRV, ACLSV, PeAMV, PPV, phylogenetic.

INTRODUCTION

The modern horticultural industry involves the use of planting material that is free of viral pathogens and meets current standards. Growing planting material of cherry in Ukraine today is guided by EPPO PM 4/29 (1) standard, which includes 15 viral pathogens. The distribution of many viruses in domestic plantations is still unclear. Survey of propagation stock orchards of sour cherry, sweet cherry and their clonal rootstocks, carried out in 2018, has not detected the presence of TBRV, CLRV, ACLSV, ApMV and PPV (Pavliuk et al., 2019). Although it is previously known that all these viruses, except for PeAMV, were found in Ukraine in other types of sour and sweet cherry plantations, or in other crops (Gospodaryk et al., 2005; Tryapitsyna & Vasiuta, 2010; Tryapitsyna et al., 2013; Kutsenko et al., 2019).

In addition, new Plum pox virus (PPV) strains have recently been reported in neighboring countries, infecting sour and sweet cherries, including PPV-CR (Cherry Russian) and PPV-CV (Cherry Volga) strains (Chirkov et al., 2017, 2018). Therefore, there is a need to test plant material for this virus. Typical symptoms of PPV are

appearance of chlorotic spots, or slightly pigmented yellow rings or lines. The fruits deform and abscise prematurely (Dehkordi et al., 2017). Virus of the C strain can also affect yield and fruit quality. The fruits do not ripen, and necrosis is observed on sweet cherry branches (Nemchinov et al., 1996). In general, PPV is considered to be one of the most destructive pathogens of *Prunus* species, crop losses can reach 30–40%, and in some years on sensitive varieties - 70–90% (Yusko, 2009). In 2006, losses caused by PPV worldwide were estimated at around \in 10 billion in total over the last 30 years (Cambra et al., 2006).

Therefore, we included PPV to the list of tested pathogens. As of today, it has been identified in 10 regions of Ukraine (Odessa, Cherkasy, Kyiv, Kharkiv, Ivano-Frankivsk, Vinnytsia, Lviv, Mykolaiv, Ternopil, Chernivtsi regions) and the Autonomous Republic of Crimea. Private, collection, selection, and propagation stock orchards of certain stone fruit crops were checked for this pathogen. Crops such as plum, myrobalan plum, apricot, and peach were mainly tested. Sour and sweet cherry were tested selectively (Kondratenko & Udovichenko, 2006; Tryapitsyna, 2016; Kutsenko et al., 2019).

Thus, the aim of our research is to determine the spread of uncommon viral pathogens in sour and sweet cherry and their rootstocks.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

During the vegetation period of 2018–2020, 291 samples were tested, including 138 - of sweet cherry, 99 - of sour cherry, 54 - of clonal rootstocks. Samples were collected from 10 regions of Ukraine (Ivano-Frankivsk, Kyiv, Zaporizhzhya, Ternopil, Donetsk, Kharkiv, Kherson, Transcarpathian, Dnepropetrovsk, Cherkasy regions). A total of 17 sweet cherry cultivars, 13 sour cherry cultivars and 4 types of rootstocks were tested. Testing was performed by Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) method using Loewe Biochemica GmbH (Germany) and Bioreba AG (Switzerland) commercial test kits. ELISA was performed according to standard methods of M. Clark and A. Adams (1977). Test tissue was taken from the basal part of the leaf, then it was homogenized with the addition of conjugate buffer with 1:20 ratio. Test results were read on a microplate spectrometer ImmunoChem-2100 Microplate Reader (USA), at a wavelength of 405 nm. Analysis of variance of the research data was performed using STATISTICA software, at confidence level p < 0.05. Positive PPV samples were further tested by reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) method to confirm the presence of the virus in the plant and to establish its strain affiliation. Fresh plant tissues were used for total RNA extraction, and isolation was performed using a commercial RNeasy Plant Mini kit (Qiagen, UK) according to the manufacturer's instructions. A commercial Verso 1-Step RT-PCR Kit ReddyMix (Thermo Scientific, USA) was used according to the manufacturer's recommendations to set up the reaction. The following components were used to carry out one reaction with a volume of 20 µl: 2X 1 Step PCR ReddyMix - 10 µl, Verso Enzyme Mix - 0.4 µl, RT Enhancer - 1 µl, Primer forward - $0.4 \,\mu$ l (10 mmol), Primer reverse - $0.4 \,\mu$ l (10 mmol), H₂O - $6.6 \,\mu$ l, RNA - 50 ng per reaction. The following primers were used for molecular identification - P1: 5'-ACC GAG ACC ACT ACA CTC CC-3' and P2: 5'-CAG ACT ACA GCC TCG CCA GA-3', proposed by Wetzel et al. (1991). The expected amplification product is 243 bp. Primers to the Nad-5 mitochondrial dehydrogenase gene, with an expected 181 bp fragment, were used to control reverse transcription (Menzel et al., 2002).

Amplification was performed in a programming thermostat 'Ependorf Mastercycler Personal' (Ependorf AG, Germany) according to the following parameters: $55 \,^{\circ}C - 15 \,^{\circ}min$, $95 \,^{\circ}C - 2 \,^{\circ}min$, $40 \,^{\circ}mplification (95 \,^{\circ}C - 20 \,^{\circ}s, 60 \,^{\circ}C - 30 \,^{\circ}s, 72 \,^{\circ}C - 1 \,^{\circ}min)$, final elongation at $72 \,^{\circ}C - 5 \,^{\circ}min$.

The presence of amplification fragments was checked by separating the PCR products in 2% agarose gel, with TBE buffer with the addition of ethidium bromide.

The resulting amplicons were sequenced. Nucleotide sequences were compared with those deposited in the Genbank (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) PPV isolates using BLAST software. Sequence alignment was performed using CLUSTAL W option in MEGA X software (Kumar et al., 2018). The construction of the phylodendrogram was performed by Neighbour-Joining method (NJ) (Saitou & Nei, 1987), using bootstrap 500 analysis (Felsenstein, 1985).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

Serological testing of the material of sour cherry, sweet cherry, and rootstocks showed that the general level of infection of sour cherry was 19.2% (\pm 0.08), while sweet cherry and rootstocks were infected only by 5.8% (\pm 0.04) and 7.4% (\pm 0.07), respectively.

In general, all viruses for which plant material was tested were detected in sour and sweet cherry cultivar samples (Table 1). In sour cherry samples, PPV prevailed - 7%, while in sweet cherry it was 1.4%, and in rootstock samples - 1.9%. Monitoring data from foreign colleagues indicates the absence of PPV in the collection plantations of sour and sweet cherry in Serbia (Mandic et al., 2007) and in stone crop orchards of Isparta province (Turkey) (Çevik et al., 2011). In Bosnia and Herzegovina, on the other hand, in the orchards of the same type of stone crops (including sour and sweet cherry), the virus was present in 47% of the tested material (Matić et al., 2008).

Testad	Number	Viruses, %					
plants	of samples tested (n)	PPV	PeAMV	ACLSV	TBRV	CLRV	
Prunus avium	138	1.4 ± 0.02	1.4 ± 0.02	3.6 ± 0.03	0.7 ± 0.01	0.7 ± 0.01	
Prunus cerasus	99	7 ± 0.05	1 ± 0.02	3 ± 0.03	5 ± 0.05	2 ± 0.03	
Rootstocks	54	1.9 ± 0.04	5.6 ± 0.06	1.9 ± 0.04	-	-	

 Table 1. Distribution of infection to different viruses, % (2018–2020)

We detected PeAMV for the first time in Ukraine. Until now, there were no reports of its discovery, and it was considered absent in sour and sweet cherry orchards. The highest level of infection was observed in rootstock samples - 5.6%, in sweet and sour cherry samples - 1.4 and 1%, respectively. In general, this virus has been reported in stone fruit crops in Canada, Germany, Switzerland, Latvia, and Serbia (Koenig & Kunze, 1982; Mandic et al., 2007; Gospodaryk et al., 2013), however, there is no monitoring data on the level of infection of the orchards with this pathogen. In Latvia, infection with this virus was found on 'Kubanskaya Kometa' and 'Skoroplidna' plum cultivars. These varieties are popular in Ukraine and are used in home gardens and industrial orchards.

Here it occurred as a complex of infections togsether with ArMV, TBRV and SLRV (Gospodaryk et al., 2013). In our research, PeAMV was found on rootstock samples, 'Bigarreau Burlat' sweet cherry cultivar and 'Shalun'ia' sour cherry cultivar.

ACLSV is characterized by cosmopolitan distribution, making it one of the most economically important pathogens. In addition to severe deformation of leaves and fruits, cracking of the bark, incompatibility of scion-rootstock combinations (Desvignes & Boye, 1989; Pasquini et al., 1998), infected plants become more susceptible to bacterial and fungal diseases (Zawadzka, 1989). The level of ACLSV infection in investigated plantations of sweet cherry (3.6%), sour cherry (3%) and rootstocks (1.9%) was significantly lower than in fruiting orchards of sweet cherry in Spain, where the infection with this virus reached 16% (Sánchez et al., 2015). In the Mediterranean region, the rate of ACLSV infection for sour and sweet cherry was 14% (Myrta & Savino, 2008), in Bosnia and Herzegovina in plantations of stone fruit crops, virus was present in 4% of the tested material (Matić et al., 2008), the same result (4%) was obtained when testing sweet and sour cherry cultivars in Serbia (Mandic et al., 2007). The lowest level of infection with this pathogen was found in Isparta province (Turkey), where only 1% of samples of sour and sweet cherry were infected with this virus (Cevik et al., 2011). Despite the wide spread of ACLSV, it was not detected in sour cherry orchards in Algeria (Rouag et al., 2008). In sour cherry orchards of Palestine, the infection rate reached 25%, but PPV, TBRV and CLRV viruses were not detected there (Jarrar et al., 2001).

Tomato black ring nepovirus was identified only in sweet (0.7%) and sour cherry (5%) orchards. Tested rootstock samples were not infected with this pathogen. In other types of sour and sweet cherry plantations, the virus was not previously identified. However, it is widespread in Ukraine in raspberry plantations - 29.6% (Tryapitsyna et al., 2013). Typical symptoms may include chlorotic spots, mosaic, necrotic lesions, ring spots or patterns, and deformation of the fruit (Šneideris & Staniulis, 2014). In Poland, this pathogen has been identified on elderberry (*Sambucus nigra*) (Pospieszny et al., 2004), in Lithuania - on tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum*), rhubarb (*Rheum rhabarbarum* L), strawberry (*Fragaria vesca* L) (Šneideris & Staniulis, 2014). As one can see, the range of host plants of this virus is quite wide, so many plants can be reservoirs for its accumulation, which in turn increases the likelihood of infection of the main host plants.

According to the preliminary data, the collection plantations of sweet cherry in Ukraine are infected with CLRV by 21.63%, while sour cherry - by 16.19% (Tryapitsyna & Vasiuta, 2010). In Russia, the virus was detected in plantations of sour, sweet cherry and their rootstocks in 8.9-28.6% of the samples (Upadyshev et al., 2017). Data from our research indicate the presence of the pathogen in 0.7% of sweet cherry and 2% of sour cherry. On infected cherry trees, virus causes deformation and twisting of leaves, mosaic, as well as growth retardation and death of individual branches or the whole tree (Tryapitsyna & Vasiuta, 2010).

Complex pathogen infection was also identified: PPV + ACLSV was detected in samples of sour cherry $(1\% \pm 0.02)$ and rootstocks $(1.9\% \pm 0.03)$, while sweet cherry had a complex infection with PPV + TBRV $(0.5\% \pm 0.01)$. As these viral pathogens do not have common vectors of carriers, it is obvious that infection occurred due to non-compliance with the requirements of care and agronomic measures.

Territorial distribution of pathogens

Analysing the geographical distribution of viral pathogens, one see that all studied viruses were found in Donetsk region, except for TBRV. According to the State Statistics Service, sour and sweet cherry plantations in this region occupy about 1,300 ha. This region is one of the largest regions for growing sour and sweet cherry.

The spread of some viruses may depend on the variety of strains and isolates that may infect plants selectively, focusing on the host plant rather than the range (Rebenstorf et al., 2006). For example, the CLRV strain that infects walnut (*Juglans regia* L.) is not transmitted to sour, sweet cherry and birch (Langer et al., 2009). According to some studies, in Ukraine the Polissya (the north-western part of the country) area is the most vulnerable to the spread of this pathogen, as it hosts the largest number of plants that can be reservoirs of pathogen accumulation and source of its spread (Tryapitsina & Vasiuta, 2010). However, in our research, CLRV was identified only in Donetsk and Kharkiv regions, thus refuting previous assumptions.

When analysing the distribution by region, one can observe a sporadic spread of viral pathogens, rather than some specific pattern. Most likely, this distribution is a consequence of the human factor - non-compliance with sanitary requirements for agronomic measures and the spread of infected planting material.

Infection of tested cultivars and types of rootstocks

In total, 17 cultivars of sweet cherry, 13 cultivars of sour cherry, and four types of rootstocks were tested. Among the sweet cherry material, 'Bigarreau Burlat', 'Donetskyi

Uhol`ok', 'Donetska Krasavitsa', 'Nizhnist' 'Krupnoplidna' and cultivars were infected (Table 2). The most infected samples were found in Bigarreau Burlat - 11.8%. This cultivar is of French origin, dating from 1915. Since then, planting material has spread to Central Europe, and later the cultivar became popular in Ukraine. Apparently, over the years of its spread there was an uncontrolled reproduction of planting material, which caused a high level of infection.

'Donetskyi Uhol'ok' and 'Donetska Krasavitsa' cultivars, infection level of

Table 2. Infection	of	cultivars	of	the	tested
material					

Number	Infected
of samples	samples,
tested (n)	%
17	11.8 ± 0.15
11	9 ± 0.17
13	7.7 ± 0.14
17	5.9 ± 0.11
21	4.8 ± 0.09
14	28.6 ± 0.24
15	20 ± 0.20
31	3.2 ± 0.06
18	22.2 ± 0.19
	Number of samples tested (<i>n</i>) 17 11 13 17 21 14 15 31 18

which was 9 and 7.7%, respectively, are cultivars of selection of Bakhmut Resarch Station of Horticulture, in the vicinity of which the largest localization of pathogens was detected. 'Valery Chkalov', 'Kitaivska Chorna', 'Melitopolska Chorna', 'Talisman' and 'Udivitelna' cultivars were free from the tested pathogens.

In contrast to sweet cherry, in tested sour cherry samples three infected cultivars were found - 'Shalun'ia' (28.6%), 'Boguslavka' (20%) and 'Kseniia' (3.2%), while 'Vstrecha' was virus-free. CLRV predominated in the samples of 'Shalun'ia' cultivar, while PPV prevailed in 'Boguslavka' samples.

Today, both seedling (*P. mahaleb*) and clonal (VSL-2, Colt, Studenykivska) rootstocks are used in industrial sweet and sour cherry orchards in Europe (Jänes & Pae, 2004; Maas et al., 2014; Vasyuta & Ryabyi, 2017; Csihon et al., 2018). Analysed Colt, VSL-2 and Studenykivska rootstock samples were free of the tested pathogens, while *P. mahaleb* smaples were infected. These samples were dominated by PeAMV. The ability of these viruses to be transmitted by seeds has not been reliably confirmed, but their particles were isolated from the seeds of sour and sweet cherry plants (Pfeilstetter et al., 1992).

Strain identification of Plum pox virus

Strain affiliation of PPV, which circulates in Ukraine and infects sour and sweet cherries, has not been previously studied. Of the nine known strains, only C, CR and CV are thought to be able to infect sour and sweet cherry (Chirkov et al., 2017, 2018; James et al., 2013; García et al., 2014). CV strain can cause typical chlorotic spots on sour cherry (Chirkov et al., 2017, 2018). In Germany, the same symptoms were observed on leaves of sour cherry infected with C strain, as well as leaf deformation and dark rings on the fruits (Jelkmann et al., 2018).

A potential vector of the pathogen is aphids. It is believed that virus can be transmitted by roughly 20 species of aphids, but the most effective vectors are *Aphis craccivora, A. spiraecola, A. cardui, Brachycaudus helichrysi, B. cardui, Hyalopterus pruni, Myzus persicae, Phorodon humuli* (Gaborjanyi & Basky 1995; Labbone et al., 2001). It is known that some of them are common in Ukraine and other European countries (Yusko et al., 2008; Latinović et al., 2017; Musa et al., 2020). These insects can easily be the carriers of the pathogen, because virus particles together with the sap of infected trees can be stored for about 4 hours in the food apparatus of the insect, while the insect can change the plant it feeds on during that period, thus spreading infection in the orchards (Jordovic, 1968). However, the effectiveness of this way of virus transmission depends on the strain, cultivar and species of the host, aphid species, and season (Levy et al., 2000).

After ELISA testing, samples positive with PPV were further tested by RT-PCR. The analysis confirmed the presence of this virus in all tested samples which was confirmed by the presence of the expected fragment of amplification. Two samples of *P. mahaleb* rootstocks from Zaporizhzhia region were chosen for sequencing.

After sequencing, the resulting fragments of Mahaleb 1 (MW055900) and Mahaleb 2 isolates were equal to 243 bp, which reffered the position 9313-9555 in the viral genome. According to the results of comparison of our isolates with known ones, its affiliation to D strain was established. To date, it has been investigated that D strain of PPV can cause epidemics in peach, apricot and plum orchards (Gottwald et al., 1995; Dallot et al., 1998; Polák & Komínek, 2009). In contrast to the samples affected by cherry strains, which were described by other authors (Chirkov et al., 2017, Jelkmann et al., 2018), our infected samples did not show symptoms of virus infection on the leaves.

Direct analysis of all Ukrainian isolates of this virus present in the GenBank (www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov) has indicated that 83% of them belong to D strain. The other 17% of isolates belong to strains W, M and Rec. The host plants are mainly peach, apricot and plum. Mahaleb 1 and Mahaleb 2 isolates are the first PPV isolates of D strain isolated from *P. mahaleb* in Ukraine.

For phylogenetic analysis, all known isolates of PPV circulating in Ukraine, as well as representatives of cherry strains C, CR, CV were selected.

Since this segment is highly conservative, at least 272 known isolates from different countries and crops have been found to be 100% identical to our isolates. Mahaleb 1 and Mahaleb 2 isolates showed a high level of identity between themselves - 100%. When comparing all Ukrainian isolates, variability within the group was found, identity ranged between 89.5–100%, and the overall mean identity was 97%. Since some isolates were distant by nucleotide sequences, they were included in a separate group (IV) on the phylogenetic tree (Fig. 1). Thus, MK209075 (Kharkiv region, apricot) and MK209074 (Odessa region, plum) isolates turned out to be distant. By nucleotide sequences, the identity of our isolates between them was 94 and 89.5%, respectively.



Figure 1. Phylogenetic tree of Plum pox virus isolates reconstructed using a 149-bp nucleotide fragment polyprotein gene (position of 9369-9517) constructed by Neighbour-Joining method.

Mahaleb isolates were classified in group III, together with the most identical (100%) isolates of this strain: plum isolate KJ914573, peach isolates MK209077, MK209076, MK209073, MK209071, and myrobalan plum isolates JN637991 and KR028386.

Representatives of cherry strains combined a separate group, together with isolate JN596110, which belongs to strain W. Mahaleb isolates are identical by 90% to isolate MG736816 (CR), by 92.5% to isolate MF447180 (CV), and by 93.3% to MH346311 (C).

Isolates of M and Rec strains also formed a separate group. When comparing Mahaleb isolates with isolates belonging to these strains, an identity level of 95% was observed.

CONCLUSIONS

This research demonstrates the presence of previously undetected sour and sweet cherry viruses in Ukraine. The presence of a panel of viral pathogens identified by EPPO PM 4/29 (1) indicates the need to test plant material and comply with sanitary requirements when maintaining orchards and when propagating material to prevent the spread of pathogens with planting material. Detection of viruses that have not been previously reported in Ukraine (PeAMV) and in sour cherry orchards (TBRV, ACLSV) once again confirms the need for testing of plant material and further investigation of their molecular characteristics.

Since PPV isolates identified by us belong to D strain, it is necessary to further determine its ability to be transmitted to plants that are more susceptible to the virus, as well as to investigate its harmfulness in sour and sweet cherry orchards.

REFERENCES

- Cambra, M., Capote, N., Myrta, A. & Llacer, G. 2006. Plum pox virus and the estimated costs associated with sharka disease. *Bulletin OEPP/EPPO Bulletin* **36**, 202–204.
- Çevik, B., Yardimci, N. & Çulal-Kiliç, H. 2011. Detection of viruses infecting stone fruits in western Mediterranean region of Turkey. *Plant Pathology Journal* 27, 44–52. https://doi.org/10.5423/PPJ.2011.27.1.044
- Chirkov, S., Ivanov, P., Sheveleva, A., Zakubanskiy, A. & Osipov, G. 2017. New highly divergent Plum pox virus isolates infecting sour cherry in Russia. *Virology* **502**, 56–62.
- Chirkov, S., Sheveleva, A., Ivanov, P. & Zakubanskiy, A. 2018. Analysis of genetic diversity of Russian sour cherry Plum pox virus isolates provides evidence of a new strain. *Plant Disease* 102, 569–575. https://doi.org/10.1094/PDIS-07-17-1104-RE
- Clark, M.F. & Adams, A.N. 1977. Characteristics of the Microplate Method of Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay for the Detection of Plant Viruses. *Journal of General Virology* **34**(3), 475–483. https://doi.org/10.1099/0022-1317-34-3-475
- Csihon, Á., Bicskei, D.K., Dremák, P. & Gonda, I. 2018. Performance of sweet cherry cultivars grafted on Colt rootstock. *International Journal of Horticultural Science* **24**(1–2), 7–10. https://doi.org/10.31421/IJHS/24/1-2./1540
- Dallot, S., Labonne, G., Boeglin, M., Quiot-Douine, L., Quiot, J.B. & Candresse, T. 1998. Peculiar plum pox potyvirus D – populations are epidemic in peach trees. *Acta Horticulturae* **472**, 355–365. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.1998.472.41
- Dehkordi, A.N., Babaeian, N., Karimpour, S., Martínez-Gómez, P., Rubio, M. & Bagheri, N. 2017. Sharka (Plum pox virus): A forgotten disease in Iran. *International Journal of Horticultural Science and Technology* 4(2), 183–191. https://doi.org/10.22059/IJHST.2017.241714.205
- Desvignes, J.C. & Boye, R. 1989. Different diseases caused by chlorotic leaf spot virus on the fruit trees. Acta Horticulturae 235, 31–38. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.1989.235.3
- Felsenstein, J. 1985. Confidence limits on phylogenies: An approach using the bootstrap. *Evolution* **39**, 783–791. https://doi.org/ 10.2307/2408678
- Gaborjanyi, R. & Basky, S. 1995. Correlation between migration of aphid vectors and natural spread of plum pox virus. *Acta Horticulturae* **386**, 201–206. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.1995.386.26

- García, J.A., Glasa, M., Cambra, M. & Candresse, T. 2014. Plum pox virus and sharka: a model potyvirus and a major disease. *Molecular Plant Pathology* **15**(3), 226–241. https://doi.org/10.1111/mpp.12083
- Gospodaryk, A., Moroèko-Bièevska, I., Pûpola, N. & Kâle, A. 2013. Occurrence of stone fruit viruses in plum orchards in Latvia. *Proceedings of the Latvian Academy of Sciences. Section B. Natural, Exact, and Applied Sciences* 67(2), 116–123. https://doi.org/10.2478/prolas-2013-0018
- Gospodaryk, A.V., Udovychenko, K.M. & Polishchuk, V. 2005. Diagnosis of fruit crop viruses in the conditions of Ukraine. *Scientific notes of NUKMA*. *Biology and ecology* **43**, 51–53 (in Ukrainian).
- Gottwald, T.R., Avinent, L., Llácer, G., Hermoso de Mendoza, A. & Cambra, M. 1995. Analysis of the spatial spread of sharka (plum pox virus) in apricot and peach orchards in eastern Spain. *Plant Disease* **79**, 266–278. https://doi.org/10.1094/PD-79-0266
- James, D., Varga, A. & Sanderson, D. 2013. Genetic diversity of Plum pox virus: strains, disease and related challenges for control. *Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology* **35**(4), 431–441. https://doi.org/10.1080/07060661.2013.828100
- Jänes, H. & Pae, A. 2004. Evaluation of nine sweet cherry clonal rootstocks and one seedling rootstock. *Agronomy research* **2**(1), 23–27.
- Jarrar, S., Myrta, A., Di Terlizzi, B. & Savino, V. 2001. Viruses of stone fruits in Palestine. *Acta Horticulturae* **550**, 245–248. https://doi.org/10.17660/actahortic.2001.550.34
- Jelkmann, W., Sanderson, D., Berwarth, C. & James, D. 2018. First detection and complete genome characterization of a Cherry (C) strain isolate of plum pox virus from sour cherry (Prunus cerasus) in Germany. *Journal of Plant Diseases and Protection* **125**(3), 267–272. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41348-018-0155-7
- Jordovic, M. 1968. The effects of sources of infection on the epidemiology of plum pox disease. *Tagunsber* **97**, 301–308.
- Koenig, R. & Kunze, L. 1982. Identification of Tombusvirus isolates from cherry in southern Germany as Petunia asteroid mosaic-virus. *Phytopathol. Z.* **103**, 361–368. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0434.1982.tb01760.x
- Kondratenko, P. & Udovichenko, V. 2006. Plum pox virus (PPV) in Ukraine. *EPPO Bulletin* **36**(2), 217. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2338.2006.00974.x
- Kumar, S., Stecher, G., Li, M., Knyaz, C. & Tamura, K. 2018. MEGA X: Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis across computing platforms. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* 35,

1547–1549. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msy096

- Kutsenko, O.V., Budzanivska, I.G. & Shevchenko, O.V. 2019. Genetic diversity of Plum pox virus in Ukraine. *Biopolymers and Cell* **35**, 476–485. https://doi.org/10.7124/bc.000A1A
- Labbone, G. & Quiot, J.B. 2001. Aphids can acquire Plum pox virus from infected fruits. *Acta Horticulturae* **550**, 79–82. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2001.550.8
- Langer, J., von Bargen, S. & Büttner, C. 2009. Epidemiological investigations on Cherry leaf roll virus. Crop Plant Resistance to Biotic and Abiotic Factors: Current Potential and Future Demands: Proceedings of the 3rd International Symposium on Plant Protection and Plant Health in Europe held at the Julus Kühn-Institut (Berlin-Dahlem, Germany, 14–16 May 2009), pp. 568.
- Latinović, N., Karamaouna, F. & Kavallieratos, N.G. 2017. First record of Aphis craccivora Koch (Hemiptera: Aphididae) on aronia crop in Montenegro. *Hellenic Plant Protection Journal* 10, 67–69. https://doi.org/10.1515/hppj-2017-0007
- Levy, L., Damsteegt, V., Scorza, R. & Kolber, M. 2000. Plum Pox Potyvirus Disease of Stone Fruits. *APSnet Feature Articles*. https://doi.org/10.1094/apsnetfeature-2000-0300

- Maas, F.M., Balkhoven-Baart, J. & Van Der Steeg, P.A.H. 2014. Evaluation of Krymsk-5 (VSL-2) and Krymsk-6 (LC-52) as rootstocks for sweet cherry 'Kordia'. *Acta Horticulturae* **1058**, 531–536. https://doi.org/10.17660/actahortic.2014.1058.66
- Mandic, B., Matić, S., Al Rwahnih, M. & Myrta, A. 2007. Viruses of sweet and sour cherry in Serbia. *Journal of Plant Pathology* **89**, 103–108.
- Matić, S., Rwahnih, M., Myrta, A. & Đurić, G. 2008. Viruses of stone fruits in Bosnia and Herzegovina. *Acta horticulturae* **781**, 71–74.
- Menzel, W., Jelkmann, W. & Maiss, E. 2002. Detection of four apple viruses by multiplex RT-PCR assays with coamplification of plant mRNA as internal control. *Journal of Virological Methods* **99**(1–2), 81–92. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0166-0934(01)00381-0
- Musa, F., Krasniqi, D. & Musa, S. 2020. Aphid complex associated with potato in a gro-climatic conditions of Kosovo. *Agronomy Research* **18**(1), 206–215. https://doi.org/10.15159/AR.20.074
- Myrta, A. & Savino, V. 2008. Virus and virus-like diseases of cherry in the Mediterranean region. *Acta Horticulturae* **795**, 891–896. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.2008.795.144
- Nemchinov, L., Hadidi, A., Maiss, E., Cambra, M., Candresse, T. & Damsteegt, V. 1996. Sour cherry strain of plum pox potyvirus (PPV): Molecular and serological evidence for a new subgroup of PPV strains. *Phytopathology* 86, 1215–1221.
- Pasquini, G., Faggioli, F., Pilotti, M., Lumia, V. & Barba, M. 1998. Characterization of apple chlorotic leaf spot virus isolates from Italy. *Acta Horticulturae* 472, 195–202. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.1998.472.20
- Pavliuk, L., Riaba, I., Udovychenko, K., Tryapitsyna, N. & Bublyk, M. 2019. Phyto-virologic state of parent plantings of cherry and mazzard cherry in Ukraine. *Bulletin of Agricultural Science* 97(7), 20–26. https://doi.org/10.31073/agrovisnyk201907-03
- Pfeilstetter, E., Zinkernagel, Y. & Kunze, L. 1992. Occurrence of petunia asteroid mosaic virus (PAMV) and carnation Italian ringspot (CIRV) viruses in cherry orchards in northern Bavaria. *Acta Horticulturae* **309**, 345–352. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.1992.309.50
- PM 4/29 (1) Certification scheme for cherry. EPPO Bulletin 31, 2000. 447–462.
- Polák, J. & Komínek, P. 2009. Distribution of Plum pox virus strains in natural sources in the Czech Republic. *Plant Protection Science* **45**, 144–147. https://doi.org/10.17221/31/2009-PPS
- Pospieszny, H., Borodynko, N. & Jończyk, M. 2004. First report of Tomato black ring virus (TBRV) in the natural infection of Sambucus nigra in Poland. *Journal of Plant Protection Research* 44, 373–376.
- Rebenstorf, K.T., Candresse, T., Dulucq, M.J., Büttner, C. & Obermeier, C. 2006. Host Species-Dependent Population Structure of a Pollen-Borne Plant Virus, Cherry Leaf Roll Virus. *Journal of Virology* 80(5), 2453–2462. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.80.5.2453-2462.2006
- Rouag, N., Guechi, A., Matic, S. & Myrta, A. 2008. Viruses and viroids of stone fruits in Algeria. *Journal of Plant Pathology* **90**, 393–395. http://dx.doi.org/10.4454/jpp.v90i2.680
- Saitou, N. & Nei, M. 1987. The neighbor-joining method: A new method for reconstructing phylogenetic trees. *Molecular Biology and Evolution* **4**, 406–425. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.molbev.a040454
- Sánchez, R.P., Corts, R.M., Benavides, P.G. & Sánchez, M.Á.G. 2015. Main viruses in sweet cherry plantations of Central-Western Spain. *Scientia Agricola* **72**(1), 83–86. https://doi.org/10.1590/0103-9016-2014-0140
- Šneideris, D. & Staniulis, J. 2014. Phylogenetic analysis of Lithuanian tomato black ring virus isolates. Zemdirbyste-Agriculture 101(2), 193–198. https://doi.org/198.10.13080/za.2014.101.025

- Tryapitsina, N.V. & Vasiuta, S.O. 2010. Regional features of the spread of nepovirus of sweet cherry leaf twisting in sour and sweet cherry orchards. *Agricultural microbiology* **12**, 130–139 (in Ukrainian).
- Tryapitsyna, N.V. 2016. Biotechnological basics of obtaining planting material of stone (Prunus spp.) and berry (Ribes spp., Rubus spp., Fragaria x ananassa) crops in Ukraine. PhD Thesis. Kyiv, 390 pp. (in Ukrainian).
- Tryapitsyna, N.V., Yareshchenko, O.M., Medvedeva, T.V., Udovychenko, K.M., Lushpigan, O.P. & Suprun, K.I. 2013. Dominant viruses in bushy small fruit crops patches. *Horticulture* 67, 193–203 (in Ukrainian).
- Upadyshev, M.T., Metlitskaya, K.V. & Petrova, A.D. 2017. Prevalence of virus diseases of fruit and berry crops. *Fruit growing and viticulture of South Russia* **44**(02), 5–16 (in Russian).
- Vasyuta, S.O. & Ryabyi, V.Y. 2017. Peculiarities of using some clonal rootstocks of stone fruit crops for the sweet cherry (*Cerasus avium* Moench.) cultivation. *Horticulture* **72**, 65–73.
- Wetzel, T., Candresse, T., Ravelonandro, M. & Dunez, J. 1991. A polymerase chain reaction assay adapted to plum pox potyvirus detection. *Journal of Virological Methods* **33**, 355–365.
- Yusko, O.S. 2009. *Epidemiology of Plum pox virus in the Transcarpathian region*. PhD thesis summary in speciality 03.00.06 "Virology". Kyiv, 20 pp. (in Ukrainian).
- Yusko, O.S., Chumak, V.O. & Snigur, G.O. 2008. Aphids are potential vectors of plum pox virus in Transcarpathian. *Scientific Bulletin of the Uzhhorod University. Series Biology* 24, 96–99 (in Ukrainian).
- Zawadzka, B. 1989. The influence of virus and mycoplasma diseases on frost damage of apple trees. *Acta Horticultulturae* 235, 59–68. https://doi.org/10.17660/ActaHortic.1989.235.7

Study of influence of heat stress on some physiological and productive traits in Holstein-Friesian dairy cows

T. Penev^{1,*}, D. Dimov¹, I. Marinov² and T. Angelova³

¹Trakia University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Applied Ecology and Animal Hygiene, BG6000 Stara Zagora, Bulgaria
²Trakia University, Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Animal husbandry–Ruminants and Dairy Farming, BG6000 Stara Zagora, Bulgaria
³Institute of Agriculture, BG6000 Stara Zagora, Bulgaria
*Correspondence: tonchopenev@abv.bg

Received: October 6th, 2020; Accepted: February 1st, 2021; Published: March 18st, 2021

Abstract. The aim of the research was to study the effect of heat stress (HS) on some physiological and productive traits in Holstein-Friesian dairy cows. The study included 22 cows on different parities. In the building where the cows were housed, the temperature-humidity index (THI) was reported at 10:00 and 15:00 h, at the same time the rectal temperature (RT) and respiratory rate (RR) were reported for each of the examined cows. The daily rumen activity was taken from the SCR system by Allflex. The average THI values in May were 71, in June - 75, in July - 74, and in August - 77, from which it follows that in the summer months the cows were in conditions of mild to moderate heat stress throughout the day. The average daily milk yield of the cows increased from May to June and reached 41.44 kg day⁻¹, then decreased in July and August to 37.2 and 32.48 kg day⁻¹, respectively. With an increase in the THI values, an increase in the RR and RT was registered, as in THI above 79 the RR was 56.54 per min, and the RT was 39.33 °C. With increasing the THI values, the rumination of the cows decreased from 563 per day at THI < 72 to 542.5 at THI > 79. In cows with high daily milk yield, a higher RT was registered, and in cows with more than 50 kg per day, the RT was 39.09 °C. A more intense rumination was found in cows with higher daily milk yield. In cows with an average daily milk yield of 33.26 kg, an average of 450 ruminations per day were reported, and in those with an average milk yield of up to 42.89 kg - 650 ruminations per day. From the research conducted it was found that the studied physiological traits - rectal temperature, respiration rate and rumination are influenced by HS and the intensity of this effect depend on the daily milk yield of cows and THI levels.

Key words: dairy cows, heat stress, rectal temperature, respiratory rate, temperature-humidity index.

INTRODUCTION

Reports from international and government research centers show alarming trends for systematic global warming (Herbut et al., 2018). Some studies suggest that by 2050 the planet's temperature will rise by 2 °C (Trnka et al., 2011) this warming is expected to have a significant impact on the welfare and productivity of farm animals and in particular dairy cows in many climatic zones around the world (Cook et al., 2005; De Palo et al., 2006; Herbut et al., 2018). Due to the continuous increase in productivity in dairy cows, there is an increased sensitivity to high ambient temperatures and it is very likely that they will fall into a state of heat stress at lower temperatures (Herbut et al., 2019). Physiological traits such as rectal temperature, skin temperature, vaginal temperature), respiration rate, and pulse rate are widely used as indicators for HS in dairy cattle (e.g. Silanikove, 2000). According to Lee (1965), stress can be caused by all external interventions that affect the body and provoke a series of reactions to maintain its homeostasis. Respiration rate is the first visible response of cattle to heat stress and oscillates with thermal environment (Milan et al., 2016). Brown-Brandl et al. (2005) confirmes that physiological parameters respond earlier to HS than production-related parameters (feed intake and feeding behavior) or behavior changes (shade usage). According to the authors Respiration rate is considered as the most appropriate indicator to monitor HS, i.e. RR is the most valuabe indicator among all physiological, productive, and behavioral indicators. Physiological traits (RT and RR) were also used as predictors of the decline in milk production traits and feed intake during moderate stress in multiparous US Holstein (Spiers et al., 2004). There are many studies in the literature on the effect of HS on dairy cows in subtropical and tropical climates, but according to Roth (2017), heat stress in cows is no longer a characteristic only of the hot regions of the planet. Studies on the negative effects of high temperatures on animals in temperate and Mediterranean regions of Europe are also beginning to appear in the literature (Bernabucci et al., 2014). Some studies by climatologists and meteorologists indicate that global warming poses a threat to the whole of Europe (Peltonen-Sainio et al., 2010).

The aim of the study was to determined the effect of heat stress on some physiological and productive traits in Holstein-Friesian dairy cows under conditions of the temperate continental climate.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The study was conducted in the period between May and August 2018 on a dairy cattle farm with Holstein-Friesian cows in the region of Karnobat, Southeastern Bulgaria (42°38'46.2"N 26°47'14.0"E). Cows were housed in a semi-open free-stall dairy barn, fed year-round ad libitum with a total mixed ration. On the farm, the cows were cooled by water sprinklers in the holding area of the milking parlor and all a day ventilation in the barn during the warm months of the year. The study included the cows calved between 1st of April and 10th of May 2018, thus excluding the effect of the lactation stage. The included cows were at first (9), second (6), third and more parity (7) in a total of 22 cows. The daily milk yields of the cows included in the studywere taken from their official monthly milk performance records (May and August). To measure the heat stress, a temperature-humidity index was estimated using a 'Kestrel' automatic measuring instrument (https://kestrelmeters.com/products/kestrel-5200-professionalenvironmental-meter). THI was measured in the cows housing premises twice a day, at 10 am and 3 pm, as at the same time the physiological traits RT and RR per min of each cow were also recorded once at 10 am and once at 3 pm. RT was measured by a digital thermometer in degrees Celsius. RR was reported by visual observation and recording of the movement of the chest for a period of one min according to the method of Zimbelman et al. (2009). The data on the rumen activity, expressed by the number of ruminations for 24 hours, were taken from the farm management software. This activity

was reported by belts placed on the neck and fixed to them microphones of the SCR system by Allflex, with which each rumination of the cows was registered. The daily milk yield, as well as the content fat and protein percentage of the cows included in the study, were taken from their official monthly milk performance records (May and August).

For a better approximation, the factors subject to the study were presented in classes as follows:

THI is presented in three classes according to the THI scale proposed by Armstrong (1994), respectively: Class 1 - THI up to 72 (optimal thermal conditions); Class 2 - 72 to 79 (mild heat stress conditions) and Class 3 - THI above 79 (moderate heat stress conditions).

Daily milk yield: Class 1 - up to 30 kg day⁻¹; Class 2 - from 30 to 40 kg day⁻¹; Class 3 - from 40 to 50 kg day⁻¹ and Class 4 over 50 kg day⁻¹.

Rectal temperature: Class 1 - up to 38.5 °C; Class 2 - from 38.5 to 39 °C; Class 3 to 39 to 39.5 °C and Class 4 - above 39.5 °C.

Respiratory rate per min: Class 1 - up to 40 per min; Class 2 - 40 to 45 per min; Class 3 - 45 to 55 per min and Class 4 - over 55 movements per min.

The rumination: Class 1 - up to 450; Class 2 - from 450 to 550; Class 3 - from 550 to 650; Class 4 - over 650 ruminations in 24 hours.

For basic statistical processing of the data a package MS Excel was used, and for obtaining the average values, errors, and analysis of variance, the corresponding modules of STATISTICA of StatSoft (Copyright 1990–1995 Microsoft Corp.)

The following model was used to assess the influence of controlled factors on the THI values:

$$Y_{ijkl} = \mu + M_i + H_j + M \cdot H_k + e_{ijkl} \tag{1}$$

where Y_{ijkl} – is the dependent variable (THI values); μ is the mean effect; M_i – is the effect of the month of reporting; H_j is the effect of the hour of reporting; $M \cdot H_k$ is the associated effect of the month and hour of reporting and e_{ijkl} is the random residual effect.

The following model was used to assess the influence of controlled factors on physiological traits:

$$Y_{ijk} = \mu + THI_i + L_j + e_{ijk} \tag{2}$$

 Y_{ijk} – is the dependent variable (each of the studied physiological traits); μ is the mean effect; THI_i – is the effect of the *THI* (in classes); L_j – is the effect of the daily milk yield, and \mathbf{e}_{ijk} is the random residual effect.

By analysis of variance for the model were obtained by classes of fixed factors the means of least squares (*LSM*).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Table 1 presents the average values and the variation of THI by months of reporting. Only in May the average THI values were below 72. Tapki & Şahin (2006) found that in the conditions of the eastern Mediterranean region of Turkey during the

months from June to August, dairy cows were also under conditions of heat stress, as we found in temperate continental climate in our study.

Table 2 presents an analysis of variance for the influence of the month and the hour of reporting on the values of THI, the data showed that each of the studied factors, as well as the combination between them, significantly (P < 0.001) influenced the THI values. The effects of hour of reporting and month of reporting well represented the thermal conditions in the premises for the animals during the day.

Fig. 1 shows the LS mean values of THI by month and hour of reporting in the period May–August 2018. The study found that only in May, the values of THI, reported at 10:00 am were in the range of temperature comfort, THI < 72. According to Armstrong

Table 1. Average values and variation of *THI* bymonths of reporting

Month of	THI		
reporting	$\mathbf{x} \pm \mathbf{SE}$	min	max
May	$71.72\pm0.30^{\rm a}$	69.3	74.2
June	75.06 ± 0.26^{b}	71.8	81.5
July	$74.32\pm0.16^{\rm c}$	71.6	77.6
August	$77.35\pm0.33^{\text{d}}$	74.5	81.5
Average	74.62 ± 0.16	69.3	81.5

a, b, c, d – the differences are significant at P < 0.05.

Table 2. Analysis of variance for the influenceof the month and hour of reporting on the valuesof THI

Sources	Degrees	THI	
of	of freedom	MC	ΕР
variation	(<i>n</i> –1)	IVIS	гг
Total for the model	7	148.34	56.45 **
Month of reporting	3	225	85.8 ***
Hour of reporting	1	354	134.8 **
Month*	3	16	6.0 ***
Hour of reporting			
Error	242	3	
			0.001

*** – the differences are significant at P < 0.001.

(1994), at these values of THI cows are in optimal thermal conditions of the environment. In June and July, both morning and afternoon THI values showed that the cows were under conditions of mild HS almost all day. The highest values of THI were reported in August when the morning values were 75.5 and the afternoon 79.2. These values showed that in August the cows on the studied farm were under conditions of moderate to severe heat stress almost all day. Although during the summer fans were operating in the barn, the reported THI values showed that this did not contribute to the

betterthermal comfort of the cows. Our results confirm the study of Dimov et al. (2017), who found under the conditions of Southern Bulgaria in buildings for dairy cows of the same type that the values of THI in the summer vary from 74.13 in the building to 76.12 outside it. In their study, the same authors found that the actions taken to cool the cows in the buildings can reduce the values of THI by only up to 2.5 units in the spring and by about 2 units in the summer, which is not enough to achieve conditions of thermal comfort for the animals.



Figure 1. LS-mean values of THI by months and hour of reporting during the period May-August.

Table 3 presents the average values for the productive and physiological traits by months of reporting. The highest daily milk yield in cows included in the study was reported in June - 41.44 kg and the lowest in August 32.48 kg. Regarding the rectal temperature, there was a tendency to increase the average measured rectal temperature from May to August from 38.49 to 38.95 °C. In the RR per min, the lowest values were reported in May - 38.28, and the highest in August - 47.9. In the trait, rumination was found that the highest values were in May - 570.95, and the lowest in June - 521.5 per day, after which their number increased and reached the values for May. This decline in ruminations in June was probably due to the rapid onset of heat stress from May to June, which did not allow cows to adapt to new environmental conditions. According to Bernabucci et al. (1999) at the onset of HS, as an initial reaction a decrease in the movement of the rumen is observed, and in the rumination, respectively. The authors found that with prolonged exposure to HS, the animals acclimatize, whereby the movement of the rumen is restored to the values reported before HS, which was reported as a trend in our data for July and August also.

Month of	No	Daily milk yield, kg	Ruminations number, 24h	No	Rectal temperature, °C	Respiratory rate, min
reporting	n	$\mathbf{x} \pm \mathbf{SE}$	$\mathbf{x} \pm \mathbf{SE}$	n	$\mathbf{x} \pm \mathbf{SE}$	$\mathbf{x} \pm \mathbf{SE}$
May	21	41.17 ± 2.53	570.95 ± 13.81	42	$38.49\pm0.06^{\mathrm{a}}$	$38.28 \pm 1.32^{\rm a}$
June	42	41.44 ± 1.72	521.50 ± 11.64	84	38.85 ± 0.05^{b}	45.57 ± 1.09^{bc}
July	42	37.20 ± 1.22	572.90 ± 9.47	84	$38.90\pm0.04^{\text{b}}$	$43.47\pm1.05^{\text{b}}$
August	20	32.48 ± 1.59	563.40 ± 11.72	40	38.95 ± 0.07^{b}	47.90 ± 1.64^{bd}
Average	125	38.54 ± 0.90	573.78 ± 6.16	250	38.83 ± 0.03	44.02 ± 0.64

Table 3. Average values for productive and physiological traits by months of reporting

a, b, c, d – the differences between the months are significant at P < 0.05.

The data in Table 3 show that the average values of rectal temperature and respiration rate increased from May to August. Body temperature is an important physiological indicator that is indicative of the health of dairy cows (Hicks et al., 2001). A number of studies have shown that high ambient temperatures lead to a significant increase in body temperature and respiration rate in dairy cows (Brown-Brandl et al., 2005; Collier et al., 2006). Table 3 shows that rectal temperature and respiration rate were the physiological traits that increased during the warmest months of the study (June - August). It should be noted that in the respiration rate a certain decrease in July compared to June was observed. This decrease in respiratory rate fully corresponds to the THI data presented in Table 1. In July the average values for THI were 74.32, and in June 75.06. In July, lower morning and afternoon values of THI were reported (Fig. 1). According to Atkins et al. (2018) the intensity of respiration in dairy cows is the most accurate physiological indicator of the effect of HS on them. The results of our study showed that the respiration rate was the physiological trait indicating a direct dependence on environmental conditions - the values of THI. According to Bohmanova et al. (2007) the influence of HS varies depending on the characteristics of the climate, as in a humid climate, such as in our study, the influence of air humidity is stronger than the temperature of the environment. According to Hansen (2007), with increasing daily milk yield, cows produce more metabolic heat, which makes them even more sensitive to HS.

In our study, the daily milk yield of cows was relatively high. In addition, cows were in the first part of lactation, when their productivity is highest, respectively, and their sensitivity to HS.

Table 4 presents an analysis of variance for influence of THI and daily milk yield on the studied physiological traits in dairy cows it was found that THI had effect with high significance (P < 0.001) on the values of rectal temperature and respiratory rate, but no significant effect was observed on cow rumination, the level of daily milk yield had a high significant effect on the three studied physiological traits (P < 0.001). Studies by other authors West et al. (2003); Gaworski & Rocha, (2016); Pilatti et al. (2018) found that HS leads to a number of physiological and behavioral disorders.

Table 4. Analysis of variance for influence of THI and daily milk yield on the studied physiological traits

Sources of	Degrees of freedom	Respiratory rate	Rectal temperature	Ruminations
variation	(<i>n</i> -1)	FΡ	FΡ	FΡ
Total for the model	5	9.85***	14.48***	13.92***
THI	2	21.17***	26.1***	0.15 n.s
Milk yield	3	5.61***	12.7***	13.58***
Error	244			

* – significant at P < 0.05; ** – significant at P < 0.01; *** – significant at P < 0.001; *n.s.* – no significant effect.

Fig. 2 shows the LS-mean values for respiratory rate depending on THI. The data showed that with increasing THI the respiratory rate increased, the differences between

conditions out of HS (THI < 72) and in mild HS (THI 72-79) were less than 4 breaths per min. With the onset of moderate HS at THI > 79, the LS-mean values for respiratory rate reached 56.54 breaths per min or 13 breaths min⁻¹ more compared to mild HS (THI 72-79) and 17 compared to temperature comfort conditions (THI < 72). Lemerle & Goddard (1986) found that respiratory rate began to increase before THI values reached 73, with a sharp increase observed at THI > 80. Our results completely confirm these studies. In the



Figure 2. LS-mean values for respiratory rate depending on the values of THI.

acute phase of HS, the respiratory rate can reach 60–70 breaths min⁻¹ (Collier et al., 2012). According to Dalcin et al. (2016) the number of respiratory movements per min is the best physiological indicator that reflects the effect of HS on dairy cows.

Fig. 3 shows the respiratory rate depending on the daily milk yield of the cows. A slight increase in respiration rate in cows with higher daily milk yield was observed, this increase in RR was not so linear in accordance to the level of daily milk yield, as observed in relation with the THI level, it can be said that the intensity of RR increased in cows with daily milk yield over 40 kg compared to those with lower daily milk yield,

all this showed that the respiratory rate in cows was more strongly influenced by the level of HS than by milk yield level. According to Pinto et al. (2019) for each kilogram of milk production an increase of RR with 0.23 breaths per min was reported. Our results showed an increase in respiratory rate of 6.7 breaths per min in cows with daily milk yields over 40 kg compared to those with daily milk yields up to 30 kg. This effect of milk performance level on the respiration rate in dairy cows was a consequence of the increased metabolism in the body of high producing animals.



Figure 3. Respiratory rate depending on daily milk yield.



Figure 4. LS-mean values of rectal temperature depending on THI.

Fig. 4 shows the LS-mean values for rectal temperature depending on THI, it was found that with the increase of the values of THI the values of the rectal temperature also increase. The difference in the reported rectal temperature under optimal thermal conditions (THI < 72) and mild HS conditions (THI from 72 to 79) was minimal - less than 0.5 °C. With the onset of moderate HS conditions (THI > 79), the rectal temperature reached 39.33 °C. Although the differences in rectal temperature values between the different classes of THI were not as large as those observed in the respiratory rate, the reported increase in the values was significant from a physiological point of view. According to Ammer et al. (2016) the normal range of rectal temperature in dairy cows ranged from 38 to 39.2 °C. Our results showed that under conditions of moderate heat stress (THI > 79) the values of the rectal temperature in dairy cows exceeded the physiological range. The study of Zimbelman et al. (2009) is consistent with our results. According to the authors, the effect of THI on dairy cows also depends on their daily milk yield. Zimbelmann et al. (2009) found that in cows with a daily milk yield of 35 kg day⁻¹, the values of THI, which have a negative impact on their body, are lower -THI 68, compared to the lower producing ones.

Fig. 5 presents the LS-mean values of rectal temperature depending on daily milk yield. The mean values of the rectal temperature increased in cows with higher daily milk yield, as in cows with daily milk yield up to 30 kg day⁻¹ it was 38.61 °C, and in those with more than 50 kg day⁻¹ - 39.09 °C. The higher rectal temperature of cows with higher daily milk yield was due to the fact that they digested more feed, produced more metabolic heat, which in turn makes them more sensitive to HS (Kadzere et al., 2002). For this reason, the regulation of body temperature in highly producing dairy cows under HS conditions is more difficult (Berman et al., 1985; Umphrey et al., 2001; Berman, 2005).


Figure 5. LS-mean values of rectal temperature depending on daily milk yield.



Figure 6. LS-mean values of ruminations depending on THI.

Fig. 6 shows the LS mean rumination values depending on the THI values, with the highest LS mean values of ruminations were cows under thermal comfort conditions (THI up to 72), and the lowest in cows under conditions of moderate HS (THI over 79), 563 and 542.5 ruminations in 24 hours, respectively. Our results, confirmed the studies of Tapkı & Sahin (2006), which also found a decrease in cow rumination with increasing ambient temperature, this decrease may be due to a reduction in roughage intake at the expense of concentrated feed under HS (Coppock & West, 1986), this behavior is considered to be the adaptation of cows to reduce the heat generated during fermentation in the rumen (Beede & Shearer, 1991). On the other hand, under HS, ruminants drink more water (Roger & Davis 1982; Muna & Abdelatif, 1992), which makes the contents of the rumen more fluid and thus reduces the number of ruminations and belching, respectively. Another probable reason for the decrease in the number of ruminations in dairy cows is that under HS the thermoregulatory center in the hypothalamus is activated, which, through the vagus nerve, reduces the motor activity of the stomach compartments (Varlyakov et al., 2012), as a result of the reduced motor activity of the rumen, the speed of the feed passing through the stomach compartments is slowed down (Bernabucci et al., 1999).

Bernabucci et al. (1999) found that with short-term exposure to HS, the rate of nutrient degradation in forestomachs of ruminants decreased, but with long-term exposure, remained close to those reported under temperature comfort conditions. According to the authors, this was an adaptation of the animals to the conditions of HS. The speed, at which feed passes through the stomach compartments, as well as the degree of nutrient degradation, is of great importance for the productivity of cows. From the data presented in Fig. 7 it can



Figure 7. LS-mean values of ruminations depending on daily milk yield.

be seen that with the increase of the daily milk yield the number of ruminations for 24hours also increased, in a study by Tapkı & Şahin (2006), higher-yielding cows in the morning at lower ambient temperatures spent more time ruminating than lower-yielding cows.

The relationship between thermal conditions, physiological indicators and productivity in dairy cows is not unidirectional, on the high temperatures one hand, negatively affect a number of physiological indicators and productive traits in dairy cows, and on the other hand the level of milk productivity of animals is a prerequisite for higher values of a number of physiological indicators and higher sensitivity to HS. Table 5

Table 5. Analysis of variance for the influence ofTHI, respiratory rate, rectal temperature andruminations on Test day milk yield

	Degrees of	Test day	milk yield,		
Sources	freedom	kg			
of variation	(<i>n</i> –1)	MS	FΡ		
Total for the model	11	768.01	10.92 ***		
THI	2	1,440.28	20.47 ***		
Respiratory rate	3	478.93	6.81 ***		
Rectal temperature	3	599.90	8.53 ***		
Ruminations	3	414.41	5.89 ***		
Error	238	70.36			

*** - significant at P < 0.001.

presents an analysis of the variance for the effect of THI, respiration rate, rectal temperature and ruminations number on the daily milk yield of the cows included in the study, the presented data show that all controlled factors had an impact on the daily milk yield of cows. The effect of the individual factors on milk yield is presented in more detail in graphical form in Figs 8–11, respectively.

Fig. 8 shows the LS means for daily milk yield depending on THI values. The highest daily milk yield of cows was reported under optimal thermal conditions (THI < 72), 45.62 kg day⁻¹, respectively. With increasing values of THI, the daily milk yield of cows decreased, as under conditions of mild HS (THI from 72 to 79) the average milk yield was 38.90 kg day⁻¹, and under conditions of moderate HS (THI over 79) it was 28.95 kg day⁻¹. However, the data in Table 3 show that the highest average daily milk yield was reached in June, when high values of THI were registered during the morning and afternoon measurements (Fig. 1) - 74.4 and 75.7, respectively, and at the same time, the ruminations number of the cows was the lowest (Table 3). All this confirms the significant influence of THI on the daily milk yield of cows. The decrease in productivity under HS may be due to a decrease in the amount of dry matter intake. Baumgard et al. (2011) believe that reduced dry matter intake can explain only 35–50% of reduced milk yield. According to Slimen et al. (2016) HS causes a reorganization in the use of body resources such as fat, protein and energy, which is the other reason leading to reduced productivity.

Fig. 9 shows the LS means of daily milk yield depending on the respiratory rate. A linear nature of the dependence of respiratory rate on milk productivity of cows was not reported. The highest respiratory rate (over 55) had cows with 38.35 kg day⁻¹, while those with the highest milk yield - 40.97 kg day⁻¹ had a respiratory rate of 40–45. The influence of HS on cows depends on many factors, such as breed, age, productivity, stage of lactation, as well as on earlier influence of HS (Zimbelman et al., 2009). According to the authors, more productive cows are more sensitive to HS, but physiological responses such as respiratory rate do not correspond directly to the heat load of the animals. It was found that there is some delay in the physiological response of animals to HS. Gaughan et al. (2000) found a 2-hour delay in increasing respiratory rate after an

increase in THI values. According to Atkins et al. (2018) the presence of cooling systems, as there were in the farm we studied, can also affect the respiratory rate of cows. All this is probably the reason for the observed variations in the presented figure.





Figure 8. LS-mean values of daily milk yield depending on THI.



Fig. 10 shows the LS means for daily milk yield depending on rectal temperature. The cows with a rectal temperature of up to 38.5 °C had the lowest daily milk yield of

 $32.45 \text{ kg day}^{-1}$, and the cows with a rectal temperature of 39 to 39.5 °C had the highest daily milk yield of 41.01 kg per day. In cows with a rectal temperature above 39.5 °C, the daily milk yield was just over 40 kg day-1. There was a increase tendency to the rectal temperature in cows with high milk yield. According to Dikmen & Hansen (2009), the regulation of body temperature in cows in conditions of hyperthermia can be expected to be ineffective with an increase in daily milk yield due to the metabolic release of more heat. However, in their study, the authors did not find such a relationship. Berman et al. (1985) found a higher rectal temperature in cows depending on the respiratory rate.



Figure 10. LS-mean values of daily milk yield depending on rectal temperature.

with higher milk yields. According to Dikmen & Hansen (2009), the lack of relationship between rectal temperature and milk yield of cows may be due to the fact that daily milk yield of cows was not recorded on the same day as rectal temperature was measured.

Fig. 11 shows the LS means of daily milk yield depending on ruminations. With the lowest milk yield - 33.26 kg per day were the cows with the lowest number of

ruminations - up to 450 per day. In cows with high milk yield an increase in rumination was reported, and in cows with 42.89 kg day⁻¹ the ruminations number reached over 650 per day. All this shows that the daily milk yield of dairy cows on the studied farm depended on the activity of the forestomachs, respectively on the number of ruminations and belchings of the cows. Our results were also confirmed by the studies of Antanaitis et al. (2018), who found a higher number of ruminations in cows with higher daily milk yield. The data presented in Table 3 show that with the onset of HS in June, rumination in cows decreased, but in July and August



Figure 11. LS- mean values of daily milk yield depending on ruminations.

it returned to levels measured in May, when the cows were under conditions of temperature comfort. According to Bernabucci et al. (1999) digestive tract of ruminants can adapt when the exposure to HS is in a long-term.

CONCLUSION

Based on the study, it was found that under conditions of mild to moderate heat stress, rectal temperature and respiratory rate increased. With the onset of HS, the rumen activity decreased, and subsequently, when the cows adapted, the activity of the rumen was returned to the values registered in the thermo neutral months. Changes under the influence of HS in the studied physiological traits - rectal temperature, respiratory rate and rumination number depend also on the milk performance of cows. In cows with higher daily milk yield under HS conditions, a more pronounced increase in rectal temperature and respiratory rate was observed. With an increase in HS expressed by the values of THI, a decrease in the rumen activity was reported, as well as a decrease in the daily milk yield of cows. The study proved that in cows with higher daily milk yield changes in physiological parameters - rectal temperature, respiratory rate and rumination number are more strongly expressed under the influence of HS.

REFERENCES

Ammer, S., Lambertz, C. & Gauly, M. 2016. Comparison of different measuring methods for body temperature in lactating cows under different climatic conditions. J. Dairy. Res. 83, 165–172.

- Antanaitis, R., Žilaitis, V., Juozaitienė, V., Noreika, A. & Rutkauskas, A. 2018. Evaluation of rumination time, subsequent yield, and milk trait changes dependent on the period of lactation and reproductive status of dairy cows. *Polish Journal of Veterinary Sciences* 21(3), 567–572.
- Armstrong, D.V., 1994. SYMPOSIUM: Nutrition and heat stress. Heat Stress Interaction with Shade and Cooling. *J. Dairy Sci.* **77**, 2044–2050.
- Atkins, I.K., Cook, N.B., Mondaca, M.R. & Choi, C.Y. 2018. Continuous respiration rate measurement of heat-stressed dairy cows and relation to environment, body temperature, and lying time. Transactions of the ASABE 61(5), 1475–1485. https://doi.org/10.13031/trans.12451
- Baumgard, L.H., Wheelock, J.B., Sanders, S.R., Moore, C.E., Green, H.B., Waldron, M.R. & Rhoads, R.P. 2011. Post absorptive carbohydrate adaptations to heat stress and monensin supplementation in lactating Holstein cows. J. Dairy Sci. 94, 5620–5633.
- Beede, D.K. & Shearer, J.K. 1991. Nutritional management of dairy cattle during hot weather. *Agri-Practice* **12**, 5–13.
- Berman, A. 2005. Estimates of heat stress relief needs for Holstein dairy cows. J. Anim. Sci. 83, 1377–84.
- Berman, A., Folman, Y., Kaim, M., Mamen, M., Herz, Z., Wolfenson, D., Arieli, A. & Graber, Y. 1985. Upper critical temperatures and forced ventilation effects for highyielding dairy cows in a subtropical climate. J. Dairy Sci. 68, 1488–95.
- Bernabucci, U., Biffani, S., Buggiotti, L., Vitali, A., Lacetera, N. & Nardone, A. 2014. The effects of heat stress in Italian Holstein dairy cattle. *J. Dairy Sci.* 97, 471–486.
- Bernabucci, U., Bani, P., Ronchi, B., Lacetera, N. & Nardone, A. 1999. Influence of Short- and Long-Term Exposure to a Hot Environment on Rumen Passage Rate and Diet Digestibility by Friesian Heifers. *J. Dairy Sci.* **82**, 967–973.
- Bohmanova, J., Misztal, I. & Cole, J.B. 2007. Temperature-humidity indices as indicators of milk production losses due to heat stress. *J. Dairy Sci.* **90**, 1947–56. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2006-513
- Brown-Brandl, T.M., Eigenberg, R.A, Nienaber, J.A. & Hahn, G.L. 2005. Dynamic response indicators of heat stress in shaded and non-shaded feedlot cattle, part 1: analyses of indicators. *Biosyst.Eng.* **90**, 451–462. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng. 2004.12.006
- Collier, R.J., Dahl, G.E. & VanBaale, M.J. 2006. Major advances associated with environmental effects on dairy cattle. J. Dairy Sci. 89, 1244–53. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(06)72193-2
- Collier, R.J., Gebremedhin, K., Macko, A.R. & Roy, K.S. 2012. Genes involved in the thermal tolerance of livestock. In: *Environmental stress and amelioration in livestock production*, Sejian, V., Naqvi S.M.K., Ezeji, T., Lakritz, J., Lal, R. (eds). Springer-Verlag (publisher), Berlin Heidelberg, Germany, pp. 379–410.
- Cook, N.B., Bennett, T.B. & Nordlund, K.V. 2005. Monitoring indices of cow comfort in freestall-housed dairy herds. J. Dairy Sci. 88(11), 3876–3885.
- Coppock, C.E. & West, J.W. 1986. Nutritional adjustments to reduce heat stress in lactating dairy cows. In *6Proc. Georgia Nutr. Conf. Feed Industry*, Atlanta, GA Univ. Georgia, Athens GA., pp. 19–26.
- Dalcin, V., Fischer, V., Daltro, D., Alfonzo, E., Stumpf, M., Kolling, G., da Silva, M., McManus, C., 2016. Physiological parameters for thermal stress in dairy cattle. *Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia* 45(8), 458–465
- De Palo, P., Tateo, A., Zezza, F., Corrente, M. & Centoducati, P. 2006. Influence of free-stall flooring on comfort and hygiene of dairy cows during warm climatic conditions. *J. Dairy Sci.* 89, 4583–595.

- Dikmen, S. & Hansen, P.J. 2009. Is the temperature-humidity index the best indicator of heat stress in lactating dairy cows in a subtropical environment? *J. Dairy Sci.* **92**(1), 109–116. doi: 10.3168/jds.2008-1370.
- Dimov, D., Marinov, I., Penev, T., Miteva, Ch. & Gergovska, Zh. 2017. Influence of temperature-humidity index on comfort indices in dairy cows. *SYLWAN* **161**(6), 68–85.
- Gaughan, J., Holt, S., Hahn, G., Mader, T. & Eigenberg, R. 2000. Respiration Rate Is It a Good Measure of Heat Stress in Cattle? *Asian-Aus. J. Anim. Sci.* **13** Supplement July 2000 C, 329–332.
- Gaworski, M. & Rocha, A. 2016. Effect of management practices on time spent by cows in waiting area before milking. In: *Engineering for Rural Development*, Malinovska, L., Osadcuks, V.(eds). Latvia Univ. Agriculture, Latvia, pp. 1300–1304.
- Hansen, P. 2007. Exploitation of genetic and physiological determinants of embryonic resistance to elevated temperature to improve embryonic survival in dairy cattle during heat stress. *Theriogenology* **68S**, S242–S249.
- Herbut, P., Angrecka, S., Godyń, D. & Hoffmann, G. 2019. The physiological and productivity effects of heat stress in cattle a review. *Ann. Anim. Sci.* **19**(3), 579–594.
- Herbut, P., Angrecka, S. & Godyń, D. 2018. Effect of the duration of high air temperature on cow's milking performance in moderate climate conditions. *Ann. Anim. Sci.* **18**(1), 195–207.
- Hicks, L., Hicks, W., Bucklin, R., Shearer, J., Bray, D., Soto, P. & Carvalho, V.2001. Comparison of methods of measuring deep body temperature of dairy cows. In: *Livestock Environment VI, Proceedings of the 6th International Symposium;* 2001 May 21–23: Louisville, KY, USA: American Society of Agricultural and Biological Engineers; 2001. pp. 432–438.
- Kadzere, C., Murphy, M., Silanikove, N. & Maltz, E. 2002. Heat stress in lactating dairy cows: a review. *Livestock Production Science* **77**(1), 59–91.
- Lee, D. 1965. Climatic stress indices for domestic animals. Int. J. Biometeorol. 9, 29–35.
- Lemerle, C. & Goddard, E. 1986. Assessment of heat stress in dairy cattle in Papua New Guinea. *Trop. Anim. Health Prod.* **18**, 232–242.
- Muna, M. & Abdelatif, A. 1992. Utilization of nutrients by sheep as affected by diet composition and solar radiation. *Small Ruminant Res.* 9, 37–45.
- Peltonen–Sainio, P., Jauhiainena, L. & Trnka, M. 2010. Coincidence of variation in yield and climate in Europe. *Agric. Ecosyst. Environ.* **139**, 483–489.
- Pilatti, J., Vieira, F., Rankrape, F. & Vismara, E. 2018. Diurnal behaviors and herd characteristics of dairy cows housed in a compost-bedded pack barn system under hot and humid conditions. *Animal* **13**, 399–406.
- Pinto, S., Hoffmann, G., Ammon, Chr., Amon, B., Heuwieser, W., Halachmi, Il., Banhazi, Th. & Amon, Th. 2019. Influence of barn climate, body postures and milk yield on the respiration rate of dairy cows. *Ann. Anim. Sci.* **19**(2), 469–481.
- Roger, J. & Davis, C. 1982. Rumen volatile fatty acids production and nutrient utilization in steers fed a diet supplemented with sodium bicarbonate and monensin. *J. Dairy Sci.* **65**, 944–952.
- Roth, Z. 2017. Effect of Heat Stress on Reproduction in Dairy Cows: Insights into the Cellular and Molecular Responses of the Oocyte. *Annu. Rev. Anim. Biosci.* **5**, 151–170.
- Slimen, B., Taha, N., Abdeljelil, G. & Manef, A. 2016. Heat stress effects on livestock: molecular, cellular and metabolic aspects, a review. *J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr.* **100**, 401–412.
- STATISTICA 5.0 of StatSoft (Copyright 1990–1995 Microsoft Corp.)
- Tapkı, Ib. & Şahin, A. 2006. Comparison of the thermoregulatory behaviours of low and high producing dairy cows in a hot environment. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* **99**, 1–11.

- Trnka, M., Olesen, J., Kersebaums, K., Skjelvag, A., Eitzinger, J., Seguin, B., Peltonen-Sainio, P., Rötter, R., Iglesias, A., Orlandini, S., Dubrovský, M., Hlavinka, P., Balek, J., Eckersten, H., Cloppet, E., Calanca, P., Gobin, A., Vučetić, V., Nejedlik, P., Kumar, S., Lalic, B., Mestre, A., Rossi, F., Kozyra, J., Alexandrov, V., Semerádová, D. & Žalud, Z. 2011. Agroclimatic conditions in Europe under climate change. *Glob. Change Biol.* 17, 2298–2318.
- Umphrey, J., Moss, B., Wilcox, C. & Van Horn, H. 2001. Interrelationships in lactating Holsteins of rectal and skin temperatures, milk yield and composition, dry matter intake, body weight, and feed efficiency in summer in Alabama. *J. Dairy Sci.* **84**, 2680–5.
- Varlyakov, I., Radev & V., Slavov, T. 2012. Fundamentals of physiology. Stara Zagora, Trakia University ISBN: 978-954-338-042-8 (in Bulgarian).
- West, J., Mullinix, B. & Bernard, J. 2003. Effects of hot, humid weather on milk temperature, dry matter intake and milk yield of lactating dairy cows. *J. Dairy Sci.* **86**, 232–242.
- Zimbelman, R., Collier, R., Rhoads, R., Rhoads, M., Duff, G. & Baumgard, L. 2009. A re-evaluation of the impact of temperature humidity index (THI) and black globe humidity index (BGHI) on milk production in high-producing dairy cows. *Proc. 24th Southwest Nutrition and Management Conf.*, pp. 158–169.
- Milan, H., Maia, A., & Gebremedhin, K. 2016. Technical note: Device for measuring respiration rate of cattle under field conditions. J. Anim. Sci. 94, 5434–5438. doi:10.2527/jas2016-0904
- Silanikove, N. 2000. Effects of heat stress on the welfare of extensively managed domestic ruminants. *Liv. Prod. Sci.* 67, 1–18.
- Spiers, E., Spain, J., Sampson, J. & Rhoads, R. 2004. Use of physiological parameters to predict milk yield and feed intake in heat-stressed dairy cows. *Journal of Thermal Biology* 29, 759–764.
- https://kestrelmeters.com/products/kestrel-5200-professional-environmental-meter

Evaluation of interspecific potato breeding material with a complex of genes of immunity to Potato virus Y using molecular markers

E.P. Shanina^{*} and G.A. Likhodeyevsky

Federal State Budgetary Scientific Institution «Ural Federal Agrarian Research Center Ural Branch of the Russian Academy of Sciences», 112A Belinskogo Str., RU620142 Yekaterinburg, Russia *Correspondence: shanina08@yandex.ru

Received: September 11th, 2020; Accepted: November 16th, 2020; Published: December 10th, 2020

Abstract. The article presents the results of research on potato culture, the presence of Ry_{adg} , Ry_{sto} , and Ry_{chc} genes in complex interspecific potato hybrids, and based on the use of the DNA markers for selection of resistant forms to Potato virus Y (PVY). These genes are derived from different genetic sources of the species *Solanum andigenum*, *S. stoloniferum and S. chacoense*, respectively. The selected potato forms with a complex of agronomic characters are recommended for inclusion in the selection process, for creation of new varieties, as well as as a valuable source material for interspecific hybridization.

Key words: variety, source material, R-genes, assisted selection (MAS), stability.

INTRODUCTION

Development of potato varieties with extreme genetic resistance to pathogens, especially the Potato virus Y (PVY), is associated with a number of difficulties. In particular, during the hybridization of tetraploid forms in hybrid populations, a wide variation and a complex nature of economically valuable characteristics splitting is observed, which ultimately complicates the selection of genotypes with the desired characteristics due to the need to develop sufficiently large amount of hybrid potato seedlings.

Many methods are labor-intensive enough, long (they take up the entire growing season), and not accurate enough. The solution of this problem in improving the potato breeding efficiency is the use of the method of molecular marker of genes (*R*-genes) of resistance to pests and diseases (Barone, 2004; Kilchevsky & Khotyleva, 2014; Ermishin et al., 2016).

The study of potato DNA markers is associated with the application and introduction into the breeding process of a wide range of genetic material of wild and cultivated forms of potatoes, with genes of resistance to pathogens (Hawkes & Jackson, 1992; Jansky, 2000; Gebhardt & Valkonen, 2001).

An important area of molecular markers application is marker assisted selection (MAS), which is widely introduced into breeding practice. DNA markers are successfully used both at the stage of initial sources selection for hybridization, and at the subsequent analysis of the hybrid material and the resulting variety. DNA-markerof economically valuable characteristics allows them to be involved in MAS, which is designed to provide higher efficiency, lower cost and shorter duration of obtaining new varieties and hybrids compared to traditional methods of selection (Watanabe & Peloquin, 1991; Shamshin & Porotnikova, 2014).

The availability of specific information about certain genes present in potato allows optimizing the selection of parental forms and predicting the probability of seedling selection in hybrid populations with economically valuable characteristics (Ermishin et al., 2016). The use of molecular technologies makes it possible to significantly simplify the pyramiding of genes for resistance to one pathogen, but originating from different sources (Solomon-Blackburn & Barker, 2001; Vales, 2010; Szajko et al., 2014). Currently, there are more than 10 known genes that provide resistance to PVY, some of which are cloned or mapped (Solomon-Blackburn & Barker, 2001; Barone, 2004; Flis, 2005; Sato, 2006; Szajko et al., 2014; Grech-Baran et al., 2020). Some of them are hypersensitive resistance (HR) genes involving programmed cell death (HR), which are isolated in some wild species and in various varieties of Solanum tuberosum. These genes provide resistance to only some of the currently known PVY strains (Tian & Vakonen, 2013). The genes of extreme resistance (ER) - are of the greatest interest and value for breeding. It is known that the ER genes - Ry_{adg} , and Ry_{chc} were mapped on chromosomes XI, XII, respectively. The recent study found that Rysto is associated with the TIR-NLR immune receptor (Grech-Baran, 2020).

Potato is one of the crops with the most fully mapped genome (350 markers that characterize about 90% of the genome) (Gebhardt & Valkonen, 2001; Gebchardt, & Vreugdenhil, 2007). According to a number of authors, it is possible to increase the potato resistance to PVY and ensure its resistance to a wide range of strains by using ER genes in breeding and combining them in a single genotype (Solomon-Blackburn & Barker, 2001; Vales, 2010; Tian & Vakonen, 2013).

Thus, the use of DNA markers makes it possible to simplify the selection of valuable samples. The efficiency of selection increases due to a decrease in the sample size (based on the presence of economically valuable characteristic), therefore, only samples with identified loci that are characteristic of this species and are of interest for selection.

The purpose of this research was to identify the genes originating from different types of potatoes in complex interspecific potato hybrids, to isolate genotypes with a complex of different genes that provide resistance to PVY with a complex of agronomic characters.

CONDITIONS, MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental work was carried out in the Selection and Seed Center of Potato Growing of the Ural SRIA– Branch of the FSBSU UrFARC UrB RAS, city of Yekaterinburg, within the framework of the scientific and technical program on the assignment of Exploratory research carried out by the contractor-organizations within the framework of the CPSR Development of potato breeding and seed growing. The object of the study was a complex interspecific hybrids of collection nursery potato and collection nurseries variety samples, created in the Selection and Seed Center of Potato Growing of the Ural SRIA-Branch of the FSBSU UrFARC UrB RAS, in total 189 samples were analyzed. Field experiments were laid in the second half of May on the experimental field of selective crop rotation. The predecessor is a cropped fallow. The soil is soddy-medium podzolic with the following agrochemical characteristics: humus content (GOST 26213-91) - 4.86%; salt pH (GOST 26483-85) - 5.68; total absorbed bases –20.0 m–eq. 100 g⁻¹; easily hydrolyzed nitrogen– 124 mg kg⁻¹; mobile phosphorus (GOST 26207-91) - 360 mg kg⁻¹ and potassium exchange (GOST 26207-91) - 136 mg kg⁻¹ of soil (Vasiliev & Gorbunov, 2020) nutrient status - $N_{60}P_{60}K_{90}$.

The evaluation of selection and source material for the presence of DNA markers were carried out in the PCR laboratory of the Selection and Seed Center of Potato Growing of the Ural SRIA - Branch of the FSBSU UrFARC UrB RAS. In our research, we used genetic material from potato species: *Solanum tuberosum* sbsp. *andigenum*, *S. stoloniferum and S. chacoense*. Based on reference data (Kasai et al., 2000; Flis, 2005; Song & Schwarzfischer, 2008; Mori et al., 2011), to evaluate the source material of potato, intended for creating varieties with ER to PVY, DNA markers of resistance genes were selected, which are most reliable and technological in use: RYSC3₃₂₁, YES3-3A₃₄₁, Ry186 (Table 1).

Gene	Character	Marker	Primers (5' – 3')	Source
<i>Ry</i> adg	Resistance	RYSC3 ₃₂₁	F – ATACACTCATCTAAATTTGATGG	Kasai, 2000
	to PVY		R – AGGATATACGGCATCATTTTTCCGA	
Ry _{sto}	ER	YES3-3A ₃₄₁	F – TAACTCAAGCGGAATAACCC	Song &
	to PVY		R – AATTCACCTGTTTACATGCTTCTTGTG	Schwarzfischer,
				2008
Ry chc	Resistance	Ry186	F-TGGTAGGGATATTTTCCTTAGA	Mori, 2011
	to PVY		R-GCAAATCCTAGGTTATCAACTCA	

Table 1. Markers characteristics of *R*-genes of potato resistance to PVY used in the work

F - forward primer; R - rewers primer.

A set of Synthol reagents was used to isolate plant DNA. DNA extraction protocol is standard for Syntols set. The crushed potato leaves are transferred into microcentrifuge 2 mL tubes. Added 800 µl of lysis solution and 15 µl of proteinase-K to each tube and then mixed the solution. The tubes were incubated for 30 min. at 60 °C, occasionally mixed on a shaker. After that, the tubes were cooled for 5 min. at room temperature (RT) and centrifuged for 5 min. at 13,000 rpm. During that, a precipitation reagent was prepared in new tubes, 200 µl of sorbent buffer and 40 µl of sorbent. 200 µl of supernatant was gently transferred to new tubes with precipitation reagent. Incubated for 10 min. at RT. Centrifuged for 1 min. at 7,000 rpm. The supernatant was removed. Added 300 µl of washing solution A to the precipitate and mixed. Centrifuged for 30 sec. at 7,000 rpm. The supernatant was removed. Added 500 µl of wash solution B to the precipitate, mixed and centrifuged for 30 sec. at 7,000 rpm. The supernatant was removed. This step was repeated two times. Opened tubes were placed in a thermostat at a 60 °C until the liquid had completely evaporated. Added 200 µl of TE-buffer to the dry precipitate, mixed on a shaker. Incubated for 5 min. at 60 °C. The suspension was centrifuged for 2 min. at 13,000 rpm. 150 µl supernatant with DNA was transferred into new 0.2 µl tubes.

The protocol for DNA isolation is standard. Under the same amplification conditions, the reaction was set up separately for each marker. The reaction mixture for PCR with 12 mL primers contained: $2 \mu l$ of DNA, $1 \mu l$ of standard buffer for Taq-polymerase, $0.3 \mu l$ of dNTP, $0.4 \mu l$ of MgCl₂, $0.25 \mu l$ of each primer, $0.1 \mu l$ of Taq-polymerase, and $8.3 \mu l$ of H₂O. Amplification was performed in the mode: $94 \circ C - 3 \min$; 35 cycles: $92 \circ C - 45 \text{ sec.}$, $60 \circ C - 45 \text{ sec.}$, $72 \circ C - 1 \min$; $72 \circ C - 10 \min$.

Based on the results of amplification and subsequent electrophoresis in 1.5% agarose gel, all results are displayed on PC screen.

RESEARCH RESULT

In the field conditions of 2018–2019, an assessment of complex interspecific genotypes by a complex of characteristics was made. During the growing season, interspecific potato hybrids were evaluated for resistance to viral diseases, in particular to PVY against a natural infectious background. During the budding-flowering phase, leaf

samples were collected for testing for the presence of viruses and for the presence of DNA markers of resistance to PVY. When diagnosing the disease pathogen by PCR analysis, it was found that in the studied samples, PVY was present in only nine hybrids, this is 4.8%. A high occurrence was noted for the spread of the Potato virus M (PVM) - 32.1%. The number of samples with Potato virus X (PVX), Potato virus A (PVA), and Potato Leafroll virus (PLRV) viruses was low - 0.2–1.3%.

The screening of the potato gene pool and breeding material was performed using three (RYSC3321, YES3-3A341, Ry186) practically applicable markers of PVY resistance genes. The selective value of hybrids and varieties with resistance to PVY increases if several resistance genes from different potato species are present. Dominant alleles of the Ryadg, Rysto, and Rychc genes in complex interspecific hybrids were identified by DNA markers. According to research data, 32% of hybrids with DNA markers for three PVY resistance genes were isolated from the total number of studied samples (Table 2).

Table 2. Characteristic of the best potato samples with a complex of agronomic characters, in the genotype of which percense all three molecular markers of resistance to Potato virus Y, 2018–2019

Variates	V: 14	Starch	Resistance
variety	$(t ho^{-1})$	content	to leaf blight,
sample	(t lia)	(%)	points
05-15-15	32.2	16.5	8.0
05-15-40	34.7	15.2	7.0
05-15-7	42.9	18.7	8.5
06-11-1	32.9	11.2	5.0
08-10-1	31.2	16.0	5.0
08-20-2	29.3	15.8	7.0
08-41-5	35.5	11.0	7.0
08-41-7	32.0	10.9	5.0
10-11-24	34.4	14.8	7.0
10-22-21	32.1	14.2	8.0
10-22-7	36.7	10.0	7.0
10-54-5	29.8	14.7	8.0
10-54-9	30.0	14.8	8.0
10-9-3	33.7	15.4	5.0
12-12-8	31.7	13.2	5.0
12-22-47	31.2	12.2	5.0
12-22-66	30.2	12.0	5.0
13-41-13	36.9	16.5	8.5
12-29-12	32.6	12.8	7.5
12-24-14	32.8	13.5	7.0
12-47-13	35.7	12.8	8.5
15-2-4	30.8	14.4	5.0
15-22-4	40.5	10.9	7.0
12-32-8	38.9	17.8	7.0

High-yielding varieties were identified: 05-15-7 (42.9 t ha⁻¹), 15-22-4 (40.5 t ha⁻¹); with increased starch content in tubers: 05-15-7 (18.7%), 12-32-8 (17.8%), 05-15-5 (16.5%), 13-41-13 (16.5%); with better relative resistance to leaf blight: 05-15-7 (8.5 points), 13-41-13 (8.5 points), 12-47-13 (8.5 points). According to the results of the analysis, as the most valuable for inclusion in hybridization, in order to pyramid resistance genes to PVY from various sources, varieties are recommended that simultaneously carry markers to three resistance genes that are listed in Table 2.

A group of potato varieties from this list has been selected, which have now passed the state test and are included in the Register of Selection Achievements of the Russian Federation and are allowed to be used: 05-15-7 - Alaska; 05-15-40 - Gornyak; 08-10-1 - Mishka; 08-41-7 - Terra; 10-9-3 - Carmen; 10-22-7 - Prime; 12-32-8 - Flamingo.

The Alaska variety. Mid-ripening variety of table potato, tubers are oblong-oval, red, white color of flesh. Starch content is 13–20%. Average weight of commercial tuber is 110–140 g. Number of tubers in the bush is 12–16 pcs. Potential yield is 82 t ha⁻¹. Consumer qualities: good taste, culinary type BC. The variety is resistant to potato wart disease, potato cyst nematode, wrinkled and streak mosaic, curlytop virus. Preservation capacity when stored is good. Note: intensive type of variety, characterized by a consistently high yield, resistance to late blight. Included in the State Register of the Russian Federation and approved for use since 2020 for 4 and 12 regions.

The Gornyak variety. Early-ripening table variety. Tuber skin color is yellow, flesh color is light yellow, tuber shape is rounded. Potential yield is 60.0 t ha⁻¹, number of tubers per bush is 12–18 pcs., average weight of commercial tuber is 90–140 g., starch content is 14.0–19.0%. Medium-resistant to heat and drought. The variety is resistant to potato wart disease and late blight, poorly susceptible to potato cyst nematode. Preservation capacity when stored is good. It is recommended to cultivate on light and medium types of soil, it is flexible, highly resistant to scab. It is included in the State Register of the Russian Federation since 2015 for 4 and 9 regions.

The Mishka variety. Early, for table purposes. Tubers are round-oval, skin color is red, flesh is white. Potential yield is 50.0 t ha⁻¹, number of tubers per bush is 10–14 pcs., average weight of commercial tuber is 100–130 g., starch content is 13.0–17.7%. Resistance to disease: variety is resistant to potato wart disease, potato cyst nematode, medium-resistant to late blight and scab. Preservation capacity when stored is good. A distinctive feature is the early accumulation of commercial yield. It is included in the State Register of the Russian Federation since 2018 for 4 and 10 regions.

The Terra variety. Very early variety, for table purposes. Tuber skin color is yellow, flesh color is light yellow, tuber shape is oval. Potential yield is 55.0 t ha⁻¹, number of tubers per bush is 10–12 pcs., average weight of commercial tuber is 150–180 g., starch content is 10.0–14.0%. Taste is good, overcooking is weak (type B). Resistant to potato wart disease, potato cyst nematode; medium-resistant to late blight. Keeping capacity when stored is good. Note: early accumulation of commercial yield, high marketability. It is included in the State Register of the Russian Federation since 2020 for 4 and 10 cultivation regions.

A group of potato varieties with two resistance genes was identified - 39% of the total analyzed number, which also deserve close attention as genetic sources of resistance to PVY. The absence of all three studied genes was recorded in 8% of the studied genotypes. It is indicative that these samples also lack economically valuable

characteristics - they are characterized by low yield, starchiness and low resistance to late blight.

As a result of a comprehensive assessment of the studied material by economically valuable characteristics (field experiments), evaluation by PCR analysis for the presence of pathogens and molecular genetic labeling, a number of promising samples were selected for use in selection programs for the creation of virus-resistant potato varieties. The value of these samples as genetic sources is complex resistance to PVY, although they belong to different groups of ripeness, but the breeding significance is higher in the samples of the early-ripening group: 06-11-1 and 08-41-5. Characteristics of samples that are of interest in terms of saturation with various PVY resistance genes from several sources, with a complex of economic and useful features, are presented in Table 3.

Variety sample	Ripeness	Field resistance to Potato virus Y, point	Identified presence of markers of Potato virus Y resistance genes
05-15-15	mid	8.0	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i> ;
			Ry186 - gene <i>Ry</i> _{chc}
05-15-7	mid	8.0	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i> ;
			Ry186 - gene <i>Ry</i> _{chc}
05-22-35	mid-early	7.5	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i>
06-11-1	early	9.0	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i> ;
			Ry186 - gene <i>Ry</i> _{chc}
08-41-5	early	7.0	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i> ;
			Ry186 - gene <i>Ry</i> _{chc}
10-11-24	mid	7.5	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i> ;
			Ry186 - gene <i>Ry</i> _{chc}
10-22-7	mid	7.0	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i> ;
			Ry186 - gene <i>Ry</i> _{chc}
10-22-23	mid	7.5	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; Ry186 - gene <i>Ry_{chc}</i>
10-54-5	mid-early	8.0	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i> ;
			Ry186 - gene <i>Ry</i> _{chc}
10-54-9	mid-early	8.0	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i> ;
			Ry186 - gene <i>Ry</i> _{chc}
12-32-8	mid-early	7.0	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i> ;
			Ry186 - gene <i>Ry</i> _{chc}
12-47-10	mid-early	7.0	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i>
12-47-13	mid-early	9.0	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i> ;
			Ry186 - gene <i>Ry</i> _{chc}
13-41-13	mid-early	8.5	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i> ;
			Ry186 - gene <i>Ry</i> _{chc}
13-41-53	mid-early	8.0	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; Ry186 - gene <i>Ry_{chc}</i>
14-9-24	mid-early	7.0	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; Ry186 - gene <i>Ry_{chc}</i>
15-22-4	mid-early	7.0	RYSC3 ₃₂₁ - gene <i>Ry_{adg}</i> ; YES3-3A ₃₄₁ - gene <i>Ry_{sto}</i> ;
			Ry186 - gene <i>Ry</i> _{chc}

Table 3. Characteristic of valuable potato genotypes that combine a comprehensive assessmentof field resistance and the presence of PVY resistance markers, 2018–2019

The sample 06-11-1 (the Start variety) presented in the table deserves special attention, it has a maximum value of the characteristic of the field resistance to PVY (9 points), according to the results of PCR analysis on average over the years, the pathogen of the potato virus Ywas not detected in any sample. This variety is included in the Register of Selection Achievements, but is not allowed to be used because of the average indicators of economic valuable characteristics. With the presence of three studied markers in the genotype RYSC3₃₂₁, YES3-3A₃₄₁, Ry186, field resistance to PVY, this variety is recommended as a genetic source for targeted selection, the fertility of this variety is 52.0%, which allows to include both the maternal and paternal forms in hybridization.

CONCLUSION

As a result of a comprehensive assessment of potato selection material in 2018–2019 for agronomic characteristics, field resistance and genotyping for the presence of DNA markers of the corresponding PVY resistance genes, 17 promising selective samples with a complex of markers of ER to PVY were identified, which are recommended for use as initial parent forms for hybridization in the direction of creating virus-resistant forms, as well as a valuable material in breeding: 05-15-15, 05-15-7, 05-22-35, 06-11-1, 08-41-5, 10-11-24, 10-22-7, 10-22-23, 10-54-5, 10-54-9, 12-32-8, 12-47-10, 12-47-13, 13-41-13, 13-41-53, 14-9-24, 15-22-4.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS. The study was conducted at the Federal State Budgetary Scientific Institution Ural Federal Agrarian research Center of the Ural Brach of the Russian Academy of Sciences as part of the Comprehensive Research Program Development of Selection and Seed Production of Potato.

REFERENCES

- Barone, A. 2004. Molecular marker assisted selection for potato breeding. *Am. J. Potato Res.* **81**, 111–117.
- Ermishin, A.P., Svitoch, O.V., Voronkova, E.V., Gukasyan, O.N. & Luksha, V.I. 2016. Determination of the composition and allele status of genes of resistance to diseases and pests in parent forms of potato using DNA markers. *Genetics* **52**(5), pp. 569.
- Flis, B. 2005. *Ry-f_{sto}* gene from *Solanum stoloniferum* for extreme resistant to potato virus Y maps to potato chromosome XII and is diagnosed by PCR marker GP122₇₁₈ resistant potato cultivars. *Molecular Breeding* **15**, 95–101.
- Gebchardt, C. & Vreugdenhil, D. 2007. Molecular markers, maps and population genetics. Ch.5. Potato Biology and Biotechnology: *Advances and Perspectives*, Elsevier, pp. 77–89.
- Gebhardt, Ch. & Valkonen, J.P.T. 2001. Organization of genes controlling disease resistance in the potato genome. *Ann. Rev. Phytopathol* **39**, 79–102.
- Grech-Baran, M., Witek, K., Szajko, K., Witek, A.I., Morgiewicz, K., Wasilewicz-Flis, I., Jakuczun, H., Marczewski, W., Jones, J.D.G. & Hennig, J. 2020. Extreme resistance to Potato virus Y in potato carrying the Rysto gene is mediated by a TIR-NLR immune receptor Mar 2020, *Plant Biotechnology Journal* **18**(3), 655–667.
- Hawkes, J.G. & Jackson, M.T. 1992. Taxonomic and evolutionary implications of the Endosperm Balance Number hypothesis in potatoes. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* **84**, 180–185.
- Jansky, S. 2000. Breeding for Disease Resistance in Potato. *Plant Breeding Reviews*, Volume **19**, John Wiley & Sons, Oxford, UK.

- Kasai, K., Morikawa, Y., Sorri, V., Valkonen, J., Gebhardt, C. & Watanabe, K. 2000. Development of SCAR markers to the PVY resistance gene *Ry* _{adg} based on a common feature of plant disease resistance genes. *Genome* **43**(1), 1–8. doi:10/1139/g99-092
- Kilchevsky, A.V. & Khotyleva, L.V. 2014. Genetic bases of plant breeding. Minsk: Belarus. *Navuka* **4**, pp. 243–275.
- Mori, K., Sakamoto, Y., Mukojima, N., Tamiya, S., Nakao, T., Ishii, T. & Hosaka, K. 2011. Development of a multiplex PCR method for simultaneous detection of diagnostic DNA markers of five disease and pest resistance genes in potato. *Euphytica* 180, 347–355.
- Sato, M. 2006. Potato virus Y resistance gene Ry_{chc} maprd to the distal end of potato chromosome. *Euphytica* **149**, 367–372.
- Shamshin, I.N. & Porotnikova, O.V. 2014. Application of marker-mediated selection methods for obtaining new apple-tree genotypes. *Bulletin of Michurinsk State Agrarian University* 5, pp. 19–22.
- Szajko, K., Strezelczuk-Zyta, D. & Marczewski, W. 2014. Ny-1 and Ny-2 genes conferring hypersensitive response to potato virus Y (PVY) in cultivated potatoes: mapping and marker-assisted selection validation for PVY resistance in potato breeding. *Mol. Breeding*. 34, 267–271.
- Solomon-Blackburn, R.M. & Barker, H. 2001. Breeding virus resistant potato (*Solanum tuberosum*): a traditional and molecular approaches, *Heredity* **86**, 17–35.
- Song, Y. & Schwarzfischer, A. 2008. Development of STS markers for selection of extreme resistance (Ry_{sto}) to PVY and material pedigree analysis of extremely resistant cultivars. *Am. J. Potato Res.* **85**(5), 392–393. doi: 10.1008/s12230-008-9044-0
- Tian, Y-P & Vakonen, J. 2013. Genetic determinants of potato virus Y required to overcome or trigger hypersensitive resistance to PVY strain group controlled by the gene *Ny* in potato. MPMI. **26**(3), pp. 297–305. doi: 10.1094/MPMI-09-12-0219-R
- Watanabe, K.N. & Peloquin, S.J. 1991. The occurrence and frequency of 2n pollen in 2x, 4x, and 6x wild, tuber-bearing *Solanum* species from Mexico, and Central and South America. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* **82**, 621–626.
- Vales, M.I. 2010. Marker-Assisted Selection For PVY resistance in tetraploid potato. Proc.IS on Molecular Markers in Horticulture. Acta Hort. 859, 409–416.
- Vasiliev, A.A. & Gorbunov A.K. 2020. Productivity and photosynthetic activity of potatoes depending on the period and depth of planting. *Agrarian Bulletin of the Urals* **04**(195), pp. 2–10.

Biochemical contents of highbush blueberry fruits grown in the Western Forest-Steppe of Ukraine

L.M. Shevchuk^{*}, I.V. Grynyk, L.M. Levchuk, O.M. Yareshcenko, Ya.Yu. Tereshcenko and S.M. Babenko

National Academy of Agrarian Sciences of Ukraine, Institute of Horticulture, Sadova Str., 23, UA03027 Novosilky, Kyiv region, Ukraine *Correspondence: zberig@ukr.net

Received: October 26th, 2020; Accepted: February 2nd, 2021; Published: March 3nd, 2021

Abstract. The study of the physical and consumption qualitative indices of the highbush blueberries (the cultivars 'Reca', 'Elizabeth' and 'Bluegold') in the Western Lisosteppe of Ukraine has shown that the biggest fruit mass was accumulated by the berries of two last mentioned vs (1.54-1.50 g respectively). 'Bluegold' has this indicator as the least variable (V = 10.6%). The accumulation of fruit mass of all studied cultivars was facilitated by a moderately humid period of their development in 2018 with a hydrothermal coefficient of 1.1–1.2. The favorable year for the intensive synthesis of the dry matter and soluble solids was 2017 when the precipitation amount did not exceed 44 mm. The biggest number of the mentioned substances during the research period was accumulated by fruits of 'Reca' - 17.48 and 13.24%, respectively. It was established that the dry matter content had high level of stability (V = 8.2%), and middle was for soluble solids (V = 19.5%). The amount of monosaccharides from which glucose and fructose were investigated in fruits varied from 6.11 ('Bluegold') to 7.85 ('Reca'), it was slightly lower in 'Elizabeth' berries - 7.78%. 'Bluegold' fruits were characterized by high stability (B = 9.6%) of the biggest content of titrated acids among the studied cultivars (2.42%). The dry weather with low number of precipitation in 2017 (hydrothermal coefficient 0.3–0.4) was favourable for the accumulation of both the mentioned acids and vitamin C in fruits of highbush blueberries in the period of their formation and growth. The amount of ascorbic acid in fruits in the specified year varied from $20.00 \text{ mg} 100 \text{ g}^{-1}$ WM ('Reca') to $27.00 \text{ mg} 100 \text{ g}^{-1}$ WM ('Elizabeth') with an intermediate value of 22.50 mg 100 g⁻¹ WM ('Bluegold'). The latest of the mentioned varieties had the most constant index (V = 7.0%). The content of polyphenolic substances was slightly dependent on weather conditions during the period of fruit growth, the coefficients of variation were 6.2% ('Reca'), 7.0% ('Elizabeth') and 5.8% ('Bluegold'). The fruits of the last mentioned cultivars were characterized with the biggest anthocyanins and chalcones content (68 and 13 mg 100 g^{-1} WM, respectively). The substantial indirect dependence of the content of the nutritive substances and anthocyanins on the berry mass was revealed in the 'Reca' fruits.

Key words: *Vaccinium corymbosum* L., average mass, nutritional and bioactive substances, correlation.

INTRODUCTION

The popularity of highbush blueberries has increased over the last ten years, and now these are grown in many countries around the world. In 1990, V. corymbosum L. was cultivated in only 10 countries (Statistics Division, 2015), while in 2011 its commercial cultivation was introduced in 27 ones (Evans & Ballen, 2014). World production of highbush blueberry fruit increased from 262 t in 2006 to 556 t in 2016 (Aliman et al., 2020). According to the FAOSTAT data, the leaders of world blueberry production are the United States (269 tons) and Canada (179 tons). In Ukraine, over the past 10 years, tall blueberries from a little-known niche culture have become one of the main berry species. In Ukraine, during the last 10 years, V. corymbosum L. from a little-known niche crop have turned in to one of the main small fruit crops. Since 2017, Ukraine has become among five biggest blueberry fruit producers in Europe. In a period from 2007 to 2017 the total area of highbush blueberry plantations in Ukraine has dramatically increased from 130 ha to more than 1,500 ha (end of 2018 year) and it is expected to be 2,000 ha circa now. The rapid increase in the area under V. corymbosum L. was due to the high demand of the population for its fruit, which was formed due to significant consumer, dietary and medicinal properties, which is confirmed in the research by well-known scientists (Basu et al., 2010; Krikorian et al., 2010; Carey et al., 2014; Nil & Park, 2014; Singh, 2018).

Blueberry fruits contain large amount of organic and inorganic substances, which is mostly determined by the variety genotype, growing conditions, including ecological and technological, as well as the state of berry ripeness (Gündüz et al., 2015). Polish scientists established that content of V. corymbosum L. fruits is, %: water - 84, carbohydrates - 9.7, albumins - 0.6, fats - 0.4 (Michalska & Łysiak, 2015); other components are polyphenols, antioxidants, vitamins, minerals and fiber (Ścibisz & Mitek, 2007). The energetic value of a 100 g fresh berry portion is estimated at 192 kilojoules. Fruits of blueberry are also a good source of nutritive fibre accounting for 3-3.5% of their mass. In addition to good taste, the main interest in these berries is due to the moderate content of vitamin C, as 100 g of blueberries provide, on average, 10 mg of ascorbic acid, equal to 1/3 of the recommended daily norm (Prior et al., 1998; NHMRC, 2015). According to many scientists, polyphenolic and antioxidant compounds of blueberries provide positive effect on human health; reduce the risk of various diseases (Ramata-Stunda, 2020). These substances can also prevent neurodegenerative disorders (Ramassamy, 2006; Correa-Betanzo et al., 2014; Giacalone et al., 2015; Diaconeasa et al., 2015; Alibabić et al., 2019). Among berry species, highbush blueberries are distinguished by the presence of various types of anthocyanins (Gao & Mazza, 1994), in particular, such as: malvidin, delphinidin, petunidine, cyanidin and peonidine with sugar fragments of glucose, galactose and arabinose. According to some researchers, malvidin and delfinidine are the main components and amount to nearly 75% of all detected anthocyanins (Scibisz & Mitek, 2007).

The main world originators of *V. Corymbosum* L. varieties are the United States (Lyrene, 2007; Brevis et al., 2008), however breeding programs that aim to create new varieties adapted to the conditions of the region are the task of breeders from other countries (Scalzo et al., 2013), including Ukraine. Creation of varieties with high standards of marketable and consumer qualities, stable to the growing conditions of Ukraine, can be realized only in a case of selection of appropriate parental forms.

The aim of our research was to study the biochemical contents of highbush blueberry small fruits grown in the climatic conditions of the Western Forest-Steppe of Ukraine, however it is very important to find out the nutritional value of the introduced varieties. Knowledge of the degree of correlation between the biochemical components themselves and with physical ones will allow breeders to select parent pairs for conducting the breeding process and creating varieties with a stable content of consumer and biologically active substances. Our research will be the basis for the breeding process aimed at creating varieties of *V. corymbosum* L. with a significant polyphenolic complex, and in particular its anthocyanin component, which makes the fruits of this crop a trendy food product.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The research was conducted during 2017–2019. The experiment included cultivars with different ripening time: 'Reca' - early season (origin - New Zeland), 'Elizabeth' and 'Bluegold' - mid season (origin - the USA). Fruit samples were taken on the plots of the Institute of Horticulture of NAAS which is situated in the Western Forest-Steppe of Ukraine, altitude is 100–140 m. Climate of the region is moderate continental the minimum of average air temperature is 3.2 °C, maximum - 21.3 °C, average year temperature is 10 °C, annual precipitation is 619 mm. Plot's soil is grey forest slightly loam. The plantation was created in 2016; the distance between the bushes in a row was 1 meter, and 3 meters between the rows. Rows were mulched with sawdust and there was turf between rows.

Analytical research was performed in the laboratory on the storage and processing of fruits and berries of the IH NAAS. Fruits of highbush blueberries with a characteristic shape and color were selected at the stage of consumer ripeness in the amount of at least one kilogram, according to the 'Methods for assessing the quality of fruit and berry products' (Kondratenko et al., 2008). The average berries mass was determined by weighing of 50 fruits on laboratory scales. Crushed analytical samples of fruits to determine the content of nutrients and biologically active substances were prepared using a homogenizer. The sample was weighed on analytical scales. The biochemical components such as: the content of total dry matter (drying samples method by the temperature of 98-100 °C - due to the national standard 7804:2015), soluble solids (Brix) - refractometrically (NS 8402:2015), titrated acids and vitamin C content by (NS 7803:2015), polyphenolic titration sugar and substances content spectrophotometrically (NS ISO 4954:2008) were analyzed. Anthocyanins and chalcones were determined by the method of Kryventsov (Kryventsov, 1982). The sugar-acid index was calculated by dividing the total amount of sugars by the content of titrated acids. The experiments were conducted in 3-time replications.

Meteorological data for the trial evaluation years were obtained at the Vantage Pro2 Plus weather station. The hydrothermal coefficient (SCC Selyanova) was calculated by dividing the amount of precipitation in mm by the sum of active temperatures of 10 °C and above for the period of growth and development of fruits. The obtained data were decreased 10 times.

Statistical analysis

Statistical data processing was carried out with the use of the program STATISTICA 13/1 (StatSoft, Inc., USA). The results are presented as mean values with their standard errors, as average \pm standard error (x \pm SE). The differences between repetitions, as well as average inter-varietal value were determined using ANOVA. The research results were presented at the level of *P* < 0.05. Two-factor analysis of variance of the significant impact of variety genetic and climatic conditions into the content of nutritional and biologically active substances of highbush blueberry fruits and the correlation analysis were conducted in Excel.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Weather conditions for three-year research in the period of plants and fruits development (varieties - 'Reca', 'Elizabet', 'Bluegold') were different, both in temperatures and precipitations. 2018 turned out the wettest, the amount of precipitation for this period was higher than 125 mm, the least fell in 2017 (43.9 mm). The average daily temperature varied from 18.0 °C in 2017 to 23.6 °C in 2019. The sum of active temperatures above 10 °C during the period varied from 1,396 to 1,424 °C. The ratio of precipitation and the sum of active temperatures of 10 °C and above was in the range from 0.3 in 2017 to 1.2 in 2018 (Table 1).

		Amount of	Average	Sum of			
Cultivora		days from	daily	effective	Precipitation,	Humidity,	UTC
Cultivals		flowering	temperature,	temperature	mm	%	me
		to ripening	°C	> 10 °C			
'Reca'	2017	62	18.0	1,095	39.2	48.6	0.4
	2018	60	20.0	1,180	125.1	49.7	1.1
	2019	65	22.2	1,424	94.1	55.7	0.7
	Average	62	20.1	1,233	86.1	51.3	0.7
	for 3 years						
'Elisabeth'	2017	62	20.2	1,277	36.9	49.0	0.3
	2018	54	20.0	1,082	126.8	49.9	1.2
	2019	57	23.6	1,348	73.1	51.1	0.5
	Average	58	21.3	1,236	78.9	50.6	0.7
	for 3 years						
'Bluegold'	2017	70	18.2	1,257	43.9	48.3	0.3
	2018	58	19.6	1,139	136.0	50.0	1.2
	2019	62	22.8	1,396	87.6	55.2	0.6
	Average	63	20.2	1,264	89.2	51.2	0.7
	for 3 years						

Table 1. Weather indices during the period of *V. corymbosum* L. fruits growth and development (2017–2019)

According to Spanish scientists, mass of highbush blueberry fruits must have more than 0.75 g in order to be acceptable for market (Molina et al., 2008). The average berry weight grown in Bosnia ranged from 1.12 to 2.11 g (Aliman et al., 2020), and Portuguese berries weighed 1.4–2.4 g (Correia et al., 2016). The fruit mass from Macedonia was approximately the same (Arsov et al., 2010), from Serbia it was 1.86–1.94 g

(Zorenc et al., 2016), and from Korea - 1.83–2.21 g (Kim et al., 2013). The weight of fruits studied in our laboratory was: 1.29 g for 'Reca', 1.50 - 'Bluegold', 1.54 - 'Elizabeth'. The heaviest mass fruits had in 2018, in particular at 'Reca' - 1.60; 'Bluegold' - 1.70 and 'Elizabeth' - 1.80 g. 'Bluegold' was characterized as the variety with the most stable fruit weight over the years of observation with the coefficient of variation of 10.6% (Table 2).

		2017	2019	2010	Average	Coefficient
		2017	2018	2019	for 3 years	variation, %
Average	'Reca'	1.13 ± 0.07	1.60 ± 0.08	1.13 ± 0.08	1.29 ± 0.27	18.6
mass,	'Elizabeth'	1.62 ± 0.09	1.80 ± 0.06	1.20 ± 0.10	1.54 ± 0.31	17.8
g	'Bluegold'	1.40 ± 0.06	1.70 ± 0.05	1.40 ± 0.09	$1.50\pm0.18^{\rm a}$	10.6
-	SE				0.17	
	х				1.44	
Dry	'Reca'	19.10 ± 0.45	16.00 ± 0.96	17.33 ± 0.38	17.48 ± 1.63	8.2
matter,	'Elizabeth'	18.40 ± 0.45	16.00 ± 0.84	17.33 ± 0.51	17.24 ± 1.30	6.7
%	'Bluegold'	16.80 ± 0.91	14.83 ± 0.49	15.07 ± 0.16	15.57 ± 1.17^{b}	6.7
	SE				0.94	
	х				16.76	
Soluble	'Reca'	16.64 ± 0.44	11.80 ± 0.57	11.28 ± 0.37	13.24 ± 2.92	19.5
solids,	'Elizabeth'	16.24 ± 0.30	11.20 ± 0.29	11.48 ± 0.59	12.97 ± 2.80	19.1
%	'Bluegold'	12.63 ± 0.63	11.00 ± 0.24	11.48 ± 0.31	11.70 ± 0.90^{b}	6.8
	SE				1.44	
	х				12.64	
Sugars,	'Reca'	13.45	9.44	9.02	10.64 ± 2.77	23.0
%	'Elizabeth'	13.10	9.10	9.40	10.53 ± 2.52	21.0
	'Bluegold'	10.14	9.10	9.30	9.51 ± 0.62	5.80
	SE				0.70	
	х				10.23	
Glucose and	'Reca'	9.52 ± 0.54	6.97 ± 0.20	7.06 ± 0.51	7.85 ± 1.47	16.6
fructose,	'Elizabeth'	8.54 ± 0.59	6.02 ± 0.30	8.78 ± 0.66	7.78 ± 1.57	17.9
%	'Bluegold'	5.89 ± 0.44	5.56 ± 0.18	6.89 ± 0.84	$6.11\pm0.75^{\text{b}}$	10.9
	SE				0.91	
	х				7.25	
Titrated	'Reca'	1.68 ± 0.11	1.23 ± 0.11	1.63 ± 0.07	1.51 ± 0.26	15.0
acids,	'Elizabeth'	2.65 ± 0.18	1.23 ± 0.15	1.98 ± 0.23	1.95 ± 0.71	32.2
%	'Bluegold'	2.60 ± 0.12	2.20 ± 0.22	2.46 ± 0.25	2.42 ± 0.26	9.6
	SE				0.36	
	x				1.96	

Table 2. Physical and consumption indicators of the *V. corymbosum* L. fruits quality (2017-2019) (n = 9)

Note: ^{a; b} are values of indicators that differ significantly from the average (x) for the studied group at P < 0.05.

The dry matter content in different fruits and small fruit species, according to our data, ranges from 7 to 26%, however content of it in lowbush blueberries, according to Canadian scientists, varies from 14.03 to 16.23% (Kalt & McDonald, 1996). In our research the biggest amount of dry matters in blueberry fruits was acquired in 2017, when the precipitation sum did not exceed 44 mm, and it was 16.80, 18.40 and 19.10% for varieties 'Bluegold', 'Elizabeth' and 'Reca' respectively. The lowest content of these

substances, for varieties 'Reca', 'Elizabeth' (16.00) and 'Bluegold' (14.83%), was observed in 2018. That year the precipitation index was more than 1.1. Bigger content of DM comparing with average data for the studied varieties was observed for 'Reca' (17.48%) and 'Elizabeth' (17.24%). The stability of the DM content in highbush blueberry fruits obtained high; the variation coefficient (V) did not exceed 8.2% (Table 2).

The amount of soluble solids (SS), according to Colombian scientists, determines fruit sweetness (Cortés-Rojas et al., 2016). The content of soluble solids was bigger in fruits of highbush blueberries grown in the highland, what is explained by the fact that this area is characterised by higher level of sunlight than elsewhere (Fischer et al., 2012). Hot and rainless weather of temperate climates (Naumann & Wittenburg, 1980) accelerates the rate of photosynthesis (Taiz & Zeiger, 2010), this leads to an increase of the soluble solids concentration (Jifon & Syversten, 2001). This fact was confirmed by our research. The biggest SS amount of high-bush blueberry fruits (12.63–16.64%) was in 2019, when hydro-thermal coefficient was 0.3-0.4. The least level of SS was in 2018 from 11.00% (Bluegold variety) to 11.80% (Reca variety), when the precipitation amount was less than average, by 89.3 mm than in the analogous period of 2017 and by 65.8 mm than in 2019. The V. corymbosum L. fruits cultivated in Belorussia contained 13-15.3% of SS (Zenkova & Pinchykova, 2019), those from the Northern-eastern Turkey - 13.3% (Celik et al., 2018). The highbush blueberry fruits cultivated in the Western Lisosteppe of Ukraine accumulated from 11.70% ('Bluegold' variety) to 13.24% ('Reca' variety) (Table 2), which corresponded to the data obtained by scientists from neighbouring countries. The most stable SS amount among the researched varieties was determined for 'Bluegold' (V = 6.8%), for 'Reca' and 'Elizabeth' the coefficients of variation corresponded to the average value of 19.5 and 19.1%, respectively (Table 2).

In highbush blueberry fruit, sugars determine their organoleptic quality (Li et al., 2020), in particular, taste (Okan et al., 2018). It was reported by Gündoğdu (2019) that environmental factors and cultural practices (rootstock, irrigation, etc.) were effective on biochemical compounds such as sugar, phenolics and organic acids in fruits. The content of the mentioned substances in V. corymbosum L. fruits grown in Bosnia and Herzegovina was 9.73-9.94% (Aliman et al., 2020), in Russia it was at a level of 10.15–14.8% (Kirina et al., 2020). The biggest sugar content of high-bush blueberry fruits cultivated in the Western Lisosteppe of Ukraine was determined for 'Reca' variety (6.97–9.52%). The varieties Elizabeth and Bluegold were characterized by having lower sugar amount 6.02-8.78% and 5.56-6.89% respectively. The tendency of sugars accumulation in highbush blueberry fruits of the studied varieties was identical with the dynamics of dry matter and soluble solids accumulation. None of the studied varieties was determined as stable according to the sugar content; the coefficients of variation were higher than 10.9%, but lower than 20.0% (Table 2). Two-factor analysis of variance established the significance of the influence of weather and climatic conditions, at the level of 72.7%, on the sugar content in the fruits of the studied varieties, while genetic features determined their sugar content by only 9.3% (Fig. 1).

Besides the taste quality, sugars determine the calorific value of fruit, which is usually insignificant. Their dietetic properties are based on a high content of simple carbohydrates, namely glucose and fructose (Skrovankova et al., 2015), which are the main highbush blueberry sugars (Kalt & McDonald, 1996). Turkish researchers state that the ratio of glucose and fructose in high-bush blueberry is almost the same (Ayaz, 2001), and range from 2.9 to 7.1% - fructose and from 2.7 to 6.9% - glucose, and their

total number is from 9.1 to 9.9% (Hirvi & Honkanen, 1983). Other researchers emphasize that the amount of suitable substances is from 2.64 to 4.65% to 2.29–4.31%, respectively, and the total amount is 6.95–8.96% (Aksic, 2019).

Our research proved the presence of simple sugars in fruits of the high-bush blueberry at the level of 7.25% with the average minimum 6.11% and maximum 7.85%. The amount of glucose and fructose in fruits differed depending on the conditions of the year. The level of those substances ranged from 9.52% in 2017 at Reca variety, when the precipitation number was about 44 mm, to 5.65% in 2018 at Bluegold, with the precipitation over 125 mm in a fruits growing period. These facts prove the influence of the weather conditions to the accumulation and content of sugars (Table 2). The two-factor disperse analysis found the dependence of the content of these substances on varietal characteristics at 37.1%, and on weather and climatic factors - 34%.

According to Estonian scientists, the content of titrated acids (TA) in V. corymbosum L. fruits is genetically fixed and to some extent adjusted by growing conditions (Starast et al., 2007), that is confirmed by our research data. Thus, the two-factor analysis of variance has shown that variety by 72.2% determines the acidity of berries and only by 35.8% it depends on weather and climatic factors (Fig. 1). Although other researchers emphasize the variability of titrated acids from growing conditions (Gerçekçioğlu & Esmek, 2005). In our research the highest amount of titrated acids was accumulated by Bluegold



Figure 1. Particles of factors of significant influence that determine the content of sugars and titrated acids in the *V. corymbosum* L. fruits.

berries 2.20–2.60%), slightly less (in Elizabeth (1.23–2.65%) and Reca (1.23–1.68%), which corresponds with the data obtained by Belarusian researchers, the content of these substances was 1.10–2.05% (Zenkova & Pinchykova, 2019). The comparison of weather conditions with titrated acids of fruits showed the increase of the mentioned substances in 'Elizabeth' variety to 2.65% in the year of 2017, when the number of precipitation was low, with HTC - 0.3. In the other two varieties in the same year, there was also an increased amount of organic acids, in particular 2.60% in 'Bluegold' and 1.68 in 'Reca'. The most stable number of TA was in fruits of 'Bluegold' variety - with a coefficient variation 9.6%, whereas the most unstable with high dependence of the TA amount from the weather conditions was 'Elizabeth' variety (32.2%) (Table 2).

Organoleptic of berries depends on the number of titated acids and sugars (Ehlenfeldt et al., 1994). In our research we have established that high index of titrated acids and sugars correlation determines better taste of blueberry fruits. The sugar-acid index (SAI) of fruits of studied varieties was: 'Bluegold' - 3.9, 'Elizabeth' - 5.7, 'Reca' - 7.1 (Fig. 1). The fruits of the researched varieties were the sweetest according to the sugar-acid index in 2018, when the hydro-thermal coefficient was 1.1–1.2. In particular, SAI of vr 'Reca' fruits was 7.7, 'Elizabeth' - 7.4, 'Bluegold' - 4.1. Higher than in other years of research, the average daily temperatures in the period of fruit formation and ripening

in 2019 (Table 1) negatively affected the taste of blueberries. The lowest taste coefficient (3.8) appeared in 'Bluegold' variety, 'Elizabeth' had it not much higher (4.7), the fruits of 'Reca' had it 5.5 (Fig. 2).

Ascorbic acid relates refers to bioactive compounds that function in the human body as antioxidants (Celik et al., 2018). The amount of vitamin C in blueberry fruits was not the same in research of foreign scientists, for example data from the Baltics was 11.8 mg 100 g⁻¹ (Rupasova et al., 2009), Belarus (60.5–72.2 mg 100 g⁻¹) (Zenkova & Pinchykova, 2019) from Northeast Turkey - 39 mg 100 g⁻¹. Portuguese scientists claim that the different content of vitamin C in blueberries is a varietal trait and can be adjusted to the conditions of the year



Figure 2. Sugar-acid index of the highbush blueberries (2017–2019).

and range from 6 to 162 mg 100 g⁻¹ (Correia, et al., 2016). The amount of vitamin C in blueberry fruits grown in the Western Lisosteppe of Ukraine is little higher than in those from Baltic countries, but lower than in Belarusian ones, however, it is within the vitamin potency declared by Portuguese sciences. In our research the biggest vitamin C number was accumulated in fruits of the highbush blueberries in 2017, in particular, by 'Reca' -20.00 mg 100 g⁻¹, 'Bluegold' - 22.5 and 'Elizabeth' 27.0 mg 100 g⁻¹. The fruits of such varieties as 'Elizabeth' and 'Bluegold' contained 20.17 and 20.90 mg 100 g⁻¹ of the ascorbic acid respectively that was higher than the average content for the studied group of varieties (19.46 mg 100 g⁻¹). The content of vitamin C in the fruits of 'Bluegold' and 'Reca' varieties (7.0 and 12.3%, respectively) can be considered stable in terms of the coefficient of variation, and 'Elizabeth' (25.5%) can be considered unstable (Table 3).

The phytochemical composition of blueberries, according to many researchers, has a significant positive effect on the health of the human body (Stevenson & Scalzo, 2012). Turkish scientists claim that the content of polyphenols in highbush blueberries is a genetically fixed indicator, as much as the number of varieties grown under the same conditions differed significantly (Celik et al., 2018). The total polyphenol content in V. corymbosum L. fruits grown in the United States ranged from 48 (Ehlenfeldt & Prior, 2001) to 304 mg 100 g⁻¹ by mass (Moyer et al., 2002) and was strictly dependent on the variety (Taruscio et al., 2004) was adjusted growing conditions and the state of their maturity (Zadernowski et al., 2005; Castrejón et al., 2008). The fruits of highbush blueberries, which were analyzed by Baltic scientists, accumulated these substances at the level of 228.63 mg 100 g⁻¹ (Ozola & Dūma, 2020). Using two-factor analysis of variance, we confirmed the results of Turkish and American colleagues. We found a significant relationship on the amount of polyphenolic substances and anthocyanins on the genotype of the variety at the level of 98.4 and 92.9%, respectively. The content of chalcones was more adjusted by weather and climatic conditions of the growing year (65.5%), and the influence of other factors was higher by 2.55 than varietal peculiarities (Fig. 3).

		2017	2018	2019	Average for 3 years	Coefficient variation, %
Ascorbic acid,	'Reca'	20.00 ± 1.13	15.70 ± 0.55	16.20 ± 0.57	17.30 ± 2.41	12.3
mg 100 g ⁻¹ WM	'Elizabeth'	27.00 ± 1.33	16.70 ± 0.40	16.80 ± 0.45	20.17 ± 5.82	25.5
	'Bluegold'	22.50 ± 5.00	19.60 ± 0.62	20.60 ± 0.68	20.90 ± 1.65	7.0
SE	-				2.39	
Х					19.46	
Polyphenolic	'Reca'	375.33 ± 12.46	348.00 ± 18.11	350.67 ± 33.95	358.00 ± 25.04	6.2
substances,	'Elizabeth'	297.33 ± 14.15	268.00 ± 12.45	276.00 ± 27.16	280.44 ± 22.23	7.0
mg 100 g ⁻¹ WM	'Bluegold'	504.67 ± 33.95	492.67 ± 31.69	485.33 ± 40.17	494.22 ± 32.16^{a}	5.8
SE	-				61.58	
Х					377.33	
Anthocyanins,	'Reca'	39.00 ± 2.26	30.13 ± 1.41	35.33 ± 1.73	$34.82\pm4.86^{\text{b}}$	11.8
mg 100 g ⁻¹ WM	'Elizabeth'	55.00 ± 3.39	48.00 ± 0.45	44.10 ± 2.38	47.37 ± 3.60	6.7
	'Bluegold'	71.00 ± 3.39	64.00 ± 5.66	68.20 ± 4.70	$67.73\pm5.32^{\mathrm{a}}$	6.9
SE					9.73	
Х					50.50	
Chalcones,	'Reca' (c)	12.03 ± 0.62	11.80 ± 0.23	10.21 ± 0.24	11.35 ± 1.04	8.1
mg 100 g ⁻¹ WM	'Elizabeth'	15.10 ± 1.24	10.00 ± 0.23	10.07 ± 0.07	11.72 ± 2.93	22.1
	'Bluegold'	16.00 ± 1.13	112.60 ± 0.11	11.13 ± 0.17	13.24 ± 2.51	16.8
SE	-				1.42	
Х					12.10	

Table 3. Content of the biologically active substances in the *V. corymbosum* L. fruits (2017–2019) (n = 9)

Note: ^{a; b} is the notion of the indices which differ substantially from the average one (x) for the studied group of varieties (p < 0.05).

The amount of polyphenolic substances in highbush blueberry fruits of the studied cultivars on average in variety 'Bluegold' was 494 mg 100 g⁻¹ with a minimum of 485 and a maximum of 504 mg 100 g⁻¹ of raw mass, 358 - 'Reca' (min - 348, max - 376 mg 100 g⁻¹) and 280 - 'Elizabeth' (min - 268, max - 297 mg 100 g⁻¹). In the fruits of such varieties as 'Bluecrop' and 'Duke' from Romania, the amount of polyphenolic substances was 424.84–952.27 mg 100 g⁻¹ (Bunea et al., 2011), which is significantly higher than our data.

In fruits cultivated in Turkey, the amount of polyphenolic substances ranged from 111.60 438.9 mg 100 g⁻¹ (Gündoğdu, 2016), this data is comparable with the data obtained by us and confirm the results regarding the significance of the genotype of the variety. The coefficient of variation from 5.8 ('Reca') to 7.0% ('Elizabeth') proves the low correlation among the amount of polyphenols in the fruits of the studied varieties and weather and climatic conditions of the year of cultivation (Table 3).

The content of anthocyanins in blueberry fruits according to Mazza & Miniati (1993) varies from 25 to 495 mg 100 g⁻¹ of raw weight, and it



Figure 3. Effect of the factors established the amount of the polyphenolic substances, anthocyanins and chalcones in the highbush blueberries.

depends on the variety, fruit size, stage of ripening, as well as climatic and weather conditions of the growing region. The fruits of highbush blueberry of the studied varieties contained from 35 to 68 mg 100 g⁻¹ of anthocyanins. In our research, the biggest content of the mentioned substances was accumulated in fruits of Bluegold from 64 to 71 mg 100 g⁻¹, in Elizabeth berries there were a little less (44–55 mg 100 g⁻¹) and 'Reca' (30–39 mg 100 g⁻¹) had the least amount. The variability of this indicator over the years of research in all varieties was insignificant, the coefficients of variation was at the level and less than 11.8%. The most favourable year for the accumulation of anthocyanins in the fruits of all studied varieties of the highbush blueberries was 2017, when the HTC was 0.3-0.4 (Table 3).

The chalcone component in fruits of the studied highbush blueberry varieties was insignificant - 11–13 mg 100 g⁻¹. Their biggest content was accumulated in fruits of all studied varieties in 2017, in particular 'Reca' - 12 mg 100 g⁻¹, 'Elizabeth' - 12 and 'Bluegold' - 16 mg 100 g⁻¹; the average content for the years of research was 11, 12 and 13 mg 100 g⁻¹, respectively. The content of chalcones was stable in terms of variation in the variety 'Reca' (V = 9%), the average value of variability was in the varieties 'Bluegold' (V = 19%) and 'Elizabeth' (V = 25%) (Table 3).

By correlation analysis, we established the relationship between the berry mass and biochemical parameters of the fruits of highbush blueberries. It was determined, the increase in fruit mass of 'Reca' has a strong indirect effect on the content of dry matter, titrated acids and anthocyanins, (r = -0.822; -0.995 and -0.911 respectively) and on that of the soluble solids, sugars, vitamin C and polyphenols (r = -0.422; -0.424; -0.575

respectively). The amount of dry matter and soluble solids, which was contained in 'Reca' fruits are strongly positively correlated with most of the studied substances, the level of correlation is medium and strong. However, the correlation of DM with chalcones and sugar-acid index was not detected (r = 0.197 and 0.082). The content of glucose and fructose in the highbush blueberry fruits significantly depends on the amount of total sugars (r = 0.996), and also determines the content of polyphenols and anthocyanins (r = 0.998 and 0.830 respectively). The latest two mentioned substances had positive substantial direct correlation with sugars (r = 0.985 and 0.759 respectively). The correlation coefficient at a level of 0.948 proved the considerable connection of the titrated acids and anthocyanins contained in the 'Reca' fruits. A strong and medium correlation was established between the content of active substances of Reca, a correlation coefficient above 0.508; however, no correlation of the content of anthocyanins with the number of chalcones was detected (Table 4).

The content of monosaccharides (glucose and fructose) in berries of the 'Elizabeth' variety has a significant indirect correlation with fruit weight (the correlation coefficient is - 0.783). The correlation of medium strength was established between the weight of the fruit and the amount of anthocyanins (r = 0.555). There existed a close direct dependence between the last of the mentioned substances and soluble solids (r = 0.917). The positive connection between dry matter and SS, as well as the amount of sugars, titrated acids, ascorbic acid, polyphenols and chalcones was determined at the level of correlation coefficients r = 0.859; 0.999; 0.998; 0.976; 0.917 and 0.995, respectively. The soluble solids have a strong positive connection with most of the studied substances, medium – with glucose and fructose (r = 0.475) and indirect with a taste index (SAI) (r = 0.976). Titrated acids strongly correlated with the content of ascorbic acid. polyphenols and chalcones (r = 0.854, 0958 and 0.856 respectively) and had reverse correlation with the sugar-acid index (r = -0.959). SAI of 'Elizabeth' fruits indirectly, but significantly depends on the amount of vitamin C, polyphenolic substances, anthocyanins and chalcones (r = -0.966; -0.995; -0.808; -0.967 respectively). The biologically active substances of 'Elizabeth' berries were in a close direct correlation connection, with coefficients above 0.808 (Table 5).

The content of soluble solids, titrated acids, ascorbic acid and anthocyanins of the 'Bluegold' variety had an indirect strong correlation with the weight of fruits (the coefficients r = -0.727; -0.939; 0.764 and -0.918 respectively). The medium-strength connection was established between fruit weight and the amount of dry matter, glucose and fructose (r = -0.594; 0.692 respectively). The increase of the content of sugars, titrated acids and biologically active substances significantly depended on the increase of the amount of dry matter and soluble solids. There was no established dependence between the content of DM and SS with the amount of glucose and fructose (r = -0.170; 0.008 respectively). The correlation of glucose and fructose content with the sugar-acid index was positive (r = 0.729). However, the total amount of sugars had a reverse connection with the taste indicator (SAI) of the highbush blueberry variety 'Bluegold' (r = -0.754). At the same time a direct significant correlation was established with the content of the titrated acids, ascorbic acid, polyphenolic substances, anthocyanins, chalcones, the corresponding coefficient: r = 0.871; 0.987; 0.843; 0.898; 0.887.

	Average mass	Dry matter	Soluble solids	Glucose and fructose	Sugar	Titrated acids	Sugar- acid index	Ascorbic acid	Poly-phenolic substances	Antho- cyanins	Chalcones
Average mass	1										
Dry matter	-0.822	1									
Soluble solids	-0.422	0.863	1								
Glucose and fructose	-0.527	0.917	0.993	1							
Tonal sugar	-0.424	0.864	0.998	0.993	1						
Titrated acids	-0.995	0.876	0.512	0.610	0.513	1					
Sugar-acid index	0.500	0.082	0.574	0.473	0.573	-0.410	1				
Ascorbic acid	-0.589	0.944	0.981	0.997	0.982	0.668	0.405	1			
Polyphenolic	-0.575	0.938	0.984	0.998	0.985	0.655	0.421	0.998	1		
Anthocyanins	-0.911	0.984	0.758	0.830	0.759	0.948	-0.099	0.870	0.861	1	
Chalcones	0.396	0.197	0.665	0.572	0.664	-0.301	0.993	0.508	0.524	0.017	1

Table 4. Dependence of the consumption quality indicators of V. corymbosum L. fruits 'Reca' variety

Table 5. Correlation dependence of consumption quality indicators of V. corymbosum L. fruits 'Elizabeth' variety

	Average mass	Dry matter	Soluble solids	Glucose and fructose	Sugar	Titrated acids	Sugar- acid index	Ascorbic acid	Poly-phenolic substances	Antho- cyanins	Chalcones
Average mass	1										
Dry matter	-0.351	1									
Soluble solids	0.177	0.859	1								
Glucose and fructose	-0.783	0.858	0.475	1							
Tonal sugar	0.159	0.868	0.999	0.490	1						
Titrated acids	-0.323	0.998	0.874	0.842	0.883	1					
Sugar-acid index	0.043	-0.950	-0.976	-0.656	-0.980	-0.959	1				
Ascorbic acid	0.217	0.838	0.998	0.438	0.998	0.854	-0.966	1			
Polyphenolic	-0.040	0.950	0.976	0.653	0.980	0.958	-0.995	0.967	1		
Anthocyanins	0.555	0.584	0.917	0.084	0.910	0.608	-0.808	0.933	0.809	1	
Chalcones	0.213	0.840	0.995	0.441	0.998	0.856	-0.967	0.996	0.968	0.931	1

	Average mass	Dry matter	Soluble solids	Glucose and fructose	Sugar	Titrated acids	Sugar- acid index	Ascorbic acid	Poly-phenolic substances	Antho- cyanins	Chalcones
Average mass	1										
Dry matter	-0.594	1									
Soluble solids	-0.727	0.984	1								
Glucose and fructose	-0.692	-0.170	0.008	1							
Tonal sugar	-0.649	0.998	0.994	-0.101	1						
Titrated acids	-0.939	0.835	0.919	0.401	0.871	1					
Sugar-acid index	-0.011	-0.798	-0.678	0.729	-0.754	-0.335	1				
Ascorbic acid	-0.764	0.973	0.998	0.063	0.987	0.940	-0.637	1			
Polyphenolic	-0.138	0.879	0.780	-0.620	0.843	0.471	-0.989	0.744	1		
Anthocyanins	-0.918	0.864	0.940	0.348	0.898	0.998	-0.387	0.958	0.520	1	
Chalcones	-0.223	0.917	0.831	-0.549	0.887	0.546	-0.972	0.799	0.996	0.592	1

Table 6. Correlation dependence of indicators of consumption quality of V. corymbosum L. fruits 'Bluegold' variety

The titrated acids correlated quite strongly with the content of ascorbic acid and anthocyanins, the corresponding coefficients were 0.940 and 0.998. The amount of ascorbic acid significantly depends on the increase of the content of both polyphenols and anthocyanins and chalcones (r = 0.744; 0.958; 0.799, respectively). The total amount of polyphenolic substances had a significant direct connection with content of chalcones (r = 0.996) and the middle-strength of the anthocyanins (r = 0.520). The established correlation between the last two mentioned substances was on the same level (r = 0.592) (Table 6).

The research of different scientists (Mazza & Miniati, 1993; Prior et al., 1998; Starast et al., 2007; Correia et al., 2016) revealed the dependence of physical and biochemical quality indicators of highbush blueberries fruits, not only on the genotype of the variety, but also on weather conditions. Thus, the accumulation of sugars in berries was influenced considerably by the climatic conditions (Correia et al., 2016), and especially the light intensity, as fruit metabolism depends on photosynthesis (Mikulic-Petkovsek et al., 2014).

Using mathematical analysis, namely data approximation, we detected significant effect of one of the weather factors (precipitation during fruit development) on the content of dry matter and soluble solids in highbush blueberries (approximation coefficients - 0.565 and 0.586, respectively) (Fig. 4).



Figure 4. Correlation dependence of dry matter (A) and soluble solids (B) related to the precipitation amount.

CONCLUSIONS

It was established that the content variation of organic substances in highbush blueberry fruits of the studied varieties such as Reca, Bluegold, Elizabeth is an evidence of their genetic diversity from one side and the influence of weather conditions from the other side. Fruits of Bluegold variety according to coefficient of variation have a high stability of dry matter soluble solids, titrated acids and biochemically active substances, which is important for the breeding process. We found a significant dependence of the content of titrated acids, polyphenols and anthocyanins on the genetic characteristics of the variety. A high correlation was found among the biochemical parameters of highbush blueberries. There was established a significant indirect effect of increasing fruit weight on the content of nutrients in fruits of Reca variety.

REFERENCES

- Alibabić, V., Skender, A., Oraščanin, M. & Mujić, I. 2019. Application of Multivariate Statistic to Classify Blueberry Fruits In: Karabegović I. (eds) New Technologies, Development and Application. NT 2018. *Lecture Notes in Networks and Systems* 42, 498–506. Springer, Cham. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-90893-9_58
- Aliman, J., Michalak, I., Bušatlić, E., Aliman, L., Kulina, M., Radovic, M. & Hasanbegovic, J. 2020. Study of the physicochemical properties of highbush blueberry and wild bilberry fruit in central Bosnia. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry* 44, 156–168. doi:10.3906/tar-1902-36
- Arsov, T., Kiprijanovski, M. & Gjamovski, V. 2010. Research on high bush blueberry (*Vaccinium corymbosum* L.) cultivated in Macedonia. *Contemporary Agriculture* **59**(1–2), 99–104.
- Ayaz, F.A., Kadıoğlu, A., Bertoft, C., Acar, C. & Turna, I. 2000. Effect of fruit maturation on sugar and organic acid composition in two blueberries (*V. arctostaphylos and V. myrtillus*) native to Turkey. *New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science* 29,137–141.
- Basu, A, Du, M, Leyva, MJ, Sanchez, K, Betts, NM & Hancock, J.F. 2010. Blueberries decrease cardiovascular risk factors in obese men and women with metabolic syndrome. *Journal of Nutrition* **14**, 1582–1587. doi: 10.3945/jn.110.124701
- Brevis, P.A., Bassil, N.V., Ballington, J.R. & Hancock, G.F. 2008. Impact of wide hybridization on highbush blueberry breeding. J. Am. Soc. Hortic. Sci. 133, 427–437.
- Bunea, A., Rugina, O.D., Pintea, A.M., Sconţa, Z., Bunea, C.I. & Socaciu, C. 2011. Comparative Polyphenolic Content and Antioxidant Activities of Some Wild and Cultivated Blueberries from Romania. *Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca*, **39**(2), 70–76. doi.org/10.15835/nbha3926265
- Carey, A.N., Gomes, S.M. & Shukitt-Hale, B. 2014. Blueberry supplementation improves memory in middle-aged mice fed a high-fat diet. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* **62**(18), 3972–3978. doi: 10.1021/jf404565s
- Castrejón, A.D.R., Eichholz, I., Rohn, S., Kroh, L.W. & Huyskens-Keil, S. 2008. Phenolic profile andantioxidant activity of highbush blueberry (*Vaccinium corymbosum* L.) during fruit maturation and ripening. *Food Chem.* **109**, 564–572.
- Celik, F., Bozhuyuk, M.R, Ercisli, S. & Gundogdu, M. 2018. Physicochemical and Bioactive Characteristics of Wild Grown Bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L.) Genotypes from Northeastern Turkey. *Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca* **46**(1), 128–133. doi:10.15835/nbha461210842
- Correa-Betanzo, J., Allen-Vercoe, E., McDonald, J., Schroeter, K., Corredig, M. & d Paliyath, G. 2014. Stability and biological activity of wild blueberry (*Vaccinium angustifolium*) polyphenols during simulated in vitro gastrointestinal digestion. *Food Chem.* 165, 522–531.
- Correia, S., Gonçalves, B., Aires, A., Silva, A., Ferreira, L. Carvalho, R., Fernandes, H., Freitas, C., Carnide, V. & Silva, A.P. 2016. Effect of harvest year and altitude on nutritional and biometric characteristics of blueberry cultivars. *Journal of Chemistry*. Volume 2016, Article ID 8648609, 12 p. doi.org/10.1155/2016/8648609

- Cortés-Rojas, M.E., Mesa-Torres, P.A., Grijalba-Rativa, C.M & Pérez-Trujillo, M.M. 2016. Yield and fruit quality of the blueberry cultivars Biloxi and Sharpblue in Guasca, Colombia. *Agronomía Colombiana* **34**(1), 33–41. doi.org/10.15446/agron.colomb.v34n1.54897
- Diaconeasa, Z., Leopold, L., Rugină, D., Ayvaz, H. & Socaciu, C. 2015. Antiproliferative and antioxidant properties of anthocyanin rich extracts from blueberry and blackcurrant juice. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* **16**, 2352–2365.
- Ehlenfeldt, M.K., Meredith, F.I. & Ballington, J.P. 1994. Unique organic acid profile of rabbiteye vs. highbush blueberries. *Hort Science* **2**, 321–323. doi: 10.21273/HORTSCI.29.4.321
- Ehlenfeldt, M.K. & Prior, R.L. 2001. Oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC) and phenolic and anthocyanin concentrations in fruit and leaf tissues of highbush blueberry. J. Agric. Food Chem. 49, 2222–2227.
- Evans, E.A. & Ballen, F.H. 2014. An Overview of US Blueberry Production, Trade, and Consumption, with Special Reference to Florida. UF/IFAS Extention. http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/fe952
- Fischer, G., Ramírez, F. & Almanza-Merchán, P. 2012. Floral induction, flowering and fruit development. In: Fischer, G. (ed.). *Manual for the cultivation of fruit trees in the tropics*. Produmedios, Bogota, pp. 120–140.
- Gao, L. & Mazza, G. 1994. Quantitation and distribution of simple and acylated anthocyanins and other phenolics in blueberries. *J. Food Sci.* **59**, 1057–1059.
- Gerçekçioğlu, R. & Esmek, I. 2005. Comparison of Different Blackberry (Rubus fructicosus *L*.) Cultivars in Tokat, *Turkey. Journal of Applied Sciences* **5**, 1347–1377.
- Giacalone, M. di Sacco, F. Traupe, I., Pagnucci, N., Forfori, F. & Giunta, F. 2015. Blueberry polyphenols and neuroprotection. *In Bioactive Nutraceuticals and Dietary Supplements in Neurological and Brain Disease; Preedy, R.R.W.R., Ed.; Academic Press: San Diego, CA, USA*, pp. 17–28.
- Gündoğdu, M. 2019. Effect of rootstocks on phytochemical propertiers of apricot fruit. *Turk. J. Agric. For.* **43**, 1–10. doi:10.3906/tar-1803-99
- Gündoğdu, M., Kan, T & Canan, I. 2016. Bioactive and antioxidant characteristics of blackberry cultivars from East Anatolia. *Turk J Agric For* **40**, 344–351. doi:10.3906/tar-1511-78
- Gündüz, K., Secre, S. & Hancock, J.F. 2015. Variation among highbush and rabbiteye cultivars of blueberry for fruit quality and phytochemical characteristics. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis* **38**, 69–79. doi: 10.1016/j.jfca.2014.09.007
- Hirvi, T. & Honkanen, E. 1983. The aroma of some hybrids between Highbush Blueberry (Vaccinium corymbosum, L.) and Bog Blueberry (*Vaccinium uliginosum*, L.). *European Food Research and Technology* **176**, 346–349. doi: 10.1007/BF01057724
- Jifon, J.L. & Syvertsen, J.P. 2001. Effects of moderate shade onCitrus leaf gas exchange, fruit yield, and quality. *Proc. Fla. State Hort. Soc.* **114**, 177–181.
- Kalt, W. & McDonald, J.E. 1996. Chemical composition of lowbush blueberry cultivars. *American Society for Hortic. Science* **121**(1), 142–146. doi.org/10.21273/JASHS.121.1.142
- Kim, J.G., Kim, H.L., Kim, S.J. & Park, K.S. 2013. Fruit quality, anthocyanin and total phenolic contents, and antioxidant activities of 45 blueberry cultivars grown in Suwon, Korea. *Journal of Zhejiang University-Science B* 14(9), 793–799. doi:10.1631/jzus.B1300012
- Kirina, I.B, Belosokhov, F.G, Titova, L.V, Suraykina, I.A & Pulpito, V.F. 2020. *IOP Conference Series:* Earth and Environmental Science 548(8), 082068 doi:10.1088/1755-1315/548/8/082068
- Kondratenko, P.V., Shevchuk, L.M. & Levchuk, L.M. 2008. Methods for assessing the quality of fruit and berry products. Kyiv: SPD Zhyteliev S.I., 79 pp.
- Krikorian, R., Shidler, M.D., Nash, T.A., Kalt, W., Vinqvist-Tymchuk, M.R., Shukitt-Hale, B. & Joseph, J.A. 2010. Blueberry supplementation improves memory in older adults. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 58, 3996–4000. doi: 10.1021/jf9029332

- Kryventsov, V.Y. 1982. *Methodical recommendations for the analysis of fruits for biochemical composition*. Yalta: HNBS, 21 pp.
- Li, X., Li, C., Sun, J & Jackson, A. 2020. Dynamic changes of enzymes involved in sugar and organic acid level modification during blueberry fruit maturation. *Food Chemistry* **309**, Article ID 125617. doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2019.125617
- Lyrene, P. 2007. Breeding southern highbush blueberries. *In Plant Breeding Reviews; Janick, J., Ed.; John Wiley & Sons, Inc.*: New York, NY, USA. pp. 353–414.
- Mazza, G. & Miniati, E. 1993. *Anthocyanins in Fruits, Vegetables and Grains*. CRS Press: Boca Raton, FL, USA, 362 pp.
- Michalska, A. & Łysiak, G. 2015. Bioactive compounds of blueberry: post-harvest factors influencing the nutritional value of products. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences* 16, 18642–18663. doi: 10.3390/ijms160818642
- Mikulic-Petkovsek, M., Schmitzer, V., Slatnar, A., Stampar, F. & Veberic, R. 2014. A comparison of fruit quality parameters of wild bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L.) growing at different locations. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* **95**, 776–785. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.6897
- Molina, J.M., Calvo, D.,. Medina, J.J., Barrau, C. & Romero, F. 2008. Fruit quality parameters of some southern highbush blueberries (*Vaccinium corymbosum* L.) grown in Andalucia (Spain). Span. J. Agric. Res. 6, 671–676. doi: 10.5424/sjar/2008064–359
- Moyer, R.A., Hummer, K.E., Finn, C.E., Frei, B. & Wrolstad R.E. 2002. Anthocyanins, phenolics, and antioxidant capacity in diverse small fruits: *Vaccinium, rubus*, and ribes. *J. Agric. Food Chem.* **50**, 519–525.
- Naumann, W.D. & Wittenburg, U. 1980. Anthocyanins, soluble solids, and titratable acidity in blackberries as influenced by preharvest temperatures. *Acta Horticulturae* **112**, 183–190.
- National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC). Nutrient relevance values for Australiaand New Zealand: Including recommended dietary intakes. Available online: ttps://www.nhmrc.gov.au/_files_nhmrc/publications/attachments/n35.pdf (accessed on 10 June 2015).
- Nil, S.H. & Park, S.W. 2014. Edible berries: bioactive components and their effect on human health. *Nutrition* **30**(2), 134–144. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2013.04.007
- Okan, O.T., Deniz, I., Yayli, N., Şat, G.I., Öz, M. & Serdar, G.H. 2018. Antioxidant activity, sugar content and phenolic profiling of blueberry cultivars: a comprehensive comparison. *Notulae Botanicae Horti Agrobotanici Cluj-Napoca* **46**(2), 639–652. doi:10.15835/nbha46211120
- Ozola, B. & Dūma, M. 2020. Antioxidant content of dark colored berries. *Agronomy Research* **18**(S3), 1844–1852. doi.org/10.15159/AR.20.123
- Prior, R.L., Cao, G., Martin, A., Sofic, E., McEwen, J., O'Brien, C., Lischner, M., Ehlenfeldt, M., Kalt, W., Krewer, G. & Mainland, C.M. 1998. Antioxidant capacity as influenced by total phenolic and anthocyanin content, maturity, and variety of *Vaccinium* species. J. Agric. Food Chem. 46(7), 2686–2693.
- Ramassamy, C. 2006. Emerging role of polyphenolic compounds in the treatment of neurodegenerative diseases: A review of their intracellular targets. *Eur. J. Pharmacol.* **545**, 51–64.
- Ramata-Stunda, A., Valkovska, V., Borodušķis, M., Livkiša, D., Kaktiņa, E., Silamiķele, B., Borodušķe, A., Pentjušs, A. & Rostoks, N. 2020. Development of metabolic engineering approaches to regulate the content of total phenolics, antiradical activity and organic acids in callus cultures of the highbush blueberry (*Vaccinium corymbosum L.*) Agronomy Research 18(S3), 1860–1872. doi.org/10.15159/AR.20.054

- Rupasova, Zh., Pavlovskij, N., Kurlovich, T., Pyatnitsa, F., Yakovlev, A., Volotovich, A. & Pinchukova, Yu. 2009. Variability of structure of biochemical composition of fruits of the highbush blueberry. Agronomijas vestis. *Latvian Journal of Agronomy* **12**, 103–107. http://llufb.llu.lv/conference/agrvestis/content/n12/Latvia-Agronomijas-Vestis-12– 2009.pdf
- Scalzo, J., Stevenson, D. & Hedderley, D. 2013. Blueberry estimated harvest from seven new cultivars: fruit and anthocyanins. *Food Chem.* 139, 44–50.
- Scibisz, I. & Mitek, M. 2007. Antioxidant properties of highbush blueberry fruit cultivars. *Electronic Journal of Polish Agricultural Universities* 10(4), http://www.ejpau.media.pl/ volume10/issue4/art-34.html
- Scibisz, I. & Mitek, M. 2007. Influence of freezing process and frozen storage on anthocyanin contents of highbush blueberries. *Food Sci. Technol. Qual.* 5, 231–238.
- Singh, R. 2018. Current Alzheimer's management with berries fruit therapy. *Journal of Public Health and Nutrition* 1(2), 17–24.
- Skrovankova, S., Sumczynski, D., Mlcek, J., Jurikova, T. & Sochor, J. 2015. Bioactive compounds and antioxidant activity in different types of berries. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 16, 24673–24706. doi: 10.3390/ijms161024673
- Starast, M., Karp, K., Vool, E., Moor, U., Tonutare, T. & Pall, T. 2007. Chemical composition and quality of cultivated and natural blueberry fruit in Estonia. *Vegetable Crops Research Bulletin* 66, 143–153. doi: 10.2478/v10032-007-0016-6
- Statistics Division, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Production. Available online: http://faostat3.fao.org/home/E (accessed on 15 May 2015).
- Stevenson, D. & Scalzo, J. 2012. Anthocyanin composition and content of blueberries from around the world. *J. Berry Res.* **2**,179–189. doi: 10.3233/JBR-2012-038
- Taiz, L. & Zeiger, E. 2010. *Plant physiology*. 5th ed. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, MA, 782 pp.
- Taruscio, T.G., Barney, D.L. & Exon, J. 2004. Content and profile of flavanoid and phenolic acid compounds in conjunction with the antioxidant capacity for a variety of northwest *Vaccinium berries. J. Agric.Food Chem.* **52**, 3169–3176.
- Zadernowski, R. & Naczk, M. & Nesterowicz, J. 2005. Phenolic acid profiles in some small berries. J. Agric. Food Chem. 53, 2118–2124.
- Zenkova, M. & Pinchykova, J. 2019. Chemical composition of Sea-buckthorn and Highbush Blueberry fruits grown in the Republic of Belarus. *Food Science and Applied Biotechnology* 2(2), 81–90. doi.org/10.30721/fsab2019.v2.i2.59
- Zorenc, Z., Veberic, R., Stampar, F. & Koron, D 2016. Changes in berry quality of northern highbush blueberry (*Vaccinium corymbosum* L.) during the harvest season. *Turkish Journal of Agriculture and Forestry* **40**, 855–864. doi: 10.3906/tar-1607-57

Anatomical traits and structural components of peduncle associated with lodging in *Avena sativa* L.

D.C. Silveira^{1,*}, M. Pelissoni², C.R. Buzatto³, S.M. Scheffer-Basso², L.A. Ebone², J.M. Machado⁴ and N.C. Lângaro²

¹Federal University of Rio Grande do Sul, Faculty of Agronomy, Departament of Forage Plant and Agrometeorology, Av. Bento Gonçalves, 7712 Bairro Agronomia, CEP 91540-000 Porto Alegre RS, Brazil

²University of Passo Fundo, Faculty of Agronomy, Agronomy Post-Graduate Program, BR 285, Bairro São José, CEP 99052-900 Passo Fundo, Brazil

³University of Passo Fundo, Institute of Biological Sciences, Environmental Sciences Post-Graduate Program, BR 285, Bairro São José, CEP 99052-900 Passo Fundo, Brazil ⁴University of Cruz Alta, Faculty of Medicine veterinary, Center for Health and Agrarian Sciences, Rod. Jacob Della Méa, km 5.6, ZIP98005-972 Cruz Alta, Brazil *Correspondence: diogenessilveira@hotmail.com

Received: May 14th, 2020; Accepted: June 19th, 2020; Published: January 5th, 2021

Abstract. Lodging dramatically reduces the yield of cereals and increases the difficulty of mechanical harvesting. Because it is a complex phenomenon, new cultivars with genetic resistance to lodging is a sustainable alternative in agricultural production systems. This resistance is associated with a combination of factors, such as stem thickness and stiffness, being closely linked to anatomical traits and structural carbohydrates present in the stem. In the present study we compared, under field conditions, eight contrasting oat cultivars in terms of lodging resistance. Our aim in this study was to investigate the association of anatomical traits and structural components of the peduncle with resistance to lodging, aiming to assist in the plant selection process. In addition, a second objective was to understand the genetic dissimilarity among oat cultivars according to the characters studied. Some characteristics for potential indirect selection were studied in this work and if correlated with lodging can be used to identify superior genotypes. From the anatomical point of view, the correlation obtained between the internal vascular bundle and the lodging resistance factor allowed us to confirm that this trait can be used in indirect selection to lodging resistance. The structural components of peduncle, in the two ways explored in the present study, comparison of mean and correlation, did not demonstrate the potential to be used exclusively as plant selection characters traits for lodging resistance. There is noticeable variability in oat cultivars for most stem traits.

Key words: cereal, indirect selection, genetic variability, oat.

INTRODUCTION

In agricultural production of cereals, lodging is a serious problem, and can drastically reduce yield, cause decreased qualitative parameters and increase difficulty

of mechanical grain harvesting (Packa et al., 2015). Lodging is defined as the displacement of the stem from its vertical position (Pinthus, 1974).

The effects of lodging are increased by environment and mannagement, such as rain, strong winds, high levels of fertilization (mainly nitrogen) (Kangor et al., 2010), population densities of plants above the recommendation, intrinsic characteristics of the genotypes, as well the stage of development of the plant when subjected to lodging stress (Khobra et al., 2019). The lodging generates unfavorable conditions for plant growth, limiting the plant's access to light and air, obstructing photoassimilation and respiration, and contributing to the proliferation of pathogens (Ingver et al., 2010; Packa et al., 2015). In severe cases, lodging can block the transport of water, minerals and photoassimilates, leading to declines in grain yield (Berry & Spink, 2012; Mulsanti et al., 2018). Furthermore, lodging reduces quality of cereals produced (Berry et al., 2004; Shah et al., 2017).

Lodging resistance is associated with a combination of thickness and stiffness of stem (Ookawa et al., 2010). In this sense, morphological, anatomical traits and structural components of the stem, with emphasis on weight and diameter, concomitantly with short stature, thick walls and a high number of vascular bundles, are characteristics of cultivars with more resistance to lodging (Zuber et al., 1999). Nevertheless, it has been reported that stem stiffness is related to the main cellular components, such as cellulose, hemicellulose, lignin, silica and starch (Sato, 1957; Li et al., 2008). The lack of general associations of anatomical characters of the stem with lodging, confirms the complex nature of this phenomenon (Kelbert et al., 2004). Production of oats as well as production of other cereal grains such as wheat and barley serving as human food and animal feed are affected by lodging.

In the present study, conducted under field conditions, we compared the anatomical and structural of the stem of eight oat cultivars differing in resistance to lodging. Our objective in this study was to investigate the association of anatomical characters and structural components of the peduncle with resistance to lodging, aiming to assist in the process of plant selection.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plant material

Eight oats (*Avena sativa* L.) cultivars were evaluated for lodging resistance (Table 1). The data presented were obtained from the Brazilian Commission for Oat Research (2017), on average from 18 sites in the states of Rio Grande do Sul, Santa Catarina and Paraná (Brazil).

Experiment site

The experiment was conducted in the experimental field of the Faculty of Agronomy and Veterinary Medicine

Table 1. Agronomy characters of cultivars of oats
used in the study of lodging resistance

Cultivor	Height	Cycle ²	LO ³
Cultival	(cm)	(days)	(%)
FAEM 5 Chiarasul	117	128	42
UPFA Gaudéria	117	129	39
FAEM 4 Carlasul	117	129	39
Brisasul	110	133	33
URS Brava	127	130	31
IPR Afrodite	114	133	25
URS Altiva	120	128	15
URS Taura	101	128	15

Fonte: Lângaro et al. (2017); ²Time from emergence to maturation; ³Lodging occurence.

(FAMV) of the University of Passo Fundo (UPF), in the municipality of Passo Fundo / RS (28° 15 '46 "S, 52° 24' 24" W), from May to November 2018. The soil of the region is classified as humic dystrophic Red Latosol (Santos et al., 2018). The soil samples from the study site were collected from 0–20 cm depth and have the following chemical characteristics: clay = 45%; pH (H₂O) = 5.2; pH SMP = 5.6; P (mg dm⁻³) = 29.8; K (mg dm⁻³) = 182; organic matter = 2.9%.

The climate is humid subtropical according to the Köppen-Geiger classification (Moreno, 1961), with an average annual rainfall of 1,746 mm and temperature of 20 °C. Precipitation and wind speed for the period of the experiment were obtained from the experimental station of the Brazilian Agricultural Research Corporation (Embrapa), National Wheat Research Center, Passo Fundo, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Monthly rainfall and average wind speed in the experimental period and climatological normals. Passo Fundo, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil, 2020. Source: Embrapa Wheat.

Experimental design

The treatments were eight cultivars of oats (Table 1), arranged in a randomized complete block design, with three replications. The experimental units consisted of plots of five rows and five meters in length, with a spacing of 0.17 m between rows and 0.40 m between plots.

Procedure

The site was desiccated fifteen days before the sowing of the experiment with $2 \text{ L} \text{ ha}^{-1}$ of glyphosate (Roundup Original®) + 1.5 L ha^{-1} of 2,4-D (Aminol®) + 0.5 L ha^{-1} of clethodim (Select 240®) and two days before sowing 2 L ha^{-1} of paraquat (Gramoxone). The experiment was conducted in a field with soybean [*Glycine max* (L.) Merr.] as the previous crop. The sowing rate was 300 seeds m⁻². Cultural treatments were carried out with reference to the phenological stages of oats (Zadoks et al., 1974). The
fertilization used at sowing was 10 kg ha⁻¹ N, 40 kg ha⁻¹ P₂O₅, and 40 kg ha⁻¹ K₂O. Nitrogen (N) was applied in the form of urea at growth stage 25 (30 kg N ha⁻¹) and at the beginning of stage 31 (15 kg N ha⁻¹). At the end of growth stage 25, 1.5 L ha⁻¹ of 2,4-D (Aminol®) was used for weed control. The plots were treated with 0.8 L ha⁻¹ of epoxiconazole + fluxapyroxad + pyraclostrobin (Ativum®), at growth stages 41, 61 and 70 (Zadoks et al., 1974) to control *Puccinia coronata* var. *avenae*, *Drechslera avenae* and *Puccinia graminis* f. sp. *Avenae*.

Anatomical characters and structural components of peduncle

The evaluations of peduncle characteristics occurred at the phenological stage 70 (Zadoks et al., 1974). For the evaluations, ten main stems of each cultivar cultivar were evaluated from each replication. Six anatomical traits and four structural components of peduncle and resistance to lodging were evaluated: a) neutral detergent fiber; b) acid detergent fiber; c) hemicellulose; d) lignin; e) length of the sclerenchyma over the internal vascular bundle; f) length of the sclerenchyma over the external vascular bundle; h) parenchyma; i) internal vascular bundle; j) sclerenchyma up to the medullary cavity.

For the evaluation of the structural components of the peduncle wall, an analysis of the neutral detergent fiber (NDF) and acid detergent fiber (ADF) content was obtained by the methods of Van Soest et al. (1991). Hemicellulose (HEM) was obtained through a difference between the levels of NDF and ADF. The determination of the lignin content (LIG) was determined by the sequential method of Van Soest (1991), in ten stems of the main stem for each cultivar.

To observe the anatomical structure inside the peduncle (Fig. 2), the middle portions of the stem tissue were used. After collecting the peduncles, they were immediately fixed in FAA (formaldehyde = 5 mL; acetic acid = 5 mL; ethyl alcohol = 90 mL). 70 for 48 h and, subsequently, preserved in 70° GL ethanol (Johansen,



Figure 2. Scheme of the cross section of a oat stem and measured anatomical traits. Passo Fundo, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil, 2020.

*LSIVB: length of sclerenchyma over the internal vascular bundle; LSEVB: length of sclerenchyma over the external vascular bundle; EVB: external vascular bundle; PAR: parenchyma; IVB: internal vascular bundle; EMC: sclerenchyma up to the medullary cavity.

1940). Anatomical cuts were made freehand, transversely from the median portion of the peduncle, later stained with a combination of fuchsin and alcian blue (Luque et al., 1996) and assembled with 50% glycerin.

Resistance of stem to lodging

To evaluate the stem resistance, the main stem was evaluated for lodging resistance factor (cLr): it was determined by the formula proposed by Grafius & Brown (1954):

 $cLr = \frac{F}{h}$

The number of links was defined as the point at which the stem interrupted its downward movement, thus establishing a balance between resistance to torque and the torque that tended to cause lodging. In order to reach the value of the coefficient of stem resistance to lodging, the number of links in the chain was counted and multiplied by the weight of the links. Subsequently, the stem length was measured. In this index, the weight of the stem, leaves and panicle are excluded by deposition, since the plant under field conditions is fully capable of supporting its own weight.

Statistical analysis

Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used, and in case of significant difference, the Tukey test was applied at 5% probability of error for comparisons between means. The normality and homogeneity of variances of the data were verified by the Shapiro-Wilk and the Bartlett test, with no need to transform the data for the variables under study. The data were submitted to Pearson's correlation analysis. The magnitudes of correlation coefficients were classified as r = 0 was considered null; r = 0 to 0.30 was considered weak; r = 0.30 to 0.60 was considered average; r = 0.60 to 0.90 was considered strong; r = 0.90 to 1 was considered very strong and r = 1 was considered perfect.

The cluster analyses used to assess genetic variability were performed using the hierarchical clustering methods. The analysis was performed for the anatomical traits and structural components of the peduncle, by generating the Mahalanobis distance matrix (D^2). The illustration of the (dis)similarity among cultivars was performed using a dendrogram. The number of groups was defined by the Mojena (1977) procedure, based on the relative size of distances in the dendrogram. For the variables, the relative contribution of the characters to genetic divergence was obtained, by the method of Singh (1981). For data analysis, the statistical program GENES (Cruz, 2016) was used.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

There was a significant difference (p < 0.05) among cultivars for 10 of 11 characters. The variation coefficients were low, showing an acceptable experimental error (Table 2).

The lodging resistance factor was the index used to determine the resistance among cultivars (Figs 3, 4 and 5). This index is a predictor of the strength that the stem can support until the moment of flexion (Grafius & Brown, 1954; Kashiwagi et al., 2007). Over the years, studies with oats, wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.) and rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) have demonstrated the reliability of the stem resistance coefficient as a means of indirect assessment of resistance to lodging (Norden & Frey, 1959; Cruz et al., 2001; Cruz et al., 2004; Hirano et al., 2017). For this index, the highest lodging resistance factor was demonstrated by cultivar URS Taura (0.34 g cm⁻¹); and, the lowest resistance was observed in the FAEM 4 Carlasul (0.18 g cm⁻¹), FAEM 5 Chiarasul (0.18 g cm⁻¹).

Source	DF	Mean square										
Source	DF	NDF	ADF	HEM	LIG	LSIVB	LSEVB	EVB				
Block	2	24.54	65.86	10.18	0.01	1,298.73	234.97	568.90				
Cultivar	7	38.47* 104.18*		28.25*	2.58*	8,682.24*	559.38 ^{ns}	4,141.19*				
Error	14	8.16	6.73	4.07	0.18	1,156.55	275.06	984.78				
Average	-	69.23	40.42	28.81	6.38	284.02	158.21	468.95				
CV (%)	-	4.13	6.42	7.00	6.59	11.97	10.48	6.69				
Source	DE	Mean squ	lare									
Source	DF	PAR		IVB		EMC		cLr				
Block	2	116,805.6	52	4,435.91		100,026.47		0.00				
Cultivar	7	1,308,605	5.02*	162,244.90)*	1,418,488.03	3*	0.01*				
Error	14	60,842.66		4714.18		49,891.42		0.00				
Average	-	1,786.95		1,244.90		2,278.00		0.23				
CV (%)	-	13.80		5.52		9.81	13.27					

Table 2. Analysis of variance for the characters studied in eight cultivars of oats(Avena sativa L.). Passo Fundo, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil, 2020

*significant at 5% probability by the F test. ns = not significant. NDF: neutral detergent fiber; ADF: acid detergent fiber; HEM: hemicellulose; LIG: lignin; LSIVB: length of sclerenchyma over the internal vascular bundle; LSEVB: length of sclerenchyma over the external vascular bundle; EVB: external vascular bundle; PAR: parenchyma; IVB: internal vascular bundle; EMC: sclerenchyma up to the medullary cavity; cLr: lodging resistance factor.



Figure 3. Structural components (cellulose + hemicellulose + lignin) through neutral detergent fiber of peduncle and lodging resistance factor. Passo Fundo, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil, 2020. *cLr: lodging resistance factor; NDF: neutral detergent fiber.

There are many analytical methods for measuring specific components of the cell wall (Jung, 1997). The structural components are made up of neutral detergent fiber (NDF) and acid detergent fiber (ADF). The NDF comprises the fraction composed of cellulose + hemicellulose + lignin (Fig. 3); the ADF is composed of cellulose + lignin (Fig. 4) (Van Soest, 1991). Hemicellulose, on the other hand, is obtained from the

difference between the NDF and ADF fractions. In this sense, URS Taura presented greater resistance in relation to the other cultivars, as well as higher content of NDF and ADF, with 74.45 and 46.41% (Figs 3 and 4), respectively. For these structural components, the lowest levels were obtained for FAEM 4 Carlasul and FAEM 5 Chiarasul, 64.33% and 31.10%, respectively. Both cultivars showed low resistance to lodging (0.18 g cm⁻¹). The structural components of the peduncle do not prove to be parameters for identifying genotypes in terms of lodging resistance.



Figure 4. Structural components (cellulose + lignin) through the acid detergent fiber in the peduncle and lodging resistance factor. Passo Fundo, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil, 2020. *cLr: lodging resistance factor; ADF: acid detergent fiber.



Figure 5. Peduncle hemicellulose and lodging resistance factor. Passo Fundo, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil, 2020.

*cLr: lodging resistance factor; HEM: hemicellulose.

For the hemicellulose character the cultivar URS Taura show a distinct tendency (Fig. 5) than for ADF and NDF. The cultivar FAEM 5 Chiarasul showed higher levels for this character (35.20%), in addition to low lodging resistance. The lowest content of this character was obtained with URS Brava (25.58%), concomitant with the lowest lodging resistance factor (0.17 g cm⁻¹). The structural components of the stem are formed by cellulose, hemicellulose and lignin that play a significant role in stem resistance to lodging, as they constitute the cell wall of vegetables (Wang et al., 2006; Kong et al., 2013). In wheat, higher levels of lignin and hemicellulose increased stem resistance and reducing lodging (Berry et al., 2003). In contrast, in this study, the levels of hemicellulose (Fig. 5) and lignin (Fig. 6) were higher for cultivar FAEM 5 Carlasul and its lodging resistance factor was lower than other cultivars.



Figure 6. Peduncle lignin content and lodging resistance factor. Passo Fundo, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil, 2020.

*cLr: lodging resistance factor; LIG: lignin.

For lignin (Fig. 6), cultivars FAEM 5 Chiarasul, URS Taura and URS Brava presented the highest levels with values of 7.61%, 7.55% and 6.56%, respectively; already, the lowest value was obtained for the cultivar Brisasul (4.70%). The lignin content showed a negative correlation with the sclerenchyma length over the internal vascular bundle (Table 4). In wheat, lignin was strongly correlated with stem diameter, wall thickness and stem lodging resistance index (Kamran et al., 2018). This reinforces the idea that the lignin content is correlated with the resistance to lodging, as it provides rigidity and mechanical support determining the stem physical strength; low levels of these components weaken it (Berry et al., 2003; Ookawa et al., 2014; Dorairaj & Ismail, 2017). The correlation between stem strength and lignin suggests that genotypes with greater lignin accumulation can be used in breeding programs in order to develop

cultivars that are more resistant to lodging (Peng et al., 2014; Shah et al., 2017). However, in the present study, the highest levels of lignin did not show an association with the lodging resistance factor (Fig. 6). The results obtained corroborate a study conducted on rice, in which the highest lodging resistance factor was not always obtained in cultivars with a higher lignin content (Okuno et al., 2014). Furthermore, in another study, with barley, it was shown that lignin and hemicellulose may also not be associated with resistance to lodging (Stanca et al., 1979). According to Ma (2009) the role of lignin and cellulose in resistance to lodging is not yet consistent for use in indirect selection for resistance to lodging.

The correlations between the evaluated characteristics are shown in Table 3. Among the evaluated traits, only the internal vascular bundle showed a significant correlation coefficient with the coefficient of stiff resistance to lodging (Table 3). In work with barley and wheat, there was no evidence of a correlation in the number of vascular bundles of basal internodes and resistance to lodging (Stanca et al., 1979; Zuber et al., 1999; Kong et al., 2013). Also in wheat, it was shown that large proportions of sclerenchymatic tissue are correlated with resistance to lodging (Wang et al., 2006). More recently, in rice, there was a positive correlation between internal and external vascular bundles and resistance to lodging (Zhang et al., 2016). Differences in correlations among characters can be attributed to the variability between cultivars used. Therefore, for each set of cultivars, an appropriate selection strategy must be chosen (Lúcio et al., 2013).

	NDF	ADF	HEM	LIG	LSIVB	EVB	IVB	PAR	EMC
NDF	1								
ADF	0.90**	1							
HEM	-0.57	-0.87**	1						
LIG	0.46	0.11	0.33	1					
LSIVB	-0.21	0.00	-0.25	-0.78**	1				
EVB	0.01	-0.19	0.37	0.53	-0.11	1			
IVB	0.22	0.19	-0.11	0.05	0.53	0.68	1		
PAR	0.06	0.25	-0.41	-0.59	0.88^{**}	-0.04	0.59	1	
EMC	0.12	0.30	-0.44	-0.55	0.87**	0.00	0.63	1.00**	1
cLr	0.42	0.34	-0.16	0.10	0.43	0.30	0.76*	0.35	0.40

Table 3. Correlation coefficient among anatomical traits, structural components of peduncle and lodging resistance factor. Passo Fundo, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil, 2020

** and * significant at 1 and 5% probability by t test.

*ADF: acid detergent fiber; HEM: hemicellulose; LIG: lignin; LSIVB: length of sclerenchyma over the internal vascular bundle; EVB: external vascular bundle; PAR: parenchyma; IVB: internal vascular bundle; EMC: sclerenchyma up to the medullary cavity; cLr: lodging resistance factor.

Based on the correlations obtained (Table 3), the internal vascular bundles of the peduncle are indicated for indirect selection aiming at lodging resistance. In addition, cultivars that are more resistant to lodging presented greater internal vascular bundle length compared to the most susceptible cultivars (Fig. 7). For this character, the cultivars URS Taura, IPR Afrodite and UPFA Gaudéria showed the highest thickness with values of 1,617.74 μ m, 1,443.94 μ m and 1,425.65 μ m, respectively; already, the smaller thickness of the internal vascular bundles was found in URS Brava (954.92 μ m).

Estimates of the relative contribution of the ten anatomical characters and structural components of peduncle to the genetic dissimilarity among the eight cultivars of oats were evaluated by the method of Singh (1981) and are shown in Table 4. The traits that contributed most to genetic divergence were neutral detergent fiber and hemicellulose totaling 89.37% of the genetic divergence among oats cultivars. Otherwise, the characters with the least contribution to genetic dissimilarity were sclerenchyma, lignin, length of sclerenchyma over the internal vascular bundle, internal vascular bundle, and lodging resistance factor, acid detergent fiber, external vascular bundle and parenchyma. The selection of genotypes for breeding based only on genetic divergence, without considering their traits of interest, can be an inefficient strategy in a breeding program (Carpentieri-Pípolo et al., 2000). Thus, in addition to the genetic dissimilarity for identifying parents, their performance *per see*, in specific environments, deserves greater attention (Nardino et al., 2017).



Figure 7. Cross section of the stem of eight cultivars of oats. Passo Fundo, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil, 2020.

*a) Brisasul; b) FAEM 4 Carlasul; c) FAEM 5 Chiarasul; d) IPR Afrodite; e) UPFA Gaudéria; f) URS Altiva; g) URS Brava; h) URS Taura. **Table 4.** Relative contribution of structural and anatomical components of peduncle to genetic dissimilarity (RCGD) among eight cultivars of oats, in decreasing order of importance by the method of Singh (1981), based on the values of Sj. Passo Fundo, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil, 2020

Charactel	S:	RCGD
Characte	SJ	(%)
NDF	50,984.69	65.22
HEM	18,881.30	24.15
EMC	3,190.62	4.08
LIG	2,601.77	3.33
LSIVB	1,819.55	2.3275
IVB	560.47	0.72
cLr	136.89	0.18
ADF	0	0
EVB	0	0
PAR	0	0

*NDF: neutral detergent fiber; HEM: hemicellulose; EMC: sclerenchyma up to the medullary cavity; LIG: lignin; LSIVB: length of sclerenchyma over the internal vascular bundle; IVB: internal vascular bundle; cLr: lodging resistance factor; ADF: acid detergent fiber; EVB: external vascular bundle; PAR: parenchyma.

Through hierarchical methods, it is possible to illustrate the formation of groups by means of dendrograms (Fig. 8). The Mahalanobis distance matrix (data not shown) revealed high amplitude in this measure of dissimilarity, between 37.17 to 949.37. The cultivars Brisasul and URS Taura were the most dissimilar ($D^2 = 949.37$), whereas FAEM 4 Carlasul and IPR Aphrodite were the most similar ($D^2 = 37.17$). The cofenetic correlation coefficient, which estimates the representativeness of data from the dendrogram dissimilarity matrix, revealed a magnitude of 0.72, which indicates that the the data of matrix showed a satisfactory adjustment in the graphical representation

presented by the dendrogram (Fig. 8). The cofenetic correlation index, when greater than 0.70, indicates the adequacy of the method to the adopted dissimilarity matrix (Streck et al., 2017).

The UPGMA grouping method, using the averages of the distances between all pairs of cultivars for the formation of each group, allowed the formation of two distinct groups, with a higher concentration of cultivars in group I (75%), which were: group 1 (FAEM 4 Carlasul; IPR Aphrodite; URS Brava; URS Altiva; FAEM 5 Chiarasul; URS Taura); group 2 (UPFA Gaudéria; Brisasul). This type of distribution portrays the high similarity between genotypes (Kaur et al., 2018).

In the dendrogram (Fig. 8), group 1 was formed by six cultivars, due to the higher levels of neutral



Figure 8. Dendrogram obtained by the hierarchical grouping method UPGMA, based on the Mahalanobis distance (D^2) from the characters studied in eight cultivars of oats. Passo Fundo, Rio Grande do Sul, Brazil, 2020.

detergent fiber (average = 69.32%) and hemicellulose (average = 29.30%) in relation to group 2. Regarding the characters of lower relative contribution (Table 4), group 1 had a higher lignin content (mean = 6.71%), shorter sclerenchyma length over the internal vascular bundle (mean = 261.47 μ m) and internal vascular bundle (mean = 1,213.51 μ m) in relation to group 2. The resistance to lodging was measured through the lodging resistance factor, considered as the main parameter to predict the physical strength that the stem can support. Despite presenting a low relative contribution to genetic divergence (Table 4), among the eight cultivars of oats studied, the groups had the same average value of 0.23 g cm⁻¹.

Rapid investigations based on morphological, anatomical and structural components of plants are frequently considered in the literature. It was expected that cultivars with higher stem resistance to lodging had higher levels of structural components, such as neutral detergent fiber, acid detergent fiber, hemicellulose and lignin. This was not observed for all cultivars studied. The anatomical components, for cultivars with greater stem resistance to lodging, presented higher sclerenchyma values over the internal and external vascular bundle, internal and external vascular bundle and sclerenchyma compared to the cultivars most susceptible to lodging. In this sense, the number of vascular bundles in combination with the lignin content can confer resistance to lodging (Stanca et al., 1979; Kong et al., 2013). However, some authors report that, in anatomical terms, no feature was found associated with lodging and, therefore, not useful for indirect selection in breeding programs (Kelbert et al., 2004). Thus, in cereals, the selection of plants with resistance to lodging, should not be made based only on anatomical characters and structural components of stem. In addition, traits used to select superior genotypes in terms of lodging resistance should be: 1) fast, easy and stable to measure; 2) strongly inheritable; and 3) be strongly correlated with resistance to lodging (Shah et al., 2017).

Some characteristics, possible for selection were studied in this work and can be used to identify of superior genotypes in terms of lodging resistance. There is noticeable variability in oat cultivars for most stem traits. In addition to visual assessments of lodging, the lodging resistance factor is the most used test, as it is a predictor of the strength that the stem can withstand. Finally, the peduncle structural components, in the two ways explored in the present study, did not demonstrate a concise result to be used exclusively as plant selection characters to lodging resistance. The correlation obtained between the internal vascular bundle and the lodging resistance factor allowed us to confirm that this character can be used in indirect selection aiming to lodging resistance.

CONCLUSIONS

Variability in stem characters was observed among the eight whit oat cultivars studied. Of the anatomical characters, the internal vascular bundles were associated with resistance to lodging, allowing to identify it as a possible character of selection of plants. For the structural components of the stem, there was no significant association with resistance to lodging. The lodging resistance factor is an important tool for assessing stem resistance to lodging in oats.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS. The authors would like to thank the Programa de Suporte à Pós-Graduação de Instituições Comunitárias de Ensino Particulares (PROSUC) of the Coordenação de Aperfeiçoamento de Pessoal de Nível Superior (CAPES) and the Universidade de Passo Fundo (UPF). In addition, we inform that this study was financed in part by the CAPES, Brazil - Finance Code 001.

REFERENCES

- Berry, P.M. & Spink, J. 2012. Predicting yield losses caused by lodging in wheat. *Field Crops Research* **137**, 19–26. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fcr.2012.07.019
- Berry, P.M., Sterling, M., Baker, C.J., Spink, J. & Sparkes, D.L. 2003. A calibrated model of wheat lodging compared with field measurements. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 119(3–4), 167–180. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0168-1923(03)00139-4
- Berry, P.M., Sterling, M., Spink, J.H., Baker, C.J., Sylvester-Bradley, R., Mooney, S.J., Tams, A.R. & Ennos, A.R. 2004. Understanding and reducing lodging in cereals. Advances in Agronomy 84(04), 215–269. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0065-2113(04)84005-7
- Brazilian Oat Research Commission. 2014. *Technical Indications for Oat Culture: XXXIV Meeting of the Oat Research Commission*. Foundation ABC. Passo Fundo Editor of the University of Passo Fundo, 136 pp. (in Portuguese).
- Carpentieri-Pípolo, V., Destro, D., Prete, C.E.C., Gonzales, M.G.N., Popper, I., Zanatta, S. & SILVA, A. 2000. Selection of parental acerola genotypes based on multivariate genetic divergence. *Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira* 35(8), 1613–1619. doi: https://doi.org/10.1590/S0100-204X200000800014. (in Portuguese, English abstr.).
- Cruz, P.J., Carvalho, F.I.F.D., Caetano, V.D.R., Silva, S.A., Kurek, A.J. & Barbieri, R.L. 2001. Characters related to lodging resistance in common wheat. *Ciência Rural* 31(4), 563–568. doi: https://doi.org/10.1590/S0103-84782001000400001 (in Portuguese, English abstr.).
- Cruz, P.J., Carvalho, F.I.F., Oliveira, A.C., Benin, G., Vieira, E.A., Silva, J.A.G., Valério, I.P., Hartwig, I. & Busato, C.C. 2004. Genetic dissimilarity among wheat genotypes for lodgingassociated traits. *Crop Breeding and Applied Biotechnology* 4(4). doi: https://doi.org/10.12702/1984-7033.v04n04a08

- Cruz, C.D. 2016. Genes Software-extended and integrated with the R, Matlab and Selegen. Acta Scientiarum. Agronomy, 38(4), 547–552. doi: https://doi.org/10.4025/actasciagron.v38i4.32629
- Dorairaj, D. & Ismail, M.R. 2017. Distribution of silicified microstructures, regulation of cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase and lodging resistance in silicon and paclobutrazol mediated Oryza sativa. *Frontiers in physiology* 8, 491. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.00491
- Grafius, J.E. & Brown, H.M. 1954. Lodging resistance in oats 1. Agronomy Journal **46**(9), 414–418. doi: https://doi.org/10.2134/agronj1954.00021962004600090006x
- Hirano, K., Masuda, R., Takase, W., Morinaka, Y., Kawamura, M., Takeuchi, Y., Takagi, H., Yaegashi, H., Natsume, S., Terauchi, R., Kotake, T., Matsushita, Y. & Sazuka, T. 2017. Screening of rice mutants with improved saccharification efficiency results in the identification of CONSTITUTIVE PHOTOMORPHOGENIC 1 and GOLD HULL AND INTERNODE 1. *Planta* 246(1), 61–74. doi: 10.1007/s00425-017-2685-9
- Ingver, A., Tamm, I., Tamm, Ü., Kangor, T. & Koppel, R. 2010. The characteristics of spring cereals in changing weather in Estonia. *Agronomy Research* 8(Special III), 553–562.
- Johansen, D.A. 1940. *Plant microtechnique*. New York, USA: McGraw-Hill Book Comp. Inc. 105 pp.
- Jung, H.J.G. 1997. Analysis of forage fiber and cell walls in ruminant nutrition. *The Journal of nutrition* **127**(5), 810S–813S. doi: 10.1093/jn/127.5.810S
- Kamran, M., Ahmad, I., Wu, X., Liu, T., Ding, R. & Han, Q. 2018. Application of paclobutrazol: a strategy for inducing lodging resistance of wheat through mediation of plant height, stem physical strength, and lignin biosynthesis. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 25(29), 29366–29378.
- Kangor, T., Ingver, A., Tamm, Ü. & Tamm, I. 2010. Effect of fertilization and conditions of year on some characteristics of spring wheat and barley. *Agronomy Research* 8(Special III), 595–602.
- Kashiwagi, T., Hirotsu, N., Madoka, Y., Ookawa, T. & Ishimaru, K. 2007. Improvement of resistance to bending-type lodging in rice [*Oryza sativa*]. *Japanese Journal of Crop Science*. **76**(1), 1–9. doi: 10.1626/jcs.76.1. doi: 10.1007/s11356-018-2965-3
- Kaur, R., Kapoor, R., Vikal, Y. & Kaur, K. 2018. Assessing genetic diversity in dual purpose oat (Avena sativa L.) cultivars based on morphological and quality traits. International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Sciences 7(5), 1574–1586. doi: https://doi.org/10.20546/ijcmas.2018.705.187
- Kelbert, A.J., Spaner, D., Briggs, K.G. & King, J.R. 2004. The association of culm anatomy with lodging susceptibility in modern spring wheat genotypes. *Euphytica* **136**(2), 211–221. doi: 10.1023/b:euph.0000030668.62653.0d
- Khobra, R., Sareen, S., Meena, B.K., Kumar, A., Tiwari, V. & Singh, G.P. 2019. Exploring the traits for lodging tolerance in wheat genotypes: a review. *Physiology and Molecular Biology of Plants* **25**, 1–12. doi: 10.1007/s12298-018-0629-x
- Kong, E., Liu, D., Guo, X., Yang, W., Sun, J., Li, X., Zhan, K., Cui, D., Lin, J. & Zhang, A. 2013. Anatomical and chemical characteristics associated with lodging resistance in wheat. *The Crop Journal* 1(1), 43–49. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cj.2013.07.012
- Lângaro, N.C., Gutkoski, L.C., Fornari, M. (Orgs.) Resultados Experimentais. In: XXXVII REUNIÃO DA COMISSÃO BRASILEIRA DE PESQUISA DE AVEIA - *Resultados Experimentais*. Passo Fundo: Universidade de Passo Fundo, 2017.
- Li, X., Weng, J.K. & Chapple, C. 2008. Improvement of biomass through lignin modification. *The Plant Journal* **54**(4), 569–581. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-313X.2008.03457.x
- Lúcio, A.D.C., Storck, L., Krause, W., Gonçalves, R.Q. & Nied, A.H. 2013. Relationships between passion fruit-sour characters. *Ciência Rural* 43(2), 225–232. doi: 10.1590/S0103-84782013000200006. (in Portuguese, English abstr.).

- Luque, R., Sousa, H.C.D. & Kraus, J.E. 1996. Staining methods by Roeser (1972): modified-e Kropp (1972) aiming at the replacement of astra blue by 8GS or 8GX blue. *Acta Botanica Brasilica* 10(2), 199–212. doi: 10.1590/S0102-33061996000200001 (in Portuguese, English abstr.).
- Ma, Q.H. 2009. The expression of caffeic acid 3-O-methyltransferase in two wheat genotypes differing in lodging resistance. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **60**(9), 2763–2771. doi: 10.1093/jxb/erp132
- Mojena, R. 1977. Hierarchical grouping methods and stopping rules: an evaluation. *The Computer Journal* **20**, 359–363. doi: 10.1093/comjnl/20.4.359
- Moreno, J.A. 1961. Climate of Rio Grande do Sul. *Boletim Geográfico do Rio Grande do Sul* **11**, 49–83. (in Portuguese, English abstr.).
- Mulsanti, I.W., Yamamoto, T., Ueda, T., Samadi, A.F., Kamahora, E., Rumanti, I.A., Thanh, V.C., Adachi, S., Suzuki, S., Kanekatsu, M., Hirasawa, T. & Ookawa, T. 2018. Finding the superior allele of japonica-type for increasing stem lodging resistance in indica rice varieties using chromosome segment substitution lines. *Rice* **11**(1), 1–14. doi: 10.1186/s12284-018-0216-3
- Nardino, M., Baretta, D., Carvalho, I.R., Follmann, D.N., Ferrari, M., Pelegrin, A.J.D., Szareski, V.J., Konflanz, V.A. & Souza, V.Q.D. 2017. Genetic divergence between maize (*Zea mays L.*) genotypes in different environments. *Revista de Ciências Agrárias* 40(1), 164–174. doi: 10.19084/RCA16013. (in Portuguese, English abstr.).
- Norden, A.J. & Frey, K.J. 1959. Factors Associated with Lodging Resistance in Oats 1. *Agronomy Journal* **51**(6), 335–338. doi: 10.2134/agronj1959.00021962005100060009x
- Okuno, A., Hirano, K., Asano, K., Takase, W., Masuda, R., Morinaka, Y., Ueguchi-Tanaka, M., Kitano, H. & Matsuoka, M. 2014. New approach to increasing rice lodging resistance and biomass yield through the use of high gibberellin producing varieties. *PLoS One* **9**(2). doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0086870
- Ookawa, T., Yasuda, K., Kato, H., Sakai, M., Seto, M., Sunaga, K., Motobayashi, T., Tojo, S. & Hirasawa, T. 2010. Biomass production and lodging resistance in 'Leaf Star', a new longculm rice forage cultivar. *Plant production science* 13(1), 58–66. doi: 10.1626/pps.13.58
- Ookawa, T., Inoue, K., Matsuoka, M., Ebitani, T., Takarada, T., Yamamoto, T., Ueda, T., Yokoyama, T., Sugiyama, C., Nakaba, S., Funada, R., Kato, H., Kanekatsu, M., Toyota, K., Motobayashi, T., Vazirzanjani, M., Tojo, S. & Hirasawa, T. 2014. Increased lodging resistance in long-culm, low-lignin gh2 rice for improved feed and bioenergy production. *Scientific Reports* 4(1), 6567. doi: 10.1038/srep06567
- Packa, D., Wiwart, M., Suchowilska, E. & Bienkowska, T. 2015. Morpho-anatomical traits of two lowest internodes related to lodging resistance in selected genotypes of Triticum. *International agrophysics* 29(4). doi: 10.1515/intag-2015-000
- Peng, D., Chen, X., Yin, Y., Lu, K., Yang, W., Tang, Y. & Wang, Z. 2014. Lodging resistance of winter wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.): Lignin accumulation and its related enzymes activities due to the application of paclobutrazol or gibberellin acid. *Field Crops Research* 157, 1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2013.11.015
- Pinthus, M.J. 1973. Lodging in wheat, barley and oats: the phenomenon, its causes and preventive measures. *Advances in Agronomy* **25**, 25–209. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2113(08)60782-8
- Santos, H.G., Jacomine, P.K.T., Anjos, L.H.C., Oliveira, V.A., Lumbreras, J.F., Coelho, M.R., Almeida, J.A., Araújo Filho, J.C., Oliveira, J.B. & Cunha, T.J.F. 2018. Brazilian system of soil classification. Embrapa, Brasília, 356 pp. (in Portuguese, English abstr.).
- Sato, K. 1957. Studies on the Starch Contained in the Tissues of Rice Plant:(IV) Starch content in the culm related to lodging (Preliminary Report). *Japanese Journal of Crop Science* **26**(1), 19–19. doi: 10.1626/jcs.26.19

- Shah, A.N., Tanveer, M., Rehman, A.UR., Anjum, S.A., Iqbal, J. & Ahmad, R. 2017. Lodging stress in cereal–effects and management: an overview. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research* 24(6), 5222–5237. doi: 10.1007/s11356-016-8237-1
- Singh, D. 1981. The relative importance of characters affecting genetic divergence. *The Indian Journal of Genetics & Plant Breeding* **41**(2), 237–245.
- Stanca, A.M., Jenkins, G. & Hanson, P.R. 1979. Varietal responses in spring barley to natural and artificial lodging and to a growth regulator. *The Journal of Agricultural Science* **93**(2), 449–457. doi: 10.1017/S0021859600038144
- Streck, E.A., Aguiar, G.A., Magalhães Júnior, A.M.D., Facchinello, P.H.K. & Oliveira, A.C.D. 2017. Variabilidade fenotípica de genótipos de arroz irrigado via análise multivariada. *Revista Ciência Agronômica* 48(1), 101–109. doi: 10.5935/1806-6690.20170011
- Van Soest, P.V., Robertson, J.B. & Lewis, B.A. 1991. Methods for dietary fiber, neutral detergent fiber, and nonstarch polysaccharides in relation to animal nutrition. *Journal of dairy science* **74**(10), 3583–3597. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(91)78551-2
- Wang, J., Zhu, J., Lin, Q., Li, X., Teng, N., Li, Z., Li, B., Zhang, A. & Lin, J. 2006. Effects of stem structure and cell wall components on bending strength in wheat. *Chinese Science Bulletin* 51(7), 815–823. doi: 10.1007/s11434-006-0815-z
- Zadoks, J.C., Chang, T.T. & Konzak, C.F. 1974. A decimal code for the growth stages of cereals. *Weed research* **14**(6), 415–421. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3180.1974.tb01084.x
- Zhang, W., Wu, L., Wu, X., Ding, Y., Li, G., Li, J., Weng, F., Liu, Z., Tang, S., Ding, C. & Wang, S. 2016. Lodging resistance of japonica rice (*Oryza Sativa* L.): morphological and anatomical traits due to top-dressing nitrogen application rates. *Rice* 9(1), 31. doi: 10.1186/s12284-016-0103-8
- Zuber, U., Winzeler, H., Messmer, M.M., Keller, M., Keller, B., Schmid, J.E. & Stamp, P. 1999. Morphological traits associated with lodging resistance of spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). *Journal of Agronomy and Crop Science* **182**(1), 17–24. doi: 10.1046/j.1439-037x.1999.00251.x

Effects of retained fetal membranes treatments and dry period length on the subsequent lactation in cows - milk yield and somatic cell count

S. Skuja^{*}, V. Antāne and I. Lūsis

Latvia University of Life Sciences and Technologies, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Kr. Helmaņa 8, LV3004 Jelgava, Latvia *Correspondence: santa.skuja0@gmail.com

Received: October 13th, 2020; Accepted: December 14th, 2020; Published: December 18th, 2020

Abstract. Different treatment strategies in cows with retained fetal membranes (RFM) may affect subsequent lactation in various ways. Also, excessively short or long dry periods (DP) can decrease milk yield (MY), increase the risk of poor udder health, and increase the risk of RFM. This study aimed to evaluate how different treatment strategies of RFM affect subsequent lactation in cows, i.e., MY and udder health determined on the somatic cell count (SCC) bases in milk, expressed as somatic cell score (SCS). A secondary but equally important objective was to analyse the dry period length (DPL) effect on the subsequent lactation in cows. The cows from two herds were divided into three groups: group 1-healthy control; group 2-cows with RFM, removed manually and treated with intrauterine (IU) antibiotics (AB); group 3-cows with RFM, not removed, but treated IU with AB. The DP of cows was divided post factum into shortened (up to 46 days), traditional (47 to 70 days), or prolonged (over 70 days). Statistical analyses were performed using linear multiple regression and multivariate analyses. Differences were statistically significant when P < 0.05. The effect of different RFM treatment strategies on MY and SCS was evaluated. There were no statistically significant effects of RFM treatments on the MY in the subsequent lactation. However, there was a tendency (P = 0.07) for SCS in standard lactation to be higher in cows in group 2. The highest economic losses, calculated from the decrease in MY, were detected in the same group. Significantly lower MY was observed in cows with a shortened DPL during the first 30 days PP (P < 0.05). The DPL did not affect the SCS.

Key words: cows, retained fetal membranes, treatment strategies, dry period length, milk yield, somatic cell count.

INTRODUCTION

Fetal membranes in cows are considered to be retained if they have not been expelled during the first 24 hours after a calf delivery (Guard, 1999; Kimura et al., 2002; Risco & Hernandez, 2003; Maas, 2004; Han & Kim, 2005; Mordak, 2006; LeBlanc, 2007; Sheldon et al., 2008; Könyves et al., 2009; Dubuc et al., 2011; Zobel & Tkalčić, 2013; Gilbert, 2014; Opsomer, 2015). Tucho & Ahmed (2017) indicated that RFM causes significant economic losses, mainly reduced milk yield, worse reproductive performance, and infertility. Therefore, it is important to choose the right treatment

strategy to improve animal health and future productivity and avoid animals' early culling. Melendez et al. (2006) pointed out that RFM decreases milk yield, but cow treatment may counteract this decrease. Their study demonstrated that applied monensin capsule before expected parturition decreased the incidence of RFM and improved milk yield in multiparous cows. Goshen & Shpigel (2006) wrote that a 2-week treatment using intrauterine tetracycline for RFM did not affect milk production. However, Bayril et al. (2015) demonstrated that supplementation in feed with Se and vitamin E during the dry period increases Se level in serum, milk yield, and improves udder health (decreasing SCC) in subsequent lactation, but did not decrease the number of RFM cases.

Excessively short or long dry periods (DP) have multiple adverse effects. The DP is considered as the cow's resting period, about 60 days long before calving. Numerous scientific studies have indicated that shortening or omitting the DP may result in improvements in animal health and energy balance, as well as provide economic and management benefits (Grummer & Rastani, 2004; Rastani et al., 2005; van Knegsel et al., 2013; Heeren et al., 2014), and possibly even improve cow fertility in general (Gümen et al., 2005; Pezeshki et al., 2008; Watters et al., 2009). However, this strategy may cause an increase in RFM (Hamidreza et al., 2017). Bachman (2002) and Annen et al. (2004) demonstrated that milk yield is not affected by shortening or omitting the DP, while other studies show that a shorter DP results in lower MY during the first 100 days PP (Rastani et al., 2005; Steeneveld et al., 2014; Hamidreza et al., 2017; O'Hara et al., 2017) and a higher SCC (O'Hara et al., 2019). Van Knegsel et al. (2014) research demonstrated that shortening or omitting the DP reduced the total MY, protein yield, fat and lactose percentage (P < 0.05). However, omitting the DP increases the percentage of milk fat and protein, and SCC in milk, compared to a traditional DP (60 days). O'Hara et al. (2020) described that a shortened DP, as well as a prolonged dry period from 80 to 89 days, both reduce milk yield and increase SCC in milk (P < 0.001).

In order to accurately assess SCC during a study, these values should be expressed as somatic cell scores (SCS). The Western Canadian Dairy Herd Improvement Services DHI explains that linear scores, or SCS, are used to determine the udder health status of a cow or herd. A very high SCC for at least one cow in a herd strongly affects the herd's average SCC, but the average SCS of the herd is less affected. Thus, the mean lactation SCS is more representative of real milk loss than the average SCC. Dadpasand et al. (2013) described in their study that high SCS is associated with udder health and milk loss and negatively affects dairy cows' fertility and longevity.

The present study hypothesised that different RFM treatment strategies and different dry period length (DPL) could significantly affect MY and SCS in cows during the subsequent lactation. Therefore, the present study aimed to evaluate how different treatment strategies of RFM affect subsequent lactation in cows, i.e., MY and udder health determined on the somatic cell count (SCC) bases in milk expressed as somatic cell score (SCS). A secondary but equally important objective was to analyse the DPL effect on the MY and SCS in the subsequent lactation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Animals and Management

The present research was performed in two Holstein's black-and-white breed dairy herds with 650 and 300 cows. Thirty multiparous cows were included in this study: 9 apparently healthy cows with normal expulsion of fetal membranes were randomly selected from both herds, and 21 RFM cows, apparently healthy at the moment when cow grouping was done, 3–8 years old were selected according to the report from a farm veterinarian. RFM cows were examined clinically.

During this study, the average milk yield per cow in a standard lactation was 7,975 kg per year on the first farm and 6500 kg on the second farm, but the average SCC in milk was 197,000 cells mL⁻¹ and 248,000 cells mL⁻¹, respectively. On both farms, all management procedures were similar. The cows were fed twice a day, and water was freely available. During the winter, the animals on both farms were head-haltered in a tie-stall system barn, fed silage of maize, alfalfa, clover and grass, prepared in film wrapped rolls, in silage pits and mixed in a feed mixer. Before the silage, the cows were fed concentrates (barley+wheat) and trace elements, rapeseed flour, and salt. During summer, the cows were allowed to graze for twenty-four hours, while during milking, they were fed concentrates with trace elements, salt and rapeseed flour. In their study, Leso et al. (2019) indicated that the keeping system directly affects dairy cows' longevity and udder health status.

The dry period on both farms was planned to be 60 days.

RFM treatment strategies

All study animals (n = 30) were divided into 3 groups depending on the expulsion of fetal membranes and the applied treatment strategy (Table 1). Group 1 was the control. Group 2 was RFM treatment group where fetal membranes were manually easily separable, and group 3 was RFM treatment group where RFM not easily separable.

For all treatment group cows, the cotyledon-caruncle junction was gently tested manually for the first two caruncles. Group 2 and group 3 RFM cows were treated with antibacterial preparation-neomycin sulfate 350000 IU and oxytetracycline hydrochloride 500 mg (Gynobiotic bolus; Novartis Animal Health, Slovenia), 3 boluses were inserted into the uterus.

All cows involved in the present investigation were clinically examined

Table 1. Allocation criteria for cows into the study groups during the deliberate grouping

-			
Group of cows	Fetal membranes expelled during 24 h PP	RFM removed manually	Cows treated IU with antibiotics
Group 1	YES	-	NO
(<i>n</i> = 9)			
Group 2	NO	YES	YES
(<i>n</i> = 13)			
Group 3	NO	NO	YES
(<i>n</i> = 8)			

in the first 14 days postpartum (PP). RFM cows which increased a rectal temperature \geq 39.5 °C, showed signs of PP metritis, but still had appetite received systemic antibiotic treatment with ceftiofur hydrochloride (1.1 mg kg⁻¹ subcutaneously per day) for 3 consecutive days. In most severe case (cow did not eat, became apathetic), animals received procaine benzylpenicillin (10 mg kg⁻¹ intramuscularly per day) for 5 consecutive days. PP metritis was diagnosed when the uterus becomes filled with a large

amount of reddish-brown foul-smelling uterine discharge, mostly containing necrotic tissue debris (putrid discharge that corresponds with Sheldon et al. (2006) definitions of uterine diseases).

The reproductive performance of the multiparous cows involved in the study is shown in Table 2.

The reproduction indices	Group 1 (<i>n</i> = 9)	Group 2 (<i>n</i> = 13)	Group 3 (<i>n</i> = 8)
Days open to the first service, days	$79\pm9.7^{\rm A}$	100 ± 14.2	121 ± 28.3 ^A
Services per pregnancy	3.22 ± 0.66	2.25 ± 0.46	1.83 ± 0.47
First service conception, %	11 ^{B,C}	33 ^{B,D}	$50^{\mathrm{D,C}}$
Days open, days	187 ± 25.3	132 ± 19.7	163 ± 22.4

 Table 2. The summary of cows' reproductive performance

 $^{A,B,C,D}P < 0.05$; Group 1 – control group; group 2 – cows with RFM, manually removed and IU antibiotics; group 3 – cows with RFM, not removed and IU antibiotics.

Dry period length (DPL)

The DPL of cows (n = 30) was divided *post factum* into the shortened DPL up to 46 days, the traditional DPL from 47 to 70 days, and the prolonged DPL over 70 days. The influence of DPL on MY and SCC was analysed in the control group cows (n = 9), where fetal membranes expelled during 24 h PP and cows with RFM (n = 21). The DPL for each animal involved in the study was obtained from the Agricultural Data Centre Republic of Latvia*. Agricultural Data Centre Republic of Latvia is a State Institution under the supervision of the Ministry of Agriculture that was established in 1997 to aggregate, process and analyse zootechnical, veterinarian and agricultural information in the Latvian Republic with the goal to create a whole state animal and herd register, pedigree information system in compliance with international requirements.

In both herds, dry cow treatment was done using Cloxacillin benzathine 600 mg together with ampicillin trihydrate 300 mg in a long-acting base (Bovaclox DC, Norbrook Laboratories Ltd, Ireland). The cows were clinically healthy before dried off.

Milk yield (MY) and Somatic cell count (SCC)

MY and SCC for the cows in current and previous lactation were obtained from Latvia's Agricultural Data Centre. Both parameters were evaluated for 30 days PP (MY_{30} ; SCC₃₀), 100 days PP (MY_{100} ; SCC₁₀₀) and 305 days PP (MY_{305} ; SCC₃₀₅). The difference in MY and SCC were calculated subtracting the previous lactation from the current lactation.

Somatic cell count in milk indicates not only udder health but also the health of the entire cow (Sematovica et al., 2020). In the present study, the optimal threshold for cow SCC was defined as 200,000 cells mL⁻¹ based on previous research by numerous scientists (DeGraves & Fetrow, 1993; Harmon, 1994; Hillerton, 1999; Madouasse et al., 2008; Lusis et al., 2010; Petzer et al., 2017; Lusis et al., 2019). All SCC data were transformed into the logarithmic [log2 (SCC $\times 10^{-5}$) + 3] somatic cell scores (SCS) before statistical comparison. The lactation average SCS was the arithmetic mean of the

^{*}www.ldc.gov.lv

monthly test day SCC from 7 to 305 days after calving. SCC was expressed on a SCS scale from 0 to 9, where (0) ranged from 0 to 24,000 cells mL⁻¹; (1) 25,000–49,000 cells mL⁻¹; (2) 50,000–99,000 cells mL⁻¹; (3) 100,000–199,000 cells mL⁻¹; (4) 200,000–399,000 cells mL⁻¹; (5) 400,000–799,000 cells mL⁻¹; (6) 800,000–1599,000 cells mL⁻¹; (7) 1600,000–3199,000 cells mL⁻¹; (8) 3200,000–6399,000 cells mL⁻¹ and (9) 6400,000–12799,000 cells mL⁻¹.

Statistical analysis

Data were analysed using software Stata IC 12.1 (StataCorp LP, 4905 Lakeway Drive, College Station TX77845, USA, version Stata IC 12.1 for Windows) and displayed for each group as a mean \pm SEM. Differences between current and previous lactation MY₃₀, MY₁₀₀, MY₃₀₅, SCS₃₀, SCS₁₀₀, and SCS₃₀₅ were analysed using a Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed-rank test. Linear multiple regression (Multivariable analyses) were performed to assess the RFM treatment's impact on the all above mentioned MY and SCS. Multivariate regression analyses of variance (MANOVA) were performed to assess the impact of DPL on the all above mentioned MY and SCS. All effects were corrected for herd influence. Distribution of DPL between herds was compared by Fisher's exact test. Differences in results were evaluated as statistically significant when P < 0.05.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The analyses of RFM treatment strategies' effects on MY₃₀ and SCS₃₀ showed no significant differences between the study groups (P > 0.05). Comparing the current lactation to the previous of each individual cow, MY₃₀ in group 2 cows (RFM, manually removed, AB treated) was decreased on average by 98.74 ± 91.19 kg (corrected for herd effect) as compared to the control group as a reference category. In group 3 (RFM, not removed, AB treated) the decrease was on average by 52.89 ± 99.06 kg. Despite a lack of a significant difference in MY, there were considerable losses noticed from an economic point of view (Table 3). For 1L of milk, the average production cost was 0.24 euro in those herds, and the average purchase price was 0.30 euro, resulting in a total loss of 0.54 euro.

	5			
Group	Milk yield decrease	Milk yield decrease	Economic losses	Economic losses
of cows	per cow, L	per cow group, L	per cow, euro	per group, euro
Group 1	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
(<i>n</i> = 9)	category	category	category	category
Group 2	98.74	1,283.62	53.32	693.15
(n = 13)				
Group 3	52.89	423.12	28.56	228.48
$(n = \hat{8})$				

Table 3. Milk yield decrease and economic losses in cows with retained fetal membranes during the first 30 days PP

Group 1 - control group; group 2 - cows with RFM, manually removed and IU antibiotics; group 3 - cows with RFM, not removed and IU antibiotics.

Comparing the current to the previous lactation of each individual cow, SCS_{30} in cows group 2 and 3 was on average 1.42 ± 1.25 and 1.38 ± 1.36 (corrected for herd effect) higher than in the control group cows, respectively (P > 0.05).

Continuing to analyse milk yield parameters and udder health in study cows in the first 100 days PP, there were no significant differences between them (P > 0.05). Comparing the current to the previous lactation of each individual cow, MY₁₀₀ in group 2 cows was decreased by 328.13 ± 254.04 kg (corrected for herd effect) compared to the control group as a reference category. In cows of group 3, this tendency was weak. Basically, SCS₁₀₀ was increasing between days 30 and 100 PP in both herds; from 3.03 ± 0.56 to 3.74 ± 0.38 in the herd 1 and from 4.01 ± 0.45 to 4.38 ± 0.37 in the herd 2. Comparing cows' groups, the SCS₁₀₀ in groups 2 and 3 were less than one unit higher than the SCS₁₀₀ of the control group. The economic losses for MY₁₀₀ are shown in Table 4.

Table 4. Milk yield decrease and economic losses in cows with retained fetal membranes during the first 100 days PP

Group	Milk yield decrease	Milk yield decrease	Economic losses	Economic losses
of cows	per cow, L	per cow group, L	per cow, euro	per group, euro
Group 1	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
(<i>n</i> = 8)	category	category	category	category
Group 2	328.13	3,937.56	177.19	2,126.28
(n = 12)				
Group 3	21.50	150.50	11.61	81.27
$(n = \bar{7})$				

Group 1 – control group; group 2 – cows with RFM, manually removed and IU antibiotics; group 3 – cows with RFM, not removed and IU antibiotics.

Further evaluating the effect of RFM treatment methods on MY during the standard lactation period (305-days milk yield), there were no significant differences between the study groups (P > 0.05). In contrast, SCS₃₀₅ differences in the standard lactation period in group 2 by 1.51 ± 0.78 (P = 0.07), in group 3 by 1.09 ± 0.98 (P > 0.05), respectively, were higher than in the control. The variance of MY₃₀₅ results was too high to compare economic losses.

Tucho & Ahmed (2017) indicated that RFM causes considerable economic losses, mainly due to reduced MY and infertility. Furthermore, because there are many different causes of fetal membrane retention, commonly used RFM treatment strategies do not show any significant effects. In principle, management systems must be designed to decrease the occurrence of RFM. This could be achieved by genetic selection, proper feeding during the dry period, and increased activity such as walking (Tucho & Ahmed, 2017).

The dry period is an important phase of a dairy cow's life cycle. During this phase, the cow and its udder are preparing for the next lactation; hence any abnormalities during the dry period will have a negative effect on the cow's health and milk production after parturition. In the present research, data was collected and analysed to understand the effect of the DPL on MY and SCC in subsequent lactations of cows with and without RFM.

In the control group, cows with fetal membranes expelled during 24 h PP, the average DPL was 66 ± 4.84 days (57–101 days), but in cows with RFM, the average DPL was 60 ± 4.38 days. For analysis, the dry period of cows was divided as follows: shortened DPL averaging 30 ± 5.20 days (4–46 days), 20% of cases; traditional or standard DPL averaging 63 ± 1.58 days (47–70 days), 60% of cases; and prolonged DPL averaging 79 ± 4.46 days (71–108 days), 20% of cases. The authors of various articles have defined the dry period of dairy cows differently. No set standard exists, but there are common trends: < 49 days is considered a shortened DP or shorter than the conventional DP; a period of 49–70 days is considered a traditional, standard, or conventional DP (Gulay et al., 2003; Kuhn et al., 2006; Pezeshki et al., 2008; Steeneveld et al., 2013; van Knegsel et al., 2014; Sawa et al., 2015; Hamidreza et al. 2017; O'Hara et al., 2019), and over 70 days is a prolonged DP (Sawa et al., 2015; Hamidreza et al. 2017; O'Hara et al., 2020).

In the present research, the DPL was different between herds (P < 0.05) (Table 5). The first herd had more cows with a prolonged DPL (6 out of 12). In contrast, the second herd had more cows with a shortened DPL (5 out of 18). Therefore, the effects of DPL on MY and SCS were statistically corrected for the herd influence.

	• • • •	• •			
Herd	Shortened DPL	Traditional DPL	Prolonged DPL	Fisher`s exact test	Total
1	n = 1	<i>n</i> = 5	<i>n</i> = 6	P = 0.018	<i>n</i> = 12
2	<i>n</i> = 5	<i>n</i> = 12	n = 1		<i>n</i> = 18
Total	<i>n</i> = 6	<i>n</i> = 17	<i>n</i> = 7		<i>n</i> = 30

Table 5. Evaluating dry period length by a herd

In the present research, the effect of shortened or prolonged DPL on MY₃₀ and SCS₃₀ was compared to the traditional DPL. When comparing shortened DPL with the traditional DPL, the cows with shortened DPL had significantly lower MY by 222.45 \pm 96.05 kg (P < 0.05). In contrast, no differences were found between prolonged DPL and traditional DPL (P > 0.05). O'Hara et al. (2019) mentioned that a 30–day DP might not be long enough for the mammary tissues to adapt to the coming lactation, especially if the DPL is only a few days. Also, in their study, Sawa et al. (2015) indicated that excessively shortened DP in older cows resulted in a daily MY decrease of more than 10% and have a significant effect on udder health during the first 30 days of subsequent lactation. This was confirmed for MY in the present study, but there were not found significant differences in SCS₃₀ between the shortened and traditional DPL (P > 0.05).

Evaluating the effect of shortened or prolonged DPL on MY₁₀₀ and SCS₁₀₀ was compared to the traditional DPL. Cows with the shortened DPL continued to show the same tendency as in the first 30 days PP. Respectively, MY₁₀₀ was 385.69 ± 272.26 kg lower than in cows with traditional DPL (P > 0.05). In cows with prolonged DPL, no significant decrease was observed if compared to a traditional DPL. In their studies, O'Hara et al. (2017) pointed out that milk yield during the first 100 days PP was reduced for the shorter 30-day DP cows compared with 60-day DP cows, but there was no significant difference in total MY. This tendency was also confirmed in the present study that cows with the shortened DP period had a lower MY than those of the traditional DP. Even van Knegsel et al. (2014) emphasised in their research that MY in the first 100 days PP was less in cows with a short or no dry period (P < 0.01) compared to cows with a conventional DP. This was also confirmed by Steeneveld et al. (2013) study. However, all the studies of the previously mentioned authors were performed in clinically healthy cows. In contrast, this study evaluated milk production and milk SCC in cows with RFM. When evaluating present study SCS₁₀₀, no significant differences were observed between cows with different DPL (P > 0.05).

Further evaluating the effect of DPL on MY₃₀₅ and SCC₃₀₅ in the standard lactation, it was concluded that the shortened DPL negative impact on MY₃₀₅ continued. Respectively, MY₃₀₅ in shortened DP was 914.05 \pm 642.56 kg lower than in cows with traditional DPL (P > 0.05). However, no significant decrease was observed in cows with prolonged DPL from cows with traditional DPL (P > 0.05). This is in line with O'Hara et al. (2020) investigations indicating that MY in the 305-days lactation was low if the DP was 30–39 days long, which corresponds to the present research with shortened DPL. However, our research differed concerning the effect of prolonged DPL. Unlike no difference in the present study, O'Hara et al. (2020) found the milk yield in the 80–89 day group was the lowest (P < 0.001). Also, Hamidreza et al. (2017), in their study, described that reducing DPL to less than 45 days had an adverse effect on MY, milk components, and health status. Whereas, Pezeshki et al. (2008) declared that a 28–days DP had no adverse effect on 305–days MY and on the status of multiparous dairy cow health compared with a standard DP (49–days).

When evaluating present study SCS_{305} , neither shortened DPL nor prolonged DPL showed a significant effect (P > 0.05). Van Knegsel et al. (2014) and Steeneveld et al. (2013) indicated that there are no differences in SCC between short and conventional DPL in subsequent lactation, which is also confirmed in the present study. However, Kuhn et al. (2006) indicated that prolonged DPL decreases SCC in the subsequent lactation, which has not been detected in the present study.

CONCLUSION

In the present study, the hypothesis on the effects of the RFM treatment strategies and DPL influence on MY and SCS in cows subsequent lactation was partially confirmed.

No statistically significant differences were observed between the various RFM treatment strategies regarding MY₃₀, MY₁₀₀, and during the standard lactation. Similarly, no significant differences were observed between the various RFM treatment strategies regarding SCS₃₀ and SCS₁₀₀. There was a tendency (P = 0.07) for SCS₃₀₅ to be higher in cows with RFM, where it was removed manually, and the IU antibiotics were applied (group 2). The highest economic losses, calculated from the decrease in MY, were also detected in group 2.

Statistically significantly lower MY was observed in cows with a shortened DPL (P < 0.05) during the first 30 days PP. The DPL did not affect the SCS.

REFERENCES

Annen, E.L., Collie, R.J., McGuire, M.A & Vicini, J.L. 2004. Effect of dry period length on milk yield and mammary epithelial cells. *Journal of Dairy Science* 87, 66–76. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)70062-4

- Bachman, K.C. 2002. Milk production of dairy cows treated with estrogen at the onset of short dry period. *Journal of Dairy Science* 85(4), 797–803. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74138-6
- Bayril, T., Yildiz, A.S., Akdemir, F., Yalcin, C., Köse, M. & Yilmaz, O. 2015. The technical and financial effect of parenteral supplementation with selenium and vitamin E during late pregnancy and the early lactation period on the productivity of dairy cattle. *Asian-Australasian Journal of Animal Sciences* **28**(8), 1133–1139. doi: 10.5713/ajas.14.0960
- Dadpasand, M., Zamiri, M.J. & Atashi, H. 2013. Genetic correlation of average somatic cell score at different stages of lactation with milk yield and composition in Holstein cows. *Iranian Journal of Veterinary Research* 14(3), 190–196. doi:10.22099/IJVR.2013.1680
- DeGraves, F.J. & Fetrow, J. 1993. Economics of mastitis and mastitis control. *Veterinary Clinics* of North American: Food Animal Practice **9**(3), 421–443. doi: 10.1016/s0749-0720(15)30611-3
- Dubuc, J., Duffield, T.F., Leslie, K.E., Walton J.S. & Leblanc, S.J. 2011. Effect of postpartum uterine diseases on milk production and culling in dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* **94**, 1339–1346. doi:10.3168/jds.2010-3758
- Gilbert, R.O. 2014. Retained Fetal Membranes in Cows. https://www.merckvetmanual.com/reproductive-system/retained-fetal-membranes-inlarge-animals/retained-fetal-membranes-in-cows
- Goshen, T. & Shpigel, N.Y. 2006. Evaluation of intrauterine antibiotic treatment of clinical metritis and retained fetal membranes in dairy cows. *Theriogenology* **66**, 2210–2218.
- Grummer, R.R. & Rastani R.R. 2004. Why reevaluate dry period length? *Journal of Dairy Science* **87**, 77–85. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(04)70063-6
- Guard, C. 1999. Retained Placenta: Causes and Treatments. *Advances in Dairy Technology* **11**, 81–86.
- Gulay, M.S., Hayen, M.J., Bachman, K.C., Belloso, T., Liboni, M. & Head, H.H. 2003. Milk production and feed intake of Holstein cows given short (30–d) or normal (60–d) dry periods. *Journal of Dairy Science* **86**(6), 2030–2038. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(03)73792-8
- Gümen, A., Rastani, R.R., Grummer, R.R. & Wiltbank, M.C. 2005. Reduced dry periods and varying prepartum diets alter postpartum ovulation and reproductive measures. *Journal of Dairy Science* **88**, 2401–2411. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(05)72918-0
- Hamidreza, M.A., Ali, S., Kamran, A.P. & Davood, Z. 2017. The effects of dry period length on cow milk yield and milk components in commercial Holstein dairy herds. *Iranian Journal of Animal Science (Iranian Journal of Agricultural Sciences)* **47**(4), 599–608.
- Han, Y.K. & Kim, I.H. 2005. Risk factors for retained placenta and the effect of retained placenta on the occurrence of postpartum diseases and subsequent reproductive performance in dairy cows. *Journal of Veterinary Science* 6(1), 53–59.
- Harmon, R.J 1994. Physiology of mastitis and factors affecting somatic cell counts. *Journal of Dairy Science* **77**(7), 2103–2112. dio:10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(94)77153-8
- Heeren, J.A.H., Steeneveld, W. & Berentsen, P.B.M. 2014. Economic comparison of a sixty day dry period with no dry period on Dutch dairy farms. *Livestock Science* **168**, 149–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.livsci.2014.08.004
- Hillerton, J.E 1999. Redefining mastitis based on somatic cell count. *Bulletin of the International Dairy Federation* **345**, 4–6.
- Kimura, K., Jesse, P., Goff, O., Kehreli, M.E. & Reinhardt, T. 2002. Decreased neutrophil function as a cause of retained placenta in dairy cattle. *Journal of Dairy Science* **85**, 544–550. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(02)74107-6.

- Könyves, L., Szenci, O., Jurkovich, V., Tegzes, L., Tirián, A., Solymosi, N., Gyulay, G. & Brydl, E. 2009. Risk assessment and consequences of retained placenta for uterine health, reproduction and milk yield in dairy cows. ACTA VET. BRNO 78, 163–172. doi: 10.2754/avb200978010163
- Kuhn, M.T., Hutchison, J.L. & Norman, H.D. 2006. Effects of length of dry period on yields of milk fat and protein, fertility and milk somatic cell score in the subsequent lactation of dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Research* 73(2), 154–162. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0022029905001597
- LeBlanc, S. 2007. Prevention of Postpartum Uterine Diseases. WCDS Advances in Dairy Technology 19, 145–155.
- Leso, L., Pellegrini, P. & Barbari, M. 2019. Effect of two housing systems on performance and longevity of dairy cows in Northern Italy. *Agronomy Research* 17(2), 574–581. doi: 10.15159/ar.19.107
- Lusis, I., Antane, V. & Laurs, A. 2010. Efectiveness of somatic cell count determination in the milking robot. *Proceedings of the Engineering for Rural Development*. Latvian University of Life Sciences and Technolgies, Jelgava, Latvia, pp. 112–116.
- Lusis, I., Laurs, A. & Antane, V. 2019. Viscosity method in robot milking system for detection of somatic cell count in milk. *Proceedings of the Engineering for Rural Development*. Latvian University of Life Sciences and Technolgies, Jelgava, Latvia, pp.324–329.
- Maas, J. 2004. Retained Placenta in Beef Cattle. *California cattlemen`s magazine*. UCD VET Views, September 2004, pp. 1–3.
- Madouasse, A., Huxley, J.H., Browne, W.J., Bradley, A.J. & Green, M.J. 2008. Somatic cell count patterns in a large sample of UK dairy herds. In Lam, T.J.G.M. (ed): *Proceedings of international conference Mastitis control: From science to practice*. Wageningen Academic Publishers, Hague, Netherlands, pp. 219–225. doi:10.3920/978-90-8686-649-6
- Melendez, P., Gonzalez, G., Benzaquen, M., Risco, C. & Archbald, L. 2006. The effect of monensin controlled-release capsule on the incidence of retained fetal membranes, milk yield and reproductive responses in Holstein cows. *Theriogenology* **66**, 234–241.
- Mordak, R. 2006. A prototype instrument as an aid in the manual removal of retained placenta in cows. [Electronic version]. *Electronic journal of Polish Agricultural universities*. Veterinary medicine **9**(4), #33.
- O'Hara, A.E., Båge, R., Emanuelson, U. & Holtenius, K. 2019. Effects of dry period length on metabolic status, fertility, udder health, and colostrum production in 2 cow breeds. *Journal of Dairy Science* **102**(1), 595–606. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2018-14873
- O'Hara, A., E., Omazic, A., Olsson, I., Båge, R., Emanuelson, U. & Holtenius, K. 2017. Effects of dry period length on milk production and energy balance in two cow breeds. *Animal* **12**(3), 1–7. doi:10.1017/S1751731117001987
- O'Hara, A.E, Holtenius, K., Båge, R., Brömssen, C. & Emanuelson, U. 2020. An observational study of the dry period length and its relation to milk yield, health, and fertility in two dairy cow breeds. *Preventive Veterinary Medicine* **175**, 104876. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2019.104876
- Opsomer, G. 2015. Metritis and endometritis in high yielding dairy cows. *Rev. Bras. Reprod. Anim., Belo Horizonte*, **39**(1), 164–172.
- Petzer, I.M., Karzis, J., Donkin, E.F., Webb, E.C. & Etter, E.M.C. 2017. Somatic cell count thresholds in composite and quarter milk samples as indicator of bovine intramammary infection status. *Onderstepoort Journal of Veterinary Research* 84(1), a1269. doi: 10.4102/ojvr.v84i1.1269
- Pezeshki, A., Mehrzad, J., Ghorbani, G. R., DeSpiegeleer, B., Collier, R.J. & Burvenich, C. 2008. Effect of dry period length reduction to 28 days on the performance of multiparous dairy cows in the subsequent lactation. *Canadian Journal of Animal Science* 88, 449–456.

- Rastani, R.R., Grummer, R.R., Bertics, S.J., Gümen, A., Wiltbank, M.C., Mashek, D.G. & Schwab, M.C. 2005. Reducing dry period length to simply feeding transition cows: milk production, energy balance, and metabolic profiles. *Journal of Dairy Science* 88(3), 1004–1014. doi: 10.3168/jds.S0022-0302(05)72768-5
- Risco, C.A. & Hernandez, J. 2003. Comparison of ceftiofur hydrochloride and estradiol cypionate for metritis prevention in dairy cows affected with retained fetal membranes. *Theriogenology* **60** (1), 47–58. doi: 10.1016/s0093-691x(02)01299-2
- Sawa, A., Krężel-Czopek, S. & Bogucki, M. 2015. Dry period length as related to milk yield and SCC during the first month of subsequent lactation. *Annals of Animal Science* **15**(1), 155–163. doi: 10.2478/aoas-2014-0051
- Sematovica, I., Ponomarjova, O., Kanska, I., Vanaga, A. & Martinsons, T. 2020. Embryo transfer results in endangered cow breeds in Latvia. *Agronomy Research* **18**(S2), 1472–1478. https://doi.org/10.15159/AR.20.093
- Sheldon, I.M., Lewis, G., LeBlanc, S. & Gilbert, R. 2006. Defining postpartum uterine disease in cattle. *Theriogenology* **65**, 1516–1530. doi: 10.1016/j.theriogenology.2005.08.021
- Sheldon, I.M., Williams, E.J., Miller, A.N.A., Nash, D.M. & Herath, S. 2008. Uterine diseases in cattle after parturition. *The Veterinary Journal* 176, 115–121. doi:10.1016/j.tvjl.2007.12.031
- Steeneveld, W., Schukken, Y.H., van Knegsel, A.T. & Hogeveen, H. 2013. Effect of different dry period lengths on milk production and somatic cell count in subsequent lactations in commercial Dutch dairy herds. *Journal of Dairy Science* **96**, 2988–3001. doi: 10.3168/jds.2012-6297
- Steeneveld, W., van Knegsel, A.T.M., Remmelink, G.J., Kemp, B., Vernooij, J.C.M. & Hogeveen, H. 2014. Cow characteristics and their association with production performance with different dry period lengths. *Journal of Dairy Science* 97, 4922–4931. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2013-7859
- Tucho, T. & Ahmed, W.M. 2017. Economic and Reproductive Impacts of Retained Placenta in Dairy Cows. Journal of Reproduction and Infertility 8(1), 18–27. doi: 10.5829/idosi.jri.2017.18.27
- van Knegsel, A.T.M., Remmelink, G.J., Jorjong, S., Fievez, V. & Kemp, B. 2014. Effect of dry period length and dietary energy source on energy balance, milk yield, and milk composition of dairy cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 97, 1499–1512. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.3168/jds.2013-7391
- van Knegsel, A.T.M., van der Drift, S.G.A., Čermáková, J. & Kemp, B. 2013. Effects of shortening the dry period of dairy cows on milk production, energy balance, health, and fertility: A systematic review. *The Veterinary Journal* **198**(3), 707–713. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvjl.2013.10.005
- Watters, R.D., Wiltbank, M.C., Guenther, J.N., Brickner, A.E., Rastani, R.R., Fricke, P.M. & Grummer, R.R. 2009. Effect of dry period length on reproduction during the subsequent lactation. *Journal of Dairy Science* **92**(7), 3081–3090. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2008-1294

Western Canadian Dairy Herd Improvement Service, DHI Somatic cell count, User Guide, 1–17.

Zobel, R. & Tkalčić, S. 2013. Efficacy of ozone and other treatment modalities for retained placenta in dairy cows. *Reproduction in Domestic Animals* **48** (1), 121–125. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0531.2012.02041.x

Characterization of different wood species as potential feedstocks for gasification

M. Sulg^{*}, A. Konist and O. Järvik

Tallinn University of Technology, Department of Energy Technology, Ehitajate tee 5, UU19086 Tallinn, Estonia *Correspondence: mari.sulg@taltech.ee

Received: August 26th, 2020; Accepted: January 12th, 2021; Published: January 18th, 2021

Abstract. This paper provides an extended overview of the chemical characteristics of 19 different wood species originating from Estonia. The variation of chemical composition in wood and bark was investigated using a variety of analytical techniques including WD-XRF, ICP-MS, and elemental analysis. Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to observe clustering in the sample set. It revealed a clear data clustering in terms of the wood and bark samples. Wood characteristics exhibit quite narrow ranges, on the other hand the composition of wood bark samples is significantly different and more distributed. The correlations and associations among 27 chemical parameters, including 16 ash-forming elements, were studied. Several significant positive correlations between Cr-Ni-Fe, Ca-Sr, Al-Na-Si-Ti, K-Mg-P, Fe-Zn-Cr-Ni-Cu, Ash-Ca, N-S-P and O-volatile matter were found. Most of the metallic components are negatively correlated with volatile matter, C, H, O and heating value and are positively related to each other, or no significant correlation was identified. Results are compared to literature data and technical quality standards for biomass. Biomass feedstocks availability and composition for gasification process was discussed. Wood samples had higher volatiles content than in bark which is an indication that higher conversion rate and lower gasification temperature can be used. Spruce, pine and black alder barks have higher fixed carbon content than other common species that may increase biochar yield. Commonly available woods like Scots pine, Norway spruce, aspen, birch, black alder and grey alder may considered as suitable feedstocks for gasification because of their low N, S, Cl, and ash content together with high volatile matter, however, relatively high total heavy metals content were found from birch and grey alder barks compared to other hardwoods.

Key words: biomass, biomass ash, chemical composition.

INTRODUCTION

In order to reduce the share of oil shale in the Estonian energy sector, renewable fuels like woody biomass are increasingly becoming a prospective alternative to produce energy and reduce environmental impacts like greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and the amount of ash in landfills (Konist et al., 2013). Moreover, renewable energy directive sets targets for EU Member States to raise the share of renewable sources to at least 32% by 2030 (Official Journal of the European Union, 2009; Amanatidis, 2019). There is a huge perspective for increasing natural biomass use and for co-gasification with solid

fossil fuels in the energy sector (Vassilev et al., 2013). Via gasification, biomass can be converted to synthesis gas (syngas) which is a platform for heat and power production and an intermediate to produce chemicals. The co-gasification of many biomass/coal combinations were investigated by Koppejan & van Loo (2016), Thengane et al. (2019), Ma et al. (2019), Mallick et al. (2020). For Estonian, biomass co-combustion with oil shale would be a great alternative and offers near-term solutions to cut down CO_2 emissions.

Biomass is considered a highly reactive fuel (Koppejan & van Loo, 2016) and is easy to ignite at relatively low temperatures (García et al., 2012), however in industrial plants fuel feeding requires special measures (Caillat & Vakkilainen, 2013). From previous work of our research group (Maaten et al., 2019), biomass co-combustion with oil shale was found to be technologically promising. However, the characteristics of woody biomass and the possible effects of its composition on gasification were not included in the previous work.

Biomass composition is highly variable and depends on many factors, like the type of biomass, plant species and part of the plant; growth, transport and deposition conditions; geographic location; harvesting time and technique; pick-up of extraneous material (dust, dirt, soil) etc (Vassilev et al., 2010). A lot of different data about biomass composition are available, especially about major species in Nordic countries (Eriksson et al., 2004; Antero, 2006; Werkelin et al., 2010, 2011; Pesonen et al., 2014), but there is a lack of information involving Estonian biomass characteristics that may influence thermochemical biomass conversion processes like gasification. In order to estimate the Estonian renewable energy potential, it is necessary to investigate and map biomass characteristics that are related to regional biomass including all major species in Estonia. Furthermore, the present work includes also trace elements in local wood species which is important because Estonia is one of the major wood pellets exporters (Kaup, 2018).

A direct link exists between the chemical composition of biomass and the gas obtained by gasification. For example, the calorific value of syngas depends on the heating value and moisture content of the fuel (Kirsanovs & Žandeckis, 2015). Gil et al. (2019) statistically analysed biomass properties that influence gasification and found that carbon and hydrogen contents and the heating value of the biomass promote gas production. Also, important constituents that should be considered in gasifier selection are silica, chlorine, sulphur and alkali metals, which can cause slagging, fouling, hazardous emissions and high-temperature corrosion.

The gasification process is strongly influenced or controlled by the catalyst, which leads to high selectivity towards desired products. Catalysts can be expensive and rapidly deactivated when in direct contact with biomass, and therefore, are not in common use in industrial biorefineries. Using biomass with a suitable mineral composition that acts as a catalyst may improve the syngas composition. It is reported that alkali and alkaline earth metals are the best catalysts for promoting char gasification (Nzihou et al., 2013). K and Ca in feedstocks may exhibit a catalytic effect, enhancing the char gasification reactivity and leading to a higher carbon conversion rate. Early work on the importance of alkali catalysts was done by Elliott et al. (1984), who claimed the optimum concentration of catalyst to be $3 \times 10^{-4} - 1.5 \times 10^{-3}$ mol of alkali per gram of biomass. Sueyasu et al. (2012) soaked feed biomass in a K solution before gasification to minimize tar emissions. Also, transition metals can participate as catalysts: Fe accelerates gasification and Ni prevents carbon deposition, which helps in conditioning biomass-derived syngas. Many studies have reported Ca to be a promising catalyst for increasing the gasification

rate of the char (Nzihou et al., 2013; Perander et al., 2015; Link et al., 2018). On the other hand, high alkali contents are considered a serious problem in biomass gasification due to contamination of equipment and increase maintenance costs (Ren et al., 2019).

The aim of this study was to analyse different types of wood species harvested from Estonia and analyse their suitability as gasification feedstock based on their characteristics and chemical composition. The selection of wood species was based on the principle that all dominant species harvested in Estonia should be covered in this study. Dominant wood species in Estonia are Scots pine (36%), silver birch (25.6%), Norway spruce (19.7%), aspen (7.0%), grey alder (6.8%) and black alder (3.8%) (Raudsaar et al., 2018). Additional tree species like common laburnum, hawthorn, European crab apple, blackthorn, common lilac, European ash, Norway maple, common plum, rowan, white willow, bird cherry, wych elm and common juniper were also selected for the current study. These generally have a small volume (1.2%) of the total growing stock compared to the dominant species. However, the wider selection of wood species gives a more detailed overview of biofuel characteristics and their relationships.

It is known that physicochemical properties of bark and wood differ (Olanders & Steenari, 1995; Frandsen et al., 2007; Vassilev et al., 2010; Werkelin et al., 2010; Johansson et al., 2016; Koppejan & van Loo, 2016); therefore, a comparison between bark and wood was made. Most studies have focused only on common wood species or analysed whole tree parts that contains both wood and bark and limited information on the separate components. Wood species were characterized by proximate and ultimate analysis, like ash content, heating value, volatile matter, C, H, N, S, Cl content and concentration of microelements/trace components. The data were compared to literature sources where possible. The results are compared with the data of Technical Specification (ISO 17225), which defines the biomass requirements and typical values and ranges for coniferous and broad-leaf wood and bark (results are obtained from a combination of research from Sweden, Finland, Denmark, Netherland and Germany). This study enhances our understanding of biomass composition as feedstock for gasification and will be beneficial to developing energy efficient processes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

In total, 19 different wood species were investigated. These include 16 broad-leaf species: common laburnum (*Laburnum Anagyroides*), hawthorn (*Crataegus*), European crab apple (*Malus sylvestris*), blackthorn (*Prunus spinosa*), common lilac (*Syringa vulgaris*), European ash (*Fraxinus excelsior*), Norway maple (*Acer platanoides*), common plum (*Prunus domestica*), rowan (*Sorbus aucuparia*), white willow (*Salix alba*), bird cherry (*Prunus padus*), wych elm (*Ulmus glabra*), grey alder (*Alnus incana*), silver birch (*Betula pendula*), aspen (*Populus tremula*), black alder (*Alnus glutinosa*). 3 coniferous wood species were also included: common juniper (*Juniperus communis*), Scots pine (*Pinus Sylvestris*), Norway spruce (*Picea abies*). Samples originated from northern and southern Estonia in order to represent a wider population of tree species.

Wood samples were provided as air-dried logs. Wood and bark were separated mechanically before further analyses. The wood and bark ratios were determined gravimetrically after drying. Samples were grinded with a cutting mill and homogenized according to ISO 14780 solid biofuel sample preparation standard.

Wood samples were dried at 105 °C to a constant weight (ISO 18134-3). Ash content was determined at 550 °C (ISO 18122). Volatile matter was determined by burning the sample in a muffle furnace at 900 °C, following the procedure described in ISO 18123. Fixed carbon is the mass remaining after volatilization, excluding ash and moisture component. It can be calculated as subtracting from 100% the sum of the volatile matter and ash in percentage (Telmo et al., 2010).

Gross calorific value at constant volume $(q_{V,gr})$ was measured with IKA C2000 and IKA C5000 bomb calorimeters (ISO 18125). Gross calorific value on a dry basis $(q_{V,gr,d})$ includes the condensation enthalpy of water. Net calorific value, also called the lower heating value $(q_{p,net,d})$, is obtained when the condensation enthalpy of water is not included.

A Vario MACRO CHNS Elementar Analyser System was used to measure the C, H and N contents of the dry matter (ISO 16948). Oxygen content was calculated from the C, H, N, S, Cl and ash. Cl and S contents were measured with a Dionex 1000 ion chromatograph (ISO 16994). A Rigaku WD-XRF and Thermo Scientific iCAP Qc ICP-MS were used to determine ash forming elements and trace components in the biomass (ISO/TS 16996, ISO 16968).

Analysis results are presented according to the requirements of ISO standards. Uncertainties for every method is determined by the Nordtest (Magnusson et al., 2017) or ISO GUM method (Joint Committee For Guides In Metrology, 2008) or the relative standard deviation is given. Uncertainty estimations according to (a) the Nordtest approach (Uc, k = 2): HV – 3.9%; Ash – 43.0%; S – 3.2%, Cl – 4.2%, Volatiles – 4.6%; C – 1.10%; H – 4.1%; N – 19.1%; Mg – 9.4%; Fe – 9,1%; Mn – 5.4%; Zn – 11.4%; Cr – 14.8%; Ni – 16.4%; Sr – 6.6%; Ti – 11.3%; Cu – 7.4%; Pb – 8.1%; K – 19.8%; Na – 75.5% (b) ISO GUM approach (Uc, k = 2): O – 3.0%, FC – 27.7% and (c) RSD (rel%): Ca – 1.1%; Al – 29.2%; P – 2.2%; Si – 14.8%.

PCA was carried out with the aim of highlighting possible clusters of wood types characterized by similar properties. PCA is a chemometric technique for analysing the structure of the observations (wood and bark samples) and the variables (proximate, ultimate and trace metal analyses). PCA finds lines, planes and hyperplanes in the K-dimensional space that approximate the data as well as possible (Jackson, 1991; Jollife & Cadima, 2016). PCA was conducted via XLSTAT Statistical Software for MS Excel.

Chemical correlations between variables were determined in order to understand some of the fundamental relationships and trends. Data from the analysed woody biomass were subjected to the Pearson's correlation test (Plata, 2006) to calculate correlation coefficient values between 26 characteristics. The calculated correlation coefficient values include the statistically significant as well as statistically insignificant R^2 relationships, at a 95% confidence level.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Proximate, ultimate analysis and heating value results are presented in Table 1. Minor and trace elements are shown in Table 2. Overall, 26 different parameters were measured for every sample. For better understanding, results are grouped as common and all wood species. Scots pine, silver birch, Norway spruce, aspen, grey alder and black alder are largely the most available resource in Estonia (Raudsaar et al., 2018), and therefore, some special attention is given to them.

Table 1. Proximate and ultimate analysis and heating value of different wood species. Literature data is included and refer to the wood type in the row above. (A – ash; VM – volatile matter; FC – fixed carbon; C – carbon; H – hydrogen; N – nitrogen; S – sulfur; O – oxygen; Cl – chlorine; HHV – higher heating value; LHV – lower heating value, wt% db – weight percent of dry basis)

Es e dete ele	Content of	Proxim	ate analys	sis	Ultima	te analysi	s				Heating	y value
Feedstock	wood or bark	, (wt% d	b)		(wt% d	b)					(MJ kg ⁻¹)	
wood	%	A	VM	FC	C	Н	Ν	S	0	Cl	HHV	LHV
1. Broad-leaf wood (BLW)												
Aspen	87.2	0.4	87.0	12.6	50.2	6.2	0.1	0.01	43.1	< 0.01	20.07	18.72
Pesonen et al. (2014)		0.8			47.8	5.9	-				20.04	18.76
Bird cherry	90.1	0.5	86.4	13.1	48.1	6.5	0.1	< 0.01	44.8	0.01	19.11	17.69
Black alder	86.9	0.4	86.1	13.5	50.6	6.2	0.2	0.03	41.8	< 0.01	19.79	18.45
Blackthorn	81.9	0.6	84.4	15.0	48.4	6.3	0.2	< 0.01	44.5	0.01	19.24	17.86
Common laburnum	90.1	0.5	81.2	18.3	47.8	6.6	0.3	0.07	44.6	0.02	19.59	18.15
Common lilac	89.4	0.5	85.0	14.5	48.7	6.5	0.2	< 0.01	44.2	0.01	19.55	18.14
Common plum	57.9	0.5	83.2	16.3	49.5	6.4	0.2	< 0.01	43.4	0.01	19.65	18.26
European ash	94.9	0.4	84.9	14.7	49.1	6.5	0.1	< 0.01	43.8	0.01	19.44	18.03
European crab apple	96.3	0.8	83.5	15.8	47.0	6.5	0.1	0.02	45.6	0.01	19.22	17.81
Grey alder	90.8	0.4	85.7	13.9	49.9	6.6	0.2	< 0.01	43.0	< 0.01	19.95	18.52
Pesonen et al. (2014)		0.33			48.5	6.1	0.2				20.44	19.11
Hawthorn	92.9	1.6	81.6	16.8	48.1	6.5	0.2	0.05	43.6	0.01	19.82	18.40
Norway maple	92.7	0.6	86.2	13.3	48.7	6.5	0.1	< 0.01	44.1	0.01	19.36	17.95
Rowan	92.4	0.8	85.0	14.2	48.5	6.5	0.1	< 0.01	44.1	< 0.01	19.07	17.65
Silver birch	87.3	0.3	86.9	12.8	49.3	6.6	0.1	< 0.01	43.7	0.01	19.94	18.10
Pesonen et al. (2014)		0.4			48.2	6.1	-				19.80	18.46
White willow	92.7	0.5	85.2	14.3	48.4	6.5	0.1	< 0.01	44.5	< 0.01	19.72	18.31
Wych elm	89.8	1.8	79.9	18.4	49.6	6.5	0.2	< 0.01	42.1	0.01	19.69	18.29
Common BLW												
Mean	88.0	0.4	86.4	13.2	50.0	6.4	0.2	0.02	43.1	< 0.01	19.94	18.45
Minimum	86.9	0.3	85.7	12.6	49.3	6.2	0.1	0.01	42.6	< 0.01	19.79	18.10
Maximum	90.8	0.4	87.0	13.9	50.6	6.6	0.2	0.03	43.7	0.01	20.07	18.72
All BLW												
Mean	87.8	0.7	84.5	14.8	48.9	6.5	0.2	0.01	43.9	0.01	19.58	18.15
Minimum	57.9	0.3	79.9	12.6	47.0	6.2	0.1	0.01	42.1	< 0.01	19.07	17.65
Maximum	96.3	1.8	87.0	18.4	50.6	6.6	0.3	0.03	45.6	0.01	20.07	18.72

Table 1 (continued)

	Content of	Proxin	nate analy	rsis	Ultima		Heating value					
Feedstock	wood or bark	, (wt% c	lb)		(wt% c	lb)					(MJ kg	-1)
	%	A	VM	FC	C	Н	Ν	S	0	Cl	HHV	LHV
2. Coniferous wood (CW)												
Common juniper	86.2	1.2	82.3	16.6	48.8	6.8	0.2	< 0.01	43.1	0.01	20.65	19.16
Norway spruce	92.2	0.3	85.5	14.2	50.3	6.6	0.1	< 0.01	42.7	0.01	19.79	18.35
Scots pine	89.3	0.3	85.2	14.5	50.1	6.6	0.2	< 0.01	42.8	0.01	20.04	18.61
Mason et al. (2015)		2.0	82.5	17.5	47.4	5.3	1.3		45.9		18.6	
Common CW												
Mean	90.7	0.3	85.4	14.3	50.2	6.6	0.1	0.01	42.7	0.01	19.92	18.48
All CW												
Mean	89.2	0.6	84.3	15.1	49.8	6.7	0.1	0.01	42.8	0.01	20.16	18.71
Minimum	86.2	0.3	82.3	14.2	48.8	6.6	0.1	0.01	42.7	0.01	19.79	18.35
Maximum	92.2	1.2	85.5	16.6	50.3	6.8	0.2	0.01	43.1	0.01	20.65	19.16
Bark												
Broad-leaf wood (BLW)												
Aspen	12.9	3.5	79.8	16.7	53.4	6.4	0.9	0.07	35.8	< 0.01	21.37	19.99
Bird cherry	9.9	4.9	72.8	22.4	48.6	5.9	1.0	0.06	39.7	0.01	19.36	18.07
Black alder	13.1	3.2	71.3	25.5	55.1	5.9	1.3	0.05	34.4	0.02	21,97	20,69
Blackthorn	18.2	6.8	76.3	16.9	52.6	6.7	0.9	0.06	33.0	0.03	22.77	21.32
Common laburnum	9.9	2.7	77.0	20.3	49.2	6.4	2.5	0.10	39.0	0.02	21.02	19.62
Common lilac	10.6	3.2	76.3	20.5	48.6	6.1	0.9	0.07	41.1	0.01	19.85	18.52
Common plum	42.1	5.9	67.5	26.6	48.6	5.5	1.0	0.05	38.9	0.01	19.58	18.37
European ash	5.1	9.3	74.8	15.9	45.0	5.5	0.6	0.06	39.6	0.01	17.86	16.66
Zajac et al. (2018)		9.14										
European crab apple	3.7	16.9	69.2	13.9	44.1	5.2	1.0	0.07	32.8	0.01	16.47	15.34
Grey alder	9.2	2.7	74.0	23.4	53.5	6.5	1.1	0.05	36.2	< 0.01	22.27	20.86
Hawthorn	7.1	13.7	68.8	17.5	47.9	5.7	0.9	0.11	31.6	0.03	19.46	18.22
Norway maple	7.3	10.4	74.0	15.6	43.9	5.5	0.8	0.03	39.4	0.01	17.14	15.94
Bryers, (1996)		4	76.6	19.4	52	6.2	0.4	0.11	41.3			
Rowan	7.6	4.1	77.9	18.0	49.4	6.5	0.6	0.04	39.4	0.01	20.63	19.22

Table 1 (continued)

	Content of	Proximate analysis			Ultimate analysis						Heating	value
Feedstock	wood or bark,	(wt% d	b)		(wt% dł)					(MJ kg ⁻¹)
	%	А	VM	FC	С	Н	Ν	S	0	Cl	HHV	LHV
Silver birch	12.7	1.4	80.1	18.5	56.3	7.0	0.4	0.02	34.8	0.02	24.18	22.66
Bryers, (1996)		2.1	78.5	19.4	57.0	6.7	0.5	0.10	35.7			
White willow	7.3	9.0	69.6	21.4	45.8	5.4	0.6	0.08	39.1	0.01	18.48	17.30
Wych elm	10.2	13.4	72.0	14.6	44.8	5.5	0.9	0.07	35.4	0.01	17.31	16.12
Bryers, (1996)		8.1	73.1	18.8	50.9	5.8	0.7	0.11	42.5			
Common BLW												
Mean	12.0	2.7	76.3	21.0	54.6	6.4	0.9	0.05	35.3	0.01	22.45	21.05
Minimum	9.2	1.8	71.3	16.7	53.4	5.9	0.4	0.02	34.4	< 0.01	21.37	19.99
Maximum	13.1	3.5	80.1	25.5	56.3	7.0	1.3	0.07	36.3	0.02	24.18	22.66
All BLW												
Mean	11.5	6.8	73.5	19.8	49.3	6.0	0.9	0.06	37.0	0.01	19.97	18.68
Minimum	3.7	1.4	67.5	13.9	43.9	5.2	0.4	0.02	31.7	< 0.01	16.47	15.34
Maximum	42.1	16.9	80.1	26.6	56.3	7.0	2.5	0.11	41.2	0.03	24.18	22.66
Coniferous wood (CW)												
Common juniper	13.8	7.2	73.0	19.8	49.2	6.0	0.6	0.07	37.0	0.03	19.66	18.35
Norway spruce	7.9	7.9	71.1	21.0	48.4	5.6	0.6	0.02	37.6	0.01	18.72	17.50
Frandsen et al. (2007)		4.9			49.9	5.8	0.5	0.04		0.02		
Antero (2006)		2.3	77	23	51.1	6	0.4	0.03			20.3	19.0
Brunner et al. (2013)		4.8			49.8	5.7	0.34	0.03	40.8	0.01		
Scots pine	10.7	3.1	70.1	26.9	52.8	6.1	1.2	0.05	36.9	0.01	21.40	20.08
Jerzak, (2020)		1.56	67.98		55.95	5.29	0.05	0.03	37.03	0.012		
Antero (2006)		2.3	74.3	25.7	53.4	5.8	0.4	0.03			21.3	20.0
Vassilev et al. (2010)		1.9	73.7	24.4	53.8	5.9	0.3	0.07	39.9	0.01		
Common CW												
Mean	9.3	5.5	70.6	24.0	50.6	5.8	0.9	0.04	37.2	0.01	20.06	18.79
All CW												
Mean	10.8	6.0	71.4	22.6	50.1	5.9	0.8	0.05	37.2	0.01	19.93	18.64
Minimum	7.9	3.1	70.1	19.8	48.4	5.6	0.6	0.03	36.9	0.01	18.72	17.50
Maximum	13.8	7.9	73.0	26.9	52.8	6.1	1.2	0.07	37.6	0.03	21.40	20.08

 Table 2. Minor and trace elements (ppm, db)

Feedstock	Al	K	Na	Ca	Si	Mg	Fe	Р	Mn	Zn	Cr	Ni	Sr	Ti	Cu	Pb
Wood																
Broad-leaf wood (BLW	V)															
Aspen	51	479	20	890	51	648	47	100	3	6	-	0.2	2.3	-	0.9	< 0.1
Werkelin et al. (2010)	6	1,370	15	998	63	286	5		49							
Bird cherry	22	547	17	1,482	68	280	46	98	9	5	1.5	0.2	2.3	2.7	0.4	0.1
Black alder	17	354	6	1,171	35	354	43	104	10	6	-	0.1	2.9	-	1.5	-
Blackthorn	23	779	29	1,920	55	415	40	96	1	2	1.1	0.1	7.6	0.5	0.4	-
Common laburnum	29	766	32	1,146	95	338	41	139	2	3	0.4	0.1	4.8	-	0.6	-
Common lilac	24	693	34	1,127	61	388	41	194	2	15	0.1	-	3.3	-	0.1	-
Common plum	23	699	31	1,060	66	297	43	143	1	3	0.2	0.1	3.4	1.9	1.8	-
European ash	17	597	114	891	46	360	40	81	0.2	2	0.1	0.4	3.0	-	1.5	-
European crab apple	29	869	41	2,551	58	365	42	124	1	5	0.2	0.1	10.1	2.4	0.8	-
Grey alder	19	496	12	1,091	35	268	41	137	8	8	0.4	0.1	2.2	-	0.9	0.3
Hawthorn	40	1,124	232	5,522	100	394	45	372	2	12	0.5	0.2	6.9	0.9	2.9	-
Norway maple	20	769	22	1,316	48	417	40	162	13	2	0.2	0.2	1.4	0.1	0.4	-
Rowan	17	1,093	40	1,692	38	513	41	79	114	7	1.3	1.0	3.1	1.1	0.4	0.4
Silver birch	14	473	12	1,036	21	421	39	51	44	14	0.3	0.3	2.5	2.1	0.2	0.5
Werkelin et al. (2010)	2	315	4	636	77	92	6		102							
White willow	28	1,192	31	975	51	333	43	288	2	17	0.1	0.1	2.2	2.4	1.0	-
Wych elm	21	4,847	47	3,371	175	391	43	172	1	2	0.2	0.0	10.4	0.3	2.0	-
Common BLW																
Mean	25	451	13	1,047	36	423	43	98	16	8	0.2	0.2	2.5	0.5	0.9	0.2
Minimum	14	354	6	890	21	268	39	51	3	6	0.0	0.1	2.2	0.0	0.2	0.0
Maximum	51	496	20	1,171	51	648	47	137	44	14	0.4	0.3	2.9	2.1	1.5	0.5
All BLW																
Mean	25	986	45	1,703	63	386	42	146	13	7	0.4	0.2	4.3	0.9	1.0	0.1
Minimum	14	354	6	890	21	268	39	51	0	2	0.0	0.0	1.4	0.0	0.1	0.0
Maximum	51	4,847	232	5,522	175	648	47	372	114	17	1.5	1.0	10.4	2.7	2.9	0.5

Feedstock	Al	K	Na	Ca	Si	Mg	Fe	Р	Mn	Zn	Cr	Ni	Sr	Ti	Cu	Pb
Coniferous wood (CW)																
Common juniper	30	591	43	5,817	49	371	42	181	5	5	0.4	0.2	3.0	1.7	0.9	-
Norway spruce	14	246	13	1,118	26	233	38	17	11	5	0.3	0.2	8.9	1.2	0.3	1.4
Werkelin et al. (2010)	3	235	7	752	93	99	5		100							
Scots pine	16	530	16	718	28	241	41	103	6	6	0.3	0.1	1.4	-	1.0	0.1
Werkelin et al. (2010)	4	407	15	641	123	189	8		81							
Common CW																
Mean	15	388	15	918	27	237	40	60	9	5	0.3	0.1	5.2	0.6	0.7	0.7
All CW																
Mean	20	456	24	2,551	34	282	40	100	7	5	0.3	0.2	4.5	1.0	0.7	0.5
Minimum	14	246	13	718	26	233	38	17	5	5	0.3	0.1	1.4	0.0	0.3	0.0
Maximum	30	591	43	5,817	49	371	42	181	11	6	0.4	0.2	8.9	1.7	1.0	1.4
Bark																
Broad-leaf wood (BLW)															
Aspen	70	4,727	86	9,527	164	1,618	55	812	25	123	-	0.1	14.1	0.3	2.1	-
Bird cherry	316	1,787	142	22,762	616	645	391	589	215	108	254.7	128.5	27.8	14.5	36.3	3.5
Blackthorn	84	1,959	125	26,708	222	1,268	65	615	11	13	1.4	0.9	87.4	3.5	6.2	0.2
Black alder	85	122	66	13,191	255	470	60	195	75	27	1.0	0.5	26.8	1.6	9.5	1.2
Common laburnum	154	5,468	73	6,479	431	1,451	115	1381	11	52	3.7	0.8	22.1	6.0	3.9	0.4
Common lilac	209	3,972	197	10,259	659	1,154	167	757	21	119	1.5	37.6	24.0	9.2	3.4	0.6
Common plum	209	2,968	120	29,078	492	934	261	490	18	38	78.7	44.6	66.3	14.5	20.8	1.2
European ash	605	1,503	359	34,067	2,930	962	1377	300	103	960	407	236.7	64.1	37.5	41.6	2.7
European crab apple	393	4,039	297	63,910	1,379	1,434	125	985	28	135	9.9	1.7	189.6	31.6	6.7	1.8
Grey alder	393	1,414	63	8,715	247	476	494	404	62	109	191.7	92.3	14.3	7.1	26.7	4.5
Hawthorn	2,810	2,432	1,204	38,453	9,487	946	581	777	61	139	8.2	2.0	48.4	160	14.8	4.6
Norway maple	343	3,817	181	43,797	3,068	1,198	154	619	233	99	3.3	1.9	29.3	9.4	6.1	0.8
Rowan	117	3,131	123	15,863	345	1,246	120	505	833	139	6.9	2.7	21.7	2.8	9.6	0.8
Silver birch	102	606	38	4,489	163	703	184	195	201	157	59.9	31.0	10.5	2.4	5.2	0.4

Table 2 (continued)

Feedstock	Al	Κ	Na	Ca	Si	Mg	Fe	Р	Mn	Zn	Cr	Ni	Sr	Ti	Cu	Pb
Werkelin et al. (2010)	19	1,710	14	7,860	114	323	24		534							
White willow	146	5,741	289	33,966	910	1,481	71	800	16	332	0.3	0.2	24.2	2.6	4.6	0.1
Wych elm	153	5,067	149	49,587	4,140	1,102	73	870	11	13	1.8	1.2	138.3	8.7	8.6	0.6
Common BLW																
Mean	163	1,717	63	8,981	207	817	198	402	91	104	84.2	31.0	16.4	2.9	10.8	1.5
Minimum	70	122	38	4,489	163	470	55	195	25	27	1.0	0.1	10.5	0.3	2.1	0.0
Maximum	393	4,727	86	13,191	255	1,618	494	812	201	157	191.7	92.3	26.8	7.1	26.7	4.5
All BLW																
Mean	356	2,800	207	25,421	1,416	995	250	598	116	152	70.7	37.9	54.1	17.7	12.6	1.4
Minimum	70	122	38	4,489	163	470	55	195	11	13	0.3	0.1	10.5	0.3	2.1	0.0
Maximum	2,810	5,741	1,204	63,910	9,487	1,618	1,377	1,381	833	960	407.2	236.7	189.6	160	41.6	4.6
Coniferous wood (CW)																
Common juniper	405	1,574	302	27,033	1,094	566	151	424	41	39	5.3	1.2	15.4	18.5	4.0	3.1
Norway spruce	79	786	86	32,175	193	795	114	333	193	231	98.5	45.3	188.9	2.8	14.3	0.7
Frandsen et al. (2007)	616	2,493	103	13,196	3,866	781	377	361	428							
Werkelin et al. (2011)	98	2,030	26	8,350	171	865	39	452	714							
Antero (2006)		3,003	89													
Brunner et al. (2013)		1,825	79	13,450	1,810	822		338		85						
Scots pine	87	2,095	29	12,947	102	459	186	310	48	50	138.2	91.4	15.7	3.5	14.4	0.2
Ragland et al. (1991)	2,149	1,333	280	5,282	5,278	1,137	609									
Werkelin et al. (2010)	908	3,180	22	6,350	60	874	52		343							
Common CW																
Mean	83	1,441	58	22,561	148	627	150	322	120	141	118.4	68.3	102.3	3.2	14.3	0.4
All CW																
Mean	190	1,485	139	24,052	463	607	150	356	94	107	80.7	45.9	73.3	8.3	10.9	1.3
Minimum	79	786	29	12,947	102	459	114	310	41	39	5.3	1.2	15.4	2.8	4.0	0.2
Maximum	405	2,095	302	32,175	1,094	795	186	424	193	231	138.2	91.4	188.9	18.5	14.4	3.1

It is noticeable that in most of the species bark is less than 10% of the overall stem wood (Table 1). However, there are some exceptions like common plum where the bark ratio reached over 42%. This result may be explained by the factors that affect bark thickness: wood species, the age and growing conditions (Sonmez et al., 2007; Koman & Feher 2015). It should be considered that wood chips are generally produced from whole trees; therefore, the prominent component is wood and bark makes only a small contribution to the average. However, bark is a main source of ash, different extractives and elements that may affect the biomass gasification process and need careful consideration.

Ash yield

Ash content is an important quality parameter of biomass. A high content of ash is undesirable in most conversion processes as it causes problems related to utilization and process design, reduces the heating value (Elbersen et al., 2017) and affects dust emission (Koppejan & van Loo, 2016). Biomass with an ash content over 10% is considered to have a high risk of slag formation (Ren et al., 2019). However, there is no evidence that the ash content in a gasification process directly influences gas composition, although ash can cause a variety of problems like slagging, which is influenced by the presence of alkaline metals in biomass.

Results show that the wood part of most of the species has a relatively low ash content ranging between 0.3 to 1.8%. Only hawthorn and wych elm have a higher ash content, 1.56% and 1.75%, respectively, compared to typical broad-leaf wood values (0.2-1.0%). The ash content of pine and spruce (0.2-0.3%) matches standardized values of 0.1-1.0% according to ISO 17225. However, common juniper has a higher ash content than other softwoods. Mason et al. (2015) report much higher ash values for pine and willow, 1.9% and 2.0%, respectively. On the other hand, the alder ash content is similar to that from Pesonen et al. (2014). It is stated that the ash content in untreated wood of different species is 0.1% to 0.6% and in bark 3% to 5% (Ragland et al., 1991), but it can reach up to 20% for some biomasses (Caillat & Vakkilainen, 2013). In gasification mostly a mixture of bark and wood is used; therefore, ash content is primary dependent on the bark content of the feedstock. Results show that broad-leaf trees have higher ash contents that coniferous wood, which is similar to earlier findings (Alakangas et al., 2016).

The ash content of bark (1.4-16.9%) was significantly higher than that of stem wood (0.3-1.8%). Silver birch, alder and common laburnum have the lowest ash contents in the bark: 1.4%, 2.7% and 2.7%, respectively. These values lie between the typical broad-leaf wood bark ash content values of 0.8-3.0% according to ISO 17225. The bark ash content of birch and European ash, 1.4 and 9.3%, respectively, are similar to the values of 2.1% (Bryers, 1996) and 9.14% (Zając et al., 2018) reported in previous studies. However, most of the analysed Estonian hardwood barks have higher ash values than typical hardwood. The wood species with the highest bark ash content are European apple tree 16.9%, hawthorn 13.7%, wych elm 13.4% and Norway maple 10.4%. High ash content may be due to mossy bark. Contaminants from soil can lead to severe problems like fouling and slagging (Caillat & Vakkilainen, 2013). The ash content of 3.1% for pine bark was within the typical range of values for softwood bark (< 1.0–3.0%) and comparable to the value reported by Antero (2006) (2.3%). Norway spruce and common juniper have higher ash contents of 7.9 and 7.2%, respectively.

A high ash content is normally undesirable since it complicates the operational process. Moreover, it is stated that higher ash content promotes the growth of CO and H_2 concentration in the syngas and the decrease of CH₄ content (Kirsanovs & Žandeckis, 2015). On the other hand, it is possible to use biomass with a suitable ash composition that may act as a natural catalyst for char gasification and tar removal. Therefore, ash yield alone is not a sufficient parameter for estimating the suitability of different woody samples. The chemical composition, especially alkali and alkali-earth metals concentrations, should additionally be considered (discussed in the following paragraphs).

Heating value

Heating value (HV) is an expression of the energy content released when burnt in air (McKendry, 2002). HV is not highly variable from one tree species to another (Table 1). The HHV of wood lays between 19.07 and 20.65 MJ kg⁻¹. These results are similar to earlier findings, where no significant differences in HVs of different wood species and barks were found (Pesonen et al., 2014). On contrary, HHV of bark is much more distributed and values range between 16.47 and 24.18 MJ kg⁻¹. Moreover, silver birch bark has the highest HV of 24.18 MJ kg⁻¹ exceeding a typical hardwood bark HV of 20.0 MJ kg⁻¹ (according to ISO 17225). This result may be explained by the fact that birch bark is rich in extractives and suberin (Pinto et al., 2009) that may contribute to higher HV. Also, it is reported that lignin content has strong positive correlation to HV (Demirbas, 2001). However, Pesonen et al. (2014) states that the HV of silver birch wood HV is much lower, 18.46 MJ kg⁻¹, but aspen and alder have very similar results to current results. The lowest HV determined was for European crab apple bark, 16.47 MJ kg⁻¹, where a negative correlation is seen between ash content (16.91%) and HV. The HV of the pine bark analysed is similar to those reported by Antero (2006), McKendry (2002) and Phyllis2 Database. In contrast, spruce bark has a lower HV than reported by Antero (2006) and the Phyllis2 Database, but still lies between values that are typical for softwood barks. Overall, the mean HVs of hardwood and softwood are very similar, although softwood samples tend to have a slightly higher HV, as supported by previous findings (Ragland et al., 1991; Nurmi, 2000).

The HHV of the biomass along with C and H content were found to promote the concentrations of CO and combustible gas, the calorific value of the product gas and the gasification conversion (Gil et al., 2019). Therefore, bark samples that have much higher HHV than wood samples may appear to be more suitable feedstocks for gasification.

Volatile matter

Data for the volatile matter (VM) of the biomass samples indicates that there is no significant difference between broad-leaf and coniferous wood. The same trend is seen in bark samples. Wood samples have higher VMs compared to barks (79.9–86.6% versus 67.5–80.1%). According to the literature, VM in woody biomass lies between 70.20 and 93.99% (Miles et al., 1996; Koziński & Saade, 1998; McKendry, 2002; Cuiping et al., 2004; Demirbas, 2004; Eriksson et al., 2004; Grammelis et al., 2006; Saidur et al., 2011; García et al., 2012; Miccio et al., 2012; Rizvi et al., 2015; Lu et al., 2018). The VM of willow and pine wood is similar to that result reported by Mason et al. (2015). Silver birch bark had the highest VM among all barks, similar to results obtained by Bryers (1996). The VM content of Norway spruce coincides with the content reported by Antero (2006).

According to the literature, a higher volatile matter increases the biomass conversion rate in comparison to biomasses with higher fixed carbon content (Roldan, 2018). Therefore, the conversion rate of wood samples in thermochemical processes should be much higher than bark samples. Kurkela (1996) found that a lower volatiles content decreases the reactivity of pine bark compared to wood, and therefore, pine bark gasification needs an extra 100 °C increase in the temperature. These findings suggest that samples with higher VM matter, like wood samples, are preferred for gasification when a lower gasification temperature is required.

Fixed carbon

Fixed carbon (FC) is the carbon found in the material that remains after volatile materials are emitted. FC content is linked to the biochar yield which is reported to be higher for biomasses with high FC (Roldan, 2018). FC in wood and bark samples varies between 12.6–18.4% and 13.9–26.9%, respectively. It is possible to hypothesise that gasification of bark samples yields more biochar. Biochar may be a valuable by-product that can be used as a soil amendment or in carbon sequestration applications (Hansen et al., 2015). Therefore, from the analysed data set the most suitable samples for a high biochar yield would be spruce and black alder bark that have by far the highest FC, low ash content and belong to prevalent wood species in Estonia.

Carbon

The typical range of carbon (C) content in softwood is between 47–54% and in hardwood 48–52%, on a dry basis, according to ISO 17225. The present study shows that there is no significant difference in C content between hardwood and softwood wood, as in hardwood it varies between 47.0 to 49.9% and in softwoods from 48.8 to 50.3%. On the other hand, bark samples have a much higher variation between different species – 43.9 to 56.3%. Silver birch bark stands out as having the highest C content of 56.3%, which is similar to results reported in the literature (Bryers, 1996). Wych elm, white willow, European ash, European crab apple and Norway maple have C content below the typical hardwood bark range of 47 to 55% (ISO 17225). Norway spruce, however, has a lower C content than Scots pine, 48.4% and 52.8%, respectively. In the literature the same pattern is apparent between pine and spruce bark (Antero, 2006; Frandsen et al., 2007; Vassilev et al., 2010; Brunner et al., 2013; Jerzak, 2020).

Hydrogen

Hydrogen (H) is one of the parameters that has a higher influence on the heating value along with carbon, oxygen and sulfur (Telmo et al., 2010). According to the results, most of the species have higher H content in the wood than the bark with a few exceptions like silver birch, blackthorn, rowan and aspen. The H content of the analysed samples in broad-leaf wood is slightly higher than reported in the literature (Pesonen et al., 2014; Mason et al., 2015) lying between 6.3 and 6.6%. Hardwood wood, on the other hand, have a wide distribution in H content, varying between 5.2–7.0%. The H content of softwood bark is similar that reported in the literature (Antero, 2006; Vassilev et al., 2010; Brunner et al., 2013; Phyllis2 Database).

A higher H content is preferred in biomass as it results in a higher concentration of H_2 and a higher H_2/CO ratio in the gasification outlet gas according to hierarchical cluster and principal component analyses conducted by Gil et al., (2019).
Oxygen

Lignocellulosic fuel has a comparatively high oxygen (O) content that contributes to low heating values. Oxygen content is one of the most significant parameters along with gasification temperature, that determine the chemical efficiency of the gasification (Schuster et al., 2001). O content is very similar in all woods and ranges between 42.1 to 45.6%, but in bark samples it lies between 31.6 and 41.3%. O content in the literature is reported mostly on the basis of the whole wood and the content varies between 40.6 and 44.6% among different wood species (Miles et al., 1996; Koziński & Saade, 1998; Cuiping et al., 2004; Demirbas, 2004; Eriksson et al., 2004; Saidur et al., 2011; García et al., 2012; Miccio et al., 2012; Brunner et al., 2013; Lu et al., 2018; Phyllis2 Database). Kirsanovs & Žandeckis (2015) point out that lower O content in the feedstock necessitates a higher amount of air to be injected into the gasifier in order to achieve the required equivalent ratio. In addition, a higher C/O mass ratio in the fuel increases the heating value of the syngas. Therefore, common hardwood barks like grey alder, black alder, silver birch and aspen that have higher C/O mass ratios, ranging between 1.43 to 1.62, may be a more suitable feedstock when the highest HV of syngas is required.

Nitrogen

Results show that nitrogen (N) content in bark is remarkably higher than in wood, varied from 0.1 to 0.3% and 0.4 to 2.5%, respectively. Typical N content in hardwood and softwood lays between < 0.01 to 0.5% (ISO 17225). Common laburnum bark differs greatly from other species and the N content reaches 2.5%. A relatively high N content (1.2%) was also found in Scots pine bark. On the one hand, this is similar to the result for pine wood, which has a N content of 1.3%, as reported by Mason et al. (2015). However, Brunner et al. (2013), Frandsen et al. (2007), Antero (2006) report much lower N contents in softwood bark ranging between 0.05-0.5%. N is an important characteristic that should be considered in gasification and design of gas cleaning section. N is converted into N_2 , NH_3 and HCN during gasification. The N_2 content in the syngas decreases the calorific value of the syngas produced. Ammonia can be eliminated from product gas by increasing the gasification temperature so it decomposes to nitrogen (Devi et al., 2003). Also, NH₃ can be separated from the gas flow by adding H₂SO₄ (Zisopoulos et al., 2018), where the product ammonium sulphate can be further used as fertilizer. Samples that have a higher N value should be avoided if possible, e.g. common laburnum, black alder and Scot's pine bark.

Sulphur and chlorine

The advantage of untreated woody biomass is the low content of sulphur (S) and chlorine (Cl). The presence of Cl and S in the feedstock often leads to the formation of sulphates and facilitates fouling (Miles et al., 1996). The problem is that HCl formation and condensation can occur on the cooler parts of equipment, often on heat exchangers, which will lead to corrosion of the metal surface. In gasification, S is transformed to H_2S or COS, but as the concentrations are low, the issue is not very common in biomass gasification. It is seen that most of the sulphur originates from the bark as a majority of wood samples have an S content below 0.01%. Common laburnurm, hawthorn and European crab apple stand out as they have relatively high S contents both in wood and bark compared to other tree species, and in order to avoid S and Cl related problems, these samples can be excluded from the selection of possible feedstocks for gasification.

The S content of fuel increases when the bark content is higher. Cl content in barks is slightly higher compared to woods, $\leq 0.01\%$ and 0.01-0.03%, respectively. Higher Cl contents can be found when woody biomass contains needles or leaves (Alakangas et al., 2016), however these parts of the tree were out of the scope of this study.

Minor and trace elements

According to Zevenhoven & Kilpinen (2001), the elements can be classified as follows: major (> 1.0%), minor (0.1–1.0%) and trace (< 0.1%) elements. The present results show that elemental classification is slightly different and changeable in the case of wood and bark. Major elements in both are C, H, N, O, but also Ca can be classified as a major component in bark where its concentration may exceed 6%. However, in stem wood Ca is a dominant minor element and all other determined elements: Al, Na, Si, Mg, Fe, P, Cu, Mn, Ni, Zn, Sr, Cr, Ti, Pb, belong to the trace elements range. K is found as either a minor or trace element depending on the wood type. In the bark samples, there is variation between different species and K, Mg, Si can be classified as minor elements. All in all, the major and minor elements in biomass, in decreasing order of abundance, are C > O > H > N > Ca > K > Mg > P > S > Cl > Si > Na > Fe > Al > Mn > Zn > Sr > Cr > Ni > Ti > Cu > Pb.

Many of the tested wood and bark samples contain high concentrations of Ca, K, Mg and Na that, according to different studies, improve the gasification process (Elliott et al., 1984; Sueyasu et al., 2012; Perander et al., 2015; Ren et al., 2019). These results support earlier findings that the majority of ash forming elements are found within the bark (Kleinhans et al., 2018). Also, Werkelin et al. (2011) investigated the chemical composition of different parts of Norway spruce and reported lower Al, K, Si and Mn in wood than in the present work and much higher values of Mn and K in bark. Scots pine and silver birch, on the other hand, show small amounts of Al, Na and Si. Generally, common wood species stand out as having relatively low contents of ash-forming elements compared to all analysed species.

Ca is the dominate ash forming element in biomass, especially in bark samples where concentrations were up to twelve times higher than those of the wood samples. Similar findings have been reported by Kleinhans et al. (2018). The Ca content of the wood species ranged within rather wide limits, 718–63,910 ppm, depending on the wood type. The highest Ca content of 63,910 and 49,587 ppm was found from the European crab apple and wych elm bark samples, respectively. The lowest Ca content was observed in Scots pine, aspen and European ash wood samples: 718, 890 and 891 ppm, respectively. A higher Ca content in the feedstock is advantageous. In some cases, limestone as a source of calcium is added because it acts as a sulphur capture technique and prevents agglomeration (Miles et al., 1996). Koppejan & van Loo (2016) indicate that ashes of agricultural crops with low concentrations of Ca and high concentrations of potassium (K) start to sinter and melt at significantly lower temperatures than woody biomass. In this study, the Ca content of most of the samples outweigh K content, but there are two exceptions: willow and wych elm wood – these samples have a much higher probability to cause lower ash melting behaviour.

K is the second most abundant alkali element in biomass. K is stated as one of the elements that in high concentrations together with the high silica and chlorine content, is known to create ash deposit problems (Kurkela, 1996). K is detected as KCl, K_2SO_4 , K_2CO_3 , K_3PO_4 in biomass ash (Mlonka-Mędrala et al., 2020). Results show that broad-leaf

wood species tend to have higher K contents than softwood. On the other hand, K is reported as an effective catalyst in gasification and it enhances tar reforming (Sueyasu et al., 2012; Nzihou et al., 2013). Gil et al. (2019) also found that a high H₂ content and high H₂/CO ratio in the gas product are related to the higher H/O ratio and K₂O in biomass. Therefore, samples that have a higher K content may be favoured instead, when a low content of tar in the syngas is required, although sintering problem should be considered.

It has been found that the Si content in hardwood bark may reach up to 2% and in case of softwood up to 0.5% (ISO 17225). Interestingly, all analysed samples had lower Si content than typical values, from 0.002 to 0.41% (except hawthorn bark with 0.9% Si). Although, a similar pattern exists where bark has majority of Si content compared to the whole wood. These results seem to be consistent with other research which found that the silica content of clean bark is higher than that of wood (Ragland et al., 1991). The high silica content in bark or wood originates from soil components and sand.

Iron (Fe) content varied between 38 ppm and 1,377 ppm. It is stated that the typical Fe content in woods lies between 0–100 ppm and in bark it may reach up to 800 ppm (ISO 17225). European ash wood was enriched in Fe (1,377 ppm), but all other samples are comparable to typical values.

Al content in most of the woods and barks are in accordance to technical standard, that propose values of < 10 to 1,200 ppm (ISO 17225). Smallest amount of Al is found from common species (< 393 ppm). On the other hand, hardwood barks show higher concentrations than recommended values in standard, from 70 to 2,810 ppm. Na content in woods and barks are below 200 ppm and 1,200 ppm, respectively and are in accordance to typical values.

Woody biomass has higher amounts of heavy metals than annually harvested crops because wood has a longer rotation period for accumulation of heavy metals (Koppejan & van Loo, 2016). Barks of hawthorn, European ash, bird cherry, and rowan stand out as they have relatively high amount of Mn, Zn, Cr, Ni, Sr, Ti, Cu and Pb. Silver birch and grey alder have higher concentration of heavy metals than other common hardwoods. In addition, Norway spruce bark has twice as high of a heavy metals concentration as Scots pine bark.

Correlations between characteristics

The Pearson correlation coefficient was used to assess linear associations between biomass parameters in order to elucidate which feedstock features have an impact on each other (Table 3). The strength of the correlation is described using the guide that Evans (1996) suggests for the absolute value of r: 0.40–0.59 as 'moderate'; 0.60–0.79 as 'strong'; 0.80–1.0 as 'very strong'. Knowing correlations between variables gives the opportunity to predict biomass composition without a need to carry out a full set of analyses.

The present data show very strong positive correlations ($r \ge 0.8$) between the following characteristics: Cr-Ni-Fe, Ca-Sr, HV-C, Al-Na-Si-Ti, K-Mg-P, Fe-Zn-Cr-Ni-Cu, Ash-Ca, N-S-P and O-VM. Most of the ash forming elements like Si, Ca, K, P, Al, Mg, Fe, S, Sr, Na and Ti have moderate to very strong correlations with ash. Also, Mn is classified as an ash-forming element according to Werkelin et al., (2011). Cr and Ni together with Ca, Fe and Cu are non-volatile metals that are found to exit principally in equal concentrations in the bottom ash and the fly ash (Nzihou & Stanmore, 2013). However, this was not supported in the present study where no significant relationships between ash yield and Mn, Cr and Ni were determined.

	Ash	VM	FC	С	Н	Ν	S	0	Cl	HHV	Al	Κ	Na	Ca	Si	Mg	Fe	Р	Mn	Zn	Cr	Ni	Sr	Ti	Cu	Pb	
Ash	1.0	-0.8	0.2	-0.5	-0.8	0.5	0.7	-0.7	0.5	-0.5	0.6	0.6	0.7	1.0	0.7	0.7	0.4	0.7	0.1	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.8	0.6	0.4	0.5	+1
VM	-0.8	1.0	-0.7	0.1	0.8	-0.7	-0.8	0.8	-0.5	0.1	-0.5	-0.6	-0.5	-0.8	-0.5	-0.6	-0.4	-0.7	-0.2	-0.4	-0.4	-0.4	-0.6	-0.4	-0.6	-0.5	
FC	0.2	-0.7	1.0	0.3	-0.3	0.6	0.4	-0.5	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.3	0.1	0.5	0.3	
С	-0.5	0.1	0.3	1.0	0.5	0.1	-0.1	-0.2	0.1	0.9	-0.2	-0.3	-0.3	-0.5	-0.4	-0.2	-0.2	-0.3	0.0	-0.3	0.0	0.0	-0.4	-0.2	-0.1	0.0	
Н	-0.8	0.8	-0.3	0.5	1.0	-0.4	-0.6	0.5	-0.1	0.6	-0.4	-0.5	-0.5	-0.8	-0.5	-0.5	-0.4	-0.5	0.0	-0.5	-0.3	-0.3	-0.7	-0.4	-0.5	-0.4	
Ν	0.5	-0.7	0.6	0.1	-0.4	1.0	0.8	-0.7	0.4	0.2	0.3	0.6	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.6	0.3	0.8	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.4	0.4	
S	0.7	-0.8	0.4	-0.1	-0.6	0.8	1.0	-0.8	0.5	-0.1	0.6	0.7	0.6	0.7	0.6	0.8	0.4	0.9	0.1	0.4	0.2	0.2	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.5	
0	-0.7	0.8	-0.5	-0.2	0.5	-0.7	-0.8	1.0	-0.6	-0.2	-0.5	-0.4	-0.5	-0.7	-0.5	-0.6	-0.3	-0.6	-0.2	-0.3	-0.2	-0.2	-0.6	-0.5	-0.4	-0.5	
Cl	0.5	-0.5	0.3	0.1	-0.1	0.4	0.5	-0.6	1.0	0.2	0.5	0.1	0.6	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.0	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.5	0.1	0.4	
HHV	-0.5	0.1	0.3	0.9	0.6	0.2	-0.1	-0.2	0.2	1.0	-0.1	-0.2	-0.2	-0.5	-0.3	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	0.1	-0.2	0.0	0.0	-0.4	-0.2	-0.1	0.0	
Al	0.6	-0.5	0.1	-0.2	-0.4	0.3	0.6	-0.5	0.5	-0.1	1.0	0.2	1.0	0.4	0.9	0.2	0.5	0.3	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.2	1.0	0.4	0.7	
Κ	0.6	-0.6	0.2	-0.3	-0.5	0.6	0.7	-0.4	0.1	-0.2	0.2	1.0	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.8	0.1	0.8	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.1	
Na	0.7	-0.5	0.1	-0.3	-0.5	0.3	0.6	-0.5	0.6	-0.2	1.0	0.3	1.0	0.6	0.9	0.4	0.5	0.4	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.3	1.0	0.3	0.6	
Ca	1.0	-0.8	0.3	-0.5	-0.8	0.5	0.7	-0.7	0.4	-0.5	0.4	0.5	0.6	1.0	0.6	0.7	0.4	0.6	0.2	0.4	0.3	0.2	0.8	0.5	0.5	0.5	
Si	0.7	-0.5	0.0	-0.4	-0.5	0.3	0.6	-0.5	0.5	-0.3	0.9	0.3	0.9	0.6	1.0	0.3	0.5	0.4	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.9	0.3	0.6	
Mg	0.7	-0.6	0.2	-0.2	-0.5	0.6	0.8	-0.6	0.3	-0.1	0.2	0.8	0.4	0.7	0.3	1.0	0.2	0.9	0.3	0.4	0.1	0.1	0.5	0.2	0.2	0.1	
Fe	0.4	-0.4	0.2	-0.2	-0.4	0.3	0.4	-0.3	0.2	-0.1	0.5	0.1	0.5	0.4	0.5	0.2	1.0	0.2	0.1	0.9	0.9	0.9	0.2	0.5	0.8	0.7	
Р	0.7	-0.7	0.3	-0.3	-0.5	0.8	0.9	-0.6	0.4	-0.1	0.3	0.8	0.4	0.6	0.4	0.9	0.2	1.0	0.1	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.3	
Mn	0.1	-0.2	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	-0.2	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.1	1.0	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.0	0.3	0.2	
Zn	0.4	-0.4	0.2	-0.3	-0.5	0.2	0.4	-0.3	0.1	-0.2	0.3	0.2	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.4	0.9	0.2	0.2	1.0	0.7	0.8	0.3	0.3	0.7	0.4	
Cr	0.2	-0.4	0.3	0.0	-0.3	0.2	0.2	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.9	0.0	0.2	0.7	1.0	1.0	0.2	0.1	0.9	0.5	
Ni	0.2	-0.4	0.3	0.0	-0.3	0.2	0.2	-0.2	0.0	0.0	0.2	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	0.9	0.0	0.1	0.8	1.0	1.0	0.2	0.1	0.9	0.5	
Sr	0.8	-0.6	0.3	-0.4	-0.7	0.4	0.4	-0.6	0.3	-0.4	0.2	0.3	0.3	0.8	0.3	0.5	0.2	0.5	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.2	1.0	0.2	0.3	0.2	
Ti	0.6	-0.4	0.1	-0.2	-0.4	0.2	0.5	-0.5	0.5	-0.2	1.0	0.1	1.0	0.5	0.9	0.2	0.5	0.3	0.0	0.3	0.1	0.1	0.2	1.0	0.3	0.7	
Cu	0.4	-0.6	0.5	-0.1	-0.5	0.4	0.4	-0.4	0.1	-0.1	0.4	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.3	0.2	0.8	0.2	0.3	0.7	0.9	0.9	0.3	0.3	1.0	0.7	
Pb	0.5	-0.5	0.3	0.0	-0.4	0.4	0.5	-0.5	0.4	0.0	0.7	0.1	0.6	0.5	0.6	0.1	0.7	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.5	0.5	0.2	0.7	0.7	1.0	-1

Table 3. Pearson's correlation matrix between any two variables ($P \le 0.05$)

Strong positive correlations $(0.60 \le r \le 0.79)$ occurred also between Ash-Na-Si-Mg-P-Sr-Ti, VM-H, N-Mg, S-Ash-K-Na-Ca-Si-Mg, HV-H, K-P-Pb, Ca-Si-Mg-P. Compared to previous studies there were similar findings, for example strong positive correlation for Al-Ti-Si, N-S-P and K-Mg-P (Vassilev et al., 2010), S-N-Cl (Jenkins et al., 1998), Ash-Ca-Na-Si, K-P-Mg, Ca-S-P (Monti et al., 2008).

Very strong negative relationships occur between Ash-VM, Ash-H, VM-Ca and Ca-H. Strong negative correlations are mainly associated with VM, C, H, O and HV which are mostly negatively correlated with trace elements. VM has a negative correlation with most of the parameters, except with O, H, C and heating value. Same pattern is seen with O, where a positive correlation is only observed with volatiles and a moderate correlation with H. This finding was also reported by Vassilev et al. (2010) who stated there is a strong negative relationship between ash-O, O-N, O-S, O-P. In contrast to earlier findings, however, no evidence of negative correlations between trace elements (e.g. Si-Ca, Si-Mg, Si-K, Si-Mn, Ca-K, Ca-Al, K-Al, Ca-Al, Fe-Ca) was detected. In this study, several strong correlations between metallic elements were found, for example Al-Na-Si-Ti, Ca-Sr, Ca-Si, Ca-Mg, Si-Pb, Fe-Pb, Zn-Cr-Ni, Cu-Pb. According to Vassilev et al. (2012) the Si-Al-Fe-Na-Ti association is related mostly as detrital silicates and oxyhydroxides, excluding authigenic opal and Ca-Mg-Mn is commonly related to authigenic oxalates and carbonates.

VM correlates with H content in the data set, which is in agreement with the conclusion of Caillat & Vakkilainen (2013) that a higher VM content is due to a high hydrogen content and depends on the nature of the material and thermochemical process conditions. It has also been suggested that a high VM and fixed carbon content increase the heating value (Saidur et al., 2011). This does not appear to be the case and no correlation between VM and HV was detected in the current study.



Figure 1. Graphical dispersion based on the PCA obtained from 26 variables (autoscaled): B – bark; W – wood.

A principal component analysis (PCA) was conducted on the variables studied in order to observe possible groupings and/or separation among wood species. PCA scatter plot (Fig. 1) revealed a clear data clustering in terms of the sample type using the scores of the first two principal components with a total variance of 57.9%. Generally, a total variance of 70% is considered as satisfactory in PC analysis. In this case, a lower total variance was accepted as satisfactory because descriptive purpose was desired, and it gave sufficient interpretation and scattering of the samples. Wood samples form a relative compact cluster that is characterized by high O, H, VM and HHV and low ash, while the bark samples are much more diverse and distributed over a wider range that is characterized by high ash and ash-forming element concentration. This suggests that different woods have similar compositions and there is no significant difference between species. It is possible, therefore, that the grouped biomass samples will show similar behaviours even if they are namely different. This means that if the process conditions are similar, the same behaviour can be expected among wood samples. However, the layout of bark samples reflects their variability and differences in composition. Interestingly, birch bark belongs to the wood cluster. This can be explained by the very high heating value (24.18 MJ kg⁻¹), volatiles content (80.1%) and carbon content (56.34%), makes it similar to wood samples. Results show that there are some significant differences and exceptions between wood species. For instance, hawthorn bark had remarkably high Al, Na, Ca and Si content compared to others.

The loading plot (Fig. 2) illustrates the connections of the variables to each other and gives an impression about correlations between features. The loading unravel the magnitude (large or small correlations) and in which way (positive or negative correlation) the variables contribute to the scores (Jackson. 1991: Jollife & Cadima. 2016). Sample distributions follow the loading values that wood samples spread in horizontal direction due to contents of volatiles, hydrogen, oxygen, Al, Ti, Na, Si, Ca, S and ash, and in the vertical direction due to mainly Cr, Ni, K content.



Figure 2. Correlations between variables according to PCA.

It reveals that VM, H and O exhibit negative loadings in the negative side of the first principal component (F1). On the other hand, Al, Ti, Na, Ca, S and ash show significant positive loading contributions to the first principal component (F1).

CONCLUSIONS

Based on results obtained experimentally and information available in the literature, this paper gives an overview of the characteristics of different Estonian wood species.

Statistical analysis supports the knowledge that woody biomass is heterogenous and its composition depends on its origin, growing environment and wood-specific mineral uptake.

Some conclusions based on complete proximate, ultimate and ash analyses of 19 different wood and bark samples can be made:

1) Wood samples have a relatively predictable composition where parameters vary in a narrow range. On the other hand, wood bark composition is more diverse and depends on the wood species.

2) Birch bark composition is more similar to wood samples than other bark samples, mainly due to its very high heating value, high content of C, H and volatiles and low ash content.

3) Main parameters that cause wood and bark samples clustering are volatiles, hydrogen, oxygen, ash, Al, Ti, Na, Si and Ca.

4) Very strong positive correlations were found, namely: Cr-Ni-Fe, Ca-Sr, HV-C, Al-Na-Si-Ti, K-Mg-P, Fe-Zn-Cr-Ni-Cu, Ash-Ca, N-S-P and O-VM.

5) Strong positive correlations occurred between Ash-Na-Si-Mg-P-Sr-Ti, VM-H, N-Mg, S-Ash-K-Na-Ca-Si-Mg, HV-H, K-P-Pb, Ca-Si-Mg-P.

6) Most of the ash forming elements have moderate to very strong correlation with ash, except Mn, Cr, Ni.

7) Very strong negative relationships occur between Ash-VM, Ash-H, VM-Ca and Ca-H.

8) Results show that not all wood species coincide with typical wood or bark. Most of the analysed hardwood barks have higher ash yields compared to a typical hardwood.

9) Gasification feedstock should be chosen considering the aim of gasification. To increase the yield of biochar, bark should be used because of the high content of fixed carbon. When a high reactivity and conversion rate is required, the wood part should be used because of its high volatile matter content.

10) Common wood species (Scots pine, Norway spruce, aspen, birch, grey alder and black alder) are perspective feedstock for gasification because of the low S, N, Cl, and ash content and high volatile matter.

11) Hardwood species have higher heavy metal contents (Mn, Zn, Cr, Ni, Sr, Ti, Cu, Pb) than softwoods. Of the common species, birch and grey alder have over three times higher total heavy metal content than other common hardwoods. In addition, spruce bark has more than two times higher total heavy metals content than pine bark.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT. European Regional Development Fund.

REFERENCES

Alakangas, E., Hurskainen, M., Laatikainen-Luntama, J. & Korhonen, J. 2016. Properties of Indigenous Fuels in Finland. Technical Research Centre of Finland, VTT Technology No. 272, Espoo, Finland, pp. 222.

- Amanatidis, G. 2019. European Policies on Climate and Energy towards 2020, 2030 and 2050. European Parliament
- Moilanen, A. 2006. Thermogravimetric Characterisations of Biomass and Waste for Gasification Processes. PhD Thesis, Abo Akademi University, Espoo, Finland. VTT Publications 607, pp. 103 and 97.
- Brunner, T., Biedermann, F., Kanzian, W., Evic, N. & Obernberger, I. 2013. Advanced Biomass Fuel Characterization Based on Tests with a Specially Designed Lab-Scale Reactor. *Energy* and Fuels 27(10), 5691–5698. doi: 10.1021/ef400559j
- Bryers, R.W. 1996. Fireside Slagging, Fouling, and High-Temperature Corrosion of Heat-Transfer Surface Due to Impurities in Steam-Raising Fuels. *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science* **22**(1), 29–120. doi: 10.1016/0360-1285(95)00012-7
- Caillat, S. & Vakkilainen, E. 2013. Large-Scale Biomass Combustion Plants: An Overview. Biomass Combustion Science, Technology and Engineering, 189–224. Elsevier Inc. doi: 10.1533/9780857097439.3.189
- Cuiping, L., Chuangzhi, W., Yanyongjie & Haitao, H. 2004. Chemical Elemental Characteristics of Biomass Fuels in China. *Biomass and Bioenergy* **27**(2), 119–130. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2004.01.002
- Demirbaş, A. 2001. Relationships between Lignin Contents and Heating Values of Biomass. Energy Conversion and Management 42(2), 183–188. doi: 10.1016/S0196-8904(00)00050-9
- Demirbas, A. 2004. Combustion Characteristics of Different Biomass Fuels. *Progress in Energy* and Combustion Science **30**(2), 219–230. doi: 10.1016/j.pecs.2003.10.004
- Devi, L., Ptasinski, K.J. & Janssen, F.J.J.G. 2003. A Review of the Primary Measures for Tar Elimination in Biomass Gasification Processes. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 24(2), 125–140. doi: 10.1016/S0961-9534(02)00102-2
- Elbersen, W., Lammens, T.M., Alakangas, E.A., Annevelink, B., Harmsen, P. & Elbersen, B. 2017. Lignocellulosic Biomass Quality: Matching Characteristics With Biomass Conversion Requirements. Modeling and Optimization of Biomass Supply Chains: Top-Down and Bottom-up Assessment for Agricultural, Forest and Waste Feedstock, pp. 55–78. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-812303-4.00003-3
- Elliott, D.C., Hallen, R.T. & Sealock, L.J. 1984. Alkali Catalysis in Biomass Gasification. *Journal of Analytical and Applied Pyrolysis* 6(3), 299–316. doi: 10.1016/0165-2370(84)80024-8
- Eriksson, G., Kjellström, B., Lundqvist, B. & Paulrud, S. 2004. Combustion of Wood Hydrolysis Residue in a 150 KW Powder Burner. *Fuel* **83**(11–12), 1635–1641. doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2004.02.012
- Evans, J.D. 1996. *Straightforward Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences*. Brooks/Cole Publishing, University of California, pp. 600.
- EVS-EN ISO 17225-1. 2014. 'Solid biofuels Fuel specifications and classes Part 1: General requirements'. Estonia centre for standardization, Tallinn, Estonia & European Commmitee for Standardization
- Frandsen, F.J., van Lith, S.C., Korbee, R., Yrjas, P., Backman, R., Obernberger, I., Brunner, T. & Jöller, M. 2007. Quantification of the Release of Inorganic Elements from Biofuels. *Fuel Processing Technology* 88(11–12), 1118–28. doi: 10.1016/j.fuproc.2007.06.012
- García, R., Pizarro, C., Lavín, A.G. & Bueno, J.L. 2012. Characterization of Spanish Biomass Wastes for Energy Use. *Bioresource Technology* 103(1), 249–58. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2011.10.004
- Gil, M.V., González-Vázquez, M.P., García, R., Rubiera, F. & Pevida, C. 2019. Assessing the Influence of Biomass Properties on the Gasification Process Using Multivariate Data Analysis. *Energy Conversion and Management* 184, 649–60. doi: 10.1016/j.enconman.2019.01.093
- Grammelis, P., Skodras, G. & Kakaras, E. 2006. Effects of Biomass Co-Firing with Coal on Ash Properties. Part I: Characterisation and PSD. *Fuel* **85**(16 SPEC. ISS.), 2310–2315. doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2006.01.036

- Hansen, V., Müller-Stöver, D., Ahrenfeldt, J., Holm, J.K., Henriksen, U.B. & Hauggaard-Nielsen, H. 2015. Gasification Biochar as a Valuable By-Product for Carbon Sequestration and Soil Amendment. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 72(1), 300–308. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2014.10.013
- Jackson, J.E. 1991. A User's Guide to Principal Components. A User's Guide to Principal Components. United States of America, pp. 592.
- Jenkins, B.M., Bexter, L.L., Miles, T.R.Jr. & Miles, T.R. 1998. Combustion Properties of Biomass. *Fuel Processing Technology* **54**(1–3), 17–46.
- Jerzak, W. 2020. Effect of Pine Bark Combustion Temperature on Content of Major, Minor, and Trace Elements in Ashes: Experimental Study and Thermodynamic Equilibrium Calculations. *Journal of Energy Engineering* **146**(1), 04019031-1-9. doi: 10.1061/(ASCE)EY.1943-7897.0000632
- Johansson, A.C., Wiinikka, H., Sandström, L., Marklund, M., Öhrman, O.G.W. & Narvesjö, J. 2016. Characterization of Pyrolysis Products Produced from Different Nordic Biomass Types in a Cyclone Pilot Plant. *Fuel Processing Technology* **146**, 9–19. doi: 10.1016/j.fuproc.2016.02.006
- Joint Committee For Guides In Metrology. 2008. 'Evaluation of Measurement Data Guide to the Expression of Uncertainty in Measurement'. *International Organization for Standardization Geneva ISBN* 50, pp. 134.
- Jollife, I.T. & Cadima, J. 2016. Principal Component Analysis: A Review and Recent Developments. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc. A* 374, 1–16. doi: 10.1098/rsta.2015.0202
- Kaup, M. 2018. International Competitiveness of Estonian Pellet Industry. Master's Thesis, University of Tartu, Tartu, Estonia, 113 pp. (in Estonian).
- Kirsanovs, V. & Žandeckis, A. 2015. Investigation of Fuel Effect on Biomass Gasification Process Using Equilibrium Model. *Agronomy Research* **13**(2), 500–510.
- Kleinhans, U., Wieland, C., Frandsen, F.J. & Spliethoff, H. 2018. Ash Formation and Deposition in Coal and Biomass Fired Combustion Systems: Progress and Challenges in the Field of Ash Particle Sticking and Rebound Behavior. *Progress in Energy and Combustion Science* 68, 65–168. doi: 10.1016/j.pecs.2018.02.001
- Koman, S. & Feher, S. 2015. Basic Density of Hardwoods Depending on Age and Site. *Wood Research* **60**(6), 907–912.
- Konist, A., Pihu, T., Neshumayev, D. & Külaots, I. 2013. Low Grade Fuel Oil Shale and Biomass Co-Combustion in CFB Boiler. *Oil Shale* **30**(2 SUPPL.), 294–304. doi: 10.3176/oil.2013.2S.09
- Koppejan, J. & van Loo, S. 2016. Handbook of Biomass Combustion and Cofiring: Prepared by Task 32 of the Implementing Agreement on Bioenergy, Twente University Press, Enschede, the Netherlands, pp. 23–67.
- Koziński, J.A. & Saade, R. 1998. Effect of Biomass Burning on the Formation of Soot Particles and Heavy Hydrocarbons. An Experimental Study. *Fuel* 77(4), 225–37. doi: 10.1016/S0016-2361(97)00201-9
- Kurkela, E. 1996. Formation and Removal of Biomass-Derived Contaminants in Fluidized-Bed Gasification Processes. Technical Research Centre of Finland, *VTT Publications* 287, 47 p. + app.87 p.
- Link, S., Tran, K-Q., Bach, Q-V., Yrjas, P., Lindberg, D., Arvelakis, S. & Rosin, A. 2018. Catalytic Effect of Oil Shale Ash on CO2 Gasification of Leached Wheat Straw and Reed Chars. *Energy* 152, 906–13. doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2018.04.013
- Lu, G., Zhang, K. & Cheng, F. 2018. The Fusion Characteristics of Ashes from Anthracite and Biomass Blends. *Journal of the Energy Institute* 91(5), 797–804. doi: 10.1016/j.joei.2017.05.001
- Ma, X., Zhao, X., Gu, J. & Shi, J. 2019. Co-Gasification of Coal and Biomass Blends Using Dolomite and Olivine as Catalysts. *Renewable Energy* 132, 509–14. doi: 10.1016/j.renene.2018.07.077
- Maaten, B., Konist, A. & Siirde, A. 2019. High-Speed Thermogravimetric Analysis of the Combustion of Wood and Ca-Rich Fuel. *Journal of Thermal Analysis and Calorimetry* **138**(4), 2807–2811. doi: 10.1007/s10973-019-08785-6

- Magnusson, B., Näykki, T., Hovind, H., Krysell, M. & Sahlin, E. 2017. Handbook for Calculation of Measurement Uncertainty in Environmental Laboratories, Nordtest Report TR 537 (Ed.4). Taastrup, Denmark, pp. 51.
- Mallick, D., Mahanta, P. & Moholkar, V.S. 2020. Co–Gasification of Coal/Biomass Blends in 50 KWe Circulating Fluidized Bed Gasifier. *Journal of the Energy Institute* 93(1), 99–111. doi: 10.1016/j.joei.2019.04.005
- Mason, P.E., Darvell, L.I., Jones, J.M, Pourkashanian, M. & Williams, A. 2015. Single Particle Flame-Combustion Studies on Solid Biomass Fuels. *Fuel* 151, 21–30. doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2014.11.088
- McKendry, P. 2002. Energy Production from Biomass (Part 1): Overview of Biomass. *Bioresource Technology* **83**(1), 37–46. doi: 10.1016/S0960-8524(01)00118-3
- Miccio, F., Ruoppolo, G., Kalisz, S., Andersen, L., Morgan, T.J. & Baxter, D. 2012. Combined Gasification of Coal and Biomass in Internal Circulating Fluidized Bed. *Fuel Processing Technology* 95, 45–54. doi: 10.1016/j.fuproc.2011.11.008
- Miles, T.R., Baxter, L.L., Bryers, R.W., Jenkins, B.M. & Oden, L.L. 1996. Alkali Deposits Found in Biomass Power Plants: Vol. 1. National Renewable Energy Laboratory, NREL/TP-433-8142
- Mlonka-Mędrala, A., Magdziarz, A., Gajek, M., Nowińska, K. & Nowak, W. 2020. Alkali Metals Association in Biomass and Their Impact on Ash Melting Behaviour. *Fuel* **261.** doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2019.116421
- Monti, A., Virgilio, N.D. & Venturi, G. 2008. Mineral Composition and Ash Content of Six Major Energy Crops. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 32(3), 216–223. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2007.09.012
- Nurmi, J. 2000. Characteristics and Storage of Whole-Tree Biomass for Energy. Doctoral Dissertation. The Finnish Forest Research Institute Research Papers **758**, 1–42.
- Nzihou, A. & Stanmore, B. 2013. The Fate of Heavy Metals during Combustion and Gasification of Contaminated Biomass-A Brief Review. *Journal of Hazardous Materials* **256**, 56–66. doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2013.02.050
- Nzihou, A., Stanmore, B. & Sharrock, P. 2013. A Review of Catalysts for the Gasification of Biomass Char, with Some Reference to Coal. *Energy* **58**, 305–17. doi: 10.1016/j.energy.2013.05.057
- Official Journal of the European Union. 2009. 'Directive 2009/28/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 April 2009 on the Promotion of the Use of Energy from Renewable Sources and Amending and Subsequently Repealing Directives 2001/77/EC and 2003/30/EC'.
- Olanders, B. & Steenari, B.M. 1995. Characterization of Ashes from Wood and Straw. *Biomass* and *Bioenergy* 8(2), 105–15. doi: 10.1016/0961-9534(95)00004-Q
- Perander, M., DeMartini, N., Brink, A., Kramb, J., Karlström, O., Hemming, J., Moilanen, A., Konttinen, J. & Hupa, M. 2015. Catalytic Effect of Ca and K on CO2 Gasification of Spruce Wood Char. *Fuel* **150**, 464–72. doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2015.02.062
- Pesonen, J., Kuokkanen, T., Kaipiainen, E., Koskela, J., Jerkku, I., Pappinen, A. & Villa, A. 2014. Chemical and Physical Properties of Short Rotation Tree Species. *European Journal* of Wood and Wood Products **72**(6), 769–77. doi: 10.1007/s00107-014-0841-5
- Phyllis2, 'Database for the Physico-Chemical Composition of (Treated) Lignocellulosic Biomass, Micro- and Macroalgae, Various Feedstocks for Biogas Production and Biochar'. Available at https://phyllis.nl/
- Pinto, P.C.R.O., Sousa, A.F., Silvestre, A.J.D., Neto, C.P., Gandini, A., Eckerman, C. & Holmbom, B. 2009. Quercus Suber and Betula Pendula Outer Barks as Renewable Sources of Oleochemicals: A Comparative Study. *Industrial Crops and Products* 29(1), 126–32. doi: 10.1016/j.indcrop.2008.04.015
- Plata, S. 2006. A Note on Fisher's Correlation Coefficient. *Applied Mathematics Letters* **19**(6), 499–502. doi: 10.1016/j.aml.2005.02.036
- Ragland, K.W., Aerts, D.J. & Baker, A.J. 1991. Properties of Wood for Combustion Analysis Pre-Exponential Factor for Hydrocarbons Pre-Exponential Factor for Pyrolysis. *Bioresource Technology* 37, 161–68. doi: 10.1016/0960-8524(91)90205-X

- Raudsaar, M., Sims, A., Timmusk, T., Pärt, E. & Nikopensius, M. 2018. *Forest Resources, Yearbook Forest 2017.* Estonian Environment Agency, 75 pp. (in Estonian).
- Ren, J., Cao, J.P., Zhao, X.Y., Yang, F.L. & Wei, X.Y. 2019. Recent Advances in Syngas Production from Biomass Catalytic Gasification: A Critical Review on Reactors, Catalysts, Catalytic Mechanisms and Mathematical Models. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 116. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2019.109426
- Rizvi, T., Xing, P., Pourkashanian, M., Darvell, L.I., Jones, J.M. & Nimmo, W. 2015. Prediction of Biomass Ash Fusion Behaviour by the Use of Detailed Characterisation Methods Coupled with Thermodynamic Analysis. *Fuel* 141, 275–84. doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2014.10.021
- Roldan, R. 2018. Report of the Laboratory Tests for Pyrolysis of Forestry Residues. AgroCycle www.AgroCycle.eu.
- Saidur, R., Abdelaziz, E.A., Demirbas, A., Hossain, M.S. & Mekhilef, S. 2011. A Review on Biomass as a Fuel for Boilers. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 15(5), 2262–2289. doi: 10.1016/j.rser.2011.02.015
- Schuster, G., Löffler, G., Weigl, K. & Hofbauer, H. 2001. Biomass Steam Gasification An Extensive Parametric Modeling Study. *Bioresource Technology* 77(1), 71–79. doi: 10.1016/S0960-8524(00)00115-2
- Sonmez, T., Keles, S. & Tilki, F. 2007. Effect of Aspect, Tree Age and Tree Diameter on Bark Thickness of Picea Orientalis. *Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research* 22(3), 193–97. doi: 10.1080/02827580701314716
- Sueyasu, T., Oike, T., Mori, A., Kudo, S., Norinaga, K. & Hayashi, J.I. 2012. Simultaneous Steam Reforming of Tar and Steam Gasification of Char from the Pyrolysis of Potassium-Loaded Woody Biomass. *Energy and Fuels* 26(1), 199–208. doi: 10.1021/ef201166a
- Telmo, C., Lousada, J. & Moreira, N. 2010. Proximate Analysis, Backwards Stepwise Regression between Gross Calorific Value, Ultimate and Chemical Analysis of Wood. *Bioresource Technology* **101**(11), 3808–3815. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2010.01.021
- Thengane, S.K., Gupta, A. & Mahajani, S.M. 2019. Co-Gasification of High Ash Biomass and High Ash Coal in Downdraft Gasifier. *Bioresource Technology* **273**, 159–68. doi: 10.1016/j.biortech.2018.11.007
- Vassilev, S.V., Baxter, D., Andersen, L.K. & Vassileva, C.G. 2010. An Overview of the Chemical Composition of Biomass. *Fuel* **89**, 913–933. doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2009.10.022
- Vassilev, S.V., Baxter, D., Andersen, L.K. & Vassileva, C.G. 2013. An Overview of the Composition and Application of Biomass Ash. Part 1. Phase-Mineral and Chemical Composition and Classification. *Fuel* **105**, 40–76. doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2012.09.041
- Vassilev, S.V., Baxter, D., Andersen, L.K., Vassileva, C.G. & Morgan, T.J. 2012. An Overview of the Organic and Inorganic Phase Composition of Biomass. *Fuel* 94, 1–33. doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2011.09.030
- Werkelin, J., Lindberg, D.l, Boström, D., Skrifvars, B.J. & Hupa, M. 2011. Ash-Forming Elements in Four Scandinavian Wood Species Part 3: Combustion of Five Spruce Samples. *Biomass and Bioenergy* 35(1), 725–33. doi: 10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.10.010
- Werkelin, J., Skrifvars, B.J., Zevenhoven, M., Holmbom, B. & Hupa, M. 2010. Chemical Forms of Ash-Forming Elements in Woody Biomass Fuels. *Fuel* 89(2), 481–93. doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2009.09.005
- Zając, G., Szyszlak-Bargłowicz, J., Gołębiowski, W. & Szczepanik, M. 2018. Chemical Characteristics of Biomass Ashes. *Energies* **11**(11), 1–15. doi: 10.3390/en11112885
- Zevenhoven, R. & Kilpinen, P. 2001. Control of Pollutants in Flue Gases and Fuel Gases, Chap. 8 Trace Elements, Alkali Metals. Espoo, Finland. pp. 1–30.
- Zisopoulos, F.K., van der Goot, A.J. & Boom, R.M. 2018. Exergy Destruction in Ammonia Scrubbers. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling* **136**, 153–65. doi: 10.1016/j.resconrec.2018.04.014

Matrix quality variability of oilseed radish (*Raphanus sativus* L. var. *oleiformis* Pers.) and features of its formation in technologically different construction of its agrophytocenosis

Ya.H. Tsytsiura

Vinnytsia National Agrarian University, Faculty of Agronomy and Forestry, Sunny street 3, UA21008 Vinnytsia, Ukraine Correspondence:yaroslavtsytsyura@ukr.net

Received: October 26th, 2020; Accepted: December 16th, 2020; Published: January 6th, 2021

Abstract. Overview of the formation of matrix variability of oilseed radish seeds at two levels: within a single pod and within the generative part of the plant, given the presence of vertical layering in the placement of fruit elements. The peculiarities of formation of variation component of morphological parameters of seeds from different zones of inflorescence were estimated, basing on their electrical scanning for oilseed radish agrophytoconosises of different technological construction and sowing rate against the background of four options of mineral nutrition (without fertilizer to the level 90 kg ha⁻¹ with an equal interval of 30 kg ha⁻¹ of the primary material). The results of the value of matrix variability in morphological and weight characteristics were grounded on the basis of the analysis of the structure of selected seed fractions and their intra-group variation. The main features of formation of morphometric variability of seeds from different zones of inflorescence depending on different technological construction were formulated.

Key words: heterospermy, matrix variability, morphological parameters of seeds, oilseed radish, seed fractions, separation variability.

INTRODUCTION

Modern approaches to seed production technologies provide for the transition from general concepts of qualitative categories of seeds in general to the study of complex patterns of its formation. This provides prediction of its yield, sowing and adaptive properties and allows obtaining seeds with a high level of genetic (matrix), ecological-adaphic and morphological uniformity. Seed uniformity in this aspect is considered as a factor in ensuring optimal and uniform germination rates, which forms a high-intensity agrophytocenosis of the culture with the same standing density, the desired level of coenotic stress and feeding conditions (Scarisbrick, 1982; Wulff, 1986; Bouttier & Morgan 1992; Aicher, 2011; Balodis & Gaile, 2016; Stankowski et al., 2019; Wilczewski et al., 2020).

Heterospermia of seeds is considered as its difference in morphological characteristics, biochemical composition and physiological state, the ability to germinate and certain provide productivity of plants in offspring (Venable, 1985; Geritz et al., 1999; Alonso-Blanco et al., 2009; Li et al., 2014, 2014a; Yang et al., 2017).

Scientific practice distinguishes three types of heterospermy, namely ecological, matrix and genetic (genotypic) (Kizilova, 1974; Makrushin, 1994; Zhu & Weir, 1994; Yizhyk, 2000, 2000a; Rahman & Vetty, 2011; Hua et al., 2012). Ecological quality variability is the result of interaction of seeds in the process of its formation with environmental factors and belongs to not hereditary form, but it is an important aspect of the formation of biological and morphological properties of seeds and levels of seed productivity in the format of implementation of the genotype-environment combination (Leishman, 1995; Rees, 1996; Zhu, 1996; Fox et al., 1997; Nikolayeva, 1999; Imbert, 2002; Yang & Midmore, 2005; Gunasekera, 2006; Silveira et al., 2012; Sadras et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013; Ivanova & Sarmosova, 2014; Gnan et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2017; Li et al., 2020).

Genotypic variability is the result of a combination of hereditary signs of parental forms. In these conditions, while preserving the general type of heredity (varietal characteristics), each seed has differences due to the insemination process. This type of variability is also caused by mutagenic factors (Tayo & Morgan, 1978; Clarke, 1979; Morgan, 1980; Kindruk, 1990; Smith & Scarisbrick, 1990; Batygina, 1999; Ali et al., 2002; Wolfe & Mazer, 2005; Kaushik et al., 2007; Kennedy et al., 2011; Würschum et al., 2012; Li et al., 2014; Fu et al., 2015; Li & Li, 2015a; Li et al., 2015b; Li et al., 2019).

Matrix variability is one of the most common options and is formed as a result of different placement of flowers within the inflorescence on the mother plant. As a result, conditions are created for different nutrition conditions of different inflorescence levels and different influence of the plant as a mother body. Even if genetic and environmental factors are identical, the location of the seeds leads to the heterospermy detection (Olsson, 1960; Cavers & Steel, 1984; Inanaga & Kumura, 1987; Roach & Wulff, 1987; Smith & Scarisbrick, 1990; Habekotté, 1996; Makrushin, 1994; Donohue & Schmitt, 1998; Mazer & Wolfe, 1998; Nikolayeva, 1999; Sundaresan, 2005; Sadeghietal., 2011; Bukharov & Baleev, 2012; Hua et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2016: Zheng et al., 2017).

The primary reasons for the matrix variability are the differences associated with the placement of individual seeds in different parts of the inflorescence in the vertical and horizontal orientation, namely: different flowering time, insemination and seed formation, different input intensity of plastic substances in the process of seed formation due to the reutilization of their transformation from the vegetative part of the mother plant fruits and seeds, as well as different degree of protection of the seedor fruit from abiotic environmental factors (Tayo & Morgan, 1978; McGregor, 1981; Roach & Wulff, 1987; Chay & Thurling, 1989; Kindruk, 1990, Makrushin, 1994; Donohue & Schmitt, 1998; Lemontey et al., 2000; Zlobin, 2009; Faraji, 2010; Kennedy et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2011; Gomez & Miralles, 2011; Gnan et al., 2014; Khan et al., 2014; Xing et al., 2014; Yang et al., 2016, 2017). This changes the physical and mechanical, chemical, sowing and yield properties of seeds. For these reasons, the creation of a control system for matrix heterospermia is a more important prerequisite for obtaining high-quality seed (Berry & Spink, 2006; Faraji, 2012; Monty et al., 2016).

As biological and physiological aspects, the matrix quality variability of seeds is important in the analysis of adaptability of technology and optimality of formation of agrophytocenosis both from the position of plant density in the unit area and from the position of mineral nutrition (Tsytsiura, 2019). For the group of cruciferous crops, among which is the object of our study, the signs of heterocarpy and heterospermy were studied by separate indicators in a number of studies. Thus, the results of the study of peculiarities of flowering stages of the generative part of rapeseed (McGregor, 1981; Habekotté, 1996.) and mustard (Vovchenko & Fursova, 2012) were made public. The peculiarities of forming the spatial structure of winter and spring rapeseed are highlighted (Tayo & Morgan, 1978; Smith & Scarisbrick, 1990; Habekotté, 1996). Issues of modeling the architectonics of rapeseed inflorescence and estimation of peculiarities of fruits and seeds uniformity within the inflorescence in such modeling are considered (Wang et al., 2011; Li et al., 2016). The influence of fractional composition of seeds of a number of cruciferous crops on the consistent formation of its sowing and yielding qualities was grounded (Olsson, 1960; Nikolaeva et al., 1999, Vyshnivsky, 2014). The evaluation of the general stage of flowering period of individual cruciferous crops and their influence on the formation of conditioned seeds was carried out (Smith & Scarisbrick, 1990; Polowick & Sawhney, 1986).

It is also noted for many cruciferous crops that the degree of variability of seeds is determined by the level of mineral nutrition of plants (Gattelmacher et al., 1994; Ozturk, 2010; Béreš et al., 2019), as well as technological factors such as the nature of the combination of fertilizer (Vujaković et al., 2014), the relationship between macro and micronutrients in the fertilizer system (Jankowski et al., 2014). In the formation of morphological features of seed development within the inflorescence a significant influence on this indicator of the technological features of nitrogen nutrition. In terms of flowering duration, the nature of flower formation, the use of phosphorus fertilizers and trace elements, as well as their ratio (Gomez & Miralles, 2011; Grant et al., 2013; Ragab et al., 2015; Sieling et al., 2017; Béreš et al., 2019; Zou et al., 2020).

The area of plant nutrition in the agrocoenosis due to the regulation of the value stress in turn determines the morphological development of plants, reproductive effort and seed productivity. The increase in standing density per unit area is directly proportional to the decrease in the generative part of plants with a decrease in the reaction rate interval in terms of morphological and weight characteristics of fruits and seeds (Hocking & Stapper, 2001; Takashima et al., 2013). As a result, the morphometric and weight alignment of seeds for many cruciferous crops, including oilseed radish, will be determined by the optimal ratio of technological parameters of subsowing formation of agrocenosis at the appropriate value of background mineral nutrition (Rathke et al., 2005; Al-Doori & Hasan, 2010; Qian et al., 2012; Sieling et al., 2017; Porter et al., 2020). For each plant species, these parameters are individual and rather extent unique (Berry et al., 2010; Qian et al., 2012). On the other hand, this conditions are different for different soil-climatic zones, but tend to be similar (Hocking et al., 1997; Horst et al., 2003; Marjanovi'c-Jeromel et al., 2011). It is also noted that considering the aspects of the matrix variability of seeds, given its fractional composition during harvesting and separation, provides a reduction of yield losses up to 30–39% and significantly improves the homogeneity of seed material and provides optimization of growth processes for agrophytocenosises basing on its consistent reproductive use (Makrushin, 1994; Kyrpa, 2011).

On the other hand, it was noted (Hasanuzzaman, 2020) that despite the agro-technological value of a number of crops from the cruciferous family. These factors are studied in detail on winter and spring rape and little-studied on white and black mustard, spring colza, and the object of our study oilseed radish as well.

For this group of crops, which also includes oilseed radish (Raphanus sativus var. *oleifera* Pers.), in addition to the above types of seed variability within its matrix type, its individual subtypes are distinguished: gravimorphic (differences in seed weight, size, shape, pattern) and enantiomorphic (differences in symmetry and asymmetry of a seed or fruit) (Dorofeyev, 2004; Tsytsiura & Tsytsiura, 2015). A number of questions remain to be discussed concerning the estimation of the general level of variation of morphological parameters of seeds in cruciferous crops and their influence on the value of realization of individual seed productivity of plants. It is also important to consider the peculiarities of lavering in the flowering of different orders of the inflorescence of cruciferous crops (Schiessl et al., 2015) and, as a consequence, the corresponding stage in the formation of fruits from different tiers in the vertical placement of the last from the base of the inflorescence to its apex. This feature is noted by a number of researchers on winter and spring rapeseed (McGregor, 1981; Scarisbrick et al., 1982; Habekotté, 1996; Wang et al., 2011; Vyshnivsky & Slisarchuk, 2014) but is poorly studied on oilseed radish plants. This leads to well-known technological problems in the time diversity of seed maturation and choice of pre-harvest preparation of plants, associated with the need for separate harvesting or the use of desiccation, the latter has certain limitations in the application for the oilseed radish agrophytocenosises (Tsytsiura, 2018a). Given the above facts, the assessment of the level of matrix variability of oilseed radish varieties will make it possible to determine the adaptation strategy of plants, and use this parameter as an indicator of the optimization of agrophytocenosis formation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The research on the formation of indicators of the matrix variability of oilseed radish varieties of plants with changes in technological parameters of the construction

of its agrophytocenosises was carried out during 2013–2018 on the experimental field of theVinnytsia National Agrarian University (N 49°11'31", E 28°22'16") on dark gray forest soils (Luvic Greyic Phaeozem soils (Working Group WRB, 2015)) of the medium loam mechanical compositi on with fluctuating basic agrochemical indicators in the rotation section: humus content 2.16–2.52%, pH 5.8–6.7, lightly hydrolyzed nitrogen content 71–77 mg kg⁻¹, mobile phosphorus 187–251 mg kg⁻¹. The basic technological scheme of technological construction of

Table 1. The range of acceptable commonoptions for the formation of oilseed radishagrophytocenosis in the study area (Tsytsiura,2019)

Planting met	Fertilization (of the active	
rates (million gern	ninable seeds ha ⁻¹)	substance),
Row method	Wide-row method	Kg ha '
(15 cm)	(30 cm)	fertilizers
1.0	0.5	$N_{30}P_{30}K_{30}$
2.0	1.0	$N_{60}P_{60}K_{60}$
3.0	1.5	N90P90K90
4.0	2.0	

oilseed radish agrophytocenosises provided for the application of the interval of technological solutions adopted in the region in terms of row width and sowing rate in

accordance with zonal recommendations of oilseed radish cultivation in the zone of theforest-steppe of moderately continental belt (Table 1). Term of sowing of all variants corresponded to the period of the end of the first-middle of the second ten-days period of April.

Three recognized varieties of oilseed radish, namely, 'Zhuravka', 'Raiduha' and 'Lybid', were used in the research. These varieties belong to the varieties of combined use for fodder purposes and seeds with wide adaptive potential for cultivation in different soil and climatic zones.

The hydrothermal regime of oilseed radish vegetation during the period of seed formation and filling differed (Table 2).

		Years						Long-time
Months	Ten-days							average annual
Monuis	period	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	value (30-year
								averaging period)
		Averag	e daily te	emperatu	re, °C			
	Ι	17.2	18.1	20.4	15.9	18.0	19.2	15.9
June	II	19.9	16.3	19.2	18.7	18.1	20.7	16.7
	III	20.8	15.7	18.2	23.7	21.4	17.9	17.5
	Ι	19.7	19.2	21.5	19.3	18.2	18.6	18.2
July	II	18.6	19.7	19.0	20.6	19.2	19.1	18.8
	III	18.6	21.3	22.7	21.6	21.7	21.5	19.0
Average for	or the selecte	d						
period, °C		19.5	18.5	19.7	20.8	19.8	19.1	17.7
		Precipi	tation an	ount, mr	n			
	Ι	36.0	43.1	3.2	15.0	1.8	0.5	22.8
June	II	71.0	0.0	28.8	38.9	11.9	91.3	24.7
	III	37.0	33.4	9.3	18.3	15.2	156.3	25.9
	Ι	0.2	28.5	3.0	17.4	5.7	10.0	25.2
July	II	11.1	39.0	11.9	44.0	18.6	44.0	23.8
	III	15.4	15.0	5.8	6.7	67.7	52.3	29.2
Amount for	orthe selected							
period, mr	n	134.7	216.8	56.2	125.3	119.1	302.1	151.6
		HTC**						
May		1.305	2.783	0.719	1.227	0.645	0.258	1.460
June		2.202	1.078	0.613	0.893	0.349	3.124	1.416
July		0.377	1.137	0.230	0.682	0.806	1.349	1.396
August		1.047	0.750	0.061	0.486	0.563	0.349	1.234
Average for	or the	1.232	1.437	0.406	0.822	0.591	1.270	1.377
vegetation	period							

Table 2. Precipitation amount and average daily temperature in comparison with the long-time average annual regime for the research period

* – grey color marks the period from flowering (BBCH 63) to the yellow-brown pod phase (BBCH 86) of the oilseed radish for phenological conditions of the study area; ** $HTC = \frac{\sum R}{0.1 \cdot \sum t_{>10}}$, where the amount of precipitation (ΣR) in mm over a period with temperatures above 10 °C, the sum of effective temperatures ($\sum t_{>10}$) over the same period, decreased by a factor of 10 (Polyovy & Bozhko, 2007).

Variation of morphological parameters of seeds was estimated with a sample of 25 plants in non-contiguous repetitions (total sample of 50 plants). Total number of repetitions for each variant 4. Plant analysis provided for the evaluation of a group of 5 plants in 5 places by the length of the line stochastically by the width of the area with a displacement in the line horizontal to the phase of brown maturity of the pod BBCH 87 (Hocking, 1997; Meier, 2001; Skinner & Moore, 2007) when all the pods have reached a typical size. The formed seeds were selected separately from the three zones of the oilseed radish inflorescence (evenly with the same interval on the total height for each inflorescence according to the general recommendations for determining the vertical level and mosaic of agrophytocenosises (Rabotnov, 1992)). Peculiarities of oilseed radish fruit anatomy due to the evaluation of heterospermy level were carried out taking into account scientific developments in the field of carpology for cruciferous crops (Puri, 1941; Zohary, 1948; Levina, 1987; Lotova & Rudko, 1999; Dorofeyev, 2004; Ilyinska, 2013.

Seed mass characteristics were determined with the use of laboratory scales RADWAG PS 1000.R1with 0.001 g discretion.Analysis of fractional composition of seeds was carried out by sifting the selected average sample of seeds on testing sieve sets with a round cell according to Specifications 23.2.2068-94 typeIandwitha rectangular cell according to Specifications 5.897–11722–95, TC 23.2.2068-94 type II. The fractional composition was also determined by the method of processing a single-layer scanned image of seeds using the Digimizer image analysis software package (v 4.2). Weight of 1000 seeds was determined according to the state national standard (State standard of Ukraine 4138-2002, 2003).

Seed parameters were estimated based on such characteristics as projection surface area (PS, mm²), surface perimeter (P, mm), seed length (L, mm), seed width (W, mm), roundness (R, mm), seed sorting index (SI) (ratio of seed length (L, mm) to its width (W, mm)).

Study of the morphological structure of fruits was conducted in accordance with the general recommendations of morphological and anatomical analysis of cruciferous fruits (Puri, 1941; Zohary, 1948; Levina, 1987; Lotova & Rudko, 1999; Dorofeyev, 2004; Ilyinska, 2013).

To determine these morphometric characteristics, used Didital Caliper (measurement accuracy of 0.01 mm), USB microscopy SigetaMCMOS 5100 5.1 MPUSB 2.0 (in combination with a digital microscope for $\times 10$ and $\times 40$ optical magnification formats) and OotdtyDM-1600, 2 MP with corresponding software and using ImageJ 1.52 software.

The matrix variability index (MVI) in comparison with the morphological parameters of seeds from the lower and upper inflorescence zone was determined in relation to the average coefficient of variation (CV,%). Measurements and observations were performed using field and laboratory photography with the camera Canon EOS 750DKit and lenses Canon EF 100 mmf/2.8 LUS Mand CanonMP-E 65 mmf/2.8 1-5 x Macro.

General methodology of researches, consideration of phenological phases in the system of signs of oilseed radish bearing phase and other related observations and records were conducted in accordance with the basic recommendations of researches on cruciferous crops (Sayko, 2011; Test Guidelines..., 2017) using the package of statistical software Statistica 10, Exel 2013, Past 324 and biometric methods of statistics

(Zar, 1984). The level of variability of morphological features and grouped indicators was conducted on the scale (Zaytsev, 1984): very low (CV < 7%); low (CV = 8-12%); medium (CV = 13-20%); elevated (CV = 21-30%); high (CV = 31-40%); very high (CV > 40%). Given the massiveness of the data and general similarity in the values of formation of features for the studied oilseed radish varieties. The data are presented by key indicators for 'Zhuravka' variety.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

According to our preliminary estimates (Tsytsiura, 2018b), there is a great variation in the seeds of oilseed radish varieties. The seed of this crop itself has a number of

morphological forms, which, in average, make it possible to attribute it to the egg-shaped one with different index of length to width ratio. This is clearly demonstrated in Fig. 1.

According to the presented typological forms of seeds there are egg-shaped, elongated egg-shaped, flattened egg-shaped, oval, globeshaped and various combined forms. Seed color is also a variable indicator (gravimorphic variability) from grey and brown to dark brown with a dark red shade. The color tends to change from light brown for newly harvested seeds to brownish red for seeds after long-term storage. Common external morphological features can be identified for any oilseed radish seed of any shape (Fig. 2). The seed is divided into two symmetrically cotyledonary lobes, separated by a shallow hollow of hypocotyl and coleorhiza elements. These elements are most noticeable on seeds of the middle zone of the pod. The formation of seeds of different sizes within the pod for oilseed radish is determined by several reasons. Some of them are associated with the peculiarities of the formation of different morphotypes



Figure 1. Quality variability of oilseed radish seeds of the 'Zhuravka' variety by typological linear sizes and shape, 2015.



Figure 2. General appearance of oilseed radish seeds of the 'Zhuravka' variety from different positions, 2018.

of pods in the context of different zones of inflorescence, determined by a certain layering of formation of fruit elements the gradient of height (Tsytsiura & Tsytsiura, 2015; Tsytsiura, 2018, 2019). Depending on the tier (lower, middle and upper) (Fig. 3) the oilseed radish pods differ in length, diameter and their ratioas well as by the wall thickness of the pod itself. In particular, the pods of the upper zone in comparison with the pods of the lower zone have thicker walls, significantly shorter length of the pod

itself and overall higher variability in its morphology. The staging of the phenological formation of pods of the upper zone also has signs of desynchronization in the format of accelerated formation and maturation. It causes to deformation of the fruit walls, and to the appearance of such morphotypes as twisted, spiral, crescent, etc.



Figure 3. Morphotypes of oil seed radish pods of the 'Zhuravka' variety (I – pods of the lower zone; II – pods of the middlezone; III, IV – pods of the upper zone) for the technological variant of 2.0 mlnpcs. ha⁻¹ of the germinable seeds with wide-row sowing against the back ground $N_{90}P_{90}K_{90}$ (for the phenological phase BBCH 87–88) (black square with dimensions 2×2 cm), 2018.

This nature of change in the morphology of the fruit provides not only a general decrease in the number of seeds in the pod in the direction from the base to the apex of the inflorescence at the oil radish. This is the scope of variation in the shape and size of the seed and its individual weight characteristics. Such features of pod formation for oilseed radish create prerequisites for reducing the favorability of the formation of the seed itself. This eventually leads to a change in the shape of the seed itself. Similar features were noted on a number of agricultural crops, including those of the cruciferous family (Levina, 1987; Pechan, 1988; Bouttier & Morgan, 1992; Mazer & Wolfe, 1998; Faraji, 2010, Hua et al., 2012; Gnan et al., 2014; Li et al., 2014, Li & Li, 2015a; Li et al., 2015b; Yang et al., 2016, Li et al., 2019, 2020).

The matrix variability of seeds in oilseeded radish pods within one inflorescence zone is also due to the peculiarities of its formation from the earliest stages after successful insemination. Conducted anatomical and microscopic studies at the stage of initiation of the formation of oilseed radish pods (BBCH 68-71), which indicate marked differences both in the size of the seed at the beginning of its formation and in the staging of its development. With these features, the format of the matrix variability by the height placement factor of a seed in a pod can be defined as differently directed. Over the period of many years of observations, I have found a gradual decrease in linear sizes of seeds

from the base of the pod to its apex and a high probability of seeds formation with changed morphotype in the lowest parts of the pod. It should be noted that for all zones

of oil radish inflorescence, which were determined during the evaluation of fruit elements by morphotype (Fig. 3), similar peculiarities in seed formation were noted. Such features are clearly shown in Figs. 4–5.

As a result, for the period of waxy ripeness of seeds (brown pod phase BBCH 85-87) in the dynamic row of assessment of linear sizes of seeds, placed similarly to the pod from its base to the top, there is a gradual reduction of seeds in sizes and the appearance of atypical seeds in shape in the row of seeds by pod height. At the same time, the total number of seeds in the pod has an overall stable tendency to decrease. It was 1-3 seeds on average in comparison with the lower zone pods to the upper zone pods. This is clearly illustrated in Fig. 6. It should be noted that in contrast to rapeseed and mustard, for which the general nature of the variation of linear seed size is most significant in the upper and lower pod zones (Clarke, 1979; Smith & Scarisbrick, 1990; Bouttier & Morgan, 1992; Angadi et al., 2000; Garcia et al., 2005; Gunasekera et al., 2006; Vovchenko & Fursova, 2012; Zheng et al., 2017; Luo et al., 2018; Li et al., 2019), for oilseed radish such variability is more pronounced zonally and includes some seeds of the middle zone of the pod.

The data array obtained in the automated scanned images processing mode (Table 3) has confirmed the general conclusion about the presence of significant levels of matrix quality variability of seeds. In



BBCH 82-83

Figure 4. Nature of variability of oilseed radish seed size of the 'Zhuravka' variety in a pod at various microstages of its formation (in each line position of the figure from left to right: from the base of the pod to its apex), 2017.



Figure 5. Nature of variability of oilseed radish seed size of the 'Zhuravka' variety in a pod at various microstages of its formation position – seed size difference in the formation phase (BBCH 69-71, the dimension of values of mm), 2017.

comparison with seeds from pods with different placement on the mother plant, respectively, for the lower and upper zones against the background of increased variation (according to the values CV (Zaytsev, 1984) projection surface area ofseeds (SA), medium and elevated levels of seed surface perimeter variation (P), medium variation level in length (L), width (W) and seed roundness (R) and, respectively, elevated variation level in seed sorting index (SI) – variation coefficient value was 0.7–3.6% higher for seeds from the upper zone pods.

It was also determined that the studied technological parameters influenced the value of variation of the specified morphological features of seeds. Thus, for all the stand densities study. mineral fertilizer under application contributed to the growth of the overall overall value of all the features without exception. with increasing dynamics, in line with the increasing rate of fertilizer application. This nature of influence is more pronounced in the formation of seeds from the pods of the upper zone with an increase to the unfertilized variant the context of the studied in technological variants of sowing rates from 1.3 to 2.4% in comparison to seeds from the pods of the lower zone in the range from 1.0 to 1.9%. The gradual increase in variation of morphological signs of seeds with a decrease in plant stand density and an increase in the area of their nutrition with a maximum expression at the application of fertilizers in the norm of 90 kg ha⁻¹ of the primary material are determined. Thus, the difference in the average variation coefficient (CV_{aver.}, %)



Figure 6. Qualityvariability of oilseed radish seeds of the 'Zhuravka' variety in the order of their placement in the pods of various zones of the generative part (three upper positions - pods of the middle zone, three middle positions - pods of the lower zone; placement of seeds on the rows of the figure from left to right in each row from the base of the pod to its apex), sampling selection of 2017.

between the variant with the maximum stand density at the rate of 4.0 million of germinable seeds ha^{-1} with the fertilizer $N_{90}P_{90}K_{90}$ and the variant with the minimum stand density at the rate of 0.5 million of germinable seeds ha^{-1} was 7.2% for seeds from the pods of the lower zone and 10.1% for seeds from the pods of the upper zone.

As a result, according to the matrix variability index (MVI), the most significant gap in the morphology of seeds of pods of the lower and upper zones with the value of 0.86 was noted exactly for the variant of 0.5 million of germinables seeds ha^{-1} with the maximum fertilization with N₉₀P₉₀K₉₀. Similar features are noted in other cruciferous crops (Kitaeva, 1952; Tayo & Morgan, 1978; Morgan, 1980; McGregor, 1981; Voytenko, 1989; Lovett-Doust, 1989; Rao et al., 1992; Habekotté, 1996; Susko & Lovett-Doust, 2000; Faraji, 2010; Wang et al., 2011; Li et al., 2016, 2019, 2020).

Table 3. Variation coefficients (CV, %) of the main signs of oilseed radish seeds of the 'Zhuravka' variety according to the results of scanning of seeds for the brown pod phase (BBCH 85-86) in different stages of inflorescence at different variants of formation of agrophytocenosis on the average for 2013–2018, % (for *N* in the scanning group from 4,200 to 18,000)

Morphological signs of seeds that were observed in the Digimizer image analysis software (v 4.2)																
grate ving I	er	S, mm ²	, mm	, mm	V, mm	, mm	I	V _{aver} , %	S, mm	, mm	, mm	V, mm	, mm	Ι	V _{aver} , %	_
ving sov	iliz		<u> </u>	n tha	Poda	$\frac{\alpha}{\text{of th}}$	N N	0	E Cood	<u> </u>	n the	> noda	$\frac{\alpha}{\text{of th}}$		0	
Sov and met	Fer	gene	s noi rative	n the	pous	or the	e upp	ei	gene	rative	zone	pous	or the	2 10 W	el	MV
4.0 million,	1	22.1	18.9	15.2	12.3	17.8	13.2	16.6	20.8	18.2	14.6	11.6	17.1	12.8	15.9	0.96
row	2	22.7	19.1	15.8	12.6	18.2	13.9	17.1	21.2	18.4	15.1	11.8	17.3	13.2	16.2	0.95
	3	23.1	19.7	16.4	13.4	19.1	14.5	17.7	21.6	19.2	15.1	12.4	17.1	13.1	16.4	0.93
	4	25.2	20.4	17.2	14.3	20.6	15.4	18.9	22.2	19.5	15.3	12.6	17.4	13.5	16.8	0.89
3.0 million,	1	23.5	20.4	16.2	13.7	18.4	14.9	17.9	22.6	19.1	15.1	12.3	17.9	13.4	16.7	0.94
row	2	24.2	20.9	17.5	14.2	18.9	15.3	18.5	22.9	20.3	15.7	12.5	18.2	13.8	17.2	0.93
	3	25.1	21.4	18.2	14.9	19.5	15.8	19.2	23.2	20.6	15.9	12.8	18.3	13.9	17.5	0.91
	4	25.8	22.2	18.7	15.5	20.4	16.2	19.8	23.5	20.9	16.4	13.2	18.6	14.4	17.8	0.90
2.0 million,	1	26.7	22.9	19.5	15.9	20.9	16.8	20.5	23.8	21.5	16.2	13.5	18.4	14.8	18.0	0.88
row	2	27.4	23.4	19.8	16.7	21.3	17.2	21.0	24.2	21.8	16.7	14.2	18.8	15.1	18.5	0.88
	3	27.8	24.5	20.2	16.9	21.7	17.6	21.5	24.6	21.9	16.9	14.7	19.3	15.5	18.8	0.88
	4	28.3	25.2	20.7	17.3	22.4	17.9	22.0	24.9	22.3	17.2	14.9	19.7	15.8	19.1	0.87
1.0 million,	1	27.9	23.5	20.8	16.7	21.7	18.2	21.5	25.2	23.7	17.2	15.1	20.6	16.7	19.8	0.92
row	2	28.2	24.2	21.5	16.9	22.4	18.8	22.0	25.8	24.2	17.9	15.6	21.2	17.1	20.3	0.92
	3	28.9	24.7	22.3	17.2	22.8	19.1	22.5	26.2	24.7	18.5	16.3	21.7	17.4	20.8	0.92
a	4	29.2	25.1	22.6	17.7	22.9	19.3	22.8	26.8	25.3	19.1	16.9	22.5	18.4	21.5	0.94
2.0 million,	1	23.5	19.2	15.7	12.9	18.4	13.8	17.3	21.5	18.6	14.9	12.2	17.5	13.1	16.3	0.94
wide-row	2	24.2	19.6	16.4	13.5	18.8	14.3	17.8	21.9	19.3	15.5	12.6	17.9	13.5	16.8	0.94
	3	24.8	20.1	16.8	14.2	19.2	14.9	18.3	22.2	19.5	15.8	12.7	18.3	13.9	17.1	0.93
1.5 '11'	4	25.1	20.8	17.4	14.8	19.6	15.2	18.8	22.5	20.3	16.7	13.2	18.8	14.5	17.7	0.94
1.5 million,	1	25.2	21.8	17.8	14.9	19.1	15.6	19.1	23.4	19.5	15.5	13.4	18.2	13.7	17.3	0.91
wide-row	2	25.8	22.3	18.4	15.5	19.8	16.2	19.7	23.8	20.4	15.9	13.8	18./	14.4	1/.8	0.91
	3	26.1	22.9	19.2	15.8	20.6	10.9	20.3	24.2	20.6	16.3	14.2	19.1	14.8	18.2	0.90
1.0	4	20.9	23.2	19.0	10.4	20.9	17.4	20.7	24.8	21.2	10.9	14.8	19.0	15.5	10.7	0.91
1.0 million,	1	28.1	23.5	20.6	16.4	21.7	17.0	21.3	26.1	24.5	1/.8	14.8	19.5	15.2	19.7	0.92
wide-row	2	28.8	24.2	21.4	10.9	22.3	1/.9	21.9	20.4	25.2	18.1	15.5	19.8	15./	20.1	0.92
	3	29.5	24.8	22.5	17.4	22.9	18.5	22.0	20.8	25.1	18.4	15.5	20.1	15.9	20.4	0.90
0.5 million	4	20.2	$\frac{23.1}{20.2}$	22.9	17.9	23.7	19.4	23.2	21.2	20.1	10.0	15.9	20.4	16.1	20.8	0.89
U.S minion,	1	21.6	29.2	22.0	10.7	24.3	21.5	24.3	20.2	21.5	19.5	16.4	21.3	10.9	21.0	0.00
wide-row	2	21.0	21.4	23.3	19.2	24.1	20.7	24.9	20.9	27.0	19.0	10.0	21.9	17.4	22.1	0.09
	5 4	33.1	32.2	24.1	19.8 21.8	24.7	21.1	23.0 26.8	29.2 30.1	28.1	20.4	17.2	22.4	17.9	22.5	0.86
Tukey test upper/lowe zone <i>p_{adj}</i>	r	0.00096**	0.04152*	0.06317*	0.03942**	0.04752*		20.0		20.7	20.9			10.0	20.1	

 $1 - \text{Fertilizer-free}; 2 - N_{30}P_{30}K_{30}; 3 - N_{60}P_{60}K_{60}; 4 - N_{90}P_{90}K_{90}. \text{ Tukey test: } * - P < 0.05; * - P < 0.001.$

In my opinion, the obtained values are determined by the peculiarities of relations between plants in populations of different densities. Thus, at maximum technological density, the level of variation of indicators is under much higher coenotic tension than in the variants of minimum technological density. Due to these regularities, the average value of a feature has a smaller scale of deviations, also in terms of morphometry of seeds and fruit elements. Mineral fertilizers should be considered in our system as stress regulators, which reduce the coenotic tension (Zlobin, 2009). For these reasons, the range of deviations from the average for the same density level of cenosis indicated by

us also increases dynamically with a reduction of the coenotic tension lower sowing rates. at An important aspect in this context is determine to the role of hydrothermal conditions of oilseed radish vegetation on the general manifestation of the level of variation of morphological features of seeds, which was noted by a number of studies conducted on rapeseed (Rao et al., 1992; Morrison & Stewart, 2002; Gan et al., 2004; Lester et al., 2004; Luo et al., 2018). Comparison of factors of such influence (Fig. 7) allowed noting that decrease of hydrothermal coefficient (HTC) of oilseed radish vegetation period contributes to growth of general variability of seeds and expression of the effect of its matrix variability.



Figure 7. Dependence between the level of variation in the morphological parameters of oilseed radish seeds of the 'Zhuravka' variety, hydrothermal regime of the vegetation period and sowing rate of million germinable seeds ha^{-1} in conjunction with the width of the row spacing for the average for the fertilizer variants (consolidated data for the 2013–2018 period).

The maximum level of variation variability of morphological features of seeds at the level of CV = 27-30%, obtained at HTC in the range of 0.400–0.800 at sowing rate of 0.5–1.0 million germinable seeds ha⁻¹. Accordingly, the minimum level of variability of morphological features of seeds CV = 12-15% - when combined with the following parameters: HTC 1.3–1.4, 3.0–4.0 million germinable seeds ha⁻¹. Such results are quite consistent with our conclusions about the role of stress levels in the combination of density growth. An important component of the evidence of the above conclusions is the conducted fraction separation of oilseed radish seeds on the basis of the studied technological parameters of the construction of its agrophytocenosises. The results of seed separation on two types of sieves with round holes ((mm): 0.5; 1.0; 1.5; 2.0; 2.5; 3.0; 3.5; 4.0; 4.5; 5.0; 6.0; 7.0) (Table 4) and with rectangular holes (1.0×20; 1.2×20; 1.5×20; 1.7×20; 2.0×20; 2.2×20; 2.5×20; 3.0×20) (Table 5) allow us to generalize the peculiarities of the matrix variability of oilseed radish seeds.

Table 4. Fraction composition of oilseed radish seeds by its separation on sieves with round holes for the 'Zhuravka' variety on the brown pod phase (BBCH 85-87) in different tiers of inflorescence with different variants of agrophytocenosis formation on the average for 2013–2018,% (A factor - year)

ć p	*	Fractions by seed separationon sieves with rectangular holes, mm (%)															
ıgrate (C g metho	zer (D)*	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	0.5	m1,000, g	0.5	1.0	1.5	2.0	2.5	3.0	3.5	m1,000, g
win win	rtili	Seed	ls fro	m the	e pod	s of t	he up	oper		See	ds fro	m the	e pod	s of t	he lo	wer	
B so So	Fe	gene	rativ	e zon	e					gen	erativ	e zon	ie				
1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18
4.0	1	7.2	20.6	5 26.3	25.8	3 20.1	0.0	0.0	7.6	3.8	14.2	17.3	30.8	33.9	0.0	0.0	8.3
million,	2	6.6	19.1	27.2	27.6	5 19.5	5 0.0	0.0	7.7	3.2	12.1	17.5	31.6	35.6	0.0	0.0	8.5
row	3	6.2	18.5	5 28.4	30.1	16.8	3 0.0	0.0	8.2	2.1	10.7	18.1	33.2	35.9	0.0	0.0	8.8
	4	5.4	17.7	29.2	31.3	3 16.4	0.0	0.0	8.4	1.8	8.5	18.7	34.4	- 36.6	0.0	0.0	8.9
3.0	1	6.4	19.4	- 28.4	26.7	7 19.1	0.0	0.0	8.0	2.6	13.4	18.2	31.6	34.2	0.0	0.0	8.6
million,	2	5.6	18.8	3 29.1	27.4	19.1	0.0	0.0	8.3	1.6	12.0	18.6	32.7	35.1	0.0	0.0	8,9
row	3	4.9	18.2	29.5	29.2	2 18.2	2 0.0	0.0	8.7	0.9	10.6	18.9	33.1	36.5	0.0	0.0	9.3
2.0	4	4.6	17.4	30.2	30.7	/ 17.1	0.0	0.0	9.0	0.6	9.2	19.2	33.8	37.2	0.0	0.0	9.5
2.0	1	5.3	16.8	3 29.3	27.9	20.7	0.0	0.0	9.2	1.1	13.8	19.2	31.4	34.5	0.0	0.0	9.7
million,	2	4.5	15.9	29.6	28.1	21.9	0.0	0.0	9.4	1.0	11.9	19.5	32.9	34.7	0.0	0.0	10.0
row	3	3.4	14.5	30.2	28.4	23.5	0.0	0.0	9.6	0.4	10.5	20.1	32.6	36.4	0.0	0.0	10.5
1.0	4	2.1	15.8	$\frac{50.8}{20.6}$	29.2	$\frac{2}{2}$ 23.5		0.0	9.8	0.4	8.3	20.7	32.4	25.5	0.0	0.0	10.0
1.0 million	1	5.1 2.5	13.9	21.0	20.2	2 21.0		0.0	9.7	0.0	0.5	20.4	21.0	· 33.3		0.0	10.0
minion,	2	3.3 2 7	14.5) 31.4 21.6	20.7	22.1		0.0	10.0	0.0	9.5	20.0	21.0	207		0.0	10.4
IOW	3 1	2.7	13.7	31.0 32.2	29.2	0 22.1 1 73 3	200	0.0	10.1	0.0	7.0 5.7	21.5	31.2	, 39.7 : 11 7	0.0	0.0	10.0
2.0	4 1	6.1	12.5	26.0	29.1	23.2	<u>0.0</u>	0.0	8 2	$\frac{0.0}{2.1}$	<u> </u>	$\frac{21.3}{18.5}$	33.4	32.0		0.0	87
2.0 million	2	5.8	17.5	- 20.9 - 27 4	27.2	, 21 1 21 6	50.0	0.0	8.5	1.8	10.9	18.9	34.8	32.9		0.0	9.0
wide-row	3	4 8	16.8	27.4	28.2	21.0	700	0.0	8.8	0.8	9.2	19.2	36.5	34.1	0.0	0.0	9.2
wide fow	4	4 5	16.2	29.2	28.6	5 21 5	500	0.0	9.0	0.5	7.8	19.1	37.1	34.9	0.0	0.0	9.4
1.5	1	5.2	17.3	3 27.4	28.5	5 21.6	5 0.0	0.0	9.0	1.2	12.3	19.2	30.5	36.8	0.0	0.0	9.4
million.	2	4.8	16.7	28.1	29.1	21.3	3 0.0	0.0	9.2	0.8	11	19.6	30.4	38.2	0.0	0.0	9.6
wide-row	3	4.4	16.4	28.9	29.4	1 20.9	0.0	0.0	9.3	0.6	9.5	19.9	29.8	40.2	0.0	0.0	10.0
	4	3.9	15.9	29.5	29.8	3 20.9	0.0	0.0	9.7	0.4	6.8	20.6	29.5	42.7	0.0	0.0	10.2
1.0	1	4.5	15.2	29.2	23.3	3 27.8	3 0.0	0.0	9.5	0.0	11.5	20.9	25.7	41.9	0.0	0.0	10.2
million,	2	3.8	13.8	31.3	23.9	9 27.0	0.2	0.0	9.7	0.0	9.8	21.3	25.1	43.3	0.5	0.0	10.5
wide-row	3	3.5	12.6	5 32.6	24.2	2 26.8	3 0.3	0.0	9.9	0.0	7.2	21.6	24.3	46.1	0.8	0.0	11.0
	4	2.7	11.5	33.4	24.7	27.2	2 0.5	0.0	10.4	0.0	5.7	22.1	23.5	47.6	1.1	0.0	11.3
0.5	1	2.3	13.8	31.5	17.7	7 34.4	0.3	0.0	10.4	0.0	9.3	22.5	19.5	48.3	0.4	0.0	11.2
million,	2	1.9	12.7	32.7	17.9	9 34.3	3 0.5	0.0	10.8	0.0	7.8	22.8	19.3	49.3	0.8	0.0	11.5
wide-row	3	1.7	13.2	2 33.4	18.4	132.6	5 0.7	0.0	11.0	0.0	5.5	23.4	19.2	50.7	0.9	0.3	11.7
	4	1.5	11.3	34.3	18.6	5 33.4	0.9	0.0	11.1	0.0	3.8	23.8	19.4	51.6	1.1	0.3	12.0
$LSD_{05}A^*$		0.08	0.31	0.18	0.42	2 0.38	3		0.14		0.18	0.31	0.29	0.60)		0.15
$LSD_{05}B$		0.05	0.18	3 0.10	0.24	0.22	2		0.08		0.10	0.18	0.16	0.35			0.09
$LSD_{05}C$		0.07	0.25	0.15	0.34	0.31			0.12		0.14	0.25	0.23	0.49)		0.13
$LSD_{05}D$		0.07	0.25	0.15	0.34	0.31			0.12		0.14	0.25	0.23	0.49)		0.13
LSD ₀₅ AB		0.12	0.43	0.25	0.59	0.53	3		0.20		0.25	0.44	0.40	0.86	,		0.22
LSD ₀₅ AC		0.17	0.61	0.36	0.84	0.75	5		0.29		0.35	0.62	0.57	1.21			0.31
LSD ₀₅ AD		0.17	0.61	0.36	0.84	0.75	5		0.29		0.35	0.62	0.57	1.21			0.31
$LSD_{05}BC$		0.10	0.35	0.21	0.48	3 0.43	3		0.17		0.20	0.36	0.33	0.70)		0.18

Table 4 (continued)

1	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18
LSD ₀₅ BD	0.10	0.35	0.21	0.48	0.43			0.17		0.20	0.36	0.33	0.70			0.18
$LSD_{05}CD$	0.14	0.50	0.29	0.68	0.61			0.23		0.29	0.51	0.47	0.99			0.25
$LSD_{05}ABC$	0.24	0.86	0.51	1.19	1.06			0.41		0.50	0.88	0.81	1.71			0.44
LSD05ABD	0.24	0.86	0.51	1.19	1.06			0.41		0.50	0.88	0.81	1.71			0.44
LSD05ACD	0.34	1.22	0.72	1.68	1.50			0.57		0.71	1.25	1.14	2.42			0.62
LSD05BCD	0.20	0.70	0.41	0.97	0.87			0.33		0.41	0.72	0.66	1.40			0.36
LSD05ABCD	0.48	1.73	1.01	2.37	2.13			0.81		1.00	1.77	1.62	3.42			0.87
Share of																
influence A																
В	10.30) 36.87	764.61	40.34	126.69	Ð		56.4		17.12	267.90)59.06	543.74	ŀ		56.8
С	6.38	10.54	11.19	12.55	523.26	5		5.00		10.25	6.50	6.35	14.39)		5.54
D	64.18	3 40.75	50.99	17.75	537.11	l		31.7		21.50)20.90)28.37	723.38	8		30.8
AB	15.15	59.88	1.89	2.55	0.20			4.99		47.41	3.40	3.61	5.48			5.24
AC	0.10	0.23	9.52	0.26	0.28			0.07		0.18	0.09	0.20	0.16			0.08
AD	0.91	0.65	7.87	0.26	0.59			0.56		0.30	0.43	0.52	0.41			0.54
BC	0.18	0.12	0.34	0.12	0.03			0.19		0.59	0.17	0.09	0.18			0.19
BD	0.88	0.13	1.28	23.64	48.18			0.48		1.09	0.32	0.53	11.29)		0.46
CD	0.46	0.05	0.22	0.33	0.52			0.02		0.33	0.02	0.01	0.03			0.01
ABC	0.63	0.40	0.24	0.93	0.82			0.17		0.34	0.05	0.35	0.35			0.13
ABD	0.02	0.05	9.24	0.51	0.10			0.10		0.05	0.08	0.12	0.12			0.07
ACD	0.01	0.00	0.36	0.01	0.01			0.00		0.01	0.00	0.07	0.00			0.00
BCD	0.01	0.01	1.01	0.04	0.02			0.02		0.01	0.03	0.18	0.02			0.02
	0.76	0.31	0.12	0.67	2.15			0.13		0.78	0.08	0.33	0.41			0.04
	0.02	0.02	1.11	0.02	0.04			0.02		0.02	0.03	0.21	0.02			0.02

* - in the system of value expression at deprivation of values, %; ** - 1 - Fertilizer-free; 2 - N₃₀P₃₀K₃₀; $3 - N_{60}P_{60}K_{60}$; $4 - N_{90}P_{90}K_{90}$.

According to the data presented in both tables morphological row of oilseed radish seeds of the 'Zhuravka' variety is placed in the range of 0.5–3.5 mm for the sieves with round holes and $1 \times 20 - 3 \times 20$ for the sieves with rectangular holes. This confirmed the affiliation of seeds to the general group a rounded and flattened. It also allowed recommending requires the introduction of a system of combined sieves for technological cleaning and calibration of oilseed radish seeds in production conditions. In addition, the array of data obtained indicates that the fraction composition of the size of seeds from pods of different zones of the plant is significantly different according to certain difference indices LSD_{05} for the main factors and their interaction. Thus, when separating seeds on round sieves (Table 4), given the significance of the difference between the studied variants, it should be noted a reliable increase in the percentage of fine fraction 0.5 mm in the seeds from the pods of the upper zone in the context of all the variants of standing density and fertilization. In fact, for variants 0.5-1.0 million germinable seeds ha⁻¹ of this pod zone, this fraction was absent. As well as it is practically absent the fraction 3.0 and 3.5 mm for all technological variants. The distribution between the seed fractions in the range of 1.5–2.5 mm for seeds of the lower and upper tier of pods also differed significantly. Thus, on the average for the studied technological variants the seed fraction share of 2.0 mm and 2.5 mm for seeds from the pods of the lower zone was 29.83% and 39.40%, which is 11.8% and 69.0% higher than for seeds from the pods of the upper zone. At the same time, the actual nature of fractional distribution in all variants differed: the sum of fractions' share of 0.5–1.5 mm for seeds from pods of the lower zone averaged 30.57%, which is 19.33% lower than for seeds from pods of the upper zone. Seeds of 3.0 and 3.5 mm fractions in the research variants are stably noted for technological variants of 0.5 and 4.0 million germinable seeds ha^{-1} in the variant of $N_{60}P_{60}K_{60}$ and $N_{90}P_{90}K_{90}$ application. The role of mineral fertilizers in changing fractional composition of oilseed radish seeds also had its own peculiarities. Thus, for the variants of evaluation of fractional composition of seeds from the pods of the upper zone, the dynamic growth of fertilizer rates provided a decrease in the share of 0.5 and 1.0 mm seed fractions with adequate growth of other fractions. For seeds from the pods of the lower zone, the effect of mineral fertilizers was of two-level direction: a decrease in the share of the 0.5 mm fraction, 1.0 mm with the growth of other fractions. In case of wide-row sowing variants assuming the sowing rate of 1.5 million germinable seeds ha⁻¹, a decrease in the share of 2.0 mm seed fraction with an increase in the intensity of 2.5 mm share growth by 8.9–10.3% was noted. This indicates that on more dissolved sowings the character of formation of fractional composition of oilseed radish seeds has a more complex interfactional nature with the allocation of two or three main fractions. It should also be noted that the general regularity in the formation of fractional composition on the round sieves, despite the peculiarities in the fertilization section of specific technological variants, has its own characteristics for seeds from pods of both zones. Under these conditions, it is established that a stable growth of the share of large fractions of 2.0, 2.5 mm with a corresponding decrease of fractions of 0.5-1.0 mm. For certain technological variants, the impact of fertilizers on the proportion of the respective fractions had certain features, particularly for seeds from the pods of the upper zone for variants of 3.0–4.0 million germinable seeds ha⁻¹ with normal row sowing and 1.5–2.0 million germinable seeds ha⁻¹ with variants of wide-row sowing. It is proved that an increase in fertilizer rates ensured an increase in the share of seed fractions of 1.5 and 2.0 mm by 4.0-5.5 and 1.8-2.9%, respectively, while the share of seeds of 2.5 mm decreased by 2.0-3.7%.

The results of calculating the weight of 1,000 seeds are also important, as the matrix variability has weight expression and affects the level of individual seed productivity of plants (Makrushin, 1994). At a varietal idiotype of oilseed radish of the 'Zhuravka' variety with the index of mass of 1,000 seeds within 9-12 g, the studied technological approaches had essentially different efficiency of index formation including for seeds from pods of different zones. The average value of this indicator for the studied variants was 9.94 g for seeds from the pods of the lower zone and 9.33 g for seeds from the pods of the upper zone, which makes a difference of 6.5%. It should be noted that the difference in the value of the indicator differed within the technological options from 3.8% to 11.1%. Application of mineral fertilizers at a gradually increasing rate reduced the difference in weight of 1,000 seeds in comparison with seeds from pods of different zones by 1.3–3.7%. The maximum average difference in the value of the indicator for the two zones of pods was noted for the two extreme technological parameters in 4.0 and 0.5 million germinable seeds ha^{-1} - 8.8 and 8.2%, respectively. As a result, the weight of 1,000 seeds had a stable growth dynamics with an increase in the feeding area of one plant against the background of fertilizer increase to $N_{90}P_{90}K_{90}$ with a maximum value for both zones on the level of 11.1–12.0 g and a minimum value in the range of 7.6–8.3 for the non-fertilized background of 4.0 million germinable seeds ha⁻¹.

Table 5. Fraction composition of oilseed radish seeds by its separation on sieves with rectangular holes for the 'Zhuravka' variety on the brown pod phase (BBCH 85-87) in different tiers of inflorescence with different variants of agrophytocenosis formation on the average for 2013-2018, %

$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	(B)	B)	Fract	tions t	y see	d sep	aratio	non si	eves	with r	ectan	gular I	holes,	mm	(%)	
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	grate (C), g method (grate (C), g method (1.0×20	1.2×20	1.7×20	2.0×20	2.2× 20	2.5×20	3.0×20	1.0×20	1.2×20	1.7×20	2.0×20	2.2×20	2.5×20	3.0×20
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$	Sowin sowing	Sowin sowing	Seed gener	s fron rative	n the j zone	pods o	of the	upper		Seed gene	s fron rative	n the p zone	ods o	of the	lower	
4.0 1 25.7 21.4 7.2 26.3 5.1 14.3 0.0 16.8 5.4 36.1 6.2 18.6 0.0 million, 2 25.0 21.9 7.0 25.2 5.5 14.8 0.0 16.3 17.4 5.7 35.2 6.7 18.7 0.0 row 3 21.5 22.9 7.9 24.7 7.4 15.6 0.0 14.8 17.8 5.9 34.7 7.2 18.6 0.0 3.0 1 23.3 22.8 7.7 27.2 6.8 12.2 0.0 14.7 18.2 6.7 33.7 7.9 18.8 0.0 row 3 21.3 23.8 8.7 22.4 2.5 18.7 7.1 32.1 9.3 0.3 0.0 14.2 18.8 6.9 31.9 8.5 19.7 0.0 million, 2 21.5 23.9 8.1 27.7 7.9 11.2 0.0 12.4 8.8 0.9 1.0 10.2 18.8 2.0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	8	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
million, 2 25.0 21.9 7.6 25.5 14.8 0.0 16.3 17.4 5.7 35.2 6.7 18.7 0.0 row 3 21.5 22.9 7.9 24.7 7.4 15.6 0.0 14.8 17.8 5.9 34.7 7.2 19.6 0.0 3.0 1 23.3 22.8 7.7 7.2 2.6 11.6 18.1 6.1 35.6 8.5 20.1 0.0 million, 2 22.6 23.1 8.1 26.8 7.2 12.2 0.0 14.7 18.2 6.7 33.7 7.9 18.8 0.0 cow 3 21.3 23.8 8.5 26.2 7.8 12.4 0.0 12.5 18.7 1.3 9.3 20.3 0.0 12.5 18.7 1.3 1.0 10.1 12.3 1.8 21.4 0.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.2 1.3 0.0 1.3 1.0 1.0 1.2 1.8 1.4 1.0 1.2 1.8 <	4.0	1	25.7	21.4	7.2	26.3	5.1	14.3	0.0	16.9	16.8	5.4	36.1	6.2	18.6	0.0
row 3 21.5 22.9 7.9 24.7 7.4 15.6 0.0 14.8 17.8 5.9 34.7 7.2 19.6 0.0 4 19.7 23.4 8.2 24.2 8.3 16.2 0.0 11.6 18.1 6.1 35.6 8.5 20.1 0.0 million, 2 22.6 23.1 8.1 26.8 7.2 12.2 0.0 14.7 18.2 6.7 33.7 7.9 18.8 0.0 row 3 21.3 23.8 8.5 26.2 7.8 12.4 0.0 12.5 18.7 7.1 31.1 8.8 21.4 8.8 21.4 0.0 million, 2 21.5 23.9 8.1 27.7 7.9 11.2 0.0 12.2 18.2 13.1 0.0 12.4 18.8 21.4 0.0 10.0 10.4 18.8 22.8 13.1 0.0 10.2 18.8 24.9 <td>million,</td> <td>2</td> <td>25.0</td> <td>21.9</td> <td>7.6</td> <td>25.2</td> <td>5.5</td> <td>14.8</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>16.3</td> <td>17.4</td> <td>5.7</td> <td>35.2</td> <td>6.7</td> <td>18.7</td> <td>0.0</td>	million,	2	25.0	21.9	7.6	25.2	5.5	14.8	0.0	16.3	17.4	5.7	35.2	6.7	18.7	0.0
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	row	3	21.5	22.9	7.9	24.7	7.4	15.6	0.0	14.8	17.8	5.9	34.7	7.2	19.6	0.0
3.0 1 23.3 22.8 7.7 27.2 6.8 12.2 0.0 14.7 18.2 6.7 33.7 7.9 18.8 0.0 row 3 21.3 23.8 8.5 26.2 7.8 12.4 0.0 14.7 18.2 6.7 33.7 7.9 18.8 0.0 4 20.2 24.2 8.9 25.8 8.2 12.7 0.0 11.4 19.1 8.2 31.1 8.8 21.4 0.0 20.0 1 22.9 23.4 7.4 28.7 7.5 10.1 0.0 14.2 18.8 6.9 31.9 8.5 19.7 0.0 row 3 20.1 24.6 8.5 26.5 8.3 12.0 0.0 10.2 19.8 2.8 9.7 21.3 0.0 1.0 19.2 24.2 9.2 27.8 8.1 11.5 0.0 11.4 20.4 8.8 6.9 21.1 0.0 10.3 20.6 9.1 27.1 10.3 21.8 0.3		4	19.7	23.4	8.2	24.2	8.3	16.2	0.0	11.6	18.1	6.1	35.6	8.5	20.1	0.0
	3.0	1	23.3	22.8	7.7	27.2	6.8	12.2	0.0	15.5	17.5	6.1	34.8	7.5	18.6	0.0
row 3 21.3 23.8 8.5 26.2 7.8 12.4 0.0 12.5 18.7 7.1 32.1 9.3 20.3 0.0 4 20.2 24.2 8.9 25.8 8.2 12.7 0.0 11.4 19.1 8.2 31.1 8.8 21.4 0.0 2.0 1 22.9 23.4 7.4 28.7 7.5 10.1 0.0 12.3 19.1 7.3 32.2 8.9 0.0 0.0 70w 3 20.1 24.6 8.5 26.5 8.3 12.0 0.0 10.2 19.8 8.2 31.5 9.4 20.9 0.0 10.1 1 20.3 23.9 8.7 28.3 7.8 11.1 0.0 12.6 19.7 7.0 2.1.3 0.0 1100 1 20.3 23.9 8.7 8.5 11.2 0.0 10.8 26.6 9.4 12.2 0.2 7.0 2.1.8 0.3 11010 1 17.9 16.9 9.1 <td< td=""><td>million,</td><td>2</td><td>22.6</td><td>23.1</td><td>8.1</td><td>26.8</td><td>7.2</td><td>12.2</td><td>0.0</td><td>14.7</td><td>18.2</td><td>6.7</td><td>33.7</td><td>7.9</td><td>18.8</td><td>0.0</td></td<>	million,	2	22.6	23.1	8.1	26.8	7.2	12.2	0.0	14.7	18.2	6.7	33.7	7.9	18.8	0.0
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	row	3	21.3	23.8	8.5	26.2	7.8	12.4	0.0	12.5	18.7	7.1	32.1	9.3	20.3	0.0
2.0 1 22.9 23.4 7.4 28.7 7.5 10.1 0.0 14.2 18.8 6.9 31.9 8.5 19.7 0.0 million, 2 21.5 23.9 8.1 27.4 7.9 11.2 0.0 12.3 19.1 7.3 32.2 8.9 20.2 0.0 row 3 20.1 24.6 8.5 26.5 8.3 12.0 0.0 10.2 19.8 8.2 31.5 9.4 20.9 0.0 4 17.7 25.4 9.2 25.7 8.9 13.1 0.0 0.2 8.7 30.8 9.7 21.3 0.0 10 1 20.3 23.9 8.7 28.3 7.8 11.0 0.0 12.6 19.7 30.2 9.1 20.5 0.0 million, 1 15.8 24.8 9.6 27.4 8.5 11.4 20.9 9.6 26.7 10.7 22.5 0.5 2.0 1 17.9 16.9 9.1 28.5 9.4	a 0	4	20.2	24.2	8.9	25.8	8.2	12.7	0.0	11.4	19.1	8.2	31.1	8.8	21.4	0.0
	2.0	1	22.9	23.4	7.4	28.7	7.5	10.1	0.0	14.2	18.8	6.9	31.9	8.5	19.7	0.0
row 3 20.1 24.6 8.5 20.5 8.3 12.0 0.0 10.2 19.8 22 31.5 9.4 20.9 0.0 4 17.7 25.4 9.2 25.7 8.9 13.1 0.0 9.3 20.2 8.7 30.8 9.7 21.3 0.0 10 1 20.3 23.9 8.7 28.3 7.8 11.0 0.0 12.6 19.9 7.7 30.2 9.1 20.5 0.0 million, 2 19.2 24.2 9.2 27.8 8.1 11.5 0.0 11.4 20.4 8.8 28.6 9.4 21.2 0.2 row 3 15.8 25.9 9.8 26.8 9.9 11.8 0.0 9.1 20.9 9.6 26.7 10.7 22.5 0.5 2.0 1 17.9 16.9 9.1 28.5 9.4 18.2 31.5 9.0 8.3 14.1 8.2 35.5 9.1 26.8 0.0 wide-row 1 <	million,	2	21.5	23.9	8.1	27.4	7.9	11.2	0.0	12.3	19.1	7.3	32.2	8.9	20.2	0.0
417.725.49.225.78.913.10.09.320.28.730.89.721.50.010120.323.98.728.37.811.00.012.619.97.730.29.120.50.0million,219.224.29.227.88.111.50.011.420.48.828.69.421.20.2row318.524.89.627.48.511.20.010.820.69.127.110.321.80.3415.825.99.826.89.911.80.09.120.99.626.710.722.50.52.0117.916.99.128.59.418.20.09.313.97.934.18.326.50.0million,216.817.29.527.89.818.90.08.314.18.233.59.126.80.0wide-row315.718.29.826.98.620.80.06.614.58.833.29.727.20.0414.218.810.126.29.521.20.04.914.79.133.510.227.60.015.716.910.727.27.421.90.08.712.88.731.39.428.80.3wide-	row	3	20.1	24.0	8.5	26.5	8.3	12.0	0.0	10.2	19.8	8.2	31.5	9.4	20.9	0.0
1.0120.323.98.728.37.811.00.012.619.77.730.29.120.30.0million,219.224.29.227.88.111.50.011.420.48.828.69.421.20.2row318.524.89.627.48.511.20.010.820.69.127.110.321.80.3415.825.99.826.89.911.80.09.120.99.626.710.722.50.52.0117.916.99.128.59.418.20.09.313.97.934.18.326.50.0million,216.817.29.527.89.818.90.08.314.18.233.59.126.80.0wide-row315.718.29.826.98.620.80.06.614.58.833.29.727.20.0414.218.810.126.29.521.20.04.914.79.133.510.227.60.015.7116.316.610.427.47.821.50.08.912.68.432.68.928.40.2million,215.916.910.727.27.421.90.08.712.88.731.39.4<	1.0	4	$\frac{1/.7}{20.2}$	23.4	9.2	25.7	8.9	13.1	0.0	9.5	20.2	8.7	20.2	9.7	21.5	0.0
	1.0 million	1	20.5	23.9	0.7	20.5	/.0 9 1	11.0	0.0	12.0	19.9	1.1	20.2 20.6	9.1	20.5	0.0
10.w318.524.85.024.45.311.20.010.09.120.09.121.110.521.30.52.0115.825.99.826.89.911.80.09.120.09.626.710.722.50.52.0117.916.99.128.59.418.20.09.313.97.934.18.326.50.0wide-row315.718.29.826.98.620.80.08.314.18.233.59.126.80.0414.218.810.126.29.521.20.04.914.79.133.510.227.60.0414.218.810.126.29.521.20.08.712.88.331.29.727.20.0414.218.810.126.29.521.20.08.712.88.330.29.727.20.015.716.910.727.27.421.90.08.712.88.731.39.428.80.3wide-row314.717.511.326.85.923.80.06.413.98.930.96.932.70.3413.518.211.626.45.125.20.04.313.39.330.77.234.80.41.0 <td>row</td> <td>2</td> <td>19.2</td> <td>24.2</td> <td>9.2</td> <td>27.0</td> <td>0.1 9 5</td> <td>11.3</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>10.9</td> <td>20.4</td> <td>0.0</td> <td>20.0</td> <td>9.4</td> <td>21.2</td> <td>0.2</td>	row	2	19.2	24.2	9.2	27.0	0.1 9 5	11.3	0.0	10.9	20.4	0.0	20.0	9.4	21.2	0.2
2.0110.82.0.99.128.59.418.20.09.120.99.02.0.710.722.50.0million,216.817.29.527.89.818.90.08.314.18.233.59.126.80.0wide-row315.718.29.826.98.620.80.06.614.58.833.29.727.20.0414.218.810.126.29.521.20.04.914.79.133.510.227.60.01.5116.316.610.427.47.821.50.08.912.68.432.68.928.40.2million,215.916.910.727.27.421.90.08.712.88.731.39.428.80.3wide-row314.717.511.326.85.923.80.06.413.98.930.96.932.70.3413.518.211.626.45.125.20.04.313.39.330.77.234.80.41.0114.715.815.324.87.921.20.37.511.89.330.89.630.40.6million,213.215.315.923.98.522.70.57.212.49.628.610.	IOW	5 4	15.5	24.0	9.0	27.4	9.9	11.2	0.0	9.1	20.0	9.1	267	10.5	21.0	0.5
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2.0	1	17.9	16.9	9.1	28.5	9.4	18.2	0.0	93	13.9	7.9	34.1	83	26.5	0.0
Minder,216.71	million	2	16.8	17.2	95	27.8	9.8	18.9	0.0	83	14.1	82	33.5	9.1	26.8	0.0
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	wide-row	3	15.7	18.2	9.8	26.9	8.6	20.8	0.0	6.6	14.5	8.8	33.2	9.7	27.2	0.0
1.5116.316.610.427.47.821.50.08.912.68.432.68.928.40.2million,215.916.910.727.27.421.90.08.712.88.731.39.428.80.3wide-row314.717.511.326.85.923.80.06.413.98.930.96.932.70.3413.518.211.626.45.125.20.04.313.39.330.77.234.80.41.0114.715.815.324.87.921.20.37.511.89.330.89.630.40.6million,213.215.315.923.98.522.70.57.212.49.628.610.530.90.8wide-row312.715.216.522.69.323.20.56.112.99.727.411.231.90.8411.914.616.922.49.823.70.74.713.39.927.311.832.20.80.5113.814.816.320.911.222.50.57.49.39.829.612.330.90.7million,212.514.616.920.211.923.20.75.79.510.628.4 <td< td=""><td></td><td>4</td><td>14.2</td><td>18.8</td><td>10.1</td><td>26.2</td><td>9.5</td><td>21.2</td><td>0.0</td><td>4.9</td><td>14.7</td><td>9.1</td><td>33.5</td><td>10.2</td><td>27.6</td><td>0.0</td></td<>		4	14.2	18.8	10.1	26.2	9.5	21.2	0.0	4.9	14.7	9.1	33.5	10.2	27.6	0.0
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1.5	1	16.3	16.6	10.4	27.4	7.8	21.5	0.0	8.9	12.6	8.4	32.6	8.9	28.4	0.2
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	million,	2	15.9	16.9	10.7	27.2	7.4	21.9	0.0	8.7	12.8	8.7	31.3	9.4	28.8	0.3
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	wide-row	3	14.7	17.5	11.3	26.8	5.9	23.8	0.0	6.4	13.9	8.9	30.9	6.9	32.7	0.3
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		4	13.5	18.2	11.6	26.4	5.1	25.2	0.0	4.3	13.3	9.3	30.7	7.2	34.8	0.4
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1.0	1	14.7	15.8	15.3	24.8	7.9	21.2	0.3	7.5	11.8	9.3	30.8	9.6	30.4	0.6
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	million,	2	13.2	15.3	15.9	23.9	8.5	22.7	0.5	7.2	12.4	9.6	28.6	10.5	30.9	0.8
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	wide-row	3	12.7	15.2	16.5	22.6	9.3	23.2	0.5	6.1	12.9	9.7	27.4	11.2	31.9	0.8
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		4	11.9	14.6	16.9	22.4	9.8	23.7	0.7	4.7	13.3	9.9	27.3	11.8	32.2	0.8
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.5	1	13.8	14.8	16.3	20.9	11.2	22.5	0.5	7.4	9.3	9.8	29.6	12.3	30.9	0.7
wide-row311.614.217.519.412.624.00.75.310.310.824.114.833.80.9 4 10.813.918.218.912.924.50.83.410.611.224.315.234.31.0 LSD_{05} A*0.300.320.190.400.140.290.180.260.150.480.350.40 LSD_{05} B0.170.180.110.230.080.170.110.150.080.280.200.23 LSD_{05} C0.250.260.150.320.120.240.150.210.120.390.280.33 LSD_{05} D0.250.260.150.320.120.240.150.210.120.390.280.33 LSD_{05} AB0.430.450.270.560.200.420.260.370.210.680.490.57 LSD_{05} AC0.600.630.370.800.290.590.370.520.290.970.690.81	million,	2	12.5	14.6	16.9	20.2	11.9	23.2	0.7	5.7	9.5	10.6	28.4	13.5	31.4	0.9
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	wide-row	3	11.6	14.2	17.5	19.4	12.6	24.0	0.7	5.3	10.3	10.8	24.1	14.8	33.8	0.9
$LSD_{05}A$ 0.30 0.32 0.19 0.40 0.14 0.29 0.18 0.26 0.15 0.48 0.35 0.40 $LSD_{05}B$ 0.17 0.18 0.11 0.23 0.08 0.17 0.11 0.15 0.08 0.28 0.20 0.23 $LSD_{05}C$ 0.25 0.26 0.15 0.32 0.12 0.24 0.15 0.21 0.12 0.39 0.28 0.33 $LSD_{05}D$ 0.25 0.26 0.15 0.32 0.12 0.24 0.15 0.21 0.12 0.39 0.28 0.33 $LSD_{05}AB$ 0.43 0.45 0.27 0.56 0.20 0.42 0.26 0.37 0.21 0.68 0.49 0.57 $LSD_{05}AC$ 0.60 0.63 0.37 0.80 0.29 0.59 0.37 0.52 0.29 0.97 0.69 0.81		4	10.8	13.9	18.2	18.9	12.9	24.5	0.8	3.4	10.6	11.2	24.3	15.2	34.3	1.0
$LSD_{05}B$ 0.17 0.18 0.11 0.23 0.08 0.17 0.11 0.15 0.08 0.28 0.20 0.23 $LSD_{05}C$ 0.25 0.26 0.15 0.32 0.12 0.24 0.15 0.21 0.12 0.39 0.28 0.33 $LSD_{05}D$ 0.25 0.26 0.15 0.32 0.12 0.24 0.15 0.21 0.12 0.39 0.28 0.33 $LSD_{05}AB$ 0.43 0.45 0.27 0.56 0.20 0.42 0.26 0.37 0.21 0.68 0.49 0.57 $LSD_{05}AC$ 0.60 0.63 0.37 0.80 0.29 0.59 0.37 0.52 0.29 0.97 0.69 0.81	LSD_{05} A		0.30	0.32	0.19	0.40	0.14	0.29		0.18	0.26	0.15	0.48	0.35	0.40	
$LSD_{05}C$ 0.25 0.26 0.15 0.32 0.12 0.24 0.15 0.21 0.12 0.39 0.28 0.35 $LSD_{05}D$ 0.25 0.26 0.15 0.32 0.12 0.24 0.15 0.21 0.12 0.39 0.28 0.33 $LSD_{05}AB$ 0.43 0.45 0.27 0.56 0.20 0.42 0.15 0.21 0.12 0.39 0.28 0.33 $LSD_{05}AC$ 0.60 0.63 0.37 0.80 0.29 0.59 0.37 0.52 0.29 0.97 0.69 0.81	$LSD_{05}B$		0.17	0.18	0.11	0.23	0.08	0.17		0.11	0.15	0.08	0.28	0.20	0.23	
$LSD_{05}D$ 0.25 0.26 0.15 0.32 0.12 0.24 0.15 0.21 0.12 0.28 0.28 $LSD_{05}AB$ 0.43 0.45 0.27 0.56 0.20 0.42 0.26 0.37 0.21 0.68 0.49 0.57 $LSD_{05}AC$ 0.60 0.63 0.37 0.80 0.29 0.59 0.37 0.52 0.29 0.97 0.69 0.81	$LSD_{05}C$		0.25	0.20	0.15	0.32	0.12	0.24		0.15	0.21	0.12	0.39	0.28	0.33	
$LSD_{05}AC = 0.60 \ 0.63 \ 0.37 \ 0.80 \ 0.29 \ 0.59 = 0.27 \ 0.30 \ 0.29 \ 0.59 = 0.27 \ 0.37 \ 0.20 \ 0.37 \ 0.21 \ 0.08 \ 0.49 \ 0.57 \ 0.21 \ 0.08 \ 0.49 \ 0.57 \ 0.21 \ 0.08 \ 0.49 \ 0.57 \ 0.21 \ 0.08 \ 0.49 \ 0.57 \ 0.21 \ 0.08 \ 0.49 \ 0.57 \ 0.21 \ 0.08 \ 0.49 \ 0.57 \ 0.21 \ 0.08 \ 0.49 \ 0.57 \ 0.21 \ 0.08 \ 0.49 \ 0.57 \ 0.21 \ 0.08 \ 0.49 \ 0.57 \ 0.21 \ 0.08 \ 0.49 \ 0.57 \ 0.21 \ 0.57 \ 0$	$LSD_{05}D$		0.43	0.20	0.13	0.52	0.12	0.24		0.13	0.21	0.12	0.59	0.20	0.55	
$L_{0}L_{0}L_{0}L_{0}L_{0}L_{0}L_{0}L_{0}$	$LSD_{05}AD$		0.45	0.45	0.27	0.50	0.20	0.42		0.20	0.57	0.21 0.20	0.08	0.49	0.57	
$LSD_{05}AD = 0.60 \ 0.63 \ 0.37 \ 0.80 \ 0.29 \ 0.59 = 0.37 \ 0.52 \ 0.29 \ 0.97 \ 0.69 \ 0.81$	LSD ₀₅ AD		0.60	0.63	0.37	0.80	0.29	0.59		0.37	0.52	0.29	0.97	0.69	0.81	

Table 5 (continued)

1	3	4	5	6	7	8	8	10	11	12	13	14	15	16
$LSD_{05}BC$	0.35	0.36	0.22	0.46	0.17	0.34		0.21	0.30	0.17	0.56	0.40	0.46	
$LSD_{05}BD$	0.35	0.36	0.22	0.46	0.17	0.34		0.21	0.30	0.17	0.56	0.40	0.46	
$LSD_{05}CD$	0.49	0.51	0.31	0.65	0.24	0.48		0.30	0.42	0.24	0.79	0.57	0.66	
LSD05ABC	0.85	0.89	0.53	1.12	0.41	0.83		0.52	0.73	0.41	1.37	0.98	1.14	
LSD ₀₅ ABD	0.85	0.89	0.53	1.12	0.41	0.83		0.52	0.73	0.41	1.37	0.98	1.14	
LSD05ACD	1.21	1.26	0.75	1.59	0.58	1.18		0.74	1.04	0.58	1.93	1.39	1.61	
LSD05BCD	0.70	0.73	0.43	0.92	0.33	0.68		0.43	0.60	0.34	1.12	0.80	0.93	
LSD05ABCD	1.71	1.78	1.06	2.25	0.82	1.66		1.04	1.47	0.83	2.73	1.96	2.28	
Share of influence)													
А	20.4	22.3	12.3	55.01	22.8	13.8		8.74	21.41	30.21	57.43	320.33	323.03	
В	55.0	59.7	46.6	7.13	11.8	74.4		63.0	62.58	30.41	4.68	17.00)65.64	
С	12.7	3.51	24.1	8.39	32.4	0.31		8.26	0.60	27.53	30.28	335.53	34.68	
D	9.12	3.25	2.13	2.78	4.64	3.01		16.1	1.75	7.93	3.54	6.45	3.11	
AB	0.85	0.95	0.59	0.19	0.14	0.99		0.95	1.00	0.36	0.14	0.21	0.85	
AC	0.19	0.06	0.35	0.16	0.55	0.03		0.11	0.03	0.46	0.50	0.56	0.10	
AD	0.10	0.06	0.06	0.05	0.13	0.08		0.19	0.07	0.20	0.06	0.15	0.10	
BC	0.17	4.25	13.5	25.22	216.5	6.29		1.27	12.06	51.43	0.60	8.62	1.16	
BD	0.60	0.21	0.01	0.02	3.14	0.40		0.05	0.05	0.24	0.17	0.48	0.19	
CD	0.41	3.98	0.06	0.29	3.63	0.26		0.63	0.02	0.47	1.61	4.81	0.75	
ABC	0.02	0.13	0.16	0.61	0.24	0.07		0.01	0.28	0.10	0.09	0.12	0.04	
ABD	0.01	0.01	0.00	0.00	0.04	0.01		0.00	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	
ACD	0.01	0.07	0.01	0.02	0.08	0.01		0.01	0.01	0.02	0.05	0.10	0.01	
BCD	0.36	1.47	0.03	0.10	3.86	0.32		0.54	0.13	0.61	0.81	5.54	0.33	
ABCD	0.01	0.03	0.00	0.02	0.05	0.01		0.01	0.01	0.02	0.04	0.08	0.02	

* – in the system of value expression at deprivation of values,%; ** – 1 – Fertilizer-free; $2 - N_{30}P_{30}K_{30}$; $3 - N_{60}P_{60}K_{60}$; $4 - N_{90}P_{90}K_{90}$.

Under these conditions have also determined that the share of influence of the studied factors had different efficiency in the formation of values of different fractions of seeds separated on the round sieves, and within certain zones of pods placement. The most determinant factors in the formation of indicators of fractional composition of seeds were determined as the conditions of the year (factor A) with the share of influence in the range 10.3–67.9, sowing rate (factor C) 0.99–64.18. For the share of row width (factor B) and fertilizer (factor D) 5.0–23.26 and 0.2–47.41, respectively.

The certain non-uniformity of influence of the studied factors and their interaction indicates the complex mechanism of formation of linear and weight characteristics of seeds within the limits of fruit elements at different levels of combination of factors of the research. However, the regulatory factors of fractional composition of seeds and the expression of its matrix quality variability can be placed in the following order of importance A>C>D>B>BC. Similar results were obtained with respect to the quality variability of seeds in fractional composition within different zones of oilseed radish fruit elements at its separation on the sieves with rectangular holes (Table 5). The presented nature of fraction distribution has a wider interval nature, which indicates in favor of technologically restricted variant of oilseed radish seed separation on round sieves. This is indicated particularly by the corresponding share of seed fractions with the size of 1.7×20 mm and 2.2×20 mm. The nature of the fractional composition was different for seeds from pods of different zones.

For the average variant on technological variants in seeds from pods of the lower zone of the generative part the share of fraction 1.0×20 mm is 45.1% lower than for the variant from pods of the upper zone. For fractions 1.2×20 and 1.7×20 , respectively, it was 21.2% and 23.6% lower. However, the total increase in the share of fractions in the range from 2.0-2.5×20, was noted, respectively, by 21.7%, 13.3% and 45.5%. In addition, considering certain technological variants, the formation of fractional composition has the same features as in the case of separation on round sieves. These features include a consistent increase in the share of large seed fractions (2.2 and 2.5 mm) with an increase in a single plant's feeding area and an increase in background fertilizer. In addition, the nature of growth has two levels: one is observed in the range of normal line sowing. The other is observed in the range of wide-row sowing. Due to these reasons, the factor interaction of the research data system has a different nature of relationships among their values: B>A>C>D>BC. That is, the main components that determine the fractional distribution of seeds by separation on rectangular sieves is the width of row spacing and conditions of the year. It should also be noted that the sowing rate factor has two realizable components both as a single component and as its interaction with the width of row spacing.



The interval of the scanned area of the seed surface, cm²



Figure 8. (a) Interval distribution of seeds of the 'Zhuravka' variety by indicators of the area of the scanned surface and sorting index of seeds for different fractions of seeds from the pods of the upper zone (position 1–2) of the generative part of plants with a technological variant of 2.0 million germinable seeds ha⁻¹ with fertilizer N90P90K90, 2013.



Figure 8. (b). The same from the pods of the lower zone (position 3–4), 2013.

On the other hand, it is important for practical seed production of cruciferous crops to understand the internal alignment of the received fractions of seeds (Würschum et al., 2012; Yang et al., 2016, 2017; Zheng et al., 2017). By applying the same electronic scanning approach to the separated seeds, we obtained its interval values of the morphological features of the seeds used to assess their variability (Table 3). So, for example, for the technological variant of 2.0 million germinable seeds ha⁻¹ with fertilizer N90P90K90 (conditions of 2016), the nature of the interval row of seeds by the size of the area of the scanned surface (SA) andsorting index (SI) for two fractions of 2.5 mm (round sieves) (Fig. 8 (a, b)) and 2.5×20 (rectangular sieves) (Fig. 9) for different zone was different I also have found that the general variability of certain intervals for both given indicators on the value of the variation coefficient (CV) both for the fractions sieves is higher in the variant of seeds from the pods of the upper zone.

In particular, Figs 8, 9 gives an example of conditions for 2013 as approximate to the long-time average annual hydrothermal regime of vegetation of oilseed radish plants. Moreover, it should be noted that the difference in the variation coefficient between seeds from both pod zones was 3.5–9.7% higher for seeds from the upper zone. It was determined a higher value in the range of annual values for these deviations in the stress dry years (2015, 2017), and a lower value in the same range of values for conditions of years with moderate or optimal moistening (2013, 2014).



Figure 9. Interval distribution of seeds of the 'Zhuravka' variety by indicators of sorting index of seeds for seed fractions 2×25 mm from the pods of the upper zone (position 1) and from the pods of the lower zone (position 2) of the generative part of plants with a technological variant of 2.0 million germinable seeds ha⁻¹ with fertilizer N₉₀P₉₀K₉₀, 2013.

It is also important that the general alignment of seeds from both zones of the generative part of plants is higher than the separation of seeds on rectangular sieves. For example, in Figs. 8 (a b) and 9, the coefficient of variation in the separation of seeds on round sieves was 2.2–5.4% higher, compared to a similar indicator for the separation of seeds on rectangular sieves.

CONCLUSION

Thus, on the basis of a comprehensive analysis of long-term data we have determined the presence of matrix quality variability of oilseed radish seeds both in morphological and weight characteristics according to the nature of placement of pods in the generative part of plants. The level of seed quality by matrix type in oilseed radish is determined by the nature of inflorescence formation and the corresponding morphotype of fruit elements, variable according to their height. The difference in the coefficient of variation of linear seed sizes was on average 6.7% higher for the upper zone of oilseed radish inflorescence compared to the lower zone. The maximum matrix variability of oilseed radish seeds was observed in the variant with a sowing rate of 0.5 million germinable seeds ha⁻¹ against the background of the application of 90 kg ha⁻¹ of mineral fertilizers. The integrated indicator of seed variability for this variant was the coefficient of 1.45 and 1.61 in comparison for the lower and upper inflorescence zones,

respectively, in the system of the ratio of the two variants 0.5 and 4.0 million germinable seeds ha⁻¹. Mineral fertilizers contributed to the growth of seed variability in the range of 4.5–10.0% for the upper inflorescence zone depending on the cenosis design variant and 5.6–14.0% for the lower inflorescence zone. The heterogeneity of oilseed radish seed fractions in both round and elongated sieves was maximal at the minimum seeding rate on the background of maximum fertilizer. The summary result of the researchwas defined a decrease in the total linear individual size of oilseed radish seeds within the pod from the lower to the upper zone with a consistent reduction in the range of 3.8–8.3%, within the inflorescence in the range of 6.8–15.8%. An increase in the variation of seed morphoparameters in the comparison of the lower and upper zones of the inflorescence and pod by 7.2–10.2% with the maximum values of the growth of differences in the variants of the lowest seeding rate against the background of the maximum fertilizer N₉₀P₉₀K₉₀ was established.

REFERENCES

- Aicher, R.J., Larios, L. & Suding, K.N. 2011. Seed supply. recruitment. and assembly: quantifying relative seed and establishment limitation in a plant community context. *The American Naturalist* **178**, 464–477.
- Al-Doori, S.A.M. & Hasan, M.Y. 2010. Effect of row spacing and nitrogen fertilization on growth, yield and quality of some rapeseed genotypes. *Journal Research* 9(4), 531–550.
- Ali, N., Javidfar, F. & Attary, A.A. 2002. Genetic variability.correlation and path analysis of yield and its components in winter rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.). *Pakistan Journal of Botany* 34(2), 145–150.
- Alonso-Blanco, C., Aarts, M.G.M., Bentsink, L., Keurentjes, J.J.B., Reymond, M. & Vreugdenhil, D. 2009. What has natural variation taught us about plant development, physiology, and adaptation? *Plant Cell* 21, 1877–1896.
- Angadi, S.V., Cutforth, H.W., Miller, P.R., McConkey, B.G., Entz, M.H., Brandt, S.A. & Volkmar, K.M. 2000. Response of three Brassica species to high temperature stress during reproductive growth. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* **80**, 693–701.
- Balodis, O. & Gaile, Z. 2016. Sowing date and rate effect on winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.) yield components' formation. *Proceedings of the Latvian Academy of Sciences. Section B. Natural, Exact, and Applied Sciences* 70, 384–392.
- Batygina, T.B. 1999. Genetic heterogeneity of seeds: embryological aspects. *Plant Physiology* **46**(3), 438–454 (in Russian).
- Béreš, J., Bečka, D., Tomášek, J. & Vašák, J. 2019. Effect of autumn nitrogen fertilization on winter oilseed rape growth and yield parameters. *Plant, Soil and Environment* **65**(9), 435–441.
- Berry, P.M. & Spink, J.H. 2006. A physiological analysis of oilseed rape yields: Past and future. The *Journal of Agricultural Science* 144, 381–392.
- Berry, P.M., Spink, J.H., Foulkes, M.J. & White, P.J. 2010. The physiological basis of genotypic differences in nitrogen use efficiency in oilseed rape (*Brassica napus L.*). Field Crops Research 119, 365–373.
- Bouttier, C. & Morgan, D. 1992. Ovule development and determination of seed number per pod in oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). *Journal of Experimental Botany* **43**, 709–714.
- Bukharov, A.F. & Baleev, D.N. 2012. The morphology of different quality seeds of vegetable umbrella crops. due to the place of formation on the mother plant. *Vegetable crops of Russia* **2**(15), 44–47 (in Russian).
- Cavers, P. & Steel, M. 1984. Patterns of change in seed weight over time on individual plants. *The American Naturalist* **124**, 324–335.

- Chay, P. & Thurling, N. 1989. Variation in pod length in spring rape (*Brassica napus*) and its effect on seed yield and yield components. *Journal of agricultural science Cambridge* **113**, 139–147.
- Clarke, J.M. 1979. Intra-plant variation in number of seeds per pod and seed weight in *Brassica* napus. Tower. Canadian Journal of Plant Science **59**, 959–962.
- Donohue, K. & Schmitt, J. 1998. Maternal environmental effects in plants: adaptive plasticity? In Maternal Effects as Adaptations (Mousseau. T.A. & Fox.C.W. eds). Oxford University Press. 137–158.
- Dorofeyev, V.I. 2004. Fruits of the cruciferous: variety, structure, classification, origin. *Turczaninowia* 7(3), 76–87 (in Russian).
- Faraji, A. 2010. Flower formation and pod/flower ratio in canola (*Brassica napus* L.) affected by assimilates supply around flowering. *International Journal of Plant Production* **4**, 271–280.
- Faraji, A. 2012. Oil concentration in canola (*Brassica napus* L.) as a function of environmental conditions during seed filling period. *International Journal of Plant Production* **6**, 267–278.
- Fox, P.N., Crossa, J. & Ramagosa, I. 1997. Multienvironment testing and genotype x environment interaction. In: Kempton. R.A. and Fox P.N. (Eds.) Statistical methods for plant variety evaluation. Chapmann & Hall, pp. 117–138.
- Fu, Y., Wei, D., Dong, H., He, Y., Cui, Y., Mei, J. & Friedt, W. 2015. Comparative quantitative trait loci for silique length and seed weight in *Brassica napus*. Scientific reports 5, 1–9.
- Gan, Y., Angadi, S.V., Cutforth, H., Potts, D., Angadi, V.V. & McDonald, C.L. 2004. Canola and mustard response to short periods of temperature and water stress at different developmental stages. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* **84**, 697–704.
- Garcia, D., Fitz Gerald, J.N. & Berger, F. 2005. Maternal control of integument cell elongation and zygotic control of endosperm growth are coordinated to determine seed size in Arabidopsis. *Plant Cell* **17**, 52–60.
- Geritz, S.A., van der Meijden, E. & Metz, J.A. 1999. Evolutionary dynamics of seed size and seedling competitive ability. *Theoretical Population Biology* **55**, 324–343.
- Gattelmacher, B., Horst, W.J. & Becker, H.C. 1994. Factors that contribute to genetic variation for nutrient efficiency of crop plants. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 157, 215–224.
- Gnan, S., Priest, A. & Kover, P.X. 2014. The genetic basis of natural variation in seed size and seed number and their trade-off using *Arabidopsis thaliana* MAGIC lines. *Genetics* **198**(4), 1751–1758.
- Gomez, N.V. & Miralles, D.J. 2011. Factors that modify early and late reproductive phases in oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.): its impact on seed yield and oil content. *Industrial Crops and Products* **34**, 1277–1285.
- Grant, C., Relf-Eckstein, J. & Zhou, R. 2013. *Impact of traditional and enhanced efficiency phosphorus fertilizers on canola emergence, yield, maturity and quality*. Canola Digest Science. Science Edition, 17 pp.
- Gunasekera, C.P., Martin, L.D., Siddique, K.H.M. & Walton, G.H. 2006. Genotype by environment interactions of Indian mustard (*Brassica juncea* L.) and canola (*Brassica napus* L.) in Mediteranneantype environments. 1. Crop growth and seed yield. *European Journal of Agronomy* **25**, 1–12.
- Habekotté, B. 1996. *Winter oilseed rape.analysis of yield formation and crop type design for higher yield potential*. Ph.D. Thesis. Wageningen Agricultural University, Wageningen the Netherlands, 156 pp.
- Hasanuzzaman, M. 2020. The Plant Family Fabaceae. Biology and Physiological Responses to Environmental Stresses. Editors: Hasanuzzaman, M., Araújo, S. & Gill, S.S. (Eds.). Department of Agronomy Sher-e-Bangla Agricultural University Dhaka, Bangladesh, Springer Nature Singapore Pte Ltd., 531 pp.
- Hocking, D. 1997. Radish growing. NSW Agriculture Agfact 8(1), 32.

- Hocking, P.J., Kirkegarrd, J.A., Angus, J.F., Gibson, A.H. & Koetz, E.A. 1997. Comparison of canola, Indian mustard and linola in two contrasting environments. I. Effects of nitrogen fertilizer on dry-matter production, seed yield and seed quality. *Field Crops Research* 49, 107–125.
- Hocking, P.J. & Stapper, M. 2001. Effects of sowing time and nitrogen fertiliser on canola and wheat, and nitrogen fertiliser on Indian mustard. II. Nitrogen concentrations, N accumulation, and N fertiliser use efficiency. *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research* **52**, 635–644.
- Horst, W., Behrens, T., Heuberger, H., Kamh, M., Reidenbach, G. & Wiesler, F. 2003. Genotypic differences in nitrogen use-efficiency in crop plants. In Innovative Soil-plant Systems for Sustainable Agricultural Production (Eds Lynch, J.M., Schepers, J.S. & Ünver, I.), Paris, France: OECD, pp. 75–92.
- Hua, W., Li, R.J., Zhan, G.M., Liu, J., Li, J. & Wang, X.F. 2012. Maternal control of seed oil content in *Brassica napus*: the role of silique wall photosynthesis. *The Plant Journal* **69**, 432–444.
- Ilyinska, A.P. 2013. Modern approaches to the classification of fruits *Brassicaceae* (on the example of flora of Ukraine). *Ukrainian Botanical Journal* **70**(4), 467–478 (in Ukrainian).
- Imbert, E. 2002. Ecological consequences and ontogeny of seed heteromorphism. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* **5**(1), 13–36.
- Inanaga, S. & Kumura, A. 1987. Internal factors affecting seed set of rapeseed. In Seventh International Rapeseed Congress. Abstracts. *Polska angenja Interpress* **31**.
- IUSS Working Group WRB: World Reference Base for Soil Resources 2014. Update 2015. *World Soil Resources Reports* **106**, FAO, Rome, 203 pp.
- Ivanova, M.I. & Sarmosova, A.N. 2014. Comparative analysis of different quality seeds of cabbage cultures. *Bulletin of the Altai State Agrarian University* **4**(114), 5–9 (in Russian).
- Jankowski, K., Kijewski, Ł., Skwierawska, M., Krzebietke, S. & Mackiewicz-Walec, E. 2014. The effect of sulfur fertilization on the concentrations of copper, zinc and manganese in the roots, straw and cake of rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L. ssp. *oleifera* Metzg). *Journal of Elementology* 19, 433–446.
- Kaushik, N., Kumar, K., Kumar, S., Kaushik, N. & Roy, S. 2007. Genetic variability and divergence studies in seed traits and oil content of Jatropha (*Jatropha curcas* L.) accessions. *Biomass Bioenergy* 31, 497–502.
- Kennedy, Y., Yokoi, S., Sato, T., Daimon, H., Nishida, I. & Takahata, Y. 2011. Genetic variation of storage compounds and seed weight in rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.) germplasms. *Breeding Science* **61**, 311–315.
- Khan, M.R.G., Ai, X.Y. & Zhang, J.Z. 2014. Genetic regulation of flowering time in annual and perennial plants. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: RNA* **5**(3), 347–359.
- Kindruk, N.A., Sechnyak, L.K. & Slyusarenko, O.K. 1990. Environmental basics of seed production and forecasting of winter wheat seeds yield qualities. Kyiv, Urozhay, 184 pp. (in Ukrainian).
- Kitaeva, I.E. 1952. *Quality varieties of turnip seeds cabbage rutabaga and radish and its causes:* authoreferat of Ph.D. Thesis. Moscow, 24 pp. (in Russian).
- Kizilova, E.G. 1974. Seed quality variability and its agronomic importance. Kiev: Urozhay, 216 pp. (in Russian).
- Kyrpa, N.Ya. 2011. *Principles and methods of seed mass separation*. In: Storage and processing of seeds 4(142), 33–36 (in Ukrainian).
- Leishman, M.R., Westoby, M. & Jurado, E. 1995. Correlates of Seed Size Variation: A Comparison among Five Temperate Floras. *Journal of Ecology* **83**, 517–529.
- Lemontey, C., Mousset-Declas, C., Munier-Jolain, N. & Boutin, J.P. 2000. Maternal genotype influences pea seed size by controlling both mitotic activity during early embryogenesis and final endoreduplication level cotyledon cell size in mature seed. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **51**, 167–175.

- Lester, W.Y., Wilen, R., Peta, W. & Bonham-Smith, C. 2004. High temperature stress of *Brassica* napus during owering reduces micro- and megagametophyte fertility. Induces fruit abortion.and disrupts seed production. Journal of Experimental Botany **55**(396), 485–495.
- Levina, R.E. 1987. Morphology and ecology of fruits. Leningrad, Nauka, 160 pp. (in Russian).
- Li, Y.P., Cheng, Y., Cai, G.Q., Fan, C.C. & Zhou, Y.M. 2014. Cytological basis and molecular mechanism of variation in number of seeds per pod in *Brassica napus*. Sci Sin Vitae 44, 822–831.
- Li, F., Chen, B., Xu, K., Wu, J., Song, W., Bancroft, I., Harper, A.L., Trick, M., Liu, S., Gao, G., Wang, N., Yan, G., Qiao, J., Li, J., Li, H., Xiao, X., Zhang, T. & Wu, X. 2014a. Genome-wide association study dissects the genetic architecture of seed weight and seed quality in rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.). DNA Research 21, 355–367.
- Li, N. & Li, Y.H. 2015a. Maternal control of seed size in plants. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **66**, 1087–1097.
- Li, N., Peng, W., Shi, J.Q., Wang, X.F., Liu, G.H. & Wang, H.Z. 2015b. The natural variation of seed weight is mainly controlled by maternal genotype in rapeseed (*Brassica napus L.*). *PLOS ONE* 10:e0125360.
- Li, D., Lin, B G. & Zhang, D Q. 2016. Three-dimensional modeling of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.) and its application in canopy architecture analysis. *Journal of Wuhan University of Technology Materials Science Edition* **62**, 575–580 (in Chinese).
- Li, N., Song, D., Peng, W., Zhan, J., Shi, J., Wang, X. & Liu, G. 2019. Maternal control of seed weight in rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.): the causal link between the size of pod (mother, source) and seed (offspring, sink). *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 17, 736–749.
- Li, S., Zhu, Y., Varshney, R.K., Zhan, J., Zheng, X. & Shi, J. 2020. A systematic dissection of the mechanisms underlying the natural variation of silique number in rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.) germplasm. *Plant Biotechnology Journal* 18, 568–580.
- Lotova, L.I. & Rudko, A.I. 1999. Anatomical features of fruits of different morphological types in the cruciferous family. *Bulletin of MOIP*. Biology section 104, **6**, 49–57.
- Lovett-Doust, J. 1989. Plant reproductive strategies and resource allocation. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* **4**, 230–234.
- Luo, T., Zhang, J., Khan, M.N., Liu, J., Xu, Z. & Hu, L. 2018. Temperature variation caused by sowing dates significantly affects floral initiation and floral bud differentiation processes in rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.). *Plant Science* **271**, 40–51.
- Makrushin, M.M. 1994. Seed science of field crops. Kiev: Urozhay. 208 pp. (in Ukrainian).
- Marjanovi'c-Jeromela, A., Nagl, N., Gvozdanovi'c-Varga, J., Hristov, N., Kondi'c-Špika, A., Vasi'c, M. & Marinkovi'c, R. 2011. Genotype by environment interaction for seed yield per plant in rapeseed using AMMI model. *Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira* **46**, 174–181.
- Mazer, S. & Wolfe, L. 1998. Density-mediated maternal effects on seed size in wild radish: genetic variation and its evolutionary implications. In Maternal Effects as Adaptations (Mousseau. T.A. and Fox.C.W..eds). Oxford University Press. pp. 323–343.
- McGregor, D.I. 1981. Pattern of flower and pod development in rapeseed. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* **61**, 275–282.
- Meier, U. 2001. *BBCH Monograph*. Federal Biological Research Centre for Agriculture and Forestry. 2-th. Edition, 158 pp.
- Monty, A., Maebe, L., Mahy, G. & Brown, C.S. 2016. Diaspore heteromorphism in the invasive *Bromus tectorum* L. (*Poaceae*): sterile florets increase dispersal propensity and distance. *Flora* **224**, 7–13.
- Morgan, D.G. 1980. Factors affecting fruit and seed development in field beans and oilseed rape. In Joint DPGRG and BPGRG Symposium Aspects and Prospects of Plant Growth Regulators. Monograph, 6. 151–164.
- Morrison, M.J. & Stewart, D.W. 2002. Heat stress during flowering in summer *Brassica*. Crop Science **42**, 797–803.

- Nikolaeva, M.H., Lyanguzova, I.V. & Pozdova, L.M. 1999. Seed biology. Saint Petersburg: Research Institute of chemistry, 232 pp. (in Russian).
- Olsson, G. 1960. Some relations between number of seeds per pod. seed size and oil content and the effects of selection for these characters *Brassica* and *Sinapsis*. *Hereditas* **46**, 27–70.
- Ozturk, O. 2010. Effects of source and rate of nitrogen fertilizer on yield, yield components and quality of winter rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.). *Chilean Journal of Agricultural Research* **70**, 132–141.
- Pechan, P.M. 1988. Ovule fertilization and seed number per pod determination in oil seed rape (*Brassica napus*). Annals of Botany **61**, 201–207.
- Polowick, P.L. & Sawhney, V.K. 1986. A scanning electron microscopic study on the initiation and development of floral organs *Brassica napus* (cv. Westar). *American Journal of Botany* 73, 254–263.
- Polyovy, A.M. & Bozhko, L.Yu. 2007. *Long-term agro-meteorological forecasts*. Kyiv. KNT, 293 pp. (in Ukrainian).
- Porter, M.J., Pan, W.L., Schillinger, W.F., Madsen, I.J., Sowers, K.E. & Tao, H. 2020. Winter canola response to soil and fertilizer nitrogen in semiarid Mediterranean conditions. *Agronomy Journal* **112**, 801–814.
- Puri, V. 1941. Studies in floral anatomy: I. Gynoecium constitution in the *Cruciferacea* Proc. *Indian Academy of Sciences* **41**, 166–187.
- Qian, P., Urton, R., Schoenau, J.J., King, T., Fatteicher, C. & Grant, C. 2012. Effect of seedplaced ammonium sulfate and monoammonium phosphate on germination, emergence and early plant biomass production of brassicae oilseed crops. In: Oilseeds. U.G. Akpan [Ed]. Rijeka: Intech Publishing Inc. pp. 53–62.
- Rabotnov, T.A. 1992. *Phytocoenology: Textbook for universities*. 3rd edition. Revisions and additions. Moscow, Publishing House of Moscow State University, 352 pp. (in Russian).
- Ragab, R., Battilani, A., Matovic, G., Stikic, R., Psarras, G. & Chartzoulakis, K. 2015. Saltmed model as an integrated management tool for water, crop, soil and N-fertilizer water management strategies and productivity: field and simulation study. *Irrigation and Drainage* 64, 13–28.
- Rahman, M., & McVetty, P.B.E. 2011. A review of Brassica seed color. *Canadian Journal of Plant Science* **91**, 437–446.
- Rao, G.U., Jain, A. & Shivanna, K.R. 1992. Effects of high temperature stress on Brassica pollen: viability. germination and ability to set fruits and seeds. *Annals of Botany* **69**, 193–198.
- Rathke, G.W., Christen, O. & Diepenbrock, W. 2005. Effects of nitrogen source and rate on productivity and quality of winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.) grown in different crop rotations. *Field Crops Research* **94**, 103–113.
- Rees, M. 1996. Evolutionary ecology of seed dormancy and seed size. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **351**, 1299–1308.
- Roach, D.A. & Wulff, R.D. 1987. Maternal effects in plants. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 18, 209–235.
- Sadeghi, H., Khazaei, F., Sheidaei, S. & Yari, L 2011. Effect of seed size on seed germination behavior of safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius* L.). *Journal of Agriculture and Biological Sciences* 6, 5–8.
- Sadras, V.O., Rebetzke, G.J. & Edmeades, G.O. 2013. The phenotype and the components of phenotypic variance of crop traits. *Field Crops Research* **154**, 255–259.
- Sayko, V.F. 2011. *Features of research on cruciferous oil crops*. Kiev: 'Institute of Agriculture of the NAAS of Ukraine', 76 pp. (in Ukrainian).
- Scarisbrick, D.H., Daniels, R.W. & Noor Rawi, A.B. 1982. The effect of varying seed rate on the yield and yield components of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus*). Journal of Agricultural Science **99**, 561–568.
- Schiessl, S.V., Qian, W., Iniguez-Luy, F. & Snowdon, R.J. 2015. Diverse regulatory factors associate with flowering time and yield responses in winter-type *Brassica napus*. *BMC Genomics* 16, 737.
- Skinner, R.H. & Moore, K. 2007. Chapter 4: Growth and Development of Forage Plants. In: Barnes, R.F., Moore, K.J., Nelson, C.J., Collins, M. editors. Forages. Volume 2: The Science of Grassland Agriculture. Sixth Edition. Ames, Iowa: Blackwell Publishing, pp. 53–66.
- Sieling, K., Böttcher, U. & Kage, H. 2017. Effect of Sowing Method and N Application on Seed Yield and N Use Efficiency of Winter Oilseed Rape. *Agronomy* 7, 21.
- Silveira, F.A.O., Negreiros, D., Araújo, L.M. & Fernandes, G.W. 2012. Does Seed Germination Contribute to Ecological Breadth and Geographic Range? A Test with Sympatric Diplusodon (Lythraceae) Species from Rupestrian Fields. Plant Species Biology 27, 170–173.
- Smith, L.J. & Scarisbrick, D.H. 1990. Reproductive development in oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* cv. Bienvenu). *Annals of Botany* **65**, 205–212.
- Stankowski, S., Bury, M., Jaroszewska, A, Michalska, B. & Gibczyńska, M. 2019. Effect of multi-component fertilizers on seeds yield, yield components and physiological parameters of winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). Agronomy Research 17(5), 2071–2081.
- State standard of Ukraine 4138–2002. 2003. Seeds of agricultural plants. Methods of quality determination. Valid since 2004.01.01. Kiev, Derzhspozhyvstandart, 173 pp. (in Ukrainian).
- Sundaresan, V. 2005. Control of seed size in plants. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA* **102**, 17887–17888.
- Susko, D.J. & Lovett-Doust, L. 2000. Patterns of seed mass variation and their effects on seedlings traits on *Alliaria petiolata (Brassicaceae)*. *American Journal of Botany* **87**(1), 56–66.
- Takashima, N.E., Rondanini, D.P., Puhl, L.E. & Miralles, D.L. 2013. Environmental factors affecting yield variability in spring and winter rapeseed genotypes cultivated in the southeastern Argentine Pampas. *European Journal of Agronomy* **48**, 88–100.
- Tayo, T.O. & Morgan, D.G. 1978. Factors influencing flower and pod development in oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). *The Journal of Agricultural Science Cambridge Core* **92**, 363–373.
- Test Guidelines for the conduct of tests for distinctness. uniformity and stability of Fodder Radish (Raphanus sativus L. var. oleiformis Pers.). Geneva. 2017. 19 pp.
- Tsytsiura Ya.H. 2018a. Features of layering formation in the oilseed radish agrophytocenosis under conditions of the right-bank forest-steppe of Ukraine. *Scientific bulletin of the National University of Life and Environmental Sciences of Ukraine*. Issue **286**. Series: Agronomy, pp. 205–215 (in Ukrainian).
- Tsytsiura, Ya.H. 2018b. Peculiarities of oilseed radish sowing desiccation considering the morphogenesis of its fruit elements under conditions of the the right-bank forest-steppe of Ukraine. *Tavria scientific bulletin: Academic periodical* **100**(2), 118–129 (in Ukrainian).
- Tsytsiura, Ya.H. & Tsytsiura, T.V. 2015. *Oilseed radish. Strategy of use and cultivation for fodder and seeds: monograph.* Vinnytsia: FOP Danylyuk V.H. 590 pp. (in Ukrainian).
- Tsytsiura, Y.H. 2019. Evaluation of the efficiency of oil radish agrofitocenosis construction by the factor of reproductive effort. *Bulgarian Journal of Agricultural Science* **25**(6), 1161–1174.
- Venable, D.L. 1985. The evolutionary ecology of seed heteromorphism. *American Naturalist* **126**(5), 577–595.
- Vovchenko, Yu.V. & Fursova, G.K. 2012. *Mustard: biology of yield formation and seed formation: monograph.* Kharkiv: Fort. 136 pp. (in Ukrainian).
- Voytenko, V.F. 1989. Heterocarpium (heterodisporia) in angiosperms: concept analysis, classification, terminology. *Ukrainian Botanical Journal* 74(3), 281–297 (in Ukrainian).
- Vujaković, M., Marjanović-Jeromela, A., Jovičić, D.; Lečić, N., Marinković, R., Jakovljević, N.
 & Mehandžić-Stanišić, S. 2014. Effect of plant density on seed quality and yield of oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). *Journal on Processing and Energy in Agriculture* 18, 73–76.
- Vyshnivsky, P. S. & Slisarchuk, M.V. 2014. Seeding qualities and yield properties of seeds of winter rapeseed depending on fractional composition of seed material. *Collection of scientific works of the National Research Center 'Institute of Agriculture of the National Academy of Sciences'* **3**, 197–204.

- Wang, X.J., Mathieu, A., Courne'de, P.H., Allirand, J.M., Jullien, A., de Reffye, P. & Zhangm, B.G. 2011. Variability and regulation of the number of ovules seeds and pods according to assimilate availability in winter oilseed rape (*Brassica napus* L.). *Field Crops Research* 122(1), 60–69.
- Wilczewski, E., Harasimowicz-Hermann, G. & Lemańczyk, G. 2020. Effect of sowing method and density on the physical properties of the seed bed and oilseed rape yield. *Agronomy Research* **18**(2), 628–639.
- Wolfe, L.M. & Mazer, S.J. 2005. Patterns of phenotypic plasticity and their fitness consequences in wild radish (*Raphanus sativus: Brassicaceae*). Journal of Plant Sciences **166**, 631–640
- Wulff, R.D. 1986. Seed size variation in Desmodium paniculatum. I. Factors affecting seed size. *Journal of Ecology* **74**, 87–97.
- Würschum, T., Liu, W., Maurer, H.P., Abel, S. & Reif, J.C. 2012. Dissecting the genetic architecture of agronomic traits in multiple segregating populations in rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **124**, 153–161.
- Xing, N.L., Fan, C.H. & Zhou, Y.M. 2014. Parental selection of hybrid breeding based on maternal and paternal inheritance of traits in rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.). *PLOS ONE* 9:e103165.
- Yang, Z. & Midmore, D.J. 2005. Modeling plant resource allocation and growth partitioning in responses to environmental heterogeneity. *Ecological Modelling* 181, 59–77.
- Yang, Y., Shi, J., Wang, X., Liu, G. & Wang, H. 2016. Genetic architecture and mechanism of seed number per pod in rapeseed: elucidated through linkage and near-isogenic line analysis. *Scientific Reports* 6, 1–10.
- Yang, Y., Wang, Y., Shi, J., Zhan, J., Wang, X. & Liu, G. 2017. Genetic and cytological analyses of the natural variation of seed number per pod in Rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.). *Front. Plant Sci.* **8**, 1–14.
- Yizhyk M.K. 2000. Agricultural seed production: Formation. structure and properties of seeds. Kharkiv. P. 1, 103 pp. (in Ukrainian).
- Yizhyk, M.K. 2000a. *Agricultural seed production: Realizing the potential of seeds*. Kharkiv, **P. 2**, 117 pp. (in Ukrainian).
- Zar, J H. 1984. Biostatistical analysis. Englewood Cliffs. NJ, Prentice-Hall, 718 pp.
- Zaytsev, G.N. 1984. *Mathematical statistics in experimental botany*. Moscow, Nauka, 424 pp. (in Russian).
- Zhang, H., Berger, J.D. & Milroy, S.P. 2013. Genotype x environment interaction studies highlight the role of phenology in specific adaptation of canola (*Brassica napus* L.) to contrasting Mediterranean climates. *Field Crops Research* 144, 77–88.
- Zhang, Y., Zhang, D., Yu, H., Lin, B., Fu, Y. & Hua, S. 2016. Floral initiation in response to planting date reveals the key role of floral meristem differentiation prior to budding in canola (*Brassica napus* L.). *Frontiers in Plant Science* **7**, 1369.
- Zheng, M., Peng, C., Liu, H., Tang, M., Yang, H., Li, X. & Liu, J. 2017. Genome-wide association study reveals candidate genes for control of plant height, branch initiation height and branch number in rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.). *Frontiers in Plant Science* **8**, 1246.
- Zhu, J. 1996. Analytic methods for seed models with genotype-environment interactions. *Acta Genetica Sinica* 23, 56–68.
- Zhu, J. & Weir, B.S. 1994. Analysis of cytoplasmic and maternal effects I. A genetic model for diploid plant seeds and animals. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics* **89**, 153–159.
- Zlobin, Yu.A. 2009. Popular ecology of plants: current status, points of growth. Sumy: University. Book, 263 pp. (in Russian).
- Zohary, M. 1948. Carpological studies in *Cruciferae*. Palestine Journal of Botany. Jerusalem Series 4(8), 158–165.
- Zou, X., Guan, M. & Guan, C. 2020. Identification and evaluation of high nitrogen nutrition efficiency in rapeseed (*Brassica napus* L.) germplasm. *Oil Crop Science* **5**, 114–120.

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

Papers must be in English (British spelling). English will be revised by a proofreader, but authors are strongly urged to have their manuscripts reviewed linguistically prior to submission. Contributions should be sent electronically. Papers are considered by referees before acceptance. The manuscript should follow the instructions below.

Structure: Title, Authors (initials & surname; an asterisk indicates the corresponding author), Authors' affiliation with postal address (each on a separate line) and e-mail of the corresponding author, Abstract (up to 250 words), Key words (not repeating words in the title), Introduction, Materials and methods, Results and discussion, Conclusions, Acknowledgements (optional), References.

Layout, page size and font

- Use preferably the latest version of Microsoft Word, doc., docx. format.
- Set page size to **ISO B5 (17.6×25 cm)**, all **margins at 2 cm**. All text, tables, and figures must fit within the text margins.
- Use single line spacing and **justify the text**. Do not use page numbering. Use **indent 0.8 cm** (do not use tab or spaces instead).
- Use font Times New Roman, point size for the title of article **14** (**Bold**), author's names 12, core text 11; Abstract, Key words, Acknowledgements, References, tables, and figure captions 10.
- Use *italics* for Latin biological names, mathematical variables and statistical terms.
- Use single ('...') instead of double quotation marks ("...").

Tables

- All tables must be referred to in the text (Table 1; Tables 1, 3; Tables 2–3).
- Use font Times New Roman, regular, 10 pt. Insert tables by Word's 'Insert' menu.
- Do not use vertical lines as dividers; only horizontal lines (1/2 pt) are allowed. Primary column and row headings should start with an initial capital.

Figures

- All figures must be referred to in the text (Fig. 1; Fig. 1 A; Figs 1, 3; Figs 1–3). Use only black and white or greyscale for figures. Avoid 3D charts, background shading, gridlines and excessive symbols. Use font **Arial**, **10 pt** within the figures. Make sure that thickness of the lines is greater than 0.3 pt.
- Do not put caption in the frame of the figure.
- The preferred graphic format is Excel object; for diagrams and charts EPS; for half-tones please use TIFF. MS Office files are also acceptable. Please include these files in your submission.
- Check and double-check spelling in figures and graphs. Proof-readers may not be able to change mistakes in a different program.

References

• Within the text

In case of two authors, use '&', if more than two authors, provide first author 'et al.': Smith & Jones (1996); (Smith & Jones, 1996); Brown et al. (1997); (Brown et al., 1997)

When referring to more than one publication, arrange them by following keys: 1. year of publication (ascending), 2. alphabetical order for the same year of publication:

(Smith & Jones, 1996; Brown et al., 1997; Adams, 1998; Smith, 1998)

• For whole books

Name(s) and initials of the author(s). Year of publication. *Title of the book (in italics)*. Publisher, place of publication, number of pages.

Shiyatov, S.G. 1986. *Dendrochronology of the upper timberline in the Urals*. Nauka, Moscow, 350 pp. (in Russian).

• For articles in a journal

Name(s) and initials of the author(s). Year of publication. Title of the article. *Abbreviated journal title (in italic)* volume (in bold), page numbers.

Titles of papers published in languages other than English, should be replaced by an English translation, with an explanatory note at the end, e.g., (in Russian, English abstr.).

- Karube, I. & Tamiyra, M.Y. 1987. Biosensors for environmental control. *Pure Appl. Chem.* **59**, 545–554.
- Frey, R. 1958. Zur Kenntnis der Diptera brachycera p.p. der Kapverdischen Inseln. *Commentat.Biol.* 18(4), 1–61.
- Danielyan, S.G. & Nabaldiyan, K.M. 1971. The causal agents of meloids in bees. *Veterinariya* **8**, 64–65 (in Russian).

• For articles in collections:

Name(s) and initials of the author(s). Year of publication. Title of the article. Name(s) and initials of the editor(s) (preceded by In:) *Title of the collection (in italics)*, publisher, place of publication, page numbers.

Yurtsev, B.A., Tolmachev, A.I. & Rebristaya, O.V. 1978. The floristic delimitation and subdivisions of the Arctic. In: Yurtsev, B. A. (ed.) *The Arctic Floristic Region*. Nauka, Leningrad, pp. 9–104 (in Russian).

• For conference proceedings:

Name(s) and initials of the author(s). Year of publication. Name(s) and initials of the editor(s) (preceded by In:) *Proceedings name (in italics)*, publisher, place of publishing, page numbers.

Ritchie, M.E. & Olff, H. 1999. Herbivore diversity and plant dynamics: compensatory and additive effects. In: Olff, H., Brown, V.K. & Drent R.H. (eds) *Herbivores between plants and predators. Proc. Int. Conf. The 38th Symposium of the British Ecological Society*, Blackwell Science, Oxford, UK, pp. 175–204.

Please note

- Use '.' (not ',') for decimal point: 0.6 ± 0.2 ; Use ',' for thousands -1,230.4;
- Use '-' (not '-') and without space: pp. 27–36, 1998–2000, 4–6 min, 3–5 kg
- With spaces: 5 h, 5 kg, 5 m, 5 °C, C : $D = 0.6 \pm 0.2$; p < 0.001
- Without space: 55°, 5% (not 55°, 5%)
- Use 'kg ha⁻¹' (not 'kg/ha');
- Use degree sign ' \circ ' : 5 \circ C (not 5 $^{\circ}$ C).